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PREFACE

When the World War suddenly set Europe aflame and

American public opinion, soon under the influence of propa-

ganda and war prejudice, began to denounce Germany and

the Kaiser as being guilty of causing it, the present writer

refused to join in the chorus. His historical sense told

him that in this present case, as in the past, no one country

or no one man was solely, or probably even mainly, to

blame. A little study of the documents in the Blue, Yellow

and Orange Books which were early issued by the English,

French and Russian Governments quickly convinced him

that these documentary publications were by no means so

complete and reliable (though more so than the White

and Red Books, issued by Germany and Austria) that one

could safely base sound and final conclusions upon them,

as seemed to be believed by the millions of men and

women who read such facile and superficial arguments as

those of Mr. James M. Beck, and others who followed his

cue. Therefore the present writer during the War re-

mained silent, except for his discussions of the subject in

college class rooms.

When, however, the new socialist governments of Ger-

many and Austria published in 1919 a very complete col-

lection of documents from the secret archives relating to

the diplomatic crisis of July, 1914, this seemed to provide

material for reaching at last some tentative opinion about

the immediate causes of the War. These the present writer

ventured to express in "New Light on the Origins of the

War" published in the American Historical Review in

306687



vi PREFACS

1920-1921. This called to the attention of scholars in this

country the desirability of reconsidering opinions formed

during the heat of the battle as to the immediate respon-

sibility of causing it. With the publication of more docu-

ments, especially from the Russian sources, and with the

refusal of the French and British Governments to issue

any such convincingly complete documentary record of

their conduct in July, 1914, there soon arose a group of

writers who demanded a "revision" of that clause in the

Treaty of Versailles declaring that Germany and her allies

were solely responsible. With some of these writers

—

especially with some of the anti-Poincare revisionists in

France—the pendulum of opinion has been in danger of

swinging nearly as far away from the golden mean of his-

torical truth as in the case of those who formerly followed

in the propagandist path of Mr. Beck.

The present writer is no more inclined to accept the argu-

ments of the former than of the latter. In the pages which
follow he has no political motive, either to justify the

Treaty of Versailles or to demand its revision but simply

to carry out what a great master has defined as the proper

task of the historian—to tell how it really came about.

He has written, he hopes, sine ira ac studio. If he has made
infrequent citations from the mass of controversial litera-

ture which has grown up in regard to the origin of the

war, this is not because he has not read a very considerable

part of it, but because he wishes to avoid controversy and
reach his conclusions as far as possible from documentary
evidence. The mass of documentary and autobiographical

material is now so great that it affords either of two
possibilities. On the one hand, a writer by centering

attention on the acts of any one man or country, and
by picking out passages in the documents to support his

contention, can easily make a seemingly convincing argu-

ment for the uninitiated, that this or that man or country
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was altogether angelic or devilish in motives and methods.

On the other hand, a writer may conscientiously try to

look fairly at all sides of the question, explain acts from

the point of view of the actors themselves instead of from

that of their champions or enemies, and try to reach an

unbiassed judgment. Needless to say it is the latter pos-

sibility which is attempted in the present volume. With

what success, the reader must judge.

In the troublesome matter of transliterating Slavic proper

names the best practice of American libraries has been fol-

lowed, so far as is possible, without the use of diacritical

marks. But in the case of some Russian names of German
origin, like Schilling for Shilling, and in a few Serbo-Croat

names, such as Princip for Printsip, popular usage has

been allowed to prevail over proper practice.

Quotations from the documents and foreign works are

usually made from direct translations from the original,

rather than from translations into English which have been

made by others. This is because the latter are sometimes

abridged, or because the present writer made his translation

prior to the publication of other translations, or because he

prefers his own rendering to that of others. If the quota-

tions from the documents are often tediously long, it is

because he wishes to avoid as far as possible picking out

phrases or sentences which might give a suggestio falsi or

suppressio veri. In some cases, for the sake of brevity,

prolix phrases and titles have been curtailed or omitted;

"Austria," for instance, has been commonly used in place

of "Austria-Hungary."

No formal bibliography is included in these volumes, be-

cause reference to all the more important recent literature

of the subject has been made either in the List of Abbre-

viations, in the text, or in the numerous bibliographical

footnotes in connection with each topic in the text; most of
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those which contain several titles are cited in the Index

under "Bibliography."

Among the various bibliographies which include refer-

ences to the less recent literature, the most helpful are the

following: G. W. Prothero, Subject Index of the Books re-

lating to the European War, 1914-1918, acquired by the

British Museum, 1914-1920 (London, 1922); A. von

Wegerer, Literatur zur Kriegsschuldjrage (Berlin, 1923, new

ed., 1926); J. L. Kunz, Bibliographie der Kricgslitcratur

(Berlin, 1920) ; Die Kriegsschuldjrage : Ein Verzeichnis der

Literatur des In- und Auslandes, hrsg. vom Borsenverein

der Deutschen Buchhdndler (Leipzig, 1925); A. Lum-

broso, Bibliografia ragionata della guerra delle nazioni

(Roma, 1920) ; H. H. B. Meyer, Check List oj the Litera-

ture and Other Material in the Library oj Congress on the

European War (Washington, 1918) ; and the valuable

Catalogues Methodiques (Paris, 1921 ff.), issued by the

Bibliotheque et Musee de la Guerre, and edited by J.

Dubois, C. Appuhn, C. Bloch, and others.

For keeping abreast with current literature on the ori-

gins of the War there are two excellent periodicals largely

devoted to the subject: Die Kriegsschuldjrage, edited by

A. von Wegerer (Berlin, 1923 ff.) ; and Revue d'Histoire

de la Guerre Mondiale (Paris, 1923 ff.). Articles, critical

reviews, and titles of new books may be found in the vari-

ous historical and political journals, such as the American

Historical Review, English Historial Revievj, Slavonic Re-

view, Historische Zeitschrijt, Revue Historique, Krasnyi

Arkhiv, Foreign Affairs, the New York Times Current His-

tory, Political Science Quarterly, European Economic and
Political Survey, Archiv fur Politik und Geschichte, Euro-

pdische Gesprdche, L'Europe Nouvelle, Evolution, the

Bulletin of the Central Commission for Neutral Investiga-

tion of the Causes of the World War, and many others.

To those who have kindly permitted the reproduction of
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many of the illustrations the writer wishes to express his

gratitude—to Mr. Hamilton Fish Armstrong for the por-

trait of M. Pashitch and the facsimile of the Austrian Dec-

laration of War; to Mr. R. H. Lutz of the Hoover War
Library for the Minutes of the Russian Council of Minis-

ters; to the editors of Current History for the portraits of

MM. Sazonov and Sukhomlinov; to the Frederick A.

|
Stokes Company for the portraits of MM. Benckendorff,

i Cambon, Metternich, and Lichnowsky, which appeared in

I

Viscount Grey's Twenty-Five Years; and to Herr A. von

Wegerer for several of the German and Austrian portraits

and for the material for the maps which appeared in Die
' Kriegsschuldjrage.

Finally, the author takes pleasure in acknowledging his

indebtedness to Professor J. F. Jameson and the late Pro-

fessor Coolidge, who first encouraged him to undertake this

study; to Professor B. E. Schmitt, who read parts of the

manuscript ; and to Professors W. L. Langer and L. B.

Packard, who read the proofs. But they are in no way
responsible for the errors or the views expressed.

S. B. F.

July 28, 1928.

Northampton, Mass.
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THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The Greek historian Thucydides, in his history of that

catastrophe to ancient civilization when Spartan mili-

tarism triumphed over Athenian democracy, makes the dis-

tinction between the more remote or underlying, and the

immediate, causes of war. It is the distinction between the

gradual accumulation of inflammable material which has

been heaped up through a long period of years and the

final spark which starts the conflagration. The distinction

islTgood one. It is equally applicable to the World War.

Failure to observe it has often led to confusion of thought

in regard to responsibility for the War, since responsibility

for the underlying causes does not always coincide with re-

sponsibility for the immediate causes. One country may for

years have been much to blame for creating a general situa-

tion dangerous to peace, but may have had relatively little

to do with the final outbreak of war—or vice versa.

The question of the causes of the War may be said to

have passed through three phases during the past dozen

years, each phase being determined to some extent by the

material available for judging the question. During the

first two phases the discussion centered largely around the

question of the immediate causes, that is, the rapid train

of events from the assassination of the Austrian Archduke

at Sarajevo on June 28, to the outbreak of war between

Germany and England on August 4. In the third phase,

1



2 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

however, scholars have begun to explore more fully and
justly the remoter causes of the War. In each of these

phases there has been a change in the angle from which the

question has been approached. At first, during the War,
writers sought to fix the "guilt" for having caused this un-
paralleled "crime" upon a few single individuals—chiefly

the Kaiser, the Pan-Germanists, and the Austrian and
German militarists. Then, with the publication of more
complete documents which began in 1919, it was seen that

the Entente thesis of the sole responsibility of Germany
and her allies was no longer tenable, and writers who de-

manded a "revision" of the Treaty of Versailles tended to

go to the other extreme of fixing the "guilt" upon Entente
leaders—MM. Izvolski, Poincare, Sazonov, and even upon
Sir Edward Grey. Finally, with the growing realization

that all the Powers were more or less responsible, and with
the increased attention which came to be given to the under-
lying causes of the War, more judiciously and historically

minded persons were less inclined to accept the easy solution

of explaining the War on the scapegoat or personal devil

theory—that is, of the "guilt" of this or that individual. 1

They fell back on the truer explanation that the War was
caused by the system of international anarchy involved in

alliances, armaments, and secret diplomacy. 2 But, after

all, the "system" was worked by individuals; their personal
acts built it up and caused it to explode in 1914. In the
discussion of the future, it will be the work of the historian

to explain the political, economic, and psychological mo-
tives which caused these individuals to act as they did. He
will also cease to talk about "war guilt," since no person in

authority was guilty of deliberately working to bring about

1C/. M. H. Cochran, "New Phase of War Guilt Controversy," in
Current History, XXVI, 71-76, April, 1927.

2 Mr. G. Lowes Dickinson gives a scholarly, effective, and charmingly
written exposition of this view: The International Anarchy, 190A-191L
London, 1926.
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a general European War. But he will still continue to dis-

cuss the "responsibility" which each statesman must bear

for acts which ultimately contributed to the catastrophe.3

For this reason the present writer has always preferred the

term "war responsibility" to "war guilt." The German

phrase, Kriegsschuldfrage, is open to either interpretation.

Let us now look briefly at the various phases through

which the discussion has passed, as determined to some ex-

tent by the material upon which it has been based.

1. THE DISCUSSION OF "RESPONSIBILITY," 1914-1919

During the War and the Versailles Peace Conference, the

discussion concerning responsibility for the immediate out-

break of the War, so far as it rested on anything more than

national prejudice, war hatred, and deliberate propagandist

misrepresentation, was based on the public statements of

leading officials, and on the collections of diplomatic docu-

ments published by each government soon after July, 1914.

The first of these was the "Preliminary Memoir and Docu-

ments Concerning the Outbreak of War," commonly known
as the German White Book. It was laid before the Reichs-

tag on August 3, having been, in the words of the German
Chancellor, "put together under the pressure of over-

whelming events." Its purpose was to prove to the German
people that Germany was fighting a war of self-defense

against Russian aggression. It was a plausible statement.

It was supported by 27 telegrams and letters which were

neatly fitted into the argument, but were not given in their

proper chronological sequence. To the German people, to

whom the book was primarily addressed, the argument was

3 Cf. G. P. Gooch, Recent Revelations of European Diplomacy
(London, 1927), pp. 206-214. This volume, which he describes as "a

cause-He, not a bibliography", is an admirably fairminded and well informed
summary review of some three hundred of the most important docu-
mentary publications and other first-hand material appearing since the

outbreak of the War and dealing with the period 1890-1919.
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convincing. They went through the War, honestly believ-

ing that they were fighting a war of self-defense forced upon
them by Russia. Outside of Germany, however, the White
Book made the worst possible impression. It was quickly

noted that among the 27 telegrams there was not a single

despatch between Berlin and Vienna; and yet everyone
knew that during the July crisis there must have been a very
active interchange of telegrams between the two Central
Powers. Germany had asserted that she tried to exert

pressure upon Austria to accept negotiations to preserve
peace, but there was not a document in the White Book to

prove the assertion. People naturally concluded that Ger-
many did not dare to publish the truth. They distrusted

the specious argument by which the German Chancellor
persuaded the Reichstag to vote the war credits. In fact,

the White Book, instead of convincing persons outside
Germany of her innocence, had exactly the opposite effect.

As we now know, however, the German White Book con-
tained a great deal of truth, but not the whole truth. One
reason for the inclusion of so few documents was the physi-
cal impossibility of printing within a few hours the great
mass of telegrams which had been exchanged during the
preceding weeks. Even could they have been published in

time to be laid before the Reichstag, it would have been
impossible to read and digest their contents in a short time.
The Chancellor evidently had to make a selection, and he
selected those few letters and telegrams which were of
greatest significance and which supported his arguments.
He also omitted so far as possible matters which would
have offended England and France, with whom Germany
was still at peace at the time the White Book was compiled
—a fact often overlooked in judging it later. 4

In contrast to the German White Book was the British

*Cf. A. Bach, "Das erste dcutsche Wcissbuch," in Dk Kriegs-
schuldlragc, III, 768-776, Nov., 1925.
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Blue Book, which was laid before Parliament on August 6,

1914. This contained 159 documents. 5 They were arranged

in strict chronological order and left to tell their own story.

Compared with the German publication, the British book

seemed to be fairly complete, candid and convincing. At

first sight it appeared that all documents of any impor-

tance were included. They gave the impression that Sir

Edward Grey had striven honestly for the preservation of

peace, but that he had been thwarted in his efforts by Ger-

many's rejection of all peace proposals, and by Austria's

precipitate action against Serbia. Outside Germany, there-

fore, a host of writers hastily jumped to the conclusion that

Germany and Austria had deliberately plotted the War and

were solely responsible for it. This conclusion was strength-

ened by the documentary publications put forth by the

other Governments, in the following months.

A Russian Orange Book, published August 7, with 79

documents emphasized Russia's efforts for peace. By falsi-

fication and suppression of documents (as we now know)

it concealed the truth about Russia's mobilization and

placed the war guilt on the Central Powers. In October, a

Belgian Gray Book, with 79 numbers, gave the details of

Germany's flagrant violation of international law in dis-

regarding the neutrality of Belgium. The Serbian Blue

Book of November 18, 1914, recounted in 52 documents

what this little country had had to suffer at the hands of

Austrian oppression. It gave no hint of Serbia's guilty

responsibility for the Sarajevo assassination which has re-

cently been revealed. On the contrary, it asserted Serbia's

innocence and regret. It pointed out the criminal deceit by

which the Austrian Government at first assured Europe of

its moderation, then suddenly issued an ultimatum impos-

5 Two other documents, Nos. 160 and 161, were added in a later

edition. Cj., B.D., pp. vi-xiii. Further bibliographical details concerning

this, and the other documentary publications mentioned below, may be

found in the list of abbreviations above.
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sible of acceptance, and finally made a general conflagration

inevitable by declaring war on Serbia.

Finally, on December 1, 1914, the French Government,
after ample time for compiling a collection of documents,

published its Yellow Book. This differed from the collec-

tions hitherto published in that it contained a selection of

alleged telegrams dating back several months prior to the

Archduke's murder. These set forth all Germany's belli-

cose tendencies and military preparations, and easily

convinced readers, who had been hearing exaggerated

stories of German atrocities in Belgium and France, that

William II "had come to think that war with France was
inevitable," and "believed in the crushing superiority of

the German army and in its certain success." The rest of

the French Yellow Book, like the English Blue Book, ap-
peared to be a fairly complete, candid, and convincing set

of documents chronologically arranged; they are full of

suspicions of German and Austrian duplicity and warlike

intentions, in contrast to assertions of French desire for

peace, as evidenced, for instance, by the order for the with-

drawal of French troops ten kilometres behind the frontier.

It was not till many years later that it became evident that

the French Yellow Book was neither so complete nor candid
after all, since some important telegrams had been sup-

pressed altogether and others had been altered. 6

An Austrian Red Book, published on February 3, 1915,

as a reply to the Serbian Blue Book, contained 69 docu-
ments, but the most important of these had already ap-
peared in the daily press, and the remainder threw but little

light on the secret relations between Berlin and Vienna in

connection with Austria's ultimatum to Serbia and the

6 The most complete and severe criticism of it is by G. Demartial,
L'£vangile du Quai D'Orsay, Paris, 1926. The German edition, Das
jranzosische Gelbbuch von 1914, Berlin, 1926, prints conveniently such
French documents as have been made public since 1914, and contains val-
uable footnotes on others.
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failure of all peace proposals. The Austrian Red Book evi-

I
dently had suppressed a large number of essential docu-

ments. By persons outside Austria and Germany, therefore,

it was generally thought to be as unreliable and self-

incriminatory as the German White Book itself.

As the life and death struggle of the nations went on

from month to month and became ever more grim and

i bitter, war hatred, national prejudice, and poisonous propa-

ganda wrought such devastating results that few persons

cared, or were able, to study carefully and critically even

such documentary evidence as was now at hand. Leading

officials in all countries had made war speeches asserting

the innocence of their own acts, and throwing the responsi-

bility upon the enemy. The result was that, at the close

of the War, a "Commission on the Responsibility of the

Authors of the War," presided over by Mr. Lansing, sol-

emnly reported to the Peace Conference:

The War was premeditated by the Central Powers to-

gether with their allies, Turkey and Bulgaria, and was the

result of acts deliberately committed in order to make it

unavoidable. Germany, in agreement with Austria-Hungary,

deliberately worked to defeat all the many conciliatory

proposals made by the Entente Powers.

In the deliberations of this Commission, as one of its

members, Mr. J. B. Scott, tardily recognized five years later,

"Unfortunately no Germans were allowed to take part." A
German delegation, to be sure, was officially allowed to

present a German White Book Concerning the Responsi-

bility of the Authors of the War,7 drawn up by Professor

Hans Delbriick, the well-known historian, Professor Men-
delssohn-Bartholdy, Count Montgelas, and Dr. Max Weber.

1 Deutschland schuldig? Deutsches Weissbuch uber die Verantwort-

lichkeit der Urheber des Krieges, Berlin, 1919. (Eng. trans, published by
the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 1924).
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"It is an official document whose importance can neither

be overlooked nor minimized," as Mr. Scott correctly ob-

serves in the English translation published by the Carnegie

Endowment for International Peace in 1924. It contained

valuable new evidence tending to prove that the accusation

formulated by the Commission was historically incorrect,

and morally unjustifiable. In spite of this, the Commission

paid virtually no attention to it, and Germany was forced

to accept the dictum of the victors in Article 231 of the

Treaty of Versailles:

The Allied and Associated Governments affirm, and Ger-

many accepts, the responsibility of Germany and her allies

for causing all the loss and damage to which the Allied

and Associated Governments and their nationals have been

subjected as a consequence of the war imposed upon them

by the aggression of Germany and her allies.

2. THE DISCUSSION OF "RESPONSIBILITY" AFTER 1919

(a) New Documents on the Immediate Causes

A second phase of the question of the immediate cause9

of the War began with the publication of the Kautsky

Documents. These, and other new documents and memoirs

to be mentioned below, made it clear that Germany had not

plotted or wanted a European war. Scholars in all coun-

tries gradually came to agree that, though Germany was
responsible for having at first foolishly encouraged Austria

to take action against Serbia, Germany supposed (wrongly,

as it turned out) that the conflict could be "localized"; but

when it began to appear that "localization" was doubtful

and that Russia might intervene, Germany tried to restrain

Austria and made genuine efforts to prevent the Austro-

Serbian conflict from developing into a World War. What
are these new documents and memoirs upon which this re-

vised view rests?
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The Kautsky Documents? published in December, 1919,

were a consequence of the German revolution at the close

of the War. The new German republic made the veteran

Socialist leader, Karl Kautsky, Assistant Secretary of State

for Foreign Affairs. He was authorized to edit all the docu-

ments in the German Foreign Office which might throw

light on the origins of the World War. He and his assistants

carefully copied, arranged, and annotated a mass of papers

in eighteen volumes in the archives containing the diplo-

matic correspondence during the July crisis of 1914. In

contrast with the meager German White Book of 1914, with

its 27 documents, the Kautsky publication comprises 1123

documents, of which 937 are given in extenso and the re-

mainder in a sufficiently full summary. The letters and

telegrams are arranged in strict chronological order, and

allowed to speak for themselves. The editors have merely

added convenient cross references, indexes, and data as to

the exact day, hour and minute when each despatch was

sent and received. This extraordinarily precise and unpre-

cedentedly complete compilation, containing detailed in-

formation which was unfortunately lacking in documentary

publications issued early in the War, now made it possible

to determine with considerable nicety just how much a

German official knew when he took any action. It enabled

one for the first time to judge with knowledge and fairness

of the motives, the honesty, and the ability of the men
guiding the German ship of state in 1914. It laid the basis

for the beginning of a scholarly study of the immediate

responsibility for the War. It showed scholars that during

the critical days before the War, Germany had made real

efforts to avert it, but that she had been guilty of blunders

8 Die deutschen Dokumente zum Kriegsausbruch, ed. by Karl Kautsky,
Graf Max Montgelas and Prof. Walter Schiicking, 4 vols., Charlottenburg,

1919, new enlarged edition, 1927; Eng. ed., Outbreak oj the World War,
German Documents Collected by Karl Kautsky, New York, 1924 (Carne-

gie Endowment for International Peace).
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and mistakes in judgment which contributed to set fire to

the inflammable material heaped up in the course of years.

It showed, moreover, that the notion that Germany had

deliberately plotted the World War was a pure myth.

In Vienna, Dr. Roderich Gooss did for the Austrian

Foreign Office what Kautsky had done for the German. In

contrast with the 69 documents of the original Austrian Red
Book, Dr. Gooss's three-volume Austrian Red Book of

1919,'J contained 352 documents. They revealed the reck-

less diplomacy by which Austria dragged Germany into a

World War which Austria did not want, but which she was

willing to risk in her determination to put an end to the

danger wThich menaced her from the side of Serbia.

In Moscow the Bolshevists had already taken advantage

of their advent to power to publish in their newspaper,

Pravda, in the winter of 1917-1918, a series of secret treaties

and other papers which revealed the imperialist and mili-

tarist aims of the fallen Tsarist regime between 1881 and

1917. 10 To these the Soviet Government added in 1922 a

massive and invaluable collection of Materials for the His-

tory of Franco-Russian Relations from 1910 to 1914- This

contained, among other things, the complete exchange of

telegrams between the Russian Foreign Office and the

Russian Embassy in Paris between July 24 and August 2,

1914. 11 Baron von Romberg took this series of telegrams

and printed them in conjunction with the telegrams between

Paris and St. Petersburg which had appeared in the Russian

Orange Book of 1914. By using red ink for the former and

black ink for the latter, his Falsifications of the Russian

9 Diplomatische Aktenstilcke zwr Vorgeschichte des Krieges 191J+:

Erganzungen und Nachtrage zum Osterreichisch-Ungarischen Rolbueh,

3 vols., Vienna, 1919 (Eng. trans. 1920).
10 Rearranged and translated, in Dohumerde aus den russischen

Geheimarchiven soweit sie bis zum Juli 1918 eingegangen sind, Berlin, 1918.

1

1

Materialy po Istorii Franko-Russkikh Otnoshenii za 1910-1914,

Moskva, 1922, pp. 513-526.
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Orange Book 12 gave striking proof of the deceptions by

which the Russian Government had sought in 1914 to hide

its responsibility for the War. Not only had it completely

suppressed half of the telegrams actually exchanged be-

tween Paris and St. Petersburg, including some of great

importance, but, even in the telegrams which were pub-

lished, important passages were omitted, and in some cases

deliberately forged words were added. These Russian reve-

lations began to shake the confidence of scholars in the com-

pleteness and reliability of the other Entente documentary

publications which had been accepted outside the Central

Powers as good evidence of Entente innocence and German

guilt.

The incompleteness and unreliability of the Tsarist

Russian Orange Book was further evidenced in 1922 by the

publication in the Bolshevist historical journal, Red Ar-

chives, 13 of all the despatches exchanged between St. Peters-

burg and the Russian Embassy in Berlin during July, 1914.

Accompanying these is a long memoir which Bronevski, the

Russian Charge d'Affaires at Berlin, wrote immediately

upon his return to Russia at the outbreak of War, in which

he recounted in detail the events of his last days in Berlin.

In 1923 Baron Schilling's Diary of the Former Ministry

of Foreign Affairs, which had lain hidden away in a cup-

board, was discovered and published by the Bolshevists. 14

It gave a new and vivid account of the doings and conver-

sations of the Russian Foreign Minister, M. Sazonov, be-

tween July 16 and August 1, 1914. The diary is especially

valuable because Schilling was M. Sazonov 's confidential

assistant (Chef de Cabinet) at the Foreign Office, and sum-

12 G. von Romberg, Die Falschungen des russischen Orangebuches,
Der wahre Telegrammwechsel Paris-Petersburg bei Kriegsausbruch, Berlin,

and Leipzig, 1922 (Eng. trans., 1923).

WKrasnyi Arkhiv, I, 163 ff.

i4"Nachalo Voiny 1914: Podennaia Zapis b. Ministerstva Inost-

rannykh Del," ki Krasnyi Arkhiv, IV, 1-62.
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marized on the spot conversations which his chief reported

to him, but of which no other Russian record exists. Baron

Schilling also pasted into the diary the text or summaries

of important telegrams which passed in and out of the

Foreign Office, but which were suppressed from the Russian

Orange Book, and had hitherto remained unknown. In the

introduction to Major Bridge's English translation of the

diary, Baron Schilling, who has been living in London, con-

firms its authenticity and high historical importance, and

gives interesting details of the manner in which it was

composed. 15

From these various Bolshevist publications we now have

a fairly complete record of the Russian diplomatic corre-

spondence for the July crisis. It consists of more than 200

telegrams, instead of the misleading and partly falsified 79

documents in the Russian Orange Book of 1914- 10

Some Entente sympathizers, like Grelling, Romieu, and

Ex-President Poincare, have sought to throw suspicion and

doubt on the honesty and reliability of these new revelations

from the German, Austrian and Russian archives. 17 This is

is Major W. Cyprian Bridge, How the War Began in 1014, Being
the Diary of the Russian Foreign Office (London, 1925), pp. 11-17; cited

hereafter as "Schilling's Diary," but the present writer does not always
follow the wording of the English translation which is sometimes inaccu-

rate; for instance telegrams Nos. 1501-1509 (p. 36*f.) belong under July
"26" instead of "25."

16 A convenient German edition of them has been published by A.

von Wegerer, Das Russische Orangcbuch von 1014, Berlin, 1925. There
appear to be still lacking some of the despatches exchanged by the

Russian Minister of Foreign Affairs with Russia's representatives in

London, Vienna and the Balkan States; for his despatches to his repre-

sentatives in Turkey, Bulgaria, Rumania, and Italy from July, 1914,

until the entrance of these states into the war, see Das Russische Orange-

buch ueber den Kricgsausbruch mit dcr T'urkei, ed. F. Stieve (Berlin,

1926) ; and Das Zaristische Russland im Weltkriege, ed. M. Pokrovski
(Berlin, 1927).

" R. Grelling, La Campagnc "Innoccntistc" en Allemagne el Ic TraitS

de Versailles, Paris, 1925; J. Romieu, The Bolshevist Publications and
French Policy, Paris, 1922; R. Poincare, "The Responsibility for the War"
in Foreign Affairs (N.Y.), October, 1925, pp. 10-11; Au service de la

France, I, 186 f., 308, 310, 360, 374; II, 336; III, 92 ff.
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because these new documents have led scholars to believe

that Germany was much less responsible, and that Russia

and France were much more to blame, than was at first sup-

posed. But no one has ever satisfactorily proved that the

documents just described are in any way fictitious or falsi-

fied. On the contrary, all the new material fits together like

a mosaic, and one part confirms another. Furthermore, one

of the best reasons for believing that these documents are

genuine and fairly complete, and that the Socialist editors

have made no effort to exculpate Germany, Austria, and

Russia, is to be found in the fact that the editors have

each tried to place the war guilt upon his own former gov-

ernment. It is curious to see how they have written pam-

phlets, based on the documents in their own archives, tend-

ing to prove that their own former imperialist rulers were

mainly to blame for the World War.18 According to

Kautsky, Germany deliberately and willingly pushed a

hesitating Austria into action against Serbia and so into a

World War. According to Gooss, the unsuspecting Emperor

William was the sacrificial lamb offered up on the altar of

Berchtold's reckless perfidy and obstinacy. While accord-

ing to Pokrovski, the Director of the Archives in Soviet

Russia—who is much nearer the truth—the causes of the

War are to be found in the century-old Russian imperialist

ambition for the control of Constantinople, the influence

of Grand Dukes and militarists, the desire of Izvolski for

revenge on Austria, and the support to these malign influ-

ences which the Tsarist regime felt encouraged to expect

from the capitalist governments of France and England.

While the historian may take such partisan conceptions

18 K. Kautsky, Wie der Weltkrieg entstand, Berlin, 1919; R. Gooss,

Das Wiener Kabinett und die Entstehung des Weltkrieges, Wien, 1919;

M. N. Pokrovski, Drei Konferenzen, Hamburg, 1920; and Pokrovski's

articles in various Russian periodicals which are summarized by A. von

Wegerer, "Aus Russischen Quellen," in Die Kriegsschuldfrage, III, 159-177,

March, 1925.
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with a grain of salt, he may at least be sure that none of

these editors have consciously suppressed documents which

would incriminate their former rulers, or have concocted

material which would exculpate them.

On the basis of this new documentary evidence, no

serious historians any longer accept the dictum of the Allied

victors of 1919 that Germany and her allies were solely

responsible. They are all agreed that the responsibility ia

a divided one; they differ merely as to the relative responsi-

bility of each of the Great Powers. Some writers, indeed,

not alone in Germany but in other countries, especially in

France, 10 have been inclined to push the pendulum to the

other extreme. For various reasons, they tend to relieve

Germany and Austria of a large part of the responsibility,

and place an increasing amount of the blame upon Russia,

Serbia, France, and even England. One reason for this is

that Serbia and France have never made the same complete

and frank publication of archive material as Germany,

Austria and Russia; and England did not do so until De-

cember 1, 1926.

Finally, however, the British Government, realizing the

undesirability of preserving further silence, and yielding to

the request of distinguished historians, has at last, after a

dozen years, issued an admirable collection of all its diplo-

matic documents relating to the July crisis of 1914.-° It

19 E.g., Pevet, Demartial, Dupin, Morhardt, Victor Margueritte,

Lazare, and others; and in America, Judge Bausman, Mr. J. S. Ewart,
and Mr. H. E. Barnes.

20 Foreign Office Documents, June 2Slh-August 4th, 1914, collected

and arranged with introduction and notes by J. W. Headlam-Morley,
London, 1926 (forming vol. XI of British Documents on the Origins of
the War, 1S9S-1914, edited by G. P. Gooch and Harold Tcmperley). Among
the numerous criticisms and reviews of these British Documents the
following are especially noteworthy: H. Lutz, Lord Grey und dcr
Weltkrieg (Berlin, 1927), pp. 171-261, 346-408 (Eng. trans., 1928); Count
Montgelas, in KSF, 97-140, 443-448 (Feb.-Mar., 1927); Count Montgdas,
British Foreign Policy under Sir Edward Grey (N. Y., 1928); H. Dcl-
briick, in Ztitschrijt }. Politik, XVI, 561-570 (May, 1927); H. E. Barnes,

in (N. Y.)' Nation, CXXV, 161-163 (Aug. 17, 1927); B. E. Schmitt, in
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contains some 500 new documents and many important

passages which were omitted from the British Blue Book

of 1914. These suppressed passages relate largely to Eng-

land's relations with France and Russia, who were soon to

become her allies, and show the close solidarity of the Triple

Entente Powers. The addition of private letters of Sir

Edward Grey, Sir Arthur Nicolson, and Sir Eyre Crowe, of

the British Foreign Office, and their marginal "minutes"

upon the documents, enables one to trace with the same

accuracy the development of events in London, as was

made possible by the Kautsky Documents for Germany.

(£>) MEMOIRS AND RECOLLECTIONS

In addition to these diplomatic documents, there has

come a flood of apologetic memoirs and pamphlets from the

men who played a prominent part in 1914. Some of these

deal only with the diplomatic crisis immediately preceding

the War; most of them also reach back and touch upon the

remoter underlying causes as well. As was to be expected,

the stream began to flow from the defeated side. After the

German collapse of 1918, just as after the French debacle

of 1871, the ex-Kaiser's former officials sought to throw the

blame for the War on the late enemy or upon fellow officials.

Austrian leaders soon followed German example. And more

recently the stream has been swollen by Russians in exile,

Frenchmen on the defensive, injudicious Serbians, and even

by hitherto reticent Englishmen. A full account of this

autobiographical material may be found in Mr. G. P.

Gooch's Recent Revelations of European Diplomacy, pub-

ished in 1927, with a Supplement in 1928. A few of the more

important names may be mentioned at this point.

Current History, XXV, 844-851 (Mar. 1927) ; and other American scholars

in The Saturday Review of Literature, III, 729 f., 750 f., 781 f. (April 16-30,

1927). Vols. I and II of these British Documents, published in Oct., 1927,

cover the years 1898 to 1904, and form an invaluable collection of Docu-
ments running parallel to Die Grosse Politik mentioned below in notes

63-64.

306687
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The Reflections on the World War 21 by the late Ger-

man Chancellor, Herr von Bethmann-Hollwcg, deserve

more serious attention than they have received; but they

were written before peace was signed, under the terrible

strain of war, by a man already broken in spirit and health.

Without the new documentary material at his disposal,

Bethmann still clung to the misconception which overtook

him early in the War, that England was chiefly to blame.

Herr von Jagow, the German Secretary of State for For-

eign Affairs, in his Causes and Outbreak of the World War,22

does not produce an impression of equal sincerity, but is

illuminating in regard to the attitude of the German For-

eign Office. Count Pourtales, the German Ambassador in

St. Petersburg, gives a very straightforward and reliable

account of his last days in the Russian capital, and of his

honest efforts to carry out the instructions of his Govern-

ment to keep Russia quiet and thus preserve the peace of

Europe. His narrative, At the Parting of the Ways, 23 has

the advantage of being based on notes which he made on

his journey home in August, 1914, while the facts were still

fresh in his mind, and on the Embassy telegrams which he

appears to have taken with him. Baron von Schoen, as

German Secretary of State from 1907-1910 and Ambassador

at Paris from 1910-1914, has left Memoirs 2 * which are dis-

tinguished for their frankness and breadth of view; he is

one of the few German diplomats of whom M. Poincare

speaks with cordiality and praise. These writers defend

and justify the policy of the German Foreign Office.

In contrast to them are other Germans who are wise

21 Th. v. Bcthmann-Hollweg, Bctrachlungcn zum Wcltkricge, 2 vols.,

Berlin, 1919-20 (Eng. trans., 1920).

22 G. v. Jagow, Ursachen und Ausbruch des Weltkriegcs, Berlin. 1919.

23 Graf Pourtales, Am Schcidewege zvrischen Krieg und Frieden,

Berlin, 1922. This is amplified in his more recent volume, Meine letzten

Verhandlungcn in St. Petersburg Ende Juli 1914, Berlin, 1927.

2 » Frciherr von Sehoen, Erkbtes: Beitrdge zur politischen Gcschichte

der ncuesten Zcit, Berlin, 1921 (Eng. trans., 1922).
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after the event. Admiral von Tirpitz,25 in My Memoirs

and in his more recent and valuable Political Documents,

takes Bethmann severely to task for his optimism in hoping

for a friendly understanding with England during the years

before the War, and for his diplomatic bungling in the final

crisis of 1914. Prince Lichnowsky's bitter pamphlet, My
London Mission,26 which was written during the War under

a feeling of failure and the fire of criticism at home, is often

unjust in its criticism of the German Government and not

always well informed. It has been relied on outside Ger-

many to an extent far beyond what it deserves. The

Memoirs 27 of the ex-Kaiser at Doom, which ungenerously

attempt to lay the blame on everyone else but himself, are

full of inaccuracies and misconceptions. They are of little

historical value except for the psychological light they

throw upon their author, and tend to obscure rather than

elucidate the truth as to the causes of the War. General

von Moltke's posthumous Recollections 28 consist largely

of letters to his wife covering the thirty years before the

War. The brief chapter on the July Crisis, written after

the Battle of the Marne and his removal from active com-
25 A. v. Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, Leipzig, 1919 (Eng. trans., 1921); also

Politische Dokumente: Der Aufbau der deutschen Weltmacht ; Deutsche
Ohnmachts-politik im Weltkriege, 2 vols., Hamburg and Berlin, 1924-26.

26 Prince Lichnowsky, Meine Londoner Mission, 1.912-1914, Eng. trans,

edited with notes by Amer. Assoc., for International Conciliation, No. 127,

June, 1917, pp. 227-404. For criticisms of Lichnowsky, see G. von Jagow,

Remarks, ibid., pp. 352-367; and M. Ritter, Der Ausbruch des Weltkrieges

nach den Behauptungen Lichnowskys und nach dem Zcugnis der Akten,

Munich and Berlin, 1918. Of much greater value is Prince Lichnowsky's

large, more recent work, Auf dem Wege zum Abgrund, 2 vols., Dresden,

1927, covering the whole period of his London mission and containing

unpublished documents (Eng. trans., Heading for the Abyss, 1928).

27 Wilhelm II, Ereignisse und Gestalten, 1878-1918, Berlin, 1922 (Eng.

trans., 1922). Equally unreliable are his "Comparative Tables," which

were neatly dissected by Ch. Appuhn and P. Renouvin, Introduction aux
Tableaux d'Histoire de Guillaume II, Paris, 1923. Much more trust-

worthy and informing is his most recent volume, My Early Years, London,
1926.

28 Helmuth v. Moltke, Erinnerungen, Brieje, Dokumente, 1887-1916,

Stuttgart, 1922.
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mand, reflects his consternation at England's entrance into

the War, and his despair at the Kaiser's delay in deciding

for War, which the German militarists believed "inevitable,"

but which Bethmann and the Kaiser hoped to avert.

The Austrians, and with very good reason, have made
relatively little effort to exculpate themselves. Count

Berchtold, who more than anyone else was responsible for

the World War, has long kept silent, except for a few short

and tardy exculpatory articles, but his memoirs are now an-

nounced for early publication. Count Czernin, Austrian

Minister to Rumania in 1914, and Austrian Foreign Min-

ister during the War, wrote an interesting volume, In the

World War.- 9 Though dealing mainly with diplomacy

during the War, he gave an excellent picture of the Arch-

duke Franz Ferdinand's character and views, and expressed

the opinion that the German Ambassador at Vienna,

Tschirschky, used his personal influence to encourage

Austria in her action against Serbia. Dr. Fraknoi 30 has

told us something of Count Tisza's initial opposition to an

Austrian war against Serbia, not explaining altogether satis-

factorily why the powerful Hungarian Premier changed his

attitude in the middle of July, 1914. Count Tisza himself,

had he lived, might have been able to tell the truth fear-

lessly, but he lies in a bloody grave, assassinated on his own
doorstep at the close of the War; his lips were sealed for-

ever, and the recent edition of his papers by the Hungarian

Academy contains virtually nothing on the immediate

causes of the War. Baron Musulin, who drew up the text

of the Austrian ultimatum to Serbia, has published a de-

lightful volume covering the experiences of his diplomatic

life and his activity at the Austrian Foreign Office. 31 He

29 Ottokar Czernin, 1m Wcllkricge, Berlin and Vienna, 1919 (Eng.

trans., 1919).

3° W. Fraknoi, Die un-garische Rcgicrung und die EnLstchung des

Weltkrieges, Vienna, 1919.

3iFreiherr von Musulin, Das Haus am Ballplaiz, Munich, 1924.
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is convincing everywhere except precisely in those chapters

which deal with his share in the events which precipitated

the World War. Here he minimizes his own share of re-

sponsibility, and his narrative, perhaps through faulty

memory, is often contradicted by the contemporary records.

Count Bilinski, whose position as Austro-Hungarian

Joint Finance Minister from 1912 to 1914 gave him direct

charge of the civil administration of Bosnia and Herzego-

vina, has much to say in his Polish Recollections and Docu-

ments 32 concerning his efforts to ameliorate conditions in

these troubled and restless provinces. But concerning the

preparations of the Archduke's journey thither, and the

lack of police precautions at Sarajevo, the alleged ''warn-

ing" from Serbia, and the preparation of the ultimatum,

he tells less than one might have hoped. These were tragic

matters in connection with which he has been severely

criticized, and over which in later years he preferred to draw

the veil of silence. A Galician Pole by birth, he joined the

Polish cause during the War, and is often regarded as a

traitor to his former fatherland, which—in retrospect—he

holds largely responsible for the War. More generous in

tone and more readable in form is the volume by his prede-

cessor as Joint Finance Minister, Count Burian, Austria

in Dissolution.™ Count Burian, who also became Austrian

Foreign Minister during the War, makes no effort to shift

the blame for the War to other shoulders, but gives an

admirable account of the desperate situation in which

Austria-Hungary found herself, because of the growing

restlessness of her subject nationalities.

The only Austrian diplomatic representatives abroad in

1914, beside Count Czernin, who have left memoirs of im-

portance, were Baron Szilassy at Athens and Baron Giesl

32 Leon Bilinski, Wspomnienia i Dokumenty, 1846-1922, 2 vols., War-
saw, 1924-1925.

33 Stephan Graf Burian, Drei Jahre aus der Zeit meiner Amtsfuhrung
im Kriege, Berlin, 1923 (Eng. trans., 1925).
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at Belgrade. A broad-minded and intelligent Magyar, with

French and English sympathies, whose horizon had been

further enlarged in subordinate diplomatic positions in

Tokio, St. Petersburg, Constantinople and elsewhere,

Szilassy gives the impression in his Fall of the Danubian

Monarchy 34 thai the appointment of Count Berchtold as

Austrian Foreign Minister was a colossal blunder—it gave

minor officials in the Foreign Office, and militarists in the

General Staff, the chance to seize upon the Archduke's as-

sassination as the pretext for the "inevitable" war with

Serbia. Baron Giesl, the Austrian Minister at Belgrade in

1914 and formerly at Cettinje, was well acquainted with

the Turkish and Slavic languages; his Memoirs throw inter-

esting light on Balkan conditions before the War and add

some details concerning the final diplomatic rupture be-

tween Austria and Serbia.34a

The most valuable to the historian of all the Austro-

Hungarian memoirs is the voluminous work of the Austrian

Chief of Staff, Baron Conrad von Hotzendorf. 35 It consists

in large part of an undigested mass of important documents

of all sorts, copies of which he evidently took from the

official files and published in chronological order, with a

commentary of his own. It also includes conversations in

dialogue form which appear to be taken from a diary kept

from day to day. With extraordinary frankness, he re-

counts the repeated efforts he made to have Austria make
war on Italy or Serbia on what he regarded as numerous

favorable occasions between 1906 and 1914. In July, 1914,

it was probably he, more than anyone else, who galvanized

the incompetent and hesitating Berchtold into an active

advocate of war against Serbia. Conrad is the best—that

3 4 Baron von Szilassy, Der Untcrgang der Donaumonarcliie: Diplo-

matische Erinnerungen, Berlin, 1921.

34* Baron Wladiinir Gicsl, Zwci Jahrzchnte im nahcn Orient, Berlin,

1927.

3 ^ Aus mcincT Dienslzeit, 5 vols., Vienna, 1921-25.
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is, the worst—example of the militarist mind, which believes

that war is "inevitable," is ever eager to wage a "preven-

tive" war, and throws all its weight in favor of hasty mobili-

zation in a time of diplomatic crisis. Conrad's views have

been severely criticized by two of his generals.36

Another Austrian writer, who was not in an official po-

sition, yet who deserves mention because of his caustic

criticism of the civilian and military officials whom he

observed at close range in Vienna,, is Herr Heinrich

Kanner,37 formerly editor of the Vienna Socialist daily,

Die Zeit.

The Russian autobiographical material is almost wholly

from hands which had been more accustomed to wield the

sword than the diplomatic pen. Sazonov's Memoirs, writ-

ten in exile more than ten years after the events, without

notes and documents at hand, have been riddled by the

reviewers as wholly unreliable. 3 7a Few Russian diplomatic

representatives abroad, except Baron Rosen, 38 have left

their record of the immediate causes of the War. But many
Russian military officers have left important recollections.

General Dobrorolski, who was Chief of the Mobilization

Section of the Russian General Staff in 1914, has revealed in

a very frank and reliable pamphlet, 39 how the Russian mili-

tarists, upon hearing of the Austrian ultimatum, at once

jumped to the conclusion that war was "inevitable," began

36 A. Krauss, Die Ursachen unserer Niederlage, Vienna, 1920; Auffen-

berg-Komarow, Aus Oesterreiclis Hohe und Niedergang, Munich, 1924.

37 Heinrich Kanner, Kaiserliche Katastrophenpolitik, Vienna, 1922;

also Der Schlussel zur Kriegsschuldfra-ge , Munich, 1926.
37a g,_ D_ Sazonov, Fateful Years (N. Y., 192S)

;
has been confuted in

numberless passages by F. Stieve and M. Montgelas, Russland und der

Weltkonflikt (Berlin, 1927), and by others in Rings um Sazonoff (Berlin,

1928).

38 Baron Rosen, Forty Years of Diplomacy, 2 vols., N.Y., 1922. His
memoirs deal more with the period preceding July, 1914, as do also:

A. Nekludoff, Diplomatic Reminiscences (1920), and A. Savinsky, Recol-
lections of a Russian Diplomat (1927).

39 S. Dobrorolski, Die Mobilmachung der russischen Armee, 1014,

Berlin, 1921.
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secret military preparations, and urged "general mobiliza-

tion" at as early a date as possible. From Dobrorolski's ac-

count, it is also clear that "partial mobilization" against

Austria was a mere diplomatic "bluff" by the threat of which

Sazonov hoped to make Austria back down in her demands

on Serbia; but the Russian military authorities had made
no technical preparations for such a "partial mobilization,"

and were therefore absolutely opposed to it and insistently

urged "general mobilization." Dobrorolski thus helps to

establish the true facts in regard to the final orders for

Russian mobilization, and corrects the falsehoods which

were told so freely by General Sukhomlinov, who was Rus-

sian Minister of War in 1914, and by others, at the famous

Sukhomlinov trial in 1917. Sukhomlinov's Recollections,40

which were published in German in 1924, reveal a man full

of loyalty to the Tsar, but very cloudy in his mind as to his

own share in the fatal events of July, 1914. His volume,

however, as well as General Polivanov's Diaries,41 and the

first part of General Danilov's Russia in the World War 42

describe authoritatively and fairly satisfactorily the great

efforts for the reorganization and increase of the Russian

army which they made with a view to an "inevitable" war

with Germany and Austria. Perhaps the most reliable and

accurate sources for precise information concerning .the

Russian military preparations actually made in July, 1914,

are the Russian military telegrams which were sent out by

the Russian General Staff. More than a hundred of these

were later captured by the Germans in the course of the

War, and were published in 1919 in Robert Hoeniger's

Russia's Preparation for the World War 43 Five years

40 W. A. Suchomlinow, Erinnrrungcn, Berlin, 1921.

41 Gunthcr Frantz, Russland auf dem Wcge zur Kataslrophe: Tage-
biicher des Grossfi'trsten Atidrcj und des Kricgsministers Poliwanow; Bricje

dcr Grossfilrslen an den Zarcn, Berlin, 1926.

42 J. Daniloff, Russland im Wcllkricge, 1914-1915, Jena, 1925.

43 R. Hoeniger, Rwsdands Vorbcrcitung zum Wcltkrkg, Berlin, 1919.
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later, the telegrams were edited in more complete form

and with a more adequate commentary by Gunther

Frantz, Russia's Entry into the World War.4i Though pri-

marily a technical study of secret military measures, this

excellent volume helps to clear away the legends and mis-

statements which have long passed current as a result of

the Franco-Russian suppression of the truth in 1914 and

the false assertions at the Sukhomlinov trial in 1917.

Foremost among French apologias is ex-President

Poincare's Origins of the War,45 containing six lectures de-

livered at the Sorbonne in 1921. This is a skilful lawyer's

statement of the case for France and a personal defense of

his own policy. By centering attention largely upon Aus-

tria and Germany, and by concealing much of the activity

of France and Russia, M. Poincare gives plausible support

to the official Entente thesis of German war guilt as em-

bodied in the Versailles Treaty. In a notable article four

years later on "The Responsibility for the War," in Foreign

Affairs (N. Y., Oct., 1925), he abandons, to be sure, some
of the legends concerning German guilt which have been

proved to be wholly without foundation. But in spite of

these concessions to a truer view of history, his later article

is open to much the same criticism as his Sorbonne lec-

tures. It is doubtful whether his plausible arguments con-

vinced others than those who need no convincing.46 Far

more valuable is his magisterial defense of his foreign and

domestic policy in the first four volumes of his memoirs

which have so far appeared.47 These describe minutely,

almost day by day, his activities from the beginning of 1912

to August 3, 1914. Thus they throw light on both the un-

44 G. Frantz, Russlands Eintritt in den Weltkrieg, Berlin, 1924.
4 5 R. Poincare, Les Origines de la Guerre, Paris, 1921.

46 Cf. the present writer's article, "M. Poincare and War Responsi-
bility," in The New Republic, Oct. 14, 1925.

4 ? R. Poincare, Au Service de la France, 4 vols., Paris, 1926-27.

(abridged Eng. trans, of vols. I and II, 1926).
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derlying and the immediate causes of the War. M. Poin-

care writes with lawyer-like vigor and perfect confidence in

the wisdom and righteousness of all his acts. He quotes

at length from his innumerable speeches in defense of the

power and dignity of France, her love of peace and her

loyalty to Russia and England. He uses much unpublished

material from the French archives, which makes his volumes

of great value to the historian. But he frequently turns

aside, with sarcasm and with overwhelming minutiae of

detail, in attempts to confute his critics; this often makes

his work an acrid polemic rather than a calm historical

retrospect.

M. Poincare's most severe critics have been his own
countrymen—Pevet, Judet, Fabre-Luce, Converset, Mor-

hardt, Victor Margueritte, Lazare, and a host of lesser

lights. They have charged him with getting rid of cautious

ambassadors like M. Georges Louis in St. Petersburg and

M. Crozier in Vienna to make way for a chauvinist like

M. Delcasse or puppets like M. Paleologue and M. Dumaine,

in order that he might be more free to work with Izvolski

in bringing about a war which should recover Alsace-

Lorraine for France and secure Constantinople and the

Straits for Russia. Many of his replies to their criticisms

are sound. He manages to explain away some of the in-

criminating remarks that Izvolski attributes to him. But

in many other cases he seems to take refuge in the practice

of throwing dust in the reader's eye by diverting attention

from the main point to minor matters.

On the general question of war responsibility, M. Poin-

care tries to prove that as Premier and President he in no

way deviated from the pacific policy of his predecessors.

He attempts to show that he and M. Georges Louis were

in complete agreement as to the nature and interpretation

of the Franco-Russian alliance. To one who has read all

the available documents, his arguments are not always con-
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vincing. There was a distinct change during 1912, when

he was Premier and Minister of Foreign Affairs, in the di-

rection of tightening the alliance and extending French

support to Russian ambitions in the Balkans. This was

not, however, as many of his critics assert, with the aim of

bringing about a war by which France should recover

Alsace-Lorraine. It was to establish greater solidarity in

the Triple Entente. In so doing he tended to divide the

Powers more and more into two armed and opposing camps,

so that the Triple Entente could impose its will on the

Triple Alliance; or, if a diplomatic crisis should arise, the

former could safely defy the latter, and willingly risk war

with superior forces rather than accept a diplomatic defeat.

This is exactly what happened in 1914. He believed a

European war "inevitable"; in tightening the Entente and

in making promises to Russia he did in fact tend to make
it inevitable. Herein lies his responsibility.

After M. Delcasse had occupied the French Embassy at

St. Petersburg for a few weeks in 1913, it was handed over

to one of President Poincare's old school friends and most

devoted followers, M. Maurice Paleologue. In the opening

pages of An Ambassador's Memoirs,48 M. Paleologue de-

scribes vividly the gala events and chauvinistic enthusiasm

accompanying President Poincare's visit to the Tsar, and

the situation in Russia on the eve of the War. Though the

facts related by the French Ambassador do not always have

the accuracy and definiteness which one would expect if

his charmingly written book were really based on a diary

written day by day, it is, nevertheless, of much value to the

historian. It reproduces with fidelity the exultant war spirit

inspired in Russian ruling circles by President Poincare's

presence and speeches. It describes dramatically, for in-

stance, the gala banquet of July 22 at which the two

48 M. Paleologue, La Russie des Tsars pendant la Grande Guerre, 3

vols.. Paris, 1922 (Eng. trans., 1924-26).



26 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

Montenegrin princesses (one of whom was the wife of the

Grand Duke Nicholas) joyously told Paleologue how their

father had written them that there would be war within a

month. It pictures their ecstasy at the prospect of the

ruin of Austria, the French reconquest of Alsace-Lorraine,

and the defeat and destruction of Germany. Three days

later, before it was known that Austria had rejected the

Serbian reply as unsatisfactory, Paleologue tells how he

went to the railway station to speed M. Izvolski on his

return to France: "It is very lively on the platform; the

trains are crowded with officers and soldiers. This sug-

gested mobilization already. We exchanged rapidly our

impressions and came to the same conclusion: Cette jois,

c'est la guerre." 19 The impression that he sympathized

with the war spirit in Russia, and encouraged it by his re-

peated assurances that France would stand firm in the sup-

port of her ally, is confirmed by passages suppressed from

the British Blue Book of 1914, but now printed in the new
edition of British Documents.

Drab in comparison with Paleologue's vividness is the

colorless picture presented by his colleague, M. Dumaine,

the French Ambassador in Vienna.50 For a man in ambas-

sadorial position, M. Dumaine seems to have been surpris-

ingly lacking in information and influence. From that trio

of most able French Ambassadors, M. Paul Cambon at

London, his brother, M. Jules Cambon at Berlin, and M.
Barrere at Rome, we have unfortunately no full memoirs.

However, an enterprising French journalist, M. Raymond
Recouly, had the happy idea of interviewing them, and

others, while their memories were relatively fresh, and has

recorded these interviews in an excellent volume.51

19 M. Paleologue, La Russie des Tsars pendant la Grande Guerre,

I, 27.

50 Alfred Dumaine, La Dcrnicre Ambassade de France en Aulrichc,

Paris, 1921.

si Raymond Recouly, Lcs Hcures Tragiques d'Avanl-Guerrc, Paris,

1923.
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The Serbian Government always denied that it was in

any way directly responsible for the assassination of the

Austrian Archduke. But the celebration of the tenth anni-

versary of his assassination and the outbreak of the War,

which resulted in the creation of the united nation of which

Serbian Nationalists had dreamed, inspired some interest-

ing reminiscences which cast doubt on the official Serbian

attitude. Ljuba Jovanovitch, who was Minister of Edu-

cation in the Pashitch Cabinet of 1914, without perhaps

quite realizing the importance of his words, let the cat out

of the bag in 1924. In the Blood of Slavdom,52 he describes

in a vivid but simple way how some of the Pashitch Cabinet

were aware of the Sarajevo plot for nearly a month; and

yet, in spite of this guilty knowledge, took no effective

steps to arrest the conspirators or to warn the Austrian

authorities of the impending danger. This amazing admis-

sion on the part of a leading Serbian official has given rise

to other Serbian revelations and denials concerning the part

in the Sarajevo plot taken by the secret Serbian military

organization commonly known as the "Black Hand," and
especially by Col. Dragutin Dimitrijevitch. This reckless,

generous, idolized, childish hero, who seems to belong to

the spirit of the sixteenth rather than of the twentieth cen-

tury, was the head of the espionage department of the Ser-

bian General Staff. As the founder and dominating figure

in the Serbian "Black Hand," he was the most influential

military officer in Serbia. These Serbian revelations place

the Austro-Serbian conflict in a new light and, if true,

greatly increase the burden of Serbia's share of responsi-

bility. They tend to confirm what Austrian officials sus-

pected, but could not prove, in 1914. They help to

explain, though they do not justify, Austria's determination

to deal energetically with what was regarded as the Serbian

52 Ljuba Jovanovitch, "After Vidov-Dan, 1914," in Krv Slovcnstva,

Belgrade, 1924.
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menace to the very existence of the Ilapsburg Mon-
archy.53

With characteristic regard for what Mr. Asquith calls the

British tradition of being "scrupulously niggardly in im-

parting information as to the proceedings in the Cabinet,"

British officials have long been relatively chary of revealing

the part they played. However, Lord Haldane's Before the

War (1920) described with dignity and authority the failure

of his efforts to secure abetter understanding with Germany

in 1912, and his activity in preparing an English army to

fight on the Continent. Lord Lorebura, in How the War
Came (1920), charged Sir Edward Grey with grave re-

sponsibility for the War, because of the secret engagements

which he had made with France and which virtually com-

mitted England to support France and Russia in a European

war. These commitments, he thinks, encouraged France

and Russia in aggressive ambitions, but were long kept

secret from the British Cabinet, contrary to English consti-

tutional practice. Mr. Asquith's Genesis of the War (1924)

tells us little of the true origin of the War. The ex-Prime

Minister was still content to write in 1924 as if we knew no

more about the causes of the War after a decade than we did

in 1914. To him Germany is still solely responsible. He
writes as a politician making a case, not as a statesman

seeking to reveal the truth. In certain chapters, however,

he gives an illuminating account of the splendid prepara-

tions for war made by the Committee for Imperial De-

fense. He quotes the significant statement which Sir

Edward Grey made behind closed doors to the Dominion
Premiers in May, 1911: "What really determines the for-

eign policy of this country is the question of sea power."

This dictum is amply confirmed in The World Crisis, 1911-

1914 (1923) by Mr. Winston Churchill, First Lord of the

63 Some of these Serbian revelations were discussed by the present

writer in Current History, Oct., Nov., 1925.
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Admiralty during this period. Mr. Churchill gives us much
valuable new information as to his strengthening and

increasing of the British navy after Germany's folly in

refusing British proposals for the limitation of naval

armaments.

The memoirs of Sir George Buchanan, British Ambas-

sador to Russia, add little to our knowledge of the imme-

diate causes of the War beyond what can be learned from

the British Blue Book. But when he says that, with one

exception, this "recorded all the communications which

passed between me and that Department [the British For-

eign Office] during those critical days," 54 he is guilty of

serious misrepresentation; the new British Documents

contain more than a score of such communications not

printed in 1914, not even counting the important passages

omitted from several telegrams and letters. Lord Bertie's

Diary, though mainly concerned with events after the out-

break of the War, contains some significant passages on the

pacific attitude of the French people until they were stirred

up by their newspapers, and by Izvolski. Of the latter he

writes, July 27: "Izvolski is expected back here today or

tomorrow, and he is not an element of peace." And on

July 28: "Izvolski told Granville that war is inevitable.

. . . He will do a good deal of mischief in fomenting a war
spirit here." And later, on November 10: "What a fool

Izvolski is! ... At the beginning of the war he claimed

to be its author:

—

'C'est ma guerre!'" 55 This attitude is

confirmed by several passages now printed for the first time

in the new British Documents, in which we learn that Bertie

told the French that "public opinion in England would

not sanction a war in support of Russia if she, as protector

of Slavs, picked a quarrel with Austria over Austro-Serbian

54 Sir George Buchanan, My Mission to Russia and other Diplo-

matic Memories (2 vols., London, 1923), I, 211.

55 The Diary of Lord Bertie of Thame. 1914-1918 (2 vols., London,
192-1), I, 2, 3, 66.
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difficulty." He also at first denounced "the absurd and ob-

solete attitude of Russia being the protectress of all Slav

States, whatever their conduct." 50

Most valuable of all the recent memoirs is Viscount

Grey's Twenty-five Years, 1892-1916 (1925). By charm

of style and absence of bitterness, by transparent honesty

of intention and nobility of tone, and by the sweet reason-

ableness of his retrospective reflections, Grey's apologia is

unique. Though writing ten years or more after the events,

he appears to have a remarkably clear memory. Further-

more, he has had his friend, Mr. Spender, search the For-

eign Office records to refresh his mind on all points where

he feared his memory might play him tricks. His book is

thus, in a sense, a history based on the archives; yet the

clear flow of his narrative is unclogged by quotations and

footnotes. Admitting, however, Sir Edward Grey's abso-

lute sincerity in attempting to preserve the peace of Europe

and his unquestionable honesty of intent in his memoirs,

serious criticisms remain to be made of his conduct of

British foreign policy to which we shall return in a later

chapter. At this point it may be merely noted that his great

fault was what has been regarded as the great virtue of

British constitutional leaders—the preference for practical

compromise for the present instead of theoretical perfec-

tion for the future. He did not look far ahead, work out

a logical policy, and study all its possible consequences. He
was content in foreign affairs, as the British have always

been content in dealing with their constitutional develop-

ment, to meet situations as they arose and deal with them

according to the most practical and common sense needs of

the moment. As Grey himself says, when alleging chat

Great Britain never pursued a "Balance of Power" policy:

"I suppose that in this, as in most investigations of British

foreign policy, the true reason is not to be found in far-

ROR.D. 120. 192.
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sighted views or large conceptions or great schemes. . . .

If all secrets were known it would probably be found that

British Foreign Ministers have been guided by what seemed

to them to be the immediate interest of this country without

making elaborate calculations for the future." 57 The re-

sult of this hand-to-mouth procedure of solvitur ambulando

was that he became more and more enmeshed in his secret

understandings with France, until he was morally bound by

them in 1914. Though he had always been careful to state

to the French that his hands were to remain free, and that it

would always be for Parliament to decide whether England

would support France in a European war, he had, never-

theless, become gradually so committed that, as he twice

admits, he would have felt bound to resign his office if he

had been unable to persuade the Cabinet and Parliament to

enter the war against Germany.58

In his retrospect, Viscount Grey rightly has much to

say of the poisonous effect of suspicion as a cause of war,

but he also reveals in several passages his own deep-rooted

suspicion of Germany. "It seemed at the time (1914), and

still seems true to me, that the military power in Germany
chose the time and precipitated the War." 59 He seems to

have believed that the German militarists even selected

the month as well as the year for making war, choosing July

in 1914 as they had chosen July in 1870 and were ready to

choose July in 1905 and 1911 had it not been that France

yielded in the first Morocco crisis, and that England as-

sumed a very firm tone after Agadir.60 Though Germany's

actions gave much ground for suspicion, as we shall see, this

57 Grey, I, 6. 58 Grey, I, 303, 316. 59 Grey, I, 90.

60 "Had the [Agadir] crisis led to war, this would have come at the

very season that we know was favoured for the purpose by German
military leaders in 1870, and that was selected for the menace to France

in 1905, and that we believe was decided by the military authorities for

war in 1914." Grey, I, 231. For other passages indicating Grey's sus-

picion that the German militarists had fixed upon war for 1914, see I,

313-314; II, 23-31, 56, 144, 278.
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particular suspicion of Sir Edward Grey's was wholly in-

correct. But the fact that he harbored it must be ac-

counted one of the immediate causes of the War, because it

contributed to the failure of Germany's eleventh hour

efforts to prevent a general European conflagration. To be

sure, Viscount Grey generously and correctly acquits the

German civil authorities of planning or desiring war in 1914,

but he thinks that Bethmann and Jagow were powerless in

the face of the militarists.

Thus, there is at present a wealth of documentary and

memoir material, unprecedented in quantity and quality, at

the disposal of historians seeking to find the immediate

causes of the War. Never before in history have archives

been so quickly and freely thrown open by so many Great
'

Powers; never before have so many statesmen hastened to

tell at such length the part they played. In this respect,

as in so many others, the World War has outstripped all

precedents and surpassed all expectations. In the case of

former wars, at least a generation or two passed before sat-

isfactory accounts of their causes could be written. Today,

only fourteen years after the outbreak of the War, it may
safely be said that the materials are now at hand on which

to base a fairly exact statement of the course of events be-

tween the murder of the Archduke at Sarajevo on June 28,

and the advent of war between England and Germany on

August 4. This is the main subject of my second volume.

3. THE UNDERLYING CAUSES OF THE WAR

Though it is now possible, in a single volume, to treat in

detail and somewhat definitively the immediate causes of

the War, this is by no means true in the case of the under-

lying causes. These are so complex and reach so far back

into the past that any attempt to describe them adequately

would involve nothing less than the writing of the whole

diplomatic history of Europe since 1870, or rather from



THE UNDERLYING CAUSES OF THE WAR 33

1789 ; some questions go back to the age of Louis XIV, and

even to that of Charlemagne. It would also involve the

difficult technical study of the military and naval forces of

the various countries, their plans of campaign, the relation

of the military to the civilian authorities in each country,

the psychology of fear, and all the other factors which go

to make up the somewhat vague conceptions of "militarism"

and "navalism" as causes of war. No less important would

be the analysis of that complex force which first began to

be a powerful, disruptive agency during the French Revolu-

tion, and which steadily gathered strength for a century

and a quarter, which we call "nationalism." This in turn

is closely bound up with psychological and political ques-

tions of race, religion, democracy, education, and popular

prejudice. Still more important, in many minds, as under-

lying causes of the War are the intricate political and eco-

nomic problems which have arisen from the transformation

of society during the past hundred years by the modern in-

dustrial system which began in England and subsequently

penetrated more or less all the great countries of the world

—

problems of excess population, food supply, foreign markets

and raw materials, colonial possessions, and the accumula-

tion of capital seeking investment abroad. Finally, the in-

fluence of the newspaper press is a factor much greater than

commonly supposed in causing the World War. For decades

it fed the constant undercurrents of irritation of one coun-

try against another, and by its clamor and misrepresenta-

tions often made difficult or impossible the peaceful settle-

ment of sources of conflict. How far government officials

controlled newspaper opinion, and how far they themselves

were hampered in their freedom of action by it, is a subject

which greatly needs further careful historical investigation.

Obviously, no single volume can hope to deal thoroughly

with all these complex and interrelated factors which con-

stitute the underlying causes of the World War. They may
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be conveniently grouped under five heads: (a) the system of

secret alliances; (b) militarism; (c) nationalism; (d) eco-

nomic imperialism; and (e) the newspaper press.

(a) THE SYSTEM OF SECRET ALLIANCES-

The greatest single underlying cause of the War was the

system of secret alliances which developed after the Franco-

Prussian War. It gradually divided Europe into two hostile

groups of Powers who were increasingly suspicious of one

another and who steadily built up greater and greater

armies and navies. Though this system of alliances in one

sense tended to preserve peace, inasmuch as the members
within one group often held their friends or allies in re-

straint for fear of becoming involved in war themselves, the

system also made it inevitable that if war did come, it would

involve all the Great Powers of Europe. The members of

each group felt bound to support each other, even in mat-

ters where they had no direct interest, because failure to

give support would have weakened the solidarity of the

group. Thus, Germany often felt bound to back up

Austria-Hungary in her Balkan policies, because otherwise

Germany feared to lose her only thoroughly dependable

ally. Similarly, France had no direct political (only finan-

cial) interests in the Balkans, but felt bound to back up
Russia, because otherwise the existence of the Dual Alli-

ance would have been threatened, the balance of power de-

stroyed, and the best guarantee of French safety from a

German attack would have been lost. Likewise, the officials

of the British Foreign Office became increasingly convinced

that England must support France and Russia in order to

preserve the solidarity of the Triple Entente as a check to

the Triple Alliance. In the crisis of July, 1914, it was not,

merely a question of Austria, Serbia and the Balkans; it

was a question of the solidarity and prestige of the two

groups of Powers into which Europe had become divided.
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As one reads the new British Documents, one is struck by

the emphasis on this necessity of preserving the solidarity

of the Triple Entente. As Sir Eyre Crowe noted in a

"minute" early in the crisis: "It is clear that France and

Russia are decided to accept the challenge thrown out to

them. Whatever we may think of the merits of the Aus-

trian charges against Servia, France and Russia consider

that these are the pretexts, and that the bigger cause of

Triple Alliance versus Triple Entente is definitely en-

gaged. I think it would be impolitic, not to say dangerous,

for England to attempt to controvert this opinion, or to

endeavour to obscure the plain issue, by any representation

at St. Petersburg and Paris. . . . Our interests are tied up

with those of France and Russia in this struggle, which is

not for the possession of Servia, but one between Germany
aiming at a political dictatorship in Europe and the Powers

who desire to retain individual freedom." 61 It was stated

more bluntly by Herr Zimmermann to the British Ambas-

sador in Berlin on August 1, when he saw with excited re-

gret that Germany, France, and perhaps England, would be

drawn into a war which none of them wanted: "It all came

from this d d system of alliances, which was the curse

of modern times." 62

In view of the fatal consequences of this system of secret

alliances in 1914, and of the fact that there has recently

appeared much new material throwing light upon it, an

attempt to sketch in outline its development will be made
in the three following chapters. As indicated above, many
of the documents and memoirs dealing with the immediate

causes of the War contain also material on the earlier period.

But the most important single contribution to our fuller

knowledge of the growth of the system of secret alliances

is the great set of new German diplomatic documents cover-

ei B.D., 101.

62 B.D., 510.
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ing the years from 1871 to 1914. 03 This consists of the most

secret instructions sent by Bismarck and his successors to

the German Ambassadors abroad, their reports to the Ger-

man Foreign Office, and the secret papers exchanged be-

tween the German Emperor and his Foreign Office officials.

It includes exceedingly interesting marginal notes on docu-

ments from the hand of Bismarck, and later from that of

William II. Bismarck's notes reveal the Iron Chancellor's

innermost thoughts on foreign policy. They formed the

basis of instructions sent by the German Foreign Office to

the ambassadors abroad. William II's marginal notes,

which are more numerous, more emotional, and often

merely indicative of the mood of the moment, are interest-

ing as a study of the psychology of the imperial mind, but

exercised somewhat less directive influence upon the Ger-

man Foreign Office than did Bismarck's masterly notes.

From this collection of documents one sees that the German
Foreign Office did not always completely inform William II

on all matters and often made its will prevail over his

preferences. So far as one can judge, Die Grosse Politik is

fairly complete within the limits set by the editors, and

aims at giving the basis for an honest and detailed picture

of German foreign policy from the Franco-Prussian War
to the World War. 64 But we still lack any equally compre-

ss Die Grosse Politik dcr Europdischen Kabinette, 1871-19H: Samm~
lung dcr Diplomatischen Aktcn des Auswdrtigen Arntcs, edited by Johannes
Lepsius, Albrecht Mendelssohn-Bartholdy and Friedrich Thimme, 40 vols.,

Berlin, 1922-27; cited hereafter as "G.P."
M A further account of Die Grosse Politik is given bv tlie present

writer in the Amer. Hist. Rev., XXVIII, 543-548; XXX, 136-141; XXXI,
130-133; XXXIII, 126-134. Cf. also the appreciations by various scholars

in KSF, IV, 900-946. Dec, 1926; the criticisms of M. Lheritier in Rev.
d'Hist. de la Guerre Mondiale, IV, 97-116, April, 1926, and of E. Bour-
geois, in Revue Historique, CLV, 39-56, May-June, 1927; and the replies

to these criticisms by Albrecht Mendelssohn-Bartholdy and by F. Thimme
in Europaische Gcsprdche, D7, 377-390, July, 1926, and V, 461-479. Sept
1927.

A French translation of Die Grosse Politik, under the editorship c

A. Aulard, in which the documents are arranged chronologically instea



THE UNDERLYING CAUSES OF THE WAR 37

hensive publication from the archives of France, Russia, and

the other countries, which may be used to check and bal-

ance these German documents. Very recently, however,

the British have begun an admirable edition of their secret

diplomatic papers, similar to Die Grosse Politik, but more

restricted in scope; the first two volumes already published

cover the years from 1898 to 1904, and eight more volumes

will carry the diplomatic revelations to July, 1914.

Professor Pribram's invaluable edition of The Secret

Treaties of Austria-Hungary, 1879-1914,^ made possible

for the first time a satisfactory study of the Triple Alli-

ance treaties and their evolution from a purely defensive

system into one which was used for aggressive purposes by

Italy and Austria.

The Bolshevist Materials for the History of Franco-

Russian Relations from 1910 to 1914, mentioned above,

contains much of the correspondence between the Russian

Foreign Office and the Russian Embassy in Paris during the

four years before the War. It enables one to see how
Izvolski and Poincare were transforming the Franco-

Russian alliance from its originally defensive character into

a potentially aggressive combination to support Russian

ambitions in the Balkans. Much of this material has been

made easily accessible to Western readers in Rene Mar-

chand's Livre Noir.GQ It has been further completed by

some five hundred additional letters and telegrams of

Izvolski's correspondence, which have been published in

of topically and in which the German editorial notes are omitted, is

now being published, and is discussed by F. Thimme in KSF, V, 897-907,

Sept., 1927.

The British Documents, which form to some extent the English
counterpart to Die Grosse Politik, have been mentioned above at note 20.

65 A. F. Pribram, Die politischen Geheimvertrdge Oesterreich-Ungarns,

1879-1914, Vienna and Leipzig, 1920 (Eng. trans, ed. by A. C. Coolidge,

2 vols, Cambridge, Mass., 1920-22).
66 Un Livre Noir: Diplomatie d'Avant-Guerre d'Apres les Documents

des Archives Russes, ed. by R. Marchand, 2 vols, Paris, 1922-23.
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German translation by Friedrich Stieve.07 Parallel to this

Paris-St. Petersburg correspondence, supplementing and

confirming it, is the London-St. Petersburg correspondence

of Count Benckendorff for the years 1908-1914. His letters

and other secret papers were clandestinely copied by B. von

Siebert, a counsellor in the Russian Embassy at London.

They were apparently sold or conveyed to German authori-

ties, and published by von Siebert in a German edition in

1921.08 They have been conveniently rearranged and pub-

lished in English translation by G. A. Schrciner, Entente

Diplomacy and the World (1921). They show the efforts

of Russia and France to strengthen the friendship with

England and to tighten the bonds of the Triple Entente

into a combination which should be firm and powerful

enough to defy the Triple Alliance, if necessary.

From the French archives, a few documents were pub-

lished by Professors Bourgeois and Pages, as a French

Senate Report on Les Origincs et Les Rcsponsabilitcs dc la

Grande Guerre.™ But these French documents are few and

meager as compared with the German, Austrian and Rus-

sian publications, and are selected to prove a case, rather

than to furnish historians with material for study. More
valuable are the French Yellow Books containing documents

on such special subjects as the Ftanco-Russian Alliance

and Balkan Affairs, 1912-1914, though these are clearly far

from complete.

A second underlying cause of the War, closely connected

with the system of secret alliances, was militarism. The

word is often used vaguely. But usually it includes at least

67 F. Stieve, Dcr Diplomatischc Schriltwcchscl Iswolskis, 1911-

1914, 4 vols., Berlin, 1924.

68 B. von Siebert, Diplomatischc Aklcnstucke zur Gcichichlc dcr En-
tentepolitik dcr Vorkricgsjahrc, Berlin and Leipzig, 1921.

09 Published in the Journal officicl, Jan. 9, 1921 ;
republished, in book

form, with some material from the Kautsky Documents, Paris, 1921.
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two definite conceptions. First, the dangerous and burden-

some mechanism of great standing armies and large navies,

with the attendant evils of espionage, suspicion, fear, and

hatred. Second, the existence of a powerful class of mili-

tary and naval officers, headed by the General Staff, who
tend to dominate, especially at a time of political crisis, over

the civilian authorities.

The system of great armies, embracing the larger part

of the male population capable of bearing arms, began with

the French during the Revolution and under Napoleon. It

was extended and efficiently developed by the Prussians in

the War of Liberation. As a result of its success in the

victories of Moltke and Bismarck in the Wars of 1864, '66

and 70, it came to be esteemed and imitated in the rest of

Continental Europe. From the Franco-Prussian War on-

wards the military and naval armaments of all the Great

Powers tended to grow larger and larger, and the financial

burden became heavier and heavier. Armaments were al-

leged to be for defense and in the interests of peace, accord-

ing to the fallacious maxim, si vis pacem, para helium. They
were intended to produce a sense of security. That was the

argument used in getting from legislatures the necessary

grants of money. What they really did produce wras uni-

versal suspicion, fear, and hatred between nations. If one

country increased its army, built strategic railways, and
constructed new battleships, its fearful neighbors were
straightway frightened into doing likewise. So the mad
competition in armaments went on in a vicious circle. This

was especially the case during and after the B^kan Wars
of 1912-1913, when it seemed that the Great Powers might
be involved. It was also accentuated by the system of alli-

ances. Germany and Austria, uncertain of Italy's loyalty,

believed they must increase their armaments to secure their

own safety. France urged Russia to increase her army and
build strategic railways against Germany, and readily
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loaned her half a billion francs on condition that it be spent

for these purposes. Russia urged France to extend the

terra of French military service from two to three years.

"Russia is ready; France must be also," declared the Rus-

sian Minister of War in an alarming newspaper article early

in 1914. So armaments were increased, not only to give

security to an individual country, but also to strengthen

the alliance to which it belonged.

Militarism implied also the existence of an influential

body of military and naval officers, whose whole psychologi-

cal outlook was naturally colored by the possibility, if not

the "inevitability," of an early war. To these professional

fighters war held out the prospect of quick promotion and

great distinction. It would, however, be a grave injustice

to them to imply that they urged war for selfish motives of

personal advancement. Nevertheless, the opportunity to

put into practice the results of the work of preparation for

war to which their lives were devoted cannot have failed

to have its psychological effect. Quite aside from any per-

sonal motives, the military officers in all countries had a

high sense of national honor and patriotic duty, as they

understood it. It was their supreme duty to be ready at

any moment to protect the state by force of arms. It was

the constant preoccupation, day and night, of the General

Staff in every country to be ready to make or meet an attack

in the shortest possible time. To this end every General

Staff drew up or revised every year the most minute and

complete plans for mobilization and march to the frontier

to satisfy all possible contingent situations. Military offi-

cers generally held to the theory that it was advantageous

to take the offensive. This meant striking the foe before

his mobilization was complete—at the moment, therefore,

when the enemy country was in the most vulnerable process

of transforming itself from a peace to a war footing. It

meant also that the war, with all its frightful economic
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devastation and demoralizing political and psychological
effects, would be carried on in the enemy's country instead
of within one's own frontiers. In a political crisis, there-

fore, the military leaders were always quick to conclude
that war was "inevitable," and exerted all their influence to

persuade the ruling civilian authorities to consent to an
order for general mobilization at the earliest possible mo-
ment, in order to gain the advantage of the offensive. But
a general mobilization, according to prevailing military

opinion, actually did make war inevitable. It was a process
virtually impossible to halt when once begun. This was
one of the greatest evils of militarism. It is always at a
crisis, precisely when it is most difficult for diplomats to
keep their heads clear and their hands free, that militarist

leaders exert their influence to hasten decisions for war, or
get the upper hand altogether.

Another evil of militarism was the fact that the plans
of the General Staff were technical and were worked out and
guarded in such absolute secrecy. Not only were they un-
known to Parliament and the public; they were often not
even known to the Minister of Foreign Affairs, or at least

their details and significance were not grasped by him.
Sir Edward Grey says that between 1906 and 1911 he knew
nothing of the plans which the English and French military
authorities were working out for Anglo-French military co-
operation in Northern France. As to the negotiations be-
tween the Anglo-Russian naval authorities in the spring of

1914, he likewise writes : "I never enquired at the Admiralty
afterwards, but I imagine the practical result of the con-
sultations between the two naval authorities was not great.

. . . [In the Siebert documents they] are constantly re-

ferred to as 'conventions.' How the military and naval au-
thorities themselves described them, I do not know." 70

Similarly, in Russia, it is clear that M. Sazonov did not at
™ Grey, I, 91, 274-277.
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first grasp the fact that the plans of the militarists made a

"partial mobilization" against Austria a piece of folly, if

not a downright impossibility. And in Germany Herr von

Bethmann-Hollweg never envisaged clearly the implications

of the Schlieffen-Moltke plan to attack France through

Belgium, if indeed he was aware of it at all before the final

crisis.

This then was another evil of militarism. The General

Staffs worked out in absolute secrecy the plans which they

calculated to be best adapted to bring military victory,

regardless of the political implications which they might

thereby impose on the civilian authorities. And when war

became "inevitable," there was tremendous pressure upon

the civilians to accept the arrangements which the mili-

tarists had long planned in secret. The militarist mind was

much the same in all the countries, but there was a differ-

ence as to the extent to which the military and civilian

authorities exercised control. General Joffre, in 1912, pre-

cisely like the German strategists, urged the strategic neces-

sity of disregarding Belgian neutrality; but while Moltke

was allowed to build his whole plan of campaign upon this

violation of a treaty which Bethmann was helpless to avert

if war came, M. Poincare was strong enough and shrewd

enough to veto General Joffre's views. He realized the bad

effect it would have on public opinion in England, and the

danger that it might cause the British Government to make

use of its stipulated freedom to withhold armed aid.

Closely akin to this influence of military and naval offi-

cers was the pressure exerted on civilian authorities by

munition makers and "big business."

Some militarists believed in "preventive" war—the

waging of a war upon a neighbor while he was still weak,

in order to prevent him growing stronger later on. So it is

often alleged that Germany wanted war in 1914, in order to
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have a final reckoning with Slavdom before Russia should

have completed her "Great Program" of military reorgani-

zation in 1916 or 1917. M. Poincare and his associates are

alleged to have wanted war in 1914 before Germany grew

any stronger by reason of her rapidly increasing population,

wealth, and naval force, and also before French Socialists,

revolting against the burden of French military expenditure,

should repeal the recently voted three-year term of service.

For the same reasons Russian militarists are said to have

wanted war sooner rather than later. England even is

often said to have been glad of the opportunity to crush

the growing German navy before it should become a greater

menace to that of England. Though here and there some

individual military and naval officers in most countries may
have held such views, the present writer does not think

that the militarist doctrine of preventive war was a decisive

factor in causing the World War. Only in Austria-Hungary

did it exercise a strong influence on state policy; here it

was generally felt that a conflict with Serbia must come
sooner or later, and, as Baron Conrad repeatedly urged, the

sooner the better. The murder of the Heir to the Throne

was eagerly seized upon as a good excuse for trampling upon

the Greater Serbia danger.

Nor is there any more substantial truth in the common
assertion that the German authorities welcomed war as a

means of crushing the rising tide of socialism, than there

is in the similar assertion that Russia welcomed war as a

good way of putting an end to workingmen's strikes and

revolutionary unrest.

Generally speaking, it may be said that this aspect of

militarism—the influence of the military upon the civilian

authorities—was a serious matter in the three eastern

monarchies of Germany, Austria, and Russia. It was much
less in France, and virtually non-existent in England, where
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civilian ministers were ordinarily in charge of the array and

navy.71

We shall have something more to say about militarism

and navalism in connection with the system of alliances.

(c) NATIONALISM

Nationalism, whose essence and development have re-

cently been so admirably analyzed by a distinguished

American historian, 72 must be accounted one of the major

underlying causes of the War. In its chronic form of Pan-

Germanism, Pan-Slavism and revandte, it nourished hatred

between Germany and her two neighbors on the East and

West. It worked in curious and devious ways. It had con-

tributed happily to the unification of Germany and Italy.

On the other hand, it had disrupted the Ottoman Empire

and threatened to disrupt the Hapsburg Monarchy. In its

virulent form, it had contributed for a century to a series of

wars for national liberation and unity in the Balkans. It

was such an important factor in the Balkan situation and

led so directly to the immediate occasion of the World War

that some account of it in this corner of Europe will be

given below in the chapter on Balkan Problems.

(d) ECONOMIC IMPERIALISM

Economic imperialism embraces a series of international

rivalries which resulted in large part from the Industrial

Revolution in England and its subsequent introduction into

the other great countries of the world.73 It led to quantity

71 On these aspects of militarism, cj. H. N. Brailsford, The War

of Steel and Gold, London, 1914; Karl Liebknecht, Militarism, New York,

1917; Munroe Smith, Militarism and Statecraft, New York, 1918; [F. C.

Endres], Die Tragodie Deutschlands, 3rd ed., with abundant bibliographies,

Stuttgart, 1921; and the admirable volume of G. L. Dickinson, The

International Anarchy, 1904-1911,, London, 1926.

72 C. J. H. Hayes, Essays on Nationalism, New York, 1926; and

"Contributions of Herder to the Doctrine of Nationalism," in Am. Hist.

Rev., XXXII, 719-736 (July, 1927).

'3 For an excellent recent discussion of this whole subject, see Parker
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production of goods which in turn involved the struggle for

new markets and new sources of raw materials. It resulted

in a great increase of population, part of which sought to

emigrate to the still unoccupied regions of the world,

thereby sharpening the colonial rivalry of the Great Powers.

It brought about the accumulation of capital which sought

investment abroad, thus leading to economic exploitation

and political competition. In consequence of these and

other factors, the Great Powers began to partition Africa

among themselves, to secure territory or exclusive spheres

of influence in China, and to build railroads in Turkey and

elsewhere. This struggle for markets, raw materials, and

colonies became more acute during the last quarter of the

nineteenth and the beginning of the twentieth century,

owing to the fact that Germany and Italy entered the com-

petition. Hitherto politically weak and divided, they had

now secured national unity and wished to come forward to

share with the other Powers in the partitioning of the world.

It can hardly be said that any one of the Great Powers was

more responsible than another for the international jeal-

ousies and friction which arose out of this economic im-

perialism. By 1914, all the Great European Powers had

secured slices of Africa. In China, Italy only had failed to

gain something for herself. In the matter of railway con-

struction, which was one of the most important forms of

economic imperialism because it involved political as well

as economic interests, one sees the English building the

Cape-to-Cairo railway, the Russians the Trans-Siberian,

and the Germans the so-called Bagdad Railway. The first

of these came into conflict with German, Belgian and

French ambitions; the second was partly responsible for

the Russo-Japanese War; the third caused endless sus-

T. Moon, Imperialism and World Politics, New York, 1926; and A. Lum-
broso, Le origini economical e diplomatichi delh guerra mondiale, Milano,

1927.
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picions and friction between Germany and the Triple

Entente.

Protective tariffs which usually accompanied the mod-

ern industrial system, except in England, were another form

of economic imperialism. "Tariff wars" and retaliatory

measures caused irritation between countries, especially in

the mind of the man in the street and in newspaper discus-

sion. There was always the danger that great merchants

and industrialists would use official government support to

secure economic advantages for themselves. This tended to

bring governments into conflict with one another.

Generally speaking, however, this economic imperialism

is usually exaggerated as one of the underlying causes of the

War. It is often said, for instance, that the industrial de-

velopment of Germany, and the jealousy with which it was

regarded by England, made a war between these two coun-

tries "inevitable" sooner or later. This, however, is an un-

sound view. It arises from the fact that economic rivalry

tends to become exaggerated in the mind of the public, be-

cause it is a subject which touches the pockets of wide

classes, and is more generally discussed and perhaps under-

stood than other questions like secret treaties, militarism, or

nationalism. It often happens that great merchants or in-

dustrialists own or control newspapers which are selfishly

interested in contributing to the exaggeration of these eco-

nomic questions. But if one reads the diplomatic corre-

spondence of the years before the War, one is struck by the

relatively slight importance which is given to these eco-

nomic rivalries which haunt so largely the mind of the

average business man and newspaper editor. It is not so

much questions of economic rivalry as those of prestige,

boundaries, armies and navies, the Balance of Power, and

possible shiftings in the system of alliances, which provoke

reams of diplomatic correspondence and raise the tempera-

ture in Foreign Offices to the danger point.
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1(e) THE NEWSPAPER PRESS /'

Another underlying cause of the War was the poisoning

of public opinion by the newspaper press in all of the great

countries. This is a subject which is only beginning to re-

ceive the careful investigation which it deserves.74

\Too often newspapers in all lands were inclined to in-

flame nationalistic feelings, misrepresent the situation in

foreign countries, and suppress factors in favor of peace. 1

:

In the diplomatic correspondence of the forty years before

the War there were innumerable cases in which Govern-

ments were eager to establish better relations and secure

friendly arrangements, but were hampered by the jingoistic

attitude of the newspapers in their respective countries.

Ambassadors and Cabinet Ministers frequently admitted

the senseless attitude of the leading newspapers in their own
country, apologized for it and promised to exert themselves

to restrain it, if only the other Government would do the

same toward its press. These were often quite genuine

efforts and may frequently be seen in Anglo-German rela-

tions in the quarter of a century before the War. At other

times, however, '.Ministers sought to score an advantage or

to defend their attitude by alleging that their freedom of

action was restricted because of the press and public opin-

ion—that if they yielded the point under dispute there

would be such a howl from the newspapers and the public

that they would be turned out of office. Such allegations

are sometimes true, but more often they are not, particu-

larly in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe, where

74 Cf. E. M. Carroll, "French Public Opinion in the War of 1870," in

Amer. Hist. Rev., XXXI, 679-700, July, 1926; J. F Scott, Five Weeks:
a Study of the Surge of Public Opinion on the Eve of the Great Warn,

New York, 1927; I. C. Willis, How We Went into the War, London, 1918;

L. M. Salmon, The Newspaper and Authority (N. Y., 1923), chs. xii-xiv;

F. R. Flournoy, Parliament and War—The Relation of the British Part
liament to the Administration, of Foreign Policy in Connection with the

Initiation of War, London, 1927.
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the Government was generally able to exercise a greater

control over the press than in England.' It is, nevertheless,

true that the newspapers of two countries often took up

some point of dispute, exaggerated it, and made attacks and

counter-attacks, until a regular newspaper war was engen-

dered, which thoroughly poisoned public opinion, and so

offered a fertile soil in which the seeds of real war might

easily germinate. A particularly good example of this is

to be seen in the press feud carried on between Austria and

Serbia in the weeks following the murder of the Archduke

Ferdinand. Here was a case in which the Governments

of both countries, instead of apologizing for their press or

trying to restrain it, deliberately allowed the newspapers

to incite public opinion (and fire it to an indignation and

enthusiasm for war. It would, perhaps, be too much to

say that, had it not been for this Austro-Serbian newspaper

feud, the War might have been averted. But it is true that

the violence of the Serbian press was one of the determin-

ing factors which led Count Tisza to change his opinion

and to accept war with Serbia, whereas at first he had been

stubbornly opposed to it ; and without his consent Count

Bcrchtold and the militarists could not have made war on

Serbia.

There is a vast literature on freedom of the press, cen-

sorship of the press, slander and libel, and the professional

aspects of journalism, but there is very little sound writing

on the relations of the press to governmental control and

on its influence in fomenting national hatreds and war. Yet

there is abundant material for the study of this in the news-

papers themselves; in Die Grosse Politik, and other diplo-

matic documents; and in the writings and biographies of

men like W. T. Stead, Wickham Steed, Spender, and North-

cliffe ; of Busch, Hammann, and Theodor Wolff; of Lau-

zanne, Gauvin, and Tardieu; of Blowitz and Suvorin; and

of Godkin, Ogdcn, Villard, and Lippmann. It is to be hoped



THE UNDERLYING CAUSES OF THE WAR 40

that some careful scholars will turn their attention to this

problem of the influence of the newspaper press as one of

the underlying causes of the War. Bismarck's oft-quoted

remark is even more true for the generation immediately

preceding the World War than for his own : "Every country

is held at some time to account for the windows broken by

its press; the bill is presented, some day or other, in the

shape of hostile sentiment in the other country."



CHAPTER II

THE SYSTEM OF SECRET ALLIANCES, 1871-1890:

DOMINATION OF THE EASTERN EMPIRES

THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE FRANCO-PRUSSIAN WAR

The Franco-Prussian War reversed a situation which
had existed for two hundred years. After the Thirty Years'

War in the seventeenth century Germany remained weak.
Economically she had been exhausted by that terrible con-
flict in which all Europe trampled on her soil. Politically

she was weak by her division into an incongruous multi-

tude of states differing in size and character, and by the

increasing rivalry for leadership between the decaying power
of the Hapsburgs and the growing vigor of the Hohenzol-
lerns. Consequently she was continually subject to the

French policy of Richelieu and Mazarin, which aimed to

keep her weak and divided. Occasionally, also, she was
subject to actual invasion and dismemberment by French
armies, as in the time of Louis XIV and Napoleon. Early
in the nineteenth century, to be sure, in a time of great

danger and humiliation, Prussia and Austria had tempo-
rarily sunk their mutual rivalry; with English and Russian
assistance they had united in the War of Liberation to expel

and dethrone Napoleon. But Waterloo did not end Ger-
many's internal weaknesses. The loose Confederation of

1815 and the continued jealousy of Austria and Prussia left

Germany still comparatively impotent and unimportant as

an international power. Finally, in the 1850's at the Frank-

fort Diet, Bismarck became convinced that Germany's

weakness could only be cured by a fratricidal war in which
50



THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE FRANCO-PRUSSIAN WAR 51

Austria should be forcibly expelled from the German body-

politic. At Paris and at Biarritz, he learned to gauge the

weakness and ambition of Napoleon III which could be
turned to Germany's advantage. So he annexed Schleswig-

Holstein, expelled Austria by the Prussian victory at Sa-

dowa, and established the North German Federation under

Prussian leadership. In 1870-1871, by Sedan and Versailles,

he at last transformed Germany into a strong unified Em-
pire. The situation between France and Germany was now
reversed: it was no longer Germany, but France, which

was weak and in danger from an attack from across the

Rhine.

Bismarck's unification of Germany was hailed at the

time as a desirable, even glorious, accomplishment of the

spirit of nationalism. But it was accompanied by the an-

nexation of Alsace-Lorraine. The French have always re-

garded this as a crime—"the brutal dismemberment of a

nation," "the tearing of children from their mother." His-

tory shows that it was worse than a crime, it was a blunder.

In Bismarck's defense it has been said that he was only

"liberating" territory which had been wrested from Ger-

many by Louis XIV at a time when Germany was weak
and divided against herself. Victors had always seized terri-

tory from the vanquished if they could, and if it suited then-

purposes. Moltke and the Prussian military authorities in-

sisted that the provinces between the Vosges and the Rhine
must be in German hands to prevent a possible attack by a
revengeful France upon the South German States, which
were none too enthusiastically or securely incorporated into

the new German Empire. Bismarck, it is argued, could not
come back to Berlin and face a Reichstag and the popular
German demand for French territory without laying him-
self open to the charge of having been weakly generous to

the successors of Louis XIV and Napoleon. Moreover, the
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majority of the population in the annexed districts spoke

German. There is some truth in this point of view.

On the other hand, there is much more truth in another

point of view. There was a vast difference between the

French annexations in the seventeenth century and Bis-

marck's annexation in 1S71. Between these two periods

lay the French Revolution and the forces to which it had

given rise. Louis XIV in seizing the Alsatian districts did

not dismember Germany, because there was at that time no

united German body politic—nothing but a conglomeration

of mutually jealous German territories. The so-called Holy

Roman Empire was neither Holy, nor Roman, nor an Em-
pire, but "an irregular sort of a body like a monster," 1

incapable of feeling a wound. The French Revolution,

however, had swept away provincial boundaries in France,

and created a new self-conscious nation, "one and indivisi-

ble." France, including the annexed districts of Alsace and

Lorraine, had become one body, powerfully conscious of its

unity and nationality; if one of its members suffered, all

suffered together Bismarck had mutilated a living body

and the wound would not heal; it was to remain an awful

open sore, threatening the peace of Europe for forty years.

Nor was Alsace-Lorraine necessary to Germany's safety

from a military point of view; the Rhine was as good a

boundary as the Vosges. And though the majority of the

million and a half people in Alsace and Lorraine were

German speaking, that did not mean that they were Ger-

man thinking; on the contrary, the great majority were

bitterly opposed to separation from France and protested

vigorously, but in vain. Could Bismarck have peered into

the future and seen how French pride and French bitterness

over the loss of Alsace-Lorraine was to vitiate every effort

1 "Irrcgulare aliquod corpus et monstro simile," wrote "Severin de
Monzanibano" [Pufendorf] in his famous tract, De Statu Imperii German-
ici (1667), cap. VI, sec. 9.
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at permanently satisfactory relations between Germany and

France—could he have foreseen how, by its direct and still

more its indirect consequences, it was to be one of the main

underlying causes of the World War, perhaps then he would

have acted otherwise in 1871. But though he was possessed

of unusual political foresight, he can scarcely have ex-

pected that the French would never become reconciled to

their loss; that, on the contrary, the desire for revanche,

unspoken perhaps, but fixed in the heart, would persist

and even grow in intensity in later years. In fact, Bis-

marck's policy in the decade 1875-1885 seems to indicate

that he had hopes of winning the French to something like

frank friendship and an acceptance of the fait accompli.2

Nevertheless, whatever he may have hoped as to the future,

he had no illusions about the present. He knew that for the

years immediately following the war, French resentment

would run high. He must therefore protect the new Ger-

man Empire, the child of his creation, by making it strong

of itself—strong by holding France weak and isolated, and

strong by the establishment of close relations with the two

other Great Powers bordering on Germany on the east and

south, that is, with Russia and Austria.

THE LEAGUE OF THE THREE EMPERORS, 1872-1878

Between Russia and Prussia there had existed tradi-

tional bonds of friendship ever since their armies had fought

side by side for the overthrow of Napoleon. These bonds

had been further strengthened during the Crimean War and

the Polish uprising of 1863. Both Powers had a common
interest in preventing the reestablishment of Polish inde-

pendence, which would have deprived them of the spoils

of the partitions of Poland. During the Franco-Prussian
2 "Je desire en arriver a, ce que vous pardonniez Sedan comme vou3

avez pardonne Waterloo," Bismarck said to the French ambassador in

December, 18&4; Bourgeois et Pages, Les Origines et les Responsabilites de

la Grande Guerre, Paris, 1921, p. 307.
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Wax, Russia had done Bismarck the great service of main'
taining an attitude of benevolent neutrality and of tending

to restrain Austria from joining France and seeking re-

vanche for Sadowa. The long months during the siege of

Paris were for Bismarck a critical and difficult period, and
Russia might, if she had chosen, have greatly embarrassed
him. Bismarck therefore at once frankly recognized the

service which Russia had done him in 1S70-1S71 by assent-

ing to the Tsar's abrogation of the humiliating Black Sea
Clauses, imposed on Russia after the Crimean War. A still

stronger bond between the two countries was the close per-

sonal tie between old Emperor William and his nephew,
Alexander II, a tie which was renewed by the visit which the

Tsar paid to Berlin in the month following the signature of

peace between Germany and France.

With Austria, Bismarck was especially anxious to es-

tablish firm and friendly relations. Having accomplished
his purpose of establishing German unity under Prussian
leadership, he believed that the natural relation of the two
countries which contained such large German elements and
which for centuries had formed part of the same Holy
Roman Empire should be one of friendship. After Sadowa
he had purposely refrained from humiliating Austria fur-

ther by annexing Austrian territory or by allowing the vic-

torious German army to enter the Austrian capital. He
had also maintained close relations with the powerful
Magyar elements in Hungary who had used Prussian vic-

tories to secure for themselves from Francis Joseph the
favorable constitutional Compromise of 1S67. Austria, on
her part, was ready to recognize 1866 as a fait accompli and
to give up any hope of changing the arrangements which
Bismarck had established. Accordingly, Bismarck was able
to bring about friendly personal meetings between Emperor
William and Francis Joseph in the summer of 1S71 on
Austrian soil. In November, 1371, the good relations be-
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tween the two Powers were greatly strengthened through

a change in the Foreign Office at Vienna: Count Beust, a

Saxon who had never liked Bismarck and was inclined to

the side of France, was replaced by Count Julius Andrassy,

a Magyar and an old friend of Bismarck's.

In April, 1872, Count Andrassy suggested that Emperor

Francis Joseph should pay a return visit to Emperor Wil-

liam at Berlin. When Tsar Alexander II heard of the in-

tended visit he asked the German Ambassador in St.

Petersburg, "Have they not written to ask you whether

they would like to have me there at the same time with the

Emperor of Austria?" 3

Alexander did not want to be left out in the cold while

his two brother monarchs were conferring together. He

suggested that such a meeting of the three Eastern mon-

archs would be the strongest guarantee for the peace of

Europe and would strike a blow at the French desire for

revanche which was the most permanent menace to this

peace. But his suggestion was a little embarrassing to

Bismarck. He did not quite know how Francis Joseph

would take it. When, however, the Austrian Emperor's

consent had been secured, it was finally arranged that the

three monarchs, accompanied by their Foreign Ministers,

should visit Berlin together in the second week of Septem-

ber, 1872. This interview of the three Emperors, accom-

panied by extraordinary gala festivities meant to impress

the world, resulted in a still closer understanding between

the three Eastern Powers. Though no written agreement

was signed, and though the Foreign Ministers conferred in

pairs and not all together, there was established a close

"understanding" or "Entente a trois"—the basis for the

"League of the Three Emperors" a few months later. In

a sense, this Entente was a renewal of the old Holy Alliance

of 1815; as in the days of Alexander I and Metternich the

3 G.P., I, 197.
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three Eastern Powers had stood together in defense of con-
servatism and the status quo, so now they were to stand to-

gether in defense of monarchical solidarity against the rising

danger of international socialism, and for the preservation
of tiie peace and status quo of Europe against possible

moves of France or others to disturb it. On the whole, the
meeting was a triumph for Bismarck, though he was not
without irritation at the Russian minister, Gorchakov,
whose vanity and suspected intrigues were ever a trial to
his nerves. Gorchakov, for instance, on this occasion had
greatly embarrassed Emperor William by remarking to him
in the presence of the French Ambassador, "Well, I have
just been at Prince Bismarck's to discuss with him the
points on which we are agreed, but nothing has been put in
writing; promises suffice between sovereigns and minis-
ters." 4 For (he suspicion which this remark may easily

have aroused in the mind of the French Ambassador there
was absolutely no ground. Alexander had no thought of
participating in any aggressive policy toward France.

The Entente of the Three Emperors was further
strengthened in the following year when Emperor William,
accompanied by Bismarck and Moltke, visited St. Peters-
burg. A secret military convention was soon signed by
which Russia and Germany promised to each other the
assistance of two hundred thousand men in case either was
attacked by a European Power. A few weeks later, when
Tsar Alexander journeyed to Austria to attend the Vienna
Exhibition of 1873, he and Francis Joseph signed an agree-
ment that they would consult one another on any questions
in which they might have divergent interests; in case of any
aggression by a third Power menacing the peace of Europe,
they promised to come to an understanding with one an-
other, without seeking or contracting new alliances, in order
to reach a common line of conduct; and if, as a result of this

4 CP., I, 202. 5 G.P., I, 203.
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understanding, military action should become necessary, it

should be arranged for by a special military convention.

This agreement was communicated to Emperor William

who gave his adhesion to it on October 22, 1873. In this

way came into being the so-called League of the Three

Emperors.6

Germany, as a result of her recent victories and her large

army, was the strongest of the three Powers. And of the

three ministers—Gorchakov, Andrassy and Bismarck—

the last was by far the ablest in grasping the European

situation as a whole, in seeing what the political interests of

his neighbors were, and in being willing to recognize and

bargain on the basis of these interests. The natural result

was that the guiding spirit of the League was the German

Chancellor. He used its influence to preserve the peace

of Europe, and incidentally to prevent France from form-

ing any coalition or seeking revenge against Germany. This

at first was not difiicult. Italy followed the lead of the three

Emperors. England was still holding to her traditional

policy of splendid isolation. France was too exhausted and

too occupied with domestic political problems to think of

disturbing the peace.

But in 1875, the harmony of the League was seriously

ruffled. Gorchakov's vanity made it difficult for him to

play second fiddle to Bismarck. With personal inclinations

toward France, which were not shared by the Tsar, he

listened to anti-German reports of his representatives at

Berlin, Belgrade and Constantinople. He came into con-

flict with Bismarck over a Montenegrin affair and over the

question of the rank to be enjoyed by Rosen, the German

Consul General at Belgrade. Bismarck feared, with reason,

that Gorchakov might influence the Tsar against Germany

and thus weaken the League of the Three Emperors. He

therefore sent Radowitz to St. Petersburg to take the

6 G.P., I, 206-209.
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place of the German Ambassador who was on indefinite sick

leave. Radowitz was to represent Bismarck's views to

Gorchakov energetically, and he did so successfully. But
Gorchakov then circulated rumors which grew into the
French legend that Radowitz had been sent to bribe Russia
to give Germany a free hand against France in return for

Germany's giving Russia a free hand in the Orient. This
alarmed France and England and contributed to the so-

called "war-scare of 1875." Bismarck was unjustly suspected
of contemplating a "preventive war" against France.
Whether Bismarck had any hand in inspiring the German
newspaper articles which added to the scare, or whether
they started with the irresponsible communications of a
newspaper reporter in Vienna, as now seems likely, is not
wholly clear. At any rate, it is quite probable that he was
willing to make use of it as a means of frightening France
out of completing her proposed army reorganization, and
there is no doubt that the French felt they were menaced.
The French Foreign Minister appealed to Tsar Alexander
and Queen Victoria to use their influence to prevent Ger-
many from any aggressive action. Gorchakov easily per-
suaded the Tsar, on his visit to Berlin, to make it clear that
Russia could not allow France to be crushed. 7 Gorchakov's
pompous announcement from Berlin, "Now peace is as-

sured," flattered his own vanity, but made Bismarck very
angry, because Gorchakov seemed to have implied that
Germany had really intended a preventive war and that
Russia had averted it—an implication the truth of which
Bismarck always energetically denied, and for which he

7C/. J. V. Fuller. "The War Scare of 1875," in Amcr. Hist Rev
XXIV, 196-226 (Jan., 1919). The current French version of the war-
scare of 1875 needs correction in the light of Die Grosse Politik, I, 245-
300; Radowitz, Aufzcichnungcn und Erinnerungen, Stuttgart, 1925, I. 302 ff.

;

Hajo Holborn, Bismarck's Europnische Politik zu Bcffinn dcr siebzige'r
Jahre und die Mission Radouitz, Berlin, 1925; and K. Klingenfuss, "Beust
und Andrassy und die Kricgsgefahr von 1875," in Archiv. }. Pol. u Qesch
IV, 616-6-13 (1926).
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never forgave the Russian foreign minister. 8 The incident

led to cooler relations between Berlin and St. Petersburg,

but cannot be said to have really destroyed the League of

the Three Emperors, since Alexander II and William I still

remained close personal friends.

THE NEAR EASTERN CRISIS, 1875-1878

Another event in 1875 which threatened the harmony of

the League of the Three Emperors was the outbreak of a

new and prolonged crisis in the Balkans. The progressive

dissolution of the Sick Man of Europe and the outrages

committed by his savage soldiers on his long-suffering Chris-

tian subjects led Russia again to consider the possibility of

his demise. In Herzegovina the cruelty of the land-owning

aristocracy, a large part of whom were of Serb blood but

who had become converted to Mohammedanism m order to

live on better terms with the Turkish rulers, caused an up-

rising of the unhappy Christian peasantry in July, 1875.

The uprising spread rapidly into Bosnia. It awoke the

fanatical sympathy of Serb brethren in Austria-Hungary

and the neighboring principality of Serbia. On account

of the mountainous nature of the region and the inefficiency

of the Sultan's government, the Turks seemed powerless to

suppress the revolt. Russia and Austria were at once brought

face to face again in their old rivalry over Balkan interests.

Bismarck now had the difficult task during the next fifteen

years of preventing this rivalry from causing a rupture

between the two Powers whom he wished to have as friends

SCf Bismarck, Reflections and Reminiscences, ch. xxvi: "I re-

proached Prince Gorchakov sharply. It was not, I said, a friendly part

suddenly and unexpectedly to jump on the back of a trustful and unsus-

pecting friend, and get up a circus performance at his cost; proceedings ol

this kind between us, who were the directing ministers, could only injure

the two monarchies and states. If he was anxious to be applauded in

Paris he need not on that account injure our relations with Russia; 1

was quite ready to assist him and have five-frano pieces struck at Berlin,

with the inscription Gorchakov protege la France."



no THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

and whom he wished to prevent from gravitating toward
France.

Russia's ambitions in the Balkans were of long standing
With the remarkable rise and consolidation of the Russian
state at Moscow, the Slav Empire had begun to push
steadily southward toward the Black Sea and the Darda-
nelles. Peter the Great, in wars with Turkey, had acquired
for a short time at Azov his coveted "window" on the Black
Sea, and given that impetus to Russian progress toward the
south which his successors came to regard as Russia's his-

toric mission. Catherine the Great, taking up anew the
war with Turkey, had secured the Crimea and the whole
northern shore of the Black Sea. Conveniently for Russia's
ambitions, the spirit of nationalism awakened by the French
Revolution had stimulated in Greeks and Slavs of the
Balkans the desire to throw off the Turkish yoke. Russia
was ready, as usual, to support their desire in order to fish

in troubled waters herself. Already she had waged eight
wars against Turkey, either for her own territorial expan-
sion or for the ostensible purpose of assisting the subject
nationalities of Slavic blood and Orthodox Greek faith. In
the last of these wars—the Crimean—she had been checked
by England and France and by the hostile attitude which
Austria had assumed. This attitude of Austria, during the
war and at the Congress of Paris, had contributed to Rus-
sia's loss of part of Bessarabia and caused great bitterness

in Russia. It was felt to be an unpardonable act of Haps-
burg ingratitude, coming, as it did, so soon after Nicholas I

had sent a Russian army to help the Hapsburgs crush the
Hungarian revolt of 1849. Russia's bitterness of feeling had
subsided after the establishment of the League of the Three
Emperors, but now there was danger that it might revive.

Russia was anxious to win back the part of Bessarabia lost

in 1856 and was inclined to support a new revolt like that

in Bosnia and Herzegovina, which promised further to break
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up the Turkish Empire. Though Gorchakov had at first

been opposed to Austria's annexing Bosnia and Herze-

govina, 9 he gradually came round to accept such an ar-

rangement, provided Russia in turn could secure adequate

compensations for herself.

Austria, on the other hand, had no ostensible ties of

religion and blood with the oppressed Christian nationalities

in the Balkans and no desire to see them achieve inde-

pendence as clients of Russia. Austria-Hungary—especially

Hungary—already included more Slav peoples than could

be easily assimilated. With the growing spirit of nation-

alism, these Slav subjects were becoming more and more

difficult to govern. The Austrian Minister of Foreign Af-

fairs, Andrassy, a Magyar, was therefore at first opposed

to the acquisition of Bosnia and Herzegovina, which he

feared would aggravate the internal problem of the Dual

Monarchy of ruling over a large number of Slavs. 10 -He

preferred to have the Great Powers act jointly by way of

a Conference and enforce reforms upon Turkey for the

benefit of the peasantry in Bosnia and Herzegovina, but

he did not desire to begin the partition of the Ottoman
Empire. His desire found expression in the "Andrassy

Note" of December 30, 1875, which demanded an armistice,

a series of reforms, and the appointment of a mixed Chris-

tian and Mohammedan commission to look after the carry-

ing out of the reforms. The Turks, as usual, made a pre-

tense of accepting the demands ; but the insurgent Bosnians,

fired with enthusiasm by their successes and by their hope

of support from their brother Serbs in Serbia and Mon-
tenegro, refused to abide by the terms of the Andrassy Note.

The crisis became more serious.

Bismarck's chief concern in the whole Eastern Question

was to prevent it from disturbing the peace of Europe and

9 Wertheimer, Graf Julius Andrassy, II, 118.

10 Wertheimer, Graf Julius Andrassy, II, 259 ff.
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the satisfactory relations between Austria and Russia which
had been established by the League of the Three Emperors.
In a conversation with Gorchakov at Berlin in December,
1875, he had already emphasized this.

11 Germany herself,

as he repeatedly declared, had no selfish interests of her
own in the Balkans. "The whole Eastern question was not
worth the bones of a Pomeranian grenadier." 12 But the

danger of a split between Russia and Austria, or of the for-

mation of a European coalition in connection with the
Bosnian crisis, were very serious matters to him. Andrassy's
idea of a conference of the Powers he did not look upon
with favor, because he feared that Austria would naturally

side with England' and that Russia consequently might
draw closer to France. Gorchakov, he suspected, would not
be averse to flirting with France. But such a division of

Europe into an Anglo-Austrian and Franco-Russian group-
ing would place Germany in a delicate and dangerous posi-

tion: she would have the thankless task either of acting as
arbitrator between the two groups, or she would have to

cast in her vote on the Anglo-Austrian side, thus laying
Germany open to hostile Powers on two fronts. Such a
grouping would also endanger the League of the Three
Emperors and its safeguarding of the peace of Europe. 13

Meanwhile, however, Tsar Alexander and Emperor
Francis Joseph, accompanied by their Ministers, had come
together at Reichstadt and on July 8, 1876, reached a secret

but somewhat hazy "agreement" without Bismarck's knowl-
edge. They agreed to refrain from intervention in Turkey
for the present. But for the future, if the Turks should
regain the upper hand over the insurgents, Russia and Aus-
tria would protect the Serbs from excessive violence and
insist upon real reforms. If, on the other hand, the insur-

n G.P., I, 207.

12 Bismarck's Reichstag speech of December 7, 1876.
13G.P., II, 31 ff.
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gents continued their successful resistance and the Ottoman

Empire in Europe should crumble to pieces, Austria was

to annex part of Bosnia, Russia was to regain the part of

Bessarabia lost in 1856 and territories on the eastern shore

of the Black Sea [in which Austria had no interest] ; Bul-

garia and Rumelia were to be autonomous; additions of

territory were to be given to Serbia, Montenegro and Greece;

and Constantinople was to be erected into a free city.14

By this Reichstadt Agreement Gorchakov had secured

Austria's agreement in principle to the partition of Turkey.

The terms, as Andrassy conceived them, were exceedingly

favorable for Austria. The agreement contemplated the

development of a number of small, weak states in the

Balkans, but expressly excluded the creation of a large,

strong Slav state, whether Serbian or Bulgarian, which

would have naturally affiliated itself with Russia on racial

and religious grounds and have been a menace to Austria.

Moreover, by the stipulation that Austria might annex

Bosnia and Herzegovina, Austria would assure the safety

of her -outlying Dalmatian possessions, would check the

danger from the growing nationalist aspirations of the Serbs,

and would acquire territory which might be regarded as

compensation for the loss of Venetia in 1866. Andrassy,

who had originally been opposed to the break-up of the

14 Reichstadt "agreement" is a misnomer, since there was a misunder-

standing from the outset. No formal document was drawn up, "agreed

upon," and signed at Reichstadt. After the meeting, the Austrian and
Russian ministers each dictated his own recollection of the substance of

the views exchanged. This explains many marked differences between
the Austrian and Russian versions of the "agreement" as printed respec-

tively by Wertheimer (Graf Julius Andrassy, II, 322 ff.) and by the Bol-

sheviks in Krasnyi Arkhiv (Moscow, 1922), I, 36. According to the Rus-
sian version, for instance, Montenegro was to annex Herzegovina, and
Austria was merely to take Turkish Croatia and a small adjacent part of

Bosnia contiguous to the Austrian frontier. According to Andrassy 's

version, Austria was to annex all of Bosnia and Herzegovina except

certain "extensions" allotted to Serbia and Montenegro "to round them
off." Cf. G. H. Rupp, "The Reichstadt Agreement," in Amer. Hist. Rev.
XXX, 503-510 (April, 1925) ; and G.P., II, 34-37.
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Ottoman Empire, was now well content with the agreement.

The failure of his efforts to secure reforms in the region

from the Turks during the past months had convinced him

of the futility of attempting to preserve the status quo

or to secure any permanent satisfactory settlement for the

Christian peasantry so long as they remained under Turk-

ish misgovernment. And if Austria was to annex Bosnia

and Herzegovina it was much better to do it in friendly

agreement with Russia than in opposition to her.

But the fortunes of war in the Balkans during the fol-

lowing weeks did not bear out the probable expectation of

Gorchakov and Andrassy that Turkey was on the point of

collapsing. On the contrary, the Turks showed an extra-

ordinary revival of energy. They defeated the insurgents

in one encounter after another, until finally on August

29, Prince Milan of Serbia called for help. Gorchakov and

the Russian Pan-Slavs were not deaf to the call. They felt

that they must intervene on behalf of the oppressed Ortho-

dox Slav peasantry, in spite of the principle of non-inter-

vention for the present, which had formed the first clause

of the Reichstadt Agreement. This at once renewed the

old hostility between Russia and Austria over Balkan affairs

and led to a tense situation between the two Great Powers.

Both accordingly turned to Bismarck.

On September 13, 1876, Andrassy informed the German
Ambassador in Vienna of the Reichstadt Agreement, which

hitherto, at Gorchakov's request, had been concealed from

Bismarck. 15 Gorchakov on his part resorted to a stratagem

which aroused Bismarck's indignation. Instead of com-

municating in the proper official way through the Russian

Ambassador at Berlin, he was suspected by Bismarck of

instigating the Tsar to make use of Baron Werder, Em-
peror William's personal representative to the Tsar. Werder,

who was staying with Alexander at Livadia in the Crimea
IB G.P., II, 45-47.
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was suddenly asked the blunt question whether in case of

war between Russia and Austria, Germany would observe

benevolent neutrality as Russia had done in 1870. Werder

telegraphed the embarrassing and indiscreet question to

Berlin. But Bismarck evaded giving any answer to it, and

would have recalled Werder except for Emperor William's

fear that it would hurt the Tsar's feelings. But a few days

later, employing the correct channel of communications by

instructions to the German Ambassador at St. Petersburg,

Bismarck again emphasized his aim of preserving peace in

Europe and harmony in the League of the Three Emperors.

If Russia decided to intervene and make war on Turkey,

Bismarck would use his influence to prevent Austria from

attacking Russia, and he hoped he could succeed in this.

If not, and if war broke out between Russia and Austria

in spite of all his efforts, Germany would not necessarily

abandon neutrality. He would make no promises before-

hand, but he would say that German interests could not

allow a coalition of all Europe permanently to weaken

Russia's position as a Great Power; nor could he, on the

other hand, permit Austria to be endangered in her position

as a European Power or in her independence, and so cease

to be one of the factors on which Germany could reckon

in the European balance of power. 16 "We could endure

that our friends should lose or win battles against each

other, but not that one of the two should be so severely

wounded and injured that its position as an independent

Great Power, taking its part in the councils of Europe,

would be endangered." 17

Bismarck's refusal to give Russia a free hand against

Austria caused Gorchakov to moderate his attitude. It was

arranged that the representatives of the Christian Powers

should meet in conference at Constantinople and convince

16G.P., II, 72-79; cf. also II, 108, and VI, 356 f.

1 7 Bismarck, Reflections and Reminiscences, II, 234.



IV, THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

Abdul Hamid of the need of making real reforms. But con-

vincing the Turk was about as easy a matter as making a

donkey gallop. Abdul Hamid thwarted the conference by
a clever pretense of proclaiming a constitution for Turkey
and by promising even more wide-reaching reforms than

the Powers themselves had demanded. Gorchakov, how-
ever, rightly had no confidence in the honesty of the Sultan's

promises. He therefore prevailed upon Austria to sign a

new secret Budapest Convention of January 15, 1877, pro-

viding for the war which Russia contemplated waging

against Turkey. Austria agreed not to threaten the Russian

flank upon its advance south of the Danube, and in return

Russia approved the idea of Austria's annexation of Bosnia

and Herzegovina and the other provisions which Andrassy

understood had been agreed upon at Reichstadt. 18

In April, 1S77, as soon as weather conditions permitted,

Russia opened against Turkey the war which she had long

desired. Though checked for months at Plevna, she eventu-

ally won a series of victories which brought her armies to

the outskirts of Constantinople and forced Turkey to accept

the Treaty of San Stefano on March 3, 1878. This pro-

vided for the creation of a great Bulgarian State, more or

less comprising the predominantly Bulgarian parts of

Turkey and embracing an extensive sea coast on the Aegean.

The Treaty met with objections on every side: by Greece,

Serbia, and Rumania because this "Greater Bulgaria" was
to be so much more powerful than any one of themselves.

It was objected to by Austria and England who feared the

greatly enlarged Bulgaria would be virtually a vassal state

under Russian control; Austria did not like to see such an
increase of Russia's power near her border, and England
feared for the safety of the Suez Canal. Both these Powers
therefore insisted on a Congress for the revision of the

Treaty of San Stefano. Bismarck at first had no great

"G.P., II, 111-115.
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liking for this proposal, but finally consented to act as

"Honest Broker," and invited the Powers to the Congress

of Berlin.

In the various preliminary negotiations which settled

almost all the essential points before the Congress met, so

that the Congress merely had to register decisions which

had already been arranged by Bismarck, the German Chan-

cellor strove hard to satisfy both Austrian and Russian

interests. In the end, Austria was again accorded by the

Treaty of Berlin the right to occupy and administer Bosnia

and Herzegovina and also, if military necessity required,

to occupy the tongue of territory between Serbia and Mon-
tenegro known as the Sanjak of Novibazar. Russia ac-

quired the part of Bessarabia lost in 1856 and valuable ter-

ritories between the Black and Caspian Seas. These were

important gains for Russia, but to Gorchakov they seemed

but slight rewards after all Russia's military efforts and

successes. He left the Congress with bitter feelings against

Bismarck. He felt that Bismarck had betrayed Russian

interests and been guilty of unpardonable ingratitude in

view of Russia's benevolent neutrality during the Franco-

Prussian War. In Russia there was a violent outburst in

the Pan-Slav press against Germany which Bismarck re-

garded as altogether unjustifiable. Though he had sup-

ported Austria and England on many points, he had also

done Russia a real service, gettiDg far more for her at the

Congress than she could have gotten for herself. He thought

Russia ought to look with satisfaction at the real gains

that she had made, instead of comparing the Treaty of

Berlin with what she would have gained by the Treaty of

San Stefano. The result of this personal bitterness between

the two Ministers and of the violent newspaper attacks of

one country against the other put an end for the time being

to that harmony and cooperation which had been the object

of the League of the Three Emperors.
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THE AUSTRO-GERMAN ALLIANCE OF 1879

The hostility between Russia and Germany was not

confined merely to personal bitterness between the Minis-

ters or to the recriminations of newspapers. In the com-

missions established for executing the terms of the Treaty

of Berlin, the German delegates sided regularly with Aus-

tria against Russia. In reply, Russia undertook a vigorous

increase in armaments-and pushed her troops westward into

Poland toward the German frontier. "Russia must prepare

for War," declared General Miliutin, and his declaration

was reiterated by the Pan-Slavs. At last, in the summer
of 1S79, even Alexander himself, unable longer to restrain

his feelings, poured out his grievances to the German Am-
bassador in St. Petersburg, and wrote a letter to Emperor

William complaining of Bismarck's policy and warning

him of "the disastrous consequences which might follow." 19

At about the same time Bismarck heard that his friend

Andrassy was soon to resign and was likely to be replaced

by Baron Haymerle, on whose friendship he did not feel

sure that he could count. In view of the danger from

Russia he decided to seek at once a defensive alliance with

Austria while Andrassy was still in office. He accordingly

drew up with him the Treaty of October 7, 1S79, which

established the Austro-Gcrman Alliance. He would have

liked a treaty in which Austria and Germany would promise

to support each other in case either were attacked by a

third Power, whether Russia, France, or Italy. But Austria

was unwilling to expose her eastern frontier to a Russian

attack by promising unconditionally to assist Germany in

the West in case the French should undertake a war of

revenge. Austria was mainly concerned with the dancrer

from the side of Russia. Therefore the treaty provided

that should Austria or Germany be attacked by Russia, the

loG.P, m, 16.
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two Contracting Parties were bound to come to the assis-

tance one of the other with their whole war strength ; should

either be attacked by a Power other than Russia [such as

France or Italy], the other Contracting Party bound itself

to observe a benevolent neutrality; should, however, the

attacking Power be supported by Russia, then the other

Contracting Party would come to the assistance of her ally

with her whole strength. The treaty was to be for five

years and renewable. It was also to be secret, though if the

armaments of Russia really proved menacing, the Contract-

ing Powers would consider it a duty of loyalty to let the

Tsar know, at least confidentially, that they would consider

an attack on either as an attack on both. 20

The Austro-German Alliance consolidated the Central

Empires and became henceforth, until their collapse in

November, 1918, the very foundation rock of German policy.

It indicated a political course from which neither Bismarck

nor his successors ever seriously swerved. In its origin,

and as long as Bismarck remained at the helm, it was

essentially defensive in purpose and fact. Germany and

Austria mutually protected each other against the rising

tide of Pan-Slavism ; and Germany, if attacked by an out-

break of French revanche, could count upon Austria's

neutrality, just as Austria could count on that of Germany
in case of an outbreak of Italian Irredentism.

Contemporary opinion regarded Bismarck's establish-

ment of this Alliance as a master stroke. In the words of

the French Ambassador at Berlin : "From the point of view

of his prestige in Europe and of his popularity in Germany,

Bismarck has never accomplished a work so considerable

as that of the Alliance with Austria. ... He has realized

without wars, without conquests dearly bought, without

20 Pribram, I, 6-9. For the detailed negotiations by which Bismarck
arranged this treaty and overcame his own sovereign's strong objections to

it, see G.P., III, 1-136.
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burdensome or enfeebling annexations, the German political

dream of union of all the States where the German race

dominates in a common political system and a powerful

solidarity." 21 This contemporary opinion has for the most
part been endorsed by posterity.22 Only here and there

before the World War were there those who criticized it.

But after 1914, when German support of Austria became
one of the causes which involved all Europe in war, many
voices, even in Germany, questioned Bismarck's wisdom.
They alleged that Bismarck, by further alienating Russia

through alliance with Austria, made inevitable the Franco-

Russian Alliance; and that by taking sides with Austria

against Russia in the Balkans, he prepared the way for the

clash which came in 1914.

Such critics, however, are wrong in thinking that Russia

was permanently alienated from Germany after 1879. They
did not know of the very secret treaty which Bismarck made
with Russia within two years (June 18, 1881) and which he
renewed (with modifications) and kept effective as long as

he remained in power. They are wrong in thinking that it

made the Franco-Russian alliance inevitable. This was
perhaps "inevitable" anyway, in view of the growth of Pan-
Slavism in Russia and the persistence of Alsatian memories
in France. And they are wrong in thinking that Bismarck's

alliance of 1879 necessarily involved an Austro-Russian
clash in the Balkans. True to the defensive aims with which
he had established the Austro-German Alliance, Bismarck
continually warned Austria in the following years that Ger-
many would not fight to support Austrian expansion or

aggression in the Balkans. He repeatedly took occasion to

remind her that the alliance was defensive, not offensive.23

In 1S85, for instance, with prophetic vision, he warned

21 St. Vallier to Frcycinet, March 22, 1880; Bourgeois et Pages, p 370
— Cf. C. Grant Robertson. Bismarck, p. 363 f

.

23 G.P., IV, 338; V, 8, 26 ff., 35 f., 136 ff., 149 ff., 194 f.
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Austria that in supporting Serbia too strongly she might

so arouse Serbian ambitions that Serbia would some day

"turn against Austria and talk of a Serbia Irredenta in the

Banat" of Hungary.24 It was not until many years after

Bismarck's dismissal that Austria began to pursue the more

aggressive and independent policy, which tended to pervert

the Austro-German Alliance from one which was defensive

in form to one which became offensive in fact. Criticism

should not be directed against Bismarck, but against his

later successors—especially Billow and Bethmann—who

failed to follow sufficiently closely his conservative policy of

holding Austria in check.

It is also a mistake to imply, as so many writers do,

that Bismarck's choice of Austria in preference to Russia

in 1879 was final, and that the wire between Berlin and

St. Petersburg was permanently broken down. It was not.

Bismarck was only waiting for an opportunity to repair it.

He had by no means permanently turned his back upon

Russia. In allying with Austria he was only taking a step

which prudence for the moment counselled, but this did not

preclude another step later in the direction of Russia. The

opportunity for this soon came.

THE ALLIANCE OP THE THREE EMPERORS, 1881-1887

Among Russia's diplomats there were two who did not

allow themselves to be blinded by indignation against Bis-

marck over the outcome of the Congress of Berlin. One of

these was Giers, who soon assumed virtual charge of Russian

foreign affairs in place of Gorchakov. The other was Peter

Saburov, who foresaw the probability of an Austro-German

alliance even before it was signed.25 In January, 1880,

Saburov came as Ambassador to Berlin, where he had many

24 G.P., V, 11 f.

25 Cf. his interesting and friendly conversations with Bismarck at

Kissingen in July, 1879, in Krasnyi Arkhiv, I, 68-84.
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intimate interviews with Bismarck with a view to reknitting

the close personal relations between Tsar Alexander II and
Emperor W illiam I, thus reviving the League of the Three

Emperors.26

Saburov, like all Russian diplomats, always had one eye

out for Russian control or influence at Constantinople. He
had realized in 1878 how easy it was for an English fleet

to threaten the Turkish capital and he feared for the future.

He therefore laid before Bismarck his view of Russia's

danger in a memorandum to the following effect. In 1833

Russia had aided Turkey against the victorious army of

Mehemet Ali, and was rewarded for this sendee by the

Treaty of Unkiar Skelessi, in which Turkey undertook to

close the Dardanelles to all enemy fleets which sought to

penetrate to the Black Sea. This stipulation, negotiated

exclusively for Russia's benefit, protected her southern

shores from hostile attack; but this stipulation was modi-

fied to her detriment by the Treaty of London of 1840 and
the Straits Convention of 1S41, in which the principle of

the closure of the Straits, hitherto applied to entry into the

Black Sea, was equally extended to exit from it. Russia

was thus shut off from sending her navy into the Mediter-

ranean. These principles were confirmed in the Treaty of

Paris in 1S.*>G which in addition forbade Russia and Turkey
to have ships of war on the Black Sea; this treaty remained

in force until the Treaty of London of 1S71. The London
agreement, resulting from Russia's attempt to abrogate the

Black Sea Clauses while France and Germany had their

hands tied by the Franco-Prussian War, annulled the pro-

vision of 1856 forbidding Russian or Turkish war vessels

on the Black Sea, but admitted for the first time the princi-

ple that foreign navies might enter the Straits if the Sultan

2«G.P., III. 139-179. J. Y. Simpson. "Russo-German Relations and
the SabourofI Memoirs," in The NinctectUh Ceniury, LXXXII, 1111-1123;

LXXX11I, 00-75 (Dec, 1917; Jan., 1918).
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judged it necessary for the safeguarding of the other clauses

of the Treaty of Paris. This reversed completely to Russia's

disadvantage the principle of the closure of the Straits,

which in its origin had been intended to provide Russia

with a lock and chain at the Dardanelles for the protection

of her shores and her influence over Turkey. At the Con-

gress of Berlin, England had declared that "her obligations,

concerning the closure of the Straits, were limited to an

engagement to the Sultan to respect in this matter only the

independent decisions of the Sultan" ; in other words, Eng-

land was not obliged to respect the decision of the Sultan

if the latter tried to close the Straits at Russia's demand,

for such a decision would not be "independent." England,

Saburov concluded, was reserving the right to enter the

Straits and threaten Russian interests whenever she pleased.

Russia's lock and chain were valueless therefore, unless she

could get the support of Germany and Austria.27 This is

what Saburov wanted and what Bismarck was willing to

give, in return for the restoration of friendly relations with

Russia. A friendly agreement with Russia would mean a

renewal of the League of the Three Emperors, and tend to

guarantee the peace of Europe. Saburov had also been

duly impressed by the Austro-German Alliance and began

to realize Russia's diplomatic isolation. Russia was anxious

again for German and Austrian support.

Bismarck, on his side, in spite of his relatively friendly

relations at this time with France, could never wholly rid

27 Russian Aide-Memoire of Feb. 5, 1880, given by Saburov to Bis-

marck; G.P., III, 144f. For an excellent historical sketch of the Straits

question to 1878, see J. T. Shotwell, "A Short History of Question of

Constantinople and the Straits" in International Conciliation, No. 180,

Nov., 1922, pp. 463-527; see also S. M. Goriainov, Le Bosphore et les

Dardanelles, Paris, 1910; P. H. Mishev, La mer noire et les detroits de
Constantinople, Paris, 1899; E. Driault, La Question d'Orient, Paris, 1905;

N. Dascovici, La Question du Bosphore et des Dardanelles, Geneve, 1915;

N. E. Buxton and C. Phillipson, The Question of the Bosphorus and the

Dardanelles, London, 1917; and below, ch. v. especially note 11.
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himself of the nightmare that the French might make a

coalition with Russia against him. To diminish the likeli-

hood of this, he believed it would be highly desirable to

restore the old harmony between the three Eastern Em-
perors, which had existed before the Congress of Berlin.

Austria also would derive advantage from such a renewal

of good relations with both her neighbors, because it would

tend to safeguard the new position which she had acquired

in Bosnia and Herzegovina, and would make more certain

that any future changes in the status quo in the Balkans

—

which was still very unstable—would not be made single-

handed by Russia to the sole benefit of the Slavs and to the

detriment of Austria; such changes would only be made on

the basis of a mutual understanding between the three

Eastern Empires.

In view of the advantages to each of the three Powers,

it was not difficult to reach the very secret agreement which

was signed by Bismarck, Saburov, and Szechenyi on June

18, 1881. It was regarded as so secret that Bismarck did

not entrust the drawing up of documents in regard to it to

the chancery secretaries, but wrote them out with his own
hand; and the diplomatic correspondence dealing with it

was marked with special numbers and reserved for the eye

of as few initiates as possible. The secret was so well pre-

served that the world knew nothing of it until part of

it was published by Professor Goriainov in 1918. 28 It pro-

vided among other things (Art. I) that "in case one of the

Higli Contracting Parties should find itself at war with

a fourth Great Power, the other two will preserve a benev-

olent neutrality toward it and will devote their efforts to

the localizing of the conflict." In other words, if Germany
should be at war with France, or Austria at war with Italy,

23 S. Goriainov, "The End of the Alliance of the Emperors," Aincr.

Hkt. Rev., XXIII, 325 (Jan, 1918). The full text is printed by Pribram,

p. 11, and, with the negotiations leading up to it, in GP. Ill, 139-179.
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or Russia at war with Turkey, the country at war need have

no fear of an attack on its rear by either of the other two
Eastern Empires. Austria's interest in the Balkans was
safeguarded by the provision that this first clause in Art.

I should apply to a war between Russia and Turkey, "but
only in case a previous agreement has been reached between
the three Courts relative to the results of that war."

In Art. II the three Signatory Powers agreed to respect

the rights acquired by Austria in Bosnia and Herzegovina

by the Treaty of Berlin, and to make no changes in the ter-

ritorial status quo of "Turkey in Europe" except by com-
mon consent. By tacit implication this meant that Russia
could still pursue her forward policy in the Caucasus where
Austria and Germany were not particularly interested.

Saburov's fears of an English fleet in the Straits were
quieted by Art. Ill:

"The three Courts recognize the European and mutually
obligatory character of the principle of the closure of the
Straits of the Bosphorus and of the Dardanelles. . . . They
will take care jointly that Turkey shall make no exception

to this rule in favor of the interests of any Government
whatsoever by lending to warlike operations of a belligerent

Power the portion of its Empire constituted by the Straits.

In case of infringement, or to prevent it if such infringement
should be in prospect, the three Courts will inform Turkey
that they would regard her, in that event, as putting herself

in a state of war towards the injured Party, and as having
deprived herself thenceforth of the benefits of the security

assured to her territorial status quo by the Treaty of Berlin."

A supplementary protocol provided for friendly coopera-

tion between the consular and other agents of the Signatory
Powers in the Balkans, and for the possible reunion of

Bulgaria and East Rumelia. Russia's concessions to Aus-
tria in the Reichstadt Agreement and Budapest Convention
were reaffirmed by a clause agreeing that:
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"Austria reserves the right to annex the provinces of

Bosnia and Herzegovina [already occupied in 1878] at what-

ever moment she shall deem opportune."

This treaty of 1881, which revived the League of the

Three Emperors and converted it into an alliance, served

Bismarck's great purpose of preserving peace in Europe,

and especially of preventing a conflict between Russia and

Austria in the Near East. It established by tacit consent

a kind of line of demarcation between the two. Russia was

to have unhampered and dominant influence in Bulgaria

and the Eastern Balkans such as Austria was to have in

Serbia and the Western Balkans. The establishment of the

frontier between Bulgaria and Serbia as the demarcation

line dividing Russian and Austrian interests, Bismarck

rightly believed, was the surest and best way to avoid

dangerous rivalries and suspicions in the Balkans. He was

quite ready to use Germany's decisive influence in the bal-

ance to force each of his allies to keep behind the line of

demarcation in their proper spheres. In contrast to the

policy of his successors, he was ready to restrain Austria by

timely warnings and pressure from taking aggressive action

in the Balkans which would arouse dangerous Russian op-

position. He did not care who ruled in Bulgaria nor what

took place there. That was Russia's sphere and she could do

as she liked in it. Russia had originally established Alexander

of Battenberg as Prince of Bulgaria; but if Russia wanted

to turn him out when he no longer proved the pliant tool

which the Pan-Slavs had expected, that was Russia's affair

and Austria ought not object. He warned Austria that she

must keep hands off in Bulgaria, and that he would not

allow anyone to throw a noose about his neck in this matter

which would embroil Germany with Russia. His wise advice

to Austria was: "The Eastern Question is a game of pa-

tience; he wins who waits." 29

29G.P., V, 195.
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Bismarck's policy of a demarcation of interests between

Austria and Russia, and the pressure he put upon each,

helped to preserve the peace of Europe even during the

violent Balkan crisis that arose through the union of the

two Bulgarias in September, 1885. Austria did nevertheless

so encourage the Serbians against the Bulgarians that Alex-

ander III refused to renew the Alliance of the Three Em-
perors when the Treaty ran out in 1887.

The Tsar had an ineradicable distrust of Austria. He
had inherited it from his grandfather at the time of Aus-

tria's "astonishing ingratitude" during the Crimean War.

It had been fostered and nourished by his tutors and ad-

visers, who belonged to the Pan-Slav group represented by
Miliutin and Katkov, and it had taken a deep hold on him
during the long Bosnian crisis which ended so unsatisfac-

torily for Russia in the Congress of Berlin. Bismarck worked

hard to bring about the renewal of the tripartite agreement

of 1881. He did not want to see it "thrown behind the

stove." 30 But when he found that the Tsar was unshake-

able in his distrust of Austria, he had no mind to forfeit

Russia's friendship because of Austria's unnecessarily ag-

gressive support of Serbians against Bulgarians. Moreover,

his relations with France had grown very much worse during

recent months as Boulanger had come into prominence, and

he had heard rumors in September, 1886, and in the spring

of 1887, of secret negotiations for a Franco-Russian coali-

tion.31

THE RUSSO-GERMAN" "RE-INSURANCE TREATY," 1887-1890

Bismarck therefore accepted with alacrity a Russian

proposal that in place of the existing tripartite agreement,

Russia and Germany should make a defensive treaty of

their own without Austria. With a characteristic directness

of action, Bismarck drew out of his portfolio the text of the
ao Instruction of Dec. 21, 1886; GP,, V, 211. 3i G. P., VI, 89 tf.
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Alliance of 1879 and read it to Schuvalov, declaring that he

sincerely regretted that Russia's attitude at that time had

compelled Germany to protect herself by means of this

treaty. Nevertheless it existed; Germany must and would

remain loyal to its terms and to Austria, and therefore this

fact must be taken into consideration in framing any treaty

between Russia and Germany. After the discussion of a

number of alternatives, this difficulty was finally overcome

by the wording agreed upon in Art. I : "If one of the High

Contracting Parties shall find itself at war with a third

Great Power, the other will maintain towards it a benev-

olent neutrality and will devote its efforts to the localiza-

tion of the conflict. This provision shall not apply to a war

against Austria or France resulting from an attack made
upon one of these two powers by one of the Contracting

Parties." 32 This defensive arrangement was perfectly satis-

factory to Bismarck as he had no intention of attacking

France; and in case France should attack Germany he had
been insured since 1S79 against danger on his Southern

frontier by Austria's promise of benevolent neutrality.

Now, by the new treaty with Russia, he was re-insured

against any danger on his Eastern frontier. Furthermore,

if Russia should attack Austria, the new "Re-insurance

Treaty" in no way conflicted with his obligation to protect

Austria, in accordance with the Austro-German Alliance.

With his characteristic willingness to consider the aims

and ambitions of other Powers and to bargain on the basis

of them, Bismarck then further recognized Russia's Balkan

interests and Saburov's desire to secure a Russian lock and

chain against the English in the Straits. The Re-insurance

Treaty accordingly recognized (Art. II) "the rights his-

torically acquired by Russia in the Balkan Peninsula and

particularly the legitimacy of a preponderating and decisive

influence on her part in Bulgaria and East Rumelia"; and
32 G.P., V, 353; Pribram, p. 305.
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Art. Ill reaffirmed the principle already agreed upon in

1881 that Russia and Germany should support each other

in putting pressure on the Sultan to keep the Bosphorus

and the Dardanelles closed to the warships of foreign Pow-

ers. They also pledged themselves to permit no modifica-

tion of the status quo in the Balkan Peninsula except by a

previous mutual agreement. In a supplementary protocol

Bismarck went even further in recognizing the Russian point

of view by agreeing that "in case Russia finds it necessary

to undertake herself the task of defending the entrance

into the Black Sea in order to safeguard the interests of

Russia, Germany engages to lend her benevolent neutrality

and her moral and diplomatic support to the measures which

Russia shall deem necessary to guarantee the key to her

Empire." This meant that, so far as Germany was con-

cerned, Russia might take possession of territory on the

Straits and perhaps even of Constantinople. The possession

of this "key," which Russia would virtually have acquired

by the Treaty of San Stefano in 1878 and which Bismarck

now promised in 1887, meant much more than the mere

lock and chain against the English fleet for which Saburov

had stipulated in 1881. Bismarck was willing to concede

even this "key" in order to lessen the likelihood of a coali-

tion between Russia and France. He may also, no doubt,

have counted upon the fact that England would still have

something to say if Russia tried to oust the Sultan from

his capital. This so-called "Re-insurance Treaty" of June

18, 1887, was to be in force three years. 33 It outlasted

Bismarck's own tenure of office, but was not renewed by

his successor, Caprivi. During the three years it was in

force it did not wholly prevent the beginning of a rapproche-

ment between France and Russia which eventually devel-

33 For the text of the treaty and the negotiations leading up to it

see G.P., V, 211-268; and Goriainov, in Amer. Hist. Rev., XXIII, 330-349

Jan., 1918).
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oped into an Alliance, but there is no doubt that it delayed

this coalition which had been Bismarck's worst nightmare.

Such was the success of one set of alliances, establishing

the domination of the Eastern Empires, by which Bismarck

for nearly a score of years conjured away an open clash

between Russia and Austria in the Balkans, preserved

almost unbroken the good relations of Germany with her

powerful neighbors to the south and east, and thereby

lessened the danger from the west. The very existence of

the Alliance of 1881 with Russia and Austria had been pre-

served with such perfect secrecy that it gave rise to no

suspicions or alarm on the part of France or other Powers.

THE TRIPLE ALLIANCE OF 1882

The formation of the Triple Alliance is commonly at-

tributed to Bismarck. He is pictured as encouraging France

to seize Tunis with the calculation that this "would arouse

such bitterness in Italy that Bismarck could undoubtedly

secure the consent of the Italian Government to an alliance

with Austria and Germany." 34 It is true that he encour-

aged France to "pluck the ripe Tunisian fruit" and to en-

gage in other colonial adventures. But he did this mainly in

the hope of winning the friendship of the French by sup-

porting their ambitions, and also of interesting them in

colonial activities which would help them to forget the

defeat of 1870. He hoped they would expend their energies

3-» Seymour, The Diplomatic Background oj the War, 1870-1914, p. 35.

Cf. also Matter, Bismarck et son Temps, III, 445, 512 f. ; Hanotaux, His-

toire de la France Contcmporaine, IV, 740; Coolidge, The Origins of the

Triple Alliance, 197 ff. For accounts of the Triple Alliance based on the

new material in Die Grosse Politik, and Pribram, see Becker, Bismaraks
Biindnispolitik (Berlin, 1923); Rachfahl, Dcutschland und die Wcltpolitik,

1871-1914, I, Die Bismarck'sche Aera (Stuttgart 1923), pp. 371-398; Gran-
felt, Das Drcibundsystcm, 1879-1916 (Stockholm, 1924) ;

Lenz, Deutschland
im Kreis der Grossmachte, 1871-1914 (Berlin, 1925). The best account of

the Tunis Question is by W. L. Langer, "The European Powers and the

French Occupation of Tunis, 1878-1881," in Amer. Hist. Rev., XXXI, 55-78,

251-265 (Oct., 1925; Jan., 192t»).
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in North Africa and China instead of preparing to regain

Alsace-Lorraine. He was quite willing that the French

should antagonize the Italians, but he was not calculating

to secure the alliance of the latter. It was not with Bis-

marck that the Triple Alliance originated, but with Italy.

Early in 1882, Italy asked for a treaty of alliance with

Germany and Austria. Italy wanted to strengthen her posi-

tion and to gain support for future ambitions. Italy had

come away from the Congress of Berlin "with clean hands,"

which meant empty hands, though Bismarck had told her

that, as far as Germany was concerned, she might take

Tripoli any time. She had just received what she regarded

as a humiliating slap in the face from the French who had

occupied Tunis, the very territory which Italy had not

unnaturally been coveting for herself. And she was still

afraid "the Prisoner of the Vatican" might attempt to regain

his temporal possessions. Italy had everything to gain and

little to risk in an alliance with Germany and Austria. This

Bismarck fully recognized, and he was not therefore espe-

cially eager to incur an Italian liability. Earlier, in 1880,

when a treaty with Italy was first suggested to him, his

comment was, "You don't need to run after Italy if you

want something of her; moreover, her promise will have no

value if it is not in her interest to keep it."
35 Of the value

of the Italians themselves as Allies, he had no very high

opinion. In his private notes, recently published, he refers

to "their fickle character," "their childish egoism," and "the

restless, arrogant character of Italy's policy, which might

easily involve her friends in trouble." 36 He argued the

instability of alliances with parliamentary monarchies like

Italy and England

:

"Not all countries are able to offer the same guarantee

that their obligations will be strictly executed, especially in

countries in which the legislature exercises more influence

35 GP., Ill, 185. 36 G.P., III, 185, 198; c/. also Pribram, I, 128 ff.
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than the dynasty. With England, for instance, there could

be no permanent alliance, because in England domestic poli-

tics take precedence over foreign affairs. Political parties,

which alternate in the government of a country, do not nec-

essarily recognize the obligations of their predecessors, and

the monarch is not strong enough by himself to uphold his

foreign policy against the party momentarily in power. . . .

With us, as in Austria, the case is dilTcrent. In these two

countries, although they also have parliamentary institu-

tions, there exists a sufficiently strong monarchy to be able

to carry out its treaty promises under all circumstances." 37

Nevertheless, Bismarck gradually came to regard with

favor Italy's application for an alliance, owing to certain

advantages it would have for Germany. But as the German
Empire did not touch Italian territory, and was not so

directly interested as Austria in a number of troublesome

points which would have to be settled, Bismarck suggested

that Austria should negotiate the terms of the treaty with

Italy. The Italian Ambassador at Berlin was told that

"the key to the door which leads to us must be sought in

Vienna." 38 Accordingly, the ensuing Austro-Italian nego-

tiations, with occasional suggestions from Bismarck, ulti-

mately resulted in the Triple Alliance Treaty signed at

Vienna on May 20, 18S2, by Kalnoky, Robilant, and

Reuss.30

The general purposes of Austria, Italy, and Germany
were, according to the preamble, "to augment the guaran-

tees of peace in general, to strengthen the monarchical prin-

ciple, and by this to insure intact the maintenance of the

social and political order in their respective states by agree-

ing to conclude a treaty which by its essentially conservative

and defensive character aimed only to protect them against

the dangers which might menace the safety of their states

37 G.P., III, 207.

30 GJP., Ill, 245-7; Pribram, 24-26.

38 GP. Ill, 20S.
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and the peace of Europe." Though the treaty did not

specifically guarantee Alsace-Lorraine to Germany against

France, nor Rome to Italy against the papal claims to

temporal power, it was hoped by each Power that it would

have this effect.

By Art. I, "The High Contracting Powers mutually

promise peace and friendship, and will enter into no alli-

ance or engagement directed against any one of their States.

They engage to proceed to an exchange of ideas on political

and economic questions of a general nature which may arise,

and they further promise one another mutual support with-

in the limits of their own interests."

At the negotiations of the Austro-German Alliance of

1879 Andrassy steadily refused to promise Austrian armed

support in case of a French attack on Germany, unless

France were also joined by Russia; his successor persisted

in this refusal in 1882, and hence in Art. II, dealing with

a possible French attack, Austria's obligation extended only

to Italy, while Germany's and Italy's obligations were

mutual: "In case Italy, without direct provocation on her

part, should be attacked by France for any reason whatso-

ever, the two other contracting parties shall be bound to

lend help and assistance with all their forces. This same

obligation shall devolve upon Italy in case of any aggres-

sion without direct provocation by France against Ger-

many."

Art. Ill provided for the danger of a Franco-Russian

coalition : "If one, or two, of the High Contracting Parties,

without direct provocation on their part, should chance to

be attacked and to be engaged in a war with two or more
Great Powers non-signatory to the present treaty, the casus

foederis will arise simultaneously for all the High Contract-

ing Parties." This virtually extended to Italy the principle

agreed upon between Austria and Germany in 1879, except

that the addition of the words "without direct provocation"
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gave the obligation a more restricted and purely defensive

character.

According to Art. IV: "In case a Great Power, non-

signatory to the present treaty, should threaten the security

of the states of one of the High Contracting Parties, and

the threatened Party should find itself forced on that ac-

count to make war against it, the two others bind themselves

to observe towards their Ally a benevolent neutrality. Each

of them reserves to itself, in this case, the right to take

part in the war if it should see fit to make common cause

with its Ally."

Art. V was calculated to secure solidarity of action:

"If the peace of one of the High Contracting Parties should

chance to be threatened under the circumstances foreseen

by the preceding Articles, the High Contracting Parties

shall take counsel together in ample time as to the military

measures to be taken, with a view to eventual cooperation.

They engage henceforth, in all cases of common participa-

tion in a war, to conclude neither armistice, nor peace, nor

treaty, except by common consent among themselves."

The Treaty of Alliance was for five years, and its con-

tents and its existence were to be kept secret.

The Triple Alliance was expected to bring considerable

advantages to each of its members. Italy gained an increase

in prestige and power by alliance with the powerful German
Empire, and could now be accounted one of the Great

Powers. Her royal government, which had shown some
signs of tottering before revolutionary agitation, was much
strengthened and less likely to be disturbed by papal or

French attacks. Moreover, Italy would have less fear of

trouble with Austria, who now became her ally instead of

her enemy—at least as far as the governments, if not the

populations, of the two countries were concerned. The
obligations which Italy assumed in return were not heavy.

She did not have to assist Austria in a war between Austria
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and Russia alone. In case of an attack by France upon

either Germany or herself, Italy would have the powerful

assistance of Germany, and might look forward to a vic-

torious outcome which might give her some increase of

territory in the direction of Nice and Savoy or Northern

Africa.

Austria's chief benefit from the treaty lay in the hope

that in case of an attack from Russia over Balkan questions,

she would no longer have to leave a part of her army to

guard her southern frontier against the danger of Italian

Irredentism. She could throw the whole weight of her

forces against Russia or into the Balkans.

Germany hoped the treaty would prevent Italy from

allying with France and from thus giving encouragement

to the revanche party at Paris. In case France should make
war, however, the French forces available against the Rhine

would be diminished by those which would have to be

directed to the Alpine frontier against Italy. If Russia

joined France, it would be of great importance to Germany
that Austria, no longer in fear for her Italian frontier, would

be able to launch the whole strength of the Dual Monarchy

against Russia, and thereby relieve the pressure on Ger-

many's eastern front. Even if Italy were unable to pro-

vide large fighting forces—both Kalnoky and Bismarck had

a very low opinion of Italy's military strength at this time

—it was still highly advantageous to Germany and Austria

that Italian forces should face west against France, instead

of north upon Austria's rear. "Sparing the Austrian forces,

rather than winning those of Italy, is our aim," was Bis-

marck's comment.40

The Triple Alliance in its wording and in its origin was

essentially defensive in character, and designed primarily

to preserve the peace of Europe. This is now clear from

the detailed negotiations concerning its formation, which

40 Q.P., HI, 224-225.
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have been revealed by Pribram from the Austrian archives,

and by the extensive German documents in Die Grosse

Politik. Its defensive character is now admitted even by

French historians who are by no means friendly to Bis-

marck. 11 Bismarck himself, in a private despatch which he

never expected would be made public, referred to it as "our

League of Peace." 42 Its peaceful and defensive intent was

especially marked in the case of Germany. But it became

less so in the case of Italy and Austria, who later wished

to use it to support their aggressive intentions. It was, in

fact, not long before Italy sought to make use of her new
alliance to promote her ambitions in North Africa and

elsewhere. Her request for German protection against

alleged interference with Italian interests by the French

in Morocco caused Bismarck to reply sharply:

I am not without just irritation over this request of

Mancini's, and observe in it a dilettante—confidentially I

would even say banausic—ignorance of what is possible and

desirable in high diplomacy. There is again manifest in this

incident, to put it mildly, that lack of unselfishness which

has already so often betrayi tl the Italians into si ading othi r

people into the water for the sake of Italian interests, with-

out wetting even a finger of their own . . . We are ready to

stand by Italy's side if she is attacked or even seriously

threatened by France. But we cannot hear with indifference

the expectation that we should begin trouble with France or

place Europe before the possibility of a war of great dimen-
sions, because of vague anxieties about Italy's interests

which are not immediate, but which represent hopes for the

future in regard to Morocco, or the Red Sea, or Tunis, or

Egypt, or other parts of the world.43

In 1SS5, Italy irritated her new allies by seizing Mas-
sowah on the Red Sea without notifying them beforehand

41 CJ. Bourgeois et Pages, p. 197.

»2"TJnscre Friedcnsliga"; G.P., III, 263; sec below at note 45.
'3 Bismarck to Keudell, April 6, 1S&1 ; G.P.. III. 410.
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of her intentions. When the time approached for renewing

the Triple Alliance, Italy complained that she had gained

nothing as a result of the treaty. Bismarck replied bluntly,

but truly, that the Alliance was made to secure the peace

of Europe and not to win new conquests for its members.

When Italy hinted that she wanted promises of wider sup-

port given her as the price of her renewal, Bismarck at first

told her flatly that she could renew it as it stood without

modifications, or she could leave it and drop out. But

later, in 1887, when Franco-German relations were strained,

and Italy intimated that she would shift to the side of

France if her desires were not heeded, Bismarck changed

his mind. He was willing to recognize Italian ambitions

in North Africa and even put pressure upon Austria to

accept the principle that Italy had the right to share with

Austria in the decision of the future fate of the Balkans,

the Ottoman coasts, and the islands in the Adriatic and

Aegean Seas.44

Austrian policy in the Balkans, after 1906, similarly

attempted to make use of the Alliance for aggressive rather

than peaceful purposes. But the details of this later perver-

sion of the originally defensive character of the Triple

Alliance cannot be discussed here. They do not alter the

fact that Bismarck in no sense intended to use the Triple

Alliance for aggressive action by Germany against France.

For him it always remained, as it had been in its origin,

a defensive treaty. Unfortunately it was not easy to con-

vince the French of this. As its terms were secret, the

French not unnaturally suspected that it constituted a

menace to themselves. This suspicion was strengthened by

44 Arts. I-IV of the separate Italo-German renewal treaty of Feb.

20, 1887; and Art. I of the Austro-Italian renewal treaty of the same date,

which was embodied as the famous "Art. VII" of the last renewal treaty

of Dec. 5, 1912. CJ. Pribram I, 44 ff. 103, and passim; G.P., IV, 179-260.

For the text of these articles and the other concessions eventually made

to Italy, see Arts. VI-XI of the 1912 renewal treaty in the Appendix below.
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the rapid increase in German and Italian armaments in

the 1880's, and by Bismarck's rather defiant tone during
the Boulanger period. It was this secrecy as to the terms
of the Triple Alliance, and the exaggerated suspicions to

which it gave rise, which contributed so much toward the
embitterment of Franco-German relations and to the for-

mation of the Franco-Russian Alliance in the early 1890's.

THE RUMANIAN ALLIANCE OF 18S3

Even the Triple Alliance did not complete the circle of

treaties by which Bismarck wished to assure the peace of

Europe. In the summer of 1SS3 King Carol, the Hohen-
zollern ruler of Rumania, visited Germany. Bismarck took
the occasion to sound Austria, "whether it would not be
desirable and possible to extend our League of Peace
[Friedensliga] with Italy to the East, and thereby lead in

firm paths the policy of Rumania, and eventually also that
of Serbia and the Porte. Except for Russia and France,
there is no state in all Europe today which is not interested

in the maintenance of peace. The firm pivot for the crystal-

lization of any such scheme would always be our own
permanent Dual Alliance." 45 As Austria responded fa-

vorably, Bismarck had two long interviews with the Ruma-
nian premier, whom he found "more declamatory than busi-
nesslike." M. Bratianu was very eager for the kudos which
would come from an alliance with the Great Powers. He
was loud in his denunciation of Russian intrigues in Aus-
tria as well as in Rumania and Bulgaria. At the prospect
of Austro-German backing, his chauvinistic imagination be-
gan to build castles in the air in which the Italian conquest
of Nice, Savoy, and Corsica should be but the prelude to
Rumania's acquisition of the Danubian Delta and Bes-
sarabia. He had to be brought down to earth by energetic
reminders from Bismarck and Kalnoky that the proposal

45 Bismarck to Prince Reuss at Vienna, Aug. 19, 1883; GP., Ill, 263.
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under discussion was to secure peace, not conquests; the

Contracting Powers ought mutually to promise that they

would refrain from all acts of provocation which might dis-

turb the peace; if, contrary to their efforts, any war should

break out, it would be time enough later to discuss the divi-

sion of the spoils.

M. Bratianu thereupon bridled his imagination and on

October 30, 1883, signed the purely defensive kind of an

alliance which Bismarck had in mind. The Austro-Ruma-

nian Treaty, which formed the basis of Rumania's adherence

to the Triple Alliance "Treaty of Peace," provided in sub-

stance that if Rumania or Austria were attacked without

provocation on their part [by Russia] , the two Contracting

Powers would mutually assist one another against the ag-

gressor. Russia was not named in the text of the treaty

owing to Emperor William's wish on this point, and to the

danger of adding fuel to Pan-Slav agitation in case the

Treaty should leak out later through some indiscretion.

But the negotiations show clearly that Russia was the state

which the Contracting Powers had in mind. Germany, by

an agreement signed on the same day, undertook the same

obligations respectively toward Austria and Rumania that

they had taken toward one another. The treaty was to be

secret and to endure for five years with an automatic exten-

sion for three years more if not denounced by any of the

parties. In 1889 Italy, like Germany, adhered to the Aus-

tro-Rumanian treaty, and the Quadruple Agreement was

usually renewed from time to time (with slight modifica-

tions). The last renewal took place on February 5, 1913,

when it was extended to July 8, 1920.46

46G.P., Ill, 269-282; Pribram, I, 29-34, 69-77, 85-90, 107-111, 209, 245 f.

In this connection it may be mentioned that Austria had signed a secret

treaty with Serbia on June 28, 1881, which virtually placed Serbia under

Austria's protection and domination during the reign of the pro-Austrian

ruler, Milan Obrenovitch, i.e., until 1889, thus temporarily bringing still
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THE BREAKDOWN OF THE WIRE TO RUSSIA IN 1S90

Thus, in the period 1S71-1S90, the peace of Europe was
secured by the domination of the Eastern Empires and by
the system of genuinely defensive alliances which Bismarck
had built up, though during the last three years the system
was somewhat less secure. No Power cared to risk a war
against Germany's overwhelming military force, supported
and insured as it was by the secret alliances which had
brought Austria, Russia, Italy, Rumania, and even England
more or less into cooperation with Germany. France in
her painful isolation did not dare to undertake a war of
revanche. England, though ready to cooperate with the
Triple Alliance in the Mediterranean, did not care to depart
from her traditional no-alliance policy. 47 She still preferred
to enjoy the Balance of Power between any European coali-
tions which might arise. No one yet threatened that proud
supremacy of the seas, so vital to her commerce and her
imperial relations with her colonies.

But the dismissal of Bismarck in March, 1S90, brought
a change, and opened the way for the formation of an alli-

ance between Russia and France. Even during the three
preceding years, in spite of the Re-insurance Treaty, fric-
tion had increased between Germany and Russia, owing to
complications in Bulgaria, and to the German newspaper
campaign against Russian securities. But until Bismarck's
dismissal, the loyalty of M. Giers, the Russian Minister
of Foreign Affairs, to the German alliance, and Tsar Alex-
ander's antipathy to France had prevented a Franco-Russian

another state within the circle of the Triple Alliance Powers; Pribram, I

"For England's failure to respond to Bismarck's feelers for an
Anglo-German understanding or alliance in 1SS7 and in 18S9 sec G P IV
376 ff The importance of these feelers has been exaggerated by Hammann
Oct Mwvcrstandnc Bismarck, pp. 20 f, 59, and by Eckardstein, Lcbcns-
ennnerungen, II, 282; III, Iff.
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coalition which had always been Bismarck's greatest night-

mare.48

In December, 1889, well in advance of its expiration,

Giers considered whether the Re-insurance Treaty of 1887

ought to be renewed by Russia and, if so, in what form.

On the whole, it seemed more useful for Russian interests

in the Balkans and for the preservation of peace than an

alliance with France. The latter would endanger peace by

encouraging French chauvinists and by embittering rela-

tions between France and Germany. In accordance with

this policy, Count Schuvalov had an intimate conversation

with Bismarck on February 10, 1890, in which both favored

the renewal of the treaty. "It is a document that defines

clearly the policy which we are following and which, in my

judgment, ought not to be changed," said Bismarck.49

But the conflict of temperament and policy which had

been developing between the aged German Chancellor and

his imperious young master was nearing the explosion which

took place on March 17. With Bismarck out of office

Schuvalov did not know what to do. He reported that what

was passing at Berlin was more than strange, and that one

was forced to ask oneself whether the young Emperor was

in a normal state. On the night of March 21, the Ambas-

sador was awakened by a messenger from Emperor William

who requested him to come to His Majesty at eight o'clock

in the morning. Scarcely had he arrived when the Emperor

received him with great kindness and cordiality saying,

48 In December, 1886, Giers said to the German Charge d'Affaires in

St Petersburg: "II n'y a pas de politique raisonable a faire avec ces

gens-la [en France]"; and a week later, "Comment peuvent-ils etre assez

betes ces Francais, pour se figurer que TEmpereur Alexandre marcherait

avec'les Clemenceaus contre son oncle! C'est une alliance qui ferait

horreur a l'Empereur, qui n'ira pas tirer les marrons du feu pour le

Commune"; and again on October 20, 1887, "Les Francais sont le plus

infecte des peuples, le gouvernement francais est mauvais, bete; le gacnis d.

Paris est complet"; G.P., VI, 107, 108, 118.

49Goriainov, p. 341; G.P., VII, Iff.
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"Sit down and listen to me. You know how much I love

and respect your sovereign. Your Emperor has been too

good to me for me to do otherwise than to inform him
personally of the situation created by the events which have
just taken place. ... I beg you to tell His Majesty that

on my part I am entirely disposed to renew our agreement,

that my foreign policy remains and will remain the same
as it was in the time of my grandfather." 50 After having
read Schuvalov's despatch the Tsar wrote on it, "Nothing
more satisfactory could be looked for. We shall see by the

sequel whether deeds correspond to words." 51

But there then emerged the malign and super-suspicious

influence of Baron Holstein. He and another counsellor in

the German Foreign Office drew up a long memoir of fine-

spun arguments against the renewal; with these they won
over the Kaiser and the new Chancellor, Caprivi. It was
decided at Berlin on March 27 to drop the negotiations for

renewal, because the terms of the Re-insurance Treaty were
regarded as contrary to the spirit, if not the letter, of the

Triple Alliance, and also because, "if the treaty became
known, either by a deliberate or accidental indiscretion, it

would endanger the Triple Alliance and be calculated to

turn England away from us." Schweinitz, the German
Ambassador at St. Petersburg, was hastily summoned back
to Berlin for a consultation. He did not think it likely

that Russia would deliberately divulge the treaty; but he
recognized the "possibility of indiscretions from some other

source," 52 by which probably he meant no other than Bis-

marck himself. When Schweinitz returned to St. Peters-

burg next day, and reported Germany's negative decision,

the Tsar was content, but his Foreign Minister, Giers, was
"in some consternation." Already old and feeble, Giers
feared that under his successors the Russian militarists and

co Goriainov, p. 343; cj. G.P., VII, 21. si Goriainov, p 344.
"G.P., VII, 11.
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Pan-Slavs might get the upper hand and threaten peaceful

relations between Germany and Russia. He hoped by a

treaty to bind his successors. Six weeks later he again

brought up the subject and urged the renewal of the treaty.

He was willing to make any changes Germany wanted, or

even to have merely an exchange of notes, or at any rate

some kind of a written agreement between the two coun-

tries Since a further refusal on Germany's part might

tend to drive Russia into the arms of France, Schwemitz

advised "some kind of a written agreement which, even if

it became known, could not be used against us." Just after

this advice reached Berlin, Bismarck gave an interview to

a Russian journalist, which alarmed the German Foreign

Office 53 and made them fear that even if the Tsar were

discreet, the irritated ex-Chancellor might let the dangerous

cat out of the bag. The leading Foreign Office officials—

Marschall, Holstein, Kiderlen, and Raschdau—all hastened

to write memorials against a renewal of the Re-msurance

Treaty or anything resembling it; and the Kaiser and

Caprivi accepted their view. Schweinitz was told positively

to drop the whole matter. Thus fell one of the mam props

of Bismarck's balance between Russia and Austria. Russia

was left isolated and more ready to listen to the solicitous

voice of the republican radicals on the Seine.

Historians have generally exaggerated the non-renewal

of the Re-insurance Treaty as a factor in the formation of

the Franco-Russian Alliance. This is due partly to Bis-

marck himself. Esteemed by the German people as a demi-

god but neglected by the young Emperor and the new

Court, the lonely and morose old man at Friednchsruh

filled the columns of the Hamburger Nachrichten with ill-

natured articles justifying his own successful policies and

bitterly criticizing anonymously those of his successor:

"Least of all is it Germany's business to support Austria s

53 GP., VII, 23, 35.
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ambitions in the Balkans." 5

* "By following the path
upon which she has entered, Germany is in danger of
gradually becoming dependent upon Austria, and in the
end she may have to pay with her blood and treasure for
the Balkan policy of Vienna," 55

This was bad taste on Bismarck's part, and it was very
embarrassing to William II and Caprivi. They winced at
his criticisms and descended to his rancorous level by an
act of petty-minded folly. When Bismarck made a tri-
umphal progress to Vienna in 1S92 to attend the marriage
of his son, Count Herbert, to Countess Hoyos, Caprivi
ordered the German Ambassador in Vienna not to attend
the wedding and, if possible, to prevent Bismarck's recep-
tion by Emperor Francis Joseph. Bismarck in reven-e
reproached Caprivi in the Neue Freie Presse with having
lost for Germany the friendship of Russia. "The wire
which connected us with Russia is torn down." He implied
that the Tsar was therefore turning toward France and that
Caprivi was responsible for the danger to Germany of the
new coalition which he himself had always skilfully averted
The implication was strengthened by Caprivi's apparently
self-incriminating statement in the Reichstag six months
later (November 23, 1S92) : "We exerted all our care to
keep the wire up; only we did not want it to draw us out
of those connections which bind us with Austria-Hungary
and Italy." The implication was finally accepted as a
certainty when Bismarck virtually revealed in the Ham-
burger Nachrichten (four years later) the existence of the
Re-insurance Treaty of 18S7, closing with the blunt state-
ment, "So came Kronstadt with the Marseillaise and the
first drawing together of the absolutist Tsardom and the
French Republic, brought about, in our opinion, exclusively

1890-

B

189?I
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IS9°; Hofmann, Fiirst Bismarck,

"January 24, 1S92; Hofmann, Furst Bismarck, 1890-189S, II, o
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by the mistakes of the Caprivi policy." 50 The accuracy of

Bismarck's charge seemed to be finally confirmed by a Curt

official note a few days later,57 denouncing his revelation

as a "violation of the most confidential secrets of state which

constituted a blow at the grave interests of the Empire."

So the world accepted the idea that the Franco-Russian

Alliance was the result of Caprivi's stupidity in not con-

tinuing Bismarck's juggling feat of "keeping five balls in

the air at once." But if one looks more closely at the

documents now in hand, one can see that historians have

been misled by the apparent conjunction of events in 1890-

1891 and by Bismarck's propaganda. The Franco-Russian

Entente did not result simply from Caprivi's failure to

renew the Re-insurance Treaty. It was due to a number

of other factors. One of these was the growth of German
industry, commerce, naval ambition, and colonial expan-

sion which started Germany on "The New Course" to

Constantinople and Bagdad, thereby antagonizing Russia.

Emperor William's desire for a naval base led to the so-

called Heligoland Treaty of July, 1890, which made Russia

suspect—incorrectly—that Germany would draw closer to

England. A second factor was the growth of Pan-Slavism

and of Russia's determination to dominate the Balkans.

This antagonized Austria and made it impossible for Berlin

to continue Bismarck's policy of maintaining a delicate

equipoise between Vienna and St. Petersburg. William II

had eventually to choose between Russia and Austria, and

he chose Austria; whether he chose rightly is another ques-

tion; but the choice having been made, Russia became

perforce the enemy of the Central Powers. Therefore,

according to a well-informed German writer, the mistake of

Bismarck's successors was not in letting down the wire

between Berlin and St. Petersburg—that was perhaps in-

evitable anyway; the mistake was in failing to conciliate

66 Hofmann, Furst Bismarck, 1890-98, II, 373.

57 Reichsanzeiger, Oct. 27, 1896.
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and win England by playing off England against her natural

Russian and French rivals, and by coming to a reasonable

understanding with England in regard to naval and colonial

questions.58 A third factor which made for the Franco-

Russian Alliance, was the persistence of the revanche idea

and the slow consolidation of power in the French Republic

which followed the bursting of the Boulanger bubble.

France had at last sufficiently settled down so that the Tsar

was willing to overcome his repugnance to an alliance with

the Revolutionary Government which had never forgiven

Germany for the cruel wound inflicted in 1S71.

FRANCO-GERMAN" RELATIONS, 1S71-1S90

In the bitter years after the Franco-Prussian War,

France sat alone among the Powers of Europe, like a wall-

flower at a dance, watching Germany revolve with many
partners. France was condemned to isolation by her own
military weakness after defeat, by the methods which Bis-

marck adopted to keep her friendless, and by the instability

of her Republican form of government which was regarded

askance by the old monarchs of Europe. She had to suffer

the humiliation and the inevitable friction of German
armies on her soil until the billion dollar indemnity was
paid. It was not until the War Scare of 1875 that France

found for the first time that she had honest neighbors who,

if they did not take her to their hearts as partners, were

at least not willing to sit idly by with hands crossed and
see her menaced or crushed. Tsar Alexander II of Russia

gallantly informed General Le Flo, the French Ambassador
at St. Petersburg, that "the interests of our two countries

are common; you would know this very quickly and you
would know it from us if, as I refuse to believe, you should

be some day seriously menaced." 59 Queen Victoria likewise

mmann, Der Missverstandne Bismarck, passim.
59 Bourgeois et Pages, p. 168.
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let it be known that in this matter she was of one opinion

with the Tsar. But neither of these two Great Powers was

yet ready to enter into any closer relations with the French

Republic. Alexander II, with a natural antipathy to repub-

lican institutions, preferred the monarchical solidarity rep-

resented by the League of the Three Emperors, and his

attention was engaged in the Eastern Question where Ger-

man friendship was of greater value than French support.

Similarly, the English acquisition of the Suez Canal and the

resulting occupation of Egypt gave rise to a situation which

made close Anglo-French relations virtually impossible for

a quarter of a century.

Bismarck, however, in the ten years 1875-1885, made

many efforts to win French good-will and induce the French

to accept without reserve the settlement of 1871. He

wanted to make them forgive and forget the loss of Alsace-

Lorraine, so that Germany would not have to fear a war

of revenge. In the interests of better relations between the

two countries he was willing to receive a visit from Gam-

betta, who was regarded as the chief exponent of revanche

in France until his death in 1882.60 When St. Vallier suc-

ceeded Gontaut-Biron as French Ambassador at Berlin

early in 1878, Bismarck overwhelmed him with marks of

attention and kindness, and there was talk of "a new era"

in the relations of France and Germany. At the Congress

of Berlin, and on many subsequent occasions, he assured

France of his readiness to give her diplomatic support if she

wished to protect her Algerian frontier by taking Tunis.

As he said to St. Vallier:

"The Tunisian pear is ripe and it is time for you to pick

it. The insolence of the Bey has been like an August sun

to this African fruit,- which might easily spoil meanwhile, or

be stolen by someone else, if you leave it longer upon the

tree. I don't know whether this tempts you or what you wish

60 G.P., III, 387.
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to do, but I want to repeat to you what I said in July to M.
Waddington, 'It is my desire to give you evidences of good-

will in questions which touch you and where there are no
German interests opposed to yours.' This is, in fact, only

right, for I appreciate the efforts which you and he have
made to calm the feelings and restore security and confi-

dence between our two countries. ... I believe that the

French people, though they are now giving evidence of great

good sense, need satisfactions for their pride, and I desire

sincerely to see them obtain those which they can find in the

Mediterranean basin which is their natural sphere of expan-

sion. The more success they have in this direction, the

less they will be inclined to indulge against us the com-
plaints and sorrows whose legitimacy I will not discuss, but
the removal of which is not in our power." 01

On lat er occasions Bismarck encouraged the French in

the same way to an extension of their colonial power in

other parts of Africa and in China. The recent publication

of his private memoranda leaves no doubt that he hoped
that, if France would turn her attention to colonial activi-

ties outside Europe, she would be more likely to forget

Alsace-Lorraine. In the Madrid Conference on the Morocco
question, he instructed the German representative to "go
hand in hand with France who, because of her neighboring
Algerian possessions, has rightly founded interests in Mo-
rocco," and for this attitude he received the genuine thanks
of the French Ambassador.62 In his instructions for the

German Ambassador at Paris on July 1G, 1881, he wrote:

"There is a wide field in the Mediterranean in which we
can leave to the French a wholly free hand. It is not out
of the question to hope that French policy in the end will

come to see that a friendly German Empire with 45,000.000

inhabitants is more desirable and a stronger figure among

ei St. Vallicr to Waddington, Jan. 5, 1879; Bourgeois et Pages, p. 365 f

«2G.P., Ill, 396 ff.
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French assets than a million Alsace-Lorrainers. France

can be certain that we shall never oppose her justifiable

policy of expansion in the Mediterranean and there is reason

to believe that Russia also will take the same attitude as

Germany." 63

This instruction represents Bismarck's sincere purpose

of trying to secure a genuine reconciliation with France in

the half dozen years following the Congress of Berlin.

Similarly he refused to give any support to the family of

Abd-el-Kader, the heroic Algerian chieftain who had car-

ried on such a troublesome war of self-defense against

French efforts at conquest and colonization in North

Africa.
64 He refused to take notice of ebullitions of French

chauvinism. Some French newspapers, the League of

Patriots, and fire-eaters like Paul Deroulede still kept up

a violent agitation against Germany. But Bismarck or-

dered his Ambassadors and the German Press to ignore them

as far as possible. "It is best that matters of this kind be

left in dead silence."
65

In his irritation at England's dilatory action in regard to

Southwest Africa and in his desire for a sincere rapproche-

ment with France, he was willing to cooperate with the

French in a conference on Egypt and other African colonial

questions. By the fall of 1884, there was even talk of

Franco-German naval cooperation which might grow into

an alliance. But the French were suspicious of Bismarck's

"Machiavellian motives." They suspected that he wished

to embroil them with England.66 The acceptance of the

loss of Alsace and Lorraine as final and unquestioned was

just what the French Ambassador always expressly refused:

"A nation, as regards the dismemberments which it has

suffered, unless it courts with indifference the fate of Poland,

63 GP, III, 401. 64 G.P., III, 406.

65 Instruction of September 16, 1882; G.P., III, 404.

66G.P., Ill, 421 ff.; Bourgeois et Pages, pp. 190-211.
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ought never to pardon anything, never forget anything [ne

doit jamais ricn pardonncr, jamais ricn oublier]. I have

never said a word to the German Chancellor which could

encourage him in any illusions as to us. . . . To work for

peace for the present and to reserve the future [pacifier le

present, reserver I'avenir], such is the program which I have
always had before my eyes. ... At the beginning of our

discussions I specified with Count Hatzfeldt and with the

Chancellor himself that neither Alsace nor Lorraine should

ever be a question between us, that here was a domain re-

served on both sides where we ought to be forbidden to pene-

trate, because we could never meet in good agreement on it.

I shall never speak of Alsace, I have said; and on your part,

if you sincerely desire an understanding with us on various

points, avoid drawing the sword over our wound, because

the French nation will not remain in control of her

feelings." 07

This attitude of proud irreconcilability, asserted by the

French Ambassador in 1884, sums up admirably one of the

fundamental reasons for the failure of the olive branches
which Bismarck had been holding out. Another reason was
the underlying suspicion and distrust with which each side

received the suggestions of the other. The result was that

the period of relative friendliness which had characterized

Franco-German relations in the decade 1875-1885 came to

an end and was succeeded by the tense relations of the

Boulanger period.

General Boulanger, who became Minister of War in the

Freycinet Cabinet in January, 1886, speedily became for

the French masses the symbol of military revival and the
hope of revanche. For fifteen long and bitter years they
had borne their isolation and humiliation. Now they

listened eagerly to the man on horseback who declared in

chauvinistic speeches and in his organ La France M'Hit aire:

07 Baron Courcel to Jules Ferry, December 3, 18S4; Bourgeois et
Pages, p. 387; cj. also pp. 205 ff.
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"We remember that they are waiting for us in Alsace and

Lorraine." 68 For the next fifteen months French Cabinets

rose and fell, but public opinion always demanded that

Boulanger be included among the Ministers. During this

period he aimed to increase and strengthen the French army

by every means. Lumber was purchased for new barracks,

increased quantities of picric acid were imported from

Germany for the manufacture of explosives, and French

regular troops were gradually brought back from China and

Africa. The Cabinet, though divided, was finally per-

suaded by Boulanger to approve a trial mobilization of part

of the army for the fall of 1887. When a more cool-headed

and responsible French statesman, like Rouvier, had the

courage to constitute a Cabinet without Boulanger, in May,

1887, this only increased still further the General's popu-

larity, and with it the peril to the internal and external

peace' of the country- He appeared before the ecstatic

crowds on the Paris boulevards. By repeatedly standing for

election to the Chamber of Deputies in the provinces, he

gradually began to secure a national plebiscite in his favor.

There were thousands who looked forward to the overthrow

of the Republic which had been too yielding and concilia-

tory toward Germany and who hoped for a strong dictator-

ship under "le brav' general." French chauvinism was

further stirred by the fiery speeches of Paul Deroulede, by

the activities of the League of Patriots, and by the intem-

perate editorials of the greater part of the French Press.

All these manifestations of French nationalism were duly

reported to Bismarck at length by the German Military

Attache in Paris.69

The German Ambassador, Count Munster, however,

sent moderate and more quieting reports as to conditions

in France, though he admitted that there was an extraordi-

68 Report of the German Military Attache in Paris; G.P., VI, 133.

69 G.P., VI, 127 ff.
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nary outburst of revanche feeling among the people-. He
believed, nevertheless, that it was artificially stimulated,

and that at bottom the French people really did not want
la guerre sainte, however much they might talk about it in

the newspapers and public meetings. The republicans in

the provinces, in contrast to Paris, were decidedly peaceful,

and Boulanger was not nearly so dangerous as people be-

lieved. He could hardly establish a dictatorship on account

of the jealousy of other generals and of the solidity of re-

publican feeling. Whatever the masses thought, the French

Government really wanted peace, because they were afraid

of Germany. Financially also France was too poor to wage
war, and military service was unpopular. The Ambassador
was so convinced that there was no real danger of a Bou-
langist coup d'etat or an attack upon Germany, that he took

the unusual step of writing his views in a personal letter to

Emperor William I.

Bismarck, however, was not at all convinced of the ac-

curacy of Munster's diagnosis of the French situation. He
covered Munster's reports with question marks and doubts.

He scolded him for writing a letter direct to the Emperor,
which Miinstcr thereupon agreed should not be delivered.

Bismarck's distrust of France rested partly on his knowl-

edge of French history and of the events of the Second
Empire when Napoleon III had talked peace and yet had
entered upon one war after another. It arose also from his

futile efforts to come to a better understanding with France
during the half dozen years before the rise of Boulanger.

Still another reason for his distrust of the French were the

rumors in September, 1SS6, that Russian agents in Paris

had been putting out feelers toward a Franco-Russian alli-

ance. 70 He instantly made inquiries at St. Petersburg to

learn if the rumors had any foundation. In the negotia-

tions a little later for the Re-insurance Treaty with Russia,

70 GP., VI, 93 ff.
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he made surprisingly large concessions to Russian ambitions

toward Constantinople, with the hope of holding Tsar

Alexander III away from France and in firm friendship

with Germany. 71

A further reason why Bismarck was unwilling to accept

Munster's optimistic views on France was the fact that he

was preparing to lay before the Reichstag the Army Bill

of 1887, which would considerably increase the size of the

German army. French chauvinism was one of the best

vote-getters possible for the. bill. If Miinster was correct,

half the argument for the increase of the German army was

gone. So Bismarck took the view of the military attache

instead of the ambassador at Paris. The German armament

bill passed and thereby increased the suspicion and distrust

in France and Russia, which always accompanied the

growth of German armaments. New military expenditures

on a wide scale were then' made in France and Russia, and

a still further increase* was proposed in Germany in the

following year. So great was the suspense and war-talk

on both sides of the Rhine that there developed in the

spring of 1888 another war scare not unlike that of 1875.

On January 11, 1888, Bismarck made the famous speech in

the Reichstag in which, while increasing Germany's arma-

ments, he still insisted that Germany had no intention of

provoking a war with France or with Russia.

In spite of "incidents" like the German arrest of

Schnaebele,72 which sharpened bitter feelings in both coun-

71 G.P., V, 211 ff.

72 Schnaebele, who had been accused of complicity in an espionage case

at Strasbourg, was a French police officer near the Alsatian border. On
April 20, 1887 he was arrested upon German soil while at an interview with

a German police agent concerning border questions. The French Press

made a great outcry that he had been enticed over the border in order

that he might be seized. There is no proof of this. When Bismarck

was finally convinced that Schnaebele crossed the border for an official

interview upon the invitation of a German customs officer, he at once

ordered his release; G.P., VI, 182-192. C. Grant Robertson, Bismarck,

p. 460, is incorrect in concluding that the Schnaebele incident was delib-
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tries, cooler counsels prevailed at Paris. Boulanger's credit

sank more rapidly than it had risen, and Franco-German

tension became less strained. But it was during this period

that the first steps took place which may be regarded as the

beginnings of Franco-Russian rapprochement, which later

was extended to include England and thus formed ulti-

mately the Triple Entente. The domination of the Eastern

Empires was coming to an end.

erately planned to provoke the French into a serious indiscretion in

order to assist the passage of the German Army Bill by the Reichstag.

The dates arc conclusive. The Army Bill passed on March 11. Bis-

marck knew nothing about the Schnaebele espionage case until March
12. Schnaebele was not arrested until Aprd 20, and was set free eight

days later. For a French view, see Bourgeois et Pages, pp. 225-229.



CHAPTER III

THE SYSTEM OF SECRET ALLIANCES, 1890-1907;

FORMATION OF THE TRIPLE ENTENTE

FRANCO-RUSSIAN RAPPROCHEMENT, 1887-1891

The Franco-Russian Entente of 1891, which ripened

into the Alliance of 1894, was the natural result of the sus-

picions, the feeling of isolation, and the irritation against

Germany which existed in both countries. A rapproche-

ment between them, in spite of the fundamental contrast

between the republican and absolutist forms of government

at Paris and St. Petersburg, was the obvious counterbalance

to the Triple Alliance.

Notwithstanding Bismarck's generous promises to Rus-

sia in the Alliance of the Three Emperors and the Re-

insurance Treaty, Alexander III had been greatly irritated

at the election of Ferdinand of Coburg as Prince of Bul-

garia. Ferdinand had hesitated to accept the Bulgarian

throne, or at least had pretended to hesitate, but had been

secretly persuaded into final acceptance, so the Tsar be-

lieved, by a treacherous intrigue on Bismarck's part.

Though Bismarck had alleged openly that Germany was
not interested in Bulgaria and that Russia might have a

free hand to do as she pleased there, the German Ambassa-

dor at Vienna was supposed to have written a letter to

Ferdinand secretly assuring him of Germany's support

against Russia in case he accepted the throne of Bulgaria.

The letter came into French hands and was conveyed by the

French to the Tsar. Though Bismarck assured the Tsar

later that the letter was a forgery, there is no doubt that for

105
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a time Alexander III shared some of the French feeling of

bitterness toward Bismarck. 1 He could not reconcile Bis-

marck's assurances of disinterestedness in Constantinople

and the Balkans with the despatch of German officers to

drill the Turkish army and with the enthusiastic reception

at the German maneuvers given to the Turkish general,

Muktar Pasha. Like the French, he was suspicious and

irritated at the publicly announced renewal of the Triple

Alliance in 1887. As its terms were secret, he not unnatu-

rally suspected that it might contain offensive designs on the

part of Austria and Italy detrimental to Russia's ambitions

in the Eastern Mediterranean. Soon after the renewal of

the Triple Alliance, Crispi, who had become Italian Pre-

mier in July, 1SS7, had ostentatiously visited Vienna, and

then gone on to confer with Bismarck at Friedrichsruh. On
his return journey he informed the Frankfurter Zeitun-g

that Italy wished well to Bulgaria, but "there can be no

doubt that Italy, like every other European state, has every

reason to fear Russia's advances to Constantinople. We
cannot allow the Mediterranean to become a Russian

lake." 2

To all these grievances was added another. In the sum-

mer of 1887, Russia suddenly found that the ruble was fall-

ing in value and that there seemed to be a systematic com-
paign in Berlin against Russian securities. This was partly

due to a ukase in May which naturally shook German faith

in Russian credit: it forbade the acquisition or inheritance

of landed property by foreigners in Western Russia, or their

employment as managers of estates. As Germans owned
much land in Russia and were largely employed in the

management of estates, the ukase looked like an unjustifi-

able expropriation of property. This not unnaturally led to

1 On the so-called "Bulgarian Documents" and their alleged forgery,

see G.P., V. 338-350, and J. V. Fuller, Bismarck's Diplomacy at Us Zenith,

pp. 205 fT ; 292 ff. 2 Quoted in Robertson, Bismarck, p. 460.
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a German newspaper campaign against Russian credit.

Though Bismarck may not have inspired these newspaper

attacks, he at least looked upon them with approval as

tending to make the Russians realize how dependent they

were upon German good-will. 3

The Russians, however, suspected that Bismarck had

inspired this press campaign and were therefore the more

ready to yield to the Pan-Slav desire that Russia should

borrow in Paris. France at the moment was looking for a

field of investment, because commercial conflict with Italy

had shut off the Italian market for French capital. 4 A
group of French bankers was formed at Paris and began

negotiations for a series of Russian loans to be floated in

France. The first, amounting to 500,000,000 francs, was

at last approved by the Governments on both sides and the

bonds were listed on the Paris Bourse in December, 1888.

Naturally Germany looked askance at this proceeding,

which might have eventual political significance. German
newspapers did their best to scare off buyers; but the loan

proved a huge success. Though the sum was a relatively

large one for those days, the 4% bonds issued at 86.45 of-

fered attractive returns and were at once largely oversub-

scribed. The Russians were encouraged the next year to

contract two more loans, one for 700,000,000, and the other

for 1,200,000,000 francs. Both met with equal success.

Thus France set out on the financial path which led further

than she foresaw at the moment, and which inevitably made
thousands of her citizens interested financially and politi-

cally in Russia's ambitions. Occasionally saner minds in

France took alarm, and the loans did not succeed so well,

but for the most part Frenchmen were ready to give up an

apparently unlimited amount of savings to invest at good

3 G.P., V, 330-337; Fuller, p. 202 ff.

4 Cf. Debidour, Histoire Diplomatique de VEurope, 1878-1916 (2nd.

»d., Paris, 1917-1918), I, 130 f.
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profits in a country which might become an ally against the

common enemy, and which might one day assist in the

revanche which so many Frenchmen had in their hearts. 5

On the financial ground thus prepared the next step was

for France to supply Russia with guns. The Grand Duke
Vladimir, Alexander Ill's brother, on a visit to Paris, was

initiated into the reorganization of the army which Frey-

cinet had been carrying out. Pie was greatly impressed

with the new Lebel rifle. Upon request he was given a

model of it. Negotiations followed, and ultimately a con-

tract was arranged by which France was to manufacture for

Russia half a million rifles similar to the Lebel weapon. 8

Neither William II nor his Foreign Office advisers sup-

posed that "dropping the Pilot" and abandoning the Re-

insurance Treaty would be followed by a Franco-Russian

Alliance. But to lessen such a possibility, the Kaiser, with

exaggerated views of his own personal influence in diplo-

macy, proceeded to return to the conciliatory policy toward

France which Bismarck had pursued during and after the

Congress of Berlin. He attempted to win French good-will

by innumerable well-intentioned courtesies, by telegrams

of congratulation and condolence, by recognizing the French

protectorate over Madagascar, and by diplomatic support

5 Dcbidour, I, 137, reckons the total borrowings in France by the

Russian Government up to 1906 at the enormous sum of 7,903,000,000

francs. Those Russian government bonds did not include other vast sums
which French private capitalists invested in Russian cotton mills, lumber
mills, factories, and other undertakings of all sorts.

6 Livre Jaune: L'Alliance Franco-Russe, p. 49. This French Yel-

low Book, published in 1918, is the authoritative source for the early his-

tory of the Franco-Russian Alliance, and renders antiquated the older ac-

counts of Cyon, Hansen, Daudet, Albin, Dcbidour, Tardieu, and Wel-
schinger. The best recent brief studies are by L. B. Packard, "Russia and
the Dual Alliance," in Amcr. Hist. Rev., XXV, 391-110, April, 1920; and
by W. L. Langer, "The Franco-Russian Alliance," in the Slavonic Review,
III, 554-575; IV, 83-100, March-June, 1925. See also G.P., VI, 91-124;

X II. 191-458; the Belgian documents edited under the direction of B.

Schwertfeger by W. Kohler, Revanche-]dee und Panslawismus, Berlin,

1919; and, for the later history of the alliance, George Michon, L'Alliance

Franco-Russe, 1801-1017, Paris, 1927.
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in other colonial questions where no German interests were

involved. He showed special courtesy to Jules Simon, the

head of the French delegation at the Working Men's Con-

ference in Berlin. He invited French artists to participate

in a German art exhibition—an invitation which was at first

accepted but later refused on account of an outcry in the

French Press. He arranged for a visit of his mother, the

Empress Frederick, to Paris. But this eventually led to

such a hostile demonstration that a serious scandal was

narrowly averted by the energy of the French Government

and by her departure from Paris on an earlier train than had

been intended.7 It contributed to a new chauvinist out-

burst and a renewed desire for closer relations with Russia, 8

With Russia also the Kaiser sought to remain on the

old friendly terms. He was profuse in assurances that

German policy should suffer no change as a result of Bis-

marck's dismissal. In August, 1890, he visited the Tsar at

Narva and relations seemed cordial between the monarchs

as well as between Caprivi and Giers, though the latter

failed in his further attempt to get some kind of a written

agreement which should replace the Re-insurance Treaty.

But in fact the Russians were becoming suspicious that

Germany was drawing closer to England. The Treaty of

June 14, 1890, by which Germany had given up claims to

a great strip of African territory near Zanzibar in return

for Heligoland, seemed to point in this direction.9 If Lord

Salisbury had given away a suit of clothes in exchange for

a suspender button, as Henry M. Stanley sarcastically de-

7 G.P., VII, 263 ff; Debidour, I, 165-168.

8 The Russians had at first been alarmed at the Kaiser's efforts at

reconciliation with France, and were delighted with the outburst against

the Empress Frederick, in which they were suspected by the German

Ambassador in Paris of having had a hand. The Tsar took advantage of

the favorable opportunity to flatter the French by conferring the Order

of St. Andrew upon President Camot, who returned the compliment by

bestowing the Grand Cross of the Legion of Honor upon the Russian

Ambassador in Paris. G.P., VII, 196-201. 9 G.P., VIII, 3-25.
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scribed this transaction, there must be a reason, so the

Russians argued to themselves. The London Morning Fust

announced that "the period of England's isolation is over."

The Kaiser's visit to England in the summer of 1890 seemed

a further sign of the way the wind was blowing. His allu-

sion to the Triple Alliance at the opening of the Reichstag

May 6, 1890, even though he spoke of it as a guarantee of

universal peace, and his new Army Law increasing the

German forces by some 18,000 men, were no less disturbing

to the Russians than to the French. 10

THE FRANCO-RUSSIAN ALLIANCE OF 1894.

Such was the situation which at last led the Russians to

listen seriously to French feelers for closer relations. In

view of the form ultimately given to the Franco-Russian

Alliance and later to the Anglo-French military and naval

arrangements, it is interesting to note that these first defi-

nite negotiations were carried on by the French and Russian

military authorities and not by the regular diplomatic rep-

resentatives. General Boisdeffre, who attended the Russian

maneuvers for a fortnight in 1890, talked almost daily

with the Russian Minister of War and with Obruchev, the

Russian Chief of Staff. The latter had married a French

wife and had long been an eager advocate of a Franco-

Russian Alliance. Boisdeffre and the Russian generals

quickly came to an agreement on the principle that "the

two armies would have to act simultaneously in case of an

attack from which they both had to fear the conse-

quences." 11 This was a first step toward an Entente Cor-

diale which, though no written agreements had as yet been

signed, was soon regarded by the Russian Ambassador at

Paris as being "as solid as granite." 12 It had been solidified

i«C/. Goriainov, pp. 348-349
11 Laboulaye, the French Ambassador to Russia, to Ribot, Augvist 24,

1890; L'Alliance Franco-Russe. p. 1.

J- Ribot to Laboulaye, March 9, 1891; LAlliance Franco-Russc,, p. 3.
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by the Empress Frederick incident and by the growing

Franco-Russian suspicion that England was adhering to

the Triple Alliance to thwart Russian ambitions in the

Eastern Mediterranean. It was just at this time that the

Triple Alliance was renewed, in spite of the efforts of the

French to detach Italy and the hopes of both French and

Russians that Bismarck's dismissal might cause it to

weaken and lapse. It had not, however, been renewed

without difficulty, owing to Italy's demands for promises

of greater support in the maintenance of the status quo

in North Africa. Austria and Germany had been forced to

yield to some extent to Italy's wishes and even to agree to

exert themselves to secure England's adhesion to this new
stipulation. 13

The fact that the Triple Alliance had been renewed was

published to the world by the Italian Premier, Rudini, in a

speech on June 29, 1891. At the same time he also took

occasion to refer to Italy's existing agreements with Eng-

land in such a way as to strengthen Franco-Russian sus-

picions that England had in some way joined the Triple

Alliance. Such a quadruple coalition, even though ostensi-

i. bly aiming merely at the preservation of the status quo,

was most annoying to the Russians who wanted to open the

Dardanelles, and to the French who had not completed the

development of their African colonial empire in the Western

Mediterranean.

A few weeks later the French fleet under Admiral Ger-

vais accepted the Tsar's invitation to visit Kronstadt. In

addition to their suspicions of the Triple Alliance, Alexan-

der III and Giers had been alarmed by the stiff attitude

which the French had adopted in regard to a dispute be-

tween Roman Catholic and Greek Orthodox clergy concern-

ing the use of a door in the Church of the Nativity at Beth-

13 Art. IX of the Triple Alliance Treaty of May 6, 1891. Cf. Pribram,

pp. 66, 208-229; and G.P., VII, 53-106; VIII, 41-72.
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lehem. 1 '1 They realized also the importance of making sure

of French friendship if they were to be successful in borrow-

ing more money at Paris. 15 The Kronstadt visit was made
the occasion, especially by the French, for an extraordinary

demonstration of Franco-Russian solidarity. It was to ap-

pear to the world as a counter-stroke to the renewal of the

Triple Alliance. The Tsar and Tsarina came aboard the

French flagship, talked to the sailors, showed a thousand
acts of politeness to Admiral Gervais and his officers, and
invited them to Peterhof. Hitherto, in absolutist Russia,

the playing of the Marseillaise had been strictly forbidden,

not only in public places, but even on a piano which might
be heard on the street. But now the prohibition was re-

laxed—only to be re-imposed again after the departure of

the French fleet—and the news was trumpeted abroad that

the Autocrat of All the Russias had stood bareheaded while
the bands played the marching song of the Sans-culottes

of 1793. 10
It was, however, a stirring moment. "Those of

us who reached manhood in 1890," writes President Poin-

care twenty years later, "cannot, even today, recall without
emotion the prodigious effect produced at that tune in

France by the demonstration of friendliness by Emperor
Alexander III. It was for Republicans not only a recog-

nition of the Republic by a government whose traditions

and form were furthest removed from us and our institu-

tions; it was for France herself the end of a prolonged iso-

lation and the outward sign of her revival." 17

The Kronstadt demonstration was received in France
with incredible joy and enthusiasm. The man in the street

believed that an alliance was already assured, that the long

period of isolation was now past, and that France could

L'Alliance Franco-Russe, p. 3. is Cf. Langer, pp. 14-17.
JOC/. the sarcastic comments of the Belgian minister in St. Peters-

burg, Schwertfegcr, V, 295-300.

i"Les Origincs de la Guerre, p. 55; cj. also Tardieu, France and the
Alliances, pp. 11-14.
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now dare to take a stiffer tone toward Germany. It created

a new Boulangism without Boulanger. But the French

ministry knew that the enthusiasm of the Parrs ~ Mn,dace

was premature. They knew that it takes two to make ati

alliance or even an entente, and that the ceremonial cour-

tesies of Kronstadt still fell far short of a signed and bind-

ing agreement. They therefore hastened to propose an alli-

ance: the two governments should agree to consult with

one another in case of any danger, and to mobilize simul-

taneously the moment any one of the Triple Powers should

mobilize ; the conditions of their simultaneous mobilization

could be worked out by an understanding to be reached by

the Russian and French General Staffs. 18

But Giers, fearful that the French might have aggressive

designs for recovering Alsace-Lorraine, wished to make the

agreement vague and to extend its application beyond

Europe to such places as Africa and China where peace

might be threatened. It was only after several weeks that

the French were able to secure a written accord in the fol-

lowing form:

"1. In order to define and consecrate the cordial under-

standing [Entente Cordiale] which unites them, and in their

desire to contribute with one accord to the maintenance of

peace, which is the object of their sincerest wishes, the two

Governments declare that they will confer on every question

of a nature to threaten the general peace.

"2. In case this peace should actually be in danger, and

especially in case one of the two parties should be threatened

by aggression, the two parties agree to come to an under-

standing on the measures which the realization of that

eventuality would make it necessary for both Governments

to adopt immediately and simultaneously." 19

The rather vague and very limited character of this

18 Ribot to Laboulaye, July 24, 1891 ; L'Alliance Franco-Russe, p. 4.

19 Russian formula, confirmed by Ribot, Aug. 27, 1891; L'Alliance

Franco-Russe, p. 16.
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agreement merely obligating the two Governments to take

counsel with one another in case of danger, betrayed the

diverw^o of views which still separated Paris and St.

Petersburg. France, in constant dread of an attack from

across the Rhine and with the secret hope of some day

recovering the lost provinces, thought mainly of war with

Germany. She did not at this time greatly desire Russian

support in North Africa or China, because, as later events

showed, she could always come to a compromise agreement

with Italy and England in these regions. Nor did the

French wish the Russians to open the Dardanelles and

control Constantinople. Giers, on the other hand, felt no

great hostility to Germany. He and Alexander III were

still anxious to maintain the traditional friendship between

the two countries. They did not want an alliance directed

primarily against the Ilohenzollerns and dreaded being

drawn into a war against Germany in support of French

revanche. For Russia the main enemy was England, who
blocked the Russian colossus both at the Straits and in the

Middle East. But France naturally had no desire to pull

these distant chestnuts out of the fire to please her new
Russian friends.

Owing to this divergence of interests, as well as to the

sickness of Giers and the Tsar's persistent distrust of the

French, it was many months before the French were able to

give the Entente a more binding and practical form. Upon
Giers' visit to Paris in November, 1891, Ribot pointed out

to him the danger that Germany might make a sudden sur-

prise attack, which would find Russia and France unpre-

pared. They would not have time to take adequate

measures of defense before an irrevocable disaster might

overwhelm them, so long as they merely "agreed to come

to an understanding." It would be far more valuable and

practical to come to an understanding beforehand, in time

of peace, as to all the military arrangements which should
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come into force instantly in case of sudden war. The En-

tente ought to be supplemented by a Military Convention

providing that, in case of a sudden German aggression,

Russia and France would instantly mobilize their whole

forces and use them to secure the maximum mutual advan-

tage in accordance with plans which would have been

already agreed upon. Giers not enthusiastic, consented

to lay the idea before the Tsar.20 Accordingly General

Miribel worked out the basis for such a Military Conven-

tion. He estimated in detail the total Triple Alliance

forces (even including the Rumanian) at only 2,810,000

men as against 3,150,000 for the Franco-Russian coalition.

France would throw five-sixths of her forces against Ger-

many. Russia was likewise urged to concentrate her attack

upon Germany rather than upon Austria :

"The essential thing is to aim at the destruction of the

principal enemy. The defeat of the others will follow in-

evitably. In a word, once Germany is vanquished, the

Franco-Russian armies will impose their wills on Italy and

Austria." 21

General Miribel's draft project, after some modifications

to meet the Russian desires, and after long delays caused by

the sickness of Giers and the journeys of the Tsar, finally

took form as the "Draft of a Military Convention." It was

signed by the French and Russian Chiefs of Staff, Boisdeffre

and Obruchev, and approved in principle by the Tsar on

August 17, 1892. But it was not signed by the Ambassador

or Foreign Minister of either country, and therefore could

not yet be regarded as having binding force. There were

two serious political difficulties in the way. The Tsar was

very anxious that absolute secrecy should be preserved, and

that the document should be known only to the President

and Prime Minister of France. "I fear," he said, "that if

they discuss it in the Cabinet, it will have the fatal result

2i L'Alliance Franco-Russe, p. 39. 21 Ibid., p. 39.
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of becoming public, and then, as far as I am concerned, the

treaty is nullified." 22 Another difficulty was the fact that

the French Constitution did not permit the President of the

Republic to make secret treaties. There was recognized at

the very beginning of the negotiations, the "defect of our

[French] constitution, which, through fear lest the Execu-

tive shall be too strong, has deprived the Head of the State

of the essential prerogative of concluding treaties, and con-

sequently deprived our foreign policy of the advantages of

secrecy." 23 These two difficulties, as well as the essential

divergence of interests noted above, caused a further delay

of a year and a half.

Meanwhile, certain events took place which tended to

lessen the Tsar's scruples and his distrust of France, and

to increase his readiness to accept at last a binding agree-

ment. A new German Army Law of 1S92 increased the

German forces by 60,000 men but reduced the term of

service in the infantry from three to two years. No settle-

ment had been reached in regard to a Russo-German com-

mercial treaty and a tariff war was being waged between the

two countries. 21 The Siam crisis of July, 1S93, which

brought France and England closer to war than was real-

ized at the time, showed that the French were ready to take

a stiff tone toward England, even in Asia, in a way which

Russia liked to see, especially as England seemed to be

drawing closer to the Triple Alliance. As a result, Alex-

ander III consented to return the Kronstadt compliments

by having the Russian Navy visit Toulon in October, 1893.

The Russian officers and men were feted with extraordinary

enthusiasm by the French both at Toulon and Paris. But
the Paris Press, at a wise hint from the French Govern-

ment, refrained from chauvinistic editorials and implica-

22 L'Alliance Franco-Iiitssc, p. 94 ; cf. also pp. 66, 72. 87, 91 ff., 103 ff.

112 ff.

23 UAlliance Frnnco-Riuise, p. 2; cf. also pp. 50, 54, 69, 90 ff., 99 ff., 114.

2-» G.P., VII, 3S9-45S.
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tions that a Russian alliance would aid in regaining Alsace-

Lorraine. The Tsar was favorably impressed with the

moderation and strength of the French Government. He
accordingly gave his approval to an exchange of official dip-

lomatic notes which was completed on January 4, 1894,

and gave binding effect to the Military Convention of

August 17, 1892.25

As neither the exchange of notes nor the Military Con-

vention signed only by military officers was a formal treaty,

neither had to be submitted to the French Parliament for

ratification. The terms of the Military Convention, known
only to the supreme military officials, did not even have to

be divulged to Cabinets which rose and fell so rapidly in

France. The text of the Military Convention was kept in

an envelope bearing an annotation in President Faure's

hand : "The Military Convention is accepted by the letter of

M. de Giers giving to the Convention the force of a treaty."

M. Viviani carried it under his arm to the Chamber of

Deputies when he mounted the tribune to ask for war

credits on August 4, 1914. He was prepared to read it if it

should be asked for. But as no one demanded it, he pru-

dently kept it in his portfolio. 26 It was never made public

until published in a French Yellow Book in 1918. Thus the

two difficulties in regard to secrecy and French constitu-

tional requirements were effectively met.

The Military Convention which was given the force of

a treaty on January 4, 1894, and thus became the basis of

25Montebello to Giers, Dec. 23, 1893; Jan. 4, 1894; ibid., p. 128. "I

have received your letter ... in which you advise me that . . . the draft

of the Military Convention . . . may be considered henceforth definitely

adopted. . . . The French Government likewise considers the aforesaid

Military Convention, the text of which has been approved by both pai'ties,

as executory henceforth. In consequence of this agreement, the two
Staffs shall have power immediately to deliberate at any time and to

communicate to each other all the information which may be useful to

them."
26 Poincare, Les Origines de la Guerre, p. 60.



118 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

the very secret Franco-Russian Alliance is so short, simple,
and clear that it may be quoted in full:

"France and Russia, animated by a common desire to

preserve the peace, and having no other aim than to prepare
for the necessities of a defensive war, provoked against
either of them by an attack by the forces of the Triple Al-
liance, have agreed upon the following provisions:

"1. If Franee is attacked by Germany, or by Italy sup-
ported by Germany, Russia shall employ all her available
forces to fight Germany.

"If Russia is attacked by Germany, or by Austria sup-
ported by Germany, France shall employ all her available
forces to fight Germany.

"2. In case the forces of the Triple Alliance or of one of

the Powers which compose it should be mobilized, France
and Russia, at the first indication of the event, and with-
out a previous agreement being necessary, shall mobi-
lize all (heir forces immediately and simultaneously,
and shall transport them as near to the frontiers as
possible.

"3. The forces available which must be employed against
Germany shall be for France, 1,300,000 men; for Russia,
from 700,000 to 800,000 nu n. These forces shall begin com-
plete action with all speed, so that Germany will have to
fight at the same time in the east and in the west.

"4. The Staffs of the armies of the two countries shall
constantly plan in concert in order to prepare for and facili-

tate the execution of the above measures. They shall com-
municate to each other in time of peace all the information
regarding the armies of the Triple Alliance which is in or
shall come into their possession. The ways and means of
corresponding in time of war shall be studied and arranged
in advance.

"5. France and Russia shall not conclude peace sepa-
rately.

"6. The present Convention shall have the same dura-
tion as the Triple Alliance.
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"7. All the clauses enumerated above shall be kept abso-

lutely secret." 27

The Franco-Russian Alliance of 1894, like the Austro-

German Alliance of 1879 and the Triple Alliance of 1882,

was in its origin essentially defensive in purpose. This is

clear from the preamble to the Treaty itself and from the

full account which we now have of the negotiations by

which it was concluded.28 There was originally no intention

among responsible authorities of either party that the Alli-

ance should be used for an aggression against Germany or

any other Power, or that it should be employed to support

dangerous and ambitious policies which might involve a

conflict with any of the Triple Alliance Powers or with

England. Whatever may have been the hopes inspired by

the" Alliance in the hearts of Pan-Slavs for realizing Rus-

sia's "historic mission" in the Balkans and the Far East,

or in French chauvinists for the recovery of Alsace-Lor-

raine and the extension of French colonial power, the re-

sponsible Russian and French Ministers knew better. The

French Cabinet did not count upon Russian armed support

at Fashoda or in Morocco, nor the Russians upon that of

France in the Far East or the Balkans. It was not

until much later, in the days of Delcasse, Izvolski, and

Poincare, that the Franco-Russian Alliance was essentially

changed in spirit from a defensive to a potentially offensive

combination.

To be sure, the Alliance embodied from the outset the

militarist doctrine, prevalent since the Napoleonic Wars,

that the best military defensive is to wage offensive war.

Mobilization by Germany was to be followed by the instant

27 L'Alliance Franco-Russe, p. 92. ... ,. ,

28 L'Alliance Franco-Russe, passim. At one pomt in the negotiations

Alexander III wished to insert a clause that the treaty would be nullified

if France provoked a war; but he renounced the idea when General Bois-

deffre pointed out that "it was concluded for a defensive war ;
ibid., p. U1.
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mobilization of the French and Russian armies. Mobiliza-
tion was expressly understood as being equivalent to war-
to the actual opening of hostilities. In the negotiations for
the Military Convention in July, 1S92,

"General Obruchev emphasized finally the necessity of
the immediate and simultaneous mobilization of the Rus-
sian and French armies at the first news received by either
of the two countries of a mobilization of the forces of the
Triple Alliance. He understands further that this mobiliza-
tion of France and Russia would be followed immediately
by positive results, by acts of war, in a word would be in-
separable from an 'aggression.' " 29

Similarly, General Boisdeffre, in talking with the Tsar
the day after the Military Convention had been approved
remarked:

"The mobilization is the declaration of war. To mobilize
is to oblige one's neighbor to do the same. Mobilization in-
volves the carrying out of strategic transportation and con-
centration. Otherwise, to leave a million men on one's
frontier, without doing the same simultaneously, is to de-
prive oneself of all possibility of moving later; it is placing
oneself in the situation of an individual who, with a pistol in
his pocket, should let his neighbor put a weapon to his fore-
head without drawing his own." [To which Alexander III
replied], "That is exactly the way I understand it." ™

This "offensive-defensive" character of the Alliance is
further seen in the technical arrangements which were
worked out annually later in great detail by the French and
Russian General Staffs.31 On the generally accepted prin-
ciple that the best form of defensive warfare is to take the

2» ^Alliance Franco-Russe p. 56. 30 L'Alliance Franco-Russe, p. 95 f.
31 For some of he Franco-Russian military conversations and protocols

v ,ntWC
rS T 1

^', fe A
r

Zaiontchl«-ski, "Relat.ons Franco-Russesavant la Guerre dc 1914," ,n Lcs Allies conlre la Russk, Paris, 1926, pp.8-43; for the years 1911-1913, M.F.R., 697-71S; and L.N., II 419-437
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offensive against the main enemy force, the French and

Russian Staffs were "perfectly in accord on the point that

the defeat of the German armies continues to be, what-

ever the circumstances, the first and principal objective

of the aUied armies. This is all the more so now [1913]

than formerly, in view of the considerable increase of

the relative military strength of Germany in the Triple

Alliance."
32

Though the Franco-Russian Alliance aimed primarily

at crushing Germany in case the latter should attempt an

aggression, it did not at first arouse serious suspicions or

antagonism beyond the Rhine. This was partly because its

existence was kept so secret that for months after its estab-

lishment the German Ambassador in Paris optimistically

refused to believe in its existence.33 Even after the open

references to the "Alliance," in speeches in the French

chamber in 1895, or during the visits of Nicholas II to Paris

in 1896 and of President Faure to Russia in 1897, Germany

was not alarmed, because she felt that the Triple Alliance

was still equal in strength to the new combination. She

also believed that England, holding the Balance of Power,

would never join with such long-standing opponents as

France or Russia. The existence of the Franco-Russian

Alliance inspired, however, a new respect in Germany for

her two neighbors, and made her more ready to seek to co-

operate with them on innumerable international questions.

In this sense the Franco-Russian Alliance at first tended to

32 Art I of the ninth annual conference of French and Russian Staff

officers, Aug., 1913; M.F.R., p. 712; L.N., II, 432.
.

33 Cj. G.P., VII, 261-343; IX, 335-425; even as late as December, 1895,

Count Minister was still convinced that "Russia's love [for France] is only

Platonic. Platonic love usually ends in hate"; G.P., IX, 423. Even as

late as December, 1898, after the Fashoda Affair, Count Eulenburg, the

German Ambassador at Vienna and an intimate friend of the Kaiser's,

"felt sure there was no formal alliance", and was convinced that France

could not count on Russia in any Egyptian or other African quarrel;

Rumbold to Salisbury, Dec. 5, 1898; British Documents on the Origins of

the War, 19U-1918, I, p. 102.
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secure the peace of Europe; also in the sense of the proverb

that "one sword holds another in its sheath."

The new Alliance served well its purpose of relieving

France and Russia from their isolation. It enabled France

to take a stiffer tone toward England, but it did not yet

constitute a combination which was strong enough, or which
desired, to measure arms with the Triple Alliance. This

situation continued for some ten years. Between the put-

ting into force of the Alliance in 1S94 and the establishment

of the Anglo-French Entente in 1904, the equilibrium be-

tween the Triple Alliance and Franco-Russian Alliance was
sufficiently well balanced so that neither combination could

dare to risk disturbing it by force.

This situation of more or less equilibrium on the Conti-

nent even led to a series of temporary diplomatic combina-
tions in which Germany cooperated with Russia and France.

In 1S94, Germany and France joined hands in preventing

England from acquiring a strip of Congo territory for the
Cape-to-Cairo Railway.31 In 1S95, Germany cooperated
with France and Russia to compel Japan to restore part of

the conquests taken from China. 35 In 1900, Russia pro-

posed that the same three Powers should try to mediate be-

tween England and the Boers. Germany did not wish to

antagonize England by such a step, but consented to dis-

cuss it. Quite possibly the three Powers might have at-

tempted it, had not France been unwilling to enter into an
arrangement with Germany which would have involved a
mutual guarantee of territories, and consequently a second
renunciation of Alsace-Lorraine. 30 In this same year also

3-1 See below at note 40.

35 Bourgeois ct Pages, pp. 24S-253; G.P., IX. 211-333
3CG.P, XV, 406 note, 499-550; XVII, 105, 222f.; XXIV, 173; Bour-

geois ct Pages, pp. 286-289; Sidney Leo, King Eclmtrd VII, I, 761-773.
According to the current Anglo-French version, the Kaiser instigated the
mediation proposal, and then sought to lay the odium of it on France and
Russia; according to the documents in G.P., the reverse is the fact-
Russia originated it, and the French and the Russians Uien sought to put
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German, French, Russian and English troops marched side

by side to suppress the Boxer revolt. When the Tsar's pro-

posal for the First Hague Conference—well meant but naive

for those times—took Europe by surprise, Germany and

France, and even many of Russia's own officials, joined

efforts to restrict the scope of the Conference as much as

possible without incurring the odium of seeming to sabotage

the Tsar's proposals. Nothing sums up dozens of despatches

on this topic better than the confidence which Delcasse is

reported to have made to the German Ambassador in Paris:

"Our [French] interests in regard to the Conference are

exactly the same as yours. You do not want to limit your

power of defense at this moment nor enter upon disarma-

ment proposals; we are in exactly the same position. We

both want to spare the Tsar and find a formula for side-

stepping this question, but not let ourselves in for anything

which would weaken our respective powers of defense. To

prevent a complete fiasco, we might possibly make some

concessions in regard to arbitration, but these must in no

way limit the complete independence of the Great Powers.

Besides the Tsar, we must also spare the public opinion of

Europe, since this has been aroused by the senseless step

of the Russians." 37

the odium of the proposal on Germany. Certainly the formal proposals

were first made to Germany by Russia. Whether Muraviev or the Kaiser

was the original Machiavellian instigator of this business can hardly be

determined with certainty until the Russian despatches referred to by

Lee are published in more complete form and subjected to comparison with

those in Die Grosse Politik. The recent British Documents (I, 235 ff.,

247 f.) seem to confirm the German contention that Muravie^ first initiated

the mediation proposal.

37 G.P., XV, 186. On this whole conference, where Germany s blunt-

ness caused her to be somewhat unduly blamed for the thwarting of

the Tsar's suggestions for the limitations of armaments, see ibid., XV, 141-

364; Andrew D. White, Autobiography, II, chs. 45-49; F. W. Holls, The

Peace Conference at the Hague, N. Y., 1900; W. J. Hull, The Two Hague

Conferences, Boston, 1908; P. Zorn, Die beiden Haager Fnedenskonfer-

enzen, Stuttgart, 1915; Ch. Meurer, Die Haager Friedenskonferenz, 2 vols.,

Munchen, 1905-07 ; J. B. Scott, The Hague Peace Conferences, 2 vols. Bal-

timore, 1909; E. J. Dillon, The Eclipse of Russia, ch. 14.
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Finally, as noted below, the Kaiser frequently mooted

a proposal to merge the Triple Alliance and the Franco-

Russian Alliance into a grand "Continental League." Such

a combination of all five Great Powers, he thought, would

not only assure the peace of Europe, but could put a check

on England's overweening domination in all colonial

matters.

Thus the first years of the Franco-Russian Alliance

tended to strengthen rather than endanger the peace of

Europe. It established a healthy counter-poise to the

Triple Alliance. Neither group was so greatly superior as

to be able safely to attack the other, or even to seek to domi-

nate it by threats of force. But during the decade 1894 to

1904, two changes occurred which tended ultimately to de-

stroy this equilibrium. They are of the greatest importance

in the development of the system of secret alliances

—

England's exchange of splendid isolation for an Entente

Cordiale with France, and Italy's dubious loyalty toward

her Allies.

ENGLAND AT THE PARTING OF THE WAYS, 1S90-1S98

England's traditional policy, generally speaking, had for

centuries been one of "splendid isolation." By keeping her

"hands free," she could enjoy the Balance of Power in

Europe between the Continental groups and make English

influence in either scale decisive. It was only at times when
some one Power sought to become overwhelmingly strong,

or threatened to endanger British control of the Channel

and her maritime supremacy, that England intervened ac-

tively and decisively in European politics. In the years

following the Franco-Prussian War, England still adhered

to her traditional policy. Three times Bismarck sounded

her as to an alliance with Germany—in September, 1S79,

in November, 1887, and in January, 1889,—but in all cases

Bismarck's "feelers" came to nothing, partly because Lord
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Salisbury feared that he could not get Parliamentary ap-

proval for such a policy. 38 England would depart no fur-

ther from her no-alliance policy than merely to make an

entente with Italy and Austria in 1887, in which the three

countries expressed their common desire to maintain the

peace and status quo in the Eastern Mediterranean and

Turkey.39 This agreement did not bind England to any

military obligations, but it did confirm her friendly rela-

tions with the Triple Alliance. After Bismarck's fall this

friendship continued and seemed at first to be strengthened

by the Heligoland-Zanzibar Treaty and by the young

Kaiser's personal ties and visits to England.

But at about the time of the formation of the Franco-

Russian Alliance England appeared to have come to the

parting of the ways. Isolation, though splendid, was not

always safe or comfortable. Though a match upon the seas

for either of the allied groups on the Continent, England

was in danger of meeting unpleasant diplomatic defeats, if

Germany and France, or Germany and Russia, coalesced

against her. Lord Rosebery, in his careless energetic

policy, had already had several disagreeable experiences

which' left a bad taste in the mouth. Without consulting

the signatories of the Treaty of 1884, fixing the boundaries

of the Congo State, he had signed a treaty giving up to the

Congo State territory in the Upper Nile basin in exchange

for a strip of Congo territory in the Tanganyika region,

across which it was planned to run the British Cape-to-Cairo

Railway. France and Germany protested, the latter on

the ground that it tended to encircle German East Africa

and was contrary to a previous treaty. Rosebery had to

38 GP rV, 1-14, 376-419; Lady Cecil, Life of Robert, Marquis of

Salisbury U 364-369; c/. also M. Ritter, Bismarcks Verhaltnis zu Eng-

land und die Politik des Neuen Kurses, Berlin, 1924; H. Rothfels Bis-

marcks Englische Bundnispolitik, Berlin, 1924; F. Frahm "England und

Russland in Bismarcks Bundnispolitik," in Archiv f. Pol. u. Gesch., V,

Heft 4, 365-431 (1927). ™ GP., IV, 261-376; Pribram, pp. 36-42.
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withdraw the arrangement, explaining apologetically that

he was acting on memoranda left by Lord Salisbury and

was unaware of the difficulties.40 Similarly, in the misun-

derstandings which arose over the Siamese troubles in

1893, Rosebery found the French assuming a stiff attitude.

He bristled up himself, and, on a Sunday, without consult-

ing the Cabinet, sent off a telegram to the English com-

mander at Bangkok which gave Queen Victoria a bad fright.

He himself admitted it might have resulted in England's

waking up on Monday morning to find herself at war with

France. 41

By her dangerously weak position in Egypt, England

was continually exposed to the more or less united opposi-

tion of all the Continental Powers. Egypt was like a noose

around the British neck, which any Great Power could

tighten when it wanted to squeeze a diplomatic concession

from the Mistress of the Seas—as France threatened to do

in connection with the Siam controversy, and as Germany
was felt to have done in connection with railway conces-

sions in Turkey.42 Such incidents exposed the hollowness

of the phrase "splendid isolation." As Lord Grey truly

says, speaking of his first Foreign Office experiences in

1892-1895, there was "the constant friction, rising on the

slightest provocation to quarrel and hostility, between

Great Britain and France or Russia. The ground swell of

ill-will never ceased. British interests touched those of

France and Russia in many parts of the world ; and where
interests touch, an atmosphere of ill-will is always danger-

ous. The blackest suspicion thrives in it, like noxious

growth under dark skies in murky air." 43

40 G.P., VIII, 428-475; for a somewhat different version, see Vis-

count Grey, Twcniy-fivc Years, 1892-1916, I, 21 f.

4iG.P., VIII, 103-112; Grev, I, 12-15.

"Grey, I, 9-11; G.P., VIII, 143-235, especially 185 ff; and XIV, 451-

464; E. M. Earle, Turkey, the Great Powers, and the Bagdad Railway
(N. Y., 1923), ch. iii. '3 Grey, II, 11.
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Some such considerations as these gradually led English

statesmen to the decision that "splendid isolation" was no

longer possible. In 1895, Lord Salisbury indicated the

changed British attitude by hinting to Germany that the

time had come to partition Turkey. Though England had

formerly pursued the policy of bolstering up a decrepit

Turkish Empire, Salisbury had now at last come to the

conclusion that this was a hopeless task. He had been bet-

ting on the wrong horse. Turkey might as well be carved

up, or at least the slices had better be provisionally assigned

in case the Ottoman Empire should finally go to pieces.

The Sultan's misgovernment had steadily weakened Tur-

key; the Christian populations under Turkish oppression

were becoming more and more restless; and the frightful

massacres of Armenians, with the more or less tacit approval

and connivance of Abdul Hamid, had shocked and roused

Europe. Lord Salisbury's proposal was to the effect that

in partitioning Turkey, Egypt should go to England,

Tripoli to Italy, Salonica to Austria, and Constantinople or

the control of the Straits to Russia. Such a partition, based

on friendly agreement beforehand and securing a fair share

to each of the three Great Powers, might conceivably have

gone a long way toward solving the Near Eastern Question,

if the great difficulties connected with it could have been

overcome.

Unfortunately, Berlin failed to take up Salisbury's sug-

gestion. Marschall and Holstein, who at this time largely

determined German policy, were excessively suspicious.

They foresaw that France and Italy would be difficult to

satisfy. Moreover, what should Germany receive? They

feared that an attempt to partition Turkey would give rise

to more problems than it settled, and might even involve

the Powers in war. They suspected that Salisbury's pro-

posal was intended to sow discord between Russia and the

Triple Alliance, so that England would have an opportunity
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to fish in troubled waters. Accordingly, when Salisbury

renewed his suggestion directly to the Kaiser a month later

at Cowes, where William was attending the English yacht-

ing races, the Kaiser gave a cool reply ; he said he believed

it was best to attempt to sustain Turkey, and to force proper

reforms for the protection of the Sultan's Christian sub-

jects. Thereupon Lord Salisbury let the matter drop. 44

By 1898 the political situation made still more evident

to the British Cabinet the advisability of abandoning the

isolation policy. In Central Africa friction with France

over the Niger boundary was acute; France also was ex-

tending her power eastward toward the Upper Nile; and
Major Marchand, leading an exploring expedition toward

the Sudan, had not yet been checked by Kitchener at

Fashoda. In South Africa English friction with the Boers

had been steadily increasing, and was to break out some
months later in the most humiliating and costly war which
England had ever fought. The Kruger Telegram had
shown the lively interest which the Kaiser and his subjects

took in the Boers, and the desirability therefore of putting

an end to any possible support, either secret or open, which

Germany might be inclined to give to the South African

Republics. Finally, in the Far East, Germany had just

secured the lease of a naval base at Kiauchau; Russia was
getting an economic grasp on Manchuria through the ex-

tension of the Trans-Siberian Railway; and by the lease of

Port Arthur she would have a foothold which would menace

4tG.P., X, 1-41, 7Gf., 111-114. The German documents indicate the
incorrectness of Sir Valentine Chirol's contention (London Times, Sept.

11, 13, 1920) that the partition proposal came first from the German and
not from the English side; they also correct many of Eckardstein's legen-
dary assertions in his Erinncrungcn (I, 207 IT.; II, 284; III, 12 ff.) con-
cerning the Cowes conversations of 1895. Cf. also R. J. Sontag, "The
Cowes Interview and the Kruger Telegram", in Political Science Quar-
terly, XL, 217 ff. (June, 1925); and E. N. Johnson and J. D. Bickford,
"The Contemplated Anglo-German Alliance, 1890-1901," in Political

Science Quarterly, XLII, 10 ff. (March, 1927).
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Peking and seriously jeopardize Britain's naval and com-

mercial predominance in the Far East. The English Press

was clamoring to know how the Cabinet would stop

Russia.

MR. CHAMBERLAIN'S ALLIANCE PROPOSALS TO GERMANY,
1898-1901

Under these circumstances the British first turned to

Russia. On January 19, 1898, they proposed to the Tsar an

entente which should put an end to all the long-standing

sources of friction between the Bear and the Lion. The

idea was to harmonize British and Russian policy in the two

decaying empires of China and Turkey, instead of being

constantly opposed. What Lord Salisbury secretly sug-

gested to Russia in regard to China and Turkey was "no

partition of territory, but only a partition of preponderance"

of political influence. 44a But the Tsar and his shifty am-

bitious Ministers did not receive the proposal in a way to

inspire confidence or to encourage the British to proceed

with it. Instead, Russia secured the lease of Port Arthur,

and the British made a counter-move by doing likewise in

regard to Wei-hai-Wei. Thereupon Mr. Joseph Chamber-

lain, the British Colonial Secretary, was allowed to try his

hand at making an alliance with Germany.

On March 29, 1898, while Lord Salisbury was absent in

France for his health, Count Hatzfeldt, the German Am-
bassador in London, was asked to dinner with Mr. Cham-
berlain at Alfred Rothschild's house. Chamberlain there

declared quite frankly that England had decided to abandon
her isolation policy. England and Germany, he admitted,

had many petty points of friction in colonial matters, but

no great fundamentally opposing interests. He therefore

44» Salisbury to O'Conor, Jan. 25, 1898; British Documents on the

Origins of the War, 1914-1918 (London, 1927), I, p. 8. The story of this

British offer to Russia was first revealed in detail, ibid., pp. 5-41, though
the Kaiser got an inkling of it from the Tsar (see below, at note 50).
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suggested an Anglo-German defensive alliance.45 To satisfy

Germany's fears that later British Cabinets might not keep

the agreement, he was ready to get the treaty publicly ap-

proved by Parliament; this, however, "would not prevent

the inclusion in the treaty of one or more secret articles,"

as he remarked confidentially three days later.
10 Finally he

hinted that if England did not succeed in making an alli-

ance with Germany, which was the more natural for her,

she might turn toward France and Russia. This was said

as a hint but not as a threat.

There was no reason to doubt that Chamberlain was

sincerely seeking to open negotiations which should lead to

an alliance. To have succeeded would have been a great

feather in his cap. But other members of the Cabinet,

like Lord Salisbury and Balfour, not to mention the Prince

of Wales, who were all more Francophil, were less enthu-

siastic. They were not unwilling to see his efforts fail.

Chamberlain's offer was received in Berlin with the same
suspiciousness as the proposed partition of Turkey three

years earlier. Count Billow, who had replaced Marschall

as Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, feared that a pub-

licly announced alliance with England might involve Ger-

many in the risk of being attacked on two fronts—the Rus-

sian and the French—w here the British navy would be of
«G.P., XIV, 193-100, 212-216; Eekardstein, I, 202 IT. At a shooting

party in January, 1898, the Kaiser had already suggested to the British

Military Attache the desirability of such an alliance, which he said he

had been striving after for eight years but had met with no response.

At a luncheon at Friedrichshof in August he repeated the suggestion to

the British Ambassador. But at a dinner in December he concurred
with the Ambassador that "there was certainly no necessity for a formal
alliance", because if it became advisable for them to act in common the

arrangements could be made in twenty-four hours; British Documents,
I, pp. 60, 100-105. The editors of the British Documents state (p. 101)

that these are the only references to the proposals of 1898 for an Anglo-
German alliance which they have been able to find in the Foreign Office

Archives. This extraordinary fact that the British archives contain no
mention of the Chamberlain proposal suggests that this was his own
personal venture rather than any official move on the part of tJie British

Cabinet. 46 G.P., XIV, 202.
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little assistance to Germany. Moreover, he doubted whether

the English Parliament, in view of the bitter public feeling

in England since the Kruger Telegram, would ever ratify

an Anglo-German alliance. German public opinion would

also be against it. He therefore directed Hatzfeldt neither

to accept nor reject Chamberlain's offer, but to deal with it

in a dilatory fashion. By this means he believed that Ger-

many and England might come to an agreement on some of

their outstanding colonial problems, without going so far

as to risk a definite alliance.47

In this connection the Kaiser took a step which reveals

the lack of honesty which he sometimes displayed in his

attempts to manage German foreign policy. Without con-

sulting his Ministers, and in spite of the fact that the

Chamberlain proposals had been strictly confidential, he

wrote to the Tsar on May 30, 1898, saying that England

had thrice within the last few weeks asked for an alliance,

making enormous offers which opened a brilliant future for

Germany, and begging for a quick reply. Before answering

the British, the Kaiser added, he wanted to tell "Nicky" of

this, since it was a life and death matter. Such an alliance

would evidently be directed against Russia. "Now I ask

you, as my old and trusted friend, to tell me what you can

offer me, and what you will do for me if I refuse the British

offers." 48

This letter was a gross exaggeration, because no "enor-

mous offers" had been made by England. The Kaiser was

deliberately attempting by his exaggeration to bid Russia

and England up against one another, and to use Chamber-

lain's offer to sow discord between Russia and England.

What he wanted to secure from Nicky was Russian co-

operation for bringing France into a Continental League,
47 G.P., XIV, 199-249; see also pp. 337-344.

48 M. Semenoff, Correspondance entre Guillaume II et Nicolas II, 1894-

1914 (Paris, 1924), pp. 38-42; Briefe Wilhelm II an den Zaren 1894-

1914 (ed. W. Goetz), Berlin, 1920, p. 309 ff.
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which should draw together the Triple and Dual Alliance,

and thus make a strong group of the five great European

Powers. This idea of a Continental League continually

hovered before his imagination for years. By it he hoped to

secure the peace of Europe. If Russia could bring tiie

French into such a combination, France would be expected

to give up the thought of revenge and the hope of recover-

ing Alsace-Lorraine. This would remove one of the funda-

mental sources of danger to the peace of Europe. Further-

more, such a Contniental League could be effectively used

to check England's excessive colonial pretensions in Africa

and Asia, and eventually, perhaps, after the growth of the

German navy, to place a check on England's supremacy on

the seas."

The Tsar, however, did not allow himself to be fooled

by the Kaiser into making any commitments. But he re-

plied at once on June 3, 1S9S:

Dcare.-t Willy,

. . . Three months ago, in the midst of our negotiations

with China, England handed us over a memorandum contain-

ing many tempting proposals trying to induce us to come to

a full agreement upon all the points in which our interests

collided with her's. These proposals were of such a new

character, that I must say, we were quite amazed and yet

—

their very nature seemed suspicious to us; never before had

England made such offers to Russia. That showed us clearly

that England needed our friendship at that time, to be able

to check our development, in a masked way, in the Far East.

Without thinking twice over it, their proposals were

refused. . . .

It is very difficult for me, if not quite impossible, to an-

swer your question whether it is useful or not for Germany

to accept these often repeated English proposals, as I have

not got the slightest knowledge of their value.

in G.P., XI. 67-92, XIII, 63, 89; XIV, XIX-XXI, passim; and Willy-

Nicky Correspondence, passim.
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You must of course decide what is best and most neces-

sary for your country.

Germany and Russia have lived in peace since old times,

as good neighbours, and God grant! that they may continue

so, in close and loyal friendship. . . .

I thank you once more for writing to me at such a grave

moment for you!

God bless you my dearest Willy.

Believe me ever your loving cousin and trusting friend,

Nicky.50

This news of "amazing" British offers to Russia, made

just before Chamberlain's proposals, made the Kaiser natu-

rally suspect that "perfidious Albion" was trying to play

Germany and Russia off against one another, and sow dis-

cord between them. It confirmed him in his temperamen-

tal suspiciousness of British good faith. So the Chamber-

lain proposal of March, 1898, was not grasped by Germany,

and came to nothing.

The utmost that could be secured was the Anglo-German

Convention of August 30, 1898, for the contingent partition

of the Portuguese colonies. As Portugal was supposed to

be in financial straits and likely to wish to borrow money,

Germany and England agreed to consult as to the terms

of any loans made, and to divide the Portuguese colonial

areas whose tolls were to be pledged as security for the

loans. In case Portugal should default on payment, Ger-

many and England would enter upon the administration of

the tolls in the areas pledged to each. They agreed jointly

to oppose any loans to Portugal by a third Power which

50G.P., XIV, 250 f.; Semenoff, p. 42, note, confirming the truth of

the Tsar's statement says a British note to Russia of Feb. 12, 1898, for-

mulated the conceptions of the British Cabinet concerning the delimitation

of Russian and English spheres of influence both in Turkey and China.

Russia was to enjoy freedom of action in Northern, and England in

Southern, China; for O'Conor's note of Feb. 12 to Muraviev, see British

Documents, I, p. 12.
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involved pledging the revenue of the Portuguese colonies.
'
1

This Convention is important because it aimed to re-

move one source of rivalry and friction between England
and Germany, and became the basis of later negotiations in

1912-1914 for a fair and reasonable agreement for a further

contingent rearrangement of colonial possessions. But it

also became a source of irritation and suspicion on Ger-

many's part. The Kaiser and Bulow overestimated Por-

tugal's financial embarrassment. They waited in vain for

the loan which would bring the expected results from the

treaty. Lord Salisbury refused to hinder Portugal from
making other loans which did not involve pledging the tolls

as agreed in the treaty. In this he was justified by the

wording of the treaty, but the Kaiser and his advisers

thought it contrary to its spirit. They had expected Eng-
land would use her influence to prevent Portugal finding

any other sources of credit, thus hastening the moment for

the contingent partition.

But, instead of this, the Germans soon observed closer

relations between Lisbon and London after the visit of

King Carlos to Windsor in the spring of 1S99. And in

fact, upon the outbreak of the Boer War, by the secret

Anglo-Portuguese Declaration of October 14, 1S99 (often

inaccurately called the "Windsor Treaty"), Lord Salisbury

renewed with Portugal the old treaty of 1GG1 by which
England promised to defend and protect all the Portuguese
colonies. In return, Portugal undertook not to permit the

transporting of munitions of war for the Boers into the

Transvaal, and not to issue any formal declaration of

neutrality, inasmuch as that would hinder the supplying
of coal to British warships at Delagoa Bay. Observing this

close Anglo-Portuguese friendship and the failure of the

Anglo-German treaty to produce the hoped-for results, the

•
r
>i G.P., XIV, 317-355; for the negotiations, see pp. 259-367; Eckard-

stein, II, 20511".; and British Documents, I, pp. 44-73.
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German Foreign Office naturally suspected the sincerity of

England's proffered friendship.52

Similarly unfortunate in its effects on the relations of

England and Germany was the Yang-tsze Convention of

October 16, 1900. It aimed to promote the common inter-

ests of the two countries in the Far East by preserving the

territorial integrity of China and by keeping her ports open

to trade for all countries without distinction; but a mis-

understanding as to whether it applied or not to Manchuria,

where Germany did not wish to antagonize Russia, ulti-

mately led to friction and distrust on both sides. 53 Disillu-

sionment and disappointment in regard to the Portuguese,

Yang-tsze, and Samoa arrangements, as well as the British

detention and search of a couple of German steamers bound

for South Africa and other sources of friction growing out

of the Boer War, were further motives for German coolness

toward suggestions for an alliance which Chamberlain con-

tinued to make.

Though the German rejection of the Chamberlain pro-

posals was one of the most momentous factors in shaping

the fatal course of events in the following years, only a word

can be said about them here.54

52 British Documents, I, pp. 74-99; G.P., XV, 429; XVII, 17 ff., 34 ff.,

85. Brandenburg, p. 133, is incorrect in stating that the so-called Windsor
Treaty was signed during the visit of King Carlos in the spring of 1899.

53 British Documents, II, pp. 1-31; G.P., XVI, 197-491; XVII, 85,

103; Eckardstein, II, 201-203, 210-223; O. Franke, Die Grossmachte in

Ostasien (Hamburg, 1923), pp. 149-177.

54 The details can easily be found in G.P., XV, 410-426; XVII, 1-118;

Eckardstein, Lebenserinnerungen, passim; Brandenburg, pp. 114-155; G. P.

Gooch, History of Modern Europe, 1808-1919, pp. 310-332; and E. Fischer,

Holsteins grosses Nein, Berlin, 1925. Fischer however fails to note ade-

quately Germany's reasons for distrusting England, and, wise by later

events, condemns unduly the German failure to come to an understanding

with England. The same criticism may also be made of E. N. Johnson
and J. D. Bickford, "The Contemplated Anglo-German Alliance: 1890-

1901", in Political Science Quarterly, XLII, 1-57 (Mar. 1927). The fact

that the new British Documents contain practically nothing on the Cham-
berlain proposals of 1899 indicates that again, as in 1898, he was making
a private venture and not representing the official policy of the Cabinet;
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In November, 1899, a few weeks after the outbreak of

the Boer War and the consequent anti-English outburst all

over the Continent, the Kaiser and Biilow visited England.

Chamberlain seized upon the occasion for long talks with

both. He suggested closer relations between England,

Germany, and the United States. The detailed notes which

Biilow made of the conversations 55 do not indicate that he

gave Chamberlain much encouragement to think that Ger-

many would abandon the relatively favorable position

which she then enjoyed in exchange for the risk of an alli-

ance with England. Nevertheless a few days later, in a

famous speech at Leicester, the English Colonial Secretary

spoke glowingly of the community of German and British

interests, and publicly proposed an alliance: "At bottom,

the character of the Teutonic race differs very slightly in-

deed from the character of the Anglo-Saxon race. If the

union between England and America is a powerful factor

in the cause of peace, a new Triple Alliance between the

Teutonic race and the two great branches of the Anglo-

Saxon race will be a still more potent influence in the future

of the world." 5G

But the poisonous effects of the Boer War were already

at work. German, as well as French and Russian, news-

papers were attacking England violently. Germans, as

Biilow himself noted, were more stirred up about the Boer

War than the English themselves; the anti-English feeling

in Germany was stronger than the anti-German feeling in

England. In view of this Anglophobia, Biilow did not have
the courage, speaking in the Reichstag on December 11 in

favor of the German Navy Law, to take up sympathetically

Chamberlain's Leicester proposal. On the contrary, he

this tends to justify the German scepticism as to the real possibility of
an Anplo-German Alliance. See also Friedrieh Meinecke, Gcschichte des
Dcutsch-Englischen Bundnixprobhms, 1S00-1O01, Berlin, 1927.

55 G.P., XV, 413-420.

56 Quoted by Gooch, p. 311.
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poured cold water on it, as being quite unnecessary for

Germany. It was a rude rebuff to England. Moreover, if

it be true, as Chamberlain told Eckardstein,57 that he had

made his Leicester speech at Billow's own suggestion, and

with the expectation that it would find a friendly echo

across the North Sea, Billow's Reichstag speech was a

treacherous act greatly resented by Chamberlain. At any

rate, the British Foreign Office became more suspicious of

the Wilhelmstrasse,—a suspicion which was now beginning

to be further fostered by Tirpitz's plans for building up the

German navy.

Nevertheless, in 1901, after the Kaiser's much appre-

ciated visit to Osborne at the news that Queen Victoria

was dying, Chamberlain again opened negotiations for a

defensive alliance between England and Germany, or even

between England, Germany and Japan. England still had

her hands tied in South Africa where the Boers were resist-

ing with dogged determination. In the Far East, following

the suppression of the Boxer Revolt, English friction with

Russia had reached an acute stage, because the Tsar's forces

would not evacuate Chinese territory. Under these circum-

stances, a German alliance would have afforded a valuable

support to Great Britain. But for this very reason Germany
was not at all anxious to commit herself. The negotiations,

which were taken over by Lord Lansdowne, dragged on

through the year. They were finally dropped in December,

1901, because the British Cabinet felt unable to meet Ger-

many's conditions that the treaty should include the Triple

Alliance and that it should be approved by the British

Parliament. Whether such approval could have been se-

cured was, in fact, very doubtful. A bitter antagonism had

been aroused in both countries by the Boer War and the

57 Lebenserinnerungen, II, 107, 111, 124. A current, but inaccurate and
misleading English version of this unfortunate Chamberlain-Bulow episode

is given by H. H. Asquith, The Genesis of the War (N.Y., 1923}
, pp. 43-49.
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Press attacks on both sides which accompanied it. More-

over, the British Cabinet was by no means solid in support

of the alliance with Germany. Lord Salisbury had always

been sceptical, and finally left on record a strong memoran-

dum against it. Lansdowne and Balfour were not enthusi-

astic. Chamberlain, except for support from the Duke of

Devonshire, had rather been compelled to play a lone hand;

and even he, after Billow's rebuff of his Leicester proposal,

did not want to burn his fingers again.58

Looking back at the whole series of negotiations, it is

possible that some kind of an Anglo-German defensive alli-

ance could have been arranged, if Germany had been more

receptive to Chamberlain's offers at the beginning. This

would have laid the basis for a better mutual understand-

ing and rendered less painful the popular antagonism

caused by the Boer War, in which the German Govern-

ment's attitude, as distinct from that of the German people

and the German Press, was tolerably correct.59 It would

have helped to prevent the mutual suspicions which were

nourished by the increase of naval armaments on both sides

of the North Sea. It would probably have averted the

German fright of 1904 that England was planning "to

Copenhagen" the German fleet,
00 as well as the English

58G.P., XVII, 16-19, 53. 67, 115, 221-224, 297, 316 f. Eckardstcin. II,

337 f., 397 ff. According to the Germans, the initiative in reopening these

negotiations in March, 1901, came from the British; according to the

British Documents, II, pp. 60-SS, it came from the Germans. For Lord
Salisbury's memorandum condemning the inclusion of England in the

Triple Alliance, ibid., II, 6Sf.
so The German Government realized from the outset that the cause of

the Boers was hopeless, and that Germany was impotent to help them
owing to the lack of any adequate German fleet. The German Govern-
ment had therefore tried to dissuade Kruger from defying England to

the point of war. Later, the Kaiser refused to receive Kruger on his

mission to Europe, and refused to join in Russian and French mediation
projects. (G.P., XV, 367-437, and note 35 above).

00 G.P., XIX, 353-380: "Das erste Deutsch-Englische 'War Scare',

Nov.-Dcc, 1904," with the quotation (p. 354) from Vanity Fair of Nov.
17, 1904 about "the precedent of Copenhagen in 1807." This was just after

Sir John Fisher had "purged the navy of obsolete vessels" and carried
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panic in 1908-09 at the specter of a German invasion of

England. 61 It might even have established a basis of mu-
tual goodwill which would have brought success to the

numerous efforts made later for some kind of an agreement

to limit the mad competition in Anglo-German naval arma-

ments. And it would have doubtless prevented the forma-

mation of the Triple Entente.

But Holstein, Biilow and the Kaiser miscalculated the

situation and let the golden opportunity slip by. They

were irritated at what seemed England's unwillingness to

afford Germany colonial acquisitions in Samoa and the

Portuguese colonies. They were unable, or unwilling, to

defy German public opinion by allying with a country which

was crushing the Boers. They doubted whether the British

Parliament would really sanction such an alliance. Their

fundamental miscalculation was their persistent conviction

that England would never draw close to her traditional

French enemy, and certainly not to her bitter Russian rival.

Anglo-Russian antagonism was so axiomatic in the Wil-

helmstrasse that Holstein and Biilow were convinced that,

even if England did establish a rapprochement with France,

this would not be dangerous to Germany, since it would

undoubtedly lead to the rupture of the Franco-Russian

Alliance ; an Anglo-Franco-Russian combination seemed im-

possible. As things stood during the Boer War and the Far

Eastern troubles, at the turn of the century, Germany,

dominating the Triple Alliance, seemed to stand with hands

free between England on one side and the Franco-Russian

out other revolutionary reforms to make the British navy more effective;

see his Memories and Records, II, 128-153; he himself admits (ibid., I,

22) that in 1908 he urged King Edward to "Copenhagen" the German
Navy, while England had seven dreadnoughts and Germany had none.

Cf. B. E. Schmitt, England and Gemiany, 1740-1914, pp. 178-182, 205-

207. For an excellent summary of the broad aspects of Anglo-German
relations during the decades after Bismarck, see Friedrich Meinecke,

Geschichte des Deutsch-Englischen Bundnisproblerns, 1890-1901, Berlin,

1927. 0! Cj. the play, "An Englishman's Home."
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Alliance on the other. Germany enjoyed, they believed, the

advantage of holding the Balance of Power between them.

It made her, as Biilow once proudly said, arbiter mundi.

He saw no reason to abandon lightly her advantage, and to

assume instead the risk of defending British possessions all

over the world. England needed Germany, he believed,

needed her badly, and would probably need her more, rather

than less, in the future; therefore Germany could afford to

defer assuming the risk of an Anglo-German alliance until

English Ministers showed more consideration to Germany's

wishes in colonial and other matters. 02 Why should Ger-

many pull the British chestnuts out of the fire? Why allow

herself to be shoved forward by the British against the

Russians? What could the British Navy do to protect the

East Prussian frontier from a Cossack attack? 63

These are the ideas which occur again and again in the

reasoning of Biilow and Holstein, and which were readily

accepted by the Kaiser. Though at times he seems to have

inclined sincerely to an alliance with England, he was

<52 Cf. Biilow to the Kaiser, who was visiting at Osborne, Jan. 21,

1901: "Your Majesty is quite right in feeling that the English must conic

to us. They have just lost a good deal of hair in Africa ; America is

uncertain; Japan is not to be depended upon; France is filled with hate;

Russia is perfidious; public opinion in all countries is hostile. ... At
present it is beginning gradually to dawn on the mind of the English

that they will not be able merely by their own power to hold their World
Empire against so many opponents.

"Now the important thing is neither to discourage the English, nor

yet allow ourselves to be bound by them prematurely. The English

difficulties will increase still further in the coming months, and with

them will increase the price which we can demand. We ought not to

show England too great eagerness, which would only increase the Eng-
lish demands and diminish our chances of gain; but at the same time

we ought to maintain the English in their conviction that we desire the

continuance of a powerful England; that we believe in the solidarity

of Anglo-German political, cultural, and also commercial, interests; and
therefore that we shall in time be ready for this or that agreement with
England if we receive proper treatment from the English side. . . . The
English threat, of an understanding with the Dual Alliance is a spectre

invented to frighten us, which the English have used for years"; GP.,
XVII, 20 f. C3 G.P., XVII, 1-129-. passim; XVIII, 510; XX, 15.
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nevertheless, to judge by his letters and marginal notes,

obsessed by a strong dislike of most British political leaders,

including "Uncle Bertie," which almost amounted to a kind

of Anglophobia. Psychoanalysts, perhaps, would say that

he suffered from an "anti-English complex" caused partly

by a reaction against early maternal influence, and partly

by an "inferiority complex"—by an acute realization of

Germany's inferiority in naval and colonial power. "Our

future upon the Seas," "the trident in our hands," the

building of the German navy, and the eager desire for

colonies may have been a form of "compensation for the

repressed envy with which he regarded England's proud

position in the world." 64

Thus, from a variety of reasons, Holstein, Biilow, and

the Kaiser failed to take advantage of the English offers.

They held off in the hope of getting better terms—and got

nothing. They let slip the golden moments which were

never to return. The English, failing finally to arrange an

alliance with Germany, turned elsewhere. In 1902 they

signed with Japan the well-known alliance which protected

their mutual interests in the Far East. In 1904 they signed

with France the treaties which were the first step in the

formation of the Triple Entente.

Italy's dubious loyalty to her allies

Italy, like Germany, had been occupied so long estab-

lishing her own national unity that she came late into the

race for colonial possessions. But if she were to play the

part of a Great Power in Europe, and find an outlet for her

rapidly increasing population, she felt that she too must
64 On the curious psychology of "the most brilliant failure in history",

as Edward VII called his nephew, see the by no means friendly or sym-
pathetic accounts of Emil Ludwig, Wilhelm der Zweite (Berlin, 1925)

;

especially pp. 174-196, 218-265, for the Kaiser's baneful influence on Anglo-
German relations; and [F. C. Endres], Die Tragodie Deutschlands
(Leipzig, 1922 ; 3rd ed., Stuttgart, 1924), pp. 121-146, with extensive

bibliography.



142 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

acquire colonies. She had naturally cast her eyes on Tunis,

But the French had stepped in ahead of her. She had then

sought alliance with Germany and Austria in the hope of

getting their support. Bismarck, however, was not at first

inclined to allow the Triple Alliance to be exploited for

Italy's colonial ambitions. But in 18S7, when the Boulan-

ger crisis in France and the Bulgarian situation in the Bal-

kans cast heavy clouds over Europe, Italy was able to ex-

tort, as the price of her renewal of the Triple Alliance, new
clauses looking toward future acquisitions in North Africa,

the Balkans, and the Eastern Mediterranean. As Ger-

many's interests were not identical with those of Austria

in the Ball-cans, and as Austria was unwilling to commit her-

self in regard to Italy's North African ambitions, it was

decided that these matters should be dealt with in separate

treaties to be signed by Austria and Italy, and by Germany
and Italy, on February 20, 1S87, the same day that the

Triple Alliance Treaty of 18S2 was renewed.

Accordingly, Austria and Italy,

"having in mind only the maintenance, so far as possible, of

the status quo in the Orient, engage to use their influence to

forestall any territorial modification which might be in-

jurious to one or the other. . . . However, if, in the course

of events, the maintenance of the status quo in the regions

of the Balkans or of the Ottoman coasts and islands in the

Adriatic and in the Aegean Sea should become impossible,

and if, whether in consequence of the action of a third

Power or otherwise, Austria-Hungary or Italy should find

themselves under the necessity of modifying it by a tempo-

rary or permanent occupation on their part, this occupation

shall take place only after a previous agreement between the

two Powers aforesaid, based on the principle of a reciprocal

compensation. . .
."° 5

65 Art. I of the Austro-Italian Treaty of 1887, which was embodied

as "Art. VII" in the Triple Alliance Treaty of 1891 and its subsequent

renewals; Pribram, pp. 44, 66, 04, 99 f., 103, and 175-30-1, passim; G.P.,
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Germany, on her part, undertook "to use her influence

to forestall, on the Ottoman coasts and islands in the

Adriatic and Aegean Seas any territorial modification which

might be injurious" to Italy. As to North Africa: "If it

were to happen that France should make a move to extend

her occupation, or even her protectorate or her sovereignty,

under any form whatsoever, in the North African territories,

whether of the Vilayet of Tripoli or of the Moroccan Em-
pire, and that in consequence thereof Italy, in order to

safeguard her position in the Mediterranean, should feel

that she must herself take action," Germany promised her

armed support, if war should ensue.66

In 1891, at the third renewal of the Triple Alliance,

Italy made a number of new requests, but the only one

which was finally conceded to her was an extension of Ger-

many's obligation to support her in North Africa. Germany
and Italy engaged to exert themselves for the maintenance

of the status quo in Cyrenaica, Tripoli and Tunis. But,

"if unfortunately, as a result of a mature examination of the

situation, Germany and Italy should both recognize that

the maintenance of the status quo has become impossible,

Germany engages, after a formal and previous agreement,

to support Italy in any action in the form of occupation or

other taking of guaranty which the latter should under-

take in these same regions with a view to an interest of

equilibrium and of legitimate compensation." In such an

eventuality both Powers would seek to place themselves

likewise in agreement with England. 67

This opened the door, as the Italians hoped, to a possi-

IV, 179-260; VII, 51-123; XI, 267-300; XVIII, 499-647, 681-759; XXI,
351-419; XXX, 493-579; and Crispi, Memoirs, III, 301-349.

66 Arts. I and III of the Italo-German Treaty of 1S87, embodied as

Arts. VI and X in the Triple Alliance Treaty of 1891 and subsequent
renewals.

67 Art. IX of the Triple Alliance Treaty of 1891 and subsequent
renewals.
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ble annexation of North African territory. But Germany
still hoped to be able to restrain Italy from African ad-

ventures which might antagonize England, France or Tur-

key. She had therefore insisted on the insertion of the

phrases "as a result of mature examination" and "after a

formal and previous agreement." She also struck out the

reference to Morocco, which was in the 1S87 treaty and in

the first Italian draft of the new clause, in order not to

encourage Italy to collide with possible French, English, or

Spanish ambitions in that region.

The Italians, however, were bitterly disillusioned in their

hopes that these treaty arrangements would speedily en-

able them to acquire Tripoli. The following years were filled

with demands and reproaches toward her allies, which be-

came louder as the Abyssinian adventure went from bad

to worse. Crispi complained that he was being browbeaten

by France, threatened by Russian intrigues in the Near

East and in Abyssinia, and neglected by England—and that

for all this Germany and the Triple Alliance were to blame.

The French, he said, were dominated by the thought of

getting back Alsace-Lorraine, and had warned him to ex-

pect no concessions from them as long as Italy remained in

the Triple Alliance; on the contrary they would "aim to

make life as sour as possible for him." 68

However, after Crispi had been overthrown as a result

of the Abyssinian disaster, his successor, Rudini, began a
rapprochement with France. By the Franco-Italian Tunis

Convention of 1S96, Italy at last virtually recognized the

French protectorate in Tunis and received in return certain

political and commercial privileges. The next year, the

Italian Crown Prince, Victor Emmanuel and his Montene-
grin bride, visited Paris, and the fetes in their honor tended

to draw the two Latin nations together. Two years later

"sCrispi's report of a French official statement, Feb., 9, 1896; G.P.,

XI, 2S8.
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a Franco-Italian commercial treaty put an end to the long

tariff war which had had a ruinous effect on the trade be-

tween the two countries and had caused great bitterness.

The rapprochement between Paris and Rome was helped

by the new turn which Delcasse gave to Anglo-French rela-

tions. After the bitter humiliation of Fashoda, Delcasse

had determined to put an end to the traditional hostility

between France and England. By a convention of March

21, 1899, Delcasse came to an agreement with England in

regard to the delimitation of spheres of influence in the

regions between the Congo and the Upper Nile, and at the

same time quieted Italian apprehensions by indicating that

the French had no aspirations to the east of Tunis, in the

Tripoli region coveted by Italy. This opened the way for

the secret Franco-Italian accord of December, 1900. By an

exchange of notes between Visconti-Venosta and Barrere,

the active French Ambassador at Rome, Italy recognized

French aspirations in Morocco, and France recognized

Italian aspirations in Tripoli.69

The growing intimacy between France and Italy was

now emphasized outwardly in every possible manner.

President Loubet bestowed upon Victor Emmanuel the

Grand Cross of the French Legion of Honor. The Italian

fleet visited Toulon and was received with demonstrations

of friendship which recalled the visit of the Russian fleet

at the formation of the Franco-Russian alliance. On De-

cember 14, 1901, Prinetti, who was decidedly Francophil,

revealed in the Italian Chamber of Deputies the existence

of the secret Franco-Italian accord made twelve months

before by Visconti-Venosta and Barrere. At the same time

he protested profusely to the German and Austrian ambas-

sadors that Italy was thoroughly loyal to the Triple Alli-

es Livre Jaune: Les Accords franco-italiens de 1900-1902 (Paris, 1920),

pp. 1-4; Pribram, The Secret* Treaties of Austria-Hungary, 1S79-1914, ed.

Coolidge, II, 227, 240-245.
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ance, though he admitted it had been an act of disloyalty

on his predecessor's part not to inform Italy's allies at once
of the exchange of notes with France. He tried to excuse it

by alleging that he had supposed Visconti-Venosta had
already notified Germany and Austria of it.

70

Biilow was worried at Italy's defection. He feared that

Italy might proceed to the annexation of Tripoli, thus an-
tagonizing Turkey and jeopardizing German interests in the

Near East. But publicly he attempted to appear uncon-
cerned, declaring in his famous Reichstag speech of Janu-
ary 8, 1902, that "the Triple Alliance still enjoys the best

of health, and will, as I believe and hope, continue to do so,

like persons who are mistakenly announced as dead but
continue still to live for a good long time." And he added
jauntily, "In a happy marriage the husband must not get

angry right off if his wife innocently takes an extra dance
with another partner. The main thing is that she docs not
elope with him; but she will not elope, if she realizes that

she is better off with her husband." This warning to Italy

he emphasized by remarking further that the Triple Alli-

ance was "not a business concern for making gains, but an
insurance company."

Italy, however, did not heed the warning. While carry-

ing on negotiations for the renewal of the Triple Alliance,

she at the same time listened to the wooing of Barrcre,

who was determined to secure a promise from Italy that
she would not attack France and would give up any mili-

tary conventions or other treaty obligations which might
compel her to join in a German aggression against France.71

And in fact on June 4, 1902, several weeks before the re-

newal of the Triple Alliance, Prinetti secretly assured Del-
casse that it contained nothing either directly or indirectly

aggressive toward France. Though he stipulated that "this

to G.P.. XVIII, 730 ff.

"Barrere to Dclcasse, May 8, 1902; Lcs Accords jranco-itaiiens, p. 5.
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communication is destined to remain secret," Delcasse soon

announced its substance in the French Chamber of

Deputies.

Delcasse was not yet satisfied. He wanted to get from

Prinetti a signed document which would bind Italy to ob-

serve strict neutrality in case France should take the initia-

tive in declaring a war to which she had been provoked.72

Accordingly, by an exchange of notes between Prinetti and

Barrere on November 1, 1902, it was mutually agreed:

"In case France [Italy] should be the object of a direct

or indirect aggression on the part of one or more Powers,

Italy [France] will maintain a strict neutrality.

"The same shall hold good in case France [Italy], as

the result of a direct provocation, should find herself com-

pelled, in defense of her honor or her security, to take the

initiative of a declaration of war. In that eventuality, the

Government of the Republic [the Royal Government] shall

previously communicate its intention to the Royal Gov-

ernment [the Government of the Republic], which will thus

be enabled to determine whether there is really a case of

direct provocation." 73

Practically this meant that Italy was now no longer a

loyal member of the Triple Alliance. To be sure, Prinetti

might soothe his conscience by maintaining that his promise

to France merely "defined the character" of Italy's Triple

Alliance obligations, and was not directly contrary to

them.74 It is true his promise was not contrary to the

letter of Italy's obligations to Germany; since, according

to Art. II of the Triple Alliance Treaty, Italy was bound

to assist Germany only in case Germany was attacked by

France "without direct provocation." Italy reserved the

72 Delcasse to Barrere, June 18, 1902; Les Accords franco-italic ns, p. 6

73 Barrere to Delcasse, Nov. 1, 1902; Les Accords jranco-italiens, 7-9.

74 This is the aspect of the affair which Barrere gave to Poincare in

1912, Les Accords jranco-italiens, 11-14; it was, he said, not "a counter-

treaty but a counter-part of the Triple Alliance."
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right to decide what would constitute "direct provocation.

But the interpretation of this phrase might be made as

elastic as rubber. When asked by Barrcre to define what

it meant, Prinetti had cited as examples of "direct provo-

cation" the Schnaebele incident, the Ems telegram, and

King William's refusal to receive Benedetti in 1S70. 75 This

meant that at any time in the future, if some similar inci-

dent arose, which France considered a provocation, and

which compelled her, "in defense of her honor or her se-

curity," to declare war on Germany, Italy would remain

neutral. Thus, owing to the inclusion of the phrase "direct

provocation," the Franco-Italian accord of 1902 was not

exactly contrary to the letter of Italy's Triple Alliance obli-

gation; but it was certainly contrary to its spirit and pur-

pose.70 Italy would no longer help Germany in case of a

French attack, which had been one of the original essential

purposes of the Triple Alliance. It all depended on how
Italy would choose to interpret the essentially indefinite

and elastic conception of "direct provocation." Being in-

capable of precise or judicial definition, this interpretation

was likely to depend, as events proved, on what Italy con-

sidered her interests at the moment. M. Poincare shrewdly

summed up the real situation when he told Izvolski in De-

cember, 1912, that "neither the Triple-Entente nor the

Triple Alliance can count on the loyalty of Italy; the Ital-

ian Government will employ all its efforts to preserve the

peace; and in case of war, it will begin by adopting a wait-

ing attitude and will finally join the camp toward which

victory will incline." 77 Henceforth Italy had a foot in both

camps and could jump in either direction, though she was

75 Lrs Accords jranco-ilalicns, 7.

70 Even such a stout champion of France and severe critic of Germany
as Pages admits t'nat, Italy's new promise to France was "difficilement

conciliable" with her prior obligation to German}'; Bourgeois et Pages,

p. 301, note 1.

11 Livrc Noir, I, 365.
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not wholly trusted by either her old ally or her new
friend.

In the fall of 1903, shortly before Germany was sur-

prised by the conclusion of the Anglo-French Entente which

threatened to draw Italy further to the side of these two

Mediterranean Powers, she began to fear more seriously that

Italy's "extra dance" might develop into an elopement after

all. Victor Emmanuel explained to Emperor William that

French friendship was important for Italy's commercial re-

lations and for enabling Italy to borrow needed money.

Though he was reported to have said of Barrere, "I don't

like him, he is a liar and a nasty man," 78 nevertheless he

paid a visit a few months later to Paris, which was made
the occasion for further demonstrations of Franco-Italian

friendship. At about the same time there was a violent

renewed outburst of Italian irredentist feeling against Aus-

tria, which the Italian Government made little effort to

check.79 In April, 1904, President Loubet returned Victor

Emmanuel's visit, going to Naples with the French fleet,

and then even going on to Rome, though no French Presi-

dent hitherto had thus snubbed the Pope to honor the King.

In the toasts given to Loubet at Naples, the Italians em-

phasized Franco-Italian friendship, but made no mention of

Italy's position in the Triple Alliance. Germany protested

against this omission, demanding that if further toasts were

exchanged some reference should be made to the Triple

Alliance and its peaceful character, in order that the world

might not think that Italy had shifted to the side of France.

The Italian Minister promised to heed the German protest.

But he did not keep his promise. Two more Franco-Italian

toasts were exchanged in which the Triple Alliance was

passed over in dead silence.80

Monts, the German Ambassador at Rome, urged that

78 G. P., XVIII, 615.

79 G. P., XVIII, 616-636.

so G.P., XX, 37-64.
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the way to make Italy return to a more loyal attitude was

to take a severe tone toward her. "If we now are polite,

friendly, and helpful, the Italians will become altogether

intractable. The only motives which appear to be effective

here are fear and a feeling of respect." 81 This advice was

in accord with Billow's past warnings to Italy not to let the

flirtation with France develop into a permanent liaison.

But Biilow now decided cordiality was wiser than scolding.

Pie tried to win Italy back by assuring her that Germany
had no objections to her taking Tripoli. lie also believed

it far better that Italy's colonial ambitions should be

afforded an outlet in North Africa rather than in Albania

and the Adriatic, where she was sure to antagonize Austria.

Some months later, as Tittoni expressed contrition and

promised "not to do it again," 82 and as the Moroccan cloud

was gathering on the horizon, Biilow felt particularly anx-

ious not to offend the Italians, or take a stiff attitude which

might drive them further into the arms of France and

England. "The facade of the Triple Alliance must be kept

as intact as possible," he wrote to the Kaiser, "especially

so, because as long as the Italians are still in the Triple

Alliance, they will be regarded with distrust on the enemy's

side. But in case of complications, we need certainly give

ourselves no illusions as to active Italian cooperation. How-
ever, it will be a gain, not to be lightly valued, if Italy

remains neutral instead of going with France." 83

In his public utterances, and in the volume defending

his policies which he published just before the War, Biilow

naturally sought to maintain as far as possible the fiction

of Italian loyalty—that is, to give the facade as good an

appearance as possible. "Neither at Algeciras, nor during

her Tripolitan expedition, nor shortly before this, at the

Interview of Racconigi, did Italy ever contemplate severing

»i Monts to Biilow, May 6, 1904; G.P., XX, 69.

82 G.P., XX, 81-95. 83 Biilow to the Kaiser, Mar. 5, 1905; G.P.,XX,95.
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her connection with us." 84 This has often misled persons

into thinking he placed more confidence in Italy after the

Franco-Italian agreement of 1900-02 than was really the

case. Even such a well-informed scholar as Professor Pri-

bram says: "By the end of 1905, Billow believed that no

danger existed of Italy's alienation from the Triple Alli-

ance." He quotes Biilow as declaring in 1905: "Italy has

cast in her lot with the Triple Alliance, not for reasons of

mawkish sentimentality, but because she finds it to her

advantage to do so. The reasons which originally brought

the three great states together are still in existence; nothing

has happened to work a change in them." 85 But pre-war

declarations of this kind are merely examples of the optimis-

tic Chancellor's usual policy of "faire bonne mine au mau-

vais jeu"—of putting a good face on a bad matter. Pri-

vately and in reality he was much worried by Italy's double-

dealing.

At the Algeciras Conference, by voting with France and

England against Germany, Italy gave another rude shock

to the fagade of the Triple Alliance, and showed that Biilow

had reason to be worried. Speaking in the Chamber of

Deputies on March 8, 1906, Sonnino attempted to explain

Italy's double policy, saying: "Loyal from our heart to the

Triple Alliance, we shall maintain the traditions of intimacy

with England and our honest friendship with France." On
this the German Emperor commented significantly:

"'No one can serve two masters,' it says in the Bible;

certainly therefore not three masters! France, England and

the Triple Alliance, that is wholly out of the question! It

will turn out that Italy stands in the British-French group!

We shall do well to reckon with this, and write this 'ally'

off as smoke!" 86

84 Biilow, Deutsche Politik, Berlin, 1913; Eng. trans. Imperial Germany,
N. Y., 1914, p. 59.

85 Pribram, pp. 263-4; Pribram-Coolidge, II, 135-6.

86 G.P., XXI, 353.
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THE ANGLO-FRENCH ENTENTE OF 1904

M. Delcasse, who became French Minister of Foreign

Affairs in June, 1898, is said to have declared that the first

object of his policy would be to secure a rapprochement

with England. If France were to expand her colonial em-

pire and some day recover Alsace-Lorraine, the age-long

hostility with England must be ended. Delcasse therefore

took steps toward a reconciliation with "perfidious Albion."

He approved a treaty settling a long-standing dispute as

to Anglo-French boundaries in the Niger Valley. A few

months later, in the face of Kitchener's troops and in defi-

ance of traditional French feelings, lie had yielded to the

British at Fashoda. On March 21, 1S99, lie reached an

agreement with England delimiting French and English

spheres of influence in the region between the Upper Nile

and the Congo. He had done what he could to open the

way for better Anglo-French relations.

But public opinion in the two countries was still hostile.

It was further aggravated by the Boer War. To overcome

this was part of the work of Sir Thomas Barclay. Looking

at the two countries from a commercial rather than a diplo-

matic point of view, he secured the approval of Salisbury

and Delcasse for a visit to Paris of British Chambers of

Commerce in 1900. The banquet of 800 at which he presided

proved an encouraging success. This was the year of the

great Paris Exposition, and thousands of other British

visitors flocked to the French capital. These visits were

followed by delegations of French Chambers of Commerce
to England, and by a similar exchange of visits by members
of Parliament and their wives. With the ground thus pre-

pared, Sir Thomas Barclay began to agitate for the conclu-

sion of an Anglo-French Treaty of Arbitration, which should

remove possible causes of friction and place the future of

the two countries beyond the dangerous reach of popular
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emotions. Such a treaty, referring to the Hague Arbitration

Tribunal all disputes between the two countries (except

those touching vital interests, honor, or independence), was

finally signed on October 14, 1903. 87

Meanwhile, the death of Queen Victoria in 1901, and the

retirement of Lord Salisbury in 1902, opened the way for

two men who were more enthusiastic than their predecessors

for closer relations with France—Edward VII and Lord

Lansdowne.

The new King, Edward VII, had spent much of his time

as Prince of Wales in Paris or on the Riviera. He spoke

French with perfect ease, had formed many warm attach-

ments in France, and had a strong liking for the people as

a nation. In the spring of 1903, on his own initiative, he

paid to Paris his first formal visit as King, and was delighted

by his reception. Though it was not at first enthusiastic,

it was respectful, and soon decidedly sympathetic. In one

of those tactful speeches, in which he knew how to combine

flattering appreciation and hearty personal good-will,

thereby winning so many personal friends, he declared to the

French

:

"It is scarcely necessary to tell you with what sincere

pleasure I find myself once more in Paris, to which, as you

know, I have paid very frequent visits with ever-increas-

ing pleasure, and for which I feel an attachment fortified

by so many happy and ineffaceable memories. The days

of hostility between the two countries are, I am certain, hap-

pily at an end. I know of no two countries whose prosperity

is more interdependent. There may have been misunder-

standings and causes of dissension in the past, but that is all

happily over and forgotten. The friendship of the two coun-

tries is my constant preoccupation, and I count on you all

87 Cf. Sir Thomas Barclay, Thirty Years of Anglo-French Reminis-
cences, 1876-1906, Londo 1914, pp. 175-229, 340-354. British Documents,
II, 261, 289 ff., 318 f.
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who enjoy French hospitality in their magnificent city to aid

me to reach this goal." 88

The warmth of this royal utterance, and his hearty en-

joyment of the state banquet at the ftlysee, the military

review at Vincennes, and the races at Longchamps, all went

a long way toward wiping from the French mind the bitter

memories of Fashoda and the Boer War. Two months later

(July 6-9, 1903) President. Loubet paid King Edward a

return visit. This was marked on both sides by the greatest

cordiality. "France," the French President said to his royal

host, "preserves a precious memory of the visit which you

paid to Paris. I am sure that it will have the most happy
results, and that it will greatly serve to maintain and bind

still more closely the relations which exist between our two

countries, for their common good and as a guarantee of the

peace of the world." In return Edward VII expressed the

hope "that the welcome you have received today has con-

vinced you of the true friendship, indeed I will say the affec-

tion, which my country feels for France." And upon Presi-

dent Loubet's departure, the King sent a farewell message

which found a warm response on both sides of the English

Channel: "It is my most ardent wish that the rapproche-

ment between the two countries may be lasting."

Delcasse had accompanied President Loubet on this visit

and began those conversations with Lord Lansdowne which

were to bear fruit eight months later in the famous Anglo-

French Entente Cordiale. This was signalized by the sign-

ing on April 8, 1904, of a series of conventions which settled

amicably long-standing disputes concerning the Newfound-
land fisheries, Senegarnbia, Siam, Madagascar, the New
Hebrides, and other subjects. The most important conven-

tion was that by which France at last gave the English a

free hand in Egypt in return for a free hand in Morocco.

88 Quoted by Gooch, History of Modern Europe, 1878-1919, pp. 338-

239. Cf. also Sidney Lee, King Edward VII, 11, 221 ff.
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Egypt for more than a quarter of a century had been

one of the most acute sources of friction between Downing

Street and the Quai d'Orsay. It had been the Achilles heel

of British foreign policy. All the Great Powers had certain

political and financial rights in Egypt which continually

hampered England's freedom of action and threatened the

efficiency of Egyptian administration. Egyptian finance

was now in a flourishing condition. But owing to the inter-

national fetters originally imposed under conditions which

no longer existed, the Khedive, that is to say, his English

advisers, were unable to derive any real profit from the

surplus funds. The situation, says Lord Cromer, had be-

come intolerable.89 It was therefore a great relief to Eng-

land to obtain a waiver of the financial restrictions and to

receive the assurance that "the Government of the French

Republic will not obstruct the action of Great Britain in

Egypt by asking that a date should be fixed for the British

occupation or in any other matter." 90 England's new free-

dom of action was embodied in a Khedivial Decree which

England speedily notified formally to the Powers and to

which she secured their assent. 91 Egypt was no longer a

vulnerable point in English diplomacy. Within six months,

as Kuhlmann wrote from Tangiers, "The Egyptian question

is dead, but the Moroccan question is very much alive." 92

Morocco, on the other hand, was pregnant with trouble

89 Cromer, Modern Egypt, ch. 48. For Lord Cromer's active influ-

ence on the Anglo-French negotiations, see British Documents, II, 298 ff.,

323, 332 f., 339 f., 354 ff., 364, 400.

90 Art. I of the convention concerning Egypt and Morocco. For
the text of the Anglo-French Conventions see the British Blue Book
of 1904 (Cd. 1952) and the French Livre Jaune of 1904, Accords conclus

le 8 avril, 1904 . . . au sujet du Maroc, de VEgypte, de Terre Neuve, etc.;

for the secret articles, first revealed in the Paris Temps, in 1911, see the

English Blue Book, Treaty Series, 1911 (Cd. 5969) ; E. D. Morel, Morocco
in Diplomacy, London, 1912, p. 234 ff.; Amer. Jour, of International Law,
VI (1912), supplement, pp. 26 ff; and British Documents, II, 374-407.

91 For the negotiations to secure Germany's assent, see G.P., XX,
121-165.

92 GP., XX, 33.
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for France and was soon to become a diplomatic nightmare

for all Europe. At the close of the nineteenth century it

was virtually an independent country of some four or five

million inhabitants—Arabs, Berbers, Jews, negroes and

others—under the nominal rule of a Sultan at Fez. But

this rule was a shaky one. There were continual uprisings

from hostile tribes, or from rival claimants to the Umbrella,

which was the symbol of sovereignty in that sunny land.

Arab marauders continually jeopardized the life and prop-

erty of European traders and travelers. Little satisfaction

could be obtained from the Sultan's government. As a

result of these turbulent conditions, the thirteen Powers,

including the United States, who had once cooperated to

suppress the Barbary Pirates, signed with the Sultan of

Morocco in 1SS0 the Convention of Madrid. ;This provided

for the proper protection of foreigners in Morocco and

promised the most-favored-nation treatment to all the Sig-

natory Powers.M The two European countries which were

most directly interested in Morocco, because of geographical

propinquity and historic associations, were Spain and

France.

Spain had inherited or conquered during the sixteenth

century a number of settlements on the North coast, be-

tween the Straits of Gibraltar on the West, and the French

territory of Algeria on the East. These, however, were

separated from the Moroccan interior by the line of Riff

Mountains, so that Spain did not aspire to acquire any of

the Moroccan hinterland. If a partition of Morocco was
to take place, Spain merely wished to be assured of the

Mediterranean coastal strip and of some seaports on the

Atlantic coast opposite the Canary Islands for their pro-

tection.

France, though further removed from Morocco geo-

graphically, had in reality a closer and more vital interest

93 Amcr. Jour, of International Law, VI (1912), supplement, pp. 18-24.
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in the country. Beginning in 1830, she had gradually built

up a great colony in Algeria, or, to speak more correctly,

had extended France into Algeria, for Algeria was not a

colony in the ordinary sense of the word. It was divided

into departments like France, was represented in the French

Chamber of Deputies, and persons born in Algeria enjoyed

all the full rights of French citizens. As the French extended

their control southward toward the Sahara, there was no

effective natural boundary separating their territories from

those of the Sultan of Morocco. Algeria in consequence

was subjected to continual raids from the plundering Mo-

roccan tribesmen.94 France could have no peace on the

western border of Algeria so long as turbulent conditions

continued to prevail in Morocco. The French, therefore,

came to feel that the safety and destiny of Algeria, as well

as their aspirations for a great North African Colonial Em-

pire, made it imperative for them to extend their control

over MoroccoN either by police supervision, or by a protec-

torate, or by cfirect annexation.

But Italy, England, and Germany also had political, as

well as commercial, interests in Morocco.95

94 The mournful tale of them is to be found in the despatches in

the French Litre Jaune: Affaires du Maroc (Paris, 1905), passim.

95 Sir Thomas Barclay, well informed, as to the relative commercial

interests of the various nations, says: "As it is still currently supposed

in both England and France that Germany's brusque entry upon the

scene was more or less gratuitous and that she intervened in view of

possible interests to come, I may mention as explanatory facts that

Germany had considerable interests in Morocco, in some respects greater

interests than France. In 1901 the tonnage of ships calling at Moroccan

ports was 434,000 for Great Britain, 260,000 for Germany, 239,000 for

France, and 198,000 for Spain. At all ports, except San, England is an

'easy first', but as between France and Germany the latter is ahead

at Casablanca, much ahead at Mazagan, and overwhelmingly ahead at

Safi. At Mogador Germany shows a tonnage of 44,000 against France

with 24,000. As regards imports into Morocco, Great Britain in 1901

stood first with 24,000.000 f., against France with 10,000,000 f., and Ger-

many and Belgium with 3,000000 f ., each. Spain could only show 600,000 f

.

Of exports from Morocco, Great Britain received 12,000,000 f., France

6,000,000 f., Spain 5,000,000 f., and Germany 4,000,000 f. Germany's interest,
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Italy, being without colonies, cast her eyes covetously

toward Morocco, especially after the French had stepped

into Tunis ahead of her. But in 1900 France bought off

Italy's claims by the secret promise not to oppose Italian

aspirations to Tripoli.

England, possessing one of the Pillars of Hercules at

Gibraltar, was determined that the other Pillar at Ceuta

must never come into the hands of a strong European Power

like France; otherwise the English navy and English com-

merce would lose that vital control of the entrance to the

Mediterranean, which Gibraltar had assured to her for two

centuries. Ceuta belonged to Spain, but Spain was so

weak, especially after the Spanish-American War, that

England was content to have her retain it ; she had no fear

that Spain would ever dispute British control of the Straits.

England also coveted Tangier, partly because of her large

trade there. If she could not acquire Tangier for herself,

she was at least determined not to let it fall into the hands

of any other Great Power. England likewise wished to

prevent any European Power from establishing a coaling

station or naval base on the Atlantic coast of Morocco.

Germany was chiefly interested in preserving and

extending her rapidly growing commercial interests in

Morocco. Some Germans, including some Foreign Office

personages, wanted a German colony in West Morocco

which would open new markets for German goods, afford a

much needed source for iron ore, and offer a convenient

coaling station and naval base for the German fleet in the

Atlantic. But the Kaiser was opposed to pressing this, for

fear of antagonizing England and France.

By the opening of the twentieth century, it became in-

creasingly evident that the Sultan, in spite of the Madrid

it is seen, was substantial, and among Morocco porta Mazapan and
Mogador were places at which Germany was developing a considerable
Morocco trade"; Barclay, Thirty Years Anglo-French Reminiscences, p. 276.
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Convention, was unable to maintain order and protect

foreigners properly. As the scramble for colonial posses-

sions became more intense among the Powers, there was

danger that one or another of them, probably France, would

find reasons for intervening and depriving the Sultan of

his independence, or his territories, or both. The future of

Morocco therefore became one of the most lively subjects

of secret discussion among the diplomats of Europe.

Mr. Joseph Chamberlain broached the question very

privately to the German Ambassador on November 3, 1899,

suggesting a secret convention: Germany was to renounce

all claims to the Mediterranean coasts of Morocco, including

Tangier; in return, "England could make Germany the most

extensive concessions on the Atlantic coast." 96 Chamber-

lain, however, wanted the matter kept secret for the present

from his Prime Minister, Lord Salisbury. Billow was inter-

ested in the suggestion, and it was discussed behind Lord

Salisbury's back by the Kaiser on his visit to England a

few weeks later. But the Kaiser, foreshadowing the con-

sistent attitude he adopted in the following years, had no

great desire for German territorial acquisitions on the West
coast or anywhere else in Morocco. "He himself had never

had great interest in this question," he told Eckardstein,

"and he had never understood why Germans placed such

interest in it."
97 In spite of fresh misgivings aroused every-

where by the French occupation of Moroccan territory at

Touat, in the spring of 1900, Chamberlain's suggestion came

to nothing, owing in part to Salisbury's reserved and nega-

tive attitude.98

Biilow did not care to interfere in the Touat affair,

"because today this would be equivalent to the possibility

of a war with France. 99 He adopted his usual prudent but

sphinx-like policy of "wait and see." In spite of recurring

96 g P., XVII, 297.

97 Eckardstein, II, 93.

98 G.P., XVII, 299-323

99 G.P., XVII, 331.
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rumors of possible Anglo-French and Franco-Spanish agree-

ments contemplating a possible partition of Morocco, he

maintained this attitude for nearly three years. 100 Then,

on March 16, 1904, he received a telegram from the Kaiser,

recounting a visit to Kins; Alfonso at Vigo. William II

had congratulated the Spanish King upon the rumored

Franco-Spanish arrangements for a partition of Morocco,

and had declared that Germany wished no territorial

acquisitions; Germany wanted only the safeguarding of her

commercial interests—"open ports, railway concessions, and

the importation of manufactures;" and perhaps by way of

compensation the Spanish Island of Fernando Po in the

Gulf of Guinea off the German Kamerun coast, for which

Germany would pay generously. 101 This declaration of

German disinterestedness in Moroccan territory caused some

dismay to Biilow and his Foreign Office colleagues, who

had been inclined to think Germany might well secure some

share of the disintegrating Sherifian Empire. But the

Kaiser's declaration tied their hands. In spite of the clam-

orings of Pan-Germans on the one hand, and of Anglo-

French suspicions on the other, the Kaiser's declaration laid

down one of the guiding principles of German Moroccan

policy in the following years.

Within a few clays of the Vigo declaration, one of the

Sultan's officials cast into prison a Moroccan in German

employ, without giving reasons to the German consul in

accordance with custom. The consul protested, but could

get no satisfaction and no release for the imprisoned man.

German officials suspected that the Sultan was being en-

couraged in his defiant attitude by the English or the

French. They were the more indignant because some

months earlier a German citizen (Genthe) had been robbed

and murdered in Morocco, and the Sultan had replied

100 MaVt 1901, to March. 1904; CP., XVII, 332-363.

101 G.P., XVII, 363-5; XX, 268.
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evasively to demands for an indemnity to the murdered

man's family. Biilow and his German Foreign Office col-

leagues feared that unless energetic steps were taken, Ger-

man prestige, and consequently German trade and influence

in Morocco, would suffer seriously. Biilow begged the

Kaiser to consent to sending a German warship to Tangier

to impress upon the Sultan the advisability of giving speedy

satisfaction to German demands in these two matters. But

the Kaiser was unwilling to sanction such a demonstra-

tion. 102 He knew that Anglo-French negotiations concern-

ing Morocco were on the point of being signed, and wisely

decided that sending a ship to Tangier just at this moment
would arouse suspicion as to the genuineness of his Vigo

declaration of Germany's territorial disinterestedness. He
believed that,

"forceful pressure by Germany against Morocco ought to

be considered only after our grievances against Morocco

have been brought fully with the facts to the knowledge of

the three Powers most interested in Morocco [England

France and Spain]. It could then be pointed out that

remedial measures against the attitude of the Moroccan

Government lay in the interests, not of Germany alone, but

of all Europeans, and that Germany would gladly have the

support and cooperation of the three aforesaid Powers in

restoring by proper measures the injured prestige of Euro-

peans in Morocco." 103

Accordingly, in spite of arguments by Biilow, Lichnow-

sky, and German officials in Morocco, the Kaiser's decision

prevailed and no German naval demonstration took place.

But the Kaiser's hope that disorders in Morocco could be
dealt with through the friendly cooperation of all the Pow-
ers most directly concerned was vain.

At this very moment, Lord Lansdowne and M. Paul

102 Biilow to the Kaiser, Mar. 30, 1904; G.P., XX, 197-199.

103 April 3, 1904; G.P., XX, 200.
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Cambon, the French Ambassador in London, were signing

the famous Anglo-French Convention of April 8, 1904,

concerning Egypt and Morocco which has been indicated

above. Its "Public Articles" disclaimed, of course, any

intention of altering the political status of Morocco, but at

the same time "recognized that it appertained particularly

to France to preserve order there":

Art. I. [France gives England a free hand in Egypt as

indicated above at note 90].

Art. II. The Government of the French Republic de-

clare that they have no intention of altering the political

status of Morocco. His Britannic Majesty's Government

recognise that it appertains to France, more particularly

as a Power whose dominions are coterminous for a great

distance with those of Morocco, to preserve order in that

country, and to provide assistance for the purpose of all

administrative, economic, financial and military reforms

which it may require. They declare that they will not ob-

struct the action taken by France for this purpose, provided

that such action shall leave intact the rights which Great

Britain enjoys in Morocco in virtue of treaties, conventions

and usage. . . .

Art. VIII. The two Governments, inspired by their sin-

cere feeling of friendship for Spain, take into special con-

sideration the interests which that country derives from her

geographical position and her territorial possessions on the

Moorish coast. . . .

Art. IX. The two Governments agree to afford one an-

other their diplomatic support, in order to obtain the execu-

tion of the clauses of the present declaration regarding Egypt
and Morocco.

Important "Secret Articles," however, contemplated an

eventual partition of Morocco between France and Spain:

Art. II. [England has no present intention of proposing

changes in Egypt, but, in case she should consider it desir-

able to introduce reforms, France] will not refuse to enter-
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tain any such proposals, on the understanding that His

Britannic Majesty's Government will agree to entertain the

suggestions that the Government of the French Republic

may have to make to them with a view of introducing simi-

lar reforms in Morocco.

Art. III. The two governments agree that a certain ex-

tent of Moorish territory adjacent to Melilla, Ceuta, and

other presides should, whenever the Sultan ceases to exercise

authority over it, come within the sphere of influence of Spain

and the administration of the coast from Melilla as far

as, but not including, the heights on the right bank of the

Sebou shall be entrusted to Spain.

Nevertheless, Spain would . . . have to undertake not

to alienate the whole, or a part, of the territories placed

under her authority or in her sphere of influence.104

It is curious to note how casually Viscount Grey and

M. Poincare speak of these secret articles contemplating the

partition of Morocco and seek to minimize their importance.

Grey says the agreement with France "was all made public

except a clause or two of no importance." 105 It is charac-

teristic of his psychology that when he has to deal with

something disagreeable or repugnant, which does not fit in

with his conception of things, he rationalizes it into think-

ing it "of no importance." 106 M. Poincare likewise speaks

of the secret Moroccan arrangement as destined to remain

"temporarily" secret.
107

Upon the announcement of the public articles, the Span-

ish professed to be furious: they had not been consulted;

they had been treated as quantite negligeable ; this humilia-

104 See note 90 above.
105 Twenty-Five Years, I, 49.

loo So, for instance, in explaining the omission from the report of

his speech in Parliament on Aug. 3, 1914, of the last sentence in his

1912 note to Paul Cambon, Grey says, "Perhaps I thought the last

sentence unimportant"; ibid., II, 17. Similarly he continually seeks to

minimize the political importance of the vital naval and military "con-

versations" carried on with France in the following years.

i°7 Au Service de la France, I, 107.
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tion endangered their dynasty; with clenched fists (pru-

dently kept hi his pocket ), the Spanish Ambassador declared

to Delcasse that "this Anglo-French Convention will have

serious consequences and involve unforeseeable complica-

tions." 108 But Delcasse speedily bought off Spanish objec-

tions by providing that Spam should have her proper share

when Morocco was partitioned. By the Franco-Spanish

Moroccan Convention of October 3, 1904, in secret articles,

Spain gave her approval to the Anglo-French agreement of

April 8, 1904, and both France and Spain piously declared

that they would remain firmly committed to the integrity

of the Moroccan Empire under the sovereignty of the Sul-

tan. But secret articles, which of course were communi-

cated to Lord Lansdowne, frankly contemplated quite the

opposite.

— In delimiting the spheres of influence, the Spanish were

to be given the northern coastal strip on the Mediterranean

and the Atlantic, and the French were to have the vast

hinterland. The boundaries were virtually identical with

those which were actually adopted for the French and

Spanish protectorates which were arranged by M. Poincare

in 1912. 109

It has been asserted by a German historian, 110 though

without proof, that the German Government in some un-

official way speedily became informed of the secret articles,

and saw in them an evidence of the hostile feeling which

France had nurtured against her ever since 1S70. The

assertion has been endorsed by Mr. Gooch 111 and others,

but appears to be without foundation. There is no tangible

ios Report of Prince Radolin, German Ambassador at Paris, April 20,

1904; GP., XX, 169; c/. pp. 170-194 for the cautious German attitude

during the ensuing Franco-Spanish negotiations.

loo Cf. Poincare, I, 106-118.

noVeit Valentin, Deutschlands Ausscnpolilik (Berlin. 1921), p. 54.

in Cambridge History of British Foreign Policy, III, 340; cj. also

G. Lowes Dickinson, The International Anarchy, p. 124.
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evidence in Die Grosse Politik that Germany was definitely

acquainted at this time with the double-faced bargain which

Lansdowne and Delcasse had made and in which Spain

participated. Had it been definitely known to Germany, it

would surely be indicated in the recent German documents,

as an evidence of Albion's perfidy and Delcasse's deviltry.

It was not necessary, however, for Germany to have been

definitely told what had been done. Given the knowledge

of French ambitions and interests in Morocco, she could

easily surmise the truth. She correctly suspected that there

was more to the Anglo-French agreements than met the

eye in the published articles. But though not without

suspicions as to the fate awaiting Morocco, Bulow and

Holstein seem chiefly to have suspected that France and

England had made some secret deal in regard to the parti-

tion of China, 112 or had entered into some sort of an alliance

aimed against Germany. 113

Who were the originators of the Entente Cordiale and

what were their motives? M. Tardieu, who stood close to

Delcasse and had good information, says, "The English

King was the initiator of the rapprocheinent. He it was

who both conceived and facilitated it while many still be-

lieved that the moment was premature." 114 Lord Cromer

spoke of it as the "work of that very eminent diplomatist,

His Majesty the King, and Lord Lansdowne." 115 That the

main impulse to it came from the side of England and not

France grew to be a very general opinion both in England

and on the Continent, and it was certainly greeted with more

general enthusiasm in England than in France. 116 Tardieu,

112G.P., XIX, 548.

113 G.P., XX, 16, 27-30, 599-698.

1 14 Tardieu, France and the Alliances, p. 60.

us Speech on receiving the freedom of the City of London, Oct. 28,

1907; Annual Register, 1907, p. 242.

nee/. J. A. Farrer, England Under Edward VII, pp. 89-94. See,

however, Lee, King Edward VII, II, 216-257, and the recent British Docu-
ments, II, 253-407, which show that King Edward's influence has com-
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however, throughout his volume seems to over-emphasize

England's role and England's advantages from the Moroc-

can agreement. There is no doubt that Deleasse, from the

moment ho took charge of the French Foreign Office in

1898, had worked eagerly for the extension of French influ-

ence in Morocco. He had made a treaty with Spain with

this in view in 1900, but the treaty was bound to be abortive

so long as the greatest Naval Power with large Moroccan

interests did not give her consent. Hence, one of his reasons

for a rapprochement with England. His Minister of Colo-

nies, M. Eticnne, and his London Ambassador, Paul Cam-
bon, energetically supported him and were warmly sec-

onded by Lord Lansdownc and Lord Cromer.

As to the motives, those on the English side were pri-

marily somewhat as follows. Having decided to abandon

splendid isolation and having failed to receive a satisfactory

response from Germany to Chamberlain's alliance feelers,

England naturally turned to France. In view of the grow-

ing friction between Russia and Japan, ending in the out-

break of war between the two in February, 1904, and the

fact that England was allied to Japan, and France to Russia,

it was important to establish cordial relations with France

to prevent the Russo-Japanese War from involving Eng-
land and France against one another. England desired to

avoid the danger of having the war in the Far East spread

to Europe. ' She perhaps also wanted to forestall the possible

renewal of the Triple combination of 1895 (Russia, Ger-

many, France) for concerted pressure against Japan in

the Far East. 117 England sincerely desired to wipe off

the slate the numerous causes of friction which had so fre-

monly been exaggerated, and that the chief initiative came from Del-
easse and the French.

117 According to the belief of Bcrnstorff, German Charge d'Affaires

in London, which was at first shared by Biilow and the Kaiser, this was a
strong English motive in the rapprochement with France; GP., XX, 14-

21; and also 23, 31, 173.
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quently brought her to the verge of war with France in the

past. 118
" Finally, and perhaps the most important, as Lord

Cromer believes, was the desire for freedom of action in

Egypt. There is little conclusive evidence that at the out-

set England planned to isolate Germany or to encourage

France to count on England for more than diplomatic

support, and even this was to be limited to the case of

Morocco. On the other hand, there is much evidence that,

within a few months, the Anglo-French Entente came to

have a far wider significance inimical to the peace of Eu-

rope—partly owing to Germany's clumsy and alarming

diplomatic gestures.

On the French side the motives were in part somewhat

the same. ^The French were determined to avoid being

involved in war on account of the ambitions of her Rus-

sian ally in the Far East. They wished to end the long-

standing friction with England. "They desired freedom of

action in Morocco. And they hoped to secure England as

a friend, or possibly as an ally, in order to build up a com-

bination of Powers, equal to, or stronger than, the Triple

Alliance. France had come painfully to realize that her

alliance with Russia was of less value than she had antici-

pated, at the time of its formation, that it would be. Russia

had given her little or no support at Fashoda and on other

critical occasions, and now she appeared to be so involved

in the Far East as to be of little support to France in case

of a Franco-German war. Delcasse had no thought of

abandoning the alliance with Russia, but he believed that

close relations with England would help to compensate

France for the lessened value of the Franco-Russian

alliance.

By 1904 Delcasse had thus bought off the Moroccan

claims of Italy and England, by promising these countries

a free hand in Tripoli and Egypt respectively, and he had
118 Grey, I, 48 ff., emphasizes this motive.
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satisfied Spain with a sphere of influence in northern

Morocco. He assumed that he could now proceed leisurely

to the "pacific penetration" of the rest of the Sherifian

Empire without paying any attention to the natural claims

of Germany. He believed that France at last had risen to

such a strong diplomatic position, with Russia as an ally

and England as a friend, that she could risk ignoring the

country which had seized Alsace-Lorraine and long dom-

inated Europe. 119 In this he was mistaken. He was griev-

ously mistaken. As a French critic has well said, "With

incredible blindness the Government took precautions with

everybody, except the only one of its neighbors whom it

had serious cause to fear." 120 And as Mr. Gooch has justly

pointed out, "It is regrettable that the British Cabinet did

not perceive—or at any rate did not help France to per-

ceive—the wisdom of securing German consent by a sola-

tium. Though the Secret Treaties of 1904 reserved no

share for Great Britain in the contingent partition of Mo-

rocco, and though it has been argued that it was reasonable

for the contracting parties to make alternative arrange-

ments in the event of Morocco collapsing from internal

weakness, our share in the transaction which suggested

double-dealing involves the British Government in partial

responsibility for the crises of 1905 and 1911." 121

THE MOROCCO CRISIS OF 1905

It is commonly believed in France and England that the

Kaisers spectacular visit to Tangier on March 31, 1905,

followed by Delcasse's fall on June 6, were the results

of a German effort, by a threat of force, at a moment when

France's ally lay prostrate in the Far East, to test or break

up the newly formed Entente Cordiale and separate Eng-

noTardieu, France and the Alliances, pp. 178-182.

120 R. Millet, Notre Politique exterieure, p. 224.

121 Gooch, Cambridge History oj British Forugn Policy, III, 340.



THE MOROCCO CRISIS OF 1905 169

land from France. 122 But this belief, as the recently pub-

lished German documents show, is not altogether correct.

The misconception has arisen in part from prejudice and

ignorance, and in part from the fact that writers have sup-

posed that the Kaiser's Bjorko maneuver and Billow's

Morocco moves formed parts of one and the same consistent

German policy.

Confronted suddenly with the accomplished fact of an

Anglo-French Agreement, in which Germany had not been

consulted though German interests were involved, and in

which there were good reasons for suspecting that secret

clauses lurked behind the public declarations, Biilow and

the Kaiser both felt that something must be done."; But

they differed as to what this should be.

Biilow preferred to adopt a sphinx-like silence, waiting

until Delcasse should formally notify Germany of the

Moroccan agreement, and offer guarantees for her com-

mercial interests and some equivalent compensations. When
Delcasse had continued to ignore Germany for nearly a year,

Biilow tried to serve notice on him by forcing the Kaiser

to make the spectacular diplomatic gesture at Tangier in

March, 1905. This was altogether repugnant to the Kaiser.

Nothing shows this more strikingly than a phrase in one

of his letters to Billow

:

Bo not forget that you persuaded me personally, against

my will, to go to Tangier for the sake of the success of your

122 Cj. Tardieu, pp. 170 ff
;
Bourgeois et Pages, pp. 307 ft". ; Viscount

Grey reiterates this belief in at least four passages, Twenty-Five Years, I,

51, 69, 75, 99; cj. also 108 f. So for instance p. 51: "In British minds, cer-

tainly in my own, the Anglo-French Agreement was not regarded as

more than I have described it. It was the subsequent attempts of Ger-
many to shake or break it that turned it into an Entente. These at-

tempts were not long in coming. The German Emperor made a visit

that was like a demonstration at Tangier, and in 1905 the German
Government forced the French, by what was practically a challenge,

to dismiss M. Delcasse (their Minister for Foreign Affairs who had made
the Franco-British Agreement) and to agree to an international con-
ference about Morocco".
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Morocco policy. Read through my telegrams prior to the

Tangier visit. ... It was to please you, for the sake of the

Fatherland, that I landed, mounted a strange horse in spite

of my equestrian disability due to my shrivelled left arm,

and might have come within a hair of losing my life

—

which

was your venture [was Ihr Einsatz rear]. I rode among
Spanish anarchists because you wanted it and your policy

was to benefit by it! 123

Their divergence in views is further indicated by the

fact that Biilow did not keep his imperial master fully

informed on all phases of the Moroccan affair, which he

and Hoist ein were conducting. The greater part of the

documents in Die Grosse Politik on the Morocco Crisis

bear no marginal notes by the Kaiser, and were apparently

not so regularly submitted nor so fully summarized for him

as was usually the case. It is also likely that one reason

for Billow's later threat of resignation was his hope that

the Kaiser would beseech him to remain, and he would then

retain office with a stronger and freer hand.

The Kaiser, on the other hand, wished to avoid antago-

nizing French susceptibilities. With his "anti-English com-

plex" and his inherited traditional friendship between

Hohenzollern and Romanov, he wished to avert the possible

danger lurking in the Anglo-French Agreement by realizing

his dream of a "Continental League." This flitted fre-

quently before his imagination throughout his reign. 124
It

was a method of reviving the Alliance of the Three Em-
perors so far as was possible after the Tsar had entered into

alliance with France. fHe hoped to use his personal influ-

123 Kaiser to Biilow, beseeching him not to resign, Aug. 11, 1905; G P.,

XIX, 497 f.

124 Cf. G.P., XI, 67-92; XIV, 559 f. marginal note 2, XIX, 303-350;

435-528; and XX, passim. According to Kuropatkin's Diary, Nov. 17, 1902

(Krasnyi Arhhiv, II, 10), the Kaiser at maneuvers in 1S96 or 1897 had
discussed with General Obruchev how desirable would be a Franco-Russian-

German Coalition as a means of dictating to England. Obruchev had
mentioned it to President Faure who thought it "worth being studied".
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ence over the weak-willed Tsar to draw Russia into a

defensive alliance with Germany. Russia would then get

her ally France to join it. By thus associating the Triple

and Dual Alliances, he would form a league of the five great

Continental Powers. This would put an end to the danger

to Europe which existed from the antagonism of the two

groups. It would help to assure the peace of the world.

It would also be able to hold in check England's overweening

naval and colonial power. Incidentally, it would increase

his own prestige and influence, because Germany would be

the dominating member of the league. This dream perhaps

was fantastic and impossible of realization, but it formed

the burden of the interesting letters from "Willy" to

"Nicky" during the Russo-Japanese War.125 At last, for a

brief moment of ecstatic joy in July, 1905, it did seem about

to come true.

(a) the kaiser's bjorko policy

The Kaiser had been cruising in northern waters and

suddenly suggested to the Tsar that they meet on their

yachts at Bjorko. The fact that France had just dropped

Delcasse, as we shall see later, and was inclined to accept

Germany's proposal for a Moroccan Conference
:
seemed to

indicate that France had abandoned hopes of revanche and

might at last be brought into more satisfactory relations

with Germany through the Tsar's influence. So the Kaiser

decided to take advantage of the Bjorko interview and of

125 Cf. my article, "The Kaiser's Secret Negotiations with the Tsar,

1904-05", in the Amer. Hist. Rev., XXIV, 48-72 (Oct., 1918). This may
now be supplemented by G.P., XIX, passim (especially 435-528) ; A.

Izvolski, Memoirs, ch. ii; E. J. Dillon, The Eclipse of Russia, chs. xvi-xviii;

H. von Moltke, Erinnerungen, p. 325 ff.; Witte, Memoirs, pp. 415-430; A.

Savinsky, "Guillaume II et la Russie", in Rev. des Deux Mondes, Dec,
1922, 765-802; the Russian documents in "Russko-germanskii dogovor 1905

goda, zakliuchennyi v Berke" [Russo-German treaty of 1905, concluded

at Bjorko], in Krasnyi Arkhiv, V, 5-49 (1924), also in German trans-

lation in KSF, II, 453-500 (Nov., 1924); and A. Savinsky, Recollection*

of a Russian Diplomat, London, 1927.
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the Tsar's difficulties arising from the war with Japan to

reopen the negotiations of the preceding autumn with the

Tsar and secure his signature to a treaty of alliance. Some

months earlier such a treaty had been discussed between

them and a draft had been drawn up only to be rejected

by Russia for fear of offending France. Now, perhaps, was

the time for getting it signed after all.

The HohcnzoUcrn steamed into the harbor of Bjorko

and dramatically dropped anchor along side of the Polar

Star. "Willy" and "Nicky" exchanged visits. It was a

scene which appealed vividly to the Kaiser's histrionic

temperament. His exaltation of mind may be judged by a

few selections from his autograph letter to Bulow, which

covers six printed pages, giving the story of what happened

in the cabin of the Polar Star:

Wisby, July 25, 1905

My dear Billow:

By my telegrams you have already learned that the

work of rapprochement has been crowned and the game

won. . . .

And now that it is done, one is surprised and says: How
is such a thing possible? For me the answer is very clear I

God has ordained and willed it thus; in spite of all man's

wit, in scorn of all man's intrigues, He has brought together

what belonged together! What Russia rejected in pride last

winter, and what she tried in her love of intrigue to turn

against us, that now she has most joyfully accepted as

a gracious gift after the fearful, stern, and humiliating hand

of the Lord has brought her low. I have done so much

thinking in the last days that my head has throbbed to be

sure that I am acting aright, always to keep in mind the in-

terests of my country no less than those of the Monarchical

Idea in general.

Finally, I raised my hands to the Lord above us all and

committed myself to Him and prayed Him to lead and guide

me as He wished; I was only the tool in His hands and I
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/ould do whatsoever He would inspire me to do, though the

task be ever so hard. And finally I also uttered the wish of

the Old Dessauer at Kesselsdorf, that if He did not wish to

help me He should at least not help the other side. Then

I felt myself wonderfully strengthened, and the will and

purpose became ever firmer and clearer within me: "You

will put it through no matter what the cost!" So I looked

forward to the interview full of confidence.

And what did I find? A warm, amiable, enthusiastic

reception, such as one receives only from a friend who loves

one heartily and sincerely. The Tsar threw his arms around

me and pressed me to him as though I were his own brother,

and he looked at me again and again with eyes that revealed

his gratitude and joy. [The Kaiser noted the absence of

Lamsdorf, to whom he applied an unprintable epithet.]

The Tsar said he was burning to have a thorough-

going discussion. We lighted our cigarettes and were soon

in medias res. He was uncommonly pleased with our Mor-

occo agreement [for a conference at Algeciras] which would

open the way for permanent good relations with France. He
heartily approved my hope that from it a lasting under-

standing, perhaps even an "agreement," with France might

blossom forth.

When I pointed out that in spite of egging on by Eng-

land, France had down-right refused to take up our chal-

lenge [in consenting to drop Delcasse] and therefore no

longer wanted to fight for Alsace-Lorraine, he said quickly:

"Yes, that I saw; it is quite clear that the Alsace-Lorraine

question is closed once for all, thank God!" Our talk then

turned on England, and it very soon appeared that the Tsar

feels a deep personal anger at England and the King. He
called Edward VII the greatest "mischief-maker" and the

most dangerous and deceptive intriguer in the world. I

could only agree with him, adding that I especially had had

to suffer from his intrigues in recent years. . . . He has a

passion for plotting against every power, of making "a

little agreement," whereupon the Tsar interrupted me, strik-

ing the table with his fist; "Well, I can only say he shall
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not get one from me and never in my life against Germany

or you, my word of honor upon it!"

[After dinner on t he Hohcnzollcrn the Kaiser next day,

with a draft of the hoped-for treaty in his pocket, visited

the Polar Star. The conversation again turned on the sub-

ject of England's intrigues against Russia in connection with

the war with Japan.]

I soon observed how deeply injured the Tsar felt by

the attitude of France in the Dogger Bank Affair, and how,

at England's behest, Rodjestvenski had been chased out of

Cochin-China, virtually into the hands of the Japs: "The

French behaved like scoundrels to me; by order of England,

my Ally left me in the lurch; and now look at Brest! How
they fraternize with the English. . . . What shall I do in

this disagreeable situation?''

Now I felt the moment was come! . . . "How would it

be, if we, too, should make a 'little agreement?' Last

winter we talked about it . .
." "0 yes, to be sure, I re-

member well, but I forget the contents of it. What a pity

I haven't got it here." "I have a copy, which I happen to

have quite by chance in my pocket."

The Tsar took me by the arm and he drew me out of the

dining room into his father's cabin and immediately shut

all the doors himself. "Show it to me, please." His dreamy

eyes sparkled.

I drew the envelope out of my pocket and unfolded the

paper on Alexander Ill's writing desk in front of the por-

trait of the Tsar's mother. He read once, twice and a third

time, the text which has already been sent you. I prayed

God that He would be with us now and incline the young

ruler. It was still as death. There was no sound but that

of the sea. The sun seemed gay and cheerful in the cozy

cabin. Right before me, glistening white lay the Hohcn-

zollcrn, and aloft in the morning breeze, fluttered the im-

perial flag; on its black cross I was reading the letters,

Gott mit Uns, when the Tsar's voice near me said: "That is

quite excellent. I quite agree!"

My heart beats so loudly that I can hear it ; I pull
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myself together and say, casually, "Should you like to sign

it? It would be a very nice souvenir of our interview." He
scanned the paper again, and then he said: "Yes, I will."

I opened the ink-well and gave him the pen, and he wrote

with a firm hand "Nicolas," then he handed the pen to me
and I signed. When I arose he clasped me into his arms

deeply moved and said: "I thank God and I thank you;

it will be of the most beneficial consequences for my country

and yours; you are Russia's only real friend in the whole

world. I have felt that through the whole war and I know
it." Tears of joy stood in my eyes—to be sure drops of

water were trickling down my forehead and back—and I

thought of Frederick William III, Queen Louise, Grandpa

and Nicholas I. Were they not close by at that moment?

Undoubtedly they were looking down from above and were

all surely full of joy!

Thus has the morning of July 24, 1905 at Bjorko become

a turning point in the history of Europe, thanks to the grace

of God; and a great relief in the situation for my dear

Fatherland which at last will be freed from the frightful

Franco-Russian pincers.126

The Kaiser's prayerful optimism and emotional fervor

were soon given a dash of cold water by Biilow. His Chan-

cellor threatened to resign. His pretext was that the Kaiser

had ventured on his own responsibility to modify slightly

the draft sent him from the Foreign Office. The Kaiser

had added the two words, "in Europe," so that Article II

read: "In case one of the two Empires shall be attacked

by a European Power, its Ally will aid it in Europe with

all its military and naval forces." The Kaiser's added

words had the positive advantage for Germany that she

assumed no obligations to help the Tsar on the frontier of

India or in the Far East, where Russia was most likely to

120 G.P., XIX, 458-465. The quoted passages are in English in the

original, as the Kaiser was evidently giving as nearly as possible the

Tsar's exact words. English was the language which "Willy" and "Nicky"
regularly used to one another.
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come into conflict with England. Billow's threatened resig-

nation was an unexpected and stunning blow. The Kaiser

could not part with him. He offered to get the Tsar to

change the treaty back to its original form and made an

appeal which Billow could not refuse:

You are worth 100.000 times more to me and the Father-

land than all the treaties in the world. . . . No, my friend,

stay in office and with me, and we will work further in com-

mon together ad majorcm Gcrmaniac gloriam. . . . After

the receipt of this letter, telegraph me, "All right," so that I

shall know you will stay. Because the morning after the

arrival of your letter of resignation would no longer find

your Emperor alive. Think of my poor wife and chil-

dren! 127

The Kaiser was soon to suffer a still more stunning blow,

which knocked his whole dream into a cocked hat. When
the Tsar revealed the treaty to his Minister of Foreign

Affairs, Count Lamsdorf "could not believe his eyes or ears."

After studying over the problem for most of the night, he

explained to the Tsar the serious significance of the docu-

ment signed in the cabin of the Polar Star. He made it

clear to his master how contrary the Bjorko Treaty was to

the spirit of the Franco-Russian Alliance, and how unlikely

it was that France could be forced, volens nolens, into such

a combination with Germany and Russia. Nicky therefore

had to write as tactfully as he could to Willy:

This document, of immense valour, ought to be strength-

ened, or made clearer, so as to enable all parties concerned

to fulfill their duties honestly and frankly. . . .

During your stay at Bjorkoe I did not have with me the

documents signed by my Father, which clearly define the

principles of the Franco-Russian Alliance. . . .

The first steps taken with the object of trying to find

out whether the French Government could be induced to

127GP.. XIX. to: i
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join our new treaty showed us that it is a difficult task, and

that it will take a long time to prepare to bring it over of

its free will. . . .

Therefore I think that the coming into force of the Bjor-

koe Treaty ought to be put off until we know how the French

will look upon it.128

Great was the Kaiser's vexation upon the receipt of this

letter postponing indefinitely the Bjorko Treaty. He

urgently appealed to Nicky to stand by his written agree-

ment, arguing that the treaty did not conflict with the

Franco-Russian Alliance, and that anyway,

Your Ally has notoriously left you in the lurch during

the whole [Russo-Japanese] war, whereas Germany helped

you in every way as far as it could, without infringing the

laws of neutrality. This puts Russia morally also under ob-

ligations to us; do ut des. Meanwhile the indiscretions of

Delcasse have shown the world that, though France is your

Ally, she nevertheless made an agreement with England

and was on the verge of surprising Germany, with British

help, in the middle of peace, while I was doing my best to

help you and your country, her Ally! . . . Our Moroccan

business is regulated to entire satisfaction, so that the air

is free for better understanding between us. Our treaty is

a very good base to build upon. We joined hands and

signed before God, who heard our vows! I therefore think

that the treaty can well come into existence. . . . What is

signed is signed! and God is our testator! 129

His appeals were unavailing. The Kaiser's hopes for

a Continental League were permanently dashed to the

ground. 130

(b) BULOW'S MOROCCO POLICY

To return from the Kaiser's attempt to secure a defen-

sive alliance with Russia to his Chancellor's Moroccan

128 Nicky to Willy, Oct. 7, 1905; G.P, XIX, 512.

129 Willy to Nicky, Oct. 12, 1905; G.P., XIX, 513-514.

130 For the details of the fate of the treaty, see G.P., XIX, 515-528.
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moves. The latter are the more important, because they

gave rise to the Morocco Crisis of 1905, and led to the

intimate naval and military "conversations" between France

and England, which are of the highest significance in the

development of the system of secret alliances.

At a dinner given in his honor at the German Embassy,

and again a few days later, on March 23, 1904, M. Delcasse

mentioned informally to Prince Radolin the negotiations

for the Anglo-French Agreement which was about to be

signed on April 8. Delcasse indicated the regions it would

deal with—Newfoundland, Egypt, Morocco, Sokoto, and

Siam. As to Morocco, he repeated that "he wished above

all else to maintain the status quo as long as possible."

But he said that the weakness of the Sultan's government

endangered commerce in Morocco, and that France felt it

desirable to strengthen the Sultan's position and end the

anarchy. "France does not wish to have any special in-

terests in Morocco," he said, "but it is her task, in the inter-

est of all nations carrying on trade, to put an end as far

as possible to the anarchy in this neighboring state." 131

This was the first definite knowledge which Biilow received

of the impending Anglo-French Agreement. Aside from

this informal notification and the fact that the Public Arti-

cles were soon printed in the newspapers, Germany was not

officially notified of the text, nor formally consulted by

France about this agreement, which threatened seriously to

interfere with German commercial rights and political in-

terests in Morocco. Biilow felt that Germany had been

slighted, and that her prestige as well as her material inter-

ests had been injured. To be sure, he at once instructed

the German newspapers to accept the news, without irrita-

131 Radolin to Biilow, March 23, 1904; G.P., XX, 5-7; c/. also 266ff.,

329 f., 396. Delcasse to Bihourd, the French Ambassador in Berlin,

March 27, 1904, Litre Jaune: Affaires du Maroc, I, 122; cj. 167 f., 196 f.,

202 ft.
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tion and jealousy, as a new indication of the peaceful situa-

tion in the world. 132 And in his much-quoted speech in the

Reichstag on April 12, he attempted, as usual, to put a

good face on a bad matter by appearing to welcome any

agreements between France and England which removed

causes of friction. In answer to an interpellation on the

subject he cautiously stated that he could hardly say

much, because the English and French Ministers had not

yet explained it publicly. In a delicate matter of foreign

affairs, he added,

I can only say that we have no reason to suppose that

this agreement is directed against any Power whatever. It

seems to be an attempt to eliminate the points of difference

between France and Great Britain by means of an amicable

understanding. From the point of view of German inter-

ests we have nothing to complain of, for we do not wish

to see strained relations between Great Britain and France,

if only because such a state of affairs would imperil the

peace of the world, the maintenance of which we sincerely

desire. Concerning Morocco, which constitutes the essential

point of the agreement, we are interested in this country,

as in fact in the rest of the Mediterranean, principally from

the economic point of view. . . . We must protect our com-

mercial interests in Morocco, and we shall protect them. 133

Though Bulow certainly underestimated at first the

political significance of the new Anglo-French Entente, he

was far from taking it as lightly as one might be led to

infer from his Reichstag speech, which was intended to

quiet the fears of the German public. In fact, it caused

him and his Foreign Office assistants to do a good deal of

serious thinking during the following weeks. He and Hol-

stein gradually reached a determination to hold to Ger-

many's rights under the international Morocco Treaty of

1880, and to ignore the Anglo-French Moroccan Convention

132G.P., XX, 12 (April 9). "3 Affaires du Maroc, I, 127.



ISO THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

until JDelcasse should invite a discussion of it and give

Germany an opportunity to be heard and perhaps get some

equivalent compensations. England and France, they felt,

could not by separate agreement deprive third parties of

their rights in Morocco, \ France, now given a free hand

in Morocco by England; would try to establish a French

economic monopoly there, as she had done in all her other

colonies. She would "Tunisify" Morocco by "peaceful pene-

tration." So Germany's commercial rights and interests

would be threatened, as the French would get exclusive

trading and financial privileges, and a monopoly of railway

and mining concessions. Furthermore, German prestige

would suffer, if she allowed Morocco to be disposed of by

France and England as if Germany did not exist, Holstein

summed the matter up: "If we let our toes be trodden

upon in Morocco without saying a word, we encourage

others to do the same thing elsewhere." 184

There were two ways by which Germany might give

expression to her wishes. The first was to tell Delcasse in

a frank and friendly manner that the published Anglo-

French Convention aroused concern in Germany in regard

to her commercial interests, and to ask more fully what

guarantees France would offer for the protection of these

interests. This was the more neighborly way. But it was

not adopted. The second way was to maintain an impas-

sive and sphinx-like silence, neither recognizing nor pro-

testing against the Anglo-French Agreement, but acting as

if it did not exist for Germany, since Germany had not been

officially informed of the text of it. This second plan would

consist in Germany's going step by step with France in

Morocco in the matter of police measures to curb the

anarchy. If France sent warships to Tangier, Germany

could do likewise. In this way, without infringing any

134 Holstein's Memoir of June 3, 1904; G.P., XX, 207-9; cf. also

Billow to Radolin July 21
;
G.P., XX, 210-214.
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rights, Germany might compel Delcasse to be the first to

speak and inquire as to German intentions. The less Ger-

many explained her steps in the newspapers, the more uncer-

tain and uncomfortable the French would become. Then

when once Delcasse saw that Germany was in earnest,

Germany ought to make concessions and abandon any

thought of establishing a foothold in Morocco. This policy

was more adventurous and dangerous to the peace of Eu-

rope. But it was the one which Billow and Holstein

adopted. 135

But this sphinx-like waiting policy did not bear fruit as

rapidly as had been hoped. Delcasse was evidently becom-

ing increasingly nervous, but he avoided broaching the ques-

tion. \To bring him out of his silence Germany began to

encourage the Sultan to resist the police measures which

the French at last, in the winter of 1904-05, planned to

put into effects Kuhlmann, the German Charge d'Affaires

in Tangier, had already reported that there seemed to be

friction between France and England, and that it was not

likely that Delcasse could count on more than Platonic

support from the British. The Dogger Bank Affair had

just occurred and given rise in England to violent indigna-

tion against Russia. Kuhlmann felt sure that France was
in no position to settle the fate of Morocco without Ger-

many's sanction. In fact he believed M. Delcasse to be in

the unenviable position of resting one leg on Russia and

another on England, and thus to be in danger of falling

between two stools as the tension between these two hostile

countries tightened. He had also heard that the American

Vice-Consul had said to a leading Moor, "Germany has not

spoken, and until then we cannot believe that anything

definite has been decided." 136

During the summer of 1904 the Sultan continued to

135 G.P., XX, 7-33, 195-234, especially 215 ff.

136 Kuhlmann to Bulow, Nov. 9, 1904; G.P., XX, 232.
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answer evasively Billow's demands in regard to Genthe, a

German citizen murdered in Morocco. The German Min-

ister at Tangier, therefore, wanted Germany to assert her

prestige by an ultimatum to the Sultan, to be followed, if

necessary, by the sending of a warship to Moroccan waters

as a diplomatic demonstration. Bulow favored it, but the

Kaiser forbade it, and it did not take place. 137 Soon after-

wards Germany put aside her grievance over the Genthe

murder and began to assume an attitude of friendliness to

the Sultan. This was to encourage him to resist the "Tu-

nisification" program which Dclcasse was now believed to be

preparing to force upon him. This would consist, as was

gathered in Tangier from St. Rene Taillandier, the head of

the French Mission, mainly of three points: Tne reorganiza-

tion of the Sultan's army by French instructors ]Hhc sign-

ing by the Sultan of a treaty with the French excluding

the political influence of other nations ;~and the control by

France of the Sultan's finances. To Kuhlmann this looked

very much like the establishment of a virtual protector-

ate.
138 Germany therefore secretly encouraged the Sultan

to resist the imposition of the French program. When he

called together a patriotic Assembly of Notables from all

Morocco to examine the French demands, Kuhlmann ap-

proved the measure as "a skilful anti-French move." 139

Then, when the French Press began to demand that the

Assembly of Notables be dismissed, Bulow secretly advised

the contrary, believing that the proud Moroccan chieftains

would declare against the French program. lie did not

think it likely that the French would go to the point of

trying to bluff the Sultan with a threat of war, because the

new Rouvier Cabinet did not wish to risk the expenditure

G.P., XX, 222-230.

l38Kiihlmann to Bulow, Nov. 2S, 1904; G.P., XX, 237 ff. For the

detailed aims of the Taillandier Mission, see Affaires du Maroc, I, 178-

184.

139G.P., XX, 240 ff.
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of men and money in a Moroccan campaign, or weaken

France's position toward Germany by transferring troops

to Africa. Billow, however, had been careful to warn

Kiihlmann not to encourage the Sultan to expect that Ger-

many would support him to the point of making war on

France on his behalf. 140

(c) THE KAISER'S TANGIER VISIT

It was during these rival efforts in Morocco on the part

of Kiihlmann and Taillandier to win the ear of the Sultan,

that Billow suddenly decided to have the Kaiser stop on

his trip from Hamburg to Corfu at Tangier and greet the

Sultan. The original schedule of the Kaiser's trip did not

provide for this, but Billow had the Kolnische Zeitung print

a despatch from Tangier announcing that the Kaiser would

land there on March 31. He then sent the clipping to the

Kaiser, adding, "Your Majesty's visit will embarrass M.
Delcasse, block his plan, and benefit our economic interests

in Morocco." 141 The Kaiser at first agreed, but when he

learned from the newspapers that the Tangier population,

including the English, were planning to exploit his visit

against the French, he wrote Bulow: "Telegraph at once

to Tangier that it is most doubtful whether I land, and

that I am only travelling incognito as a tourist; therefore,

no audiences, no receptions." Bulow, however, shrewdly

pointed out to him that a public announcement of the visit

had been made, and if it was given up, Delcasse would

spread abroad the idea that it was owing to French repre-

sentations in Berlin that the visit had been abandoned.

Delcasse would make a diplomatic triumph out of it. So

the Kaiser again agreed, though at Lisbon, and even at the

last moment in the harbor at Tangier, he had further hesi-

tations. But he finally yielded to the advice of those with

140 G.P., XX, 243.

hi Bulow to Kaiser, Mar. 20, 1905; G.P., XX, 262.



184 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

him, and carried out the program which had been arranged

for him. 142

In spite of the difficulties of landing in a very rough sea

and the fright caused to the Kaiser's horse by the din of

Arab yelling, music, and the promiscuous discharge of fire-

arms, the Kaiser's visit passed off smoothly enough with

brilliant Oriental color. At the German Legation he re-

ceived the members of the German colony and the Diplo-

matic Corps. To the French representative he said that

his visit meant that Germany wanted freedom of trade and

equality with others; that he wished to deal directly with

the Sultan as a free and equal sovereign of an independent

country, and lie expected that France would respect his

wishes. To the Sultan's Great Uncle and Plenipotentiary,

he emphasized the same points, adding that such reforms

as were made ought to be in accordance with the Koran and

Mohammedan tradition; that European customs ought not

to be blindly adopted; and that the Sultan would do well

in this matter to heed the advice of his Notables. 143

Biilow then proposed the calling of an international

conference of all the Powers who had signed the Madrid

Treaty of 1880.

He thought this the best way of settling the Moroccan

question and securing the commercial interests of Germany,

as well as of other nations, against the danger of Delcasse's

"Tunisification" of the country. Here, he rightly believed, he

was on solid ground. He renewed Germany's declaration

of territorial disinterestedness, and made it clear that Ger-

many was not seeking any special advantages for herself,

G.P., XX, 2G3 (T. Baron Schocn, who accompanied the Kaiser,

gives a pood account in his Memoirs of an Ambassador, pp. 19-26.

us As the speeches were informal, and in the midst of a large and
somewhat noisy assemblage, the reports of what he said vary considerably

in the accounts of Schoen (G.P., XX, 2S6), Kiihlmann (Schulthess, Euro-
paischer Geschichtskalcndrr, 1905, p. 304), and Chcrisey, the French repre-

sentative (Afjaircs du Maroc, I, 205).
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but was only acting in the interest of all countries having

commercial interests in Morocco.

He felt sure that he would have the support of a major-

ity of the Powers in such a conference. President Roose-

velt was sounded and was thought to favor it, as he had

always favored an "open door" policy throughout the

world. 144 Biilow hoped that Roosevelt's attitude would

have a favorable effect on England and strengthen the

influence of the London Times correspondent at Tangier,145

who had supported the German point of view. Austria and

Italy, he believed, could be counted on as allies. Russia

was too much absorbed by the defeats in Manchuria to

interpose objections. The Sultan of Morocco himself

grasped eagerly at the conference idea, when it was sug-

gested to him, as an easy way of avoiding a virtual French

protectorate. France, therefore, would be left in a minority

and would have to consent to see her secret agreements

with England and Spain replaced by an international settle-

ment. As the whole French Morocco policy had been

peculiarly the work of Delcasse, the thwarting of it by the

holding of an international conference would probably

render his position in France insecure, especially if Ger-

many firmly insisted on a conference. Meanwhile, Biilow

continued to maintain toward France his very disconcerting

attitude of sphinx-like and impassive silence, still ignoring

the Anglo-French Moroccan Agreement of 1904. 140

As Biilow had calculated, the French in general, and

Delcasse in particular, now became very uneasy. They felt

that they were being menaced by Germany, but did not

understand exactly what she wanted. Some suspected she

was looking for a pretext for war, which was certainly not

the case, as the recently published German documents

144G.P., XX, 256 ff. J. B. Bishop, Roosevelt, I, 467 ff.

145 Mr. W. B. Harris, G.P., XX, 261 ff. See also Harris' own memoirs.
"6 G.P., XX, 293 ff.
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clearly prove. Within France there was a strong and grow-

ing party which felt that Delcasse had been pursuing an

adventurous and dangerous imperialist policy; he was in-

volving the risk of war with the Sultan of Morocco, and

even with Germany, at a time when France was unprepared

from a military point of view and weakened by the defeats

of her Russian ally. This party, which included the French

Ambassador in Berlin, 1 17 wanted to yield to Germany's pro-

posal for a conference, even though it meant the humilia-

tion and the probable resignation of Delcasse as Minister

of Foreign Affairs. This also was the feeling of M. Rouvier,

the Prime Minister, and eventually of a majority of the

Cabinet.

On April 26, M. Rouvier dined with Prince Radolin at

the German Embassy, and told him with evident emotion

that under no circumstances would he wish to see trouble

between Germany and France; that the French people in-

clined much more to the German than to the English side,

though there were foolish irresponsible patriots who
preached revanche. France and Germany must stand to-

gether and preserve the peace of the world. So long as he

was at the head of affairs, this would be his purpose. As

far as Morocco was concerned, he guaranteed that there

would be no change in the status quo and no limitation on

the commerce of foreign nations. "It is impossible and it

would be criminal," he concluded, with great emotion, "that

the two countries which are called to come to an under-

standing and draw closer to one another should quarrel

—

and that simply on account of Morocco!" M. Rouvier's

remark had all the more significance from the fact that a

few minutes before the dinner, Prince Radolin had been

informed by a person in M. Rouvier's confidence that "the

Prime Minister by no means identified himself with Del-

casse, since he knew that the English navy did not run on

«' Cf. Bihourd's reports, Affaires du Maroc, I, 202 (T., 215 f., 240.
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wheels" and, therefore, could not protect Paris. From all

this Prince Radolin gained the impression that M. Rouvier

would not be unwilling to sacrifice his Minister of Foreign

Affairs. 148

(d) delcasse's fall and its consequences

This hint from Rouvier was sufficient to determine

Billow to work henceforth to overthrow the man whom he

regarded as dangerous to Germany and to the peace of

Europe. Not only did he regard Delcasse as the incarna-

tion of French aggressive imperialism and of the revanche

spirit, but he believed that so long as he continued at the

head of the French Foreign Office, with his intrigues and

misrepresentations, there could be no satisfactory relations

between the countries on the two sides of the Rhine. 149

Another party in France, however, made up of a con-

siderable group of newspapers and chauvinists, protested

loudly against the German menace. Delcasse counted on

them for support, and made a strong fight for his political

life. The excising story of this internal French conflict, as

witnessed by the German representative in Paris, may
now be followed in detail in the new German documents.150

148 Radolin to Biilow, April 27, 1905; G.P., XX, 344. This telegram,

according to a letter of Paleologue's in the Paris Temps of March 15, 1922,

was deciphered by the French during the war. Its publication by
Paleologue gave rise to a lively discussion in 1922, as to whether the

German Government had demanded the head of Delcasse, or whether it

had been offered to them. Mr. 0. S. Hale, of the University of Penn-
sylvania, in an unpublished study, indicates that there is no truth in

the commonly repeated legend, based on an article in Le Gaulois, June

17, 1905, that Prince Henckel von Donnersmarck was sent on a special

mission by the German Government to demand the resignation of Del-

casse. On internal and other evidence Mr. Hale thinks the report in

Le Gaulois is apocryphal. This confirms the present writer's conclusion

that the "Donnersmarck Mission" was a product of French journalistic

imagination.
149 Cf. G.P., XX, 393 ff. for a list of half a dozen cases in which

Biilow believed Delcasse guilty of misrepresentations and broken promises.

150 G.P, XX, 344-409. Cf. R. Pinon, France et Allemagne (Pans,

1913), which is, on the whole, favorable to Germany and critical of Del-
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Delcasse insisted on holding out against the German
proposal for a conference. He alleged it would put the

Sultan under international tutelage, but in reality he feared

it would wreck his own program. Moreover, to yield in the

face of German pressure would be an intolerable humilia-

tion for France, as well as for himself personally. He
declared to his colleagues that Germany was "bluffing,"

and he wanted to call their bluff even at the risk of war.

He would rather resign than yield.

But meanwhile his position was being undermined

both at Fez and at Paris. At the end of May the Sultan

finally rejected the French demands and adopted the Ger-

man proposal of inviting the Powers to an international

conference. In Paris the German Ambassador maintained

a firm and unyielding attitude, and gave the impression

that Germany would back up the Sultan with force if

necessary.

M. Rouvier was in a most distressing position. He
feared that M. Dclcasse was leading France to the brink of

war. Through a confidential agent he sounded Germany
further, and gathered that if he consented to drop Delcasse

from the Cabinet, and accepted the idea of a conference, the

critical situation would be happily relieved and Germany
would not make too great difficulties when the conference

met. He therefore finally went to President Loubet, taking

M. Delcasse with him, and told the President that he was

absolutely opposed to M. Delcasse's policy. He said that

casso; A. Movil, Dc la paix dc Francfort a la conference d'Algesiras (Paris,

1909), which takes the opposite point of view. Tardicu La Conference
d'Algesiras, as usual, is strongly nationalist. The French Yellow Book,

Affaires du Maroc, is singularly barren on this important aspect of the

Moroccan affair; it contains nothing at all on the critical week of Del-

casse's final fall. The material in the recent German documents on Bjiirko,

Delcasse, and t ho Morocco Crisis of 1905 is summarized by E. Lalov, in

Mercure dc France, CLXXXVI, 594 ff.; CLXXXVII, 564fT.; CLXXX1X,
293 IT. ; CXC. 508 IT.

;
CXCII, 72 ff. ( Mairh-Xov. inl.or. 1926); and by R. J.

Sontag, in Amcr. Hist. Rev., XXXIII, 278-301 (Jan., 1928).
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next day he would hold a Cabinet meeting, and would

resign, if a majority of his colleagues did not agree with

him. Accordingly, on June 6, the Cabinet was forced to

choose between M. Rouvier and M. Delcasse. All the Min-

isters sided with the Prime Minister, according to infor-

mation conveyed to Radolin. M. Delcasse resigned, and M.
Rouvier took over his portfolio.

M. Delcasse's fall did not relieve the tension so much as

Rouvier had hoped. There followed many weeks of difficult

negotiations before the two countries could find a formula

establishing the basis on which the conference should meet.

Meanwhile England supported every French argument so

strongly, and the English Press launched such a campaign

against Germany, that the Moroccan question became al-

most more of an Anglo-German than a Franco-German con-

flict. Thanks in part to President Roosevelt's enjoying the

confidence of M. Jusserand and Baron Speck von Sternburg

at Washington, he was able tactfully and skilfully to secure

first a French acceptance of the conference idea, and then

the basis on which it should proceed.

When the conference finally met at Algeciras in January,

1906, there still remained the fundamental clash between

the Anglo-French and the German positions. France and

England pulled every possible political wire to secure de-

cisions which would carry out the intention of the Anglo-

French Agreement of 1904 and give France control. Ger-

many pulled with equal energy, but less success, to secure

equal rights for all nations and the establishment of a con-

trol in Morocco which should be genuinely international

and not purely French. In sketching the development of

the system of secret alliances, it is unnecessary to go into

these Algeciras intrigues. Suffice it to say that Germany
won in principle, but France won in practical results. The
main importance of the First Morocco Crisis lies in the

fact that from the outset it strengthened the ties between
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France and England, and led to new secret understandings

between them.

Billow's Morocco policy seemed to have resulted in a

brilliant diplomatic victory. The Kaiser, who had had no

great share personally in bringing it about nor even full

knowledge of its progress, accepted it with pleasure. He
signalized it, not very tactfully as the French felt, by raising

Biilow to the rank of Prince the day after Delcasse's fall,

and by bestowing a decoration upon Bctzold, the secret go-

between in the unofficial negotiations between Rouvier and

Radolin. Biilow had asked that Betzold be given the Order

of the Red Eagle, "Third Class"; the Kaiser ordered it raised

to "Second Class," "because he saved us from war." 151

Blissfully oblivious of the psychological effect such a

diplomatic humiliation as Delcasse's fall was bound to have

on a proud people like the French, to say nothing of the

impropriety of meddling in the internal politics of a Great

Power, the Kaiser seems sincerely to have regarded Del-

casse's depart ure from the French Foreign Office as really

opening the way, not only for better relations with France,

but even for a new era in the system of alliances. The

French, he believed, had given evidence that they were no

longer minded to pursue the revanche policy which Del-

casse had personified. "France," he wrote to Biilow from

Bjorko, "refused to take up our challenge." And the Tsar

had agreed that it was "quite clear that the Alsace-Lorraine

question is closed once for all, thank God." 152 It opened

the way, he hoped, for the success of his Bjorko effort for

a defensive alliance with Russia, in which France would

be included as soon as the Russo-Japanese War was ended.

151 G.P., XX. 409.

162 GP., XIX, 460. A few weeks later the Kaiser appears to have

made a similar remark to Izvolski at Copenhagen ; Memoirs of Alexander

Izvolski, p. 78; cf. also Izvolski's letter in the Paris Temps, Sept. 15,

1917, quoted in my Am-cr. Hist. Rev. article on the Bjorko meeting, note

48.
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He and President Roosevelt had already taken energetic

steps to bring about the peace negotiations which soon took

place at Portsmouth. 153 The Kaiser, therefore, was in a

great hurry to tell Roosevelt of the Bjorko meeting, and

directed the following telegram to him:

The Emperor and I have concluded an agreement to lend

each other mutual help in case any European power should

attack one of us, and France is to be cosignatory to it.

In fact Germany enters the dual-alliance—originally con-

cluded against it—as third party. It being the leading

power of the triple-alliance, the latter and the dual-alliance

—instead of glaring at each other for [no] purpose at all

—

join hands and the peace of Europe is guaranteed. This is

the fruit of our understanding with France about Morocco,

the fact, upon which you sent me so kind compliments. I

am sure, that this grouping of powers is leading to a general

"detente," will be of great use in enabling you to fulfil the

great mission of peace, which Providence has entrusted to

your hands for the good of the world.154

In reality, however, Billow's Morocco policy of 1905 was

one of those victories which is worse than a defeat. In seek-

ing to preserve the independence of the Sultan and the open

door in Morocco by his sphinx-like policy of studied silence,

which gave the impression of a menace, all the more alarm-

ing because of its mysteriousness, Biilow had been striving

for the right thing in the wrong way. In trying to frighten

153 For the Kaiser's initiation and Roosevelt's carrying out of media-

tion between Russia and Japan, see G.P., XIX, 529-630; J. B. Bishop,

Theodore Roosevelt and His Time (N. Y., 1920), I, 374-424; H. C. Lodge,

Correspondence of Theodore Roosevelt and Henry Cabot Lodge (N. Y.,

1925), II, 130-192; and A. Hasenclever, "Theodore Roosevelt und die

Marokkokrisis von 1904-1906," in Archiv }. Politik und Geschichte, VI,

Heft 3, 184-245 (1928).

154 GR., XIX, 466. The telegram was not sent, because Biilow

objected that the arrangement with the Tsar was strictly secret, and

might leak out prematurely in Washington; but it is highly interesting,

as indicating the Kaiser's interpretation of the Bjorko Treaty, and his

close relations with Roosevelt at this time.
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Rouvier into ousting his Minister of Foreign Affairs, he had

been egregiously guilty of aiming at the wrong thing in the

wrong way. The incident made a painful impression on

the French. It contributed not a little to the ultimate re-

vival of a new determination on the part of some of her

leading men that they would rather risk war than accept

another such humiliation. M. Poincare, for instance, in his

public speeches and his writings never tires of referring to

the "brutality" and "odious violence" of Germany's belli-

cose diplomatic methods. More fatal still for Germany, it

helped rouse the British Government to enter into those

naval and military "conversations" which brought England

into the World War and thus made certain Germany's ulti-

mate catastrophic defeat.

7 ANGLO-FRENCH MILITARY AND NAVAL "CONVERSATIONS,"

1905-1912

As the Franco-Russian Entente of 1S91 was followed by
a secret Military Convention, so the Anglo-French Entente

of 1904 was soon supplemented by momentous but very

secret naval and military arrangements, or, as Sir Edward
Grey euphemistically calls them, "conversations." These

lacked, at first, the rigid and binding character of the

Franco-Russian Alliance, but they gradually came to be,

in fact if not in form, a most vital link in the system of

secret alliances. In spite of the meticulous nicety with

which Sir Edward Grey was careful to state that "England's

hands were free," and that "it would be left for Parliament

to decide," he allowed the French to hope confidently that,

in case Germany caused a European war, England would
take the field on the side of the French. He permitted the

English and French Naval and Military Staffs to elaborate

technical arrangements for joint war action, which became
the basis of the strategic plans of both countries. These

came to involve mutual obligations which were virtually as
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entangling as a formal alliance. It is always dangerous to

allow the military authorities of two countries to develop

inter-dependent strategic plans. They come to make ar-

rangements which, by their very nature, necessarily involve

obligations which are virtually binding upon the political

authorities. Here is where Sir Edward Grey's great respon-

sibility and mistake began. It is therefore important to

note in some detail the origin, character, and consequences

of these naval and military "conversations." They reach

back in part to the time of his predecessor at the Foreign

Office, Lord Lansdowne.155

In Art. IX of the Anglo-French Convention of 1904,

England had promised merely diplomatic support to France

in connection with Morocco. But after the Kaiser's visit

153 The secrecy and subleties of diplomatic language in which these

conversations were carried on has given rise to a wide literature of

apology and accusation. From the English side the most authoritative

apologias are: Grey, Twenty-Five Years, I, 48 ff., 59-118; II, Iff., 39 ff.,

310 ff.; H. H. Asquith, The Genesis of the War, pp. 92-110, 142-216; Lord

Haldane, Before the War, passim; J. A. Spender, Life of Sir Henry

Campbell-Bannerman, II, 245-268; C. A. Repington, The First World War,

ch. i; and W. S. Churchill, The World Crisis, I, 1-191. The most note-

worthy criticisms of Grey's policy are: Lord Loreburn, How the War

Came, passim; E. D. Morel, Ten Years of Secret Diplomacy; G. P.

Gooch, Camb. Hist, of Brit. Foreign Policy, III, 338 ff., 438 ff; J. A.

Farrer, England under Edward VII, passim; G. L. Dickinson, The Inter-

national Anarchy, 1904-1914, pp. 127 ff., 375 ff.; and the indictment, drawn

with a lawyer's skill, by J. S. Ewart, The Roots and Causes of the Wars,

chs. v, xxii.

From the French side, besides the volumes of Pinon, Mevil, and

Tardieu mentioned above in note 150, see R. Poincare, Les Origines de la

Guerre, p. 72 ff., Au Service de la France, I, 146-235, and the criticisms

of his policy in the volumes of Fabre-Luce, Judet, Pevet, Victor Mar-

gueritte, Morhardt, and Demartial.

From the German side there is abundant material in G.P., XX-XXV,
XXVIII-XXXI, passim; cf. also H. Herzfeld, "Der deutsche Flottenbau

und die englische Politik", in Archiv. fur Politik und Geschichte, IV, 117 ff.

(1926); H. Lutz, Lord Grey und der Weltkrieg (Berlin, 1927, English

trans., N. Y., 1928); and A. von Tirpitz, Polilische Dokumente: I, Der

Aufbau der deutschen Weltmacht (Stuttgart and Berlin, 1924), passim.

American accounts, severely critical of Grey and Poincare, may be

found in H. E. Barnes, The Genesis of the World War, ch. viii; and E. F.

Henderson, The Verdict of History: The Case of Sir Edward Grey (pri-

vately printed, 1924).
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to Tangier, the English Press and the English Government
became obsessed with the idea that Germany was endeavor-
ing to break up the Entente by bullying France. It jarred

the sporting spirit of the British to see France menaced
because of her new friendship with England, at a moment
when France's ally was being so disastrously defeated in
the Far East. 150 The English were also irritated by the
rapidly growing German navy, as well as by the under-
current of political and commercial rivalry which had ex-
isted for some years in Africa, Turkey, and elsewhere in the
world. Level-headed observers in the German Embassy at
London, like Count Metternich and Freiherr von Eckard-
stein, who were not at all blinded by Anglophobia, reported
the anti-German feeling in the newspapers and in society
as dangerously strong. 157 They found the British Press, in
the Morocco question, "more French than the French."
They warned the German Government that if war arose
over Morocco, "there can be no doubt that England will
stand unconditionally and actively on the French side, and
go against Germany, even with enthusiasm." 158

In accord with this public feeling, Lord Lansdowne and
M. Paul Cambon entered into discussions for an exchange
of notes, by which England should "take a step further,"
and offer the French something more substantial than mere
diplomatic support. Mr. Gooch, on the basis of information
supplied to him by the British Foreign Office, implies that
the initiative came from France, 159 while M. Poincare, on

156 Looking back six months later, the German Ambassador in
London summed up the situation: "The impression here is that 'Ger-
many has been acting as a bully', and that because we felt ourselves to be
the stronger, we wanted to force measures upon the French"; Metternich
to Iiiilmv, I\r. 20, liMC; CI P. XX, 689; cf. also, XXI 46

f

»67 GP., XX, 601 fT., 618IL, 627 ff.. C47 IT.. 669ff., 685 ff.

158 Metternich to Bulow, May 1, 1905; G.P., XX, 607, 618.
159 "In the middle of May, the French Ambassador complained to

Lord Lansdowne of the general attitude of the German Government which
was seeking in all parts of the world to sow discord between France
and Great Britain. . . . Lord Lansdowne replied that the moral seemed
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the basis of Paul Cambon's reports, implies that it came

from Lord Lansdowne. 160 From these discussions the

French gathered that Lord Lansdowne was ready to offer

an agreement, veiled from Parliament and the public under

the form of an exchange of notes, to exchange views in

common—an agreement which might lead to a real alli-

ance. 161 As M. Cambon wrote, later on, in April and Sep-

tember, 1912:

I know that the British Government does not have the

right to bind itself without the authorization of Parliament
;

but there is no need of a duplicate agreement, of a treaty

drawn up and signed [pas besoin d'un accord en partie

double, cle traite signe et paraphre] ; we could content our-

selves with an exchange of declarations. This is what we
would have done in 1905 with Lord Lansdowne, if the resig-

nation of M. Delcasse had not cut short our conversations. 102

to be that each Government should continue to treat the other with the

most absolute mutual confidence, should keep it fully informed of

everything which came to their knowledge, and should, so far as pos-

sible, discuss in advance any contingencies by which they might in the

course of events find themselves confronted"; Gooch, Camb. Hist, of

Brit. For. Policy, III, 342.

160 "In the month of April, 1905, Lord Lansdowne had appeared

disposed to take one step further, and had proposed to M. Cambon a

general formula for an Entente. . . ."; Poincare, Les Origines de la

Guerre (Paris, 1921), p. 79. That M. Poincare is correct seems to be indi-

cated by Mr. Spender, who says that on April 25, 1905, Sir Francis Bertie

informed M. Delcasse, on Lord Lansdowne's instructions, that the Brit-

ish Government would join the French in opposing Germany's acquisition

of a port on the coast of Morocco, and hoped to be given a full oppor-

tunity to concert with the French Government the measures which might
be taken to prevent it. The French were pleased. A month later, after

further conversations, on May 25, Lord Lansdowne suggested "that the

two Governments should treat one another with the utmost confidence

and discuss all likely contingencies"; J. A. Spender, Lije oj Sir Henry
Campbell-Bannerman II, 248.

161 M. Poincare says in his recent memoirs (Au Service de la France,

I, 187, 221) ; "The Conservative Government had been able to contemplate

an alliance in 1905." "M. Paul Cambon had written me that at the

time [1905] an agreement of this kind [for an exchange of views in

common] would have been only a beginning on the part of Lord Lans-
downe. . . . The forced resignation of M. Delcasse had perhaps made
us lose in 1905 an opportunity for a veritable alliance with England".

162 Paul Cambon to Poincare, April 18, 1912, Au Service de la France,

I, 174.
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Would it not be possible [said Cambon to Grey] to re-

turn, at least partially, to the proposals of Lord Lansdowne,

to bind ourselves, for example, to exchange views in com-

mon [de sc conccrtcr] in case of menacing complications,

and to settle that, in such a hypothesis, we should seek to-

gether the means most suited to protect us mutually from

the peril of war? In a word, if, faced with this peril, we

judge the best method to be an alliance and a military con-

vention, we will employ it.
103

Now it is interesting to observe how, on the one hand,

Lord Lansdowne's proposal encouraged M. Delcasse's hopes

and were given an extravagant interpretation by him; and

how, on the other, its existence was reported to, or suspected

by, the Germans, and then flatly denied by the British.

The Lansdowne-Cambon negotiations seem to have ad-

vanced to the point where the notes to be exchanged had

already been drawn up and transmitted in written form to

M. Delcasse for his final approval. 101 This was just at the

moment when the Morocco Crisis was at its height, and he

was fighting to persuade his colleagues to reject the Ger-

man proposal for an international conference. He inter-

preted the Lansdowne proposal as an assurance of a British

alliance and armed support. He used it as an argument to

try to persuade President Loubet and the Cabinet to stand

by him in refusing the German demands. But, as we have

seen, the Rouvier Cabinet and President Loubet declined

i r>3 Paul Cambon to Poincare, Sept. 21, 1912; Au Service dc la France,

I, 218 f.

io-» Both M. Delcasse and M. Chaumie, Minister of Justice at the

time, appear to leave no doubt on this point. M. Delcasse, in a letter

published in the Figaro of March 24, 1922, says: "Le 6 juin je n'avais

que depuis quarante-huit heurcs l'o(Tre anglais de concours". M. Chaumie,
in notes on the decisive Cabinet meeting of June 6 made at the time
and later published by his colleague in the Ministry of Justice, M.
Bienvcnu-Martin, in the Temps of March 19. 1922, says explicitly: "Ces
ouvertures nc sont pas bornees a de simples pourparlers; des notes ecritea

ont deja ete eehangces"
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to take the risk of war with Germany, and M. Delcasse

resigned. 165

In October, 1905, the Matin published a series of reve-

lations concerning the events of M. Delcasse's overthrow.

They included the startling assertion, as coming from Del-

casse, that he had been promised by the British Government

that, in case of a German attack on France, the English fleet

would be mobilized to seize the Kiel Canal and would land

100,000 men in Schleswig-Holstein. The revelations made
a sensation at the time, and have remained ever since

something of a puzzle to historians, inasmuch as the British

have always denied that they made any offer of alliance or

armed assistance to France. Mr. Gooch suggests that Del-

casse's mistakenly wide interpretation of Britain's attitude

may be explained by the probability that King Edward VII,

during a visit to Paris, intimated to the French Minister

that, in case of need, England would intervene on the

French side. 106 One of the editors of Die Grosse Politik

suggests that the offer came, not from Lord Lansdowne, but

from Sir Francis Bertie. 167 This British Ambassador in

Paris was certainly strongly pro-French, but it is hardly

likely that he would have taken so serious a step without

authorization, and there is no convincing evidence that he

165 On June 7, Flotow, the German Charge d'Affaires in Paris re-

ported (G.P., XX, 623-5) information coming from the owner of the

Matin that "a regular offer of an offensive and defensive alliance with

an anti-German aim has been made here", but not yet accepted, partly

on account of the effect on Russia, and partly because a majority of

the Cabinet hoped still for a satisfactory settlement with Germany.
On the same day, Flotow was able to sound M. Rouvier through their

mutual confidential agent, and the French Premier had declared posi-

tively that an Anglo-French alliance was out of the question. It is

quite possible that Delcasse, after his fall, may have given Paris news-
paper editors a hint of the English proposals—both to justify his own
policy, and with the idea that the news would be passed on to Germany
and further irritate Anglo-German relations; cf. G.P., XX, 623 note,

and 631 note.

166 Gooch, I.e., p. 343. Eckardstein, III, 105.

167 A. Mendelssohn Bartholdy, in Wissen und Leben, Feb. 1, 1925,

cited by Dickinson, The International Anarchy, p. 129, note 1.
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did so. Possibly the idea of landing 100,000 men in Hol-

stein came from Sir John Fisher. It was the kind of strategy

which he often urged and commended, and accords with his

advice to King Edward in 190S: "We should 'Copenhagen'

the German Fleet at Kiel a la Nelson." 108 Admiral Fisher's

idea may have been handed on to the French by King

Edward, or it may have come to them as a result of the

direct naval "conversations" which the French and Eng-

lish Staffs were already carrying on in 1905. 109 Sir John

Fisher was a very lovable old sea dog, with all the freshness

of the salt spray which he loved so well, but he had an indis-

creet habit of expressing himself promiscuously. 170 At a

dinner in December, 1005, he told Colonel Repington that

"he was prepared, on his own responsibility, to order our

fleets to go wherever they might be required. He told me
that he had seen on paper Lord Lansdowne's assurances to

M. Cambon, and that they were quite distinct in their tenor.

He had shown them to Sir Edward Grey, and declared that

they were part of the engagements taken over from the last

Government, and would hold good until denounced." 171

It is not at all unlikely that he conveyed to the French the

1C8C/. Fisher, Memories and Records, I, 22, 47 ff., 1SS, 207, 211,

233; II, 176, 20S rT., 21S f., 225 (T.

ico Grey, I, 74; II, 2. Sir Alfred Beit and the Kaiser, in an interest-

ing conversation soon after the Matin revelations, assumed that the

idea came from Fisher; G.P., XX, 694. Fisher, Memories, p. 49, in con-

nection with this conversation, says: "The German Emperor did say

to Beit that I was dangerous, and that he knew of my ideas as regards

the Baltic being Germany's vulnerable spot, and he had heard of my
idea for 'Copcnhagening' the German Fleet. But this last I much doubt.

He only said it because he knew it was what we ought to have done."
170For example, upon the news of Tirpitz's dismissal, he addressed

him a letter which got into a London newspaper: "Dear old Tirps:

Cheer up, old chap! . . . Yours, till Hell freezes, Fisher"; Memories, p.

45. To a Russian Grand Duchess, who had written him of a picnic,

pleasant except for the gnats biting her ankles, he telegraphed: "I wish

to God I had been one of the gnats"; ibid., p. 231. Winston Churchill

(The World Crisis, pp. 72-79) paints a brilliant picture of Fisher and of

his indiscretion in the "Bacon letters affair."

171 Repington, First World War, p. 4.
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prospect of British naval support and a British diversion

upon the German rear in Hoist ein or Pomerania.

At any rate, it seems clear that M. Delcasse greatly

exaggerated the nature of Lord Lansdowne's offer, what-

ever assurances he may have received from other high Eng-

lish sources. Perhaps, the wish being father to the thought,

he really believed that Lord Lansdowne was holding out the

offer of a British alliance. Perhaps he was deliberately

overstating its character, in order to persuade his hesitating

colleagues to stand firm against Germany. In either case,

here was a dangerous example of the way Frenchmen of his

character would misinterpret, either unconsciously or de-

liberately, proposals contemplating something more than

mere diplomatic support. It should have been a warning

to Sir Edward Grey of the danger of permitting the naval

and military "conversations," and of the later exchange of

notes with M. Cambon in 1912—the danger of arousing

expectations and involving obligations at Paris that Eng-

land would come in on the side of France in case of a

European war.

It is equally interesting to note the German suspicions

of an Anglo-French alliance, 172 and the fiat denials on the

part of the British. On June 16, 1905, Lord Lansdowne told

the German Ambassador that "the news that England had

offered France an offensive and defensive alliance was com-

pletely fictitious [vollkommen erfunden]. Since Lord

Lansdowne rejected the alliance rumor with the greatest

decisiveness and without equivocation, as made out of air,"

the Ambassador said he would regard the subject as settled.

He did not think that Lord Lansdowne, after such a down-

right declaration, was capable of trying to deceive. 173

But a few days later, Count Metternich received further

172G.P., XX, 494, 615 f., 623 ff, 634 f., 638 ff., 662 ff., and Flotow's

report of June 7 (see above, note 165).

173 Metternich to Billow, June 16. 1905; G.P., XX, 630. Cf. also

Gooch, I.e., p. 342 f.
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information, apparently coining through confidential

sources from M. Kouvier himself, that England had prom-

ised naval aid to France. He therefore asked Lord Lans-

downe about it, tactfully saying that he did so unofficially,

without instructions from Berlin:

Lord Lansdowne replied that I knew that diplomatic

support was assured to the French Government within the

corners of the Anglo-French Agreement. This has the

natural result that the questions which the Agreement

touched would be discussed by the two Governments in

friendly fashion, and the most suitable ways and means

would be considered to maintain unimpaired the various

points of the Agreement. The question of an alliance with

France, however, had never been discussed in the English

Cabinet, nor had an English alliance ever been offered to the

French Government cither in recent times or earlier. How-
ever, he would not conceal from me that in the eventuality,

which he however regarded as wholly out of the question,

that Germany should light-heartedly let loose a war against

France, one could not foresee how far public opinion in

England would drive the Government to the support of

France. 174

Similarly, in October, 1905, Lord Lansdowne's Under
Secretary, Sir Thomas Sanderson, felt obliged by the Matin
revelations to reiterate the denial:

The English Government has never held out to the

French Government the prospect of military aid. A possible

rupture between France and Germany has never been even

discussed by the Government, and the promise of landing

100.000 men in Schleswig-Holstein belongs to the realm of

myth. . . . [Sanderson said] Perhaps French imagination

played some part in this. One could well imagine Delcasse

had said to his colleagues that he was convinced that Eng-

land would stand beside France in case of a Franco-German

war. This subjective conception, supposing Delcasse had

it, was however very different from an English promise or

"4 Metternich to Biilow, June 28, 1905; G.P., XX, 636.
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an English offer of assistance. These had never been made,

and, as he had said, the eventuality of a war between

Germany and France had never even been discussed on the

English side. 175

In view of the seriousness with which the British Gov-

ernment viewed the Morocco Crisis in the early summer
of 1905, it is difficult to believe this last statement of

Sanderson that "the eventuality of a war between Germany
and France had never even been discussed on the English

side." Probably these sweeping denials were as correct in

letter, and as misleading in spirit, as the similar denials

made in Parliament later by Mr. Asquith and Sir Edward
Grey after the Grey-Cambon exchange of notes in 1912.

On December 11, 1905, Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman

formed a Cabinet, in which Sir Edward Grey replaced Lord

Lansdowne at the Foreign Office. 176 Viscount Grey tells us

in his engaging and charmingly written retrospect, 177 no

doubt with perfect sincerity, that he accepted the post with

reluctance. It brought no joy to him or to his wife, for it

meant exile from his home in the country, from his fishing,

from his walks in the woods. Perhaps his reluctance may
unconsciously have been in part owing to his lack of ex-

perience, his inability to speak any foreign language, and

also to a sense of inadequacy for the exacting work of the

Foreign Office. Perhaps also, in composing his memoirs,

his realization of the failure of his long and sincere efforts

to preserve the peace of Europe may have led him uncon-

sciously in later years to exaggerate the reluctance with

which he took office in 1905. But, as he tells us, he could

not justify to his constituents or to his friends a refusal to

take up the work. He seemed as well qualified as any one

in the Liberal Party.

175 Mettemich to Bulow, Oct. 9, 1905; G.P., XX, 663.

176 Spender, Life of Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, II, 188 ff. 245 ff.

Twenty-Five Years, I. 59-66.
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One of the first tasks which claimed his attention was

to quiet the fears of the French. The Algeciras Conference

was about to meet. Germany was thought to be pursuing a

threatening policy, and the French were nervous to know

whether the new Lil>eral Government would sustain the

assurances of Lord Lansdowne, or go even further. On
January 10 and 15, 1906, Cambon asked Grey the press-

ing question whether the British Government "would be

prepared to render France armed assistance," in case of

German aggression, and whether it would sanction the con-

tinuation of the naval and military conversations. Grey

replied that he could not at the moment make any prom-

ises, as the Ministers were all dispersed, taking part in the

elections. He could only state as his personal opinion,

adopting the attitude of Lord Lansdowne, that if France

were to be attacked by Germany in consequence of a ques-

tion arising out of the Morocco Agreement, public opinion

in England would be strongly moved in favor of France.

As to the naval and military conversations which had been

going on, the former had been direct between the French

and English Naval Staffs. They were already on a satis-

factory basis, having been conducted on the English side

by Sir John Fisher. But the plans for military cooperation

were less satisfactory, being at*the moment in the hands of

an unofficial intermediary. Between January 10 and 15,

however, Sir Edward Grey had managed to see the Secre-

tary for War, Mr. Haldane, at an election meeting in

Northumberland. Mr. Haldane had authorized Grey to say

that these military communications might now proceed

directly and officially between General Grierson and the

French Military Attache, but it must be understood that

these communications did not commit either Government. 178

The story of the new turn now given to the military

178 Grey to Bertie, British Ambassador in Paris, Jan. 10, 15, 1906;

Grey, I. 70-74.
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conversations has been interestingly told by the intermedi-

ary in question, Colonel Repington, the military corre-

spondent of the London Times. 119 Although Anglo-German

tension was relaxed at the moment and there seemed to be

a prospect of better relations between the two countries, 180

Colonel Repington wrote an alarm article in the Times of

December 27, which gave a warning of what he supposed

to be Germany's threatening intentions. Next day, in re-

sponse to it, he received a visit from Major Huguet, the

French Military Attache, dined with him, and was told that

the French Embassy people were greatly worried about the

general situation. Sir Edward Grey, who had just taken

over the Foreign Office, had not renewed the assurances

given by Lord Lansdowne, and M. Cambon was at the mo-
ment absent in France. Major Huguet said he knew the

British navy was ready, and he trusted it, but he did not

know what it would do to cooperate in case of trouble.

The French Army also was ready, but he feared the Ger-

mans might attack suddenly, probably through Belgium.

He therefore wanted the British to stiffen the Belgians,

if war came. Colonel Repington at once reported this by
letter to Sir Edward Grey. A couple of days later he dis-

cussed the whole situation at dinner with Sir John Fisher,

who said he had perfect confidence in the navy and was

prepared to order it to go wherever it might be required.

On New Year's Day Repington received the reply from

Grey: "I am interested to hear of your conversation with

the French Military Attache. I can only say that I have

not receded from anything Lord Lansdowne said to the

French, and have no hesitation in affirming it."
181 Colonel

Repington then dined with General Grierson, Head of the

Operations Bureau, who told him that, on the assumption

179 Repington, The First World War, ch. i.

iso Metternich to Biilow, Dec, 4, 20, 1905; G.P., XX, 6S1, 685.

181 Repington, p. 4.
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that Germany violated Belgium, England could put two

divisions into Namur by the thirteenth day of mobilization,

and the Field Army, such as it then was, into Antwerp by

the thirty-second day. After getting the approval of vari-

ous officials, including Sir George Clark, Secretary of the

Imperial Defense Committee, Colonel Rcpington saw Major

Huguet again, and gave him a short list of questions to be

submitted to the French General Staff. Major Huguet hur-

ried to France and soon brought back a set of interesting

and satisfactory answers which he was able to show to

Colonel Rcpington on January 12. 182 With the authoriza-

tion of Haldane and Grey these then became the basis for

cilicial discussions direct between the French and British

military authorities through Major Huguet and General

Grierson.

Sir Edward Grey returned to London on January 26 and

found M. Cambon anxiously waiting for a more definite

statement as to whether France could count upon British

assistance. After talking further with Haldane and the

Prime Minister, but without accepting the latter's sugges-

tion that the statement to be made to Cambon should be

approved in a meeting of the whole Cabinet, Grey gave

( !ambon his momentous answer on January 31. The long

summary of it which he sent to Bertie in Paris shows clearly

enough its double character. With one hand he held out

what he withdrew with the other. He encouraged the

French to expect aid, if needed; but he made no promises

of armed support and reserved liberty of action. He told

M. Cambon encouragingly that since their last interviews

on January 10 and 15,

A good deal of progress has been made. Our military

and naval authorities had been in communication with the

French, and I assumed that all preparations were ready, so

182 Repington's questions and the French replies, printed ibid., pp.

6-10.
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that, if a crisis arose, no time would have been lost for

want of a formal engagement. ... I had taken an oppor-

tunity of expressing to Count Metternich my personal opin-

ion, which I understood Lord Lansdowne had also expressed

to him [Cambon] as a personal opinion, that, in the event

of an attack upon France by Germany arising out of our

Morocco Agreement, public feeling in England would be so

strong that no British Government could remain neutral. 183

Sir Edward Grey also pointed out to M. Cambon the

possible disadvantages to France of making a more formal

statement of Anglo-French relations: at present, under the

Agreement of 1904, France had an absolutely free hand in

Morocco, with the promise of English diplomatic support;

but, if England extended her promise beyond this, and

made a formal alliance which might involve her in war, he

was sure the British Cabinet would say that England must

from time to time be consulted with regard to French

policy in Morocco, and, if need be, be free to ask for altera-

tions in French policy to avoid war. Was not the present

situation so satisfactory that it was better not to alter it

by a more formal engagement?

M. Cambon was not convinced by this. He pointed out

that if the Conference broke up, and Germany placed her-

self behind the Sultan, "war might arise so suddenly that

the need for action would be a question not of days, but of

minutes, and that, if it was necessary for the British Gov-

ernment to consult, and to wait for manifestations of Eng-

lish public opinion, it might be too late to be of use." 184

To M. Cambon's request for "some form of assurance

which might be given in conversation," Grey replied that he

could give no such formal assurance,

183 Grey to Bertie, Jan. 31, 1906; Grey, I, 76. For Grey's conver-

sation with Metternich, here referred to, see Grey, I, 80, and G.P.,

XXI, 45-51 ; and for Lansdowne's statement to Metternich, which Grey
now adopted as his own, see above at note 174.

184 Grey to Bertie, Jan. 31, 1906; Grey, I, 77.
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without submitting it to the Cabinet and getting their au-

thority, and that were I to submit the question to the Cabi-

net I was not sure that they would say that this was too

serious a matter to be dealt with by a verbal engagement

but must be put in writing. As far as their good disposition

towards France was concerned, I should have no hesitation

in submitting such a question to the present Cabinet. Some

of those in the Cabinet who were most attached to peace

were those also who were the best friends of France; but,

though I had no doubt about the good disposition of the

Cabinet, I did think there would be difficulties in putting

such an undertaking in writing. It could not be given un-

conditionally, and it would be difficult to describe the con-

ditions. It amounted, in fact, to this; that, if any change

was made, it must be to change the "Entente" into a defen-

sive alliance. That was a great and formal change, and I

again submitted to M. Cambon as to whether the force of

circumstances bringing England and France together was

not stronger than any assurance in words which could be

given at this moment. I said that it might be that the pres-

sure of circumstances—the activity of Germany, for instance

—might eventually transform the "Entente" into a defensive

alliance between ourselves and France, but I did not think

that the pressure of circumstances was so great as to dem-

onstrate the necessity of such a change yet. I also told him

that, should such a defensive alliance be formed, it was too

serious a matter to be kept secret from Parliament. The

Government could conclude it without the assent of Parlia-

ment, but it would have to be published afterwards. No
British Government could commit the country to such a

serious thing and keep the engagement secret.185

When M. Cambon, in summing up. dwelt upon Grey's

expression of personal opinion that "in the event of an

attack by Germany upon France, no British Government

could remain neutral." Grey was careful to point out that

"a personal opinion was not a thing upon which, in so seri-

183 Grey to Bertie, Jan. 31, 1906; Grey, I, 77-78.
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ous a matter, a policy could be founded," and added:

"Much would depend as to the manner in which the war

broke out between Germany and France. I did not think

people in England would be prepared to fight to put France

in possession of Morocco. They would say that France

should wait for opportunities and be content to take time,

and that it was unreasonable to hurry matters to the -point

of war. But if, on the other hand, it appeared that the war

was forced upon France by Germany to break up the Anglo-

French 'Entente,' public opinion would undoubtedly be

very strong on the side of France. ... If the French Gov-

ernment desired it, it would be possible at any time to

reopen the conversation. Events might change, but, as

things were at present, I did not think it necessary to press

the question of a defensive alliance." 186

This long and critical interview, which we have tried to

summarize without bias or essential omissions, is significant

for several reasons. In the first place, it reveals Sir Edward
Grey's very strong sympathy wTith France, his evident de-

sire to go as far as possible in giving her diplomatic support,

but at the same time his unwillingness to make any formal

engagement, written or verbal, wdiich might bind England

to go to war. Such an engagement must be sanctioned

by Parliament, but it was very unlikely that Parliament

would assent. Moreover, it would greatly increase the

irritation between England and Germany. He gave France

as much encouragement as he could, without going to the

point where he thought he ought to inform the Cabinet

and Parliament. He was satisfied in his own mind that

he had avoided changing the Entente into a formal

alliance. As he wrote to his wdfe next, day, in a letter

which she was never to read on account of the carriage

accident which caused her sudden and tragic death: "I

had tremendously difficult talk and work yesterday, and

186 Grey to Bertie, Jan. 31, 1906; Grey, I, 78-79.
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very important. I do not know that I did well, but I did

honestly." 187

In the second place, Sir Edward approved and confirmed

the official military and naval conversations between the

British and French Staffs. He assumed, as he told M. Cam-
bon, "that all preparations are ready." As will be indicated

further on, Hahlane at once set very actively to work to

reorganize the British Army and prepare for its coopera-

tion with the French. These preparations continued right

down to the outbreak of war in 1014, and inevitably came

to involve England in increasingly binding obligations of

honor to support France in case of a European war arising

out of any question whatsoever—not merely one arising out

of the Morocco question—provided that France did not

appear to be the active aggressor. Probably Sir Edward

Grey did not at the time see the full implications and

danger of these "conversations." But his Prime Minister

saw them. For we know that Sir Henry Campbell-

Bannerman wrote to Lord Ripon on February 2, a couple of

days after Grey's talk with Cambon: "Cambon appears

satisfied. But I do not like the stress laid upon joint prep-

arations. It comes very close to an honorable undertaking,

and it will be known on both sides of the Rhine. But let

us hope for the best." 188 He showed a true prophetic in-

stinct, but it was submerged and lost to sight under the se-

cret activities of the military authorities and the Foreign

Secretary's strange silence or ignorance in regard to them

for the next five years. It was not until 1912 that circum-

stances caused the military and naval "conversations" to be

revealed to the whole Cabinet, and not until Grey's speech

187 Grey, I, 79.

188 Spender, Life of Sir Henry Campbell-Banncrman, II, 257. In

spite of his just misgivings, the Prime Minister appears, however, to have

acquiesced in the military conversations, provided they "were not talked

about" and "should not commit either Government", if we are to believe

the statements of Haldane (Bejore the War, p. 162), and Repington,

(p. 13).
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on August 3, 1914, that Parliament and the British public

had any inkling of them.

In the third place, neither Sir Edward Grey's statement

to M. Cambon, nor his approval of the naval and military

conversations, was made with the knowledge and sanction

of the Cabinet, The Prime Minister had written him on

January 21: "Would you like the answer to the French to

be confirmed by a Cabinet before it is given?" He sug-

gested the 30th, the 31st, or the 1st of February. Viscount

Grey in his memoirs says he has no recollection or record

of any answer to this question. 189 His only explanations of

why no Cabinet sanction was given are rather feeble: the

Ministers were dispersed seeing to the elections, and the

earliest date suggested by the Prime Minister was January

30, and "the French had been kept long enough waiting for

a reply." 190 But, as his interview with Cambon did not

take place until the 31st, this is hardly a satisfactory expla-

nation. Moreover, a Cabinet meeting was actually held on

this very day. 191 It would have therefore been perfectly

easy for him to have pursued the proper course of consult-

ing the Cabinet before talking with Cambon, or at least of

informing his colleagues immediately afterwards of what he

had said to the French and of the naval and military con-

versations which were already going on. But he did not do

so. Why? One can only conjecture as to this strange

aspect of his psychology. Possibly he felt that his talks

with Campbell-Bannerman and Haldane after reaching

London gave sufficient sanction. Possibly he considered

that he was merely continuing Lord Lansdowne's policy,

and that a continuation of policy in a matter like foreign

affairs, which is not ordinarily supposed to be radically

altered by change in parties, did not need to be brought

before a new Cabinet. Perhaps he feared that the more

189 Grey, I, 84.

190 Grey, I, 84. ™i Loreburn. How the War Came, p. 80 f.



210 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

cautious and pacifically inclined members of the Cabinet,

like Mr. Morley and Lord Loreburn, and even the Prime

Minister himself, would not be willing to go as far as he

himself did in encouraging the French and in making joint

military preparations. Throughout his memoirs and in his

dealings with the Germans, as revealed in the new German
documents, one finds that Sir Edward Grey had a very

strong undercurrent of sympathy with the French and a

correspondingly strong suspicion of Germany's intentions.

Probably therefore he preferred to be free to give Cambon
his personal friendly views, in a way that he might not have

been able to do, if a Cabinet had discussed the subject and

adopted a formal statement of policy which would have

tied his hands.

At any rate he concealed the matter from the majority

of his colleagues in a way which seems hardly to accord

with the seeming honesty and frankness of his memoirs.

He entered upon that slippery path of thinking that he

could encourage the French with joint military prepara-

tions, and yet keep his "hands free"—a fatal double policy

which he pursued for eight years. After the War, with more

experience and with a realization of the seriousness of the

criticisms of men like Lord Loreburn, he admits in his

memoirs, rather sadly and regretfully, "I think there should

have been a Cabinet." 102 In this he is right.

Lord Haldane has left an account of these secret prepa-

rations for military cooperation with France. He has told

how, in the midst of the General Election of January, 1906,

he "at once went to London, summoned the heads of the

British General Staff, and saw the French Military Attache,

Colonel Huguet, a man of sense and ability. I became

aware at once that there was a new army problem. It was,

102 Grey, I, &i, and again, p. 96: "I have always regretted that

the military conversations were not brought before the Cabinet at

once: this would have avoided unnecessary suspicion."
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how to mobilize and concentrate at a place of assembly to

be opposite the Belgian frontier, a force calculated as ade-

quate (with the assistance of Russian pressure in the East)

to make up for the inadequacy of the French armies for

their great task of defending the entire French frontier from

Dunkirk down to Belfort, or even farther south, if Italy,

should join the Triple Alliance in an attack." 193 He began

therefore at once to organize a British expeditionary force

which should cooperate with the French to solve this prob-

lem. Impressed with the importance of high morale and

quality in modern warfare, he believed that even a small

force, if sufficiently long and closely trained, added to

French and Russian troops, would be able to defeat any

German attempt to invade and dismember France. A close

investigation showed that it was not possible under the

existing conditions to put in the field more than about

80,000 men, and these only after an interval of over two

months. 194 The French naturally pointed out that so slow-

moving a machine would be of little use to them; they

might be destroyed before it arrived. In their interests,

therefore, Haldane had to make "a complete revolution in

the organization of the British Army." He accomplished

this by the end of 1910. He made it possible "rapidly to

mobilize, not only 100,000, but 160,000 men; to transport

them, with the aid of the navy, to a place of concentration

which had been settled between the Staffs of France and

Britain; and to have them at their appointed place within

twelve days." 195

In view of Lord Haldane's own statements of how he

saw Colonel Huguet, personally authorized the direct nego-

tiations between the French and British Staffs represented

by Huguet and Grierson, and at once reorganized the British

193 Haldane, Before the War, p. 30 ; see also pp. 28-35 and 156-182.

194 Haldane, p. 32. If Haldane is correct, General Grierson's assur-

ances to Repmgton, referred to above at note 182, appear to have been

unduly optimistic. 195 Haldane, p. 33.
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Army for cooperation with the French, a sinister light is

thrown on the obliquity of the British secret preparations

and the denials of their existence, by a statement which

Lord Haldane himself made to the German Ambassador in

London. It was occasioned by a French deputy who had

inconsiderately interpellated M. Clemenceau as to the

existence of an Anglo-French military convention. M.
Clemenceau had replied evasively, seeming to admit a naval,

but not a military, convention. This had naturally roused

German fears and suspicions, especially in view of Sir John

Fisher's sweeping reorganization of the British Navy, his

beginning of the building of dreadnoughts, 196 and the

threatening speech of one of the civil Lords of the

Admiralty, Mr. Arthur Lee, that the British Fleet would

know how to strike the first blow before the other party had

read the news in the papers. When questioned by Count

Metternich in regard to Clemenceau's declaration, Lord

Haldane made a sweeping denial which it is difficult to

reconcile with the facts. Taken in conjunction with the

secret Anglo-French "conversations" and preparations which

had been going on for more than a year, it made an impres-

sion in Berlin which may be seen from the Kaiser's marginal

notes. According to Count Metternich 's report:

Air. Haldane replied most definitely that a military con-

vention between France and England did not exist, and had

not existed; and also that no preparations had been made

for the conclusion of one. Whether non-committal con-

versations between English and French military persons had

taken place or not, he did not know [Kaiser: "Impudence!

He, the Minister of a Parliamentary country, not supposed

to know that! He lies!"]. At any rate, no English officer

has been authorized by the English Government [Kaiser:

"Indeed! He did it himself!"] to prepare military arrange-

ments with a French military person for the eventuality of

196 Fisher, Memories and Records, II, 65 ff., 12S-153.
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war. It was possible that a General Staff Officer of one

country might have expressed himself to the General Staff

Officer of another country as to war-like eventualities. He,

the Minister of War, however, knew nothing of this [Kaiser:

"Magnificent lies!"].197

In the course of these Anglo-French joint military prep-

arations, British and French Staff Officers thoroughly

reconnoitered the ground upon which their armies were to

fight in Belgium and in France. Sir Henry Wilson,

Director of Military Operations, spent his holidays going

all over it on his bicycle. The whole wall of his London

office was covered by a gigantic map of Belgium, indicating

the practicable roads which armies might follow. "He was

deeply in the secrets of the French General Staff. For

years he had been laboring with one object, that, if war

came, we should act immediately on the side of France.

He was sure that war would come sooner or later."
198

Not only the French, but the Russians also, soon came

to count upon Haldane's Expeditionary Force as a certain

and essential part of their strategic plans in case of a war

against Germany. This is significantly indicated, at least

as early as 1911, in the secret report, since published by the

Bolshevists, of the annual conference between the heads of

the French and Russian Staffs. In August, 1911, at Krasnoe

Selo, General Dubail was able to assure his Russian col-

leagues, as a matter of course, "that the French army would

concentrate as quickly as the German army, and that from

the twelfth day it would be in a position to take the offen-

sive against Germany, with the aid of the English army on

its left wing," that is, on the Belgian frontier. 199

197 Metternich to Billow, Jan. 31, 1907; G.P., XXI, 469. On German

fears and suspicions of British naval and military intentions, 1904 to

1907, see G.P., XIX, 351-380, "The First German-English War Scare"; XX,

599-698- XXI, 421-521; and Tirpitz, Politische Dokumente: Der Aujbau der

deutschen Weltmacht, 14 ff. i»8 Churchill, The World Crisis, p. 53.

199 Protocol of the seventh annual Franco-Russian Military Confer-

ence, Aug., 31, 1911; L.N., II, 421; M.F.R., p. 698. As early as the annual
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THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN ENTENTE OF 1907

An Anglo-Russian Entente, settling the long-standing

sources of friction between the two countries in the Middle

East, was an obvious complement to the Anglo-French

Entente. It appears to have been discussed between King

Edward A ll and M. Izvolski during the Russo-Japanese

War, and to have been warmly received by him and some

of the Russian Liberals, though not by the Tsar and the

Russian reactionaries and militarists.200

Izvolski, though occupying at the time the compara-

tively unimportant diplomatic post at Copenhagen, was

already ambitiously counting upon promotion to a more

important position, either as ambassador at one of the great

capitals of Europe, or as Russian Minister of Foreign

Affairs. He was naturally flattered to be made the recipient

by King Edward of a proposal of such far-reaching possi-

bilities. Henceforth he made it one of the cardinal aims of

his policy. He saw that Russia was greatly weakened by

her war with Japan (which he declares he had tried to

avert), and that the Franco-Russian Alliance had conse-

confcrcnce of 1908, the Anglo-French connection had become so close

that the French officers persuaded the Russians to agree to mobilize

all their forces even in case of a German mobilization against England.

A. Zaiontchkovski, Lcs Alius conlre la Russic (Paris, 1926), pp. 20-21.

200 The Memoirs of Alexander Iswolsky (London, 1920), pp. 20, 35,

81 ff. ; Ph. Crorier, "LAutriche et l'Avant-guerre", in Revue de France,

April 1, 1921, pp. 275-277. According to Witte (Georges Louis, Comets,

Paris, 1926, II, 63 f.
;
Dillon, Eclipse of Russia, pp. 350-353; Witte, Mem-

oirs, pp. 432-431), Edward VII sent to him, Witte, on his way back from

Portsmouth, N. H., in Sept., 1905, the draft of an Anglo-Russian accord.

This may be the basis for "Nicky's" letter to "Willy" of Nov. 10/23, 1905

(G.P., XIX, 523) : "England is trying hard to get us round for an under-

standing about Asiatic frontier questions and this directly after the

renewed Anglo-Japanese alliance! I have not the slightest wish to

open negotiations with her, and so it will drop of itself". Sidney Lee,

King Edward VII. II, 30S f., mentions only an invitation from Edward

VII to Witte to visit England, but says nothing of the draft of an Anglo-

Russian accord. For King Edward's urging upon Izvolski an Anglo-

Russian Entente in a conversation at Copenhagen in April, 1904, see ibid.,

II, 284 ff.
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quently lost weight in the balance as compared with the

Triple Alliance. Both Russia and the Franco-Russian com-

bination needed the strengthening which would come from

closer relations with the greatest sea-power in the world.

Izvolski believed that Russia was subject to two serious

dangers. One was a possible renewal of trouble with Japan,

who had made humiliating demands at Portsmouth and was

suspected of preparing for a new struggle in the Far East.201

Russia needed long years of peace to recover from the effects

of the war, and the only method to assure it was to make
certain that the Japanese would remain quiet. The best

way to accomplish this was to come to an understanding

with them by a virtual partition of interests in Manchuria

by a secret treaty, though publicly both were pledged to an

observance of the "open door." The natural bridge between

Russia and Japan was England, Japan's ally since 1902. A
rapprochement with England would facilitate a sincere

reconciliation with Japan, fortify Russia's position as an

ally of France, and give a new and more solid basis to the

somewhat weakened Franco-Russian Alliance.

The other danger for Russia was that trouble might de-

velop with England as a result of the long-standing con-

flict of interests in the Near and Middle East. Men still

remembered the Crimean War, the strained situation when

the British Fleet threatened the Dardanelles in 1878, and

the Pendjeh incident which nearly led to war between the

two countries in 1885. More recently the Dogger Bank
Affair and other incidents of the Russo-Japanese War had

inflamed popular feeling in both countries. But a conflict

with England would throw Russia into the arms of Ger-

many, and this would endanger the Franco-Russian Alli-

ance which was the foundation rock of Russian policy, in

spite of the disappointments which both allies had suffered

in connection with it. On the other hand, if Russia could

201G.P., XXV, 25, 28, 53 ff., 233 f.
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wipe the slate clean of her rivalries and quarrels with Great

Britain, this would greatly strengthen her own international

position. It would allow her to return to an active forward

policy in the Balkans after being checkmated in the Far

East. It would also be welcomed by France, who would be

glad to see her ally and her new friend on better terms with

one another. An Anglo-Russian Entente and a reconcilia-

tion with Japan might tend toward the formation of a

quadruple combination which would quite outmatch the

Triple Alliance and could hold in check Austrian ambitions

in the Balkans and German ambitions in Turkey. This

therefore was the program which Izvolski determined to

carry out upon taking up his new position of Russian Min-

ister of Foreign Affairs in May, 1906.

King Edward and Sir Edward Grey were also favorable

to an understanding with Russia. The first Morocco crisis

and the growing German navy had filled them with sus-

picions of Germany's intentions and with the desire to re-

move the danger of Russian enmity in case of possible

trouble with Germany. Sir Charles Hardinge was another

ardent advocate of a rapprochement with Russia. He had

been British Ambassador at St. Petersburg since 1904, but

was recalled in the fall of 1905 to become Permanent Under

Secretary in place of Sir Thomas Sanderson. He took pains

to explain in St. Petersburg and London that his recall

would afford him an opportunity to work with further

success for close Anglo-Russian relations.202 Henceforth

he was to exert a strong pro-Russian influence on Sir

Edward Grey in the direction of creating the group of

Powers which came to be known as the Triple Entente. In

this he was actively seconded by Sir Arthur Nicolson who
went to St. Petersburg in his place. 203

Within a few months after Izvolski took over the For-

eign Office from Count Lamsdorf, the Anglo-Russian nego-

202G.P.. XXV, 3, 10. 203 Grey, I, 155 fit.



THE ANGLO-RUSSIAN ENTENTE OF 1907 217

tiations were well under way. In passing through Berlin

on October 29, 1906, Izvolski admitted that, owing to fears

of Japan's aggressive intentions, he was compelled to seek

an understanding with England concerning Tibet, Afghanis-

tan, and Persia.
204 Grey and Nicolson worked out draft

proposals.
205 These provided for the partition of Persia

into spheres of influence. This idea at first met with no

approval in St. Petersburg. Russian imperialists demanded

that Persia come entirely under Russian influence, and that

Russia must build a trans-Persian railway and press on to

the Persian Gulf. But Izvolski believed such an aggressive

policy was impossible of realization and likely to lead to a

conflict with England. So the English proposal for a par-

tition of Persia into English and Russian spheres of influ-

ence was adopted.206 In March, 1907, the visit of a Russian

fleet to Portsmouth foreshadowed the coming Anglo-Rus-

sian agreement. Upon King Edward's invitation, a depu-

tation of Russian officers and sailors visited London, were

entertained as guests at the Admiralty, and given a special

show in their honor at the Hippodrome. After a banquet in

the evening, there was a gala performance for them at the

Alhambra, attended by the First Lord of the Admiralty,

Sir John Fisher, and Sir Edward Grey. "It has certainly

never happened before," commented the German Ambassa-

dor, "that an English Minister of Foreign Affairs has gone

to a variety theatre to greet foreign guests." 207

But, as in the case of the Franco-Russian negotiations

two decades earlier, the divergence in political ideals on the

Seine and the Neva had delayed an understanding, so now

the divergence between English liberalism and Russian

autocracy hampered the conclusion of a settlement. The

204 G.P., XX, 39 ff.; XXV, 233 f.

205 Grey to Nicolson, Nov. 6, 1906; Grey, I, 156.

206 Russian Ministerial Council of Feb. 1/14, 1907; Siebert-Schreiner,

p 474 ff.

207 Metternich to Tschirschky, Mar. 28, 1907; G.P., XXV, 32 note.
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Russian reactionaries and militarists, and also the Tsar,

were at first opposed to a rapprochcincnt with England.

Izvolski later told Sir Edward Grey that he eventually had

great difficulty in getting it accepted.208 In England like-

wise the criticism in the Liberal Press of Russian pogroms,

the oppressive character of Tsarist absolutism, the suspen-

sion of the Duma, and the misunderstanding and friction

caused by Sir Henry Campbell-Banncrman's phrase, "La
Duma est morte; vive la Duma!", did not facilitate the

work of Grey, Hardinge and Nicolson.200 Nevertheless, the

gulf was eventually bridged, owing apparently more to the

eagerness and pressure of the British, rather than the Rus-

sian, Foreign Office. 210

Another cause of delay was the English desire that Rus-

sia should come to a satisfactory reconciliation with Japan.

Grey held it important that the Russo-Japanese and Anglo-

Russian negotiations should proceed simultaneously and be

concluded practically pari passu.'211 As it happened, the

Russian agreement with Japan was finally signed on July

30, 1907, a month before that with England. It included

a mutual declaration to respect the status quo and the

rights of one another in the Far East, and a recognition of

the independence and territorial integrity of China and the

principle of the "open door." 212 These laudable clauses

were made known to Germany, but there were evidently

secret supplementary clauses, because the secret Russo-

Japanese Treaty of 1910 speaks of the demarcation of

208 Grey, I, 177. Cf. also Grey to Nicolson, Nov. 6, 1906 (Grey, I,

156): "Of course, I understand M. Izvolski's difficulty with the military

party"; and G.P., XXV, 40 ff.

209 Grey, I, 149 ff.
;
G.P., XXV, 21 ff.

210 This, at anv rate was the impression of German observers; cf.

G.P., XXV, 5, 21, 27, 54, 67.

211 Grey to Nicolson, April 1, 1907; Grey, I, 158.

212 See the text in A. M. Pooley, The Secret Memoirs of Count
Tadasu Hayashi (London, 1915), pp. 224-238, 327-32S. Cf. also G.P., XXII.
67; and XXV, 53-64.
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spheres of interest in Manchuria "as defined in the supple-

mentary article to the Secret Treaty of 1907." 213 And in

reality an astonished and disillusioned world, which had

counted upon Russo-Japanese rivalry to see to it that the

"open door" was preserved in Manchuria, soon discovered

that the two empires which had so recently engaged in

deadly struggle, had found it convenient to pool their inter-

ests in exploiting Manchuria to the practical exclusion of

third parties. In various underhand ways, and in virtual

defiance of their public declarations in favor of the principle

of equal commercial opportunities for all, they practically

partitioned Manchuria between themselves. 214 The Russo-

Japanese Treaty of July 30, 1907 had been preceded by an

agreement 215 settling commercial and fishery questions

arising out of the Treaty of Portsmouth between the two

countries, and also by a treaty between Japan and France,

providing for their mutual interests in the Far East.216

These treaties of Japan with Russia and France, together

with her alliance with England, renewed in 1905, estab-

lished a basis for friendly cooperation in the Far East on

the part of the three Western Powers who were soon to

form the so-called Triple Entente. Germany felt diplo-

matically isolated. She put out some feelers to President

Roosevelt for an Entente with the United States for the

preservation of China and of their mutual interests in the

Far East. But these feelers were not successful.217

Finally, on August 31, 1907, there was signed the Anglo-

Russian Agreement dealing with the Middle East—Tibet,

213 Siebert-Schreiner, p. 17.

21* /bid., pp. 8-43. G.P., XXXII, passim. T. F. Millard, America
and the Far Eastern Question (New York, 1909), chs. xv-xx. S. K. Horn-
beck, Contemporary Politics in the Far East (New York, 1916), ch. xv.

O. Franke, Die Grossmiichte in Ostasien (Hamburg, 1923), pp. 308-343;

Tyler Dennett, Americans in Eastern Asia (New York, 1922).

215 July 28, 1907; cf. Pooley, I.e., pp. 229 ff.

216 June 10, 1907; ibid., pp. 212-223, 325-6; and G.P., XXV, 53 ff,

67 ff. 217 G.P., XXV, 67-99.
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Afghanistan, and Persia. 218 Both contracting; Powers rec-

ognized the territorial integrity of Tibet under the suze-

rainty of China, and agreed not to interfere with the

country's internal concerns or attempt to secure special

concessions there. The land of the Lamas was to remain

a barrier between the Russian bear and the British lion in

India.

As to Afghanistan, in return for an English promise not

to occupy or annex it so long as the Ameer fulfilled his obli-

gations, Russia declared the country to be outside her

sphere of influence; she withdrew her diplomatic agents

from Herat and agreed to deal with the Ameer only through

the British authorities. Afghanistan therefore was no

longer to be a field for Russian intrigue against India, and

the English were freed from a great bugbear that had wor-

ried them for a century.

Persia was by far the most important subject of the

Agreement. Though the preamble piously declared that the

two Great Powers mutually agreed to respect the "integ-

rity" and "independence" of Persia, the Agreement went on

to divide Persia into three regions: the northern and

largest region, bordering on Russia and comprising the

richest and most populous parts of Persia, was to be a Rus-

sian sphere of influence, in which Great Britain would not

seek for herself, or any third Power, any concessions of a

political or commercial nature. The southern region,

largely barren desert but containing roads leading to India,

was in like manner to be a British sphere, in which Russia

would seek no concessions. Between these two lay a cen-

tral neutral region, including the head of the Persian Gulf,

in which neither Great Power was to seek concessions ex-

cept in agreement with the other. In all this the Shah was

not consulted in the least. A cartoon in Punch hit off the

219 For the text see British Foreign and State Papers, vol. 100,

pp. 555 ff.
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arrangement aptly enough : the British lion and the Russian

bear are seen mauling between them an unhappy Persian

cat; the lion is saying to the bear, "Look here! You can

play with his head, and / can play with his tail, and we can

both stroke the small of his back"; while the poor cat

moans, "I don't remember having been consulted about

this."
219

In his memoirs Viscount Grey argues, but unconvinc-

ingly, that England had the better of the bargain :
"What

we gained by it was real—what Russia gained was ap-

parent." 220 In fact, the reverse was true. Though Eng-

land gained peace of mind in regard to the Indian frontier,

she also lost much. She lost her independence of action in

Persia. Hitherto she had been free to protest and object

to the encroachments oMhe Russian imperialist steam-

roller crushing southward upon defenseless Persia. Hence-

forth she found herself involved as an accomplice in the

destruction of the financial and political independence of

the Shah's empire. Sir Edward Grey soon found himself

drawn along in the wake of Russian aggression and intrigue,

in a way most embarrassing to him when questioned on the

subject in the House of Commons. He protested frequently

against the activities of Russian agents in Persia. He even

hinted he would resign. "Persia," he says, "tried my pa-

tience more than any other subject." 221 Russian unscru-

pulousness and double-dealing in the Middle East contin-

ued to be a recurrent source of annoyance to him almost

up to the outbreak of the World War. One of President

Poincare's objects in visiting St. Petersburg in July, 1914,

was to smooth this discord in the harmony of the Triple

219 "The Harmless Necessary Cat," Punch, CXXXIII, 245, Oct. 2,

1907.
220 Grey, I, 155.

221 Grey, I, 164. Cf. Siebert-Schreiner, p. 550 (where Grey's irrita-

tion and talk of resignation were due to Russia's "Potsdam agreements"

in 1910-11), and p. 615 (where they were due to Russian action in

Persia)

.
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Entente. 222 But Grey was helpless to make his protests

effective, because his distrust of Germany made him unwill-

ing to take a really stiff attitude to Russia, or to recede from

the Agreement of 1907, lest he should thereby endanger the

solidarity of the Triple Entente. The Russians were quite

aware of this, and took advantage of it. Sazonov put the

situation in a nutshell in a significant letter to the Russian

Minister in Teheran:

The London Cabinet looks upon the Anglo-Russian Con-

vention of 1907 as being important for the Asiatic interests

of England; but this Convention possesses a still greater

importance for England from the viewpoint of the policy

which is being pursued by England in Europe. . . . The

English, engaged in the pursuit of political aims of vital im-

portance in Europe, may, in case of necessity, be prepared

to sacrifice certain interests in Asia in order to keep a Con-

vention alive which is of such importance to them. This

is a circumstance which we can, of course, exploit for our-

selves, as, for instance, in Persian affairs.223

Though the Anglo-Russian Convention was all made
public, included no obligations of military or diplomatic

support, and did not at once lead to a closely knit diplomatic

partnership, it did nevertheless complete the circle for a

closer political cooperation between Rusisa, France and

England. The Press of these countries began to talk of the

new "Triple Entente."

222Poincare, Les Origincs de la Guerre, p. 201 f. Cj. K.D., 52.

223 Oct. 8, 1910; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 99. The dismal and disgrace-

ful story of how Russia did this may be read in Siebert-Schreiner, pp.

49-141, and in the engaging personal narrative of the blunt financial

American adviser who tried—in vain—to rescue the Persian cat from

the deadly grasp of the Russian bear: W. Morgan Shuster, The Strang-

ling of Persia (New York, 1913).



CHAPTER IV

THE SYSTEM OF SECRET ALLIANCES, 1907-1914:

TRIPLE ALLIANCE AND TRIPLE ENTENTE IN
OPPOSITION

Between the years 1907 and 1914 there was an increas-

ing crystallization of opposition between the two groups

into which the six Great Powers of Europe had now become

divided. During the first four years it developed slowly;

then, with the French occupation of Fez, the German threat

at Agadir, the Italian seizure of Tripoli, Anglo-German

naval rivalry, the failure of the Haldane Mission, and the

Balkan Wars, it proceeded more rapidly. It was reflected

in Morocco, Mesopotamia, the Balkans, and in nrnny other

matters, ranging all the way from European armaments to

Chinese loans. In the case of the Balkans, it was so funda-

mental and so closely bound up with the immediate causes

of the World War, that a separate chapter on "Balkan

Problems," following the present one, will be devoted to

some aspects of it in that troubled region. But to give a

full account of this crystallizing opposition in all its com-

plicated and disputed phases would go far beyond the

limits of this volume. Fortunately, it has been excellently

summed up by others. 1 No attempt therefore is here made
iBernadotte E. Schmitt, "Triple Alliance and Triple Entente, 1902-

1914" in Amer. Hist. Rev., XXIX, 449-473 (April, 1924); G. P. Gooch,
History of Modern Europe, 1878-1918 (New York, 1923), chs. xi-xvi;

E. Brandenburg, Von Bismarck zum Weltkriege (Berlin, 1924), chs. xi-xvii,

of which the second edition (1926) is now available in an English trans-

lation; G. L. Dickinson, The International Anarchy, 1904-1914 (London,

1926) ; and many others. Professor C. R. Beazley also is said to be
preparing a considerable work on the diplomatic situation preceding the

War.
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to give any detailed account of this period. The aim has

been rather to indicate, in the light of the new German
documents, M. Poincare's Memoirs, and other recently pub-

lished material, the more important factors which increased

this crystallizing opposition and gave it the fatal turn which

it took in 1914.

This opposition of Triple Alliance and Triple Entente

was accompanied and accentuated by four sets of tendencies.

(1) Both systems of alliance tended to be deformed

from their originally defensive character. They tended to

become widened in scope to cover policies involving offen-

sive military action. For example, Germany felt compelled

to back up Austria, if her ally became involved in war with

Russia by her efforts at self-preservation from the "Greater

Serbia" danger—in a way which Bismarck would hardly

have tolerated. In precisely the same way, France under

M. Poincare felt compelled to back up Russia, if her ally

became involved in war with Austria and Germany by her

efforts to safeguard her Balkan ambitions—in a way which

M. Poincare's predecessors would hardly have permitted.

(2) Germany tried to strengthen the Triple Alliance,

and, similarly, M. Poincare tried to tighten up and

strengthen the Triple Entente. But the latter was more

successful than the former. The Triple Alliance, in spite

of its renewal in 1907 and in 1912, tended to become rela-

tively weaker. It was weakened by Austria's internal

troubles and Balkan complications, by the deep-seated dis-

trust between Austria and Italy, and by Italy's sacro

egoismo, which often made her oppose her allies, especially

Austria, in diplomatic questions and caused her allies to

doubt her loyalty in case of war. The Triple Entente, on

the other hand, became relatively stronger, because its

members were not divided from one another by any such

sharp conflicts of interest as between Austria and Italy, and

because England, France, and Russia were able to make in-
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creasingly close arrangements for military and naval

cooperation.

(3) Although the Triple Alliance and Triple Entente—
and especially the latter—were tightened up and strength-

ened, there still remained more occasions of friction, dis-

trust, and suspicion within each diplomatic group than is

commonly supposed. This will be seen also in the next

chapter on "Balkan Problems." There was in fact by no
means so much harmony and mutual confidence within the

Triple Alliance as was usually assumed by writers a few

years ago—nor was there so much within the Triple En-
tente as has been assumed by "revisionist" writers more re-

cently. Italy's "extra dance" with France after 1902, and
with Russia after Racconigi in 1909, were the most notable

examples of this kind of domestic unfaithfulness within a

diplomatic group, and continued to be a source of uncer-

tainty and worry on all sides. But Italy's case was merely

an example of what the Triple Entente feared might happen

within its own circle. France, for instance, was much wor-

ried whenever England entered into confidential negotia-

tions with Germany, as in the Haldane Mission or in the

Bagdad Railway question ; or when Russia made with Ger-

many the Potsdam Agreements of 1910-1911, or seemed in-

clined to undertake diplomatic maneuvers in the Balkans

without first fully informing her French ally, as happened

on several occasions. Sir Edward Grey was worried lest

the Entente with Russia concerning the Middle East would

break down, if he did not give her the diplomatic support

which M. Sazonov desired at critical moments, as in the

Liman von Sanders affair—and in July, 1914. When he

made friendly arrangements with Germany in regard to the

Bagdad Railway and the Portuguese colonies, he thought

it prudent to counter-balance them, as it were, by consent-

ing to the desire of his two Entente friends that he should

enter into negotiations for an Anglo-Russian naval con-
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vention. Germany also found herself frequently embar-

rassed by the "stupidities" in which Austria indulged in

the Balkans, against Germany's better judgment or with-

out her approval. Within each group therefore special

efforts were continually being made to lessen the friction

and suspicion, and to increase the harmony, solidarity, and

security of the group. This was done by making concessions

to the selfish aims or special interests of the fellow members,

or by giving "blank cheques" to one's ally in the shape of

assurances of "complete fulfilment of the obligations of the

alliance," even in matters which might easily develop into

a European war. The acquiescence or encouragement which

M. Poincare gave to Russia, and which Germany gave to

Austria, is to be explained in large part by this desire to

preserve the solidarity of the group, rather than by any

desire for a war to recover Alsace-Lorraine in the one case,

or to gain the hegemony of Europe in the other. But it had

the effect of encouraging Russia and Austria along the

slippery Balkan path which eventually led to the yawning

chasm of 1914.

(4) In both groups of Powers there was a rapid increase

of military and naval armaments. This caused increasing

suspicions, fears, and newspaper recriminations in the oppo-

site camp. This in turn led to more armaments; and so to

the vicious circle of ever growing war preparations and mu-
tual fears and suspicions. In 1907, before the opposition

had crystallized clearly, the Triple Alliance and Triple En-

tente, in Professor Schmitt's happy phrase, "had stood side

by side; in 1914 they stood face to face."

GERMAN FEAR OF "ENCIRCLEMENT" AFTER 1907

Germany at first gave an outward appearance of accept-

ing the Anglo-Russian Convention of 1907 with equanimity.

Even before its conclusion, Count Bulow, in his Reichstag

speech of April 30, 1907, had referred to the negotiations
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with quiet optimism. Afterwards, when the Anglo-Russian

Convention was published, he instructed the German Press

to be moderate and practical in its comments, and to accept

the Convention for what it professed to be—a settlement of

Anglo-Russian differences and not a combination inimical

to German interests.

But in reality Germany felt very uneasy. She feared

that the clauses in regard to Tibet, Afghanistan, and Persia

were not merely an end in themselves, but rather a means to

an end—the formation of a diplomatic combination on the

part of England, France, and Russia. This Triple Entente

would outmatch the Triple Alliance in diplomatic strength

because Italy, owing to her hatred and jealousy of Austria

in the Balkans and her desire to stand well with France and

England would vote with them, rather than with her own

allies, as' she had done at Algeciras. The Triple Entente

Powers would also outmatch the Triple Alliance in economic

resources and in military and naval strength. They would

therefore feel able to block Germany's construction of the

Bagdad Railway, obstruct her industry and commerce, and

thwart her colonial ambitions, wherever these came into

competition with their own. Moreover, in the most inflam-

mable subjects, like Alsace-Lorraine, Morocco, the Middle

East, and naval competition, one or other of the Entente

Powers stood in direct opposition to Germany. The Bal-

kans also might easily prove another highly inflammable

subject. If Russia's reconciliation with England should

prove (as it turned out to be the case) the preliminary to a

Russian effort to revive her old aggressive Balkan policy,

and to recover in the Near East the prestige which she had

lost in the Far East, the ally of France would almost in-

evitably come into conflict with the ally of Germany. If a

crisis should arise over any of these questions, Germany,

supported by Austria and perhaps by Italy, would be likely

to find herself faced by the Triple Entente and its superior
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strength. Germany would either have to back down or

fight. Neither prospect, under the circumstances, was
attractive.

These were the considerations which proved upon the

minds of the Germans and created a nervous malaise which

finally took form in the conviction that they were being

"encircled. " Though Russia and England had protested

abundantly that the Anglo-Russian Convention was in no

way directed against Germany and had no ulterior purposes,

their words did not carry conviction at Berlin, and their

attitude in regard to the Bagdad Railway seemed to indi-

cate a collective determination to obstruct one of Germany's

dearest projects.

In 1002 Germany secured from Turkey the concession

for the Bagdad Railway. This was to extend the rail con-

nection from the eastern terminus of the Anatolian Rail-

way at Konia, already in German hands, all the way via

Bagdad to the Persian Gulf. The next year the Deutsche

Bank made arrangements with the Ottoman Bank for

financing the construction of the line. Germany desired and

invited the participation of foreign capital in the costly

enterprise. But she soon met with opposition, instead

of cooperation, on the part of Russia, France, and Eng-

land.

-

Russia, on various political, economic, and strategic

grounds, had been opposed from the outset to the wThole

German railway project. Moreover, since she had no sur-

plus capital for investment, there was never any serious

question of her financial participation in it. Her policy

was to obstruct a scheme to which she had many objections

and in which she was unable to take a part.

In France, the bankers, for the most part, favored par-

2C/. G.P., XVII, 371-517; XXV, 177-280; and the excellent account

in E. M. Earle, Turkey, the Great Powers, and the Bagdad Railway

(New York, 1923), chs. iv-viii, with bibliographical notes. These are now
supplemented to some extent by the British Documents, II, 174-196.
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ticipation, both because they already had large investments

in Turkey, and because this looked like another good busi-

ness proposition. The French Government, however, favor-

able at first, then hesitating, finally declared its opposition

to the investment of French capital in the German under-

taking. M. Delcasse even went to the point of preventing

Bagdad Railway bonds from being quoted on the Paris

Bourse. 3 This hostile attitude of the French Government

was partly owing to the vigorous representations made by
French commercial interests, clericals, and politicians, and

partly also, if we are to believe M. Izvolski, to French desire

to support the policy of their Russian ally. 4

In England Mr. Balfour and Lord Lansdowne had stated

at first, on April 7, 1903, that the British Government ap-

proved the bankers' negotiations for the participation of

British capital in the construction of the Bagdad Railway.

But at once an outcry was raised in the British Press and

in Parliament against the Government's favorable attitude

:

the railway would injure British vested interests in Meso-

potamia and the Persian Gulf; it would increase the influ-

ence of the Germans in Turkey at British expense and bring

them too close to India; it would rouse suspicions in Russia

as to British intentions
;
and, in any case, the English ought

not to participate, unless they did so on equal terms and to

the same extent as the Germans. So Mr. Balfour was forced

to announce in the House of Commons on April 23 his re-

pudiation of the approval which he had given on April 7.
5

Henceforth the British also were inclined to obstruct the

railway in various indirect ways. They long refused to

consent to the raising of the Turkish tariff from eight to

3G.P, XXV, 195; Earle, p. 147 ff.

4 G.P., XXV, 231. Russian influence was also suspected of causing

England's change of attitude from one of favor to one of opposition;

G.P., XVII, 443.

5 Parliamentary Debates, House of Commons (1903), CXX, 1247-

8, 1358, 1361, 1354-7, 1371-4; CXXI, 271 f.; G.P., XVII, 431 ff.; Earle,

p. 176 ff.
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eleven per cent. Their ostensible reason was that the bur-

den of the increase would largely fall on themselves, be-

cause they had the largest share of the trade with Turkey.

But the practical result was that it made it more difficult

for the Turkish Government to finance the kilometric and
income guarantees which the Bagdad Railway agreement

called for, and which seemed necessary for its construction.

In spite of this policy of opposition and non-participa-

tion on the part of the three Entente Powers, the Germans
managed to push rapidly the building of the first 200-kilo-

meter section from Konia to Ercgli. Within something

over a year, on the Sultan's birthday, October 25, 1904, they

were able to open this first section to traffic with pompous
ceremonies and justifiable self-congratulation. But here

construction came to a sudden stop, and the rail ends were

left sticking out into space. The next 200-kilometer section,

reaching toward the Taurus Mountains, involved innum-

erable engineering difficulties and a far greater expendi-

ture per kilometer of construction. The Turkish Govern-

ment could not arrange the financing of additional bonds to

meet the guarantees for this section without an increase in

her customs revenues. Yet it was impossible for Turkey to

raise her tariff, as she desired to do, because by existing

treaties she could not do so without the consent of the Great

Powers; and Russia, France, and England for a long time

refused to give their consent. By their refusal they prac-

tically blocked the further construction for the next few

years.

In the course of 1905 and the following year Germany

attempted some negotiations in a renewed effort to secure

6G.P., XXII, 329-400; Earle, p. 95 f. They finally gave their con-

sent in September, 1906, to become effective in July, 1907, but attached

numerous conditions which made it difficult to divert any of the in-

creased revenue to the payment of railway guarantees. One condition

was that three-fourths of the increased revenue must go to Macedonian

reform.
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the financial participation and political cooperation of the

French and the British in the building of the Bagdad Rail-

way. After Delcasse s fall there was talk of a deal with

M. Rouvier, by which Germany's Moroccan claims should

be abandoned in exchange for French support to the Bagdad

Railway. But the talk came to nothing. 7 In the summer

of 1906 some members of the new Liberal Government in

England, including Grey and Haldane, were believed to

desire a Bagdad settlement with Germany. But Sir Edward

Grey, in the spirit of the Entente with France, insisted that

if England participated, France also must participate. 8

The English Press also demanded that, either the whole

Bagdad Railway ought to be internationalized, or, if Ger-

many controlled the railway as far as Bagdad, then Eng-

land ought to control the section from Bagdad down to the

Persian Gulf. 9 But no practical arrangement could be

found for satisfying these English demands. Similarly, long

German negotiations with Izvolski, contemplating German

abstention from activity in Persia if Russia would withdraw

her opposition to the Bagdad Railway, reached no definite

conclusion. 10

Three months after the signature of the Anglo-Russian

Convention of 1907 the Kaiser visited Windsor and was

cordially received. He took advantage of the occasion to

reopen the Bagdad Railway discussion with Lord Haldane

and Sir Edward Grey. He found that the former, as Min-

ister of War, was anxious that the British should control

the section from Bagdad to the Persian Gulf, as a "gate,"

to protect India from the possibility of troops coming down

the new railway. The Kaiser at once declared, "I will give

you the gate," and telegraphed to Biilow to this effect.
11

A lively exchange of views followed for a few hours in

7 G P., XX, 356, 395 f., 431; XXV, 180 f., 194 2.; Earle, p. 169 ff.

8G.P, XXV, 226 . 9 G.P., XXV, 240 ff. io G.P., XXV, 103-175.

UGJP, XXV, 261 ff.; Haldane, Bejore the War, p. 48 ff.
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Windsor, London and Berlin. The British "recognized that

the object of the commercial development of Mesopotamia

was one that should not be opposed." But they desired

"that the quickest route between West and East should not

be under the exclusive control of a virtually foreign com-

pany, which would be in a position to affect seriously com-

mercial relations between England and India, or to sanction

its use for strategic purposes in hostility to British inter-

ests"; they "could not, however, discuss this question d

deux, but only a quatrc, for the various interests, strategi-

cal, political and commercial, affect France and Russia as

well." 12 Sir Edward Grey's insistence that France and

Russia must be associated with England in the discussions

proved a fatal obstacle to reaching any satisfactory agree-

ment on the Kaiser's proposal. Lord Haldane laid the

blame for this on the German Foreign Office, which he

thinks did not approve of the Kaiser's move. And there is

some truth in this view. 13 But it is also true that Sir

Edward Grey's insistence on conversations a quatre was a

main cause of the Kaiser's offer of the "gate" remaining

abortive. Germany objected that, since France had no

special interests in Mesopotamia and the Persian Gulf, and

since Russia's interests related largely to Persia, she could

satisfy these two countries in separate negotiations. But if

the whole Bagdad Railway question was to be dealt with in

conversations a quatre, Germany would inevitably be in a

minority of one to three. Germany therefore could not be

expected to negotiate at such a disadvantage and subject

her interests to the united opposition of the other three. 14

Sir Edward Grey's insistence on the solidarity of England,

France and Russia, in this matter of the Bagdad Railway

12 Note of a private conversation between Sir Edward Grey and
Mr. Haldane on Nov. 14, 1907, given by the latter to the Kaiser; G.P.,

XXV, 263.

is Cj. Biilow to Schoen, Nov. 14, 1907; ibid., 261.

» G.P., XXIV, 77, 83; XXV, 264 ff.



ANGLO-GERMAN NAVAL RIVALRY, 1904-1908 233

in the fall of 1907, foreshadowed the solidarity of the Triple

Entente in wider fields later. It also put an end to any-

important further discussions of the Bagdad question until

Russia deserted her friends in making with Germany the

"Potsdam Agreements" of 1910-1911.

ANGLO-GERMAN NAVAL RIVALRY, 1904-1908

The German suspicion that England was aiming to limit

Germany's freedom of action also arose in connection with

the Second Hague Peace Conference and the naval discus-

sions at the beginning of the period of Dreadnought con-

struction and rivalry. The British navy had just been re-

organized and strengthened by Sir John Fisher, while the

German navy was just beginning to grow in power. The
proposal to discuss the limitation of armaments, urged by

England, looked like a scheme to arrest naval development.

It seemed to prevent Germany from catching up in strength

at a moment when England still enjoyed a marked naval

superiority. Nor could Germany, with Austria weakened

by internal difficulties and Italy an ally of doubtful loyalty,

consent to limit her army. There was the danger of a war

on two fronts, when Russia should have recovered from her

war with Japan and revived her active Balkan policy. So

Germany insisted that the limitation of armaments should

not be one of the subjects included in the call for the Con-

ference. When the subject was nevertheless raised in the

course of the Conference by England and the United States,

Germany's opposition to it was, to be sure, largely but

tacitly shared by France and Russia. But these two coun-

tries left it to the German delegates to voice the opposition

and thereby incur the odium of wrecking the proposals.

No doubt Germany made a great mistake. Though limi-

tation of armaments is a most difficult problem, as the long

and sterile efforts of the League of Nations and the failure

of President Coolidge's Conference have abundantly shown,
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it is possible that, had Germany taken a different attitude in

1907, the other European Powers might have followed her,

and a beginning might have been made to check the fatal

increase in rival armies and navies. At any rate Germany
could not have been branded as the country which was most

responsible for thwarting an effort to lessen a progressive

danger which was one of the main causes of the World

War. 15

By the irony of history it was during the Hague Peace

Conference that Anglo-German naval rivalry reached a new
and hitherto unequalled stage of mutual suspicion and bit-

terness. By the Navy Laws of 1898 and 1900 Admiral von

Tirpitz and the Kaiser laid the foundations for a strong

German navy. Their motives were many and mixed. They
wished to give expression to the greatness of the New Ger-

many by creating a fleet which should be comparable to her

growing commerce and colonial interests and afford them

protection. They desired preservation from the danger of

being blockaded from food and raw materials in case of

war. But above all, they wanted to have a naval force

which could be used to back up German diplomatic argu-

ments in the struggle for colonial and commercial advan-

tages. The Kaiser's marginal notes are filled with the idea

that other countries, and particularly England, paid little

or no heed to Germany's legitimate desires, simply because

Germany had no force to back up her demands. If Ger-

many had a navy, even a much smaller one than that of

England, the British would be willing to make diplomatic

concessions rather than take the risk of a naval conflict.

This was Tirpitz's fundamental notion when he speaks of

the new German navy as a "risk navy." He had no thought

15 On the Second Hague Conference, see G.P., XXIII, 99-397, and

the writings of A. P. Higgins, F. W. Holls, J. B. Scott, A. H. Fried, O.

Nippold, P. Zorn, L. Renault, and E. Lcmonon. The Reichstag Inves-

tigating Committee is soon to publish an important work on Germany's

influence at. the Second Hague Peace Conference.



ANGLO-GERMAN NAVAL RIVALRY, 1904-1908 235

of attacking England in any near future. That would be

folly for many years to come. But a respectable German
sea force would compel England to make concessions in the

colonial world rather than take the "risk" of a naval strug-

gle. For this it was not necessary for Germany to build a

fleet fully equal to that of England; some proportion like

2:3 or 10:16 would suffice. 16

But in fact Admiral Tirpitz completely misconceived the

psychological effect which his creation of even a "risk navy"

would have on the British mind and policy. Though it

may have contributed to induce the British to make vari-

ous proposals for limiting naval competition and to enter

into various diplomatic negotiations, it did not intimidate

them or cause them to make important concessions. On the

contrary, it rather created an atmosphere of suspicion and

antagonism which was altogether unfavorable for friendly

diplomatic agreements concerning the Bagdad Railway and

other matters. Every increase in the German navy, instead

of frightening the British into making concessions, tended

to stiffen their opposition and their determination to main-

tain the wide margin of British naval superiority deemed

vital to the safety and very existence of the British Empire.

So, for instance, in 1904, as the English observed the

new-born German navy, still in its infancy but already

showing signs of robust growth, they began a wide-sweeping

rearrangement and reorganization of the British Fleet.

They proceeded to create a strong force in the North Sea

and make it ready for instant action against Germany.

Sir John Fisher, with his characteristically energetic policy

of "Ruthless, Relentless, and Remorseless!" 17 "brought

home some 160 ships from abroad which could neither fight

nor run away," 18 and effected other revolutionary changes,

16 Cf. Tirpitz, Der Aujbau der deutschen W-eltmacht (Berlin, 1926),

passim. *

17 Fisher, Memories and Records, IL 135. is Fisher, II, 05 f ., 139 ff.
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so that, as he himself said, "We shall be thirty per cent,

more fit to fight and we shall be ready for instant war!" 19

The next year he laid the keels for the first Dread-

noughts. These were to be far superior to anything afloat

and give the British navy a strength which no country

could menace. But their introduction more than doubled

the cost of capital ship construction. Furthermore, they

rendered relatively less important the older and smaller

types of vessel which had hitherto constituted England's

naval superiority. It enabled Tirpitz to follow England's

example, and be only a little behind her in the race in the

construction of this new type of vessel, which neither coun-

try had possessed hitherto; whereas in the older types of

vessel Germany was hopelessly behind. To express the

same thing in figures: England had authorized the laying

down by 1908 of 12, and Germany of 9 Dreadnoughts;

whereas the ratio between England and Germany in vessels

of the older pre-Dreadnought type was 63:26. Tirpitz also

believed that Germany, where sailors were conscripted in-

stead being paid wages for voluntary enlistment, and where

cost of ship construction was relatively low, could stand

longer and more easily than England the heavy strain of

naval expenditure. With this double advantage on Ger-

many's part, as it seemed to him, he was always skeptical

about the sincerity and motives of British proposals for

restriction of naval construction. He was steadily opposed

to any serious limitation on his own program, by which he

believed the German navy could gradually approach nearer

in strength to the British navy, though it might never

actually equal it. It would have to pass through the "danger

zone" of inferiority, during which England might possibly

attack and destroy it in a "preventive" war. But he did

not think this danger great, especially if German diplomacy

avoided irritating England in other fields. Once safely

Fisher, Memories and Records, II, 134.
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through the "danger zone," after a dozen years, Germany
would have a very respectable "risk navy." Germany could
stand the financial strain; in the long run England could
not. So all Germany had to do was to push construction.

Thus, by a third Navy Law in 1906, Tirpitz secured the
authorization of six new capital ships; and by the law of

1908, reducing the replacement period from 25 to 20 years,

he provided for the early replacement of old obsolete vessels

by new ships, not of the same size as the discarded ones,

but of the new Dreadnought type. This law of 1908 fixed

the construction of new and replacement ships of the Dread-
nought type at the rate of four a year from 1908 to 1911,
and two a year from 1912 to 1917. Meanwhile the German
Navy League was clamoring for a big German navy. The
Press on both aides of the North Sea was whipping up na-
tional passion, and the rumors of the Kaiser's ill-considered

letter to Lord Tweedmouth added fuel to the flame. All
this led to the British "war-scare" of 1908, and to further
futile negotiations for some kind of a naval understanding.20

Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, in a speech on Decem-
ber 21, 1905, setting forth the platform of the new Liberal
Government, had lamented the great expenditures on arma-
ments: "A policy of huge armaments keeps alive and stimu-
lates and feeds the belief that force is the best, if not the
only, solution of international differences. It is a policy
that tends to inflame old sores and to create new sores.

We want relief from the pressure of excessive taxation, and

20 On Anglo-German naval relations 1904-1908, see Fisher, I, ch.
xii; II, chs. ix, x; Churchill, pp. 19-41; Hurd and Castle, German' Sea^
Power (Mew York, 1913); Schmitt, England and Germany, 1740-1914
(Princeton, 1916), 173-187; and, in more detail, from the German side
G.P

,
XIX, 351-380; XXIII, 27-53; XXIV, 3-210; Tirpitz, Der Aujbau der

deutschen Weltmackt, 1-162; Biilow, Imperial Germany (Berlin, 1913);
Haller, Die Aera Billow (Berlin, 1922); Brandenburg, ch. xi; Herzfeld',
"Der deutsche Flottenbau und die englische Politik/' in Archiv f PoUtik
u. Geschichte, IV, 1926, 115-146, and Admiral Karl Galster, England
Deutsche Flotte, und Weltkrieg (Kiel, 1925).
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at the same time we want money for our own domestic needs

at home, which have been too long starved and neglected

owing to the demands on the taxpayer for military purposes

abroad. How are these desirable things to be secured if in

time of peace our armaments are maintained on a war

footing?" - 1 In the course of the next three years, the

English made many proposals for reducing naval expendi-

ture and thereby lessening the growing friction with Ger-

many. It was proposed that the subject should be discussed

at the Hague Peace Conference; 22 that Sir John Fisher

should have a talk with Admiral Tirpitz; or that there

should be a mutual inspection of shipyards and communica-

tion of naval programs.- 3 It was informally intimated that,

if Germany was uneasy at England's "insurance policy" of

closer relations with France and Russia, the best way to

dissipate this uneasiness and revive the former cordial

Anglo-German relations would be for Germany to retard

her naval program, or come to some understanding for an

agreed-upon ratio between the English and German

navies.24

But England could never get a satisfactory answer from

Germany to any of these proposals. Being made after Sir

John Fisher had so greatly strengthened the Home Fleet in

the North Sea and begun to build Dreadnoughts, these pro-

posals looked to the German mind like an intimation from

the Supreme Naval Power that it desired naval competition

to cease at the moment of its own greatest preponderance.

Coinciding also with Lord Haldane's organization of the

21 The London Times, Dec. 22, 1905: cf. also Spender, Life of Sir

Hennj Campbell-Bannerman, II, 208, 327-332.

— G.P.. XXIII, 25-253 passim; cf. also Campbell-Banncrnian's cor-

dial and conciliatory article, "The Hague Conference and the Limita-

tion of Armaments'', in the first number of the London Nation, Mar. 2,

1907; Campbell-Bannerman s views, however, were severely criticized in

the Paris Temps of March 4; the French, at bottom, had no more sym-

pathy with disarmament proposals than the Germans.

23G.P., XXIII, 39 ff., 52. G.P., XXIV, 99 ff.
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British Expeditionary Force and with England's closer

diplomatic relations with France and Russia, they looked

like a concerted plan on the part of these three Powers to

put pressure on Germany. Any yielding to such pressure

was sharply resented as inconsistent with Germany's dig-

nity as a Great Power. As Biilow wrote privately to

Bavaria and some of the other German Governments on

June 25, 1908, after President Fallieres's visit to London and

King Edward's famous meeting with the Tsar at Reval:

"Agreements which aim at a limitation of our defensive

power are not acceptable for discussion by us under any

circumstances. A Power which should demand such an

agreement from us should be clear in its mind that such a

demand would mean war." 25 By the Kaiser especially, the

British proposals were indignantly repudiated as unjustifi-

able attempts to interfere with his sovereign right and duty

to take all measures necessary for the dignity and defense

of the German Empire. Commenting upon Count Met-

ternich's report of July 16, 1908, of an informal luncheon

discussion with Sir Edward Grey and Lloyd George, in

which it had been intimated that a naval discussion would

improve diplomatic relations, the Kaiser wrote:

Count Metternich must be informed that good relations

with England at the price of the building of the German
navy are not desired by me. If England intends graciously

to extend us her hand only with the intimation that we must

limit our fleet, this is a groundless impertinence, which in-

volves a heavy insult to the German people and their Kaiser,

which must be rejected a limine by the Ambassador. . . .

France and Russia might with equal reason then demand a

limitation of our land armaments. The German Fleet is not

built against anyone, and also not against England! But

25 G.P., XXV, 478. For other German intimations that any attempt

to put pressure on Germany to limit her navy would be answered by
declaration of war, see G.P., XXIV, 53, 103, 127.
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according to our need! That is stated quite clearly in the

Navy Law, and for 11 years has remained unchanged! This

law will be carried out to the last iota; whether it suits the

British or not, is no matter! If they want war, they can

begin it; we do not fear it! 28

The Kaiser's fears that England was trying to put a

check upon Germany's navy, and "encircle" her in other

ways, were increased by the numerous visits and interviews

which Edward VII had with French and Russian rulers and

ministers* in the summer of 1908. In May President Fai-

lures was very cordially received in London and given a

dinner at the Foreign Office to which the only person in-

vited, outside a French and English group, was the Russian

Ambassador—a distinction which seemed to embarrass good

Count Benckendorff.- 7 The French Press made the most of

the visit, and Tardicu in the Temps expressed the hope that

Anglo-French relations were taking a firmer form, provided

England made fundamental changes in her military system

—a hint at the universal military service which Lord

Roberts and others were now beginning urgently to advocate

in public speeches. In June, King Edward's visit to the

Tsar at Reval seemed more than a mere act of family

courtesy, since he was accompanied by Admiral Fisher, Sir

John French, and Sir Charles Hardinge, who had long talks

with Izvolski and the Russian Premier, Stolypin. Hardinge

told Izvolski that England had no hostile feelings toward

Germany and was anxious to maintain the most friendly

relations with her, but that "owing to the unnecessarily

large increase in the German naval program, a deep distrust

in England of Germany's future intentions had been cre-

ated." This distrust was likely to increase with- the progress

20 G.P., XXIV, 104

27Q.P., XXIV, 63. On President Fallicres's visit, the French Press,

and Dclcassc's talks with Asquith, Grey, and Sir Charles Hardinge on his

"private visit" to London a month later, see G.P., XXIV, pp. 57-78; and
Sidney Lee, King Edward VII, II, 584 ff.
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of time, the realization of the German program, and the

heavier taxation entailed by England's necessary naval

counter-measures. "In seven or eight years' time a critical

situation might arise, in which Russia, if strong in Europe,

might be the arbiter of peace, and have much more influ-

ence in securing the peace of the world than at any Hague
Conference. For this reason it was absolutely necessary

that England and Russia should maintain towards each

other the same cordial and friendly relations as now exist

between England and France." 28 Izvolski got the impres-

sion that the English wanted Russia to build up her army

and navy as much as possible as a future check to Germany.

Sir John Fisher relates that he sat several times next

Stolypin and Izvolski, and urged them to build up the Rus-

sian army on the Western frontier against Germany:

"Stolypin said to me, 'What do you think we need most?'

He fancied I should answer, 'So many battleships, so many
cruisers, etc., etc.,' but instead I said, 'Your Western Fron-

tier is denuded of troops and your magazines are depleted.

Fill them up and then talk of Fleets!' Please see enclosure

from Kuropatkin's secret report: 'The foundation of Rus-

sia's safety is her Western boundary!' " 29

28 Grey, I, 203. Viscount Grey prints Hardinge's report on the Reval
conversations (I, 202-209), and calls it (p. 196) "the real, full, authentic

confidential record of what took place"; but on p. 206 there are dots in-

dicating omissions, and on p. 209 indications that sundry details concern-

ing Macedonian reforms, Persia, and Crete are omitted. CJ. Izvolski's

account of the Reval meeting in his despatch to Benckendorff in London,
June 18, 1908 (Siebert-Schreiner, p. 478), according to which Hardinge
said: "If Germany should continue to increase her nafral armaments
at the same accelerated pace, in six or seven years a most alarming and
strained situation might arise in Europe. For this reason we in the

interest of peace and the preservation of the Balance of Power, desire

that Russia shall be as strong as possible on land and on sea." Izvolski

added, "Sir Charles reiterated this idea more than once, whereby he
apparently wished to have it understood that he is expressing not his

own personal opinion, but the decided political conviction of the London
Cabinet." For German uneasiness as to the Reval meeting, see G.P.,

XXV, 441-494.

29 Fisher to Lord Esher, Sept. 8, 190S; Fisher, Memories, p. 186 f.
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Aside from this renewal of Anglo-Russian cordial rela-

tions and English encouragement to Russia to build up her

armaments again—which she soon proceeded to do—the

Reval interview actually dealt mainly with the question of

Macedonian reforms, Persia, Crete, the Sanjak railway pro-

ject, and the attitude of the Russian Press. There was no

attempt to build up a closer Anglo-Russian combination

against Germany, and Izvolski was profuse in his assurances

that it was in no way unfriendly to Germany. But the

Kaiser was not convinced, and Reval marks a cooling off In

Anglo-German relations. It also made him more positive

in his refusal to discuss with England any limitation of his

naval program, when Hardinge broached the subject directly

to him at the time of King Edward's brief visit to Kronberg

on August 11, 190S. There was a heated discussion. Har-

dinge, according to the Kaiser's lively account in dialogue

form, complained that Germany was building Dreadnoughts

so rapidly that in a few years she would be as strong as

England in those capital ships. The Kaiser said this was

"absolute nonsense,'' sent for a copy of Nauticus, an

almanac of detailed naval statistics of all nations which

Hardinge appeared never to have heard of, and showed him

his errors. When Hardinge persisted that the competitive

naval construction must cease, the Kaiser used his regular

argument that Germany was not building in competition

with England, but only for her own needs as laid down in

Tirpitz's Navy Laws. When Hardinge still insisted, "You
must stop or build slower," the Kaiser looked him sharp in

the eye and replied, "Then we shall fight, for it is a question

of national honor and dignity." Hardinge turned red, and,

seeing he was on dangerous ground, begged the Kaiser's

pardon, asked him to forget words said in private conversa-

tion, and changed the subject. In conversation later in the

day with the Kaiser, Hardinge was as affable and friendly

as could be, and was not a little surprised to be decorated
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with the Order of the Red Eagle, First Class.30 The Eng-

lish Cabinet, whose views Hardinge had been representing,

were determined to preserve England's supremacy of the

seas and keep ahead of Germany in Dreadnought construc-

tion. But they foresaw the bitterness which would be

engendered between the two countries by further naval

competition, as well as the terrible financial burden it would

impose on England. They therefore sincerely desired and

tried to come to some sort of understanding with Germany
on the subject. It was a tragic mistake of Tirpitz and the

Kaiser that they should have so flatly refused discussion

and thereby pushed England further into the arms of France

and Russia, thus strengthening the Triple Entente and

helping to crystallize its opposition.

The effect on Germany of England's opposition to the

Bagdad Railway, of her efforts to limit the German navy,

of the Reval meeting and the apparent consolidation of

France, Russia, and England into a Triple Entente, was to

produce a conviction that Germany was being "encircled."

Germans believed that this encirclement was Edward VII's

personal work, and that it aimed at strangling German com-

mercial and colonial expansion, and even at crushing Ger-

many's political and military position. There is no sub-

stantial evidence that there was any deliberate encirclement

with such aims on the part of King Edward or the British

Government. Such notions were the product of German
imagination, fear, and suspicion. But there was neverthe-

less something of a diplomatic encirclement. Germany was

now surrounded by three Great Powers, whose combined

strength was supposed to be equal or superior to that of

the Triple Alliance, and who were growing increasingly

ready to cooperate in defense of their own interests whether

so Kaiser to Biilow, Aug. 11-13, 1908; G.P., XXIV, 124-129; cf. also

Hardinge's report to Grey of Aug. 16, 1908, published in the London
Times, Nov. 24, 1924.
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in Morocco, Mesopotamia, or the Balkans. Though Izvol-

ski hoped that the Triple Entente would give him greater

freedom of action in the Near East and Middle East, and

though the French counted on it in the same way in Mo-
rocco, so far as England was concerned it aimed at the pre-

servation of peace through the establishment of a balance

of power. It was insurance against the supposed danger of

possible German aggression, and not for any aggression

against Germany's existing position in Europe and in the

commercial world. But to German eyes it had a more

ominous and irritating appearance. This finds expression

in extreme form in the Kaiser's marginal notes on reports

of the Reval meeting and of English efforts for slowing

down German Dreadnought construction. It is also re-

flected in his indiscreet speech to German officers at

Doberitz. His feeling was: "A strong navy; a strong army;

and powder dry!" 31

Biilow on the other hand, with his characteristic policy

of putting the best face on an unpleasant situation, believed

Germany should scrupulously avoid showing any signs of

nervousness and uneasiness. To do so would simply be

playing into the hands of Russia and France. While agree-

ing that Germany must keep herself in the highest possi-

ble state of defense, she must do so quietly. He chided the

Kaiser as much as he dared for the Doberitz indiscretion, 32

and was inclined to agree with Metternich, the German
Ambassador in London, that Germany ought not to close

the door to all English suggestions for some arrangement

to prevent the evils of Anglo-German naval competition. 33

He also believed that the consolidation of the Triple

Entente made it all the more important that Germany must

stand firmly behind her Austrian ally. In a long very

confidential circular to the Prussian Ministers in Bavaria

si G P., XXV, 454.

32 G.P., XXV, p. 466.

S3 G.P., XXVIII, 1-199, passim.
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and the other leading states in the German Empire, he

summed up the situation as optimistically as he honestly

could. The Reval meeting, preceded by President Fal-

lieres's visit to London, has caused uneasiness in Germany.

Grey and Izvolski have given assurances that nothing is

being planned against her. Nevertheless it would be a fatal

mistake, if, trusting in these assurances, we do not recognize

that our freedom of movement may be limited by what has

happened. It is Germany's economic and political power,

and the fear that she may misuse them, which is driving

other states into the Entente against us. "These Ententes

and Alliances are therefore in their origin rather of a de-

fensive character. But perhaps they will not hesitate to

proceed aggressively against us and hold us down where

possible, when they think they have the power to do so."

Our ally, Austria-Hungary, is threatened just as we are

by this new combination, and especially so, because the

passions and intrigues directed against the very existence

of the Dual Monarchy arouse in other nations expectations

for a successful destructive blow from the outside. The
supposedly imminent break-up of Austria-Hungary is a

favorite standing theme in the French and other foreign

Press. Because of her greater interests in the Balkans,

Austria-Hungary is also more exposed than are we to the

danger of a conflict with the Entente Powers. Germany and

Austria, standing together as a solid block, may be able to

withstand all storms. "A loyal cooperation with Austria-

Hungary will and must remain in the future also the funda-

mental basis of German foreign policy." Germany cannot

enter into a discussion with other Powers to limit her arma-

ments, but she should avoid as far as possible giving any

irritation to others and restrain all jingoistic expressions in

the German Press.34

There was much shrewd wisdom in this statement.

34Biilow's circular, June 25, 1908; G.P., XXV, 474-479.
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Germany's relations with France, 1908-1911

While the naval friction with England continued, and

the Young Turk Revolution and Bosnian Crisis led to a

new tension with Russia, Germany managed to improve

her relations with France in the years from 190S to 1911.

The Algeciras Conference had not produced very satis-

factory conditions in Morocco. The Sultan's brother, Mulai

Hafid, had gained a strong following among the chieftains

who resented the Franco-Spanish efforts to maintain order.

Mulai Hafid finally revolted against his brother's authority.

In the disorders which took place a French doctor was

murdered, which gave the French occasion to occupy Mo-
roccan territory at Oudjda near the Algerian frontier in the

spring of 1907. Further outrages on Europeans led the

French to land troops in Casablanca in August, and to place

French police in other seaports on the West Coast. The
Sultan, losing his authority more and more, was driven from

his capital to the coast at Rabat, and finally declared

deposed by Mulai Hafid's followers. Biilow and the Kaiser,

recognizing that Germany's Morocco policy in the past had

consolidated the Anglo-French Entente, refrained from any

serious interference with these French measures, though

German influence had contributed to the trouble between

the rival sultans.35

While negotiations were going on concerning the terms

under which Abdul Aziz should agree to abdicate in favor

of Mulai Hafid, there occurred the Casablanca incident,

which for a moment threatened to cause a new flare-up

between France and Germany. On September 25, 1908,

the German Consul at Casablanca attempted to assist six

deserters from the French Foreign Legion to escape on board

a German ship. But the deserters were forcibly seized, and

85 For the details, sec the French Yellow Book, Affaires du Maroc,
III-IV, 1906-190S; and G.P., XXI, 601-689; XXIV, 215-326.
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the consular secretary and soldier escorting them were some-

what mishandled by French soldiers. The German Consul

was blamed by France for having exceeded his powers, con-

trary to international law, in affording protection to persons

within French military jurisdiction. The local French mili-

tary authorities were accused by Germany of having in-

fringed the inviolability of consular rights. In spite of

some excitement in the French and German Press, good

sense fortunately prevailed in the Foreign Offices at Paris

and Berlin. Both soon agreed to submit the matter to

arbitration, which ultimately resulted in a compromise de-

cision that both sides had been partly in the wrong. Both

Powers were glad to see the incident disposed of in a

conciliatory fashion so that it should not add a new danger

to the peace of Europe which at the moment was threatened

by the uncertain state of affairs growing out of the Turkish

Revolution and the Bosnian Crisis. The Kaiser especially

displayed as much wisdom and energetic influence in favor

of friendly conciliation as he had lacked in dealing with

the English suggestions for a restriction of naval competi-

tion. Never in sympathy with the Biilow-Holstein Morocco

policy of the past, he now condemned it sharply, having

come to the conclusion that it was impossible to check the

extension of French political control in Morocco without

resorting to force. On October 4 he informed his Foreign

Office that, so far as still practicable, Germany should with-

draw with dignity, and come to an understanding with

France as quickly as possible, in spite of the incident at

Casablanca. A couple of days later, after being painfully

surprised by the Austrian annexation of Bosnia, he wrote

more energetically to Billow: "In view of these circum-

stances this wretched Moroccan affair must now be brought

to a conclusion, quickly and definitely. There is nothing

to be made of it; it will be French anyway. So let us get

out of the affair with dignity, so that we may finally have
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done with this friction with France, now that great ques-

tions are at issue." To which Biilow replied character-

istically that he agreed, but must not let the French see this

too clearly, or they would never give any compensations

for Germany's withdrawal; and he added, "The most desir-

able tiling would be that we should come to an under-

standing with France and England about Morocco, as well

as about other African and Asia Minor questions." 30

Soon afterwards Germany gave her approval to the

terms which the French had drawn up, highly favorable to

themselves, as the conditions on which Mulai Hafid was to

be Sultan. At the same time Schoen, the German Secre-

tary of State, told Jules Cambon, the French Ambassador

in Berlin, that it was time for Germany and France to

shake hands on Morocco, and that the Kaiser wished it.
37

This led to negotiations which resulted in the Franco-

German Agreement of February 9, 1909. "To facilitate the

execution of the Act of Algeciras," France, still professing

to respect the independence and integrity of Morocco,

promised equality of economic opportunity to the Germans;

and Germany, professing to pursue only economic aims,

recognized France's special political interests in preserving

peace and order, and promised not to interfere with them.38

The final negotiations took place very rapidly. This

was owing to several reasons. The Bosnian Crisis was

becoming dangerously acute as Austria and Serbia armed

against one another, so that it was desirable to got the

Moroccan question out of the way. In the second place,

Biilow had taken up the idea of the German Ambassador

in England, in spite of the Kaiser's absolute negative of

the preceding summer, of conceding to England a modifica-

tion of Germany's naval program in return for some politi-

3«G.P.. XXIV, 440 f. On the Casablanca incident itself, cf. ibid.,

pp. 320-374.

37 Oct. 2S. IMS; G.P., XXIV, 454. 38 G.P., XXIV, 489.
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cal equivalent, such as an exchange of colonial territory,

or, better still, an English promise of neutrality in case of

a European war.39 For success in any such negotiation

it was most important to remove all Franco-German fric-

tion in Morocco, which had been one of England's original

and most persistent reasons for standing by the side of

France. It was reported to Billow that the English Minister

in Tangier had had instructions to stir up trouble between

the French and Germans, and he felt sure that anti-German

propaganda by the English in Paris was likely to continue

so long as England had cause to be alarmed over Germany's

rapid construction of Dreadnoughts.40 To cut the ground

from under this propaganda and to remove England's

anxiety as to German intentions in Morocco it was highly

desirable "to shake hands with France" once and for all in

regard to Morocco. A final reason for the speed with which

the Franco-German Agreement was concluded lay in the fact

that King Edward was to visit Berlin on February 9;

Billow wished to be able to publish the Agreement before

his arrival in order to avoid any impression among the

public that Edward VII had helped to bring it about.41

The Agreement was warmly welcomed in the French

Press as putting an end to a long-standing source of irrita-

tion between France and Germany, and as assuring to the

one the political, and to the other the economic, advan-

tages necessary to each. Grey and Hardinge congratulated

Billow on it, expressing pleasure that a question which had

been a constant source of anxiety to England and in which

England was bound by the Entente of 1904 to give France

diplomatic support was now so happily settled.42 The
Kaiser hastened to decorate the French Ambassador in

Berlin with the Order of the Red Eagle and present him
39 G.P., XXVIII, 1-87, especially pp. 66, 74.

40 Bulow to the Kaiser, Dec. 29, 1908; G.P., XXIV, 465.

41 Biilow to the Kaiser, Feb. 9, 1908; G.P., XXIV, 488.

42 G.P., XXIV. 491-4.
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with an autographed portrait, "because the path I ordered

in our Morocco policy has had such a brilliant success in

the whole world, and because we owe much to the unselfish

and devoted work of Cambon as well as to his loyalty." 43

Schoen instructed the German Minister in Morocco that

he was to cooperate fully with the French, prevent all

friction, and observe loyally in every way the spirit and

purpose of the new convention. Though this Moroccan

Agreement of 1909 did not have all the happy results ex-

pected from it, it did bring about much more cordial rela-

tions between the two countries, until new disorders arose

in Morocco in the spring of 1911, which led to the French

march to Fez and the German threat at Agadir.

Germany's relations with Russia, 1908-1911

Though the Anglo-Russian Convention of 1907 seemed

to Germany an indication that Russia was turning away

from the old friendly relations which had united the Hohen-

zollerns and the Romanovs, it did not at first seriously

cloud the relations between the two countries. Izvolski

had been profuse in his assurances that the Convention

merely aimed to do away with Anglo-Russian friction in

the Middle East, and was in no way directed at Germany
or inimical to her interests. As Russia's interests seemed

deeply centered in Persia, Germany carefully sought to

avoid antagonizing her in that quarter. When Persia in

190G had asked for the establishment of a German Bank

at Teheran, with the hope of support against Russian en-

croachments, Germany had hesitated to heed the request,

and informed Izvolski that Germany had no political aims

or interests in Persia. 4
' In return, early in 1907, Izvolski

proposed an agreement by which Russia would withdraw

her opposition to the construction of the Bagdad Railway,

*3 Kaiser's note, Frb. 11, 1909; G.P, XXVIII, 87.

** G.P., XXV, 103-121.
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in return for Germany's recognition of Russia's monopoly

in political, strategic, and economic matters in Northern

Persia.45 Izvolski carried on negotiations for such a Russo-

German agreement during the spring and early summer
of 1907, at the same time with his negotiations on the same

subject with England, evidently playing off the two coun-

tries against one another.46 But when he had the Anglo-

Russian Convention safely in his pocket, he dropped the

conversations with Berlin. 47 Russia's objections to the

Bagdad Railway would be safeguarded by Sir Edward

Grey's policy of insisting that all conversations on the sub-

ject must be a quatre, in which the Entente Powers would

outnumber Germany three to one. Germany for her part

felt sure that Russia's aggressive designs in Persia would

inevitably lead to serious friction with England without any

German stimulation. Therefore in Billow's inelegant

phrase: "II faut les laisser cuire dans leur jus." 48

In 1908, however, Germany's relations with Russia be-

gan to be less satisfactory. Izvolski wished to recover in

the Near East some of the prestige which Russia had lost

in her disastrous war in the Far East. He believed that the

alliance with France and the Entente with England assured

him their benevolent attitude, and that he could proceed

to open the Straits for Russian warships. Germany had

often declared that she had no objections to this, and Aus-

tria could be satisfied by being invited to annex Bosnia and

Herzegovina. This was the substance of his "Buchlau

Bargain" with the Austrian Foreign Minister, Aehrenthal,

which will be described in more detail in the next chapter

on Balkan Problems. Aehrenthal, however, acted quickly

and made sure at once of his half of the bargain. But

« Feb. 20, 1907; G.P., XXV, 122 ff. 4« G.P., XXV, 124-145.

47 There were, to be sure, some unimportant discussions arising from

the conflicts between Hartwig and Richthofen, the overzealous repre-

sentatives of Russia and Germany at Teheran; G.P., XXV, 147-173.

48 G.P., XXVII, 735.



252 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

Izvolski found that his plan for opening the Straits did not

meet with French and English approval, and his consent at

Buchlau to having Orthodox Greek Bosnians placed under

the Roman Catholic sovereignty of the Hapsburgs was

violently denounced by the Pan-Slavs in Russia, as well

as by the Serbians, who had coveted Bosnia as part of a

future "Greater Serbia." Thereupon Izvolski tried to

nullify the Buchlau bargain by insisting that the modifica-

tion of the Berlin Treaty of 1S7S, which was involved by

the Austrian annexation of Bosnia, should be subjected to

revision by a Conference of the Powers. Austria refused.

Serbia and Austria began to mobilize against each other.

Though the Kaiser was indignant at the sudden way in

which Aehrenthal had annexed Bosnia, Biilow persuaded

his master that Germany could not afford to refuse support

to her ally's fait accompli. Germany was now surrounded

by the Entente Powers, and Austria was her only reliable

ally. So Germany supported Austria's refusal to accept a

Conference, and hastened to propitiate France and England

by the Moroccan Agreement of 1909. Meanwhile, by

March, 1909, Serbia and Austria seemed on the verge of war.

Serbia counted on Russian, and Austria on German, support.

Unluckily for Izvolski, Russia's exhaustion and military

disorganization after the war with Japan made it out of

the question for her to back up by force his demand for

a Conference; France was not yet ready to extend the scope

of the Franco-Russian alliance to cover Russian ambitions

in the Balkans; and England gave Russia little support.

To avert an actual clash of arms between Austria and

Serbia, Germany then proposed a solution to extricate

Izvolski from the cul-de-sac into which he had strayed, and

demanded a yes or no answer in regard to it ; if Russia

rejected it, Germany would let the Austro-Serbian quarrel

take its course, and the outcome under the circumstances

would certainly not have been in Serbia's favor. Izvolski
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thereupon accepted the German solution, and the Bosnian

Crisis was ended.49

The outcome of the Bosnian Crisis was a diplomatic

victory for Austria and Germany, and a corresponding

humiliation for Russia and Serbia, with all the feeling of

soreness which such humiliations leave behind. Izvolski

never forgave Aehrenthal for his quick action in annexing

Bosnia without further consultation and in refusing a Con-

ference. He claimed that in both these matters Aehrenthal

had broken his word and was no gentleman. Aehrenthal

denied the truth of the allegations and threatened to pub-

lish the documents, whereupon Izvolski begged Germany to

prevent the publication; upon Germany's advice, Aehren-

thal refrained from carrying out his threat.

This personal feud between Izvolski and Aehrenthal

had been transferred to the pages of the English Fortnightly

Review, where the recrrniinations further embittered the

two men. Count Berchtold, then Austrian Ambassador in

St. Petersburg, became involved, because Dr. Dillon had

found material for one of the Fortnightly articles at Berch-

told's castle at Buchlau. So for nearly a year it was vir-

tually impossible for Izvolski and Berchtold to carry on

diplomatic intercourse with one another. In the meantime
Izvolski succeeded in making a secret agreement with Italy

at Racconigi, 50 by which, among other things, Italy prom-

ised to regard with benevolence Russia's interest in the

Straits in return for Russia's similar promise in regard to

Italy's interests in Tripoli. Izvolski was thus getting Italy's

consent to what he had failed to secure by the Buchlau

bargain, and Italy was taking another "extra dance" out-

side the circle of her own Triple Alliance partners.

It was not until early in 1910 that Izvolski and Aehren-

thal again took up "normal diplomatic" relations. Rumors

49 For the details, see below, ch. v.

so Oct. 24, 1909; see below, ch. v.
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of their rapprochement, and even of a secret agreement

between them, caused terror: at Belgrade it was feared that

Russia was about to abandon Serbia to Austria's tender

mercies; and at Constantinople it was feared that the parti-

tion of Turkey was being contemplated. 51 Even at Berlin

there were fears that Izvolski, aided and abetted by France

and England, was trying to make a secret agreement with

Austria in order to drive another wedge into the Triple

Alliance and sow discord between Berlin and Vienna. 52 For

weeks Izvolski tried to pin Aehrenthal down to signing an

agreement which would put Austria on record in favor of

the status quo in the Balkans and which could be confirmed

by being communicated to all the Great Powers. Izvolski

wished publicly to tie Austria's hands in the Balkans, until

Russia should have reorganized her army and navy and

tightened up the Triple Entente to a more active support

than France and England had given Russia during the

Bosnian crisis. Aehrenthal, however, though ready to sign

a private agreement with Russia, saw no need to communi-

cate it to the Powers. After misunderstandings and re-

criminations, Izvolski finally published some of the cor-

respondence without asking Aehrenthal's consent, an un-

friendly act which still further accentuated the personal

feud between them. 53 Meanwhile Izvolski went ahead with

other maneuvers for securing Russia's ambitions in regard

to the Straits and for forming a Balkan league under Rus-

sian patronage. 54

The Bosnian Crisis had less disastrous effects upon the

relations between Russia and Germany than upon those

between Russia and Austria just described. Germany's

cl Despatches from Russia's representatives at Constantinople and
Belgrade, Feb. 2 and 4, 1910; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 285.

62G.P., XXVII, 438 ff.

&3 On this whole episode of an Austro-Russian "rapprochement", see

Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 2S2-300- CP., XXVII, 435-555.

5* See below, ch. v.



GERMANY'S RELATIONS WITH RUSSIA, 1908-1911 255

intervention to end the crisis was, to be sure, soon exag-

gerated by Izvolski and Sir Arthur Nicolson, into a "brutal

ultimatum" and denounced by the Pan-Slavs. 55 But though

the Pan-Slav Press reserved its bitterest shafts for Ger-

many and not Austria, the Russian Foreign Office, knowing

the truth about Germany's intervention, manifested less

resentment against Berlin than against Vienna. This was

indicated in many ways. While Izvolski and Berchtold

were not on speaking terms for months, the genial Pourtales

remained on the most cordial personal relations with the

Russian Foreign Minister, partly because Izvolski found

he could pour out into the German Ambassador's ear all

his complaints about Aehrenthal's conduct. 56 Similarly,

when the Tsar went to Racconigi in October, 1909, he

ostentatiously avoided Austrian soil, although his obvious

path lay across it;
57 but with the German Emperor, the

Tsar had cordial meetings near Finland 58 and at Kiel. 59

In September Izvolski passed through Berlin. Though

travelling incognito, he made a point of dining with Beth-

mann-Hollweg and becoming acquainted with the new Ger-

man Chancellor. They had a frank and friendly discussion

of the general political situation, past, present, and future,

in which Izvolski poured out his usual complaints about

Aehrenthal "in a passionate and excited fashion, as if he

had come directly from a duel with Aehrenthal" ;

60 Izvolski

hoped that Germany would restrain Aehrenthal from fur-

ther reckless aggression in the Balkans, and assured Beth-

mann that Russia was far from pursuing any policy hostile

to Germany. Both men agreed that the Press, especially

the Russian Press, had done great harm. 01 This friendly

relation was aided by Germany's continued policy of care-

55G.P., XXVI, 738 ff., 783 ff. 56 G.P., XXVI, 810 ff.

57G.P., XXVII, 403 ff., 425; Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 148, 152.

58G.P., XXVI, 817-836. 59 G.P, XXVI, 849 f.

so G.P., XXVI, 854.

eiBethmann's memorandum, Sept. 15, 1909; G.P., XXVI, 852-855.
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fully refraining from all political interference in Persia,62

where revolution and disorders were causing a sharp con-

flict of interests between Russia and England 03—a situa-

tion which Germany regarded with perfect complacency.

Germany's non-interference with Russia's "strangling" of

Persia was ultimately rewarded by Russian concessions in

regard to the Bagdad Railway embodied in the Potsdam

Agreements. But before these are described a word may
be said about Billow's resignation and the new men who
entered the German and Russian Foreign Offices in 1909 and

1910—the men who in July, 1914, were to have in their

hands the fate of the world.

When Herr von Bethmann-Hollweg replaced Count

Biilow at the Wilhelmstrasse in July, 1909, and Kiderlcn-

Wachter became Secretary of State a little later, Germany's

international position seemed considerably improved. Count

Biilow in his volume on Imperial Germany has pictured

with characteristic optimism and excessive self-complacency

the favorable position in which he left the country at his

resignation. But the new Chancellor, reviewing the situa-

tion of 1909 in his Reflections on the World War, shows

that the tasks which he inherited from Biilow were by no

means light and easy.

The Moroccan Treaty of February 9, 1909, with France

and the diplomatic triumph of Austria in the Bosnian Crisis

had brought a feeling of relief at Berlin. The Triple

Entente seemed definitely weakened and the danger of

"encirclement" less alarming. On June 3, 1909, at a secret

meeting attended by Tirpitz. Bethmann, Moltke, and Met-

ternich, who had come over from London for it, Billow

declared that not for twenty years had Germany been so

respected and feared in the world. The one dark cloud on

62G.P., XXVII, 721-824.

63 Cf. Siebert-Schreiner, 49 ff.; Grey, I, 147-165; W. M. Shustcr,

The Strangling of Persia (New York, 1912).
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the horizon was the Anglo-German situation; this looked

like a thunder-storm; therefore he had called this meeting

to consider it.
64 In April the Kaiser had severely scolded

Metternich, among other things, for telling England that

Germany intended no new naval program in the future;

now it appeared that Tirpitz and the Kaiser were contem-

plating a supplementary navy law in 1912. Metternich

replied that he had been expressly authorized by the Kaiser

to speak as he had done, and that it was a pity he had not

been told sooner, if Tirpitz now had it in mind to ask in

1912 for a further increase of the navy. He closed the

letter with words which are as noble a tribute to his own
character, as they are a condemnation of the Kaiser and

his Admiral: "I am well aware that my attitude in the

naval question, in which I have followed my duty in report-

ing repeatedly that this is the question which chiefly poisons

our relations with England, does not meet the approval of

His Majesty, and also that the Secretary of the Navy attacks

my attitude in his talks with His Majesty. Naturally it

is not pleasant for the head of the Navy that our building

program and our relations to England depend on one an-

other. But I should be falsifying history, if I reported

otherwise than I do, and I cannot sell my convictions, even

for the favor of my Sovereign. Also I am doubtful whether

smooth and pleasant despatches, up to the point when we
suddenly find ourselves face to face with war with England,

would be a service to His Majesty." 65

In the meeting of June 3, Billow defended his Ambas-
sador against the unmerited criticisms of Tirpitz and the

Kaiser: "The first duty of His Majesty's representative

abroad is to report the truth and picture conditions as they

really are. He, Biilow, would always stand behind an

Ambassador who did that, heedless of whether the unvar-

64 Protocol of the meeting of June 3, 1909; G.P., XXVIII, 168-176.

65 Metternich to Biilow, June 2, 1909; G.P., XXVIII, 167.
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nisbed truth was pleasant or not to hear. It does no good

to scold the barometer because it points to bad weather." 06

In the course of the discussion Bethmann, Minister of

the Interior, suggested that an agreement with England

might be reached on the basis of Germany "slowing down"

naval construction from four to three ships annually, if

England would make concrete political offers in return.

But Tirpitz blocked the path at every turn, refusing even

the 4:3 ratio for British and German capital ships to which

he had previously assented, and revealing a sly reservatio

mentalis: if Germany slowed down from four to three

new ships a year from 1909 to 1912, she might counter-

balance this loss by speeding up from two to three in the

following years, so that Germany's total number of Dread-

noughts would be the same around 1915 in either case.

Though accepting in principle Bcthmann's suggestion for

slowing down, Tirpitz declined to fix or work out any

formula to accomplish it, until the English had made con-

crete proposals. And in general he was in favor of "quietly

waiting." This was very discouraging to Metternich and

Biilow, and probably had much to do with Bulow's resigna-

tion on June 2G, which was accepted by the Kaiser on

July 14.

The ostensible reason for Bulow's resignation was the

refusal of the Bluc-Black-Bloc (the Conservative-Clerical

coalition) on June 24 to vote the new finance bill, including

a heavy inheritance tax, made necessary by the insatiable

demands of new armaments. This gave Biilow a good

excuse to retire from office. It was a motive which looked

perfectly obvious to the public and has generally been

accepted as the reason for his abandoning the Chancellor-

ship after ten years of weary work. But as one reads his

long struggle to defend Mettcrnich's view in favor of naval

limitation against Tirpitz's stubborn and slippery evasion

66 g.p, XXVin, iesf.
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of all worth-while concessions, and especially as one reads

the protocol of the secret meeting of June 3, 1909, and the

documents connected with it, one gets the impression that

one of Billow's main reasons for resigning was the opposi-

tion of Tirpitz and the Kaiser to the efforts for a reasonable

naval agreement with England. Like Metternich, Biilow

would no longer sell his convictions even for his Sovereign's

favor. This reason, however, involving internal friction

within the Government, the Kaiser's political influence, and

relations with England, was one of which no hint must be

given to the public. So the world has been left to believe

that he parted from the Kaiser mainly for two reasons:

first, because his finance bill was voted down in the Reichs-

tag ; and second, because the Kaiser was displeased with his

inadequate defense of His Majesty in the Daily Telegraph

affair some months earlier. But if Billow's resignation was

motivated, as suggested, by the naval question, then noth-

ing in the exercise of his Chancellorship became him like

the manner of his leaving it.

Biilow's "resignation with brilliants" was accepted on

July 14. He received the Order of the Black Eagle, the

highest distinction of the kind in the gift of the Kaiser.

He had earned it, for no German Chancellor had so diffi-

cult a personal position, and yet acquitted himself so

brilliantly. Easy-going, debonnaire, good-natured, and with

an ever-ready wit, he had known how to handle Reichstag

majorities no less cleverly than he had handled the All

Highest. With something of Tirpitz's shrewd patience in

evading commitments, but lacking the Admiral's powerful

determination, clearness of purpose, and absolute self-

reliance, Biilow had preferred to gain his ends by gentler

methods, by his clever dialectical skill, and by his occasional

withholding of the full truth or more often by obscuring

it with his witty subtlety. He knew also how to humor,

flatter, and disarm his opponents (enemies he had few or
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none), and the literary turn of his speeches and despatches

makes them delightful reading. But his flippant habit of

darkening counsel by amusing metaphors and his assumed

optimism silenced healthy criticism and resulted in his

piloting the ship of state into dangerous currents at the

moment when he handed over the helm to Bethmann. He
(and Holstein) were mainly responsible for the failure to

grasp Chamberlain's proffered hand at the turn of the cen-

tury, and for the other policies which led to the formation

of the Triple Entente. The real hollowness of his achieve-

ment, which he painted coulcur de rose in Imperial Ger-

many, was revealed in the catastrophe of 1914. His reputa-

tion has exceeded his deserts. He will go down in history as

a Chancellor of lost opportunities.

Some months before his resignation, Bulow had called

to Berlin from the obscurity of Bucharest a man whom
many regard as the best horse in the German stable since

Bismarck's day. Herr von Kiderlen-Wachter certainly had

something of the Iron Chancellor's forceful dominating

energy and direct methods, but he lacked the readiness to

see an opponent's point of view, and as far as possible meet

it, which had been one of the secrets of Bismarck's diplo-

matic success. With his light-hearted Swabian warmth of

temperament and levity of conversation, Kiderlen lacked

also the moral force which gave Bismarck such a hold on the

old Emperor and the German people. In his highly divert-

ing daily letters to the beautiful blond whom he first met

when he was forty and she thirty-eight, who never became

his wife, but who often lived in his house, Kiderlen has

left a fascinating record of personal devotion and of public

affairs. Indiscreet, but not uninteresting, are the nicknames

which he used to designate even the great ones of this

world: "Eel" (Billow, who was slippery); "Earthworm"

(Bethmann, whom the Kaiser could tread upon) ; "Poor

Beauty Boy" (a pun upon Schoen, whom Kiderlen replaced
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as Secretary of State in 1910)
;
"Hippopotamus" (Marschall

von Bieberstein) ; "The Sudden One" ("Der Plotzliche,"

i.e., the Kaiser); and "Uncle motu proprio" (the Pope).67

Kiderlen was a career diplomat with excellent training and

opportunities for observation. Entering the Foreign Office

in 1879 as a specialist in commercial matters, he had served

as Embassy Secretary at St. Petersburg, Paris, and Constan-

tinople (1881-1888), and then for ten years accompanied

the Kaiser on his journeys as reporter for the Foreign Office.

But some of his indiscreet witticisms were brought to the

ears of the Kaiser, probably by a jealous Admiral, and the

imperial displeasure was visited upon him by his being

"exiled" to Bucharest.68 As German Minister there from

1900 to 1910, he did much to cement the relations between

Romania and the Triple Alliance. In spite of the Kaiser's

displeasure, Kiderlen's ability was recognized as so indis-

pensable that his advice was often sought by Btilow. In

the winter of 1908-1909, during Schoen's sickness, Kiderlen

was at Berlin as Acting-Secretary of State. It was he, rather

than Biilow, who brought about the Morocco Agreement

of 1909 and the final settlement of the Bosnian Crisis. A
year after Biilow's resignation, when Bethmann needed a
strong and skilful diplomat at his elbow, Kiderlen was at

last brought back from Bucharest for good, and given the

office of Secretary of State, made vacant by Schoen's ap-

pointment as Ambassador to Paris (June, 1910). For two
years and a half, until his sudden death at the very end of

1912, Kiderlen was Bethmann's spiritus rector at the For-

eign Office, casting his influence in favor of keeping Austria

in check, of good relations with Russia, of a naval under-

standing with England, and of the abandonment of all

E. Jackh, Kiderlen-Wachter, der Staatsmann, und Mensch (2 vols.,

Berlin, 1925), passim. This delightful biography is largely made up of
selections from Kiderlen's letters to Hedwig Kypke.

68 E. Jackh, I, 100 f.
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claims in Morocco in return for compensations in the French

Congo.69

Herr von Bethmann-Hollwcg, who took over Billow's

difficult inheritance, lacked his predecessor's brilliance, but

inspired more general confidence by his diligence, sincerity,

and upright nobility of character, for which he was esteemed

by all who knew him at home and abroad. "Somewhat

idealistic and weak, but a suitable person," was Kiderlen's

comment on hearing that out of the various candidates the

Kaiser had picked an old friend of his youth.70 Trained as

a jurist, Bcthmann had risen by ability and hard work in

the civil administration to the position of Imperial Secre-

tary of State for the Interior, with which he was far better

acquainted than with Foreign Affairs. But he at once

applied himself very diligently to getting personally well

acquainted with all Germany's ambassadors and foreign

ministers, and studied the Foreign Office despatches so

assiduously that his subordinates feared he would lose him-

self in the details. With the Kaiser Bcthmann kept on

intimate and friendly terms.

When both were in Berlin, they rode or walked almost

daily together, discussing all political questions, in which

the Kaiser had much wisdom as well as many prejudices.

Bcthmann was something of an idealist. He ardently de-

sired peace in Europe. Therefore at heart he was opposed

to greatly increased armaments. He hoped for an under-

standing with England on the naval question, and believed

it could be reached—Germany slowing down her rate of

naval construction, and England in return making political

concessions in connection with the Bagdad Railway and

perhaps even some kind of agreement to be neutral. The
English were convinced of his sincerity in this purpose.

Sir Edward Grey declared in 1912, after the Haldane Mis-

sion, that any possible differences between Germany and
eojiickh, II, 79-232. TOJackh, II, 32.
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England would never assume dangerous proportions, "so

long as German policy was directed by the Chancellor";

upon which the Kaiser commented indignantly, "This

shows that Grey has no idea who is really Master here and

that I rule. He prescribes to me who my Minister shall

be if I am to make an agreement with England." 71

Bethmann's disinclination for increased armaments and

his wish to make naval concessions brought him into con-

flict with the Kaiser, and he twice offered his resignation.

But the Kaiser would not accept it because he had such

confidence in Bethmann's character, and because he knew
how highly he was esteemed abroad as an influence for

peace. One may argue that Bethmann, for his own honor

and conscience, ought to have insisted on his resignation

being accepted, when he could not persuade the Kaiser to

follow his advice rather than that of Tirpitz ; that he ought

to have put loyalty to his own conscience above personal

loyalty to the Kaiser. But as he wrote rather pathetically

to Kiderlen at New Year's, 1912: "Really this whole policy

[of increased taxation for larger armaments] is such that

I cannot join in it. That you know. But I ask myself

ever and again whether I should not make the situation

still more dangerous, if I should leave now, and then prob-

ably be not the only one." 72 Thus, it was really loyalty to

his country, rather than mere personal loyalty to the Kaiser,

that made him compromise with his own conscience and

remain in office as the spokesman of part at least of the

measures demanded by the army and navy and approved

by the Kaiser. It was the misfortune of Bethmann and of

Germany that he never had a wholly free hand to carry

out the policies which he favored. He continually had to

contend against the influence of the army and navy officials

who had direct access to the Emperor at any time, whereas

7iMetternich to Bethmann, Mar. 17, 1912; G.P., XXXI, 182 f.

72Jackh, II, 174.
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Germany's ambassadors and Foreign Office secretaries could

usually present their views only through the medium of the

"civilian Chancellor."

In the Russian Foreign Office also a change took place.

In September, 1910, Izvolski finally secured for himself the

Russian Embassy in Paris and the generous salary attached

to it. Ever since the fiasco of his effort to open the Straits

by the Buchlau bargain and the humiliating outcome of the

Bosnian Crisis, he had been the target of Pan-Slav attacks

at home. He was also criticized by level-headed men like

Kokovtsev and Krivoshein, the Ministers of Finance and

Agriculture, who felt that he had brought Russia into a

perilous situation in
.

antagonizing Austria and Germany
while the Russian army and navy were still a negligible

quantity. Izvolski would have been glad to escape this fire

of criticism at once by exchanging the Russian Foreign

Office for the Paris Embassy. But he did not like to resign

immediately after the Bosnian Crisis; this would be too

patent an evidence of his own failure or the Tsar's dis-

pleasure. Nor had the Tsar any suitable person to put in

his place. So Izvolski remained Minister of Foreign Affairs

for a year and a half after the Bosnian Crisis, but spent

many months abroad. During his absence in April and

May, 1909, Charykov was in charge at the Singer's Bridge.

When Charykov went as Ambassador to Constantinople in

June, Sazonov took his place as Izvolski's chief assistant at

the Foreign Office. 73

M. Sergei Dimitrijevitch Sazonov, who became Russian

Minister of Foreign Affairs upon Izvolski's transfer to Paris

in September, 1910, was by nature of a mercurial and emo-

tional temperament. In his youth it is said that he intended

becoming a monk, but gave it up on account of his bad

7:1 On Izvolski and his critics in Russia from March, 1909, to Sept.,

1910, see the despatches of Hintze and Pourtales, in G.P., XXVI, 737 ff.,

777 IT., 801 ff., 855 ff.; XXVII, 521 ff; and Sazonov, Fatcjul Years, ch. i
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health and entered the diplomatic service. Slim and rather

small of stature, with a nervous and abrupt manner, he

always gave an impression of being frail in body and change-

able in mind. In June, 1904, he became Counsellor to the

Embassy in London, where he remained three years and

acquired a friendly attitude toward England. In 1907, he

was transferred to the Vatican, a pleasant but unimportant

post which he filled for two years. In June, 1909, he re-

turned to St. Petersburg as Assistant Minister of Foreign

Affairs under Izvolski. His selection to succeed Izvolski in

1910 was, therefore, not unnatural. His appointment was

recommended by Izvolski, who thought there was no one

else better fitted for the office.

In Russian domestic politics, Sazonov was conservative,

solidly in favor of the retention of old Russian institutions

and little in sympathy with the constitutional movement
brought about by the Russo-Japanese War. In foreign pol-

itics, he was an ardent patriot. His lips trembled with

emotion as he once remarked that he could not survive a

second defeat such as Russia had suffered in her unfortunate

war with Japan.74 The German Ambassador at St. Peters-

burg described him as "filled with glowing patriotism bor-

dering on chauvinism. When he talks of past events in

which he thinks Russia has suffered injustice, his face as-

sumes an almost fanatical expression. Nevertheless, dis-

cussion with him is much easier and pleasanter than with

Izvolski, because he always observes form, remains master

of himself, and does not emphasize personal matters." 75

Toward Germany Sazonov was favorably inclined per-

sonally. His grandmother was German and he had many
personal relations with Germany. When he talked with

Bethmann, he preferred to use German rather than French.

74 Miihlberg, German Ambassador in Rome, to Biilow June 11, 1909

G.P., XXVI, 809.

Tspourtales to Bethmann, Aug. 23, 1910; ibid., 867.



266 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

He had much sympathy with the large group at the Tsar's

court who wished to see restored the old cordial relations

between Germany and Russia, who looked to Berlin rather

than to Paris and London, and whose shibboleth was
monarchical solidarity rather than constitutional democ-
racy. To this group belonged Baron Fredericks, the vener-

able, influential, and universally respected Master of the
Tsar's Household; Kokovtsev, Minister of Finance; Kri-

voshein, Minister of Agriculture; to a certain extent

Stolypin, the Premier; Witte, who was out of office, but
still influential; and a large number of "Baltic Germans"
who by their ability had acquired a great number of civil

and military offices in the Tsar's empire. But Sazonov also

believed, like so many Pan-Slavs, that Bismarck had done
Russia a great injustice at the Congress of Berlin, as had
Biilow in the Bosnian Crisis. Nevertheless, he wanted to

cooperate with Germany and reestablish mutual confidence.

He therefore welcomed the visit which the Tsar was to pay
the Kaiser at Potsdam in November, 1910.

Sazonov, like Bethmann, was sincerely desirous of peace.

But, as will appear in more detail in the next chapter, he
was very nervous at any advance of Austrian or German
influence in the Balkans which might endanger Russia's

historic mission of acquiring control of the Bosphorus and
the Dardanelles and even of Constantinople. He was also

very sensitive to the criticism of the Pan-Slav Press. It is

true that hardly ten per cent of the Russian people could
read at all, and a still smaller proportion paid any atten-

tion to newspapers, so that there was in Russia no general
"public opinion" in the Western sense of the word. Never-
theless Russian newspapers did exercise a much stronger

influence on Russian foreign policy than is usually sup-
posed, both through their criticisms of ministers at home
and through their attacks on statesmen abroad. With the
Russian Revolution of 1905, the establishment of the Duma,
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and the formation of the Entente with the two great de-

mocracies of the West, a majority of the Russian Press had
become "liberal" in domestic matters, and strongly Anglo-

phil and Francophil in foreign politics. It attacked Ger-

many as the stronghold of absolutism and reaction, and as

the instigator and protector of Austrian aggressions in the

Balkans. It demanded that Russian Foreign Ministers

should extend protection and help to the Slavs of the Bal-

kans in their struggle to emancipate themselves from the

Turkish and Hapsburg yoke. It had therefore been very

bitter in condemning Izvolski's Buchlau bargain, which had
placed Orthodox Greek Serbs under Austrian rule. It at-

tacked Germany no less than Austria as the enemy of the

Slav cause. It was this Pan-Slav Press of which Sazonov,

timid by nature and none too secure in his official position,

was in constant fear during the next four years. It drove

him at times into a stronger support of Serbia and a sharper

antagonism to Austria and Germany than he personally

favored himself. It partly accounts for the changeableness

and instability of his policies, which worried France and
England as well as Germany. Pourtales, the shrewd Ger-

man Ambassador at St. Petersburg frequently noted how
Sazonov's attitude seemed to shift, now one way and now
another, in accordance with the rise and fall of the wave
of Pan-Slav Press criticism and the militarist influence of

the Grand Duke Nicholas and his bellicose circle. In fact,

between 1908 and 1914, there was no single topic which was
so frequently a subject of complaint and discussion between

representatives of Germany and Russia as the malign influ-

ence of the Pan-Slav and Pan-German Press in stirring up
bad blood between the two countries. After the Bosnian

Crisis, for instance, "Willy" wrote to "Nicky":

A few weeks ago, when affairs threatened to become

dangerous, your wise and courageous decision secured peace

among the nations. I was most gratified that by my co-
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operation you were able to fulfil your task. I

very naturally expected that you and I would win uni-

versal applause, for I ventured to think that we have earned

the gratitude of all well-meaning people. But to my regret

and astonishment I observe that a great many blame us

both instead. Especially the press has behaved in the

basest way against me. By some papers I am credited with

being the author of annexation and am accused amongst

other rot and nonsense of having humiliated Russia by my
proposal. Of course you know better. Yet the fact must be

taken note of that the papers mostly create public opinion.

Some of the papers err through their ignorance and lack of

correct information; they can scarcely sec farther than their

nose's length. But more dangerous and at the same time

loathesome is that part of the press which writes what it is

paid for. The scoundrels who do such dirty work, are in no

fear of starving. They will always incite the hostility of

one nation against the other and when at last, by their

hellish devices, they have brought about the much desired

collision, they sit down and watch the fight which they or-

ganized, resting well assured that the profit will be theirs,

no matter what the issue may be. In this way in 99 cases

out of a hundred, what is vulgarly called "public opinion"

is a mere forgery.76

To this the Tsar replied: "Everything you write about

the Press, as you know from our previous conversations, I

agree with completely. It is one of the curses of modern

times." 77

In his discussions with the German Ambassador at St.

Petersburg concerning the Press, Sazonov sometimes argued

that what the Russian Press said was of little or no impor-

tance; that the German Government and the German Press

made a mistake in paying so much attention to it; that it

represented the views only of a small group of uninfluential

Russian fanatics. But at other times the Russian Foreign

7«May 8, 1909; G.P., XXVI, 786 f. " GP., XXVI, 788 note



GERMANY'S RELATIONS WITH RUSSIA, 1908-1911 269

Minister contradicted himself by using an exactly opposite

line of argument: he must do this or he could not do that,

because he had to have regard for public opinion and what

the newspapers would say. His opponents might force him

from office if in the interests of the peace of Europe he made
too great concessions to Germany or failed adequately to

safeguard Russia's national ambitions and to protect the

Balkan Slavs. When he took this line he was much nearer

the real facts of the situation. Pourtales recognized this,

and frequently urged the German Government not to make
Sazonov's position unnecessarily difficult and embarrassing.

But it would be a mistake to think that Sazonov was

wholly innocent of all connection with the Press which he

genuinely feared. On the contrary, the Russian Foreign

Office stood in close touch with Novoe Vremia and other

papers which were most chauvinist and critical in tone.

Sazonov (or his subordinates) often furnished the informa-

tion and arguments which these papers were to use against

Germany. He thus stirred them up to a nationalist cam-

paign, behind which he would take refuge as a justification

of the policy which he was "compelled by public opinion"

to adopt. In critical negotiations with Germany, as in the

Potsdam Agreements and the Liman von Sanders affair,

important secrets often "leaked" from the Russian Foreign

Office to the representatives of the Russian (and also of

the French and English) Press in St. Petersburg; when
matters thus got into the newspapers, they raised questions

of prestige which made it more difficult for both Govern-

ments to make concessions toward a reasonable compromise

settlement.78

There were also journalists outside Russia who wrote in

the Pan-Slav cause, and who exercised an influence on
78 For a few of Pourtales's more important accounts of the Russian

Press and Sazonov's relations with it, see G.P., XXVII, 844 f ., 851 ff , 885,

890 ff., 924 ff.; XXXVIII, 226, 253 ff., 269, 293 ff., 300 f.; XXXIX, 540-589,

passim. Cf. also Journal Intime de Alexis Souvorine, Paris, 1927.



270 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD AVAR

Sazonov while at the same time receiving funds from the

Russian Foreign Office. Of these the most important was

Wesselitzki, the London correspondent of the Novoe Vremia.

He had been given subsidies and the use of a summer villa

at St. Petersburg when Izvolski was Minister of Foreign

Affairs. "These expenditures were not in vain," wrote

Izvolski in 1911, when urging that his successors at the

Russian Foreign Office should continue to subsidize Wes-

selitzki.
7 " As president of the Foreign Press Association in

London, and in his frequent visits to foreign capitals, as

well as in the materials which he contributed to the Novoe

Vremia, Wesselitzki took every opportunity to sow discord

between Russia and Germany and to tighten up the bonds

between the members of the Triple Entente. Complaints

of his mischievous activities and of the articles which he

wrote under the pseudonym "Argus," appear frequently in

the recently published German documents.80

After this brief digression on Bethmann and Sazonov,

and the forces which influenced their policies, we may now
return to an account of their negotiations in 1910-1911.

Izvolski's departure to Paris in September, 1910, left

Sazonov and the Tsar free to carry out their desire of

establishing more cordial relations with Germany. Though

the Kaiser wras still suspicious and much irritated at what

he regarded as Russia's unfriendly Anglophil attitude since

1907, Bethmann and Kiderlen were ready to meet the Rus-

sians more than half way on their visit to Potsdam in

November, 1910. Kiderlen hoped to clear up misunder-

standings and so to lessen the opposition which had grown

79 Izvolski to Neratov, Nov. 23, 1911; M.F.R., p. 138; Stieve, I.

181. For a detailed statement of the "reptile funds" distributed to Russian

newspapers in 1914, with names and amounts, totalling nearly a million

rubles, see I. I. Tobolin, "Reptilnyi Fond, 1914-191G", in Krasnyi Arkhiv,

X, 332-338 (1925).

80 C/. especially G.P., XXV, 442 ff., and the index references, ibid., p.

701 ; also XXVII, 440, 447 ff., 5Ci ff.
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up between the Triple Entente and Triple Alliance. Neither

Germany nor Russia were to be expected to modify in any

way their respective alliances. But he was ready to assure

Russia that Germany was neither bound nor inclined to

support any new Austrian ambitions in the Balkans. Nor
was Germany pursuing any political aims of her own in

the Near East ; she regarded the Badgad Railway primarily

as an economic enterprise; and she merely wanted to see

Turkey maintained intact, in the interests of peace and
the status quo. There were many subjects in which Rus-

sian and German interests ran parallel, and it would be

desirable to discuss them confidentially but frankly, and
thus put an end to mutual recriminations and restore the

friendly contact which had been lost under Izvolski's man-
agement of Russian foreign policy. 81

These views met with a warm response from the new
Russian Minister. Sazonov declared that the Bosnian

Crisis belonged to the past and would not influence Russian

policy in the future. Russia no longer had any expansionist

policy. Her single task was her own internal consolidation.

Russia's agreement of 1907 aimed purely to put an end to

friction in the Middle East. If England pursued an anti-

German policy, she would not find Russia on her side.

Russia and Germany were neighbors and ought to live on

good terms. 82

As to Persia, the Germans again declared that they had
no political aims in that troubled country, but wanted the

"open door" for their commerce, which was handicapped

by the Russian tariff charged upon goods in transit and by
si Kiderlen's memorandum, Oct. 30, 1910. G.P, XXVII, 832-834.

Also Bethmann's private letter to Aehrenthal of Nov. 14, in which the
German Chancellor frankly informed Aehrenthal of the Potsdam con-
versations, and especially of the fact that he had felt able to assure
Sazonov "that Austria-Hungary is not contemplating any kind of expansion
policy in the Balkans", and that Germany had never bound herself

to support any such Austrian plans {ibid., 850).

82Bethmann to Kaiser Nov. 1, 1910; G.P., XXVII, 835-837.
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lack of good communications. Sazonov replied that the

anarchical conditions in Northern Persia made it impossi-

ble for Russia to withdraw her troops. But if Germany
would withdraw from all railway and telegraph projects in

the Russian sphere in Persia, Russia would withdraw all

discriminating tariffs and other obstacles to the importa-

tion of German goods into Persia. To open up the country

Russia proposed to extend her railway system from the

Caucasus via Tabriz and Teheran to the western frontier

of Persia at Khanikin; and the Germans could then build a

line to connect Khanikin and the Bagdad Railway. Beth-

mann understood that "Russia would no longer lay any

obstacles in the way of the construction of the Bagdad Rail-

way as far as Bagdad." In his report to the Tsar on t lie

Potsdam meeting, Sazonov said "the question of the Bagdad

Railway was not raised"; though he admitted that he told

Bethmann that "if other interested Powers were to partici-

pate in this line, Russia could not remain empty-handed

and would then want to have the Khanikin-Bagdad

section." 83

In his audience with the Kaiser Sazonov had been im-

pressed with the Kaiser's irritation against England's naval

policy, his fears of a "preventive attack," and his hope that

the German fleet would soon have assumed proportions

which would make England afraid to incur this risk. He
had also tried to draw the Kaiser's attention to the danger

to Russia, with her twenty million Mohammedan subjects,

arising from the Pan-Islam propaganda.

The Potsdam conversations were cordial and frank on

both sides. Bethmann and Sazonov each got a very favor-

able impression of the other. An excellent start was made
in removing suspicions and in bringing the two countries

83 Bethmann to Pourtales, Nov. 8, 1910; G.P., XXVII, 840 fT.; Sazo-

nov's report to the Tsar, Nov. 4/17, 1910; Krasnyi Arkhiv, III, 5-S; L.N.,

II, 331-334.
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back into the old paths from which they had strayed as a

result of Izvolski's active Entente policy and unsuccessful

Balkan ambitions. As the substance of the conversations

had not been confirmed in writing, Bethmann drew up for

Sazonov's approval a statement in general terms as the

basis of a reference which he wished to make on the subject

in his coming Reichstag speech. He also drafted nine para-

graphs which he hoped Sazonov would sign, with such

modifications as he saw fit, as a more precise written formu-

lation of the Potsdam conversations.84

But Sazonov caused difficulties. On returning home, he

seems to have feared criticism from the Pan-Slav Press.

He had therefore, without consulting Germany, given an

interview to the Novoe Vremia. This paper then pub-

lished an account exaggerating the points conceded by Ger-

many and minimizing those conceded by Russia. Sazonov

explained apologetically to Pourtales that he wished to

turn aside the possible wrath of this section of the Russian

Press.85 To Pourtales he gave also his full approval of the

statement which was to be the basis of Bethmann's Reichs-

tag speech. One sentence of this hinted at a point to

which Kiderlen attached the greatest importance: "The

result of the last interview I might sum up as a renewed

assurance that both Governments will not enter into any

sort of combination which could have an aggressive ten-

dency against the other." 86 But neither to the Tsar, nor

to the Press, nor apparently to the Ambassadors of France

84 G.P., XXVII, 846 ff. 85 G.P., XXVII, 844 f., 851 ff.

86G.P., XXVII, 849, 855. One may note an interesting difference

between Bethmann, the sincere seeker for a business-like agreement on
economic questions like commerce in Persia and the Bagdad Railway, and
Kiderlen, the more subtle politician concerned in the play of the system of

alliances. To Bethmann, "the only essential things in the Potsdam conver-

sations are the Persian and the Bagdad Railway questions" (ibid., 842),

But for Kiderlen, "the assurance of Russia concerning her relation to

England is for me the alpha and omega of the whole agreement" (ibid.,

862).
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and England, did Sazonov say a word of this general politi-

cal understanding by which Russia promised not to support

any policy hostile to Germany which England or France

might undertake. He doubtless feared it might cause irri-

tation in London and Paris. Therefore he gave evasive or

dilatory replies to Pourtalcs's efforts to get him to sign a

written statement, such as the nine paragraphs which Beth-

mann had drafted, in which were precisely formulated the

points relating to general policy as well as the specific

agreements concerning Persia and the Bagdad Railway.

He suggested that the two sets of points be dealt with in

separate documents, and finally preferred not to sign any

statement at all on general policy, asserting that the verbal

promises of ministers, and especially of the Kaiser and the

Tsar, wcro much more valuable than any exchange of

written notes. 87

Meanwhile Bethmann's Reichstag speech of December

10, 1910, summing up the Potsdam interview as a renewed

assurance thai Germany and Ru«ia would not enter into

an}' hostile combinations one against the other, had fallen

like a bomb in Paris and London, 88 where Sazonov had

allowed the impression to prevail that Persia and the

Bagdad Railway were the only important questions dis-

cussed. The newly appointed English Ambassador in St.

Petersburg, Sir George Buchanan, now hastened to present

his credentials to the Tsar. He emphasized England's

earnest wish to see the Anglo-Russian understanding main-

tained and consolidated, and expressed his anxiety concern-

ing Sazonov's negotiations with Germany. Whereupon

the Tsar, always inclined to agree with whomever had his

ear at the moment, assured Buchanan that Russia "would

conclude no arrangement with Germany without first sub-

mitting it to His Majesty's Government." 89

87 G.P.. XXVII, 879 IT. 88 G.P., XXVII, SSS ff. ; XXIX. 61 f.

89 Buchanan, My Mission to Russia, I, 93; cj. Sazonov, Fateful Years

ch. ii.
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Pourtales, shrewdly suspecting that English pressure

explained Sazonov's evasive attitude, decided it was useless

to press further for a signed statement on general policy.

He therefore accepted with apparent grace and trust

Sazonov's suggestion that merely verbal promises sufficed

concerning general policy, and that the details of the Per-

sian question could be left to a written agreement. Sazonov

was much relieved in his mind at this.90

Accordingly, in the course of the next six months, a

Russo-German agreement on the Middle East was gradu-

ally worked out. The negotiations were delayed by Eng-

land's constant efforts to limit the entrance of German in-

fluence into Persia, and to secure control or participation

in the section of the railway from Bagdad down to the

Persian Gulf. There was also some recrimination over the

publication in the London Evening Times of the secret

draft treaty under discussion, the Russians and Germans

each suspecting the other of being responsible for the

"leak." But the Agadir Crisis caused Germany to make
concessions and the agreement was finally signed on August

19, 1911. Germany disclaimed economic concessions (rail-

ways, roads, navigation, and telegraphs) in the Russian

sphere in Persia; there were provisions for an eventual

Russian railway in Persia from Teheran to the western

border at Khanikin, and for linking this by a German
branch line to the Bagdad Railway; and most important fop

Germany—Russia would no longer place obstacles in the

way of the construction of the Bagdad Railway or in the

participation of foreign capital. 91

The Potsdam conversations in no way troubled the soli-

darity of the Triple Alliance, because Germany had kept

eo G.P., XXVII, 875-883.

^Krasnyi Arkhiv, III (1923), 10-13; G.P., XXVII, 957 f.; for the

negotiations, ibid., 905-963; Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 501-576; the Izvolski-

Sazonov correspondence, passim, in M.F.R., L.N., and Stieve; and Earle,

ch. s.
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Austria promptly informed of all her steps, and because

Austria had no special interests in the Middle East. But

the serenity of the Triple Entente was considerably ruffled

by Sazonov's separate negotiations with Germany in a field

where England and France had very active interests. M.
Pichon, the French Minister of Foreign Affairs, was severely

criticized in the Chamber of Deputies and in the Press for

not safeguarding French interests and the solidarity of the

Entente. Prominent men like M. Hanotaux in France, and

Mr. Lloyd George in England, asked whether Sazonov's

conduct was not leading to a dissolution of the Triple En-

tente. No little irritation was felt in Paris and London

at Sazonov's independent course of action and departure

from the Anglo-French standpoint that all Bagdad Railway

negotiations ought to be d quatre. 92

In the end, however, Russia's withdrawal of opposition

to Germany's cherished desire of pushing the Bagdad Rail-

way to completion opened the way for Germany's suc-

cessful negotiations with Turkey and with England for

further mutually advantageous arrangements. Germany
acquired flocks at Alexandretta and a branch line from there

northward by which railway materials could be more easily

imported for extending construction east of the Taurus

Mountains. The Powers consented to an increase of the

Turkish tariff from \\ r/c to 15%, which would provide

funds for paying the railway guarantees. England was

given two of the seats on the Board of Directors of the

Bagdad Railway Company, assured a dominant position in

the navigation rights and oil resources of southern Mesopo-

tamia, and largely relieved of her fears that the Bagdad
Railway would be a German menace to the safety of India.

The negotiations for all these arrangements were protracted

02 Cj. G.P., XXVII, 855, 887 ff.; XXIX. 61 ff.; Siebert-Schreiner,

pp. 527 ff.; Earle, p. 241 ff.; Sazonov, p. 34 f
.
; and Stieve and Montgelas,

Rvssland und der Wcltkotiflikt, p. 39 f.
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over three years, but had been successfully concluded on

June 15, 1914, two weeks before the Sarajevo assassination;

the agreements lacked only the final signatures at the

moment they were tossed to the winds by the outbreak of

the World War. 93

The Potsdam conversations and agreements of 1910-1911

are another indication of the fact that questions of economic

imperialism are far easier for Governments to handle suc-

cessfully than questions affecting prestige, alliances, or

armaments; in fact the former may sometimes serve as a

convenient bridge to the latter.

While Germany was thus on the way toward better rela-

tions with Russia in the summer of 1911, her relations with

the two other members of the Triple Entente were suddenly

made much worse by a new Morocco crisis.

THE AGADIR CRISIS, 1911

The Franco-German Morocco Agreement of 1909 was

at first lived up to loyally by both parties. Pichon and

Bethmann both made cordial public statements to that

effect in the fall of 1909. But gradually friction developed

again. The Mannesmann Brothers had acquired from

Mulai Hand certain mining rights not recognized by the

French, which conflicted with the claims of the interna-

tional "Union des Mines Marocaines." The Franco-Ger-

man consortium for the development of the Cameroon-

Congo trade had finally to be given up, on account of the

protests of the French nationalists that the Germans were

getting the greater advantage, and the Germans were then

left seriously embarrassed. The disorders in the country

gave the French a pretext for a steady extension of their

police and military control, and Mulai Hand was forced by

an ultimatum to accept a loan which brought him more

93 On the Bagdad Railway negotiations between 1911 and 1914> ^ea

G.P., XXXI, 71-377; XXXVII, 141-470; Earle, pp. 244-274.
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completely under French domination. It gradually became

clearer and clearer that with this extension of French in-

fluence the equality of economic opportunity contemplated

in the 1909 Agreement, and the idea of an independent

Sultan at the head of a well-regulated government, were

both fictions in contradiction with the actual trend of

events. Nevertheless the fictions served as a basis for

friendly relations between France and Germany for two

years.94

The military and financial methods of the French had

not endeared them to the Moroccan chieftains. The latter

resented Mulai Hafid's subservience to the French and the

continual encroachments upon their own national indepen-

dence. The native discontent came to a head in March,

1911, after Colonel Mangin's public execution of a couple

of Moroccan soldiers caught in the act of deserting. A re-

volt broke out in Fez. Alarming reports were sent out by

the French that the lives of Europeans in Fez were in

danger. On April 5, Jules Cambon, the French Ambassador

in Berlin, informed Germany that the murder of Captain

Marchand and the other disorders in Morocco would prob-

ably make it necessary for the French to occupy Rabat and

send a punitive expedition into the Shawia district as well

as a military force to rescue the Europeans in Fez. He
added that this action was only due to extreme necessity,

to preserve the sovereignty of the Sultan, and would be

exercised in accordance with the spirit of the Algeciras Act.

Kiderlen, who mainly directed Germany's policy in the

Agadir affair, replied that he understood perfectly the

anxiety of the French Government as to the fate of the

M On Moroccan affairs after 1909 see French Yellow Book, Affaires

du Maroc, V, VI; the German White Book of 1910, Dcnkschrift und
Aktcnstiicke iibcr dcutsche Bergwerksintcressen in Marokko; G P., XXIX,
1-70; P. Albin, Le Coup d'Agadir (Paris, 1912); A. Tardieu, Le Mystcre

d'Agadir (Paris, 1912); J. Caillaux, Agadir, Ma Politique Extericure

(Paris, 1919).
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Europeans in Fez, but that the French occupation of a

second port like Rabat, in addition to Casablanca, would be

likely to excite rather than allay the passions of the na-

tives; it might also arouse public feeling in Germany and

look like a further step toward the elimination of the Alge-

ciras Agreement. He hoped that the French would delay

military occupation as long as possible, and that Moroccan

affairs could be satisfactorily arranged between Germany
and France—a hint at compensations for Germany which

Cambon clearly understood.95 A little later Cambon re"^*

affirmed that France would respect the Act of Algeciras and

withdraw the troops as soon as order had been restored ^

at Fez.

Kiderlen did not give an approval nor lodge a formal pro-

test, but pointed out warningly that in cases like Fez it

was easier to occupy a city than to withdraw again; and

if French troops remained in Fez, so that the Sultan reigned

only under cover of French bayonets, Germany could no

longer regard him as the independent sovereign contem-

plated by the Algeciras Act; this and the Agreement of 1909

would fall to the ground, and Germany would reassume

complete liberty of action.96 The Kaiser, on the other hand,

when he heard the news of massacres in Fez and the flight

of Mulai Hafid into the French Consulate, said the French

ought to send a large force; Germany had no reason to

hinder it, as it would divert French troops and military

expenditure from Germany's western frontier; if the French

infringed the Algeciras Agreement, let other Powers, like

95 Affaires du Maroc, VI, 179 f., 185, 189 ff; Caillaux, Agadir, 257 ff.;

G.P., XXIX, 78 ff.

96 Kiderlen's note of April 28; G.P., XXIX, 97 f.; Affaires du Maroc,
VI, 247 f. The English at first had somewhat the same feeling; Sir

Arthur Nicolson, said the Russian Ambassador in London, "did not

conceal from me the fact that the Morocco question is disquieting the

London Cabinet. . . . The experience of all European States, beginning

with England, shows that it is easier to occupy a city than to withdraw
again" (Benckendorff to Neratov. May 9. 1911; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 581).
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Spain, protest ; the Foreign Office ought to check the clamor

that warships should be sent to Morocco.97

How far the French reports of disorders represented a

genuine fear that their authority and European lives were

endangered, and how far they were exaggerated as a pre-

text for securing a stronger grasp on the country, it is

difficult to say. That they had been steadily extending

their political grip on Morocco, and intended eventually to

reduce it to a French protectorate, there is no doubt.

Kiderlen likened it to the spread of oil upon water.98

When the Russian Ambassador in Paris asked M. Cruppi,

the French Minister of Foreign Affairs, how long the French

would remain in Fez, the Minister answered evasively. 99

And Caillaux, who became Prime Minister in June 1911, has

declared : "Our problem was nothing less than to regain all

the ground lost since 1905, and to repair the consequences

of the serious diplomatic check which we had suffered." 100

In 1905, it will be remembered, Delcasse had been forced

from office; but Delcasse was now back in the Cabinet again,

just as the French were preparing to occupy Rabat and

march to Fez. To be sure, he had only the naval portfolio,

and the Prime Minister, Monis, had assured the German

Ambassador that, "he had taken Delcasse into his cabinet

on account of his notable work in the navy, and because his

great technical knowledge was indispensable. Delcasse has

firmly promised not to mix in foreign policy; anyway, his

views today differ from those of some years ago." 101 But

it was natural that, with his restless energy and memory
of the past, Delcasse was suspected by the German Press of

having a hand in the Moroccan policy, and later events

97 Kaiser to Bethmann, April 22; XXIX, 89.

98 G.P., XXIX. p. 169 f.

BOlzvolski to Neratov, May 24, 1911; L.N., I, 107.

ioo Caillaux, Agadir, p. 29.

loiSchoon to Bethmann, March 4, 1911; G.P.. XXIX, 7! nolo.
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proved he had remained as determined an opponent of

Germany as ever. 102 He told Izvolski that "his entrance

into the Cabinet indicated the special care which would be

devoted to France's military forces. His first task was the

creation of a strong navy, and the efforts for the army would

be redoubled. Although he had no intention of overstep-

ping his office and arousing distrust in Germany," he was

anxious to tighten up the relations with Russia. "Accord-

ing to general opinion, he will inevitably influence the ac-

tivity of M. Cruppi, as the latter is very little versed in

foreign affairs." 103

Germany's intentions were a puzzle to the French at the

time, and have remained something of a mystery, but they

are now clear from a long memorandum which Kiderlen

drew up on May 3 (greatly condensed)

:

Three years have shown that the independence of Mor-

occo, as contemplated in Algeciras Act, cannot be main-

tained in the face of native rebellion and imperialistic pres-

sure from France and Spain. Sooner or later Morocco will

inevitably be absorbed by these two neighbors. It is un-

likely that a walled city like Fez can be captured by the

natives and the revolt seems to be on the ebb. But the

French fear for its safety and are preparing to send an ex-

pedition. This they have a right to do, and one must await

the development of events. But if they march to Fez, it

is hardly likely that they will withdraw; even if French

public opinion approved withdrawal, it would be regarded

by the natives as a sign of weakness. This would lead to

new uprisings and new French military expeditions. The

course of events shows that the provisions of the Act of

Algeciras cannot be carried out. A Sultan who can only

assert his authority with the aid of French bayonets can-

102 "In some of the German papers, Delcasse is regarded as the true

originator of French Moroccan policy" (Russian Charge d'Affaires at

Berlin to Sazonov, April 28, 1911; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 580).

103 Izvolski to Sazonov, March 3 and 14, 1911; M.F.R., pp. 41, 43;

L.N., I, 45, 48; Stieve I, 38, 41.
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not maintain the independence which was the purpose of

the Algeciras Act. Germany must recognize these facts and

readjust her policy in accordance with them. After the

French have been in Fez a while, we shall ask in a friendly

way when they expect to withdraw. When they say that

they cannot withdraw, we shall say that we understand this

perfectly, but we cannot longer regard the Sultan as a sov-

ereign independent ruler as provided by the Act of Algeciras;

and since this is a dead letter, the Signatory Powers regain

their freedom of action. It will do no good to protest

against the French absorption of Morocco. We must there-

fore secure an object which will make the French ready to

give us compensations. Just as the French protect their

subjects in Fez, we can do the same for ours at Mogador

and Agadir by peacefully stationing ships there. We can

then await developments and see if the French will offer us

suitable compensations. If we get these, it will make up for

past failures and have a good effect on the coming elections

to the Reichstag. 104

The Kaiser was persuaded to approve this policy, though

he ought to have foreseen that the modus operandi was
dangerously analogous to that of Bulow and Holstein in

1905. He then departed for England to attend the unveil-

ing of a memorial to Queen Victoria. Here he was cordially

received, and got the impression that the English regarded

the French Morocco action with regret. Sir Ernest Cassel

and Prince Louis of Battenbcrg hinted that they hoped that

German policy would not differentiate itself from that of

England. But the Kaiser and Bethmann saw no reason for

taking the hint, because Germany had not been consulted

by England about Morocco in 1904, nor by Russia at

Reval. 105

104 G.P. XXIX, 101-108.

i° 5 Bcthmann's memorandum, May 23; ibid., p. 120 f. Sir Edward
Grey, however, reminded the German Ambassador on May 22, that in

Moroccan questions England was bound by her agreement of 1904 to

support France (ibid., p. 119; Siebcrt-Schrciner, p. 5S3).
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At the outset Kiderlen's program bade fair to work

excellently. As the Pan-German Press began to demand
compensations or the partition of Morocco, and the German
Government maintained an ominous silence as to how it

would use its freedom of action, the French began to be

worried. Izvolski reported that so far as he was able to

judge, "the Berlin Cabinet has chosen a very advantageous

and skilful position: without protesting as yet against the

French manner of action, it reserves the power of announc-

ing at any moment that the Algeciras Act has been in-

fringed—in this way German diplomacy dominates the

situation and can, not only according to the development of

events on the spot, but also according to the general trend

of her domestic or foreign policy, suddenly render the

Moroccan question more acute. . . . Sir Francis Bertie is

personally convinced that Germany is only awaiting a suit-

able moment to declare the Act of Algeciras non-existent

and then occupy one or two ports (including Mogador) on

the Atlantic coast of Morocco." 10G A fortnight after the

French military expedition occupied Fez, the Spanish

troops landed at Larache. The French in turn denounced

this action as a blow to the Algeciras Act and as endanger-

ing the international situation. 107

By the middle of June the French intimated that they

were ready to talk of a compensation for Germany; Cam-
bon hinted at it very guardedly on June 11, when speaking

of Morocco as a ripe fruit which must inevitably fall to

France; 108 and Cruppi in Paris mentioned it in connection

with a Congo-Cameroon railway project, but Kiderlen re-

garded this as a mere bagatelle. He wanted the whole

French Congo! 109 But he did not want to ask for it until

106 Izvolski to Sazonov, May 11, 1911; M.F.R., p. 88; L.N., I, 104;

Stieve, I, 98 f.

107G.P., XXIX, 140 ff.; Affaires du Maroc, VI, 332 ff.

108G.P., XXIX, 124, 177 note; Affaires du Maroc, VI, 349 f.

109 G.P., XXIX, 149 ff.
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the appearance of a Gorman ship at Agadir had frightened

the French into coming forward with a very generous offer

in return for Germany's abandoning Morocco to them
completely. 110

When therefore Cambon came to Kissingen to broach

the subject with him on June 20, Kiderlen took an atti-

tude of reserve. When Cambon intimated that France

would be willing to make concessions in the Congo, but that

there was no use talking further if Germany wanted part of

Morocco, Kiderlen agreed completely. When Cambon left

Kissingen for Paris to see how much his Government would

offer, Kidcrlen's last words were, "Bring us back something

from Paris." 111 As several days passed without any French

offer being made, and as the Kaiser was about to start on

his northern cruise, Kiderlen went to Kiel to report on the

situation and get a renewal of his consent to send warships

to Morocco. On June 2G Kiderlen's laconic telegram,

"Ships granted," indicated that he had secured the Kaiser's

approval. Accordingly, the gunboat Panther, returning

from southern Africa, was ordered to drop anchor at Agadir

on July l.
112

On Saturday afternoon, July 1, as the Panther steamed

into Agadir, Germany notified France and the other Powers

that German business houses, alarmed at the fermentation

among the natives caused by recent events, had asked for

protection for their life and property in southern Morocco;

the German Government had therefore sent a warship to

Agadir, which would withdraw as soon as affairs in Morocco

had calmed down. 113 It was true that German firms had

petitioned the Foreign Office to protect their interests in

southern Morocco,114 but it is clear Kiderlen was using this

no Zimmermann's memorandum, June 12, and Kiderlen's comments;
ibid., H2ff., 177 ff., 184 ff.; also Jiickh, II, 123 fT.

matures du Maroc, VI, 37211.; G.P., XXIX, 142 note.

112 G.P., XXIX, 152 f. i"G.P., XXIX, 153 note.

U3 GP., XXIX, 15311.
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merely as a pretext. His real motive was to bring th^

French to the point of making a generous offer of Congo

territory, and to emphasize to the Powers that the Alge-

ciras Act had broken down.

On July 9, Cambon came again to see Kiderlen. He was

deeply depressed and disturbed at the Agadir action, of

which Germany had given no preliminary notice, whereas

France had given ample notification of her inarch to Fez.

The interview was long and difficult, and punctuated by

silences. Each wanted the other to make proposals. Finally

the words "Congo" and "Togo" were mentioned. But

neither speaker would commit himself further, each declar-

ing that he must get further information and instruc-

tions.
115 This delay and diplomatic fencing drew from the

Kaiser the impatient comment:

After four weeks! This is a cursed comedy! Nothing

accomplished! What the devil is to be done now? This

is a sheer farce, negotiating and negotiating and never get-

ting any further! While we are losing precious time, the

British and the Russians are stiffening up the frightened

French and dictating to them what they at the most can

condescend to allow us. 116

Kiderlen was now in a very difficult position. When

Cambon came to see him again on July 15, and spoke only

of insignificant compensations, he decided to beat about the

bush no longer. He took a map, pointed to the French

Congo, and said Germany ought to have the whole of it

Cambon nearly fell over backward in astonishment. He !

declared that no French Government could ever give up a \

whole colony, but that part of it might be surrendered, if

Germany gave up Togo and some of the CamemoruL, From

this interview Kiderlen received the impression that "to

lis Affaires du Maroc, VI, 403 f.; Caillaux, 278 ff; G.P., XXIX, 173 ff.;

Jackh,n. l23ff.
lie G.P., XXIX, 177 f.
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get a satisfactory result it would be necessary to take a very

strong stand." 117 The whole matter was telegraphed to the

Kaiser, who was still on his northern cruise. He was more

dissatisfied than ever, and also alarmed at Kiderlen's atti-

tude. He ordered positively that no steps involving threats

to France should be taken in his absence. Realizing that it

would be easier for the French Government to cede Congo
territory to Germany, if Germany gave in exchange some

small African territories of her own, he authorized Kiderlen

to proceed with Cambon on this basis. 118 At the same time

Treutler, the Foreign Office Minister who accompanied the

Kaiser, telegraphed to Kiderlen: "As you know, it would

be very difficult to get His Majesty's consent to steps which

he assumes might lead to war." 110 Kiderlen was now ready

to resign, because of the Kaiser's attitude, and because he

himself believed the way to make the French yield was to

make them feel that their refusal might mean war. But

Bcthmann persuaded him to stay in office and continue to

negotiate on the basis indicated by the Kaiser. 120

It was at this moment, when the Kiderlen-Cambon ne-

gotiations seemed to be making little progress, that England

intervened. Many weeks before the Panther went to

Agadir, Sir Edward Grey had feared that Germany meant

to seek her compensation in West Morocco and establish

the naval base on the Atlantic coast. To this England had

been resolutely opposed for years; it had been one of her

main motives for supporting France in Morocco. The

Panther seemed to confirm Grey's fears. Therefore on July

4 he warned Germany that "a new situation has been cre-

ated by the despatch of a German ship to Agadir; future

developments might affect British interests more directly

than they had hitherto been affected; and, therefore, we
H7G.P., XXIX, 184 ff.

us Treutler to Bethmann, July 17; G.P., XXIX, 187 f.

noG.P., XXIX, 188.

130G.P., XXIX, lS9ff.; JUckh, II, 12S-134.
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could not recognize any new arrangement which was come

to without us." 121 Grey would have been less disturbed

in his mind if he had known that Germany's real objective

was the Congo and not a naval base on the Atlantic coast

of Morocco. Kiderlen made a mistake in not reassuring him
on this point. But Kiderlen, Bethmann and the Kaiser

had all been bent on carrying the discussion of compensa-

tions directly with France alone, and had intimated politely

that intervention by others was not desired.122 They hoped

to get more from France if others were not admitted to the

discussion. Grey waited for more than two weeks for Ger-

many to make some reply to his statement of July 4 that

England wanted to be consulted in regard to any Moroccan

settlement; but Germany remained silent. Grey wast

ready to accept a Franco-German settlement based on an

exchange of French Congo territory for German African

possessions, provided the terms of the settlement were acy

ceptable to the French, and provided the Germans aban-

doned all intentions of having a foothold on the Moroccan

coast. He had welcomed the suggestion of finding a solution

in the French Congo. 123 But when Kiderlen demanded the

whole Congo, the French told Grey that the German de-

mands were unacceptable, reminded him of England's obli-

gations under the Moroccan Agreement of 1904, and sug-

gested that he take the initiative in calling another con-

ference of the Powers to deal with the question. 12 '*

This hint that the Franco-German direct negotiations were

likely to break down revived Grey's fears that the Germans

would stay at Agadir. He therefore asked the German
Ambassador to come to him, and told him informally that

he understood that "there was danger that the negotiations

121 G.P., XXIX, 167; Grey, I, 214. On the same day Grey told Paul

Cambon that the Moroccan question ought to be discussed a, quatre—by
France, Spain, Germany, and England {Affaires du Maroc, VI, 392 ff.)

122 G.P., XXIX, 155 ff. 123 Grey, I, 223 f.

124 De Selves to Paul Cambon, July 20; Affaires du Maroc, VI, 418 f.
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would end without success, and then the question would

come up: What is Germany doing in Agadir and its hinter-

land?" This was a question, he said, which involved Eng-

lish interests. So long as there had been a prospect that

France and Germany might reach a settlement by exchang-

ing colonial territory in Central Africa, he had kept aside;

but as this now seemed unlikely, and as serious British in-

terests were involved, he wished to suggest privately that it

was time for England also to be heard—time for a discussion

d trois—between France, Germany, and England. Grey

was wise in wishing to find out Germany's real purpose and

deal with it by the usual secret diplomatic methods without

the noisy and embarrassing interference of the Press every-

where. But Metternich had no instructions to tell him that

Germany wanted compensations in the Congo and not a

naval port at Agadir. Grey therefore evidently came to the

conclusion it was time to give Germany an unmistakable

public warning, even though involving all the dangers of

newspaper excitement and questions of "prestige." That

very same evening without giving Metternich time to get

new instructions from Berlin, Grey allowed Lloyd George to

announce to the world that England demanded that she be

consulted. In this famous Mansion House speech of July

21, Lloyd George said:

But I am also bound to say this—that I believe it is

essential in the highest interests, not merely of this country,

but of the world, that Britain should at all hazards main-

tain her prestige amongst the Great Powers of the world.

Her potent influence has many a time been in the past, and

may yet be in the future, invaluable to the cause of human
liberty. It has more than once in the past redeemed con-

tinental nations, who are sometimes too apt to forget that

service, from overwhelming disaster, and even from national

extinction. I would make great sacrifices to preserve peace.

I conceive that nothing would justify a disturbance of in-
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ternational good-will except questions of the gravest na-

tional moment. But if a situation were to be forced upon

us in which peace could only be preserved by the surrender

of the great and beneficent position Britain has won by cen-

turies of heroism and achievement, by allowing Britain to

be treated, where her interests were vitally affected, as if

she were of no account in the Cabinet of nations, then I say

emphatically that peace at that price would be a humiliation

intolerable for a great country like ours to endure.125

This speech caused an explosion of wrath in Germany,

where it was interpreted as a threat, and where it was felt

that England was interfering in Franco-German negotia-

tions which were none of her business. It made all the more

effect that it was delivered, not by Grey himself, who was

regarded as being unduly anti-German, but by the Chan-

cellor of the Exchequer who had the reputation of being

a man of peace and generally favorable to Germany. When
he spoke out in this way he was regarded as having been

selected by the Government in order to make the warning

all the more emphatic. Both the Prime Minister and Sir

Edward Grey had been consulted, and approved Lloyd

George's action. Winston Churchill, the Home Secretary,

was enthusiastic for it.
126 But he makes plain that he

knew it was playing dangerously with fire. It greatly in-

creased the already existing tension between England and

Germany growing out of the naval competition. It might

indeed have easily led to war, had not the Kaiser and

Bethmann been determined not to allow the Moroccan

affair to cause a European conflict. It did, however, pro-

duce two results which ultimately contributed to a peaceful

solution of the Moroccan question. It led Germany to

inform England at once that she had no intention of estab-

125 Grey, I, 216.

i26Asquith, Genesis of the War, p. 148; Churchill, I, 46 ff. Grey (I,

217) says he did not instigate it, but welcomed it.
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lishing herself on the Atlantic coast of Morocco, which had

been Grey's great cause of alarm. And it also caused Ger-

many to moderate somewhat her demand on France. After

four months of protracted and difficult negotiations, Ki-

derlen and Cambon were able to sign the agreement of

November 4, 1911. By this Germany virtually acknowl-

edged that the French might establish their desired protec-

torate over Morocco; in return France ceded more than

100,000 square miles of the French Congo, giving the Ger-

mans two much-needed river outlets to the Congo for the

export of their Cameroon products; to give the appearance

of an exchange of territories and make it easier for the

French Government to justify the agreement to French

public opinion, Germany ceded to France the "duck's bill,"

a small tract of valueless Cameroon territory east of Lake

Chad. That the agreement represented a tolerably equi-

table compromise is evidenced by the fact that it met bitter

criticism and opposition from the nationalists and colonial

enthusiasts in both countries. 1 - 7

As between England and Germany, the Agadir Crisis

not only increased the friction between the two govern-

ments at the tunc, but it seems to have deepened Grey's

suspicions of Germany's warlike inclinations. This is evi-

dent from his observations on the subject in his memoirs, 128

where he implies (quite contrary to facts) that "the Agadir

Crisis was intended to end either in the diplomatic humilia-

tion of France or in war;" and adds: "The militarists in

Germany were bitterly disappointed over Agadir, and when

the next crisis came we found them with the reins in their

hands." 129 His feeling at the time was significantly ex-

pressed in his statement to the Russian Ambassador in

London: "In the event of a war between Germany and

127 On these later negotiotions and the Moroccan Convention of

November 4, 1911, see GP., XXIX, 293-454; Affaires du Maroc, VI,

423-635.

128 Grey, I, 210-239. 120 Grey, I, 231, 233.
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France, England would have to participate. If this war

should involve Russia [the Ambassador had just assured

him that it would], Austria would be dragged in too, for,

although she has not the slightest desire to interfere in this

matter, she will be compelled by force of circumstances to

do so. There is no doubt that in such an event the situation

in Albania will become aggravated. Consequently, it would

no longer be a duel between France and Germany—it would

be a general war." 130 Grey added, however, that he did

not believe Emperor William wanted war. Two weeks

earlier the Russian Ambassador had reported: "There is

no use concealing the fact—one step further, and a war

between England and Germany would have broken out as

a result of the Franco-German dispute, although indepen-

dent of it."

Between England and France the Agadir Crisis, like the

Morocco Crisis of 1905, led to a tightening of the bonds

between the two. France was grateful for Lloyd George's

speech, and for the indications that England would not only

give her the diplomatic support promised in the agreement

of 1904, but also the military support contemplated in the

military and naval "conversations" which had been going

on between the two countries since 1906. On July 20, after

Kiderlen's demand for the whole Congo and the day before

Lloyd George's Mansion House speech, there took place at

the French Ministry of War a Conference between General

Wilson, the Head of the Department for Military Opera-

tions of the English General Staff, and General Dubail, the

French Chief of Staff. It was "to determine the new condi-

tions for the participation of an English army in the opera-

tions of the French armies in the North-East in case of a

war with Germany." 131 The protocol of the Conference

130 Benckendorff to Neratov, August 16, 1911; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 598.

131 French General Staff History, Les Arme.es Fran-guises dans la Grande
Guerre (Paris, 1925), I, 49.
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took care, as usual, to state that these "conversations, de-

void of all official character, cannot bind either Government

in any way," and aimed merely "to foresee the indispensable

preparatory measures." But six weeks later, General Dubail

stated to the Russians, as if there were no doubt in the

matter, that the French army was ready to take the offen-

sive against Germany "with the aid of the English army on

its left wing." 13 -

Russia, having just established more friendly relations

with Germany as a result of the Potsdam agreements, did

not wish to endanger these by too active a support of France

in the Agadir affair. At the beginning, when requested by

her ally to make representations at Berlin, Russia had done

so in a perfunctory way, but without exerting any real

pressure. 13-
"

1 Later during the long Franco-German negotia-

tions for a Congo-Cameroon exchange of territories, Izvol-

ski himself says he worked "with all his strength" to moder-

ate the French and urged them to yield to many of the

German demands.134 This is confirmed by Caillaux, 135

and by the French Ambassador in Russia, M. Georges Louis,

who reported that Russia would honor her signature on

the alliance, but that Russian public opinion would hardly

understand a Franco-Russian war occasioned by a colonial

question like Morocco. And when M. Louis pointed out

to the Tsar that Morocco was as much of a vital interest

to France, as the Caucasus and the control of the Black

Sea to Russia, Nicholas II replied: "Keep in view the

avoidance of a conflict. You know our preparations are

not complete." 130 Russia did not at this time want to be

132 Protocol of the Franco-Russian Military Conference of August

31, 1911; M.F.R., p. 698; L.N., II, 421.

• 133G.P., XXIX, 112, 117, 158 f., 168ff.

134 Izvolski to Neratov, Sept. 14, 1911; M.F.R., p. 114; L.N., I, 132 f.;

Stieve, I, 146.

135 Caillaux, Agadir, p. 142 ff.

130 Louis to De Selves, Sept. 7, 1911; Judet, Georges Louis, 156 f.; cj.,

however, Poincare, I, 294 ff.
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drawn into a war over Morocco any more than France had

wished hitherto to be drawn in over Balkan questions.

Russia needed to build up her army and navy much further

before risking a European War. But the very fact of this

lukewarm support by Russia of French colonial interests,

and by France of Russia's Balkan ambitions, became an

added spur to Izvolski to tighten up the Franco-Russian

Alliance after 1911. And in this he was soon aided by M.
Poincare, who became Minister of Foreign Affairs in France

early in 1912.

Another effect of the Agadir Crisis and the consequent

strengthening of the French grip on Morocco and the West-

ern Mediterranean was Italy's decision that the time had

come for her to seize Tripoli. This so weakened Turkey

that Serbia and Bulgaria hastened to take steps toward

the formation of a Balkan League, with Russia's assistance,

which led to the Balkan Wars. These in turn further

embittered the relations between Serbia and Austria, and

so contributed to one of the main causes of the World War.

THE HALDANE MISSION, 1912

In 1908, as has been indicated above, Tirpitz had secured

the adoption by the Reichstag of a naval program provid-

ing for the construction of four capital ships annually from

1908 to 1911, and for two annually from 1912 to 1917.

The English had become greatly alarmed, both for their

actual safety and for the disastrous effect upon Anglo-

German relations. They had therefore made efforts to call

a halt, or come to some understanding, but these had failed

owing to the Kaiser's decisive opposition, culminating in

his interview with Sir Charles Hardinge at Cronberg in

August, 1908.

During the following months English alarm steadily

increased, and frightened imaginations pictured a German
invasion of England. Further antagonism between the two
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countries was caused by the unfortunate Daily Telegraph

affair. The Kaiser had allowed an English friend to sum-

marize a confidential talk in which the Kaiser refuted the

idea that he was hostile to England. The English were

"mad, mad as March hares," he had said, to suspect the

German navy, which was simply to protect German com-

merce and not to attack England. The Kaiser was the

friend of England. He wished to restrain the German
people, whose prevailing sentiment was not friendly to

England. But the English suspicions and Press attacks

made his task of preserving peace difficult. As proof of

his friendly attitude in the past, he recalled that during

the Boer War he had refused to join France and Russia in

putting pressure on England in favor of the Boers; on the

contrary, he had even sent Queen Victoria a plan of cam-

paign for use against the Boers. The Kaiser sent the manu-
script of this summary to Biilow at his summer home at

Nordeney on the shore of the North Sea, and Biilow, with-

out studying it, sent it to the Foreign Office for examination

and comment. But here an official, supposing that it had

received Billow's approval, allowed it to go out, and it was

published in the London Daily Telegraph on October 28,

190S. 137

The Kaiser had hoped the article would disarm Eng-

land's suspicions and improve the relations between the two

countries. It had precisely the opposite effect. It caused

a storm of newspaper attacks on both sides of the North

Sea, many of which were directed against himself person-

ally. The English doubted his sincerity; they ridiculed and

resented the idea that any advice of his had helped them

win the Boer War; but they noted as ominous his admission

that the prevailing sentiment in Germany was unfriendly

137 Reprinted in CP, XXIV, 170-174; for the details of this incred-

ible mistake and the storm which the article raised in both Germany
and England, see ibid., pp. 167-210.
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to England. In Germany, the Liberals and Socialists pro-

tested bitterly against his ill-considered act and the dangers

of his personal rule. Biilow tendered his resignation, but

withdrew it after the Kaiser promised in the future not

to talk politics without his Chancellor's advice. But in the

great Reichstag debate growing out of this affair, the Kaiser

felt that Biilow did not adequately defend his sovereign's

position. He no longer regarded his Chancellor with the

same favor and confidence.

Count Metternich, the German Ambassador in England,

was greatly distressed at seeing the two countries drifting

into mutual misunderstandings and recriminations which

one day might lead to war. English public opinion was

demanding that the Cabinet should assure the "Two Power

Standard" (that the English navy should be as strong as

the combined navies of any other two Powers), and that if

Germany built four Dreadnoughts annually, England should

build eight. Lord Roberts began to tour the country trying

to arouse England to the creation of a huge army and the

adoption of the continental system of universal military

service, naming Germany as the enemy of the future. A
year ago, reported Metternich, these speeches would have

been regarded as so exaggerated that they would have made
no impression; today they are taken more seriously. The
fundamental cause of all this alarm and agitation, Metter-

nich believed, was the rapid increase^ of the German navy.

He therefore suggested the desirability of slowing down
Germany's program of construction from four to three ships

annually, and of trying to come to some understanding with

England. 138

Biilow personally was in favor of the suggestion. To
facilitate an understanding with England he hastened to

make the Morocco settlement of 1909, which he hoped

138 Metternich to Biilow, Nov. 22, 27; Dec. 11, 20, 29, 1908; Jan. 1,

14, 20; G.P., XXVIII, 23-75.

V
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would remove one of the political causes of England's dis-

trust. He sent Metternich's despatches to Tirpitz for com-

ment.

But the Admiral disagreed fundamentally with the wise

Ambassador's diagnosis of the English situation. Tirpitz

received part of his information about England from the

German naval attaches, whose reports often sound like an

echo of their master's voice and wishes. Tirpitz insisted

that the fundamental cause of British alarm and agitation

was not the German navy, but German industrial and

commercial competition. The British were now getting

accustomed to the idea of a respectable German navy, but

what troubled them was the fact that Germany, like Hol-

land in the seventeenth century, was everywhere taking

their trade and capturing their markets. It would do little

good to slow down the naval program; and, anyway, it was
fixed by law and could not be altered. To alter it as a
result of the English clamor would be an intolerable humil-

iation for Germany and encourage the navy propaganda

in England. Therefore Germany ought to go ahead with

the creation of the "risk navy," and trust to passing safely

through the "danger zone" without a British attack. He
also rejected Bulow's suggestion that it would be wiser to

spend more money on naval defense—coast fortifications,

torpedo-boats, and submarines—to which England would

have no objection, rather than on so many Dreadnoughts,

which Metternich believed were the main sources of irrita-

tion and alarm in London. He finally threatened to resign,

if Billow insisted. 139

So Biilow, weakened in favor with the Kaiser after the

Daily Telegraph affair, gave way before Tirpitz, and virtu-

ally abandoned Metternich's suggestion for the time being.

He let slip the opportunity of taking the initiative afforded

by King Edward VII's visit to Berlin in February, 1909,

"9 Tirpitz to Biilow, Jan. 4, 1909; CP., XXVIII, 51-55.
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when Lord Crewe touched upon the question of naval

competition.

As Metternich had forecast, the British agitation con-

tinued, and under its influence Mr. McKenna, First Lord

of the Admiralty, proposed that for three years England

should lay down six Dreadnoughts a year against Germany's

four. A considerable number in the Cabinet and in Parlia-

ment thought that four British ships would still be enough

to maintain a safe margin of British superiority. To over-

come their objections and carry his bill, Mr. McKenna
exaggerated the rate of speed at which the German ships

were being completed. He alleged that Germany was ex-

ceeding the "normal rate" by secretly assembling materials

beforehand, so that she might have 13 completed as early

as 1911, instead of in 1912, as contemplated in the German
navy law and as Metternich had expressly assured Grey

beforehand was the actual intention.140 Thus, Germany
might have 13 Dreadnoughts to England's 16 in 1911, and

an even more dangerous proportion in the following years.

These statements of the First Lord of the Admiralty

crystallized the general feeling of uneasiness into a first-

class "navy scare." The public believed that Germany was

trying to steal a march on England, and now clamored for

eight ships, instead of the six which Mr. McKenna had

asked for. "We want eight and we won't wait," was the

popular cry. In the end, eight were voted, four at once,

and four contingent upon Germany's continuing to build

according to her program.

The effect on Anglo-German relations was deplorable.

The Kaiser boiled with indignation at McKenna's "lies,"

and blamed Metternich for letting the wool be pulled over

his eyes and for not taking a stiffer tone to Grey. 141 He was

particularly displeased that Metternich had given the Eng-

140 Metternich to Bulow, Mar. 3, 10, 17, 1909; G.P., XXVIII, 93-112.

141 Cf. Kaiser's comments, G.P., XXVIII, 99, 102, 105, 113, 126,
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lish to understand that Germany did not intend further to

increase her program in the future
—

"a colossal personal

concession, given right out of hand without getting the

slightest tiling from England in return, except untold lies,

slanders, suspicions, and incivilities." 142

Although Mr. McKenna later admitted his statements

to have been incorrect, 113 they had done their damage in

further increasing Anglo-German antagonism. In view of

the offer implied in the English plan for four contingent

ships, Biilow called a special meeting which was attended

by Tirpitz, Bethmann, Moltkc, and Metternich who came

over from London. But the conditions demanded by

Tii pit/ and the Kaiser were such that there was no prospect

of success in opening a negotiation. 114 Three weeks later

Biilow was defeated in the Reichstag on his finance bill

and resigned. Shortly afterwards the British voted to lay

down the keels of the four contingent ships.

In this domestic conflict between Metternich and Biilow

on one side, and Tirpitz and the Kaiser on the other, there

is no doubt that wisdom lay with the former. Though it is

true, as Tirpitz maintained, that commercial and industrial

competition caused Anglo-German antagonism, it is much
more true, as Metternich believed, that the naval question

was the fundamental cause, and that the British were

determined, cost what it might, to maintain the naval

superiority which was vital for their commerce and for the

very existence of the Empire. Metternich was quite right

when he observed: "The services of Tirpitz in the develop-

ment of our navy are unquestioned and great. But it is

again evident that military, technical, and organizing ability

are not necessarily united with correct political judgment.

His judgment in regard to England is in such contradiction

"2 Kaiser to Biilow, April 3, 1909; GP., XXVIII, 145.

H3G.P., XXVIII, 391-39.5.

i« Proctocol of meeting, June 3, 1909; G.P., XXVIII, 168 ff.; cj. above,
256 n.
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to the actual facts, that it almost seems as if he closed

his eyes to them." 145

Bethmann-Hollweg, -who succeeded Billow as Chan-

cellor, agreed with Metternich as to the need for coming

to a naval agreement with England. He believed that Ger-

many could not be expected to have her 1908 program

modified by a formal Reichstag amendment, but she might

"retard the rate" of construction, by laying down less than

the authorized four Dreadnoughts annually; he hoped that

in return England might make concessions in regard to

colonial questions and the Bagdad Railway and perhaps

give some kind of neutrality promise. With this in view

he opened negotiations with the British Ambassador, Sir

Edward Goschen, in August, 1909, but they came to noth-

ing. 146 In the course of the next two years he took up this

idea several times, as well as various minor proposals to

mitigate naval rivalry and suspicions, such as a mutual

visiting of navy yards and exchange of information by naval

attaches. But he had no success. 147 Finally, in the fall of

1911, after the heat of the Agadir Crisis had somewhat

cooled down, the idea was taken in hand more definitely

by two business men.

Albert Ballin, the head of the Hamburg-American Line,

believed that the rapid building of the German navy was

the main cause of Anglo-German antagonism and might

some day lead to war. He considered this naval rivalry

a far more serious threat to the peace of Europe than the

Franco-Russian alliance. He was also on intimate and very

friendly terms with Tirpitz and the Kaiser, as well as with

Bethmann. He was aware that the German Government
intended to lay a new navy law before the Reichstag in

the spring of 1912, and he wished to bring about some
145 Metternich to Bulow, Nov. 27, 1908; G.P., XXVIII, 19.

146G.P., XXVIII, 201-278.

147G.P., XXVIII, 281-423; cf. Grey to Goschen, May 5 and Oct. 26,

1910 (Grey, I, 244-247).
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understanding with England before this made matters

worse. His friend, Sir Ernest Cassel, was a rich and influ-

ential London banker. Born in Germany, Cassel had

emigrated to England as a boy, and had at heart the inter-

ests of the land of his birth no less than of his adopted

country. Like Ballin in Germany, he enjoyed in England

a social and political position of great influence without

holding any office in the Government. He had become an

intimate friend of Edward VII, both as his banker and

political adviser. He carried great weight among English

business men in the "City," as well as in English political

circles. Ever since July, 1909, Ballin and Cassel had been

consulting together how to bring about an understanding

between Germany and England. 148 In the winter of

1911-12, while the Berlin and London Foreign Offices were

discussing possible colonial agreements, 140 and the English

were becoming worried over rumors of an imminent new
German Navy Law,150 Ballin saw Cassel, who thereupon got

into touch with Sir Edward Grey. This paved the way for

the Haldane Mission. On January 29, 1912, Cassel came

to Berlin with a memorandum 161 which had been ap-

proved by Sir Edward Grey, Winston Churchill, and Lloyd

i«G.P, XXVIII, 205 IT.; Huldermann, Albert Ballin, 216 ff.

H9G.P., XXXI, 71-94.

160 GP, XXVIII, 3-67.

161 The full details of the Haldane Mission can now be followed in

G.P., XXXI, 95-251; Tirpitz, Erinnerungen, p. 185 ff.; Der Aufbau der

deutschen Wcltmacht, pp. 197-338 (including many documents most of

which were later published in G.P.) ; "Warum kam eine Flottenverstiind-

igung mit England nicht zur Stande?", in Suddeutsche Monatshejtc, 23.

Jahrgang (Nov., 1925), pp. 95-155, including polemical articles by Fritz

Kern, Hans Hollmann and others, for and against the Tirpitz publica-

tion of documents; Bethmann-Hollweg, Betrachtungcn, I, 48 ff.; Huldcr-

mann, Albert Ballin, pp. 235-270; E. Jiickh, Kiderlen-Wdchter, II, 155 ff.;

Siebert-Sehreiner, pp. 613-639; Haldane, Before the War, pp. 55-72;

Churchill, The World Crisis, 1911-1914, pp. 94-115; Asquith, Genesis of
the War, 153-160; Grey, I, 240-248; Poincare, I, 163-188. The subject is

excellently summarized by B. E. Schmitt, in an article in The Crusades
and Other Historical Essays presented to Dana C. Munro (N. Y., 1928),

pp. 245-288.
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George. This memorandum was to serve as a basis for

opening official negotiations, and ran as follows:

1. Fundamental. Naval superiority recognized as es-

sential to Great Britain. Present German naval program

and expenditure not to be increased, but if possible retarded

and reduced.

2. England sincerely desires not to interfere with Ger-

man Colonial expansion. To give effect to this she is pre-

pared forthwith to discuss whatever the German aspirations

in that direction may be. England will be glad to know
that there is a field or special points where she can help

Germany.

3. Proposals for reciprocal assurances debarring either

power from joining in aggressive designs or combinations

against the other would be welcome.152

Sir Ernest Cassel showed this memorandum to the Ger-

man Chancellor, who replied in writing that he welcomed

this step taken by the British Government, and was in full

accord with the memorandum, except that the new 1912

German naval estimates had already been arranged. He
added that he and the Kaiser would be greatly pleased if

Sir Edward Grey would visit Berlin, as the most effectual

way of bringing the negotiations rapidly forward. He also

gave Cassel a sketch of the proposed new Supplementary

Navy Law, which indicated the creation of a third and new
Naval Squadron to be formed from five existing reserve

ships and three new ships ; these three new ships, to be con-

structed during the next six years represented an augmen-

tation of the 1908 program by three capital ships; that is,

whereas by the 1908 program two capital ships were to be

laid down annually between 1912 and 1917, by the new
proposal three ships would be laid down in 1912, 1914, and

1916.153 Cassel returned with this, and replied on Grey's

behalf that if the German naval expenditure could be so

182 G.P., XXXI, 98. 153 G.P., XXXI, 99 note.
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arranged, by a modification of the German rate of construc-

tion or otherwise, as to render unnecessary any serious

increase of British naval expenditure, "British Government

will be prepared at once to pursue negotiations, on the

understanding that the point of naval expenditure is open

to discussion and that there is a fail- prospect of settling

it favorably." 154 If this understanding was acceptable, a

British Minister would come to Berlin. Bethmann replied

that it was acceptable, provided England gave adequate

guarantees of a friendly orientation of her general policy.

"The agreement would have to give expression to a state-

ment that both Powers agreed to participate in no plans,

combinations or warlike engagements directed against

either Power."

Sir Edward Grey himself was unwilling to accept the

cordial invitation to Berlin. His reasons, according to his

memoirs of a dozen years later, were his fears that "the

visit might arouse suspicion and distrust at Paris"; that

the whole plan might be "one of those petty unofficial

manoeuvres that could be avowed or disavowed at Berlin

as best might suit German convenience"; and that he "had

no great hope that anything would come of it."
1:10 Probably

at the time his strongest motives were his deep distrust of

Germany, and his fear of alarming France and so weaken-

ing the Entente. He decided not to go to Berlin himself,

but arranged that Lord Haldane, the Minister of War,

should go in his place. He desired that Haldane's visit

"should be private and informal, so that, if nothing came

of it, there should be no sensation and little disappointment

to the public."
1,r

' 7 In 1910, when Bethmann was trying to

secure an understanding with England, Grey had written

to the British Ambassador in Berlin: "The mutual arrest

l54Cassel to Ballin, Feb. 3, 1912; Churchill, p. 98; CP, XXXI, 102.

155G.P., XXXI, 103 f. 157 Grey. I, 242 f.

156 Grey, I, 241 ff.
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or decrease of naval expenditure is the test of whether an

understanding is worth anything," and that in Bethmann's

overtures "the naval question was not sufficiently prom-

inent." 158 He apparently did not think that there was any

better chance of German naval reduction in 1912. He
seems to have been convinced that the Kaiser had taken

the initiative, 159 and then, if he had gone to Berlin and the

negotiations had come to nothing, the German Government

would have tried to put the blame upon him, Grey. But
above all, Grey was determined not to endanger in the

slightest degree the Entente with France. He had been

told by Winston Churchill that the Admiralty was con-

templating bringing home the Mediterranean ships, in order

to meet the new Third Squadron which Tirpitz wanted;

and that this meant relying on France in the Mediterranean

(as was later actually arranged), so that certainly no change

in the Entente would be possible, even if Grey desired it.
160

To allay French fears Grey at once informed the French

Ambassador of the projected negotiations and assured him
that he would do nothing with Germany that would tie

his hands. 101 His statement to Paul Cambon shows what

a restricted conception he had of the Haldane Mission:

Haldane was "to find out whether Germany's recent over-

ture was serious or not. He was also to attempt to gather

information about the Bagdad Railway. But there is no

question of entering upon negotiations. We desire only to

158 Grey to Goschen, May 5, 1910; Grey, I, 245.

159 Grey gave Paul Cambon the impression that the initiative had
not come from England but from the Kaiser (Poincare, I, 165, 168), and
Churchill said the same to the German naval attache, (G.P., XXXI,
104). But the Kaiser denied this at once in a marginal note, saying

that he knew nothing of the proposal until Sir Ernest Cassel came
to him with Grey's offer (ibid., p. 122). The fact seems to be that the

initiative came from Ballin and Cassel, and that only after the latter had
talked with Grey, did the Kaiser suggest that the best way to facilitate

the negotiations would be for Grey to come to Berlin.

ico Jan. 31, 1912; Churchill, p. 97.

161 Grey, I, 242.
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learn the intentions of the German Government and to

inquire about its plans for a naval program." 102 This

attitude on Sir Edward Grey's part in itself foredoomed the

Ilaldane Mission to failure.

Two other circumstances were hardly calculated to

facilitate it. On February 7, the day of Lord Haldane's

arrival in Berlin, the Kaiser in his speech at the opening

of the Reichstag had announced in general terms that proj-

ects for the increase of the army and navy would be intro-

duced later in the session. To this Winston Churchill

immediately replied in a defiant speech at Glasgow, char-

acterizing the German Navy as a "luxury": "The British

Navy is to us a necessity and, from some points of view,

the German Navy is to them more in the nature of a

luxury. . . . We shall make it clear that other naval

Powers, instead of overtaking us by additional efforts, will

only be more outdistanced in consequence of the measures

which we ourselves shall take." The speech offended Mr.

John Morley and some of the other more pacific members

of the British Cabinet, who sincerely hoped for an under-

standing with Bethmann, and it created no little indignation

in Germany. 163

In spite of these inauspicious circumstances Lord Hal-

dane's reception at Berlin was most cordial and aroused

considerable optimism, both in his own mind and especially

in that of the Kaiser. His first interview on February

8 was with Bethmann at the British Embassy. He got the

impression, which he always regained, that the Chancellor

was as sincerely desirous of avoiding war as he was himself.

Next day he lunched with Tirpitz and the Kaiser, and had

a long and friendly discussion. He emphasized England's

i fi 2 Poincare, I, 166. Haldane himself while in Berlin, also made a

point of visiting the French Embassy and informing Jules Cambon that,

even if a naval accord were reached, it would respect the existing ratio

and not disturb the Entente (Poincare, I, 167; G.P., XXXI, 126).

103 Cj. Churchill, 99-101; and G.P., XXXI, 55, 62, 126.

1
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necessity of having a fleet large enough to protect her com-

merce and vital supply of food and raw materials. He
admitted that Germany was free to build as she pleased,

but so was England, and England would probably lay down
two keels to every one which Germany added to her pro-

gram. After a long discussion between him and Tirpitz

about the Two Power Standard and naval ratios, in regard

to which they could find no mutually satisfactory basis, the

Kaiser proposed that it would be better to avoid for the

moment discussing shipbuilding programs; instead of at-

tempting to define ratios between the two navies, it would

be better to have the agreement deal with the political

question of general policy and colonial matters; after this

was concluded and published, the Kaiser would have Tirpitz

tell the Reichstag that the new political agreement with

England had entirely altered the situation, and the three

extra ships which the new navy law proposed to lay down
in 1912, 1914, and 1916, would not be asked for until 1913,

1916, and 1919. Haldane tactfully assented to his sugges-

tion and it was agreed that next day he should try to work

out with Bethmann some formula of political agreement. 164

In a long final interview on February 10, 1912, Bethmann
proposed the following formula for a political agreement:

I. The High Contracting Powers assure each other

mutually of their desire for peace and friendship.

II. They will not, either of them, make any combina-

tion, or join in any combination which is directed against

the other. They expressly declare that they are not bound

by any such combination.

III. If either of the High Contracting Parties becomes

entangled in a war with one or more other Powers, the other

of the High Contracting Parties will at least observe toward

164 Kaiser to Bethmann, Feb. 9; and Tirpitz's memorandum; G.P.,

XXXI, 112ff.; 225 ff.; Haldane, Before the War, p. 57 ff.; Bethmann,
Betrachtungen, I, 50 ff.; Tirpitz, Memoirs, I, 218 ff.
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the Power so entangled a benevolent neutrality, and use its

utmost endeavor for the localisation of the conflict.

IV. The duty of neutrality which arises from the pre-

i ceding Article has no application in so far as it may not be

reconcilable with existing agreements which the High Con-

tracting Powers have already made. The making of new
agreements which make it impossible for either of the Con-

tracting Parties to observe neutrality toward the other be-

yond what is provided by the preceding limitation is ex-

cluded in conformity with the provision contained in Article

II. 105

Haldane objected to Article III as being too wide-reach-

ing. It would preclude England from coming to the assis-

tance of France should Germany attack her and aim at

getting possession of such ports as Dunkirk, Calais and

Boulogne. This England could never tolerate, because it

was essential to her island security that these ports should

remain in the friendly hand of France. Suppose, he said,

that England were to attack Denmark, to seize a naval sta-

tion, or for some other object disagreeable to Germany,

Germany must have a free hand. Similarly, if Germany
fell upon France "with her tremendous army corps," Eng-

land could not bind herself to remain neutral. Furthermore,

such a formula might also hamper England in discharging

her existing treaty obligations to Belgium, Portugal and

Japan. Lord Haldane therefore proposed to modify Articles

II and III so that they would read:

II. They will not either of them make or prepare to

make any unprovoked attack upon the other, or join in any

combination or design against the other for purposes of ag-

gression, or become party to any plan or naval or military

enterprise alone or in combination with any other power

directed to such an end.

165 Haldane, p. 64; G.P., XXXI. 116 ff. Kiderlen was not present at

any of the conversations with Haldane, but he assisted Bethmann in

drawing up this formula.
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III. If either of the High Contracting Parties becomes

entangled in a war with one or more other powers, in, which

it cannot be said to be the aggressor, the other of the High

Contracting Parties will at least observe towards the power

so entangled a benevolent neutrality and use its utmost en-

deavor for the localisation of the conflict. 166

In his eagerness to secure an agreement Bethmann bit

at this bait, without committing himself to accept it. Later,

however, Germany argued, and with good reason, that the

words "unprovoked" and "aggressor" were too uncertain in

interpretation. In the complex situations which lead to

war, it is always difficult to tell which side is really the

aggressor. To make neutrality dependent on this uncer-

tainty of interpretation would be robbing the agreement

of all its value. Suppose Germany were drawn into a war

with Russia and France, England's neutrality would then

depend on whether or not she judged that Germany had

"provoked" the war.

On colonial questions it was much easier for Haldane

and Bethmann to come to a tentative agreement, which,

however, was not to be regarded as binding upon either. In

disposing of the Portuguese colonies Germany was to get

Angola, and England Timor. Germany might buy the

Belgian Congo, in return for giving a right of way to a

Cape-to-Cairo Railway. England would cede Zanzibar and

Pemba, in return for a satisfactory arrangement concerning

the Bagdad Railway, such as 51% control of the section

from Bagdad to Basra near the Persian Gulf.167

In regard to naval rivalry, Haldane agreed that the new
Navy Law, having been publicly announced by the Kaiser,

would have to be brought before the Reichstag, but he

doubted very much whether the British Cabinet would

regard as satisfactory the slight postponement in construc-

i«6G.P, XXXI, 118 f. Italics are by the present author.

167G.P., XXXI, 119 f.
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tion which the Kaiser had mentioned the day before. Eng-

land would be compelled to take counter-measures, and

English public opinion would not be likely to sanction any

"political agreement" between the countries at a moment
when both were increasing naval expenditures.

After all these points had been noted down for further

discussion by the London and Berlin Governments, Lord

Ilaldane returned to England, carrying in his pocket the

draft of the proposed German Navy Law. This had been

confidentially given to him by the Kaiser, with permission

to show it privately to his colleagues, although its contents

was still unknown to the Reichstag and the German public.

As it was a bulky document requiring technical knowledge,

Haldane had not attempted to study it in Berlin. When
he handed it over to Winston Churchill and the Admiralty

for examination, they believed that it would entail very

serious naval expenditures on the part of both England

and Germany. The British therefore drew up and for-

warded to Berlin a memorandum calling attention not

merely to the three new capital ships contemplated, but to

the great increase in personnel and expenditure by which

Germany was proposing to provide for her new Third

Squadron. To meet it England would have to lay down
two keels to one for every capital ship added to the German
Navy above the existing law; and she would make a further

concentration of the Fleet in Home Waters, all involving

£1S,500,000 spread over the next six years. Public opinion

would hardly regard these serious measures and counter-

measures as appropriate to the coincident ree'stablishment

of cordial relations. 108 In other words, as Metternich

bluntly reported, the "political agreement" was in danger

of being shipwrecked on the Navy Law. To save the former,

Germany must abandon or greatly modify the latter. In

fact Grey told him flatly a few days later that it would be

168 G.P, XXXI. 134 f.
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impossible to sign any political agreement at the moment
when both countries were making increased naval expendi-

tures, because public opinion would regard this as incon-

sistent. 169

At Berlin this memorandum made a bad impression.

Grey seemed to have damped all hopes of an understand-

ing. He had abandoned the basis of discussion agreed to

by Haldane at Berlin, shifting it away from the neutrality

agreement, and giving priority to a criticism of the Navy
Law and naval details, some of which (like the question of

increase of personnel) had not been mentioned at all by
Haldane. Even in colonial matters Grey seemed to be

withdrawing what he had held out at first, and to be

making difficulties: he had discovered that the Dutch had

a prior right to purchase Timor; that England could hardly

give up Zanzibar and Pemba without receiving some Ger-

man territory in return; and that the suggested Bagdad

Railway concession was insignificant and unsatisfactory.170

The Kaiser was especially indignant at the change in

England's attitude. He was willing to proceed with nego-

tiations on the basis of Haldane's conversations at Berlin,

but not on the new basis which Grey was taking in London.

A memorandum to this effect was drawn up for Metternich
;

but was held back by Bethmann for several days. In spite

of everything, he and Kiderlen were still making a valiant

struggle to satisfy Grey. They were trying to persuade

Tirpitz and the Kaiser to abandon the three extra capital

ships and postpone still further the publication of the

Navy Law. 171 But the Kaiser was impatient to have the

Navy Law laid before the Reichstag, inasmuch as it had

already been announced in his speech, and been in English

169 Metternich to Bethmann, Feb. 22, 24, 29; G.P., XXXI, 128-145.

170 G.P., XXXI, 137-154.

171G.P., XXXI, 148-153; Tirpitz, Der Aufbau der deutschen Welt-

macht, 290 ff., 306 ff.
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hands for more than a fortnight. At Bethmann's insistence

it had been withheld from publication hitherto, in order

not to jeopardize tlx? negotiations with England. Finally,

on March 5, the Kaiser telegraphed to Bethmann that the

memorandum for Metternich must be delivered to Grey

on the morning of March 6, so that the Navy Law could

then be laid before the Reichstag in the evening. He also

took the unusual step of telegraphing himself directly to

Metternich : it appeared that England had abandoned the

basis agreed upon by Haldane ; the Kaiser would stick to it

and to the Navy Law except for a partial postponement of

capital ships; but navy personnel was not to be a subject

of discussion with England; if England withdrew her ships

from the Mediterranean to the North Sea, this would be

regarded as a threat of war and would be replied to by an

increased Navy Law and by possible mobilization. 172

Bethmann now sent in his resignation: he could no

longer assume responsibility for such a policy or for such a

direct dictation by the Kaiser to Germany's Ambassadors,

without previous consultation with the Chancellor. The
Kaiser hastened back to Berlin, persuaded Bethmann to

remain in office, and agreed to a further postponement of

the Navy Law and the continuance of the negotiations with

England. Thereupon Tirpitz in turn threatened to resign,

if the Navy Law were dropped altogether. 173 After a sharp

domestic conflict between the two Ministers, the Admiral

virtually triumphed over the civilian Chancellor. It was

decided that no reduction in the Navy Law should be made
beyond the minor matter of retarding the date for the capi-

tal ships, which Tirpitz had already grudgingly conceded.

Meanwhile Bethmann had been continuing his negotia-

tions with England, 171 but they never had any chance of

172G.P., XXXI, 1,56.

nsibid., 157 note; Tirpitz, pp. 317-325.

174 G.P., XXXI, 159-210.
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success as iar as a neutrality agreement or naval limitation

was concerned. They were virtually abandoned as hope-

less on March 29, when Grey informed Metternich that the

English Cabinet had finally decided definitely against

Bethmann's original neutrality formula. Grey offered in-

stead another much more restricted formula, which Ger-

many rejected as not giving any satisfactory security against

war with England.175 Already, on March 18, Winston

Churchill had laid before Parliament the British Navy
Estimates, providing for two keels to every additional

German one, and for the other greatly increased naval

expenditures which he had threatened as England's reply

to the expected German Navy Law. The Atlantic fleet

would be moved from Gibraltar to Home Waters and re-

placed at Gibraltar by the Mediterranean ships which had
hitherto had their base at Malta. He indicated, however,

that if Germany made no increase, neither would England;

the two navies would then stand in the same ratio to each

other as before, and both countries would be spared enor-

mous expenditures.176 He did not make this proposal

officially to Germany, however. On April 14 the German
Navy Law was finally laid before the Reichstag, and ac-

cepted by it, unmodified, on May 14. 177

The Haldane Mission failed primarily from two causes:

England's unwillingness to make any political agreement

concerning neutrality which would in any way limit her

freedom to aid France; and Germany's unwillingness to

make any worth-while reductions in the Supplementary

Navy Law which would satisfy England. Each country

was seeking a concession which dominant ministers in the

other were determined not to make. Only in the third group

of subjects under consideration—colonial matters and the

175G.P., XXXI, 210 ff.

176G.P., XXXI, 193-201; Churchill, 107 ff.

i77Tirpitz, 334 ff.
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Bagdad Railway—was it possible to continue successful

negotiations; in this less difficult field of economic imperial-

ism mutually satisfactory agreements were gradually worked

out, and were complete for signature on the ore of the

World War. 178 Thus, the Haldane Mission, like the Pots-

dam negotiations with Russia in 1910, resulted in removing

some causes of friction, but they both failed in one of their

main objects—the securing of some written agreement

which would lessen Germany's political isolation and loosen

the bonds of the Triple Entente.

THE TIGHTENING OF THE TRIPLE ENTENTE, 1912

Germany's overthrow- of M. Delcasse in 1905, and her

sudden sending of the Panther to Agadir, were regarded

by the French as "brutal acts"—as exhibitions of the Ger-

man habit of thumping the green table with the mailed fist

to secure diplomatic victories. Qn both occasions they had

been frightened by what they feared were German threats

of war it' they did not yield. In both cases therefore they

had been forced to rnake what they felt to be humiliating

concessions, because they were not prepared to take up

the German challenge. Or as M. Poincare puts it: "Ger-

many's policy continued to be dominated by the arrogant

spirit which since the war of 1870 had led to the Franco-

German incidents of 1875 and 1887, and which between

1905 and 1911 had constantly poisoned affairs in Morocco.

After the insult of Tangiers came the threat of Agadir.

Instead of being stung into action by these repeated provo-

cations, France, in her desire for peace," 179 agreed to the

Algeciras Conference, and to territorial concessions in the

Congo in exchange for liberty of action in Morocco. These

acts of Germany, as well as her ultimatum to Russia in the

Bosnian Crisis and the Kaiser's bellicose gestures, had

178 G.P, XXXI, 255-305; XXXVII, 1-470.

179 Foreign Affairs (N.Y.), Oct., 1925, 7.
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gradually aroused in a group of French politicians a new
national spirit. They had revived the desire for revanche

and the recovery of Alsace-Lorraine. They had created the

feeling that France had suffered long enough from the

German menace from across the Rhine. There had grown

up the determination that in the future, if Germany made
a new threat of force, it would be better to risk war than

accept a new humiliation. This new national spirit, deter-

mination, and self-confidence was greatly increased by

the friendship of England and the growing conviction that

in case of a conflict with Germany, England would not only

stand behind France with her fleet, but would send English

troops to strengthen the left wing of the French army in

northern France. This would give a good prospect of

victory, and the fruits of victory would be the recovery of

the lost provices and the end of the nightmare of the Ger-

man menace. Most of these French leaders, like the mass

of the French people, did not want war; but if Germany's

desire for the "hegemony of Europe" and her attempt again

to use the mailed fist to force a diplomatic triumph brought

on another international crisis, it would be better to fight

than to back down. As they had little doubt that Germany
would attempt some new aggression, this would make war

"inevitable." France must therefore prepare for it by

increasing her own army and navy at home, and by tighten-

ing her relations with her ally on the other side of Germany
and with her friend across the Channel.

This new national feeling was personified in M. Raymond
Poincare and the little group of men with whom he wa§

closely associated. Not only was he the embodiment of

the reveil national. By his determination, firmness, and

ability, he did more than any other man to strengthen and

to stimulate it. It found expression in the overthrow of

the Caillaux Ministry, which was accused of having been

too yielding to Germany in the Agadir Crisis, and in the
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formation, on January 13, 1912, of the "Great Ministry"

or "National Ministry," in which M. Poincare was Prime

Minister and Minister of Foreign Affairs, M. Millerand

Minister of War, and M. Deleave Naval Minister. In

announcing its program, M. Poincare declared that its first

task would be to unite all groups of Republicans by a single

national feeling, to organize the new protectorate in Mo-
rocco, and to maintain courteous and frank relations with

Germany; and, he added,

As always, we intend to remain loyal to our alliances and

our friendships—we shall make it our duty to unite, like

twin convergent forces, the financial strength which is such

a help for France, with her military and naval strength.

However profoundly pacific our country may be, it is not

master of all eventualities and it intends to live up to its

duties. The army and the navy will be the object of our

attentive solicitude. 180

Born at Bar-le-Duc in Lorraine, M. Raymond Poincare

was ten years old when the German armies overran France

in 1S70, and took his home from his country. Son of a

distinguished meteorologist, brother of a distinguished

physicist, and related to a distinguished mathematician,

M. Poincare himself soon showed an ability at the bar

which brought him into the Chamber of Deputies at the

early age of twenty-seven, and into the Cabinet as Minister

of Education six years later in 1S93. Later he was Vice-

President of the Chamber and twice Minister of Finance,

before taking the Premiership and Foreign Affairs portfolio

in 1912. No one since Bismarck's day has equalled him in

sheer ability. His length of public service, his extraordinary

vitality and endurance, his capacity for mastering and

remembering detail, his clearness of purpose and determina-

tion to achieve it, have all combined to make him one of

180 Poincare, I, 24; G.P., XXXI, 379.
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the most remarkable of modern statesmen. All these native

qualities, united with his dialectical skill and legal training,

enabled him easily to vanquish his opponents in the Cham-
ber of Deputies and to dominate his colleagues or subor-

dinates in the Cabinet. One may not always approve of

his aims, but one must admire the skill and ability with

which he has achieved them. He knew precisely what he

wanted, and he set about to secure it with singular direct-

ness and determination. The simplicity and brevity of his

despatches are a refreshing contrast to the usual diplomatic

circumlocutions and verbiage. His natural timidity was

more than compensated by his bold energy. Such was the

man who mainly directed and controlled French foreign

policy from 1912 to 1914. In his memoirs he frequently

denies that he pursued a personal policy as Minister of

Foreign Affairs, or exceeded his constitutional position after

he became President of the Republic in February, 1913,

by imposing his wishes on the Ministers of Foreign Affairs

who succeeded him. But with his ability, energy, and

strong personality, it was inevitable that he should be the

guiding spirit. In spite of his denials, we believe that he

exercised a strong influence in the direction of an aggressive

and dangerous policy, which was not a reflection of the

wishes of the great majority of the truly peace-loving

French people from 1912 to 1914, and which they would

not have approved, had they been fully aware of it and

the catastrophe to which it was leading. 181

The man who cooperated most closely with M. Poincare

in his task of tightening the Triple Entente was the Rus-

sian Ambassador at Paris. It now is clear that Izvolski

was vain, self-important, inclined to intrigue, and not

always trustworthy. Consequently his reports must be
181 Next to the revelation of his character and aims in his own

Memoirs (see above, ch. i, at notes 45-47), the best-informed and most
fair-minded account of M. Poincare in English is the biography by Sisley

Huddleston, Poincare.
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taken cum grano salis.
1 *'2 Nevertheless, his characteriza-

tions of M. Poincare in the following quotations seem to be

substantially accurate. He describes the new Minister of

Foreign Affairs as "a very strong personality"; a man whose

sensitive amour propre must be "taken into account"; one

who "while often displaying useless rudeness and breaking

windows without reason, has never given me cause to doubt

his veracity"; "a passionate character and one who goes

in a straight-line," whose "energy and decision" it is im-

portant to have wholly on Russia's side and turn to advan-

tage. 183 After his election to the Presidency, M. Poincare

told Izvolski that he would still "have full opportunity to

influence directly the foreign policy of France, and that he

would not fail to take advantage of it to insure intact the

policy founded on a close alliance with Russia. In his

opinion it is of the highest importance for the French Gov-

ernment to prepare French opinion in advance to take part

in a war which might break out over the Balkan question.

For this reason the French Government requests us not to

undertake any personal action of a nature to provoke such

a war without an exchange of views beforehand with

France." 184 Thenceforth, to the World War, the Russians

found him "an ardent and convinced partisan of a close

union between France and Russia and of a constant

exchange of views between the two allies on all the most

important questions of international policy"; 185 and in

182 M. Poincare has much (o say on this score (e.g., I, 294 ff, 317 ff.;

II, 335 ff.; Ill, 90 ff ). He has even said that he had so little confidence in

Izvolski that in August, 1912, he "made energetic representations about him
to M. Kokovtsev, President of the Russian Council, asking for his recall"

(Foreign Affairs (N.Y.), Oct. 1925, p. 10). If this is true, and if he had
so little confidence in Izvolski before the War as he indicates in his

post-war memoirs, it is a pity he did not make his energetic representations

to the Tsar and to Izvolski's official superior, M. Sazonov, and really

secure his recall. Probably he feared that to do so might antagonize

Sazonov and weaken the Alliance.

183 L.N, I, 203, 216. 266, 2S1 f. 184 L.N., II, 14 f.

185 L.N., II, 360. Kokovtsev had the same impression (ibid., II, 393).
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general, in a view of the Balkan situation, a man who would

never fail Russia in case of a war with Germany.186

One of the first tasks which occupied M. Poincare's

attention, after forming his "National Ministry," was the

cementing of closer relations with England. The Haldane

Mission and the possibility of an Anglo-German rapproche-

ment caused him some uneasiness, in spite of Sir Edward
Grey's assurances. He therefore welcomed a curious step

taken by Sir Francis Bertie, the English Ambassador at

Paris. Although Grey was making no concessions which

would satisfy Germany, Bertie feared that in the future he

might change his mind under the influence of men like

Lord Loreburn, Harcourt, and the other members of the

Cabinet who were more eager for an understanding with

Germany, and who might make trouble if they learned of

the Anglo-French military and naval "conversations" which

had been going on for six years but of which they had not

been informed. Bertie therefore quite privately and un-

officially suggested to Poincare that he would do well to

point out firmly to Grey the dangers involved in any neu-

trality agreement with Germany. Taking the hint, but not

revealing where it came from, Poincare sent an energetic

despatch to Paul Cambon to this effect. Cambon presented

the substance of it to Grey on March 29. 187 This was the

very day on which the British Cabinet finally decided to

give its negative answer to Bethmann's neutrality formula,

and buried the hopes which had centered in the Haldane

Mission. 188 It is not clear whether Cambon's interview

came before or after the Cabinet meeting, nor whether it

had any decisive effect on England's action. That Poincare

may have boasted later to Izvolski of having wrecked the

186L.N., I, 326, 346 ff.; II, 10, 15, 345, 570.

187 Poincare, I, 170-178.

188G.P., XXXI, 210 ff. Germany suspected that Grey's negative

attitude was partly caused by French pressure {ibid., 144, 476 ff., 489 ff.).
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Haldane Mission is quite possible. 189 But in view of Sir

Edward Grey's evident determination from the outset not

to concede any neutrality agreement which would limit his

freedom in taking sides with France in case of a Franco-

German war, and in view of the fact that even before March

29 the Haldane negotiations had virtually broken down, it

seems very doubtful whether Poincare's intervention had

the decisive effect which Izvolski implies. Of course, it may
be that Poincare made earlier representations to Grey on

the subject than those w hich he [jives in his memoirs. ( irey

in his memoirs says nothing of this intervention on Poin-

care's part. On this point, as on so many others, we must

await a full publication from the English archives to learn

the precise truth.

The Haldane Mission, however, impelled Poincare to

try to secure from England a binding statement in writing.

Winston Churchill's plan to withdraw British ships from the

Mediterranean for a stronger concentration against Ger-

many in the North Sea, foreshadowed in his speech of March

18, 1912, 100 aroused a lively discussion in the British and

French Press. It was urged that the time had come for

naval cooperation between the two countries. If England

withdrew her naval forces from the Mediterranean and

protected the north coast of France against the possibility

of a German attack, France could withdraw her fleet from

180 Izvolski to Sazonov, Dec. 5, 1912 (M.F.R.. p. 600; L.N., I, 365 f.;

Stieve, II, 377) : "In my conversation with Poincare and Palcologue I have
bocn able to learn in a very confidential way that, a propos of the famous
trip of Lord Haldane to Berlin, . . . Poincare told the British Govern-

ment that so long as France and England had no written agreement of a

gmcral political character, the signing of such an agreement between
Germany and England would at once put an end to the existing Anglo-

French relations. His protest had the expected effect and the London
Cabinet rejected the German proposition." Poincare made these con-

fidences to Izvolski in December, 1912, if correctly reported, just at the

time he was trying to convince Russia of the strength and solidarity

of the Triple Entente and to persuade Sazonov in consequence to take a

stiffcr attitude in support of Serbia.

ioo Churchill, pp. 97, lllff.; G.P., XXXI, 1471., 156, 198, 218.
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Brest and look after British interests, as well as her own,

in the Mediterranean. In connection with this discussion,

many British newspapers urged that the Anglo-French

Entente should be definitely extended to a regular defensive

alliance. "The only alternative to the constant menace of

war is a new system of precise alliances." 191 This also was

the feeling of M. Poincare. Upon instructions from him,

Paul Cambon spoke to Sir Arthur Nicolson about the need

of strengthening the Entente Cordiale through a written

agreement

:

"You see there is a cause of weakness in M. Poincare's

situation. More than anyone else, he is a partisan of the

Entente with England, but to the important politicians, to

his colleagues in the Cabinet, to the leaders of French public

opinion who question him, he cannot give them to under-

stand that there exist between us other bonds than those

of sympathy. This is enough between two Governments

sure of their reciprocal intentions. It is not enough for pub-

lic opinion. The enemies of England in France (they are

few but they exist) proclaim that our relations with you

offer no security. I have, therefore, asked myself if we could

not find together a formula which would permit us to reas-

sure uneasy and doubting spirits. I know that the British

Government does not have the right to bind itself without

the authorization of Parliament, but there is no need of an

agreement in duplicate, of a treaty drawn up and signed;

we could content ourselves with an exchange of declarations.

This is what we would have done in 1905 with Lord Lans-

downe, if the resignation of M. Delcasse had not cut our

conversation short." 192

Sir Arthur Nicolson was personally favorable to making

such an agreement, which, according to M. Poincare, would
191 London Daily Express of May 27, 1912 ; see also summaries of

the British and French Press concerning the desirability of changing the

Entente Cordiale into a regular alliance in G.P., XXXI, 475-556; Siebert-

Schreiner, pp. 640-646.

192 Cambon to Poincare, April 18, 1912; Poincare, I, 173 f.
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have been a step further in the transformation of the

Entente into an alliance. 103 But Sir Edward Grey, who had

already been severely criticized in Parliament for sub-

serviency in following in the wake of the French and Rus-

sian imperialism in Morocco and Persia, did not feel like

taking such a momentous step without the knowledge of

the whole Cabinet. The majority of them were still unin-

formed even of the military "conversations" which had been

going on since 1906. Cambon's suggestion, therefore, re-

mained for the moment without results. Meanwhile M.
Poincare strengthened the Triple Entente and the naval

position of France in the Mediterranean by a Naval Con-

vention with Russia. 104

In May, 1912, Winston Churchill, accompanied by Mr.

Asquith, visited Malta to confer with General Kitchener

as to the situation in Egypt and the British position in the

Mediterranean. Upon his return he announced more def-

initely in Parliament, on July 22, the Admiralty plan for

withdrawing ships from the Mediterranean for concentra-

tion in the North Sea. At the same time he proposed to

the French Military Attache a draft plan for the cooperation

of the British and French fleets. But the French hesitated

to accept it, because its cautious preamble stated that it

was not to affect the liberty of action of either party; this

robbed it of its value in the eyes of the French. 195

But Grey and Churchill did not want to tie their own
hands by any binding written obligation. Even a naval

arrangement, by which England withdrew her Mediter-

ranean fleet to the North Sea, while the French shifted

their Brest fleet to Toulon, was in danger of creating an

<'Mi'_r ai inn on England's part 1
1

> protect the northern

i»3 Poincare, I, 174. Franco and England kept Russia in the dark

about this; denials were made by Nicolson to BenckendorfT in London,

and by Poincare to Izvolski in Paris; Sicbert-Schreiner, pp. 641-614.

in* See below, at notes 205-207.

105 Poincare, I, 215-219.
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coasts of France, as Grey had gathered in conversations

with Cambon in July. 196

Churchill also was well aware of this danger. Like Mr.
Campbell-Bannerman in 1906, 197 and like Mr. Asquith in

1911, 198 he perceived that the French would be encouraged

to count upon British assistance ; this would virtually create

an obligation and thus limit England's freedom of action.

As he pointed out to Grey: "Freedom will be sensibly

impaired if the French can say that they had denuded their

Atlantic seaboard and concentrated in the Mediterranean

on the faith of naval engagements made with us. [He did

not think that such a statement by the French would be

true, because such a distribution of the fleets was the best

policy for both Governments anyway.] Consider how
tremendous would be the weapon which France would

possess to compel our intervention if she could say, 'On the

advice of and by arrangement with your naval authorities,

we left our northern coasts defenseless.' Everyone must

feel, who knows the facts, that we have the obligation of

an alliance without its advantages, and above all without

its precise definitions." 199

While these Anglo-French negotiations were going on

but before a decision had been reached, it was announced

prematurely, through an inadvertence on the part of one

of M. Delcasse's subordinates, that the Brest fleet was to be

transferred to the Mediterranean. This news, says M.
Poincare, caused great excitement, and was interpreted by

the Press as a sign that an Anglo-French naval agreement

had been definitely concluded.200 This incident gave a new

196 Poincare, I, 218. 19' See above, ch. iii, at note 188.

188 Cf. Asquith to Grey, Sept. 5, 1911 (Grey, I, 92): "Conversa-

tions such as that between Gen. Joffre and Col. Fairholme 6eem to me
rather dangerous; especially the part which refers to possible British

assistance. The French ought not to be encouraged, in present circum-

stances, to make their plans on any assumptions of this kind."

189 Churchill to Grey, Aug. 23, 1912, Churchill, p. 112.

200 Poincare, I, 217.
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impulse to the negotiations. Poincare again instructed

Cambon to ask Grey for a written agreement. Grey finally

consented to give one. But before taking such an important

step he rightly believed that it should be known to and

approved by the whole Cabinet, and all its members were

at last informed of the Anglo-French "conversations" which

had been going on since 1906. He also insisted that it should

not take the shape of a formal diplomatic document, but

merely of a personal correspondence between himself and

M. Cambon.201 Accordingly, on November 22, he handed

M. Cambon a letter which had been approved by the Cab-

inet, and received one in similar terms from him in exchange

next day. Grey's cautiously expressed letter was as follows:

Foreign Office,

My dear Ambassador, / November 22, 1912.

From time to time in recent years the French and British

naval and military experts have consulted together. It has

always been understood that such consultation does not re-

strict the freedom of cither Government to decide at any

future time whether or not to assist the other by armed

force. We have agreed that consultation between experts is

not, and ought not to be regarded as, an engagement that

commits either Government to action in a contingency that

has not arisen and may never arise. The disposition, for in-

stance, of the French and British fleets respectively at the

present moment is not based upon an engagement to co-

operate in war.

You have, however, pointed out that, if either Government

had grave reason to expect an unprovoked attack by a third

Power, it might become essential to know whether it could

in that event depend upon the armed assistance of the other.

I agree that, if either Government had grave reason to ex-

pect an unprovoked attack by a third Power, or something

that threatened the general peace, it should immediately dis-

cuss with the other whether both Governments should act

201 Poincare, I, 219 ff.
;
Grey, I, 93 ff.
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together to prevent aggression and to preserve peace, and, if

so, what measures they would be prepared to take in com-
mon. If these measures involved action, the plans of the

General Staffs would at once be taken into consideration,

and the Governments would then decide what effect should
be given to them.

Yours, &c.

E. Grey.202

These Grey-Cambon letters fixed the relations between
the French and British Cabinets, so far as any written

statements were concerned, down to the outbreak of the

War. Sir Edward Grey continued to cherish the illusion

that he still had his "hands free"; and this was true as far

as the wording of the letters went. But as Mr. Campbell-
Bannerman and Mr. Asquith had pointed out, the military

conversations were dangerous in the encouragement they
gave to the French ; and as Winston Churchill warned, the
new arrangement of the British and French navies, which
took place in the fall of 1912, tied England to France more
closely still. It created for England an inescapable moral
obligation to protect the coast of France in case of a war
between France and Germany—that is, to participate on
the French side no matter how the war arose. To be sure,

Poincare was aware that Grey had carefully stated that if

there was reason to expect "an unprovoked attack," the two
Governments would "discuss" whether they would act to-

gether. He knew that Grey would have to reckon with a
strong pacific group within the British Cabinet and among
the British people; with them it would make a great dif-

ference how the war arose. Hence he was very careful, as

will appear in connection with the crisis of July, 1914, to

make it appear that Austria and Germany were the aggres-

sors. The French military authorities also, in drawing up
"Plan XVII" (which in a modified form was the plan of

202 Grey, I, 94 f.
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campaign used by the French in 1914), were aware that they

could not count with certainty upon the cooperation of the

British army; but they had no doubt that they could depend

upon the British navy:

On the sea, however, we can count without risk upon the

effective support of the British fleet. On land, an under-

standing established between the General Staffs of the two

countries has provided for the employment on our extreme

left of an English army comprising . . . 120.000 men. [But

this support remains doubtful.] Wc should therefore act

prudently in not taking into consideration these English

forces in our plan of operations." 203

This, however, did not mean that General Joffre did not

expect English military aid, but merely that the French

mobilization plan should not be made absolutely dependent

upon British military cooperation. The further details of

''Plan XVII" show that not only was the British Expedi-

tionary Force expected, but elaborate provisions were made
for its transportation and concentration on the Belgian

frontier.204

Significant from the political point of view is this French

conviction that they could count on the British navy, for

this would involve British participation in the war, with

all advantages to France and Russia which would accrue

from England's great naval superiority in the way of block-

ading Germany and shutting her off from food and war

materials, to say nothing of the great moral effect of having

the British Empire actively engaged on the side of the

Franco-Russian Alliance.

Closely connected with these Anglo-French naval ar-

rangements was the Franco-Russian Naval Convention of

July 16, 1912. Russia wished to have absolutely undis-

203 Basis of "Plan XVII"; French General Staff History, Lcs Armed
fran^aiscs dans la Grande Guerre, I, 19.

2«H Lcs Armies francaises dans la Grande Guerre, I, 47 ff.
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puted naval domination of the Black Sea. She had also long

wished to control the Straits and Constantinople. A first

step in this direction would be to secure a free passage for

her warships through the Bosphorus and the Dardanelles.

Izvolski had several times attempted to gain this but with-

out success.205 Italy's naval activity and closing of the

Dardanelles during the Tripolitan War again made Russia

acutely sensitive to the importance of the Straits Question.

She believed that her French ally could and ought to aid

the Russian fleet to retain its supremacy in the Black Sea,

by hindering the Austrian or Italian naval forces from

passing the Straits. In case of a European War this would

safeguard the left flank of the Russian army; this in turn

would be of advantage to the Triple Entente in the other

theatres of war. Russia also wished to be able to transfer

some of her Baltic fleet to augment her Black Sea fleet,

and to have a possible naval base in the Mediterranean.

This could be provided if the French would develop the

port of Bizerta in Northern Africa and allow the Russians

to use it. Such were some of the considerations which made
the Russians desire a closer naval agreement with France.

The French, on their part, were glad to meet all Russian

wishes as far as possible, in order to strengthen the solidar-

ity of action between the two countries.208

The Franco-Russian Military Convention of 1894 con-

tained nothing concerning the cooperation of the navies of

the two countries. This was owing to the relatively late

establishment of Naval Staffs as distinct from the Army
Staffs, the French Naval Staff not being formed until 1902,

2°5 See below, ch. v, passim.

2ogc/. L'Alliance Franco-Russe, pp. 133-139; Poincare, II, 112-114;

V. Egoriev and E. Schvede, "La Convention Navale de 1912," in Les

Allies contre la Russie (Paris, 1926), pp. 54-64 (containing new material

from the Russian archives) ; Izvolski correspondence, July 18, Aug. 2, 5,

6, 10, 14, 17, 18; and Sazonov's report to the Tsar of Aug. 17, 1912 (M.F.R.,

pp. 229-256; L.N., I, 296-309; II, 338 f., 527-534; Stieve, II, 194-228);

G.P., XXXI, 520-54S.
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and the Russian not until 1008. But by 1011 both countries

had recognized the desirability extending their alliance by

a Naval Convention analogous to the Military Convention.

In the spring of 1012, upon the initiation of the Russians,

negotiations to secure this took place in Paris between army
and navy officers of both countries. They resulted in the

secret Naval Convention signed on July 16 by Admirals

Aubert and Lieven and by the Naval Ministers, Delcasse

and Grigorovitch, and confirmed by an exchange of notes

between Sazonov and Poincare a month later, upon the

hitter's visit to Russia. It declared: "The naval forces

of France and Russia will cooperate in all the eventualities

in which the alliance contemplates and stipulates the com-

bined action of the land armies." It also provided in time

of peace for the preparation of this cooperation by means

of conferences at regular intervals between the Naval Staffs

of the two countries. The protocols of these subsequent

conferences are not given in the French Yellow Book, but

their substance has recently been revealed from the Russian

archives. They dealt with the development of Bizerta as

a naval base for the French and Russian fleets, for its con-

nection with Sebastopol by wireless telegraph and for secret

naval codes. In general it was agreed that naval domina-

tion was to be secured by France in the Mediterranean, by
England in the North Sea, and by Russia in the Baltic and

Black Seas.

When Poincare visited Russia in August, 1012, one of

his main topics of conversation with Sazonov was the closer

cooperation of the naval forces of the Triple Entente. He
confided to Sazonov, according to the latter's report to the

Tsar, that "although there does not exist between France

and England any written treaty, the Army and Navy Staffs

of the two countries have nevertheless been in close con-

tact. This constant exchange of views has resulted in the

conclusion between the French and English Governments
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of a verbal agreement, by virtue of which England has

declared herself ready to aid France with her military and

naval forces in case of an attack by Germany." 207 He
begged Sazonov to "preserve the most absolute secrecy in

regard to the information," and not give the English them-

selves any reason to suspect that he had been told of it.

He also urged Sazonov to take advantage of his coming

visit to England to discuss the question of a possible Anglo-

Russian naval agreement, which would thus complete the

naval cooperation of the three Triple Entente Powers in

case of a conflict with Germany.208

Sazonov followed Poincare's suggestion. On his visit to

Balmoral in September, he informed Grey of the substance

of the new Franco-Russian Naval Convention, saying that

the French would endeavor to safeguard Russian interests

in the southern theater of war by preventing the Austrian

fleet from penetrating into the Black Sea; he then asked

whether England would perform the same service for Rus-

sia in the North by keeping the German fleet out of the

Baltic. According to Sazonov's report to the Tsar, Grey

declared that, if the contemplated conditions arose, Eng-

land would make every effort to strike the most crippling

blow at German naval power:

On the question of military operations he said that ne-

gotiations had already taken place between the compe-

tent authorities concerned, but in these discussions the con-

clusion had been reached that while the British fleet could

easily penetrate into the Baltic, its stay there would be

very risky. Assuming Germany to succeed in laying hands

on Denmark and closing the exit from the Baltic, the British

fleet would be caught in a mouse-trap. Accordingly, Great

Britain would have to confine her operations to the North

Sea.

207 Sazonov's report to the Tsar of Aug. 17, 1912; M.F.R., p. 256;

L.N., II, 339. 208 Ibid.
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On his own initiative Grey then gave me a confirmation

of what I already knew through Poincare—an agreement ex-

ists between France and Great Britain, under which in the

event of war with Germany Great Britain lias accepted the

obligation of bringing assistance to France not only on the

sea but on land, by landing troops on the Continent.

The King touched on the same question in one of his

conversations with me, and expressed himself even more
strongly than his Minister. When I mentioned, letting him

see my agitation, that Germany is trying to place her naval

forces on a par with Britain's, His Majesty cried out that

any conflict would have disastrous results not only for the

German navy but for Germany's overseas trade, for he said,

"We shall sink every single German merchant ship we shall

get hold of."

These words appeared to me to give expression not only

to His Majesty's personal feelings but also to the public

feeling predominant in Great Britain in regard to Ger-

many.209

Whether Sazonov correctly reported what Poincare and

Grey had said to him is very doubtful.- 10 But the fact that

he made such statements to the Tsar shows how much the

French and the Russians—and especially the Russians

—

were encouraged by the existence of the Anglo-French mili-

tary and naval "conversations" and inclined to interpret

them as a promise of British support in case of a general

European WT

ar. This Naval Convention also gave rise to

evasive statements on the part of the Entente Powers which

naturally increased Germany's suspicions of their aggres-

sive intentions. By some "leak" in the French or Russian

Foreign Office, the French Press soon indicated the existence

of the Franco-Russian Naval Convention. This led to

inquiries by Germany. At St. Petersburg Kokovtsev de-

nied that any such convention had been signed, but natu-

zwKrasnyi Arkhiv, III, 18; L.N., II, 347 f.; Stieve, II, 290 f

210 Cj. Grey, I, 286-289.
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rally refused to confirm his denial by a public statement,

"because every word of it would be twisted around and the

outcry would be all the greater." 211 Other Russian and

French officials gave evasive answers to the effect that no

agreement had been signed, but that since France and

Russia were allies, their military and naval staffs must from

time to time consult together.212 Similarly, after the Grey-

Cambon exchange of letters, Mr. Asquith and Sir Edward
Grey continued to deny solemnly in Parliament that Eng-

land had any secret agreements which bound her to partici-

pate in a continental war, although, as we have seen, this

is what the French and Russians confidently counted upon.

Inasmuch as the German Government by the spring of

1914 had in some secret way become informed 213 of the

Grey-Cambon letters all these denials caused uneasiness in

Germany. This was especially the case in connection with

the negotiations for an Anglo-Russian naval convention

just before the War.

The Grey-Cambon letters, following the consistent dip-

lomatic support which England had given France through-

out the Morocco crises, established a very satisfactory basis

of mutual confidence between the French and British Gov-

ernments. This confidence and harmony was strengthened

by many factors: by the common distrust of Germany; by

the cordial personal relations between Sir Edward Grey

and Paul Cambon
;
by the fact that England had no aggres-

sive aims which conflicted with French interests; and by
the care with which M. Poincare sought to consult Sir

Edward Grey's wishes and as far as possible conform French

policy to them. There was in fact more harmony and

mutual confidence between France and England, though

211 G.P., XXXI, 523 f., 528.

212 GP., XXXI, 523 ff.; UAlliance Franco-Russe, 138; Poincare, II, 114.

213 G.P., XXXI, 544 note; Grey, I, 286. Presumably the information

came through Siebert, a secretary in the Russian Embassy in London, see eh.

i, note 68.
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they were only "friends," than between France and Russia

who were allies. It was a striking example of the fact that

a well established friendship is better than an alliance.

Many writers, however, especially the "revisionists" and

critics of Poincare, have argued that there was a complete

unity also between Paris and St. Petersburg; that Poincare

and Izvolski worked harmoniously hand in hand, though

they are not agreed as to whether the Frenchman was the

tool of the Russian, or vice versa. Their arguments rest

largely on the Izvolski correspondence and their conviction

that Izvolski and Poincare were both working for war, the

one to get Constantinople and the Straits, the other to re-

cover Alsace-Lorraine. But we believe that a closer exami-

nation of the Izvolski correspondence, of M. Sazonov's

character and methods, and of M. Poincare's memoirs

would show that there was by no means that perfect unity

between the two allies which has often been assumed.

As has been pointed out in the second chapter, the

Franco-Russian Alliance in its origin was essentially de-

fensive in its wording and purpose. For nearly twenty

years it remained so. It was not interpreted to cover Rus-

sian ambitions in the Balkans and the Far East, nor French

ambitions in North Africa and the lost provinces on the

Rhine. Russia had given France only lukewarm support

in 1905, at Algeciras, and in the Agadir Crisis. France's

negative attitude had been one of the reasons for Izvolski's

failure to open the Straits after the Buchlau bargain; and

again in 1911 France refused to be "nailed down" to sup-

port another of Izvolski's efforts to open the Straits in the

Charikov affair.
214 But in 1912, under the Premiership of

M. Poincare. the character of the alliance began to be

changed. France began to support more actively Russia's

aggressive policies in the Balkans, and assured her that

France would give her armed support if they involved

2n For tho details, sec below, ch. v.
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Russia in war with Austria and Germany. One of the first

signs and causes of this change is to be found in connection

with the intrigues against M. Georges Louis.215

M. Georges Louis, a trained diplomat, served as Political

Director in the French Foreign Office from 1904 to 1909,

and then as Ambassador to Russia until his recall in Feb-

ruary, 1913. He had used his influence to restrict the appli-

cation of the Franco-Russian Alliance to its originally de-

fensive character. He favored the Anglo-French policy of

maintaining the integrity of the Ottoman Empire in con-

trast to Russia's designs upon it. He feared Russia's Balkan

ambitions might involve France in war, and he was sus-

picious of the aims and intrigues of Izvolski. In the fall of

1911, when temporarily filling again the vacant office of

Political Director at Paris, he had thwarted Izvolski's efforts

to "nail France down" to a written agreement to support a

plan for opening the Straits to Russian warships.216 He
had thereby incurred the displeasure of Izvolski and Sazo-

nov. They also complained that as Ambassador he did not

transmit accurately to Paris the views of the Russian Min-

ister of Foreign Affairs. If this was true, it was certainly

not wholly the Ambassador's fault, but was in part owing

to M. Sazonov's lack of frankness in stating his views, and

also to the fact that he often shifted them suddenly. He
had, for instance, drawn up and shown to Georges Louis a

questionnaire on February 14, 1912. This raised a whole

215 This unsavory affair has been dealt with at great length by M.
Ernest Judet, Georges Louis (Paris, 1925) and by M. Poincare, I, 294 ff.,

333 ff
. ;

II, 32 ff
. ;

Judet, championing the cause and memory of his friend,

bases his account in considerable part on official despatches contained

among Georges Louis's papers and on his Garnets (2 vols., Paris, 1926),

which is made up of Georges Louis's notes of conversations with promi-

nent persons. M. Poincare's reply to Judet's stinging attack is largely

based on official despatches which he has been able to select from his

own papers or from the French archives. In the following paragraphs only

a bare summary of the facts can be given.
210 See below, for the details, ch. v. at notes 114-126; also Judet, pp.

131-167; Poincare, I. 333-347.
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series of fundamental questions about the Balkans growing

out of Italy's Tripolitan War, and seemed to indicate that

Sazonov was contemplating some important action to which

he wished to secure French assent. "These are the most

serious questions which Russia can raise for her ally," Louis

wrote to Poincare next day.- 17 But Sazonov then appar-

ently changed his mind suddenly; to Louis's repeated efforts

to induce him to discuss the questionnaire and the inten-

tions which lay back of it, Sazonov only answered evasively.

On many other occasions, as in the case of the Potsdam ne-

gotiations, Sazonov took important steps or consulted with

Germany without first informing Georges Louis; this lack

of regard for Franco-Russian solidarity was very irritating

to Poincare. It was his great aim to have the Triple En-

tente present a solid diplomatic front to the Triple Alliance.

M. Sazonov also nourished a personal grievance against

Georges Louis. This arose from the curious fact, which one

would hardly have expected between two allies, that Sazo-

nov's agents had discovered how to decipher the French

secret diplomatic code, and were spying upon the telegrams

between Georges Louis and the French Government. M.
Louis suspected this and repeatedly warned Poincare that

the cipher ought to be changed more frequently. In April,

1912, in one of Georges Louis's deciphered telegrams, Sazo-

nov thought he discovered that Louis had accused him of

being dilatory in regard to a Chinese loan. 218 Thereupon

he instructed Izvolski to try to get Georges Louis recalled

and have someone else sent as French Ambassador to St.

Petersburg. Izvolski readily undertook the task, though it

was a very delicate and embarrassing one. Poincare at

2i7Judet, p. 174; cf. Poincare, II, 24 ff.

2i8Judet, p. 83. In reality Louis had referred to the dilatoriness of

the "ministry" before Sazonov became Minister of Foreign Affairs, but

Sazonov's agent had made the mistake of deciphering "minister" instead

of "ministry" and Sazonov had taken this to be a personal reference to

himself.
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once complied with the request. On May 8, 1912, he had

M. Paleologue, the new Political Director, telegraph to

Georges Louis:

With as much surprise as regret, the President of the

Council has been officially notified that the Russian Gov-

ernment wishes to see France represented by an Ambassador

who displays more activity in his political functions and

social relations. . . .

The diplomatic problems which are at present being

discussed between Paris and St. Petersburg are too serious

for our efforts to be paralyzed soon by the fact that M.

Sazonov declares that he does not feel in touch with

you. . . .

M. Poincare therefore invokes your patriotism to resign

your Embassy, with the intention of finding another place

for you as soon as possible. I am forced to recognize, as

well as he, the imperative necessity of providing for your re-

placement.219

On receipt of this Georges Louis was at first dum-

founded. Then, suspecting that Sazonov and Izvolski were

intriguing against him, and being assured by Kokovtsev,

the President of the Russian Council, that the Russian

Government knew nothing of any request for his recall, he

telegraphed to Poincare begging him to delay his decision,

and hurried to Paris to lay his' suspicions before Poincare

in person. One of the most influential members of the

Cabinet, M. Leon Bourgeois, opposed yielding to Izvolski's

request for the Ambassador's dismissal, and other friends

rallied to his support. Meanwhile, something of the affair

had leaked out, and several newspapers raised an uproar

against Izvolski's unwarranted interference in French af-

fairs. The incident threatened to become a scandal, seri-

ously troubling Franco-Russian relations. So Poincare

found it more prudent to issue a sweeping denial that any

219 Judet, p. 28 f.
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request had been made to him for Georges Louis's recall,

and the Ambassador was allowed to return to his post until

the outcry had died down and a more suitable occasion

should occur for his removal. 2 -

This Georges Louis incident is important because it

increased Poincare's distrust of Izvolski, and made him all

the more anxious to get into closer relations with Sazonov

and so keep a more solid hold on the policies of France's

ally. To secure Sazonov's confidence and loyal cooperation

in maintaining solidarity of action on the part of the two

Allied Powers was M. Poincare's great aim henceforth. He
sought to accomplish this in many ways: by visiting Russia

in August, 1912, and in July, 1914; by reiterating that

France was ready to support Russia in case of war; by
backing up Russia's Balkan policies much more actively;

by arranging French loans for Russian military preparations

against Germany; by strengthening France's own arma-

ments; and by the ultimate removal of Georges Louis.

By his visit to Russia in August, 1912, M. Poincare did

much to strengthen the bonds between the two allied coun-

tries. He sought to counteract the effect of the Tsar's re-

cent meeting with the Kaiser at Port Baltic, and make
sure that Russia made no further separate arrangements

with Germany after the fashion of the Potsdam Agree-

ments. 2 - 1 He also wished to clear up and smooth out the

Georges Louis incident. He discussed with Sazonov,

Kokovtsev, and the Tsar all the chief matters in which

France and Russia had common interests—Asia Minor,

the Chinese loan, the Turco-Italian War, the recent Naval

Convention, the prospect of English cooperation, and the

preparations made by the French and Russian Staffs for

—o Judct, pp. 83-130; Poincare, I, 333 ff.

221 On the meeting of the Tsar and the Kaiser at Port Baltic, see

Poincare, I, 310 ff.; 379 ff.; Sazonov, FateJul Years (N. Y., 1928), p. 43 ff.;

and G.P., XXXI, 427-454.
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military action in case of war with Germany. He par-

ticularly urged Russia to develop her strategic railways to

the West to facilitate the rapid concentration of the

Russian forces against Germany. On all these points there

was substantial harmony. But on one question, the most
important one of all, Poincare discovered another alarming

evidence of Sazonov's lack of frankness: he had not re-

vealed the terms of the secret Balkan League which had
been drawn up with Russian assistance during the preceding

winter. This had been signed on March 13, 1912, but

Sazonov had given no hint of its contents and the fact that

it was likely to lead to war in the Balkans. When he now
read it to his French guest, Poincare shrewdly perceived

its dangerous character and exclaimed: "C'est un instru-

ment de guerre." 222 He justly protested to Sazonov at

having been kept so long in the dark about a matter which

might involve Russia, and consequently France in war.

He urged that each should keep the other fully informed as

to his intentions. He defined the alliance in its originally

defensive form, but immediately added words which en-

couraged Sazonov to believe that in a crisis Russia could

count upon France. As Sazonov reported, among other

things, to the Tsar:

After having confirmed our reciprocal intention of ob-

serving with vigilance events in the Balkans, and of ex-

changing continuously our news and views on the subject, we
agreed anew with M. Poincare to set up a common action to

prevent by diplomatic means an aggravation of the situa-

tion so soon as any complication should arise and according

to circumstances.

M. Poincare considered it his duty to emphasize the point

that public opinion in France would not permit the Govern-

ment of the Republic to decide on a military action for the

222 So he told Izvolski; M.F.R., p. 273; L.N., I, 324; Stieve, II, 250.

See also below, ch. v.
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sake of purely Balkan questions if Germany did not take

part and if she did not provoke on her own initiative the

application of the casus foederis. In this latter case we

could certainly count on France for the exact and complete

fulfilment of her obligations toward us.

On my part I declared to the French Minister that, while

always being ready to range ourselves on the side of France

in the cases contemplated by our alliance, we also could

not justify to Russian public opinion taking an active part

in the military operations provoked by colonial questions

outside Europe, so long as the vital interests of France in

Europe were not touched. ... I am very glad to have had

the occasion for making the acquaintance of M. Poincare

and of entering into personal relations with him, all the

more so, because the exchange of views which I have had

with him has left me with the impression that in his person

Russia possesses a sure and faithful friend endowed with

exceptional political ability, and with an inflexible determi-

nation. In case of a crisis in international relations, it

would be very desirable that our ally should have as her

head, if not M. Poincare himself, at least a personality pos-

sessing the same decision and as free from the fear of re-

sponsibility as the present French Prime Minister.223

Faced with the fait accompli of the Balkan League and

the potential dangers involved in it, Poincare took steps

with the other Powers to try to prevent the Balkan States

fn >m actually going to war. But they came too late. The
Balkan Wars of 1912-1913 increased the delicacy and the

importance of Franco-Russian relations, and also of rela-

tions between the Triple Entente and Triple Alliance.

During the first weeks of the Balkan Wars his policy re-,

mained the same as on his visit to Russia; restraint of

Sazonov from rash steps through insistence on a preliminary

exchange of views, coupled, however, with assurances of

223 Sazonov's report to the Tsar, Aur. 17, 1912; M.F.R., p. 255 ff.;

L.N., II, 338 ff.; Stieve, II, 219 ff. ; and (in part) Siebcrt-Schreiner, pp.
952-655. Cf. also Poincare, II, 99-169, especially 114 ff.; and below, ch. v.
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complete loyalty to the obligations of the alliance; subor-

dination of Russia's Balkan interests to the greater question

of the preservation of peace between the Great Powers;

the establishment of complete solidarity of purpose and

action on the part of the Triple Entente Powers, coupled,

however, with a willingness to cooperate with the Triple

Alliance so long as the latter did not make excessive claims.

But as the War proceeded and the Balkan allies won their

great victories, there was some change, or rather shift of

emphasis, in his guidance of French policy. This change,

however, was not nearly as great as many of his critics have

asserted, nor as considerable as Izvolski was inclined to

represent in his despatches to St. Petersburg.

Poincare found that Sazonov's purposes were not always

clear and easy to reckon with. Sazonov did not always ex-

change views and come to a prior understanding with

France. He had been dilatory or non-committal in replying

to French proposals. At the beginning of the War he had

rejoiced with the Pan-Slavs at the astonishing military

successes of the Balkan States over Turkey. But the over-

whelming victories of Kirk Kilisse and Lule Burgas, and

the rapid advance of Ferdinand's troops toward Constanti-

nople, was an unpleasant damper on his enthusiasm. A
Bulgarian occupation of the Turkish capital threatened to

thwart indefinitely Russia's own historic hopes in that

quarter. Even if the Powers who had political and finan-

cial interests there should refuse to permit the Bulgarians

to have the city, they might take advantage of the oppor-

tunity to carry out Sir Edward Grey's idea of an inter-

nationalization of the Straits. Accordingly, even while the

battle of Lule Burgas was still in progress, Sazonov had

urged the Bulgarians to recognize "the necessity for pru-

dence and to halt in time," endeavoring to bribe them to

listen to reason by promises of future diplomatic support.

At the same time he informed France and England that he
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would greatly welcome intervention at Sofia and Belgrade

in favor of mediation to restrain the victorious Slavs—in

the war which Russia had helped to cause by her part in

the formation of the Balkan League. 2 - 4 Three days later, in

spite of the fact that Poincare had already taken the initia-

tive in the direction desired by Russia, and without any

warning or prior consultation, Sazonov presented all the

Powers with a complete program for immediate interven-

tion: the maintenance of the Sultan in Constantinople with

a defense zone including Thrace and Adrianople; an autono-

mous Albania; compensations to Rumania for remaining

neutral; Serbian access to the Adriatic; and free transit for

Austrian goods through the new Serbian territory.225

Except for Serbian access to the Adriatic, this whole

program was in the nature of concessions to the Triple

Alliance. As compared with Constantinople, Sazonov cared

very slightly for "the little Slav sisters" or for the solidarity

of the Triple Entente. Without giving Poincare time to

recover from his astonishment at the proposed concessions,

Sazonov sent him the further startling news that if the

Bulgarians occupied Constantinople the whole Russian

Black Sea Fleet would "appear before the Turkish capi-

tal." 220 The Russian Admiralty plans went further: "For

the protection of our Embassy and our interests in general,

it will naturally be necessary to land, and in order not to

weaken the navy crews, the despatch of some troop divisions

with machine guns is desired. . . . The occupation of the

Bosphorus one would not extend very far, but it would then

be easier to remain there forever. If we have the Bosphorus

tight in hand, the troublesome Straits Question is already

half settled. If a favorable opportunity for such an advance

224 Sazonov to BcnckcndorfT and Izvolski, Oct. 31, 1912; Krasnyi

Arkhiv, XVI, 19; Siebcrt-Schreincr, p. 381 f.; Sticve, II, 326.

22.-. Sazonov's circular, Nov. 2; M.F.R., p. 293; L.N., II, 565; Stieve,

II, 328.

22C Sazonov to Izvolski, Nov. 4; L.N, I, 339; Sticve, II, 331.
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cannot be found, then it must be artificially created; be-

cause, if it is impossible to get possession of the whole

Straits, we should at least have an eye to the enormous

political advantage which the Bosphorus has." 227

French public opinion, however, had been reassured by
the Balkan victories and began to take a new interest in

Russia's Balkan policies. A public declaration by Poincare

of French loyalty to Russia had aroused great enthusiasm.

"Nothing succeeds like success," Izvolski reported; "under

the influence of recent events one notices here a marked

change in feeling in favor of the Balkan States and the

Russian point of view"; and he added that he would do all

he could to strengthen this new attitude, especially by in-

fluencing the Press, but for this he needed more money at

his disposal.228 Poincare was not enthusiastic for Sazonov's

program of intervention which would antagonize Bulgaria

and Serbia. He was impressed by the new weight and in-

fluence which the Balkan victories had given to the Slav

cause and to the Triple Entente in the Balance of Power in

Europe. He also suspected that Austria, backed by Ger-

many, might take advantage of the situation to attempt ter-

ritorial aggrandizements, and this he was determined to

prevent, not only in the interests of Russia and Serbia, but

of France and the prestige of the Triple Entente. He was

more concerned over what Austria might do, than at Sazo-

nov's anxiety about Constantinople. As Izvolski reported

on November 7: "Whereas France up to the present has

declared that local, so to speak, purely Balkan events could

not induce her to take any active measures, the French

Government now appears to admit that an acquisition of

territory on the part of Austria in the Balkans would affect

the general European equilibrium and consequently also the

227 Admiralty Staff Report, Nov. 2, 1912
;
Krasnyi Arkhiv, VI, 52.

228 IZVolski to Sazonov, Oct, 28, M.F.R., p. 292; L.N., II, 564; Stieve,

II, 320. On Izvolski's activities in bribing the French Press, see below,

ch. V, note 117.
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special interests of France. . . . Poincare is perfectly con-

scious of the fact that France may thus become involved

in a warlike action. For the present, of course, he submits

this question merely for our consideration, but in a con-

versation with me Palcologuc plainly admitted that the

proposed agreement might lead to some kind of active

step." 220

Serbia's occupation of Northern Albania and desire for

a port on the Adriatic soon became a dangerously acute

question. Austria threatened to use force if necessary to

prevent this, and had the support of both her allies. Sazo-

nov naturally favored the Serbian demand, but not to the

point of making war. He was secretly inclined to find some
compromise proposal, such as giving Serbia a railway outlet

on the Adriatic, but not part of Northern Albania to which

Austria and Italy particularly objected. When he inquired

what would be the attitude of France if an active interven-

tion by Austria could not be avoided, Poincare replied,

according to Izvolski:

It is for Russia to take the initiative in a question in

which she is the most interested party. France's task is

to lend her the most effective support. If the French Gov-

ernment should take the initiative it would risk falling short

of, or overstepping, the intentions of its ally. ... In short,

added M. Poincare, if Russia goes to war, France will do

the same, for we all know that Germany will stand behind

Austria in this question.230

This statement, which has been much quoted by Poin-

care's critics as showing the triumphant influence exerted

on him by the intriguing Izvolski, is severely criticized by

Poincare in his memoirs as being inaccurate. As a matter

of fact, he was again insisting that he did not wish to make
promises until Sazonov had taken the initiative in saying

229 M.F.R.. p. 296; L.N., I, 342; Stieve, II. 336.

230 Izvolski to Sazonov, Nov. 17, M.F.R., p. 300; L.N., I, 346; Stieve,

EE, 346. Cj. however, Poincare, II, 336 ff.
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clearly what he wanted. Then France would be able to

make her views known. As to war, he again defined the

obligations of the alliance in the same terms he had used to

Sazonov in August : France would go to war if the particular

case of the casus foederis provided in the Alliance were

fulfilled, namely, "if Russia is attacked by Germany or by
Austria supported by Germany." Until then he would

keep his hands free. A couple of days later he took care

to warn Georges Louis of Izvolski's misrepresentations and

asked him to correct any false impressions which they may
have caused. Izvolski's report is therefore undoubtedly

inaccurate as a representation of Poincare's words; but it

is accurate as a representation of what Sazonov was being

told by his Russian Ambassador in Paris were Poincare's

views. And it indicates that Poincare was now ready to

consider seriously the question of war arising out of Balkan

problems in which Russia was interested. In 1912, how-

ever, Russia was not prepared for war; none of the Great

Powers wanted it, and the Serbian question was referred

for settlement to the London Conference of Ambassadors.

With a person of Izvolski's intriguing, ambitious, and

not wholly trustworthy character as Russian Ambassador at

Paris, it was all the more important that France should

have at St. Petersburg a man of Georges Louis's views, who
was on his guard against the danger of Russia's ambitions

in regard to the Straits. But on February 17, 1913, Georges

Louis was suddenly notified of his definite dismissal and

replacement by M. Delcasse. M. Poincare had just become

President of the Republic and the responsibility for the

change in the French Embassy at St. Petersburg could be

technically placed upon the shoulders of the Briand Cabinet

in which M. Jonnart succeeded Poincare as Minister of

Foreign Affairs.231 After being thus "politically assassi-

23iJudet, pp. 205-234; Poincure, II, 70; Foreign Affairs (N. Y.), IV,

11, Oct., 1925.
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nated," as his friends called his dismissal, Georges Louis's

diplomatic career was ruined. No new place was found for

him. He died in 1017 in the midst of the War which it had

been his aim to avert. Doubtless there is some truth in

Poincare's explanation that Louis's frail health and his lack

of intimate relations with Sazonov and influential circles

at St. Petersburg made it desirable in the interests of allied

solidarity that he should be replaced by someone who
would cooperate more cordially with Sazonov and his

Balkan policies. The fact that he was succeeded by Del-

casse, and then by Paleologue, who were both strongly in

favor of strengthening the bonds of the alliance by giving

Russia strong support, did make for harmony between the

Cabinets of Paris and St. Petersburg. It did tend thereby

to tighten the Triple Entente, but it also encouraged Sazo-

nov in his support of Serbia and his stiff attitude to Austria

and Germany which was one of the main causes of war in

1914.

THE RENEWAL AND WEAKNESS OF THE TRIPLE ALLIANCE, 1912

Bismarck, who regarded the Austro-Gcrman Alliance

of 1S79 as strictly defensive, had refused to permit military

agreements between the German and Austrian Staffs, for

fear that they might hamper the political freedom of action

of the civilian authorities. This Alliance, therefore, as well

as the Triple Alliance, had long remained without being

supplemented by any such definite military convention,

6tating the number of troops which each ally was bound to

furnish in case of war, as in the case of the Franco-Russian

Military Convention in 1894.232 Nor for many years were

232 Two minor exceptions to this general statement were the con-

vention of 1SSS providing for the service (if Italian troops on the Rhine
frontier in case of a Franco-German war (c/., G.P., VI, 247), and a con-

vention of 1900 providing for naval cooperation by the Triple Alliance

in case of war with France and Russia (Pribram, I, 211). See also W.
Foerster, "Die deutsch-italienische Militarkonvention," in KSF, V, 395-

416, May, 1927.
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there any regular periodical conferences between the Staffs

of the Triple Alliance Powers, with written protocols fixing

in detail the cooperation of their armies, as in the case of

the annual conferences between the French and Russian

Staffs from 1900 onwards.233 But in January, 1909, when
the Bosnian Crisis began to look alarming, Moltke and

Conrad, the Chiefs of Staff of the German and Austrian

armies did enter into a correspondence concerning possible

military cooperation.234 It was carried on with the knowl-

edge and approval of the civilian authorities of the two

countries, and was continued intermittently during the fol-

lowing years. It was also supplemented by personal meet-

ings between the two generals at visits during military

maneuvers and other occasions. One Austrian writer sees

in this correspondence a "military convention" which trans-

formed the' Austro-German Alliance from its originally de-

fensive character into an offensive agreement. He even

makes it the "key" to the whole question of responsibility

for the war.235 But nowhere did Moltke and Conrad, or

any other persons in authority, ever refer to this exchange

of views as a "military convention." On the contrary, it

was more in the nature of a general discussion of the politi-

cal situation, and an exchange of information as to the plan

of campaign which each intended to put into operation if

war should be declared by the civilian authorities. Conrad

was trying to persuade Moltke to make Germany's mobili-

zation plan provide for as many troops as possible against

Russia, so as to lessen the number which the Tsar would

have available against Austria. Moltke, in turn, wanted to

have Conrad plan to use few troops in Serbia, and send as

many as possible into Galicia against Russia, in order to

233 For summaries of the earlier Franco-Russian military conferences,

see Las Allies contre la Russie, pp. 8-39; and for the protocols of those

in 1911, 1912, and 1913, see M.F.R., pp. 697-718; and L.N., II, 419-437.

234 Conrad, I, 379-406
;

II, 54-62.

235 H. Kanner, Der Schlussel zur Kriegsschuldjrage, Munich, 1926.
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relieve the pressure on Germany's eastern frontier, while

the hulk of the German forces were being thrown against

France. Their arrangements with one another were hardly

as definite or as binding as those which were being made
by the French and Russian Staffs. Though some of the

Moltkc-Conrad letters were shown to the civilian authori-

ties, they did not legally modify the terms of the Alliance.

This remained fixed in writing, and its interpretation and

application rested with the civilian, and not the military,

authorities.

On the other hand, it is undoubtedly true that this

Moltke-Conrad correspondence tended to foster the con-

viction at Vienna, that if Austria attacked Serbia, she could

count on a threat of German mobilization to bluff Russia

into remaining inactive; or upon German support, if Russia

made war. In this sense it did tend to give the Alliance

a potentially offensive, rather than defensive, character.

Another result of their correspondence was the fact that

Moltke and Conrad made mobilization plans which were

dependent for success on one another, and, as in all such

cases, this enabled the military authorities in a time of crisis

to exert pressure on the civilian authorities in favor of war.

To what extent this was actually the case in July, 1914, will

be discussed later in the second volume. In the years be-

fore the final crisis, the personal friendship and mutual con-

fidence between Moltke and Conrad had been one of the

factors in strengthening the bonds between these two

allies.

Italy was the element of weakness in the Triple Alliance.

Ever since the Algeciras Conference Germany had regarded

her loyalty with doubt. Conrad was so convinced not only

of her probable disloyalty to her treaty obligations, but of

her positive hostility, that he speaks of her as Austria's

"principal opponent." He made plans for mobilization

against her, and even wanted a "preventive war" against
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her.236 Italy's war with Turkey for the possession of

Tripoli had further displeased her allies, not only because

they had not been fully consulted beforehand, but because

it embarrassed them to have their nominal ally attack the

Turks, whose friendship and good-will they were trying to

cultivate. To be sure, the events of the war and Italy's

establishment as a sea-power in the Mediterranean had led

to a decided coolness in her relations with France. But

these had improved again by the summer of 1912 so that

Poincare and Sazonov both agreed that it was best to keep

Italy as a "dead weight" in the Triple Alliance, where she

would be useful to both France and Russia. 237

Though the Triple Alliance was to run until 1914, the

question of its renewal had already begun to be discussed

in the summer of 1911. Italy favored its early renewal as

a means of placating her allies on the eve of her Tripolitan

adventure. Germany favored it, being always glad of any-

thing which might make for better relations between her

two allies, and thus help to counter-balance the growing

strength and solidarity of the Triple Entente. Aehrenthal

at first was not opposed to it,
238 But Conrad and the mili-

tary officers were so incensed at Italy's insults and treacher-

ies that they saw no use in trying to keep her even as a

nominal ally. General Auffenberg related with childish

indignation to the German Ambassador in Vienna evidences

of Italian animosity which he had just seen in the Southern

Tyrol : every day or two a patrol had to be detailed to clean

up the insulting epithets scribbled on a war memorial;

he had seen cigarette boxes in which all the Austrian terri-

tory from Fiume to the Brenner Pass was marked as belong-

ing to Italy; irredentist propaganda even took the form

of calling the horses and mules by the names of Austrian

236 For the period 1907-1912, c/. Conrad, I, 110, 128, 141, 173, 224,

272.

237 Sazonov's report to the Tsar, Aug. 17, 1912; L.N., II, 340.

238 G.P., XXX, 495-510.
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cities like Trent and Trieste! "In case of a war Italy would

explode against us like a keg of powder," he added, declar-

ing that the best thing for Austria to do would be to crush

the irredentist hopes by war, and then Austria would be

freer to deal with Serbia or meet a Russian attack.239

Aehrenthalj however, had Francis Joseph on his side, and

secured the dismissal of Conrad because the latter was

urging war with Italy and friendship with Russia. The
Tripolitan War delayed the negotiations for the renewal

of the Triple Alliance. It was finally renewed, however,

on December 5, 1912, without modification, being extended

for six years from July 8, 1914.240 A couple of weeks later,

Italy notified Germany that, in view of the existing politi-

cal conditions, frankness compelled her to say that she

would be unable to carry out her agreement of 1SS8 for

sending troops to cooperate with a German army on the

Rhine.241

THE EFFECTS OF THE BALKAN WARS

The outbreak of the Balkan Wars and the consequent

intensification of the conflict of interests between all the

Powers, great and small, affected the system of alliances in

several ways.

It increased the internal friction within the Triple Alli-

ance and Triple Entente. A study of the daily and even

hourly interchange of telegrams which went on between

the members of each group during the succession of crises

and kaleidoscopic changes which took place in the Balkans

during 1912 and 1913 shows, for instance, that Germany
was constantly irritated by the selfish policies and rash acts

of her Austrian ally. She was irritated because Austrian

policies sometimes ran counter to her own views on Balkan

affairs, and sometimes because they might endanger the

230 Tschirschky to Bethmann, Nov. 18, 1911; ibid.. 514 ff.

240 Tschirsclikv to Bothmann, 568; Pribram, I, 26S-298.

2-uG.P., XXX, 574-579; Pribram, I, 299.
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peace of Europe. For example, Germany had no great de-

sire for the creation of an autonomous Albania. The Kaiser

did not think that the country was capable of governing

itself, and he thought it very doubtful whether any Euro-

pean prince could be found who could succeed in the diffi-

cult task.242 In spite of this, however, Germany consented

to support Austria's wishes (and also Italy's) for the crea-

tion of an autonomous Albania which should exclude Serbia

from access to the Adriatic. Similar clashes of interest

existed between France and her ally. France desired the

maintenance of the integrity of the Ottoman Empire, in

which she had large financial interests, and wanted the right

to construct railways in northern Asia Minor, which would

strengthen and develop Turkey. Russia opposed these

railways because they might aid Turkey to move troops

more easily to prevent the Russian advance south of the

Caucasus. An interesting example of this internal conflict

within each group is seen in the intrigues in regard to the

disposal of Kavala at the close of the Balkan Wars. Aus-

tria and Russia, for various reasons to be explained in the

next chapter, wanted to give Kavala to the Bulgarians;

their allies, Germany and France, instead of agreeing with

them respectively, were in favor of letting the Greeks keep

it. The Greeks kept it.

This internal friction, however, was more than counter-

balanced by the feeling in each group that it must do every-

thing possible to preserve unity and solidarity among its

members. Allies must stand together and support one an-

other's policies, consenting to policies which were unpalat-

able, or even consenting to acts which might involve dangers

to the peace of Europe. In this way Austria was often a

liability, rather than an asset, to Germany, as was also

Russia to France. Sometimes the dominant member ex-

erted successfully a restraining influence on her ally in favor

242 Q.P., XXXVI, 127-745, passim.
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of moderation and the preservation of the peace, as in the

case of Germany's veto on Austria's contemplated interven-

tion against Serbia in July, 1913, or France's un\villingnes3

to approve Sazonov's proposed measures for exerting pres-

sure on Turkey in connection with Liman von Sanders

affair.
213

In the recently published German documents and in

Conrad's memoirs one finds many cases indicating that

Germany encouraged Austria to take steps against Serbia

for putting an end to the "Greater Serbia" danger in the

belief that it threatened the existence of the Dual Monar-

chy and consequently of Germany's only remaining reliable

ally.-
14 They occur in official despatches from the German

Foreign Office to the German Ambassador in Vienna, in

the correspondence and interviews between Moltke and

Conrad, and occasionally in the meetings between the Ger-

man Kaiser and Franz Ferdinand. On the other hand, how-

ever, one finds as many, if not more, cases of an exactly

opposite kind, in which German officials, especially the

Kaiser, urged Austria to come to some arrangement with

Serbia and warned her against using force. 245 On the whole,

we believe we are justified in saying that Germany's influ-

ence was in favor of moderation and peace rather than the

contrary—until the provocation of the Sarajevo assassina-

tion.

243 Sec below, ch. v.

24-t G.P.. XXVI, passim (Bosnian Crisis); XXX. 253; XXXIII, 274 ff.,

330, 373 f .; XXXIV, 34 ff.; XXXVI, 386 ff.; XXXIX, 325 ff. (Konopischt

Meeting) . Conrad, I, 95 f., 106 ff., 129 ff., 202 f., 369 ff.; II, 54 ff.; Ill, 3Sf.,

143 ff., 294, 32S. 36S f., 424 ff., 469 f., 474, 609 ff., 667 ff. Cf. also W. Schiissler,

Oestcrrcich und das dcutschc Schicksal (Leipzig, 1925), pp. 8ff., 177 ff.;

and H. Kanner, Dcr Schliisscl zur Kricgsschuldfragc (Munich, 1926),

passim.

245G.P., XXXIII, 42, SO, 92 ff., 116, 150, 295 ff., 355 ff., 371 ff., 426 ff,

478 f.; XXXIV, 444 ff, 455 ff., 538 ff., 619 ff., 674 ff., 820 ff.; XXXV, 52 ff.,

66 ff., 122 ff., 319 ff. (Kavala affair and non-revision of the Treaty of

Bucharest); XXXVI, 27 ff.; XXXVIII, 335, 342 ff. Conrad. I. 156, 165;

III, 78 ff., 143(1., 164 ff., 318, 404, 410, 417, 429 ff., 448, 597 f., 627 f., 632,

644 f., 729. Cf. also H. Friedjung, Das Zcitalter des Impcrialismus (Berlin,

1919-1922), III, passim.
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To what extent France in the same way gave danger-

ous encouragement or exercised wise moderation on Russia,

it is difficult to say. The evidence furnished by Sazonov's

correspondence with Izvolski and Benckendorff, his reports

to the Tsar, and other Russian material on the one hand, is

often contradicted, on the other, by Poincare's memoirs and

by the French Yellow Book on Balkan Affairs. But it must

be remembered that this Yellow Book is very far from

complete, the documents in it evidently being selected to

support the view that M. Poincare's policy was always in

the interests of the peace of Europe. On this question, no

wholly satisfactory answer can be given until the French

make a full publication of their pre-War documents, similar

to that already made by Germany and to that in course

of publication by England.

One effect of the Balkan Wars, which was most serious

to the peace of Europe and to the crystallization of opposi-

tion between the Triple Alliance and the Triple Entente,

was the intensification of the general movement for an in-

crease of armaments on the part of all the Continental

Powers. We have already noted above the antagonism

between England and Germany caused by the rapid con-

struction of Dreadnoughts and the failure of the Haldane

Mission. At the same time that Germany passed the Naval

Bill of 1912 she made a considerable increase in her army.

In 1913 a new Army Law provided for a much larger in-

crease to take place in the following years. Before France

was aware of this German Army Law of 1913, Poincare

and the little group associated with him had already decided

to bring in a bill greatly increasing the strength of the

French army. Convinced that sooner or later a war was

"inevitable," they persuaded the French Chamber of Depu-

ties to vote the law extending the French term of active

military training from two to three years, and the liability

for service in the reserve from the age of forty-five to forty-
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eight. According to the opinion of Colonel Buat, who was
one of the ablest French experts and officially in charge of

one section of the French General Staff, France would have

in 1914 a slightly larger army than Germany in the first

weeks of a war.- 10 The idea that Germany was overwhelm-

ingly superior in numbers in her invasion of Belgium and

France in 1914 is a myth. In Russia also strenuous efforts

were being made to organize and train a greater number
of her vast population. The increases in Austria and Italy

were relatively slight. We refrain at this point from giving

any figures as to the relative size of armies and military

expenditures because such figures are apt to be extremely

misleading. Figures comparing English and German naval

expenditures have no significance unless allowance is made
for the cheaper costs of construction in Germany and the

system of obligatory service instead of voluntary enlist-

ment. Similarly the size and strength of armies is not

indicated merely by the numbers of troops, but depends in

large part upon efficiency of equipment, rapidity of mobil-

ization, and other technical matters which would require

long comment if trustworthy and really just bases of

comparison are to be made. By the spring of 1914 all these

armaments in progress of preparation had raised in both

Triple Alliance and Triple Entente a growing uneasiness

and suspicion. Everywhere thoughtful observers were

alarmed at the situation, but little was accomplished to

alleviate it. Colonel House went to Europe with the hope

of doing something about it, and wrote to President Wilson,

a month before the assassination of the Austrian Archduke:

The situation is extraordinary. It is militarism run stark

mad. Unless someone acting for you can bring about a dif-

ferent understanding, there is some day to be an awful

cataclysm. No one in Europe can do it. There is too much

246 E. Buat, L'armcc allcmande pendant la guerre de 1914-191S, Paris,

1920; Montgclas, Lcitjadcn, 81-87.
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hatred, too many jealousies. Whenever England consents,

France and Russia will close in on Germany and Austria.

England does not want Germany wholly crushed, for she

would then have to reckon alone with her ancient enemy,

Russia; but if Germany insists upon an ever-increasing

navy, then England will have no choice. The best chance

for peace is an understanding between England and Ger-

many in regard to naval armaments and yet there is some

disadvantage to us by these two getting too close.247

One beneficial consequence of the Balkan crisis was the

increased effort sincerely made to establish a "Concert of

Europe," which should counteract the opposition between

the Triple Alliance and Triple Entente. This was the aim

of the London Conference of Ambassadors, and it succeeded

in its task of finding peaceful solutions of most difficult

problems. Possibly if such another conference could have

been arranged in July, 1914, it also might have averted the

catastrophe. In this matter of the Concert of Europe each

statesman was continually torn between two conflicting

purposes. On the one hand, he wished to preserve and

strengthen the solidarity of the group which he represented

—Triple Alliance or Triple Entente as the case might hap-

pen to be. He therefore aimed to reach a prior agreement

within his own group which would safeguard the prestige

and interests of the other two members and thus of the

group as a whole ; and then to try to impose the acceptance

of this prearranged agreement upon the members of the

opposing group. This of course tended to accentuate the

crystallization of opposition between Triple Alliance and

Triple Entente, and if carried too far, as in 1914, would
precipitate war. At the same time, on the other hand, most
of the statesmen of Europe were aiming at an altogether

different purpose. In the interests of peace, they were

24 7 Charles Seymour, The Intimate Papers of Colonel House (Boston
and New York, 1926), I, 249; cj. also G.P., XXXIX, 107-117.
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genuinely trying to maintain the Concert of Europe, that is,

to have all six Great Powers arrive at collective action and

common views in a conciliatory spirit and by means of

compromises. This often involved sacrificing to some ex-

tent the interests of his own country, or at least those of

his ally. In Balkan questions Austria and Russia had the

greatest interests and were therefore the countries most

frequently expected to make sacrifices. England, whose

interests were least, and who was not bound by any formal

alliance, could most easily afford to serve as a medium in

smoothing out opposition between the others. It is not

here possible to review in detail the extent to which each

of the leading statesmen of Europe pursued each of these

two opposite purposes. As one reads the complicated dip-

lomatic negotiations of the years immediately preceding

the War one gets the impression, beyond all doubt, that

Sir Edward Grey was the man who most sincerely and tire-

lessly placed the Concert of Europe above the interests of

any single Power or group. Next to him in support of the

Concert of Europe would come Bethmann-Hollweg and the

German Secretary of State, Kiderlen-Wiichter ; but Kider-

len died in December, 1912, and after that the German
Chancellor was less able to make his influence prevail over

that of Tirpitz and the Kaiser. In France, M. Poincare

was more interested in the solidarity of the Triple Entente,

than in the Concert of Europe; but in order to preserve the

confidence and friendship of England, which was one of his

primary aims, he also frequently took the lead in steps for

initiating or upholding collective action by the Powers.

Sazonov and Izvolski cared less for the Concert of Europe,

and Count Berchtold least of all.

It was while Europe was thus divided into two opposed

groups that a new danger arose from the assassination of

the Austrian Archduke and a new intensification of Balkan

problems.



CHAPTER V

BALKAN PROBLEMS, 1907-1914

The Balkan situation was one of the most important

factors in causing the World War. It sharpened the antago-

nism between the Triple Alliance and the Triple Entente,

stimulated a general increase in armaments, and led to

the assassination of the Austrian Archduke with its catas-

trophic consequences. It was an old and complicated

question which had troubled the peace of Europe for a

century and a half. No attempt can be made here to trace

its development, which has been ably dealt with by many
writers. 1 It arose from many elements. The progressive

disintegration of the Ottoman Empire, caused by external

as well as internal causes, produced a continual unrest in

the Near East. This was increased by Russia's persistent -

desire to acquire increased influence in the Balkan Penin-

sula and to realize her age-long dream for control of the

waterways to the Mediterranean. The Hapsburgs, sitting

astride the Danube for centuries, were trying to preserve

authority over subject peoples, many of whom had become

fired with nationalism and a desire to break away and

unite with their brothers living in the independent States

bordering on Austria-Hungary. The ambitions of Serbia,

Bulgaria, Rumania and Greece to extend their territories

to include all peoples of their own nationality brought them
into constant conflict with Turkey, Austria-Hungary or

1 For a very useful list of works on the Balkans see R. J. Kerner,

Slavic Europe: A Selected Bibliography in the Western European Lan-
guages (Cambridge, Mass., 1918), especially Nos. 737-842, 3121-3144, 3592-

4186, 4357-4411, 4490-4518.

353



354 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

one another. The antagonism between Austria-Hungary

and Serbia was increased by the Austrian annexation of

Bosnia and Herzegovina, the creation of Albania, and the

Serb agitation for national unity at Austria's expense. To
understand how the World War had its beginnings in this

corner of Europe, it will be convenient to review some of

the Balkan problems between 1908 and 1914.

THE BEGINNINGS OF ATJSTRO-SERBIAN ANTAGONISM 2

Serbian national poets and historians love to recall to

their people the heroic days of Stephen Dushan in the

fourteenth century, when the great Greek Orthodox Serbian

Empire stretched from the Danube nearly to the Gulf of

Corinth, and from the Aegean to the Adriatic. From those

far-off days to the decades immediately preceding the

World War, when Serbian nationalists began to dream of

again extending their boundaries to include "Old Serbia"

and even more territory, the Serbian people suffered long

2 In addition to the works cited by Kerner, as indicated in the

preceding footnote, the more important recent books from the Austrian

point of view are: H. Friedjung, Das Zcitalter des Impcrialismus, 1884-

1914 (3 vols. Berlin, 1919-22) ; F. F. G. Kleinwachter, Der Untcrgang der

dstcrrcichi$ch-ungarischcn Monarchic (Leipzig, 1920) ; L. Mandl, Die
Habsburgcr und die scrbischc Frage (Vienna, 1918) ; Theodor von Sos-

nosky, Die Balkanpolitilc Oeslcrrcich-Ungarns scit 1866 ( 2 vols. Stutt-

gart, 1913-1919) ; J. Redlich, Ocstcrreichische Rcgierung und Vcrwallung
im Wtltkricg (New Haven), 1925; H. Dclbriick, "Serbien, Oesterreich

und Russland," in Deutschland und die Schuldjrage (ed. W. Ziegler, Ber-

lin, 1923; pp. 95-112); and the works of Burian, Conrad, Hoyos, Musulin,

Pribram, and Szilassy.

From the Serb and Croat point of view: H. Wendel, Der Kampj
der Sildslawen um Freiheit und Einhcit (Frankfort, 1925), written in a

somewhat lyrical vein, but containing a valuable bibliography (pp. 757-

773) including numerous Slavic works; R. W. Scton-Watson, Sarajevo:

A Study in the Origins of the Great War (London, 1926), giving the best

account in English of the Jugoslav Movement; L. von Siidland [Pilar],

Die S'udslawische Frage und der Wcltkricg (Vienna, 1918) ; Goricar and
Stowe, The Inside Story of Auslro-Gcrman Intrigue (New York, 1920)

;

and the works of Cvijitch, Jcvtitch, Markovitch, and Stanojcvitch.

From a more general point of view: Die Grosse Politik, passim; H.
Wickham Steed, Through Thirty Years, 1S02-1022 (2 vols. London, 1924);

and the works of Bogitchevitch, Brandenburg, Ivanner, and Valentin.
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years of oppression and hardship. First came the Turks.

On Vidov-Dan, 1389, an army of Serbs, Albanians and

Croats was terribly crushed at Kossovo, and submerged

under the Turkish flood. But from the field of battle

there rose up a Serb hero who penetrated to the victorious

Sultan's tent and there slew him, as the hateful oppressor

of the Slav peoples. So the anniversary of Kossovo be-

came a great day in the Serb calendar: Vidov-Dan was a

day of sorrow for the national defeat of 1389, but a day of

rejoicing for the assassination of the cruel foreign op-

pressor. 3 For more than four centuries after Kossovo the

greater part of the Serb people lived and suffered under

Turkish rule. Some Serbs, for obvious reasons of conven-

ience, abandoned Greek Orthodoxy for Mohammedanism,
especially in Bosnia, and remained Moslems ever after-

wards.

Austria was the European Power which first brought

to the Serbs some relief, and caused the Turkish flood to

recede. It was Prince Eugene, with his Hapsburg army,

who recaptured Belgrade in 1717 and helped arouse in the

Serbs a longing for independence from Turkish misrule.

When Hapsburg troops had to retreat twenty years later,

many Serb peasants followed on the soldiers' heels to es-

cape servitude under the Sultan. They settled north of

the Danube in the southern fringe of the Hapsburg lands.

There they lived and multiplied and were joined by other

fugitives from south of the Danube. At first these Serb

settlers were well treated by their new rulers, and were

appreciated as good soldiers to defend the country against

the Turks. But in the later eighteenth century Roman
Catholic propaganda and economic oppression by feudal

Magyar landlords made existence so bitter for the Serb

settlers that many preferred to escape back to their brothers

3 Vidov-Dan, St. Vitus's Day, June 15/28, 1914, the day of the Arch-

duke's assassination, was the 525th anniversary of the Battle of Kossovo.
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of the South. As between Magyar exploitation and Turkish

misrule, the latter was the lesser of two evils. So began an

antagonism, which persisted ever afterwards, and was aggra-

vated in 1S67 when Emperor Francis Joseph withdrew the

special privileges which had long been enjoyed by the

Serbs of the "Military Frontiers." 4 Nevertheless, common
enmity to the Turks generally tended to preserve a politi-

cal friendship between the ruling authorities at Vienna and

Belgrade.

In the year 1878, to be sure, Austria "occupied" the

provinces of Bosnia and Herzegovina, which were largely

inhabited by peasants of Serb blood and were coveted by the

new Kingdom of Serbia; but the pill was coated by the

fact that, at the Congress of Berlin, Austria secured for

Serbia the valuable Pirot and Nish districts, which Russia

would have assigned to her own protege. Bulgaria. Politi-

cal friendship between the Austrian and Serbian Govern-

ments, though not between the peoples of the two countries,

was again secured by the secret Austro-Serbian Treaty of

1881, signed for ten years, in which both States promised

to pursue a mutually friendly policy, and not to tolerate

within the territory of one any intrigues against the other. 5

In the year following, a tariff agreement admitted Aus-

trian manufactured articles into Serbia at half the tariff

rates asked of other countries, and in return special ad-

vantages were given to Serbian pigs and prunes imported

into Austria-Hungary. In 1S85 it was the support of Aus-

tria which saved the Serbian army from destruction after

its fatal defeat by the Bulgarians at Slivnitza. King Milan,

both off and on the throne, squandered much of his money
and spent much of his bizarre existence in Vienna. And so,

* CJ. Michael Pupin, From Immigrant to Inventor (New York,

1923), ch. i.

5 Pribram, I, 18; also his article, "Milan IV von Serbien und die

Gcheimvcrtruge Oesterreich-Ungarns mit Serbien, 1887-1889," in His-
torische Blatter, I, 1922.
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in spite of Russian intrigues from within, Serbian policy,

generally speaking, continued to be Austrophile until the

great assassinations of 1903.

It was the misfortune of the Serbian people that, at the

beginning of the movement for national independence in

the days of Napoleon, there arose not one, but two, na-

tional leaders. Instead of one great man dominating the

movement, and establishing a single strong dynasty, there

were two rivals: Kara George and Milosh Obrenovitch.

Ever since the assassination of the former in the interests

of the latter, in 1817, the unhappy country was torn by the

feuds of these rival families, and by a series of palace revo-

lutions and violent changes of dynasty. These culminated

in 1903. On the night of June 11, a band of conspirators,

consisting mainly of Serbian army officers, entered the royal

palace at Belgrade, dragged King Alexander Obrenovitch

and his unpopular wife from their hiding place, and bru-

tally murdered them. 6 Belgrade rejoiced ; the church bells

were rung; the city was decorated with flags; and the

Legislature unanimously thanked the assassins for their

work. Though he may not have been directly privy to the

plot, Peter Karageorgevitch, grandson of the man mur-

dered nearly a century before, profited by it, and he as-

cended the throne as Peter I. This hideous crime, "brutal

but not unprovoked," and the favors shown to those who
were responsible for it, outraged the sense of decency in

the crowned heads of Europe, most of whom soon withdrew

their representatives from Belgrade as a sign of their dis-

approval. Great Britain did not renew diplomatic rela-

tions for three years.

6 For a recent vivid account of this deed, see the article of Dragisha
Vasitch, in Knjizhevna. Republika, summarized in The Living Age, Jan.

3, 1925; and the detailed contemporary narrative of Pomiankowski, the

Austrian Military Attache, in the Berlin 8-Uhr-Abendblatt, Nos. 46-50,

Feb. 23-28, 1928; for its importance in internal Serbian politics, see below,

Vol. II, ch. ii.
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Though frowned on at first by Europe, the new reign
marked a notable revival in Serbian life. A freer, more
democratic, spirit prevailed. A patriotic national move-
ment developed, which expressed itself in new economic
activity, in newspapers and literature, and in the spread
of the "Greater Serbia" idea. Peter I was personally popu-
lar, devoted to the interests of his country, and noted for
his soldierly qualities of loyalty and simplicity. The fact
that he had fought for the Serbian cause in the revolt of
Herzegovina gave him an added popularity far beyond the
bounds of his own kingdom; it made him "our King" to the
Serbs beyond the Danube and the Drin. Many a Bosnian
peasant is said to have made a pilgrimage to Belgrade,
merely to hang about the streets till he could catch a near
view of the new sovereign and future "liberator." He was
to lead Serbian "Piedmont" in the movements for reuniting
all faces of Serb blood—Serbs, Bosniaks, Slovenes, Croats,
and Dalmatians—into a "Greater Serbia," as the House of
Savoy had led in the unification of Italy half a century
earlier. His marriage with Princess Zorka, daughter of
Nicholas of Montenegro, seemed to forecast close relations
between these two Slav states. Many of his years of exile
had been passed in Russia. His brother, Prince Arsene,
had served as an officer in a crack regiment of Russian
Guards. His two Montenegrin sisters-in-law married Rus-
sian Grand Dukes. These facts all seemed to suggest a
Russophile orientation in Serbian policy with the accession
of Peter I in 1903. And such proved to be the case. It
was actively hastened also both by encouragement from
the Pan-Slav elements in Russia, and by the irritating atti-
tude adopted by Austria-Hungary.

Austrian ministers soon observed with dismay this
growth of Serbian nationalism and pro-Russian feeling.
If unchecked, it threatened the integrity of the Hapsburg
lands. It meant that the Kingdom of Serbia would act
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as a dangerous magnet, tending to draw away Austria's

Serb subjects to form the "Greater Serbia." If the decaying

Turkish Empire should ever fall to pieces, if nationalist

revolts should break out in Austria-Hungary in some crisis,

such as the death of Emperor Francis Joseph, or if war

should be declared in the Balkans or in Europe, Serbia

would be likely to try to annex territories inhabited largely

by Serbs. Probably Pan-Slav interests would lead Russia

to support the Serbians. If Serbia secured Bosnia, her next

step would be to attempt to unite the Croats, the Dalma-

tians, the Slovenes, and the Serbs in the Banat in southern

Hungary. This7would encourage the other subject nation-

alities under Hapsburg rule—the Rumanians, Czechs and

Slovaks—to break away. This would spell Finis Austriae.7

In view of the danger to the Dual Monarchy from its

subject nationalities, Austrian officials began to adopt meas-

ures to stifle this growing movement in Serbia for political

and economic independence from Hapsburg influence.

Serbia, having no direct outlet to the sea, had been virtu-

ally dependent upon Austria-Hungary for a market for her

agricultural products. To strengthen herself, Serbia began

in 1905 to negotiate with Bulgaria for a customs-union;

but Austria interfered. In 1906, when the Austro-Serbian

tariff treaty expired, feeling in both countries ran so high

that it was not renewed, especially as the Magyar land-

lords found that Serbian products came into competition

with their own. As a consequence, a bitter tariff war

—

the so-called "Pig War"—ensued. But instead of crushing

Serbia economically, Austria only caused the Serbians to

seek other markets, especially in Germany; and at home
the Serbians began to erect slaughter houses and factories

of their own. Germany easily managed to supply the

Serbian peasants with goods which had formerly come from

Austria. This displacement of Austrian by German goods

^ Cf. Conrad, I, 13-28.
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caused not a little hard feeling between Vienna and Berlin

which persisted for years. 8 Austria's attempt at economic

intimidation, far from compelling Serbia to return to an

Austrophile policy, had just the opposite effect; it embit-

tered Peter I's Ministers, and drove them more than ever

into the open arms of Russia. It made them realize more

clearly Serbia's need for a direct economic outlet to the

sea, such as a railway connection with a port on the Adriatic

in Albania or Montenegro, or on the Aegean at Salonica. 9

They welcomed negotiations for a railway crossing Serbia

from the Danube to the Adriatic which was urged on their

behalf by Russia in the spring of 1908, as a counter-measure

to Austria's project for a railway from Bosnia through the

Sanjak of Novi Bazar to Salonica. 10 The outbreak of the

Young Turk Revolution in the summer hastened the nego-

tiations, but led them to a fiasco in the most unexpected

manner. It brought to a crisis the question, often dis-

cussed since 1876, and several times conditionally assented

to by Russia, of Austria's "annexation" of the "occupied"

provinces of Bosnia and Herzegovina. This in turn was

closely connected with Russia's much-desired aim of open-

ing the Bosphorus and the Dardanelles to the passage of

Russian ships of war.

8 Stanojcvitch, Die Ermordung der Erzherzogs Franz Ferdinand
(Frankfort, 1923), p. 38; Conrad (III, 407), in 1913, spoke of, "Dcutsch-

land, welches in gierigem Egoismus die Monarchie aus Serbien und iiber-

haupt vom Balkan komiuerziell zu verdriingen trachtet." The figures for

Germany's displacement of Austria in Serbia in the years 1905, 1906, 1907,

are significant: imports from Germany, in millions of dinars, 6.2, 9.7,

20.3; exports to Germany, 2.1, 19, 32; imports from Austria-Hungary 33.3,

22.2, 25.5; exports to Austria-Hungary 64.7, 30, 12; Statesman's Year

Book.
o Cj. Dr. Baernreither, "Unsere Handelsbeziehungen zu Serbien,"

in Ocst. Rundschau, XXIX, Iff., 1911; and "Aehrenthal und Milovan-

ovitch" in Deutsche Revue, Jan., 1922. Dr. Baernreither was an enlight-

ened Austrian enjoying the confidence of the Archduke Franz Ferdinand,

who disapproved of Aehrenthal's policy and wished to make reasonable

economic concessions to Serbia; see the selections from his diaries pub-

lished bv Josef Redlich, in Foreign Affairs (N. Y.), VI, 645-657, Julv, 192S.

10 GP, XXV. 2S1-3S2.
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RUSSIA AND THE STRAITS

In the course of the nineteenth century, especially after

the events of 1878, Russia had come to regard the closure

of the Dardanelles against foreign warships by the Sultan

as a valuable protection and asset for Russia. As Count

Kapnist remarked in May, 1897: "Russia needs this gate-

keeper [portier] in Turkish clothes for the Dardanelles,

which under no circumstances ought to be opened. The
Black Sea is a Russian mare clausum." 11 ' This remained

one of the corner-stones of Russian policy down to the

World War. Russia did not desire any modification of the

treaties which excluded warships of the other Great Powers

from ingress into the Black Sea.

But the treaties which excluded Russian war vessels

from passing inward or outward through the Straits of the

Bosphorus and Dardanelles were quite a different matter.

These were humiliating restrictions. They were inconsistent

with Russia's prestige as a Great Power. They were con-

trary to her ambitions since Peter the Great's day for the

control of a free outlet to the Mediterranean. They were a

serious and positive handicap when she was engaged in war,

ii G.P., XII, 285. On the earlier history of the closure of the

Straits, see above, ch. ii, note 27; on the later history, E. A. Adamov,
Konstantinopol i Prolivy [Russia and the Straits], 2 vols., Moskva, 1925-

26; E. A. Adamov, Razdel Aziatskoe Turtsii [Partition of Asiatic Turkey],

Moskva, 1924; I. M. Zakher, "Konstantinopol i Prolivy" in Krasnyi
Arkhiv, VI, 48-76; VII, 32-54 (1924); A. Popov, "Pervaia Balkanskaia
Voina" [First Balkan War], ibid., XV, 1-29; XVI, 3-24 (1926); M. N,

Pokrovski, Drei Konjerenzen, Berlin, 1920; B. Shatzky: "La question de
Constantinople et des Detroits," in Rev. d'Hist. de la Guerre Mondiale,
TV, 289-309; V, 19-43 (Oct., 1926; Jan., 1927); G.P., X, 1-41, 70f., 109*

114; XI, 99-106; XII, 47-87; XIV, 531-563; XVII, 34, 84, 102; XVIII,
409-446; XIX, 229-244; and XXII, XXVI, XXVII, XXX-XXXIX, pas-

sim; Livre Jaune: UAlliance Franco-Russe, p. 19 ff. ; Affaires Balkaniques,

M.F.R., L.N., Stieve, and Conrad, passim; a good brief account by G.
Frantz, "Die Meerengenfrage in der Vorkriegspolitik Russland," in Deutsche
Rundschau, LIII, 142-160 (Feb., 1927) ; P. Mohr, "Konstantinopel und die

Meerengenfrage," in Meereskunde, Heft 178 (1927); and the reference?

below in the present chapter.
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as in the case of the Russo-Japanese War, because they pre-

vented her from freely using her Black Sea Fleet where it

might be most needed. Furthermore, they prevented the

augmentation of this Black Sea Fleet for war against Turkey

by any other means except naval construction on Russia's

southern shores; it could not be increased by construc-

tion on the Baltic, or by the purchase of warships in

England, as the Tsar sorrowfully observed in January,

1914. 1 -

So the opening of the Straits to Russian warships became

one of the first aims of Russian ministers in the decades

immediately preceding the World War. This was quite

distinct from two other aims which are often confused with

it, but which were really different and would have involved

even more serious European complications; one was the

forcible seizure of Turkish territory along the heights of

the Bosphorus; the other was the acquisition of control

over Constantinople itself. To be sure, Russian warships

once in the Straits would be in an easy position to accom-

plish either of the two other aims. But, generally speaking,

the temerity of Russian ministers, though considerable, did

not usually go to the point of planning to seize Constanti-

nople itself. This city, they were inclined to admit, must

remain in the hands of the Sultan so long as the Ottoman

Empire survived; to try to seize it would meet with too

great opposition from the Great Powers, not to mention

Bulgaria and Greece. Constantinople, however, must in no

case be allowed to fall under the control of any other Power

—neither under Bulgaria during the Balkan Wars, nor under

Germany through the appointment of General Liman von

12 M. W. Rodzjanko, Erinncrungen, p. 90 (Berlin, 1927). For Eng-

land's persistent opposition to Russia's sending a couple of torpedo boats

even though under a commercial flag, into the Black Sea in 1902, and

also to Russia's sending any of her Black Sea Fleet out of the mare

clausum during the Russo-Japanese War, see G.P., XVIII, 407-446; XIX,
229-244.
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Sanders to the command of a Turkish army corps in the

Sultan's capital, as will be seen later.

Occasionally, however, ambitious Russian ministers

seriously considered in secret the project for a sudden

descent with a landing force to seize in time of peace the

heights of the Bosphorus in the neighborhood of Constanti-

nople. One of these occasions was in the winter of 1896-97.

A word may be said of it, because it is the forerunner of

several similar projects later, and because it typifies the

confusion of authority and purposes which existed in the

higher spheres at St. Petersburg.

To M. Nelidov, the Russian Ambassador at Constanti-

nople, the frightful Armenian massacres caused a revulsion

of feeling in Europe against the Sultan and anarchic con-

ditions in his capital which seemed likely to afford Russia

a good opportunity to make a bold coup de main to seize

the heights of the Bosphorus above Constantinople. In the

latter part of 1896 Nelidov came up to St. Petersburg to

set forth his plan. Nicholas II at once approved it, even

though it threatened, as Witte pointed out, a general Euro-
'

pean War. Nevertheless it was seriously considered in a

special secret ministerial council and was favored by Van-

novskii and Tyrtov, Ministers of War and Marine, and by
Durnovo, President of the Council. Nelidov's plan was to

despatch suddenly 30,000 troops on warships and transports

from Odessa to the Upper Bosphorus and land them to

seize control of the Straits, before England or any of the

other Great Powers could prevent the filibustering expe-

dition. Europe would be faced with a fait accompli.

Nelidov was to return to his post at Constantinople; when
he judged that the situation in the Sultan's capital had
reached the proper critical point, the signal for the sudden

descent of the Russian landing force was to be given by a

harmless sounding telegram, "Long without news." But

when the plan was further studied by the military and naval
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authorities, it appeared that, even with the most secret

precautions, it would be almost impossible to concentrate

and despatch a sufficiently large number of troops and

transports without attracting the attention and opposition

of England. Moreover, Count Witte and Pobiedonostev

were opposed to it on economic, political and moral grounds,

and cast the weight of their personal influence against the

rash project, so that it was ultimately abandoned by the

Tsar. But that Nelidov's plan was seriously considered,

and was even thought by Witte to have been on the point

of being carried out, is significant of the aims of Russian

diplomats and of the readiness with which the weak-willed

Nicholas II at first assented to it.
13

THE BALKAN QUESTION "PUT ON ICE," 1897-1907

Soon after the abandonment of Nelidov's project,

Emperor Francis Joseph visited Nicholas II at St. Peters-

burg. Friendly conversations took place which resulted in

an important Austro-Russian Balkan agreement. It was at

this time that Russia was embarking more actively on her

13 Nelidov's project of 1S96-97, first hinted at anonymously by E. J.

Dillon, and then by several memoir writers, has recently been confirmed

by documents published by the Bolshevists. See E. J. Dillon, The

Eclipse of Russia (N. Y., 1918), pp. 231-244; S. I. Witte, Memoirs (Garden

City, 1921), pp. 186-189; Baron Rosen, Forty Years oj Diplomacy (N. Y.,

1922), I, ch. xiv; M. Pokrovski, "Russko-gcrmanskie otnosheniia" [Russo-

Germ'an' relations], in Krasnyi Arkhiv, I, ch. i (1922), part of which is

publishd in German translation, "Lange ohne Nachricht," in KSF, IV,

175-181 (Mar., 1926); G. N. Trubetzkoi, Russland als Grossmacht (Stutt-

gart, 1913), pp. 161-162. Sazonov refers to it in his report to the Tsar

of Nov. 23/Dec. 6, 1913, in L.N., II, 367. That Germany got wind of

Nelidov's plan is evident from G.P., XII, 67-69. Probably one reason

that Russia did not dare to carry out Nelidov's plan was the fear of offend-

ing her French ally; for nine hundred years France had had large in-

terests in the Eastern Mediterranean which she did not care to see jeop-

ardized by a too active advance even of her own ally. Hanotaux, who

had served as secretary at the French embassy in Constantinople,

had often said to the German Ambassador at Paris: "La question

des detroits nous touche de trop pres et j'espere toujours que la Russie

n'y touchera pas, car cela pourrait devenir trop gros pour nous!" (Mini-

ster to Holstein. April 25, 1896; G.P., XII, 51).
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policy of economic and political penetration in the Far
East, and wished to be freed from possible complications in

the Balkans. In case her aggressive attitude in Manchuria
should lead to trouble with China or Japan, it was impor-
tant that her Balkan rear should not be endangered from
the side of Austria, or otherwise. In the spring of 1897,

therefore, consequent upon Francis Joseph's visit, the

Austrian and Russian foreign ministers exchanged friendly

notes declaring in favor of the status quo in the Balkans,

and asserting their intentions to pursue "a policy of per-

fect harmony." Austria reserved her claims to Bosnia and
Herzegovina, and expressed herself in. favor of an inde-

pendent Albania. The status of Constantinople and the
Straits, "having an eminently European character," was
not to be modified by any separate Austro-Russian ar-

rangements. 14 By this agreement the Balkan question was
said to be "put on ice," and for a decade the tension between
the rival aims of Russia and Austria was in fact somewhat
relieved.

But it would be a mistake to assume, as most writers do,

that Russia had -abandoned, even temporarily, the consid-

eration of her ambitions in the Near East while pressing
her imperialist policy in the Far East. This misconception
arose largely from the inspired Russian Press and from
misinformed persons who believed that the Russian Bear
had shifted his appetite completely to the plains of
Manchuria. In reality, though the Tsar and his ministers
talked of "Port Arthur," they were at the same time
thinking of "Constantinople." Of this there are several

indications.

14 Notes of Goluchowski and Muraviev of May 8 and 17, 1897; Prib-
ram, pp. 78-82; G.P., XII, 273-305. For further efforts to extend Austro-
Russian Harmony in the Balkans by the Murzsteg Program, the Neu-
trality Declaration of 1904, and the Macedonian reform plans of 1904-
1907, see Pribram, p. 98; G.P., XVIII, 85-405; XXII, 3-8, 19-522; and
British Documents, I, 281 f., 295-305.
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In 1899, Muraviev, the Russian Minister of Foreign

Affairs, uneasy at the rapid growth of German activity in

Turkey and the beneficial effect which it might have upon

the Sick Man's health, spoke bluntly to the German Am-

bassador about Russia's "exclusive claim to Constantino-

ple" ; and added, "Already the Tsar's Government must now

have a watchful eye that no other Power assumes a domi-

nating position on the Bosphorus." 15 He then tried to bluff

Germany into signing a written agreement guaranteeing

the Bosphorus to Russia; he threatened that he would come

to an understanding with England, if Germany refused.

But Biilow preferred to adhere to Germany's traditional

policy of declaring that Germany did not oppose Russia's

aspirations at the Straits (because he felt sure that Eng-

land would still do so) ; but he was unwilling to put any-

thing into writing, for fear that Russia might reveal

it to England, and thus endanger Anglo-German good

relations. 16

In 1000 Muraviev drew up a long secret memorandum,

for discussion by the army and navy authorities, in which

he urged the preparation of measures by which Russia

might at any given moment take possession of the shores of

the Bosphorus; and the Sultan must be prevented from

doing anything which would strengthen his position on the

Straits. 17

On March 1, 1003, General Kuropatkin, the Minister of

War, noted in his diary:

I told Witte that our Tsar has grandiose plans in his

head: to capture Manchuria for Russia, and to annex Korea.

He is dreaming also of bringing Tibet under his dominion,

is G.P., XIV, 550.

icG.P., XIV, 531-563; especially No. 4022.

17 M. Pokrovski, "Tsarskaia diplomatiia o zadachakh Rossii na

Vostoke v 1900 g." [Imperial diplomacy concerning Russia's aims in

the East in 1900], in Krasnyi Arkhiv, XVIII (1926), pp. 3-29, especially

pp. 9-11 and 17.
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He desires to take Persia, and to seize not only the Bos-

phorus but also the Dardanelles.18

In the spring of 1904, Izvolski, who had just been trans-

ferred from Tokio to Copenhagen, was already contemplat-

ing a revolution in Russian diplomacy: the abandonment

of the long-standing Asiatic conflict with England in favor

of an entente which he hoped would enable Russia to open

the Straits for her own war vessels. In one of his first

conversations with King Edward VII at Copenhagen (which

in view of Sir Edward Goschen's presence was something

more than a purely private and personal talk), Izvolski

set forth his views about Russia's necessities for a free

passage of the Straits. King Edward replied that the

closure of the Straits was not "absolute and eternal," but

that for the moment British public opinion was so abso-

lutely opposed to any opening of the Straits that he could

not and would not at present do anything in defiance

of it.
19

Similarly, in the later negotiations for the Anglo-

Russian Agreement of 1907, at least so far as they were

carried on by Benckendorff, the Russian Ambassador in

London, Izvolski again tried to carry out his fond hope of

opening the Straits. He did this by offering the concession,

unusual for Russian diplomacy, that England and the other

Powers might send their vessels of war through the Dar-

danelles, but not into the Black Sea.20 Russia would thus

is Krasnyi Arkhiv, II, 31 (1923). Six weeks earlier he had written

in his diary (Jan. 5/18; ibid., p. 20): "I emphasized [to the Tsar] the

necessity of shifting our main attention from the Far East to the West.
The Tsar formulated it something like this: not to take our eyes off the

East, but to pay the greatest attention to the West."
19 Ph. Crozier, "L'Autriche et l'Avant-guerre," in Revue de France,

April 1, 1921, p. 276; cf. also Izvolski, Memoirs (London, 1920), pp. 20,

81 ff.; Lee, King Edward VII, II, 283 ff.; and G.P., XIX, 177 ff, 188.

20 The proposal "which Count Benckendorff had discussed with me
at the time of the Anglo-Russian Convention . . . had been that, while

Pussia should have egress from the Black Sea through the Straits, other
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retain her mare clausum, while Russia and England would

share equally in the favorable position which their fleets

would have for exercising control over Constantinople and

the Dardanelles. But Sir Edward Grey, in view of British

public opinion and the fact that other Powers had a right

to be consulted in any modification of the Straits treaties,

did not want any mention to be made of the Bosphorus

and the Dardanelles in the Anglo-Russian Convention

which dealt primarily with the Middle East. So Izvolski

failed to induce England to abandon her traditional atti-

tude. Thereupon Izvolski decided to turn to Baron Aehren-

thal and seek a solution of the Straits Question through

cooperation with Austria.

THE BUCHLAU BARGAIN OF SEPTEMBER, 190S

In 1906 the direction of Foreign Affairs in Russia and in

Austria passed into the hands respectively of two men who

represented more aggressive and ambitious policies than

their predecessors. At St. Petersburg, Alexander Izvolski,

shrewd, subtle, proud, belonging to the Russian rural no-

bility but supposed to be a great admirer of British Liberal-

ism, wished to win back for Russia in the Balkans the

prestige which she had recently lost in her disastrous ad-

Powcrs should have liberty to send their vessels of war into the Straits

without going into the Black Sea;" Grey to Nicolson, Oct. 14, 1908;

Grey, I, 179. Izvolski also says there had been negotiations with Eng-

land twice concerning the Straits, "une fois par l'intermediaire de Bcnck-

endorff, et la seconde fois par mon intcriucdiaire, lors de mon sejour a

Londres, en automne 100S;" L.N., I, 148; Stieve, I, 163; M.F.R., p. 122.

And Hintze. Emperor William's personal representative in Russia, gath-

ered from Sir Arthur Nicolson that the Straits question had been dis-

cussed in connection with the Anglo-Russian Convention negotiations

(G.P., XXII, 80-81, note; XXVI, 127, 21S-219, note). We may there-

fore reject as untrue both Viscount Grey's later statement that "the

question of the Straits was not mixed up with those Anglo-Russian nego-

tiations about Persia" (Grey, I, 159), and Izvolski's "particular assur-

ance" to Aehrcnthal in September, 1907, "that he had not spoken of the

question to the English" (G.P., XXII, S0-81); for Bcnckcndorff's equally

untrue denial, see G.P., XXV, 306.
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venture in the Far East. At Vienna, Baron Aehrenthal,

energetic, ambitious, the courtier-aristocrat, wished to free

Austria from the excessive dependence on Germany which

had characterized his predecessor's policy. He wished to

strengthen the Dual Monarchy in the Balkans, by putting

an end to the Serbian danger which he believed threatened

to disrupt the Hapsburg Empire.

Here were two political adventurers, equally ready to

fish in troubled waters to satisfy their ambitions, even to

the extent of upsetting international treaties and endanger-

ing the peace of Europe. On Aehrenthal has usually fallen

the odium for the Bosnian "Annexation Crisis" of 1908-09,

but recently published Russian and German documents in-

dicate that Izvolski had quite as much to do with the initia-

tion of this plan for modifying the Treaty of Berlin as did

Aehrenthal.

A few days after signing the Convention of 1907 with

England and thus relieving Russia from the danger of com-

plications in the Middle East, Izvolski visited Vienna. He
was decorated with the Grand Cross of the Order of St.

Stephen, received in audience by Francis Joseph, and had a

long conversation with Aehrenthal. He hinted very con-

fidentially that he intended to solve the Straits Question in

the manner desired by Russia, which was true ; and he par-

ticularly assured Austria that he had not spoken of the

question to the English; which was untrue.21 He went

on to tell Aehrenthal:

Russia has lost Manchuria with Port Arthur and thereby

the access to the sea in the East. The main point for Rus-

sia's military and naval expansion of power lies henceforth

in the Black Sea. From there Russia must gain an access to

the Mediterranean.22

21 G.P, XXII, 76, 79 ff., and preceding note.
22 G.P., XXII, 83 f.
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Achrenthal thanked him for his confidence, but, follow-

ing Bismarck's earlier advice to take a reserved attitude

until Russia should show her hand and declare more defi-

nitely her intentions, gave a dilatory and non-committal

reply. He merely remarked that it was a difficult problem,

and that if the Straits Question were really opened up,

Austria would want to define her attitude, adding:

I beg you to inform me in good time before the moment

comes for putting the Russian plans into action, precisely

as I should feel myself under obligations to inform the Rus-

sian Government in case Austria-Hungary should ever in-

tend to annex Bosnia and Herzegovina.23

Shortly afterwards Achrenthal told Conrad, the Aus-

trian Chief of Staff, that Russia, having limited her policy

in Asia, "will now take up again her Western Balkan policy

and demand freedom of the Straits for Russian vessels, but

not for others"; and the two discussed the annexation of

Bosnia and Herzegovina as possible compensation for con-

ceding the freedom of the Straits to Russia.- 4 Here then

at
\"ienna, in September, 1907, in the confidential conver-

sation of Izvolski and Achrenthal, was foreshadowed the

bargain which was struck between them at Buchlau just a

year later.

Izvolski apparently did not proceed immediately with

his plans, possibly because of Aehrenthal's reserved attitude

and because of England's known opposition to them. But a

few months later, after Aehrenthal had "thrown a bomb

between his legs" 25 by his statement in the Delegations of

23 G.P., XXII, 81, 84. 24 Conrad, I, 513 f, 528, 530.

2.
r
> "C'est une bombe qu'il m'a jetee cntre les jambes," said Izvolski

to the German Ambassador in St. Petersburg, referring to Aehrenthal's

announcement of the Sanjak railway project; G.P., XXV, 313. Izvolski

at once countered with a Danube-Adriatic railway project which would

cut Austria's projected line at right angles, and greatly benefit Serbia

by giving her direct access to the sea. On these rival railway projects

see G.P., XXV, 281-382; Schwertfegcr, Zur Europaischen Polilik, III,
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Austria's desire for a railway from Sarajevo to Mitrovitza,

to connect up with the Macedonian and Greek railways,

Izvolski took up again Nelidov's idea of accomplishing

Russia's historic mission by force rather than by diplomacy.

In a secret Ministerial Conference of February 3, 1908, he

pointed out that if Russia continued the passive defensive

policy of 1897 of leaving the Balkan Question on ice, Russia

"runs the risk of losing all at once the fruits of her century-

long efforts, ceasing to play the role of a Great Power, and

falling into the position of a second-rate State to which no

one pays attention." After calling attention to the situa-

tion in the Caucasus, Persia, and the Balkans, and also to

Russia's recent rapprochement with England, he suggested

that joint Anglo-Russian military action in Turkey "offered

an extremely attractive prospect, which might lead to daz-

zling results and to the realization of Russia's historic mis-

sion in the Near East." But this would involve the whole

Turkish and Near Eastern Question. He, therefore, sought

the advice of the other Ministers as to how far they could

back up an active aggressive policy.

In reply General Palitsyn, Chief of the General Staff,

said he had urged three months earlier the use of force in

the Caucasus, but that now the situation no longer de-

manded it; he called attention to Russia's military unpre-

paredness. General Polivanov, of the War Ministry, agreed

with him that "Russia lacks artillery, machine guns, uni-

forms. The restoration of order, of complete order in the

army and fortresses, will take stupendous sums and much
time." The Minister of Marine confessed that the Black

Sea Fleet was not ready for war, needing sailors, coal, am-
munition, guns, and mines. M. Kokovtsev, the Finance

Minister, complained that neither he nor .the whole Council

had been kept informed of Izvolski's warlike and expensive

64-72; Conrad, I, 555; G. Giolitti, Memoirs oj My Life (London, 1923),

pp. 207-211.
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plans; he was energetically opposed to military action in

Persia and to pulling chestnuts out of the fire for Foreign

Powers; such a policy would not be understood in Russia,

"and it is also not clear whom we should be defending in

Persia." As to the Balkans, the question was still more

serious; he would limit Russia's action to the possible pro-

tection of Bulgaria in case of a Turco-Bulgarian war.

Meanwhile money must be raised by every means for re-

organizing the army and navy and making adequate mili-

tary preparations.

Izvolski therefore again emphasized the unfavorable

consequences of a strictly defensive policy. But Premier

Stolypin summed up the discussion by declaring that

Izvolski must not count on support for an aggressive and

adventurous policy at present. Otherwise a new revolution

might break out in Russia and endanger the dynasty. "But

after some years, when we have secured complete quiet,

Russia can speak again as in the past."

At present she must limit herself to what could be ac-

complished by the diplomatic skill of the Minister of For-

eign Affairs. In approving this policy of avoiding war for

the present, and preparing for the future, Nicholas II noted

in pencil: "God helps those who help themselves." 26

Unable to get unanimous Russian backing for active

military measures, Izvolski then turned again to Aehren-

thal and Austria, to secure by diplomacy a more modest

part of Russia's Historic Mission—the opening of the

Straits for the Russian warships of the future. A year be-

fore he had tried to win England's consent to this as part

of the Anglo-Russian Entente, but without success.

Count Aehrenthal on his side had been secretly consider-

26 Protocol of the Ministerial Council of Jan. 21/Feb. 3, 190S;

printed by M. Pokrovski, Drei Konjerenzcn (Berlin, 1920), pp. 17-31; and

in part by Adamov, Konstantinopol i Prolivy, I, 8ff.; cf. also PoUvanov'a

diary [in Russian], quoted by G. Frantz, Russland auj dem Wege fur

Kalastrophe (Berlin, 1926), pp. 7-10.



THE BUCHLAU BARGAIN OF SEPTEMBER, 190S 373

ing for some months the desirability of converting the occu-

pation of Bosnia and Herzegovina into full ownership, both

on account of administrative difficulties and of the growing

danger of the "Greater Serbia" propaganda.

The administration of Bosnia was in the hands of a

military governor (Landeschef) , but his authority was re-

stricted at every point by a civilian assistant (Ziviladlatus)

on the spot, who represented the supreme authority of the

Austro-Hungarian Joint Minister of Finance in Vienna.

By the Dual Compact in 1867 the Hapsburg Monarchy
could acquire no territory except by the common consent

of both halves of the Monarchy. This was one of the rea-

sons why, in 1878, Bosnia and Herzegovina had been merely

"occupied" jointly by Austria-Hungary, instead of being

directly annexed to Austria. It was also the reason the

administration of the provinces had been placed under the

Austro-Hungarian Joint Minister of Finance. This Minis-

ter, however, occupied with other matters and far away in

Vienna, was often out of touch with the exact situation in

Bosnia and Herzegovina. In consequence he often sent or-

ders to his representatives there, which conflicted with the

views of the military governor on the spot. The result

was frequent friction between the Landeschef and the

Ziviladlatus.

Though the Hapsburgs had done much, during the

period of occupation, for the material improvement of

Bosnia and Herzegovina, by building roads, establishing

schools, and enforcing order, there was also much in their

administration which could be justly criticized, and they

had failed to win the loyalty of all the inhabitants. The
Mohammedans, and most of the Roman Catholic elements

in the population, were fairly well disposed, but the great

majority of the Greek Orthodox Serbs were persistently

hostile.

With the outbreak of the Turkish Revolution, the ad-
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ministrative and revolutionary dangers threatened to be-

come more serious. The Young Turks, who had announced

the calling of a democratic parliament for the whole Turkish

Empire, might demand that representatives from Bosnia

should sit in it. They might even seek to nullify the Aus-

trian occupation which had existed since 1878. Moreover,

if war should break out between Austria and Turkey, would

it be the duty of the Bosnians to fight on the side of their

"sovereign," the Sultan, or on the side of the actual Aus-

trian rulers of the district? The situation offered an ex-

cellent opportunity for anti-Austrian agitation, and the

"Greater Serbia" propaganda made the most of it. By
annexing Bosnia and Herzegovina, Aehrenthal hoped to

put an end once and for all to any doubts that the provinces

were to belong to Austria-Hungary.27

The sudden Young Turk Revolution of 1908, and the

vista of uncertain possibilities which it opened, seemed to

both Izvolski and Aehrenthal to offer a favorable oppor-

tunity for a mutually advantageous bargain at Turkey's

expense. Russia might settle the "Straits Question," by

securing the right to send Russian warships through

the Bosphorus and the Dardanelles; and Austria might

strengthen her position in Bosnia and Herzegovina, by

converting the occupation which she had enjoyed for thirty

years into a direct annexation. This was the substance of

an aide-memoire which Izvolski sent to Aehrenthal on July

2, 190S,28 in connection with the negotiations concerning the

Sanjak and the Danube-Adriatic railway projects. Aehren-

thal was delighted with Izvolski's proposal, which fell in so

nicely with his own plans. In order to arrange the details

27 Conrad, I, 13-2S, 87-109; 170-4; 518-524, 527-9, 540-3, 557; G.P.,

XXVI, 1-22; Freihorr von Musulin, Das Hans am Dallplatz (Munich,

1924), p. 163 ff.; Brandenburg, pp. 261-269 (Eng. trans., pp. 305-314);

Stcphan, Count. Burian, Austria in Dissolution (X. Y., 1925), pp. 265-310.

28 Conrad, I, 1071".; printed, with Aehrenthal's reply of Aug. 27,

in G.P., XXVI, 190-195.
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of the bargain, he invited the Russian Minister of Foreign

Affairs to a meeting at Count Berchtold's castle at Buchlau

in Moravia.

As the conversations between Izvolski and Aehrenthal

at Buchlau on September 15, 1908, took place without wit-

nesses or definite agreements in writing drawn up on the

spot, conflicting versions arose a few weeks later, when the

bargain did not turn out as had been anticipated. Izvolski

declared that he had been tricked and misrepresented.

But the facts can be stated with considerably certainty, on

the basis of what each Minister stated privately to third

parties within a few days.29 Izvolski assented to the Aus-

trian annexation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Aehren-

thal to the opening of the Straits to Russian ships of war.

Aehrenthal also promised to abandon his Sanjak railway

project and all intentions of extending Austrian influence

toward Salonica, and to withdraw the Austrian military

garrisons from the Sanjak of Novi Bazar. As these changes

modified important terms of the Treaty of Berlin, Izvolski

thought that they would have to be confirmed by a Con-

ference of the Powers which had signed the Treaty. To
this Aehrenthal apparently did not object at the time.

Less important points discussed and agreed upon were the

abolition of Austria's rights over the Montenegrin coast,

the annexation of Crete to Greece, and acquiescence in the

independence of Bulgaria, if Prince Ferdinand should

finally decide to proclaim himself full sovereign. The one

important matter which was not made definite, and gave

rise to endless and bitter controversy, was the date at which

these changes were to be made and published. Aehrenthal

claims to have told Izvolski explicitly that the annexation

of Bosnia would have to be made prior to the meeting of

the Austro-Hungarian Delegations, which was fixed for

October 8, when he would have to make a public state-

29 G.P., XXVI, 25-64.
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ment. 30 Izvolski, however, got the impression that the

Austrian Minister would merely lay the annexation plan

before the Delegations for consideration, not that he would

inform them of it as a fait accompli. He seems to have

anticipated that this bargain would meet with some serious

difficulties, and he evidently did not expect that Aehren-

thal would take any definite steps until the substance of

the Buchlau conversations had been confirmed in writing.

Later, after the annexation, he complained bitterly that

Aehrenthal was "no gentleman," and had "broken faith"

in proceeding so speedily with the annexation. 31

Possibly at Buchlau Aehrenthal had not made up his

mind exactly as to his procedure. But by September 26 he

had evidently decided to act quickly, for he sent Biilow a

long private letter informing him of the Buchlau agreement

and justifying his own part in it, but not indicating any

date for the annexation.32 On September 29 personal letters

30 Tschirschky, German Ambassador at Vienna to Biilow, Nov. 2,

190S; G.P, XXVI, 31 note, 234. See also G.P., XXVI, 35 ff., lSGfT., 228 ff .,

307 ff, 837; and note 61 below. H. Friedjung, Zeitaltcr des ImperialLsmus,

II, 226 IT.; Th. von Sosnosky, Die Balkanpolitik Oesterreich-Ungarns seit

1S66, II, 167 ff. ; L. Molden, Alois Graf Aehrenthal, p. 59 ff. ; and Eduard
Ritter von Steinitz, "Iswolski und die Besprechungen in Buchlau," in KSF,
V, 1151-1179, Dec., 1927; also Count Berchtold, "Russia, Austria and the

World War," in Contemporary Review, CXXXIII, 422 ff., April, 192S.

31 For his first expectations see G.P., XXVI, 35 ff., 55 ff.; for his

later complaints, G.P., XXVI, 118 ff., 135 f . 147 ff.. 180 ff., 206 ff., 235 ff,

396 ff. ; and below, note 75. See also Ph. Crozier, "L'Autriche et l'Avant-

guerre," in Revue de France, April 15, 1921, pp. 566-574; and the anony-
mous articles in the Fortnightly Review for Sept. and Nov, 1909, "Baron
Aehrenthal and M. Iswolski: Diplomatic Enigmas" and "M. Iswolski and
Count von Aehrenthal: A Rectification," the first inspired by Izvolski,

and the second inspired by Aehrenthal and written by Mr. E. J. Dillon

after a visit with Count Berchtold at Buchlau—a fact which soon gave

rise to an unpleasant scene between Berchtold and Izvolski (c/. G.P,
XXVII, 442-446; J. von Szilassy, Der Untergang der Donau-Monarchic,
194 ff.); Georges Louis, Cornets, I, 66-69, 115.

3-' G.P, XXVI, 35-39. Two days later Aehrenthal told the German
Ambassador in Vienna that "circumstances might compel him to begin

even in the very immediate future with the accomplishment" of his

annexation plans; the circumstances to whioh he referred were the propa-

gandist agitation of the Serbians and the probability that Prince Ferdi-
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from Emperor Francis Joseph, to be presented on October

5 to the rulers of the leading states, were sent to the Aus-

trian ambassadors abroad. The letters announced that he

would proclaim the annexation of Bosnia and Herzegovina

on October 7.
33

Meanwhile Izvolski, not expecting that Aehrenthal

would act so precipitately with a fait accompli, started on a

leisurely tour to sound the Powers on the Buchlau bargain

and to secure their consent thereto. On September 26, at

Berchtesgaden, he saw Schoen, the German Secretary of

State for Foreign Affairs, and emphasized the difficulties

which Serbia was likely to make, adding that he thought a

European Congress would be necessary to sanction the new
arrangements. Schoen listened, and indicated that perhaps

Germany would expect some services in return for consent-

ing to the opening of the Straits. On September 29 and

30, at Desio, Izvolski took Tittoni into the secret. This

was the first definite information that the Italian Minister

had had of the impending changes, and his feelings were

hurt. He straightway begged urgently at Vienna for a post-

ponement of the annexation, but his prayer fell on deaf

ears, and was overtaken by the course of events. Though
indignant at Aehrenthal's Balkan plans and silence in regard

to them, Tittoni was willing enough to satisfy Izvolski's

ambitions in regard to the Straits in return for a favorable

attitude on Russia's part toward Italy's eventual seizure of

Tripolis. In the communique issued to the press on the

Desio interview and in Tittoni's speech in Parliament on

December 4, 1908, emphasis was laid on the complete har-

nand of Bulgaria was about to proclaim his independence of Turkey;
ibid., 43 f

.

33G.P., XXVI, 97-101; for Francis Joseph's letter to Nicholas II,

see Krasnyi Arkhiv, X, 42-43 (1925) and KSF, IV, 23S-240 (April, 1926).

Since Ferdinand of Bulgaria proclaimed his independence on Oct. 5,

Aehrenthal hurriedly notified Turkey of the Bosnian annexation on Oct.

6, one day earlier than the date announced in the Emperor's letters

(G.P, XXVI, 112).
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mony of Russo-Italian views—which was set down in a

formal written agreement at Racconigi thirteen months

later, in October, 1909.34

From Desio Izvolski started for France. At Meaux, just

before his train reached Paris, he bought a newspaper and

was startled at the indications that Aehrenthal and Prince

Ferdinand of Bulgaria appeared about to put into immediate

effect part of the plans which had been discussed at

Buchlau. 35 The news was confirmed by a letter from

Aehrenthal which was handed to him upon his arrival at

Paris.

THE BOSNIAN CRISIS OF 190S-1909

In Serbia the news caused great indignation and excite-

ment. Newspaper "extras" bitterly denounced the infringe-

ment of the Treaty of Berlin and demanded preparations

for a life and death struggle against Austria. Only thus

could the Powers be aroused to support Serbia. 36 Serbian

Ministers assumed that war was inevitable. The Skup-

shtina was hurriedly called together; credits were voted for

war; preparations for mobilization were made; armed irreg-

ular bands, the famous "Comitadjis," were formed; and the

"National Defense" (Narodna Odbranu) society was estab-

3-J C P., XXVI, 43, 55-64; XXVII, 319 IT., 399 ff. Writing on Nov.

4, 1909, Izvolski speaks of this identity of Russo-Italian views on Balkan
questions between himself and Tittoni as having been formulated "nearly

two years ago"; ibid., p. 424; Siebert-Sehreiner, p. 151. This Desio

interview and earlier negotiations concerning the Sanjak railway project

may explain Giolitti's curious mistake (Memoirs of My Life, London,
1923, pp. 202-204) in giving 1907, instead of 1909, as the date of the

Racconigi bargain.

35 Crozier, op. ext., p. 571. The Austrian Ambassador at Paris, hear-

ing that President Falliercs would be out of town on Oct. 5, decided to

present Francis Joseph's letter to him on Oct. 3 under strict secrecy,

but Pichon at once telegraphed the news to the French ambassadors
abroad and something of it leaked out to the French papers (Crozier

p. 567 f.; G.P., XXVI, 101 f.).

36 Report of Austrian Charge d'Affaires in Belgrade, 9 P.M., October

5, 1908; Conrad, I, 113; G.P, XXVI, 2-17 ff.
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lished by leading citizens to prevent the annexation.37

Prince George Karageorgevitch hastened to Russia to beg

help from the Tsar, and was soon followed by Pashitch, the

powerful leader of the pro-Russian Radicals. Milovano-

vitch, the Serbian Premier and Minister of Foreign Affairs,

started on a tour of the European capitals to secure assis-

tance in preventing Aehrenthal from taking sovereign pos-

session of the two provinces, which were regarded as the

very heart of the hoped-for future South Slav Kingdom.

But while Serbian Ministers protested loudly in one

breath against the wicked infraction of the Treaty, in the

next they suggested "autonomy" for Bosnia and Herze-

govina, and "territorial compensations" for their own
Kingdom.38 They urged the partition of the Sanjak between

Serbia and Montenegro. This would connect these two Slav

countries by a common boundary and form a barrier against

further penetration by Austria to the South ; it was part of

the region through which the projected Danube-Adriatic

railway would run, giving Serbia direct access to the sea,

and cutting off Aehrenthal's projected railway to Salonica

at right angles. What would the Powers do for Serbia?

And in particular what would Russia, the Protectress of

the Slavs, do?

Izvolski was now in great embarrassment. He feared

that Aehrenthal was about to secure the advantages of Aus-

tria's half of the Buchlau bargain, before he had gotten

French and English consent to Russia's half. Therefore he

did not want the Serbians to stir up trouble until he had the

Straits safely in his pocket. So he told the Serbians to keep

quiet for the moment, and wait for a conference of the

Powers

:

37 Stanojevitch, 47; for further details, see below, Vol. II, ch. ii, "The
Assassination Plot."

38 Reports of Vesnitch from Paris, Oct. 5; of Milovanovitch from

London, Oct. 29; and of Pashitch from St. Petersburg Nov. 25, 1908;

Bogitchevitch, 147 ff. (French edition, 1925, p. 171 ff .) ; G.P., XXVI, 252 ff.
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You Serbians surely cannot be thinking of driving Aus-
tria-Hungary out of Bosnia and Herzegovina by force of

arms. And we Russians, on the other hand, cannot wage
war on Austria on account of these provinces. ... I have
foreseen this step of Austria-Hungary's, and it did not sur-

prise inc. For that reason I made our acceptance of it de-

pendent upon her renunciation of her rights to the Sanjak of

Novi Bazar; and then will follow the revision or alteration

of the Treaty of Berlin, which we shall demand; upon this

occasion Serbia, too, will be able to present her wishes as

regards the rectification of her frontiers. ... I do not un-
derstand your state of agitation. In reality you lose noth-

ing, but gain something—our support. I trust that the

Serb people in Bosnia and Herzegovina will continue as

hitherto their cultural activity for their own renaissance,

and, awake as they are, it will never be possible to dena-

tionalize them.39

But Izvolski soon found that in Paris he could get no

effective backing for his projected opening of the Straits.

M. Pichon was "sympathetic" but non-committal, wishing

first to know what England's attitude would be. 40 On
crossing the Channel, Izvolski discovered, to his great

chagrin, that England was still opposed to it, in spite of the

more intimate relations which he expected from the Entente

of 1907. Sir Edward Grey tactfully told him that a request

for opening the Straits was "fair and reasonable," and not

objectionable "in principle," provided they were opened "on

terms of perfect equality to all," i.e., including the Eng-

lish. But Grey wras absolutely opposed to Izvolski's project,

which consisted in opening the Straits to Russian worships,

while leaving them still closed against wrar vessels of the

other Great Powers. Any such purely one-sided modifica-

tion of existing treaties, exclusively for the benefit of the

Russians, would give them in time of war "the advantage

of having the whole of the Black Sea as an inviolable harbor,

39 Report of Vcsnitch, Serbian Minister in Paris, of conversation with

Izvolski, Oct. 5, 1908; Bogitchevitch, 151-154; and in the same strain,

Prince Urusov to Simitch at Vienna, Oct. 10; ibid., 154-15G.

•ioL.N., I, 145 f.; G.P., XXVI. 133-136.
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from which cruisers and commerce destroyers could issue,

and retire at will from pursuit by a belligerent." Any modi-

fication of the existing treaties closing the Straits to war-

ships "must be one which would contain such an element

of reciprocity as would, in the event of war, place belliger-

ents on an equal footing." 41 This, of course, was not at

all what Izvolski intended. Like Saburov thirty years

earlier he wanted to have the door to Constantinople and the

Black Sea bolted from the inside, so that Russia, and no

one else, could open and lock it at pleasure. In vain he

tried to frighten Grey into accepting his proposal by hinting

that a refusal might break up the Anglo-Russian Entente.

"M. Izvolski went on to say that the present was a most

critical moment. It might either consolidate and strengthen

the good relations between England and Russia, or it might

upset them altogether. His own position was at stake, for

he was entirely bound up with the policy of a good under-

standing with England, which he had advocated against all

opposition." 42

Izvolski now began to lose all hope of securing the open-

ing of the Straits to Russian warships after all. If he could

not secure his half of the Buchlau bargain, perhaps it would

still be possible to thwart Aehrenthal, by insisting that the

annexation question be laid before a Conference of the

Signatory Powers. Unless he succeeded in this, he would

have to confess to a humiliating diplomatic defeat and a

severe loss of personal prestige. Already the Pan-Slavs in

Russia had begun to criticize him angrily and bitterly for

being outwitted by Aehrenthal, for allowing Prince Fer-

dinand to assert his independence unaided instead of receiv-

ing it from the hands of the Tsar, and especially for having

sacrificed the Orthodox Slavs of Bosnia to the Romanist
41 Grey's memorandum to Izvolski, Oct. 14, 1908; M.F.R., p. 530;

L.N., II, 458.

42 Grey to Nicolson, Oct. 14, 1908; Grey, I, 178. Cf. also G.P., XXVI,
140, 144, 149 ff., 157 ff., 173 ff., 195 f.
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sovereignty of the Hapsburgs. Even one of his own ambas-

sadors did not hesitate to denounce the folly of his superior

for raising the Straits Question and for his leisurely tour of

Europe after Buchlau instead of returning to Russia; the

whole affair might cause Izvolski's fall from office:

M. Izvolski is undoubtedly very intelligent and highly

cultivated, but unfortunately he is weighed down by exces-

sive irritability and pride. An unfavorable newspaper ar-

ticle costs him his night's rest. In his combinations he is

too subtle and tricky, so that he often docs not see the

forest for the trees and what is simplest. All his arrange-

ments aim only at the enhancement of his personal prestige.

His eventual successor will be M. Charykov.48

Izvolski, therefore, in view of his weakened position at

home and his failure at Paris and London, began to pre-

tend to the Serbians, in spite of what he had just said to

M. Vesnitch in Paris, that he had never approved Austria's

annexation of Bosnia. While still in London he "did not

conceal his vexation at Austria, and protested most energet-

ically against the affirmation that he had given his approval

to the annexation." He declared that he would do every-

thing to protect Serbian interests and secure compensation

for them. 44 Stopping at Berlin on his way home from

Paris and London, he denounced Austria in still stronger

terms to Milovanovitch : "He condemned Austria-Hun-

gary, which has entirely lost the confidence of Russia and

of the Western Powers; he expressed the conviction and

the hope that her action in this affair would be avenged

upon her in a sanguinary manner." But in Berlin he found

that Germany was firm in supporting her Austrian ally's

refusal to submit the annexation to a Conference unless its

43 Remarks of Muraviev at Rome, as reported by Monts to Biilow,

Oct. 25, 1908; G.P., XXVI, 220. On the feeling in St. Petersburg, ibid.,

pp. 121-129, 1G9-173, 199, 235-239, 265 fl.

Report of Gruilch from London, October 13, 1908; Bogitchevitch,

157-161.
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decisions, including recognition of the annexation, were

agreed upon beforehand. In the face of this opposition, he

now feared that he might not be able to thwart Austria,

by insisting on a Conference, without endangering the peace

of Europe. For such a conflict he knew that Russia was

wholly unprepared. Therefore, he told the Serbians to

avoid war for the present, but intimated to them, that, even

if the annexation was allowed to stand, it need not be

regarded as a final settlement:

His [Izvolski's] policy was directed toward a goal,

which, after liquidation of all Russian questions outside of

Europe, would lead Russia on to her European objectives;

Serbia was an important factor in this policy as a center

of the Southern Slavs. Bosnia was, in the opinion of Russia

and Western Europe, now more certainly assured to Serbia

than ever, even if the Annexation should be recognized;

Serbia must take the first steps toward the realization of

her national tasks in the direction of the Sanjak and Bos-

nia. For the present a conflict must be avoided, as the

ground had not yet been prepared either militarily or diplo-

matically. If Serbia brought on a war, Russia would have

to abandon her, and she would be vanquished, although this

would be a very severe blow, not only for the Russian na-

tional sentiment, but also for Russian interests and future

plans.45

In the course of the next four months Izvolski's embar-

rassment increased. But he continued to encourage the

Serbians with the hope that the Annexation Question would

\>e submitted to a Conference of the Powers for revision,

and he tried by every means to accomplish this. But it

became evident that he would not be successful. 46

Meanwhile, excitement in Serbia, as well as among the

45 Report of Milovanovitch from Berlin, Oct. 25, 1908; ibid., 161-163.

On Izvolski's interviews with Bulow in Berlin, see G.P., XXVI, 201-212.

46G.P., XXVI, 247-363; Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 229-272.
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Slavs in Bosnia and Croatia, continued to increase. Demon-
strations of defiance against the Hapsburgs became more

frequent. Austria, on her side, redoubled her repressive

measures and made wholesale arrests of agitators and sus-

pected traitors. In a notorious treason trial some of her

officials even resorted to the use of documents said to have

been forged in the Austrian Embassy at Belgrade, which

the Austrian historian, Friedjung, unfortunately for his

reputation, made the mistake of accepting as genuine. 47

The situation in Bosnia and Serbia became so threaten-

ing for Austria, that in December, 1908, Conrad, the Chief

of Staff, was permitted to carry out "brown mobilization,"

a supposedly inconspicuous measure, by which Austrian

troops were pushed up toward the Serbian frontier without

disturbing the normal peace traffic on the railways. 48 This

threatened a local conflict between Austria and Serbia, which

might easily develop into a general European war. Russia,

however, wished to avoid any armed conflict at this time,

since she was as yet wholly unprepared for a general Euro-

pean war, and would be unable to give Serbia armed sup-

port. Neither could she count on her ally, for France was

not at all inclined to be dragged into a war with Germany
over a Balkan dispute. So Russia was forced to continue

to beg the Serbians to submit for the present, and to trust

in the future. Guchkov, a leading member of the Russian

Duma, told the Serbian Minister in St. Petersburg:

When our armament shall have been completely carried

out, then we shall have our reckoning with Austria-Hun-

gary. Do not begin any war now, for this would be your

47 J. Goricar and L. B. Stowe, The Inside Story oj Austro-Gcrman
Intrigue (New York, 1920), pp. 2S-48; H. Wickham Steed, Through
Thirty Years (London, 1924), I, 308-316; T. G. Masaryk, Dcr Agramcr
Hochverratsjrrozcss und die Annexion von Bosnia und Herzegovina, Vienna,

1909; R. W. Seton-Watson, The Southern Slav Question, and the Hope-
burg Monarchy (London, 1911).

48 Conrad, I, 120.
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suicide; conceal your purposes, and make ready; the days

of your joy will come.49

Izvolski himself was reported as saying:

Serbia will be condemned to a pitiful existence until

the moment for the downfall of Austria arrives. The An-

nexation has brought this moment nearer, and when it

comes, Russia will unroll and solve the Serbian question.

Izvolski sees that the conflict with Germandom is inevitable,

but Russia's policy must be purely Slavophile.50

A few days later Kosutitch noted that these were also

the views of Nicholas II:

The Tsar said the Serbian sky is overcast with black

clouds by this blow. The situation is frightful, becaus

Russia is unprepared for war, and a Russian defeat would

be the ruin of Slavdom. The Tsar has the feeling that a

conflict with Germandom is inevitable in the future, and

that one must prepare for this.51

As the situation on the Serbian frontier became increas-

ingly threatening, and as the Powers, in spite of a lively

interchange of despatches,52 could come to no solution,

Germany finally made a proposal for preserving the peace

of Europe, by helping Izvolski to extricate himself from

his embarrassment, while at the same time satisfying

Austria.

Germany's solution of the crisis

It is often said that Germany instigated Aehrenthal's

annexation program in the interests of the Bagdad Railway

and German imperialism. There is no truth in any such

statement. As a matter of fact, Germany had not even

been given a timely and definite warning by her ally of the

49 Report of Kosutitch, Mar. 3, 1909; Deutschland Schuldigf, p. 112>

so March 10, 1909; ibid., 114.

51 Mar. 19., 1909; ibid., 114; Bogitchevitch, 150-151.

62 GP_ XXVI, 385-770. Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 229-272.
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step she was contemplating, and consequently had no
opportunity to interpose a restraint until it was too late."

When Aehrenthal wrote Biilow on September 26 of the

Buchlau bargain, the German authorities were scattered at

various summer resorts. Biilow was at his villa at Norder-
ney on the North Sea coast

;
Schoen, the Secretary of State

for Foreign Affairs, was at Berchtesgaden in the Bavarian
Tyrol; and the Kaiser was at Rominten in East Prussia.

Aehrenthal's letter of September 26 wandered first to

Norderney, and then, after a delay, to Rominten, so that

the Kaiser did not learn of Austria's intentions until the

very day of annexation. He was highly indignant, not only

that he had been kept so long in ignorance, but also at

Austria's action itself. He regarded it as an unjustifiable

attack on Turkey, which would be disastrous to German
influence in Constantinople, threaten the Bagdad Railway,

and sow suspicion in England against the Central Powers.

"Vienna will be charged with duplicity and not unjustly.

She has duped us in a most unheard-of fashion." "My
personal feelings as an ally have been most seriously

wounded." Such were some of the Kaiser's marginal com-
ments. He feared that this was the beginning of the parti-

tion of Turkey, and might lead to a European war. "If the

Sultan in his necessity declares war, and hoists in Constanti-

nople the green flag of the Holy War, I should not blame
him." "With a policy of this kind Austria will drive us into

a dangerous opposition to Russia." He was afraid that if

58 Aehrenthal had preferred to face even his ally with a fait accompli.
At the end of August, he had twice assured Germany he had no intention
of annexing Bosnia and Herzegovina (G.P., XXVI, 20-22). On Sept.
5, he hinted to Schoen of the bargain he was planning with Izvolski (ibid.,

p. 26 f.)
; but the first definite information was his letter to Biilow of

Sept. 26 (ibid., p. 35), which did not reach the Kaiser at Rominten
until Oct. 6 (ibid., 53, note). The Austrian Ambassador in Paris pre-
sented Emperor Francis Joseph's letter concerning the annexation on
Oct. 3; thus the President of France was officially informed three dayi
before the German Emperor,—a fact which greatly incensed the Kaiser
(ibid., 53, 102).
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Germany did not take a stand against the Annexation,

everyone would believe that it had taken place with his

approval.54 His Ambassador at Constantinople, Baron

Marschall, favored disavowing it, even at the risk of for-

feiting the alliance with Austria. 55

Biilow, however, differed from his master. Convinced

that Germany must support Austria in the Balkans, lest

otherwise the Triple Alliance would be weakened, he be-

lieved that Germany must uphold Austria in the step which

she had taken. If Germany assumed a negative or hesi-

tating attitude in this question, Austria would never forgive

her. Though Germany had a right to be indignant with

Austria for not consulting her earlier, it would do no good

to protest now. Anyway, Russia appeared to have given

her consent. The Kaiser finally accepted Billow's point of

view; but he regretted that "Aehrenthal's frightful stupid-

ity has brought us into this dilemma, so that we are not able

to support and protect our friends, the Turks, when our

ally has outraged them." Biilow thereupon informed

Vienna, that, "In case difficulties or complications arise, our

ally can count upon us," and that Austria was to judge of

what must be done in the Serbian question. 56 But the

Kaiser's feeling of irritation remained; he may have had

the shrewd political instinct to realize that in thus giving

a blank cheque to Austria, he was assuming a risky liability,

and creating a dangerous precedent.

After proclaiming the Annexation of Bosnia and Herze-

govina, Aehrenthal entered into negotiations with the

Young Turks to satisfy their claims. They, like the

Serbians, had at first made a loud outcry against the nulli-

fication of the clauses of the Treaty of Berlin. They as-

sembled troops and attempted to boycott Austrian goods.

But they gradually became convinced that none of the

54G.P., XXVI, 39, 43, 45, 53, 102, 112.

55 G.P., XXVI, 99-103. 56 G.P., XXVI, 106, 160 ff.
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European Powers would actually go to the length of giving

them armed support. In view of Germany's strong stand

behind Austria, the Young Turks finally decided, on Feb-
ruary 26, 1909, to accept the Austrian offer of £t2,500.000

"for the loss of crown property," as a solace for abandoning
their nominal sovereignty over the annexed provinces.57

Turkey's acceptance of Aehrenthal's fait accompli did

not settle the question, however. It only increased the

cmbittcrment of the Serbians. Hitherto they had com-
forted themselves with the hope that Turkish claims, sup-

ported by the Entente Powers, could be used as a basis for

forcing Austria to submit the Annexation to a Conference
of die Powers, at which Serbia could at least secure "au-

tonomy" for the provinces and "compensation" for herself.

These hopes, too, were shattered, as Austria firmly refused

to make concessions.

In the weeks following Austria's settlement with Turkey,

the Great Powers telegraphed urgently back and forth in

an attempt to reconcile Izvolski's promise to the Serbians

that a Conference should be held, and Aehrenthal's steady

refusal to submit the Annexation to revision. No solution

was reached, until Germany finally made a proposal which
eventually relieved the situation. To avert the possibility

of an outbreak of hostilities on the Austro-Serbian frontier,

which seemed imminent, and to bridge the gulf between
Izvolski and Achrcnthal, Germany, on March 14, confi-

dentially proffered mediation to Russia: Germany would
request Austria to invite the Powers to give their formal

sanction by an exchange of notes to the Austro-Turkish

agreement, involving the nullification of Article 25 of the

Treaty of Berlin, provided Russia promised beforehand to

give her sanction, when invited by Austria to do so. 58

This proposal had a threefold advantage: it secured to

Austria a recognition by the Powers of the change in the
57 G.P., XXVI, 415-4SS. 88G.P., XXVI, 669ff.
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status of Bosnia and Herzegovina and deprived Serbia of

legal grounds and hopes that the fait accompli would be

overturned ; it satisfied the Entente demand that no change

in a treaty is valid unless formally recognized by all who

signed it; and, finally, by omitting any reference to a Con-

ference, which might still meet to consider other Balkan

questions which had been raised, it avoided humiliating

Russia by a direct rejection of the Conference idea which

Izvolski had been steadily demanding for months. It let

Izvolski easily out of the embarrassing blind alley into

which he had strayed. Izvolski appreciated the proposal

and was inclined to accept it.
59 He "recognized the con-

ciliatory spirit ... of this effort of Germany to bring about

a relaxation of the tension." 60 But he still hesitated to

give a definite answer, as he continued to cling to the hope

of a Conference and the avoidance of another diplomatic

defeat. His inclination to accept the German proposal,

however, was stimulated by the fact that a Russian Minis-

terial Council on March 17 decided that Russia was totally

unprepared to support Serbia by force of arms, and also

by a hint from Aehrenthal that Austria might publish the

documents relating to the Buchlau bargain and thus prove

the untruthfulness of the assertions which Izvolski had been

spreading everywhere about the origin of the Bosnian affair.

Izvolski instantly begged Biilow to dissuade Aehrenthal

from any such publication, and Germany accordingly did

so, suggesting to Austria that it was better to keep this

trump in one's hand as long as possible.61

59pOUrtales to Biilow, Mar. 16, 18, 20; G.P., XXVI, 673-692.

60 Izvolski to the Russian Ambassadors in London and Paris, March

17, 1909; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 254.

61G.P., XXVI, 668; cf. also pp. 230, 234-246, 308, 668-671, 825. In

order to hide his own mistakes and misrepresentations, Izvolski apparently

did not tell the Tsar the frank truth about the Buchlau bargain; this is

indicated by the contents of the Tsar's letters to William II and Francis

Joseph (Semenoff, Correspondence entre Guillaume II et Nicolas II,

pp. 230-251; Zaionchkovski, "Vokrug anneksii Bosnii i Gertsegoviny" in
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Aehrenthal was willing to accept the German mediation
proposal, provided Serbia made a formal declaration admit-
ting that the annexation of Bosnia had not infringed her
rights and promising in the future to give up her attitude

of opposition and protest.

Meanwhile an internal struggle was going on in Aus-
tria itself as to peace or war with Serbia. Conrad, the

Austrian Chief of Staff, was again urging that the Hapsburg
Monarchy should seize this favorable moment for the "in-

evitable" war with Serbia. By a "preventive war" now,
"the dangerous little viper" could be crushed and rendered
harmless for the future. Russia and Italy, he urged, were
not sufficiently prepared to fight. Rumania was still loyal,

and Turkey was satisfied. France and England might dis-

approve, but would not intervene. No such favorable mo-
ment for the reckoning with Serbia and averting the

"Greater Serbia" danger was likely ever to recur, because,

in the future, Russia and Italy would have reorganized and
increased their armies. Austria mighl then have to reckon

with a war on three fronts. Aehrenthal and Franz Fer-

dinand, on the other hand, had been inclined to peace, but
Biilow feared they might at any time yield to Conrad's

arguments. On March 15 Aehrenthal did, in fact, advise

Francis Joseph to approve the calling up of more troops

and their secret transportation toward the Serbian fron-

tier.
02 The situation was therefore critical. To prevent

an Austro-Serbian outbreak, Biilow believed it was neces-

sary to press his mediation proposal and secure a definite

answer from Izvolski. On March 21, he sent instructions

to this effect to the German Ambassador at St. Petersburg:

Kra.myi Arkhiv, X, 41-53, partly translated in Die Kriegsschuldjrage, TV,

238-250, April, 1926), and also by the fact that Izvolski removed the
Buchlau papers from the Russian archives (statement of Zinoviev, a For-
eign Office secretary, to the French Ambassador, Aug. 26, 1912; Georges
Louis, CarncLs, II, 30). See also below, note 66.

c-' Conrad, I. 13S-157.
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Say to M. Izvolski that we learn with satisfaction that

he recognizes the friendly spirit of our proposal and seems

inclined to accept it . . . and that we expect an answer-

yes or no; we must regard any evasive, conditional or un-

clear answer as a refusal. We should then draw back and

let things take their course. The responsibility for further

events would then fall exclusively on M. Izvolski, after

we had made a last sincere effort to help him clear up the

situation in a way which he could accept.63

By this Izvolski understood that he was "placed before

the following alternatives: either an immediate regulation

of the annexation question by an exchange of notes, or the

invasion of Serbia." 64 He consulted the Tsar and next

day gave the formal affirmative answer desired. The Tsar

had already telegraphed the Kaiser that he was heartily

pleased that Germany's proposal had made a peaceful com-

promise possible.05

Such were the events which soon became distorted into

the legend that Germany had threatened Russia with force

and humiliated her with an ultimatum. The legend was

exploited in the Russian Press, spread in England by Sir

Arthur Nicolson, and used by Izvolski as a means of saving

his face before his critics in Russia.66 But ,it was not an

ultimatum. It was an attempt on Germany's part to bridge

63Biilow to Pourtales, Mar. 21, 1909; G.P., XXVI, 693 ff. Though

Biilow signed this note, it was Kiderlen-Wachter, who composed it and

gave it its friendly but decisive tone; see E. Jackh, Kiderlen-Wachter, der

Staatsmann und Mensch (Berlin, 1925), II, 26-29.

64 Izvolski to the Russian Ambassadors in London and Paris, March

23, 1909; Siebert-Schreiner, 259 ff.

65 Tsar to Kaiser, Mar. 22, 1909; G.P., XXVI, 700.

66 For the long controversy which arose over the nature of Germany's

action, see G.P., XXVI, 693 note, and 777-855 passim. Bulow proposed to

publish the documents to set the matter in its true light and counteract

the legend of a German threat of force. The proposal was favored by

Charykov, the Acting Minister during Izvolski's absence; but it was

abandoned upon Izvolski's return, on account of his opposition to making

documents public which would have shown how he and the Pan-Slav

Press misrepresented things {ibid., pp. 788-793, 796-801, 811, 814).
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the gulf between Russia and Austria and prevent outbreak

of war between Serbia and Austria. Sir Edward Grey had

meanwhile come forward with a similar mediation formula

and told Austria in language almost identical with that of

Biiluw to Russia, that, "if this fails, he would draw back

and let things take their course." 07

After Russia had accepted Germany's proposal, England,

France and Italy soon followed suit. Upon Austria's invi-

tation the Powers accordingly exchanged notes, giving a

belated sanction to the unilateral action by which Aehren-

thal had presumed to nullify the solemn clause of a Euro-

pean treaty.

Before the news of Russia's yielding had reached Vienna,

or in spite of it, the war party had gotten the upper hand.

A Ministerial Council of March 29 finally decided to order

"Yellow Mobilization" or "Mobilization B" (Balkans).

This involved the full mobilization of five of the total

fifteen army corps which at that time composed the Austro-

Hungarian army. It was thus a "partial mobilization" for

the case of a war against Serbia and Montenegro only, but

was complete for the five corps involved. Conrad left the

Council with the conviction that .now, at last, the reckoning

with Serbia, which he had so often urged, was about to

begin. 08

Serbia, however, finally heeded the warnings she had

been receiving from Russia, to avoid war for the present

and to trust to the future. She decided at the eleventh

hour to yield to the advice of the Powers. On March 31,

1909, she made at Vienna the formal declaration which had

been agreed upon by Aehrenthal and Sir Fairfax Cartwright,

the English Ambassador at Vienna, in the following terms-

OTMettcrnich to Bulow, Mar. 22, 1909; G.P., XXVI, 701.

6 8 Conrad, I, 162; for the technical mobilization measures, I, 116 ff,

160, 610 ff.
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Serbia recognizes that she has not been affected in her

rights by the fait accompli created in Bosnia, and that con-

sequently she will conform to the decisions that the Powers

may take in regard to Article 25 of the Treaty of Berlin.

In deference to the advice of the Great Powers, Serbia

undertakes to renounce the attitude of protest and opposi-

tion which she has adopted since last autumn with regard

to the Annexation. She undertakes, moreover, to modify

the direction of her present policy toward Austria-Hun-

gary, and to live in future on good neighborly terms with

the latter.

In conformity with these declarations and with confi-

dence in the peaceful intentions of Austria-Hungary, Serbia

will replace her army, as far as concerns its organization

and the location and number of the troops, to the state in

which it was in the spring of 1908. She will disarm and dis-

band the volunteers and irregular forces and prevent the

formation of new irregular corps on her territory.69

Within the next few weeks the Serbian and Austrian

armies were demobilized and the Annexation Crisis was

relieved. But, as will be seen later, the Serbians, encour-

aged by Russia, did not live up to the promises which they

had been forced to give, and Conrad repeatedly complained

later that Germany had prevented Austria in 1909 from

settling the Serbian danger in the only permanently satis-

factory way, viz., by the use of force.

THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE BOSNIAN CRISIS

We have dealt in some detail with these events, because

the effects of the Annexation Crisis continued to be felt

long afterwards,70 and are to be counted among the causes

of the War of 1914. In 1909, to be sure, Aehrenthal seemed

69 GP., XXVI, 731 ; cf. Austrian Red Book of 1914, no. 7.

70 For interesting contemporary comment on the immediate effects

of the Bosnian Crisis, see G.P., XXVI, 773-871.

/
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to have achieved a diplomatic victory as brilliant for Aus-

tria, as it was humiliating for Russia and Serbia. He was

congratulated on his success from all sides, and was re-

warded with the title of Count. It was, however, one of

those pyrrhic victories, which seem brilliant at the moment,

but which bring more misfortune than success, if looked

at from a longer perspective. Aehrenthal had, indeed,

secured a clearer legal title to Bosnia, He had shown that

the Hapsburg Monarchy was still able to pursue a vigorous

and independent policy of its own, and gain the prestige

which comes with a successful diplomatic move. But, on

the other hand, he had caused Europe to distrust the

methods of Austrian diplomacy, and incurred the odium of

an unjustifiable breach of a solemn treaty. This fact was
hardly obscured by the exchange of notes with which the

Powers ultimately sanctioned his illegal nullification of

treaty stipulations. He had also forced from Serbia a

humiliating declaration, which he hoped would put an end

to the "Greater Serbia" propaganda. But such a humilia-

tion of one nation by another is hardly ever statesmanlike

or really successful in achieving its aim. On the contrary,

it usually leaves a bitter sting, which is likely to give

trouble later. Serbia did not, in fact, live up to her promise

to live on good neighborly terms with Austria. She allowed

her soil to be the hearth from which a subversive agitation

was spread, encouraging disloyalty and treason among the

Bosnians and other Slav subjects of the Hapsburg Mon-
archy. Aehrenthal was soon to find that he had failed

in the main purpose for which he had undertaken Annexa-

tion—the strengthening of the Austrian hold on Bosnia and

Herzegovina. He had achieved a momentary success at

the cost of future difficulties. "I hope our action will suc-

ceed," he had said to the German Ambassador at the be-

ginning of the crisis; "if not, I am naturally done for, but

in that case, at least, we shall have met defeat with honor;
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otherwise we should have continued to sink miserably step

by step." 71

Germany, likewise, incurred some of the suspicion and

odium which fell upon her ally. This distrust and antago-

nism was to be found, however, much more among the

Entente Powers, particularly in Russia and England, than,

as one might have expected, in Serbia.72 Though Germany

had not actually had definite foreknowledge of Aehrenthal's

Annexation step, nor encouraged him to take it, the Powers

—and many historians—were hardly convinced by Ger-

many's assertions, at the time and later, as to the real facts.

They naturally suspected, from the way in which Berlin

firmly supported Vienna during the whole crisis, that Ger-

many was Austria's accomplice from the outset and thor-

oughly approved of her action.73 Germany's effort to find

a solution, which wrould sanction Austria's fait accompli,

and at the same time offer Izvolski a line of retreat from a

position which Russians more sensible than he realized was

untenable, was twisted into a "threat of force" or "ulti-

matum." It was represented as a brutal German attempt

71 Brandenburg, p. 287.

72 Stanojevitch, pp. 36-42, shows that the Serbians felt no particular

animus against Germany during the following years. This was owing
in part to the greatly increased trade relations between the two countries

during and after the "Pig War." It may have been also owing partly to

Serbia's realization that Germany often used her influence to restrain

Austria from an aggressive Balkan policy. Though Izvolski's bitter hatred

was mainly directed against Aehrenthal, that of the Russian people, led

by the Pan-Slav Press, was henceforth directed more against Germany;
see Pourtales' reports, Mar.-Sept. 1909; G.P., XXVI, 777-858. The
English Government's attitude was colored by the strongly Russophil

attitude of Sir Arthur Nicolson, British Ambassador to Russia, who was
soon to become permanent Under-Secretary in the British Foreign Office

and to exert a strong pro-Russian influence on Sir Edward Grey; cj.

Grey, I, 182, 304 ff.; and G. P., XXVI, 732, note; 738 ff., 866.

73 "We have to deal with an action which permits of no contra-

diction, which has been agreed upon between Vienna and Berlin," tele*

graphed Izvolski to the Russian ambassadors in London and Paris

on Mar. 23, 1909, in reporting the last stage of the crisis; Siebert
Schreiner, p. 260.



39C THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

to humiliate Russia and drive a wedge into the Triple

Entente by forcing Russia to abandon the Entente with

England in favor of some new agreement between the three

Eastern Emperors. It was set down as a new evidence of

the brutality of Germany's diplomatic methods. Unfor-

tunately for Germany, confirmation seemed to be given to

this feeling by Emperor William's vainglorious and tactless

speech, when on a visit to Vienna in 1910, he proclaimed to

the world that he had stood by his ally "in shining armor."

The effect of the whole episode on the third partner in

the Triple Alliance was thoroughly unfortunate for the

Central Powers. Italy had not been fully consulted before-

hand by her ally, nor had she been able to take any impor-

tant part in the solution of the crisis. Italian pride had

been offended, and Italian ambitions seemed threatened by

Austria's further grip upon the Balkan Peninsula. The

latent emotional hatred of Austria in Italian hearts was

rekindled by a feeling of military and naval inferiority at

the sight of Austrian troops dominating the frontiers, the

fortifications of Pola, and the contemplated construction of

Austrian Dreadnoughts. The tradition of Venetian domi-

nation in the Adriatic seemed threatened by Aehrenthal*s

more aggressive policies. Hitherto Italian hopes had been

protected by the status quo principle of quicta non movere,

but Austria's action looked like an alarming departure from

it. To these fears were added the perennial irredentist

friction, the fact that Austria was the only Power which had

not answered the invitation for the International Exposi-

tion planned for 1911, and the bitter memories revived by
the semi-centennial celebrations of the Wars of 1859. This

bitter feeling found vent in a passionate and loudly ap-

plauded oration by ex-Premier Fortis: "There is only one

Power with whom Italy sees a possibility of conflict, and

that, I regret to say, is our ally. The Government must
in,vite the nation to new sacrifices to adjust our military
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forces to the needs of the situation." Italy's doubts of the

value of the Triple Alliance to herself were increased. She

was quite ready a few months later to sign with Russia the

secret agreement of Racconigi. This aimed at Russo-Italian

diplomatic cooperation against Austria in the Near East,

and marked another mile-stone in Italy's shift from the

Triple Alliance to the Triple Entente.74

It was in Russia, however, that the Bosnian Crisis had

the most serious effects. The Pan-Slav Press was excited

to a long and violent campaign against Germany, the burden

whereof was that a war between Slavdom and Teutondom

was "inevitable," and that Russia must consequently hasten

to make preparations for it. And, in fact, it was shortly

after this that Russia undertook the sweeping reorganization

and increase of her army and navy which was still in

progress in 1914. To Izvolski, personally, this diplomatic

defeat, which he had to some extent brought upon himself,

was the most bitter experience of his life. It affected his

behavior all the rest of his days, filling him with a desire

for revenge and for the recovery of lost personal prestige.

The bitterness which he felt is hardly conveyed in the

formal despatch in which he announced to his Ambassadors

in Paris and London that he had been forced to accept the

German solution of the crisis. The storm of criticism to

which he was subjected by the Pan-Slav elements in Russia

was one of the reasons which forced him to give up his posi-

tion of Minister of Foreign Affairs in September, 1910, and

take in exchange the Russian Ambassadorship in Paris.75

There he was henceforth in a position to devote his untir-

ing energy and wily intrigues to knitting together more

closely Russia's bonds with France and England. He now

realized that only by their support and by increased arma-

74G.P., XXVI, 793 ff., 819 ff.; XXVII, 397-431.

75G.P., XXVI, 777-793, 796-817, 823-828, 834-810, 853-858, 971; see

also supra, notes 31, 61, 66.
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ments could he avert another such diplomatic defeat, or, if

need be, risk a decision by war. His efforts to accomplish

these aims can be traced in detail in recently published

documents,70 as has been briefly indicated in the preceding

chapter.

The prevailing feeling among Russian diplomats, after

the Annexation Crisis, was characteristically expressed by

the Russian.Ambassador in Paris:

Foreseeing the further development of the European

situation, many newspapers come to the conclusion that pre-

cisely as Germany and Austria have now achieved a bril-

liant victory, so must the two Western Powers, together

with Russia, now pay their attention to the systematic

development of their forces in order to be able, once they

arc in a position not to fear a challenge of the Triple Al-

liance—and in this case Italy would separate herself from

the Triple Alliance—to set up on their part demands which

would restore the political balance which has now been dis-

placed in favor of Germany and Austria. . . . All these

circumstances show how necessary it is for us to bind our-

selves still more closely to France and England in order

to oppose in common the further penetration of Germany
and Austria in the Balkans.

Such an opposition need not, under all circumstances,

lead to an armed conflict with the Triple Alliance. Just as

Austria, supported by Germany, concentrated her fighting

forces and threatened Serbia without listening to the just

demands of Europe, so might we, too, in agreement with

France and England, after our military strength will have

been re-established, force Austria-Hungary in a favorable

moment to give up her Balkan plans and to restore to the

now subjugated Serbians their freedom of action. The ex-

perience of the last crisis has proved that if military meas-

76 GP., XXVII-XXXVII; Siebert-Schreiner; M.F.R.: L.N.; Stieve;

and in the works of Barnes, Bogitchoviteh, Brandenburg, Churchill. Ewart.

Fabre-Luce, Gooch, Grey, Judet, Montgclas, Poincare, Schmitt, Stieve, and
Valentin.
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ures are already prepared in times of peace, diplomatic

questions may all the easier be solved by threats and the

exercise of strong pressure. The art of diplomacy consists

in selecting the favorable moment, and in utilizing a

favorable general situation, so that, conscious of one's own
strength, one may hold out to the end. Thus we shall un-

doubtedly be able to weaken the unfavorable impression

which the failure of our policy has now produced and in this

way we will gradually succeed in liberating the kindred

Balkan States from the Austro-German influence.77

To the Serbians Izvolski continued to give secret en-

couragement, urging them to prepare for a happier future

in wrhich they could count upon Russian support to achieve

their Jugo-Slav ambitions. He never really accepted the

annexation of Bosnia and Herzegovina as a final settle-

ment, but regarded it, and encouraged the Serbians to

regard it, as a Serbian Alsace-Lorraine. For the liberation

of these provinces all Serbs, both in Serbia and Austria-

Hungary, should continue to make secret preparations.

This was the policy which inspired his secret negotiations

with Italy and Bulgaria in October and December, 1909,

and which ultimately led to the formation of the Balkan

League of 1912. All of these contemplated the possibility

of changes in the Balkans which might ultimately lead to

that triumph of Slavdom over Germandom which the Tsar

and his Ministers had assured the Serbians was "inevita-

ble." 78 These encouraging assurances from Russia for the

future realization of the "Greater Serbia" ambitions partly

explain Serbia's failure to keep the promises made to Aus-

tria at the close of the Bosnian Crisis. That Serbia from

the very outset had no serious intention of living up to her

new promises, but intended merely to shift the basis and

"Nelidov to Izvolski, Mar. 19/Apr. 1, 1909; Siebert-Schreiner. 266-

268. Nelidov, of course, depended on his dispatches from Izvolski for

his version of the Bosnian Crisis.

78 See above, at notes 49-51.



400 THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

method of her secret underground campaign against Aus-

tria, is seen from the following illuminating document,

drawn up only a few days after the promises of March 31

were solemnly made:

Instructions of the Royal Serbian Government of April

17, 1909, to the Serbian Minister in Vienna concerning the

continuation of the Great Serbia propaganda in Austria-

Hungary.

The Royal Serbian Government, whose foreign policy

embraces the interests of all Scrbdom, trusting in the sup-

port of England, France and Russia, is firmly determined

to await the moment when Serbia can with the best pros-

pects of success proceed to the realization of her legitimate

interests in the Balkans and in the whole Slavic South. Till

then the Royal Government wishes to maintain with Vienna

merely purely routine and scrupulously correct relations,

without any political agreement of any kind. For this

reason the Government will undertake no step to promote

a renewal of the commercial treaty with the Monarchy;

for this reason also, it must establish its national activity

in the territory of the Hapsburg Crown Lands on new bases.

[The Instructions then warn the officials of the Serbian

Legation and consulates in Austria-Hungary that, hence-

forth, in contrast to the past, they must refrain from all

active and personal participation in national Serbian propa-

ganda, and must wipe out all traces of such activities of the

Serbian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, so that all corres-

pondence which had been carried on hitherto with political

agents in Austria-Hungary should definitely cease. After

April 28th, the Serbian Legation and consulates in Austria-

Hungary were no longer to be furnished with funds for these

purposes, except 250,000 dinars in connection with the Agram
treason trial, and 4,000 dinars for "influencing" the Austro-

Hungarian Press. Funds for obtaining military informa-

tion will no longer be needed by the Serbian Legation in

Vienna, because henceforth the necessary sums for this

will be placed at the disposal of the Serbian Ministry of War
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and its agents. The Instructions then go on to explain the

secret new basis on which the "Greater Serbia" propaganda is

henceforth to be carried on.]

In order that the foreign policy of the Royal Govern-

ment, which embraces the whole of Serbdom, may remain

intact, in spite of the above mentioned renunciation of all

direct activity in Austria-Hungary, the Royal Government

has placed its national propaganda in the Slavic South

under the Pan-Slav national propaganda; its organization

will receive its definite form in fraternal Russia July 1

of this year. Through a backing of this kind, the support

of the all-powerful Government of the Russian Empire

will be assured for our aspirations in decisive questions.

This organization will be provided with considerable means.

A new focus [of agitation] is being projected in the fraternal

Czech Kingdom, around which can rally all those who wish

to seek, or must seek, the salvation of their national in-

dividuality in the triumph of the Pan-Slav idea.

So far as a revolutionary propaganda appears neces-

sary it is to be cared for henceforth from St. Petersburg

and from golden Prague. We shall also promote this ac-

tivity through connections which in the future it will also

be the business of the General Staff to maintain.79

That Serbia counted confidently on Russian assistance

in seizing Bosnia and Herzegovina by force in the future is

further indicated by a secret circular emanating from the

executive committee of a Pan-Slav Conference in St. Peters-

burg a few weeks later. It is addressed to the Slav organiza-

tions in the Balkans and in summary is as follows : Russia is

on the point of reorganizing her army and reforming her in-

ternal administration. Until this double work of consolida-

tion is completed, the Slav peoples must have patience and
continue to trust in Russia. The Serb delegates at the Slav

Conference in St. Petersburg and Moscow have been able

to Quoted by Conrad, I, 181. For a summary of this or a similar

document, see G.P., XXVI, 776 f.
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to convince themselves on the spot that all classes of Rus-

sian society are inspired with the desire to have Russia

able to take up energetically her mission as the Protectress

of the Slav world. Serbia and Montenegro must hold them-

selves ready to complete their union by the occupation of

Novi Bazar and to invade Bosnia and Herzegovina. Bul-

garia must be ready to seize the territories promised to her

in the Treaty of St. Stefano and extend herself to the gates

of Constantinople. The Young Turk regime cannot last

much longer and the liquidation of Turkey is much nearer

than one might suppose. This will be the moment for

Russia, in union with the other Slav peoples, to realize Slav

ideals and prevent Austria and Germany from exploiting

Turkey to their own advantage. Meanwhile all Slav peo-

ples must unite in solidarity and work especially to increase

their economic strength. They must shut out German
commerce and industry from their territories by a radical

boycott. As for the money needed by the Slavs of the

Balkans for their military preparations, Russia will furnish

this directly or procure it with the help of France and Eng-

land. Certainly within two or three years at the most, the

time will come when the Slav World under Russian leader-

ship must strike the great blow. 80

8o Brockdorff-Rantzau, German Charge d'Affaires in Vienna to Beth-

mann, July 25, 1909; G.P., XXVI, 811 f. For Russian efforts to provide

financial aid, both directly and by means of loans from France, to provide

the Balkan states with munitions of war, see L.N., I, 283 ff.; II, 155 ff

,

233 f, 212 f., 202 f.; Stieve, Nos. 2S0, 2S3, 317, 310, 1070, 10S2, 1101, 11G9,

1201, 1205, 1217-S, 1223-4, 1233-5, 1215-1250, 1322, 132S, 1330, 1335, 1346.

1318, 1356, 1363, 1365, 1374; Siebcrt-Schreincr pp. 312, 339 ff., 451 ff.;

Poincare, II, 33, 49 ff.

French investments, including both Government loans and private

banking investments, in the Balkan states (not including Turkey) rose from

920 million francs in 1902 to 3,130 million in 1914, an increase of 242%;
her investments in Russia rose from 6,900 million in 1902 to 11,300 in

1914, an increase of 63%; while French total foreign investments, even

including her own colonics, rose from 20.860 million in 1902 to 38.230

in 1914, an increase of only 83% ;
figures for 1902' from Bulletin de Sta-

tistique ct de Legislation Comparce, Oct. 1902; figures for 1914 from

H. G. Moulton The French Debt Problem (N. Y., 1925), p. 20. As French
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It was this encouragement to Serbia, secretly on the part

of the Russian Government and more or less openly by the

Pan-Slav Press, which helped to stimulate the violent na-

tionalist agitation among the Serbs both in Serbia and

Bosnia and also among the Croats. It helped further to

unsettle the unbalanced minds of pro-Serb youths who
carried out a series of attempts to assassinate Austrian

officials which finally culminated in the tragic assassination

of the Austrian Archduke at Sarajevo and thus led directly

to the World War. Austrian Ministers were more or less

aware of this encouragement and suspected that Russia

rather than Serbia was the root of the Austro-Serbian

antagonism.

From the formal and external point of view, however,

Austro-Serbian relations appeared to be improved after

Serbia's declaration of March 31, 1909, that she would

henceforth live on proper friendly terms with the Dual Mon-
archy. Austrian and Serbian troops were demobilized on

both sides of the frontier. Serbian propagandist agitation

against the Dual Monarchy ceased to be open and public,

but it did not become less dangerous because it was secretly

taken over by Serbian military officers and driven under-

ground. The Austro-Serbian antagonism remained almost

as keen as before on both sides of the frontier. While the

"Narodna Odbrana," and later the "Black Hand," carried

on the secret subversive work of Serbian agitation, the

Austrian authorities on their part did their full share in

keeping the wound open, and in stirring Serb hatred by

wholesale arrests of suspected agitators in Austria-Hungary.

The further story of this antagonism and of the Archduke's

assassination will be taken up later.

foreign loans were very closely connected with French foreign policy,

these figures give some indication of the rapid increase of French political

interest in the Balkans; they help explain the fact that M. Poincare

was often more pro-Serbian than M. Sazonov himself, and very determined

in 1914 to see that Serbia received Entente support against Austria.
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The three years from 1909 to 1912—from the end of the

Annexation Crisis to the completion of the Balkan Leagu©
—were free from acute conflicts over Balkan problem?

(except for the effects of Italy's Tripolitan War against

Turkey). During these years Austria was busy consoli-

dating her position in the newly annexed provinces. She
had renounced her project for an extension of her railway

system from Bosnia clown the Vardar Valley to Salonica,

and had withdrawn her military garrisons from the Sanjak

of Novi Bazar, as a concession to Serbian and Montenegrin
(and Russo-Italian) desires.

In Germany, Billow resigned as Chancellor in July.

1909, for reasons which have already been indicated above,

and was succeeded by Bethmann-Hollweg, an old personal

friend of William II's university days at Bonn.

The new Chancellor lacked diplomatic experience and
was devoid of the highest qualities of statesmanship. He
possessed none of the happy literary facility and cleverness

of speech, by which Billow had been able to gloss over the

mistakes of his neglected opportunities and to represent

Germany's situation in a more rosy light than was war-

ranted by the facts.
sl But Bethmann possessed much

native shrewdness, a high sense of honor and honesty, and

a sincere desire to preserve the peace of Europe. During

the Tsar's visit to Potsdam in November, 1910, he assured

Sazonov, the new Russian Minister of Foreign Affairs, that

if Austria should pursue expansionist plans, which he be-

lieved would not be the case, Germany was neither "bound

81 This literary facility and optimism, which characterized Billow's

Reichstag speeches, is also reflected in his Deutsche Polilik (1913, re-

vised ed., 1916), intended as a defense of his administration. The best
and severest indictment of it is by J. Haller, Die Acra Billow (Berlin,

1922). Bethmann's more simple honesty and lack of finesse is seen in his

Betrachtun-gcn zum Wcltkriegc (2 vols., Berlin, 1919-1921). Severe criti-

cisms of his policy arc to be found in the writings of Tirpitz and in H.
von Licbig, Die Polilik von Bethmann Hollwcos (3rd ed.. Munich, 1919>.
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nor inclined to support her." Sazonov on his side declared

that he desired the maintenance of Turkey, and sought to

give the impression that Russia's interests were again being

directed toward Asia and the Far East. On this under-

standing, mutually advantageous arrangements were then

agreed upon in regard to Persia and the Bagdad Railway.

Bethmann's reserved attitude toward Austria, which was

in accord with the originally defensive character of the

Austro-German treaty of 1879 and Bismarckian traditions,

coincided with the views of the German Ambassador at

Vienna, who, a year after the Annexation Crisis, wrote

:

Germany is not a Balkan Power. During the past year,

for reasons of higher policy, we threw the weight of our

political influence into the scales in favor of Austria. In

my opinion we should do well to prevent, as far as possible,

a repetition of this procedure. For the future, we ought to

preserve a free hand for ourselves, and allow ourselves to be

drawn as little as possible into Balkan questions, so that we

shall be able at the psychological moment to choose our

policy freely or to use it as profitably as possible.82

Henceforth, until July, 1914, Germany, while still as-

suring Austria of her readiness to fulfil her obligations as

an ally, repeatedly exercised a restraining influence on

Austria, especially during the Balkan Wars, in the interests

of the peace of Europe. This was so much the case that

Vienna officials, notably the Austrian Chief of Staff, often

felt exasperated at the lack of support from Berlin in

Balkan affairs. In spite of the generally good understand-

ing between the heads of the German and Austrian army
staffs, Moltke and Conrad, there was more friction between

the two allies than has generally been supposed. Occasion-

ally, Bethmann felt it necessary to renew promises to sup-

port policies which Austria deemed essential for her vital

82 Tschirschky to Zimmermann, May 1, 1910; G.P., XXVII, 537.
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interests in the Balkans, because he would otherwise have

caused such dissatisfaction at the Ballplatz as to have

seriously weakened the alliance which still remained the

corner-stone of German foreign policy. But much more

often his instructions to the German Ambassador in Vienna

were in the direction of holding back Austria from taking

action against Serbia, from antagonizing Russia, and from

other reckless measures. Sometimes Austria heeded the

advice, and sometimes she did not. But to represent Ger-

many as exercising a complete control over her ally, as so

many writers have done, is altogether incorrect. It was not

until after the World War began and Austria exhibited such

military weakness and failure that Germany gradually

assumed that complete control over her ally's destiny which

popular opinion ordinarily attributes to her.83

THE RACCONIGI BARGAIN OF OCTOBER, 1909

While Germany was thus working, on the whole, to

restrain Austria and lessen the tension in the Balkans,

Russia was actively preparing for the "inevitable" conflict

between Slavdom and Germandom, which would bring

about the final realization of Russia's historic mission in

regard to Constantinople and the Straits, and incidentally

the realization of Serbia's ambition for a "Greater Serbia"

at Austria's expense. With this in view, Izvolski arranged

that the Tsar should visit Victor Emmanuel at the castle

of Racconigi, south of Turin, in October, 1909. He indi-

83 On Austro-German relations, 1909-1914, see C P., XXVII-XXXVII.
passim; Pribram, pp. 268-29S; Brandenburg, pp. 315 ff., 337 ff., 362 ff. For
some examples of Germany's restraint upon Austria or non-support of

her policies, see for instance, Conrad's comments in regard to Serbia (III,

77, 78, 164-9. 258, 404 , 595-S), Albania (III, 63-64. 77, 108, 136. 268-9. 323.

5S6), Rumania (429-432, 671), Montenegro (III, 166-7, 318-9), Turkey (III,

27. 644-5), the preservation of peace (78-S1, 102. 239), and in general (III.

407, 410, 417, 421, 429, 627-8, 632, 729). For the interesting but opposing
views of Jagow and Lichnowsky in July, 1914, in regard to the Austro-

Cerman alliance, see K.D.. 62, 72.
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cated his resentment over the Annexation by ostentatiously-

making a wide detour to avoid stepping on Austrian soil,

and the fact was widely commented upon in the Press every-

where.84 The important secret Russo-Italian agreement

signed here by Izvolski and Tittoni begins with the usual

pious wish for the preservation of the status quo in the

Balkans, but goes on to state that, if this should prove

impossible, as both Powers expected, they would agree to

support the principle of nationality in the development of

the Balkan states. The important clauses were the 4th

and 5th

:

4. If Russia and Italy wish to make agreements con-

cerning the European East with a Third Power, beyond

those which exist at present, each will do it only with the

participation of the other.

5. Italy and Russia engage themselves to regard with

benevolence, the one Russia's interests in the question of

the Straits, the other Italian interests in Tripoli and

Cyrenaica.85

These clauses ran so counter to Izvolski's and Tittoni's

solemn public and private assurances that they were kept

even more closely secret than was the case with most secret

treaties. Izvolski does not appear to have informed the

Russian Ambassadors in Paris and London of their exact

nature at once. 86 He did not even tell M. Poincare until

after the outbreak of the Balkan War three years later, and

even then he merely read the text aloud on the promise

that the French Premier would not reveal it to the Cabinet

84(7/. G.P., XXVII, 403 ff, 425; Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 148, 152. For
the earlier negotiations between Izvolski and Tittoni, see above at note 34.

85M.F.R., p. 298; L.N., I, 358; Stieve, II, 363; KSF., IV, 415-417

(June, 1926).

86 Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 146-177, contains many telegrams concerning

the Racconigi meeting, but they do not reveal the essential character of

the agreement until Italy seized Tripoli in 1911; then the London Am-
bassador was told of the 5th clause (p. 158), and Izvolski reminded
Tittoni "not to forget Italy's obligations in regard to our claims to the

Turkish Straits" (p. 161).



408 THE ORIGIN'S OF THE WORLD WAR

or even his closest collaborators. M. Poincare nevertheless

at once informed his colleagues of its contents, though he

"did not read them the text of the agreement, because it

had not been handed to him." 87

M. Tittoni similarly was careful that no inkling of it

should reach Germany or Austria though they were Italy's

allies. With characteristic duplicity, at the same time he

was promising to make no agreements concerning the

Balkans without Russia's participation, Tittoni was actu-

ally negotiating an agreement with Austria on the very

subject. He had begun the negotiations in the preceding

June, by proposing to Austria "an agreement that neither

of the two states without the knowledge of the other should

make an agreement concerning the Balkans with a third

state." 88 A week before the Racconigi meeting Tittoni

wished to add more definitely that Italy and Austria should

"agree not to conclude agreements with Russia without the

participation of one another." 89 Then he signed the Rac-

conigi agreements. A few days later, nevertheless, Italy

signed an agreement with Austria, behind Russia's back

and in total disregard of the Racconigi promise, embodying

essentially the proposals which Tittoni had been negotiating

since June.00 To such deceit toward both Russia and Aus-

tria did Italian ambitions for Balkan and African territory

lead M. Tittoni and the Italian Government! Racconigi

betrays the same morality on Italy's part as in the agree-

ments with France in 1902.

Notwithstanding the extreme secrecy in which Izvolski

and Tittoni wrapped their arrangement, rumors and sus-

picions of what they had done were widespread. By Italy

and the Entente Powers, the meeting of Nicholas II and

Victor Emmanuel was hailed with enthusiasm. The British

87 Poincare, II, 365. 88 G.P., XXVII, 319. 89 G.P., XXVII, 334.

»0 Austro-Italian Agreement of Nov. 30. 1909. defining "Art. VII" of

the Triple Alliance Treaty; Pribram, 99 f G.P., XXVII, 336.
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Under-Secretary, Sir Charles Hardinge, expressed to the

Russian Charge d'Affaires his "intense satisfaction," saying

it "was most opportune and of great importance not only

to Russia, England and France, but even more so to Italy.

. . . He [Hardinge] shares the opinion of a part of the

European Press regarding the strange position which Italy

has assumed in respect to the grouping of the Powers.

Chiefly in the event of complications in the Near East,

Italy would either have to be untrue to her ally or act

counter to her own national interests. These words confirm

the deep impression made on Government circles here [in

London] by the meeting at Racconigi; they seem to incline

to the belief that Italy in the future will stand closer to the

Entente than to the Triple Alliance." 91 Germany, Austria

and Turkey were correspondingly alarmed, but they were

given the solemn but lying assurance that nothing had been

agreed except the laudable desire of Italy and Russia to

preserve the status quo in the Balkans and to allow the

Balkan states their normal and peaceful development.92

The Racconigi Agreement, which contemplated the pos-

sible partition of Turkey and the satisfying of Russia's

ambitions in regard to the Straits, also served admirably

another of Izvolski's purposes—that of tending to draw Italy

away from the side of the Triple Alliance to that of the

Triple Entente, or at least of neutralizing Italy as a "dead-

weight" in the Triple Alliance. 93 It played henceforth an

important part in Izvolski's Balkan policy no less than in

Tittoni's African ambitions. It was further consolidated

by the very intimate relations between the two when they

were later Ambassadors in Paris together, in close touch

with M. Poincare.94

91 Siebert-Schreiner, p. 148 f.

32 Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 149-152. G.P., XXVII, 409-431, passim.

93 G.P., XXVII, 411, 421.

94 Cf. M.F.R., L.N., and Stieve, passim; Judet, Georges Louis, p. 150 ff,

173; Poincare, I, 32 ff., 336 ff.; II, 363 ff.
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Along with his Racconigi policy, Izvolski undertook

to consolidate the Balkan States into a solid block under

Russian guidance and protection. Hitherto the greatest

obstacle to harmonious action by the mutually jealous

Balkan Powers had been the fact that Serbia, Bulgaria,

and Greece all made claims to the greater part of Mace-
donia, which was still in constant ferment under Turkish

misrule. This obstacle could be overcome if Serbia aban-

doned some of her claim to Macedonia in favor of Bulgaria,

and was promised compensation out of territories belonging

to the Hapsburg Monarchy, when this should finally be

disrupted, either by the death of the aged Emperor Francis

Joseph,05 or by the disintegrating influence of the restless

nationalities under Hapsburg rule. Accordingly, in the

summer and fall of 1909 Izvolski endeavored to bring about

a rapprochement between Serbia and Bulgaria in the com-

mon interests of Slavdom, but Balkan jealousies and sus-

picions were too strong to permit success to these first

efforts, and the negotiations came to a standstill.00

At Constantinople an active newly-arrived Russian Am-
bassador, Charykov, appeared to be working for an entente

or league between Turkey and the Balkan States, which

might greatly increase Russia's influence in the Balkans and

form a barrier to "the advance of Germanism." 07 But

Charykov had little chance of success with the Turks, who
were suspicious of Bulgaria, Serbia, and Greece, all of whom
coveted Turkish territory. With Bulgaria, however, Rus-

sia opened negotiations for a secret military convention,

extending the scope of the secret treaty of 1902 by which

Russia undertook to protect Bulgaria against attack by

95 As contemplated by Delcassc in his letter of 1S99, urging the indefi-

nite prolongation of the Franco-Russian Alliance; Livrc Jaunc, L'Alliance

Franco-Russc, p. 131.

o«C/. Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 273-2S1 ; G.P.. XXVII. 157-174; and the

telegrams of the Serbian Minister, Milovanovitch, in Deutschland Schul-

digf (Berlin, 1919), pp. 115-119. »T GP., XXVII, 159 ff., 170 ff.



THE RACCONIGI BARGAIN OF OCTOBER, 1909 411

Rumania. Izvolski's new proposal to King Ferdinand

provided for mutual aid in certain contingencies in case

of wars against Turkey and Austria, and promised the

utmost possible Russian support to secure for Bulgaria the

great gains in territory once contemplated in the Treaty of

San Stefano of 1878. Article V of the proposed military

convention declared,

The realization of the high ideals of the Slav peoples

upon the Balkan Peninsula, so near to Russia's heart, is

possible only after a favorable outcome of Russia's struggle

with Germany and Austria-Hungary.98

The negotiations did not ultimately result in the signing

of the proposed military convention," but they are indica-

tive of Russian efforts, successful later, for forming a Balkan

bloc which it was hoped would help the Triple Entente to

triumph over the Triple Alliance.

Russia's Racconigi Agreement with Italy and negotia-

tions with Bulgaria and Serbia did not mean, however, that

she intended any immediate warlike solution of the Balkan

problem. They were merely part of that "preparation for

the future," which was Russia's policy until she had

finished reorganizing her army and navy, and had succeeded

in winning more definite assurances from France and Eng-

land for support of her Balkan ambitions. During 1910,

partly through the influence of Germany, a certain ostensi-

ble rapprochement had been brought about between Russia

and Austria which for the moment relieved the tension be-

98 Proposed Russo-Bulgarian Military Convention of Dec, 1909;

Bogitchevitch, 115-121; Laloy, Les- Documents Secrets Publics par les

Bolcheviks (Paris, 1919), pp. 52-58.

99 V. Radoslavov, "Der russisch-bulgarische Vertragsentwurf von

1909," in KSF, IV, 272 f., May, 1926. The negotiations were continued in

1910 during the visit of Ferdinand of Bulgaria to St. Petersburg (cf. G.P.,

XXVII, 176, 183, notes). They are apparently referred to by Neratov in

a telegram to Sofia of Nov. 23/Dec. 6, 1911 {Krasnyi Arkhiv, IX, p. ix,

1925), when he speaks of "our confidential proposal to Bulgaria in 1910."
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tween these two Great Powers over the Balkan Problem. 100

But this understanding was merely temporary, and in-

tended, at any rate by Russia, merely as a stop-gap until

Sukhomlinov's army reorganization had produced results

and a new Black Sea Fleet been created. As the Russian

Ambassador in Paris wrote to Izvolski in February, 1910:

An agreement of this sort, concluded for a certain num*
ber of years, would leave the Balkan States at perfect

liberty, both in regard to their internal development as well

as to their mutual relations, which they might develop in

every possible way. At the same time Russia would be

placed in a position which would enable her to develop her

military forces in all security and to prepare herself for

those events which cannot be avoided. In the meantime
the further evolution of the Ottoman Empire would be

clearer—the problems would mature, and we should be able

to meet the events that are to be foreseen much better

equipped than otherwise. 101

Similarly M. Nekliudov relates that in 1911, when he

was received by the Tsar before taking up his post at

Sofia, Nicholas II said to him, "after an intentional pause,

stepping backwards and fixing me with a penetrating stare:

'Listen to me, Xekliudov; do not for one instant lose sight

of the fact that we cannot go to war. I do not wish for

war; as a rule I shall do all in my power to preserve for

my people the benefits of peace. But at this moment, of

all moments, everything which might lead to war must be

avoided. It would be out of the question for us to face

a war for five or six years—in fact till 1917. . . . Though

if the most vital interests and the honour of Russia were

at stake, we might, if it were absolutely necessary, accept

a challenge in 1915; but not a moment sooner—in any

circumstances or under any pretext whatsoever.' " 102

ioo Cf. Siebert-Schrcincr, pp. 2S2-303; G.P., XXVII, 433-517.

lOiNelidov to Izvolski, Feb. 3, 1910; Siebcrt-Schreiner, p. 2S3.

102 Nekliudov, Diplomatic Reminiscences, p. 5.
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As Mr. Lowes Dickinson justly observes: "Had this

remark been the Kaiser's instead of the Tsar's, all our war-

historians would have been citing it as a definite proof of

the guilt, and the sole guilt of Germany. I do not cite it

as a proof of the guilt, still less the sole guilt, of Russia.

I cite it as one more illustration of the state of mind

of all ministers and all princes
—'The war will come. We

don't want it; but we must be ready. And when it

comes ...!"' 103

IZVOLSKI'S EFFORT TO OPEN THE STRAITS IN 1911

Izvolski had made two futile and unfortunate efforts to

realize his ambition of opening the Straits to Russian war-

ships. The first was made during the negotiations for the

Anglo-Russian Convention of 1907, and the second in the

Buchlau Bargain of 1908. Both had failed on account of

opposition from Sir Edward Grey and lack of support from

the French. But in the fall of 1911, Izvolski believed that

the European situation invited a more successful effort.

The French march to Fez, and the resulting Agadir Crisis,

had drawn closer the ties between the Entente Powers,

particularly the bonds between France and England. Ger-

many, having roused England to the verge of war in defense

of France and the Morocco Agreement, had been compelled

to accept a settlement, which was on the point of being

signed, by which she abandoned all claims in Morocco in

exchange for portions of the French Congo. Russia had

not given France any such active and effective diplomatic

support as had Sir Edward Grey and Mr. Lloyd George.

On the contrary, Izvolski had worked "with all his strength"

to moderate France and urged her to give in to many of the

German demands.104 M. Neratov, who had charge of the

103 Dickinson, p. 303 f.

104 Izvolski to Neratov, Sept. 1/14, 1911; M.F.R., p. 114; L.N. I, 133;

Stieve, I, 146. Neratov's telegram to Izvolski of 18/31 Oct. (Stieve, I,
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Russian Foreign Office during Sazonov's long illness, gave

repeated warnings that "Russian public opinion would

hardly understand a [Franco-German] war occasioned by

colonial questions." The Tsar took the same attitude.

Even when M. Georges Louis, the French Ambassador in

St. Petersburg, pointed out to him that North Africa was

as much of a "vital interest" to France as the Caucasus to

Russia, Nicholas II had replied, "Keep in view the avoid-

ance of a conflict. You know that our preparations are not

complete." 105 Yet in spite of this indifference to the very

vital interests of the French, Izvolski flattered himself that

he could coax from them a promise of support in the ques-

tion of the Straits, as a quid pro quo for accepting without

objections the Franco-German Morocco settlement. When
he learned from Tittoni in September, 1911, that Italy,

stirred by the establishment of the French protectorate in

Morocco, and taking advantage of the various secret prom-

ises made to her by the different Powers, was about to seize

Tripoli, he believed that the favorable moment had come

to cash in his part of the Racconigi Bargain.

Russia's raising of the Straits Question in 1911 has

usually been explained as the unauthorized act of M.

Charykov, the Russian Ambassador at Constantinople

—

"The Charykov kite," Mr. Gooch calls it
10°—intended to

be merely a feeler to see how the wind was blowing in regard

to the question. The fact that Charykov's action was soon

disavowed by the Russian Foreign Office has given color to

170) shows that he also, though more guardedly, advised France to yield

to German demands.
105 Georges Louis to M. de Selves, Sept. 7, 1911; Judet, Georges

Louis, p. 15G f.

106 History o) Modern Europe, 1S7S-1919, p. 488. Mr. Gooch attrib-

utes the initiation of the affair to Sazonov, but Sazonov was absent from

the Foreign Office from early July to mid-December, 1911, because of ill

health, leaving the direction of affairs to Izvolski in Paris and Neratov

in St. Petersburg. In September he was at Davos recovering from an

operation; cj. M.F.R., pp. CC, 113 f.; Stieve, I, 72, 136, 147.
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this view; but the truth is the whole affair originated with

Izvolski, while Charykov was made the scapegoat, and

recalled when it failed. This seems to be the conclusion to

be drawn from the more recent material available on this

interesting incident. 107

On learning of Italy's intended action, Izvolski imme-
diately wrote to Neratov on September 26, recalling the

Racconigi secret agreement, rejoicing in the embarrassment

which Italy would cause for Germany and the Triple Alli-

ance, and urging that the moment had come "to draw the

greatest possible advantages for our own interests from the

approaching events." Now was the time, while Turkey

was weakened by war with Italy, to force the Young Turks

to settle such questions as the railways in Asia Minor, the

Turco-Persian boundary, and above all the question of the

Straits.

Izvolski at once saw Tittoni at Paris, "to remind him
of the conditions on which we promised on our side to

recognize Italy's freedom to action in Tripoli," and to beg

him that "Italy, at the moment when she was proceeding

to carry out her program in Tripoli, should give us assur-

ances in return that she would not forget in the future to

fulfill the parallel obligations undertaken by her in regard

to our rights to the Turkish Straits." Tittoni answered

affirmatively and promised Izvolski precise written assur-

ances. 108 Having written to Neratov initiating a revival of

107MF.R., pp. 114-145, 530-538; L.N., I, 134-179; II, 458-470; Stieve,

I, 150-200; II, 20-27. Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 161, 319-330. G.P., XXX,
201-255. E. A. Adamov, Konstantinopol i Prolivy, p. 14 ff. Bogitchevitch,

p. 167. E. Judet, Georges Louis (Paris, 1925), pp. 142-167, 245, exag-

gerates the divergence of views between Izvolski and Georges Louis, while

Poincare, Au Service de la France, I, 328-354, makes a skilful brief to

beguile the unwary reader into thinking that Izvolski was perfectly satis-

fied with Georges Louis, and that Poincare's own policy did not diverge

from that of former French Cabinets in the matter of the Straits and
the Franco-Russian Alliance.

108 Izvolski to Neratov, Sept. 13/26, 14/27, 1911; M.F.R., p. 115;

L.N., I, 134-138; Stieve, I, 150-152; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 161.



416 Till-: 1 'Kl< OF THE Wi >HLD WAR

the Straits Question, Izvolski went on a vacation to his

family at Tegernsee in Bavaria.

M. Neratov at once fell in with Izvolski's idea. He des-

patched instructions to Charykov at Constantinople to

take advantage of the circumstances of the Turco-Italian

War, the Franco-German Moroccan negotiations, and the

very feeble character of the new Grand Vizier, to open con-

versations on the subject of Asia Minor railways, and, if

Charykov deemed it wise, on the question of the Straits

(and certain other subjects) on the following basis:

The Imperial Government engages to give the Ottoman

Government its effective support for the maintenance of

the present regime of the Straits of the Bosphorus and the

Dardanelles, extending it also to the territories adjacent.

To facilitate the execution of the above clause the Imperial

Ottoman Government engages on its side not to oppose the

passage of Russian warships through the Straits, on con-

dition that these ships do not stop in the waters of the

Straits unless by agreement. 100

Charykov was also informed that the plan was, first to

secure the assent of Turkey, and to reserve the right to make
explanations to the Powers concerning this modification of

international treaties. Charykov therefore saw the Grand
Vizier, Said Pasha, discussed with him all the subjects sug-

gested by Neratov, and handed him a letter containing the

proposal for opening the Straits and for settling other ques-

tions. He asked for a reply within a week.

Said Pasha did not at all fancy the proposal. He nat-

urally saw that it would place Constantinople at the mercy
of a Russian Fleet. The clause referring to Russian support

in the Straits and "also the territories adjacent" had an

ominous sound. It threatened to reduce Turkey to the posi-

109 Neratov to Charykov, Sopt. 19/Oct. 2, 1911; M.F.R., p. 530 f.;

LN, II, 458 f.
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tion of a dependent vassal of the Tsar at a moment when
Turkey was helplessly involved in war with Italy. The

Grand Vizier therefore resorted to the usual Turkish dilatory

tactics in dealing with disagreeable demands. For several

weeks he evaded a definite reply, telling Charykov that he

was delayed by having to consult other Ministers.110

M. Charykov also confided his proposal to the French

Ambassador in Constantinople. M. Bompard thought it

opportune, but shrewdly suggested the need of getting

England's assent, and telegraphed to Paris. The French

Government was much alarmed, and at once inquired in

St. Petersburg about the meaning of Charykov's confidences

to Bompard. 111

Neratov and Izvolski were now faced with the very

delicate task of securing the assent of the Powers to this

modification of international treaties concerning the Straits.

With Italy and Germany this was easy enough. Italy

needed Russia's diplomatic support in putting pressure upon

Turkey to cede Tripoli. Tittoni quickly gave to Izvolski

a definite promise, written down at Izvolski's own dictation,

and guaranteed the Italian Government's approval. 112

Germany also gave her full assent
;
Bethmann-Hollweg and

his Secretary for Foreign Affairs, Kiderlen, shrewdly cal-

culated that England would object anyway, and that there

was, therefore, no occasion for Germany to offend Russia

needlessly. For Germany to object would simply be pulling

the chestnuts out of the fire for the British. 113

Austria also, influenced by Germany, was ready to give

her consent, qualifying it only with a reservation which

would protect Austria from an attack by the Russian

"OM.F.R., pp. 531-535; L.N., II, 460-464; cf. also G.P., XXX, 203-

213.

iiiM.F.R, p. 118 f, 535 f.; L.N., I, 143 f., 464 f.; Stieve, I, 158 f.

112M.FR., pp. 118-537; L.N., I, 142; II, 468; Stieve, I, 157.

H3G.P., XXX, 206-214, 219 f., 233-240, 251-255; M.F.R., p. 537 f.;

L.N., II. 46* f
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Fleet. 114 With France and England, however, the task was
much more delicate.

When Izvolski returned from Tegernsee to his post, he

found a "very secret" letter from Neratov, telling of Chary-

kov's communications to Said Pasha and Bompard and
of the French inquiry, and suggesting to Izvolski that now
was the time to nail down the French Government to

giving its written promise of assent. He even suggested

the very words in which it should be given:

France engages to consider with benevolence the Rus-

sian interests in the question of the Straits of the Bosphorus

and the Dardanelles, and not to oppose the realization of

the projects which Russia might have in view relative to the

Straits and the territories adjacent. 115

Accordingly, on October 11, M. Izvolski made a long and
persuasive plea to M. de Selves, the French Minister of

Foreign Affairs,

not to refuse to formulate in some fashion the French

Government's attitude toward the means which we shall

sooner or later consider it necessary to take in regard to the

Straits and the territories adjacent. ... In view of M. de

Selves' very feeble knowledge in questions of foreign policy,

I limited myself to the above mentioned general discussion.

I intend to return to the theme a little later and then state

our concrete desires. 116

1HG.P, XXX, 207-211, 232 fl.; M.F.R, p. 538; L.N, II, 469 f.

1" Neratov to Izvolski, 22 Sept./5 Oct. 1911; M.F.R, pp. 114, 535;

L.N, I, 140; II, 464 f.; Stieve, I, 155. A little later, impatient at French
and Enclish hesitation, he became more urgent: "It is desirable to make
use of the present political situation in order to induce the French and
British Governments to express their views on the question of the Straits,

in so far as Russia is concerned, in a concrete form and in writing, inde-

pendently of any agreements which we shall eventually conclude with

Turkey;" Neratov to Benckendorff in London, Oct. 20/Nov. 2, 1911;

Sicbert-Schrciner, p. 326. On 14/27 Oct. he wrote in the same strain to

Izvolski in Paris; M.F.R, p. 125; L.N, I, 153; Stieve, I, 169 f.

n "Izvolski to Neratov, Sept. 28/Oct. 11, 1911; M.F.R, p. 119 ff.;

L.N, I, 144 ff.; Stieve, I, 160 ff.
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Next day M. Izvolski again complained of M. de Selves'

ignorance. "The misfortune is that M. de Selves is very-

little informed on all these questions, and at the same time

is wholly absorbed with the Morocco and Congo question."

He also added a word on the desirability of bribing French

newspapers

:

It is very important to take care that we have here "a

good Press." In this matter, however, I lack unfortunately

the chief weapon, because my requests to be provided with

special funds for the Press have resulted in nothing. I shall

naturally do all I can; but this [Straits question] is precisely

one of those questions in which public opinion, as a result

of old traditions, is rather predisposed against us. An ex-

ample of how advantageous it can be to hand out money
for the Press here is shown in the Tripoli Affair. I know
that Tittoni has worked the principal French papers in a

very thorough fashion and with a very generous hand. The

results are evident.117

Though M. Justin de Selves was in fact probably not

well informed on the Balkan Problem, his "encyclopaedic

ignorance" has been exaggerated. He was cautious, sin-

cere, and honest, and did not want to be precipitated into

a rash promise which might encourage France's ally to

risky Balkan adventures or which might displease the friend

of France across the English Channel. He therefore quickly

got into touch with Downing Street. He learned from Paul

Cambon that news had reached London, by way of Italy,

that Charykov had made an official request at Constanti-

nople, and that England took the same stand as in 1908:

England was ready to see the Straits opened, provided they

were opened to the warships of all nations alike, but not if

H7 Izvolski to Neratov, Sept. 29/Oct. 12, 1911; M.F.R, p. 121; L.N.,

I, 148 f.; Stieve, I, 163. For interesting but exaggerated accounts of the

bribery of the French Press see Hinter den Kuli&sen des jvanzosischen

Journalismus ; Von einem Pariser Chejredakteur (Berlin, 1925), and
Poincare, III, 97-114.
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they were opened only to Russia, thus converting the Black
Sea into a potential Russian naval fortress. 118 Sir Arthur
Nicolson "doubted whether the moment was well chosen."
Sir Edward Grey would go no further than to confirm his
declarations of 190S. The Russian Ambassador in London,
though he "had convinced himself how highly Sir Edward
values the Entente and how firmly determined he is to
preserve it and avoid anything which might endanger its

existence," soon had to confess sadly that "it is always diffi-

cult to induce the British Government to assume engage-
ments on principle for future eventualities." 119 Further
interviews merely made it clearer that it was impossible to
persuade Sir Edward Grey to alter his attitude.

On November 4, Izvolski finally sought "to nail France
down" to a written promise, while de Selves was in a pleas-
ant mood of relief at the conclusion of long negotiations with
Germany, and before the inexperienced Minister should
have time to get advice from England or elsewhere about
the problem of the Straits:

In view of the signing of the Franco-German Agreement,
it seemed to me indispensable, immediately and without
waiting for our official acceptance of it, to nail down 120

the results of my conversations with de Selves concerning
the Straits and North China. I therefore wrote M. de
Selves a letter on November 4, in which I expressed, ap-
proximately in the form you proposed to me in your last

letters to me, 121 our confidence in the assent of France to
our wishes in these questions. ... I hope to receive from de
Selves an unconditional confirmation of the contents of this

letter, the text of which I shall send you by Thursday's
courier.

H8 P. Cambon to de Selves [early in Oct.]; L.N., I 149 f • Stieve I
164 f.

'
'

i'9 Benckendorff to Neratov, Oct. 10/23, and Oct. 26/Nov 8
1911; Siebcrt-Schreiner, pp. 321, 327.

i^o Russian zakriepit "to nail down," "clinch," or "rivet."
121 See above, note 115.
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I have preferred quick procedure rather than more

formal negotiations chiefly in order not to give de Selves a

chance to discuss our demands with England or perhaps

with the other Powers.122

In his letter to M. de Selves, Izvolski complimented him

on the Morocco settlement "to which Russia would give

her full and complete agreement," and coaxingly "expressed

his firm hope that at the moment at which France, the

friend and ally of Russia, is proceeding to establish her

position in North Africa on a new and firm foundation, the

French Government, to which the Imperial Cabinet has

unceasingly given its most sincere diplomatic support, is

ready on its side to assure us that it recognizes our liberty

of action in the Straits as well as in North China, and will

not deny its assent to the measures which we might be put

in a position to take for the safe-guarding of our interests

and strengthening of our position there." Even to M. de

Selves these honeyed words must have seemed hypocritical,

since Russia's diplomatic support in the Agadir Affair had

been nil and whatever success France had secured in the

negotiations with Germany had been chiefly due to British

support and to M. Caillaux's efforts. M. Izvolski was arriv-

ing after the event and claiming a reward which he had done

nothing to earn,—a reward which threatened to suck France

into the wake of Russia's risky Balkan course and to dis-

please England.

M. de Selves, however, was not to be taken in so

easily. His suspicions of the Russian Ambassador are indi-

cated by the fact that he inquired at St. Petersburg whether

Izvolski had written the letter on his own initiative or upon

instructions from Neratov.123 He was shrewd enough to

122 izvolski to Neratov, Oct. 24/Nov. 6, 1911; M.F.R., p. 123; L.N.,

I, 154; Stieve, I, 171 f. On Nov. 9, he again pointed out the advantage of

"eliminating conferences between Paris and London."
123 Neratov to Izvolski, Oct. 29/Nov. 11, 1911; M.F.R. p. 125; L.N.,

[, 162; Stieve, I, 177 f.
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consult Sir Edward Grey again, and learned that England

had no intention of approving a Russian guarantee of "the

status quo of the Straits and the territories adjacent,"

which went far beyond Izvolski's proposal of 1908. Grey

gave Russia "a dilatory reply." He approved the non-

committal reply which de Selves proposed to make ver-

bally to M. Izvolski as "very wise and conceived in the

same spirit of courtesy and prudence as that which he

[Grey] has made to the Russian Ambassador." 124 De
Selves therefore avoided committing himself to Izvolski.

In explaining to Neratov his failure to "nail France down,"

Izvolski several times laid it to M. de Selves' "unfortunate

ignorance" and his preoccupation in defending the Mo-
roccan Agreement against attacks in the Chamber of

Deputies. 125 Perhaps M. de Selves was wiser than M.
Izvolski supposed.

Fortunately for France, M. de Selves was able to hand

over to M. Georges Louis the delicate task of framing an

answer to Izvolski's letter of November 4. M. Louis had

been French Ambassador to St. Petersburg, but at this

moment was temporarily rilling a vacancy in the French

Foreign Office.

Thoroughly acquainted by experience with the question

and with M. Izvolski's shifty methods, M. Louis cautiously

raised objections to the looseness of the phrase concerning

Russia's "liberty of action in the Straits." M. Izvolski

made elaborate explanations, and was willing to change it.

After long discussions M. Louis drew up a polite but non-

committal formula, which formed the basis of the answer

which M. de Selves finally handed to M. Izvolski on Janu-

ary 4, 1912:

124 Daoschner, Charge d'Affaires in London, to de Selves, Nov.

14, 1911; Judet, p. 163. For Grey's own courteous but non-committal

replies to Benckendorff, see Siebcrt-Schrciner, pp. 321-329.
i- 5 Izvolski to Neratov, Nov. 8, 23, and Dec. 7.
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In a general way I am happy to confirm to Your Excel'

lency the declarations of the French Government on tho

occasion of the events of 1908, relative to the satisfactions

which the Russian Government may be led to seek in the

question of the Straits of the Bosphorus and the Dardanelles.

The French Government remains disposed to exchange views

with the Russian Government, if new circumstances render

necessary an examination of the question of the Straits.126

While Sir Edward Grey and M. de Selves, by polite but

dilatory answers, were saving themselves from being nailed

down in advance to definite support of an indefinite pro-

gram, events had been taking place at Constantinople which

also contributed to Izvolski's chagrin. After Charykov had

tried in vain for weeks to secure an answer from the Grand

Vizier, Said Pasha, he turned to the Turkish Minister of

Foreign Affairs. On November 27, he officially presented

to Hassim Bey a note embodying Russia's request for open-

ing the Straits and settling other points. Hassim Bey was

furious. He feared that Russian warships in the Bosphorus

would mean Russian domination at Constantinople, the es-

tablishment of a Russian protectorate over the Turkish

Empire, or even the beginning of its final dismemberment.

Russia had destroyed the independence of Persia and was

preparing the same fate for Turkey.

In his peril and perplexity, Hassim Bey hurried to in-

form his good friend the German Ambassador. "The great

blow has just been struck us," were his first words to Baron

Marschall. He then proceeded to tell of Charykov's de-

mands, and to pour out all his fears and indignation against

Russia, and against the Triple Entente which he suspected

(quite wrongly) was standing behind Russia. Beside the

danger from Russian warships before the walls of Constan-

tinople, Charykov's proposal in regard to railways in North-

126M.F.R., p. 536; L.N., II, 466; Stieve, II, 22. Cj. also Judet, pp.

164-9, and Poincare, I, 341-7.
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ern Asia Minor meant that railways which were for the

strategic defense of Turkey against Russia would be put

into the hands of Russia and her ally France! Baron

Marschall sympathized with him completely. He, too, saw

shattered at a blow all his own efforts of twenty years in

strengthening German influence in Turkey, in trying to save

the Ottoman Empire from disintegration, and in building

the Bagdad Railway. He foresaw that an acceptance of

Russia's demands would be interpreted by the Balkan

States as indubitable evidence of the great superiority of

the Triple Entente over the Triple Aliance. The Balkan

States would be quick to line up on the side of the former,

because superior strength was the unfailing argument

which determined their political allegiance. He pleaded at

great length with the German Foreign Office to aid Turkey

in resisting Russia. When he was told that Germany would

not oppose the opening of the Straits because there was

little doubt that England would oppose it, and that Ger-

many would only be playing England's game and offending

Russia needlessly, Baron Marschall sent in his resignation.

Later, however, he was persuaded to withdraw it, when it

soon appeared that the German Foreign Office had quite

correctly surmised England's attitude. 127

Rumors of Charykov's negotiations had meanwhile

leaked out and caused no less indignation among the Young
Turks and in the Turkish Press than Hassim Bey had ex-

pressed to Baron Marschall. On December 6, the Jeni

Gazette, though it usually inclined to favor England, pub-

lished a leading article to the effect that, "The Russians

want to degrade the great and glorious Turkish Empire into

a province standing under a Russian protectorate, but the

Ottomans will never tolerate this." Hassim Bey was fur-

ther encouraged to resist Charykov's demands on learning

that Sir Edward Grey had told the Turkish Ambassador in

127 Marschall to Bethmann, Dec. 1 to 15, 1911; G.P., XXX, 212-245.
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London that "Russia's step seems to me out of place at this

moment," and that the assent of all the Signatory Powers
would be necessary. 128

As a result of the attitude of England, France and Tur-
key, it began to be clear that Izvolski's idea could not be
realized at the moment. Accordingly, M. Sazonov, who
had just come to Paris after his long rest at Davos, gave
an interview to Stephane Lauzanne:

There is no "Dardanelles Question" such as is printed

every day a little everywhere. A "question" in the diplo-

matic sense of the word presupposes in effect a demand
formulated by a Government, as well as diplomatic steps

[demarches] or negotiations. But Russia demands nothing,

has undertaken no negotiations, nor attempted any diplo-

matic step.129

How little truth there was in Sazonov's disavowal, the

reader of the preceding pages may judge for himself. On
December 15, Charykov was now instructed to tell Hassim
Bey that since Russia's proposals had been prematurely

divulged, and not by Russia's fault, it was impossible to

continue the negotiations. Sazonov sent a telegram to

Russian Ambassadors abroad trying to give the impression

that Charykov had exceeded his instructions in extending

private conversations into official negotiations. In March,

1912, Charykov was recalled and replaced at Constantinople

by M. Giers. So ended Izvolski's third effort to open th<?

Straits.

Izvolski still entertained some forlorn hopes that he
might use de Selves' answer of January 4, 1912, as a basis

for securing future French assent to his favorite project.

M. Poincare 130 would have us believe that the Russian
i28Marschall to Bethmann, Dec. 6, 1911; G.P., XXX, 218.
1^9 Paris, Matin, Dec. 9, 1911; G.P, XXX, 233 ff., 245 ff. In passing

through Berlin two days later Sazonov told Bethmann that the interview
was authentic; G.P., XXX, 234, 239.

isopoinca^, t 344 ff.
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Ambassador was "entirely satisfied" with the attitude of

France. But he gives this impression by quoting merely

three sentences out of a letter of Izvolski to Neratov; the

whole tenor of the rest of the letter, however, indicates that

Izvolski was really sadly disappointed, was trying to put

the best face on his failure, and was merely advising

Neratov to accept the French answer because there was no

present prospect of getting a more satisfactory one. As a

matter of fact, Izvolski was almost as bitterly disappointed

over this fiasco as over that of 190S, only he could not voice

aloud his dissatisfaction at France and England, who were

chiefly to blame, as he had done after 1908 against Austria;

France and England were fellow members of the Triple

Entente, whereas Austria belonged to the rival group. He
seems to have come to the conclusion after this that there

were only two ways to open the Straits; either by pounc-

ing upon them in time of peace, or as the result of a general

European war. On several occasions between 1912 and

1914 Russian Ministerial Councils seriously considered the

first alternative only to abandon it as i lpractical. So there

was left only the second alternative, a general European

war. To prepare for this Izvolski worked persistently and

consistently during the two following years, and, when at

last it suddenly burst forth, was said to have claimed

exultingly: "C'est via guerre!"

RUSSIA AND THE BALKAN LEAGUE

Five centuries of Turkish oppression, combined with

the rising tide of nationalism in the nineteenth century,

had inspired the Christian peoples of the Balkans with a

passion for national unity and independence. By the year

1911, owing to the progressive decay of the Ottoman Em-
pire, long steps had already been made toward the realiza-

tion of their ardent hopes. Greece, Serbia, Bulgaria and

Rumania had been constituted into independent kingdoma
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But there were thousands of Greeks, Serbs, Bulgarians and

Rumanians, not to mention Macedonians and Albanians,

still living under the foreign rule of Turkey or Austria.

They, too, longed to be liberated and united with their

brothers in the independent kingdoms. The supposedly

democratic revolution in Turkey, and Austria's annexation

of Bosnia and Herzegovina in 1908, for a moment seemed to

indicate that these two States were showing signs of reju-

venation and that the day of Slav liberation was likely to

be delayed. But the impractical ideals of the Young Turks

and their foolish disregard of traditional rights and preju-

dices only resulted in antagonizing more completely the

non-Turkish elements, and in weakening still further the

decaying Empire which Abdul Hamid's skill and ruthless

methods had managed to preserve. The Tripolitan War
gave it another staggering blow, and led directly to the

formation of the Balkan League, which finally drove the

Turks almost completely from Europe. This natural am-
bition of the Balkan States, to liberate and annex their

brothers under alien rule, was the main cause of the Balkan

League, but it is doubtful whether it could have been

formed except for the very active part taken by MM.
Hartwig and Nekliudov, the Russian Ministers at Belgrade

and Sofia.

During the early months of the Tripolitan War various

Russian representatives were pursuing three quite different

Balkan policies—a striking example of lack of unity and
discipline in the Russian diplomatic service. They all

wanted to take advantage of Turkey's difficulties with Italy

to strengthen Russia's position in the Balkans and in

Europe, but they had altogether different ideas of how this

must be done. Izvolski, with the cooperation of Neratov

and Charykov, had tried to open the Straits to Russian

warships, and had failed. Meanwhile Charykov, on his own
initiative, had at the same time been renewing his efforts
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for the formation of a Balkan League of which Turkey (!)

should be a member. He had offered his "good offices" to

Said Pasha and Hassim Bey to bring about close relations

between Constantinople, Sofia and Belgrade. Such a league

might be used to preserve the status quo in the Balkans,

and to support Russia in a war against Austria. It would

reduce Turkey to a kind of vassalage to Russia, because

Turkey would be dependent on Russia for protection from

the Balkan States. 131 But Charykov's fantastic idea had

not the slightest chance of being realized. It was at the

antipodes of Russia's traditional policy, which was to push

the Balkan States against Turkey. It was regarded with

suspicion by the Turks. And it was anathema to the

Slavs of the Balkans. 132 It ended with Charykov's dis-

131 M.F.R., pp. 531-535; L.N., II, 460-465; GP., XXVII, 159 ff., 171 ff.;

XXX, 205, 218.

132Hurt\vig to Neratov, Oct. 23/Nov. 5, 1911, Krasnyi Arkhiv, 1925,

VIII, 45 tT.: "The affair of the famous Balkan Federation under the

supremacy of the Ottoman Empire is up again. Every time Turkey finds

herself in some external troubles, this political combination comes up for

consideration . . . among those few remaining European diplomatists,

politicians, and publicists who are still wont to believe in Turkey's

regeneration. But it is interesting to raise the question: What is the

attitude of the Balkan States themselves? . . .

"The passionate sermons about the importance to the Slavs of an

alliance with Turkey seem to carry very little conviction with them;

under certain conditions, particularly under pressure from Russia, they

might not refuse to start on this road, not, however, because they would

expect any great benefits from Turkey's friendship, but exclusively for

the sake of gaining a respite from the troubles chronically rising in the

Balkans, to gain time, and gradually gaining strength, when the favorable

moment should arise, to square up accounts with their ancient enemy.

The Slavs can have no other point of view on the Federation. . . .

"In my opinion Russia should pursue two clear, quite definite, final

aims: (1) to make easier for the Slav nations, called by her into an

independent existence, the attainment of their sacred ideals, which means

an amicable division amongst them of all Turkish possessions on the

Balkan Peninsula; and (2) to accomplish her own century-old problem

—

the planting of a firm foot on the shores of the Bosphorus at the gates

to the 'Russian Lake.' . . .

"The Serbian Government would consider it extremely dangerous to

approach the Turks now with any offers of alliance such as Hofmeister

Charykov urged upon the Serbian Minister to Turkey. Every favor-
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missal in March, 1912, just at the moment a very different

kind of Balkan League was actually being signed.

While the policies of Iz/olski and Charykov were

doomed to failure, a third policy, ardently pursued by

Hartwig and Nekliudov in Belgrade and Sofia, ripened into

success. They aimed at the formation of a Balkan Slav

League under Russian patronage, nominally for the preser-

vation of the status quo, but capable of being directed

against Turkey or Austria. Active Russian efforts to create

such a league had been made from time to time ever since

the Young Turk Revolution and the Austrian annexation

of Bosnia in 1908. 133 But they had all failed, owing in large

part to the inherent hatred and jealousy of Serbia and

Bulgaria toward one another, and to the distrust with which

the wily King of Bulgaria was regarded by everybody,

including even his own ministers. The idea of a Slav Balkan

League was galvanized into life again by the news of Italy's

war on Turkey in September, 1911.

M. Geshov, the Bulgarian Premier and Minister of

Foreign Affairs at the time, has given a dramatic and au-

thentic narrative of his part 134—how he heard the news of

the Tripolitan War at Vichy, hurried home to Sofia via

Paris and Vienna, having interviews with de Selves and

Aehrenthal, returned to Vienna for secret conferences with

King Ferdinand and with Milovanovitch of Serbia, and

finally, in a three-hours' talk between stations in a railway

compartment outlined a Balkan Agreement to him. It was

in the course of this interview, after they had touched upon

seeking step of the Serbians in Constantinople would inevitably arouse

distrust in Sofia and injure the prospects of the Serbo-Bulgarian Agree-

ment, which by its political importance will open a new era in the

history of the Slavs."

133 Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 273-281; 304-316; G.P., XXVII, 155-194;

Bogitchevitch, 28 ff, 113 ff.

134 I. E. Guechoff, L'Alliance Balkanique, Paris, 1915, pp. 14-63. This

book contains much the same material as I. E. Guechoff, La Genese de la

Ouerre Mondiale: la Debacle de VAlliance Balkanique, Berne, 1919.



430 Till; ORlClNS OF THE WOULD WAK

the thorny question of the future division of Macedonia,

that the Serbian Premier exclaimed:

All! Yes! If, at the same time with the liquidation of

Turkey, the disintegration of Austria could take place, the

solution would be enormously simplified: Serbia would get

Bosnia and Herzegovina, as Rumania would get Transyl-

vania, and we should not have to fear the intervention

of Rumania in our war with Turkey. 133

But M. Geshov's narrative tells relatively little of the

part played by Russia in the long and difficult negotiations

which followed. This can now be traced in detail in the

correspondence of Hartwig and Nekliudov with Neratov

at St. Petersburg. 130 These two Russian Ministers at Bel-

grade and Sofia worked indefatigably to smooth out the

mutual jealousies and suspicions of the Serbian and Bul-

garian Ministers toward one another, and to help them in

the almost superhuman task of reaching an agreement as

to the division of spoils to be conquered from Turkey. At

the same time they kept Neratov fully informed of each

step forward in the negotiations. Finally, on March 13,

1912, Serbia and Bulgaria agreed on a Treaty and signed it.

By this Treaty of March 13, 1912, Serbia and Bulgaria

mutually guaranteed each other's territory and indepen-

dence, and agreed to support one another in case any of the

Great Powers should attempt to acquire by force, even

temporarily, any territory in the Balkans. This protected

Serbia against any attempts of Austria to reoccupy the

Sanjak of Novi Bazar or to seize the parts of Macedonia

and Albania coveted by Serbia. Serbia had hoped in the

early negotiations that the alliance would be primarily

directed against Austria. But Bulgaria had little interest

l35Gucchoff, UAlliance Balkaniquc, p. 27.

130 A'ra-snyi Arkhiv, VIII, 1-4S; IX, 1-22 (1925). A. Nekludoff, Dip-

lomatic Reminiscences (London, 1920), pp. 39 ff., 51 ff., gives only a very

brief account.
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in seeing Serbia acquire Bosnia and Herzegovina or other

Hapsburg territory. King Ferdinand's eye was directed

primarily toward Macedonia, Thrace, and even perhaps

Constantinople; he therefore wished the new alliance di-

rected against Turkey. Accordingly, a secret annex pro-

vided that if disorders broke out in Turkey and the status

quo in the Balkans was threatened, Serbia and Bulgaria

would enter into an exchange of views for joint military

action. If Russia had no objections to their plan of action,

the two Balkan Allies would then carry on military opera-

tions as agreed; any dispute which might arise was to be

referred to the Tsar for arbitration, and his decision was

to be binding. A detailed statement set forth the division

of the spoils to be acquired in Macedonia from Turkey, and

provided among other things that Serbia should lay no

claim to territory in the direction of Salonica south of a line

from Mt. Golem to Lake Ochrida. 137

On taking charge of the Foreign Office again at the be-

ginning of 1912, M. Sazonov found the Serbo-Bulgarian

Treaty well on the way to completion. Negotiated during

his absence, and containing a clause for rigid secrecy, he

did not know whether he ought to inform the other mem-

bers of the Triple Entente of it. Though professing to

preserve the status quo, and giving Russia a kind of veto

on making war (at least so he said), he appears to have

realized that it might easily encourage the Balkan States

to a war which in turn might involve Russia and her French

Ally. For a moment in February, 1912, he apparently

thought of engaging France in a full discussion of the new

137 The texts of the Balkan Treaties and Military Conventions are

printed by Guechoff, UAlliance Balkanique, pp. 191-234; by [George

Young], Nationalism and War in the Near East (London, 1915), pp. 387-

428; and by [S. Radev] La Question Bulgare et les Mats Balkaniques

(Sofia, 1919), pp. 171 ff., including maps and documents on the later

dispute over Macedonia. For a recent keen appreciation of the treaties,

see Dickinson, p. 308 ff.
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aspect of the Balkan problem. He drew up a questionnaire

as a basis of discussion: what should France and Russia

do in case of an internal Turkish revolution, an Austrian

attack on Albania or the Sanjak, or an outbreak of war

between Turkey and one of the Balkan states? He showed

it to M. Georges Louis. But the French Ambassador was

again exceedingly cautious and saw great dangers ahead.

"These are the greatest questions," he wrote M. Poincare,

"with which Russia can face her ally." "It would be better

for us to consent to discuss them in academic conversations,

than to risk being drawn along in Russia's wake by the

rapidity of events, without being able to discuss either her

action or to set forth our conditions. . . . For M. Sazonov

as for M. Izvolski, it is neither in China nor in Persia, but in

the Balkans that Russia will direct at present her principal

political effort." 138

Observing M. Georges Louis' extreme reserve, and aware

of Izvolski's failure to nail France down to support an open-

ing of the Straits, Sazonov drew back, and contented him-

self with merely informing France and England of the ex-

istence of a Serbo-Bulgarian Treaty, but not of its details

and potentially aggressive character. 139 He did not bring

up again for discussion his questionnaire, and evaded all

French efforts to draw him out as to what he had had in

mind. 140

It was not until Poincare visited St. Petersburg in

August, 1912, that he learned for the first time the full

text of the Serbo-Bulgarian Treaty, and exclaimed in alarm

:

"Mais c'est Id une convention de guerre!," exactly the ex-

pression which Nekliudov had used when forwarding the

document to St. Petersburg. M. Poincare was indignant

138 Louis to Poincare, Feb. 15 and 21, 1912; Judet, Georges Louis, p.

174 f.

130 Sazonov to the Russian Ambassadors in Paris and London, Mar.

30, 1912; Sicbcrt-Schreiner, p. 339.

no Poincare, II, 24-60.
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that the details of a treaty, likely to lead to war in the

Balkans and arranged under Russia's patronage, had been

so long withheld from France by her Ally. As he noted

at the time:

I did not conceal from him [Sazonov] that I could not

well explain to myself why these documents had not been

communicated to France by Russia. . . . The Treaty con-

tains the germ not only of a war against Turkey, but a war

against Austria. It establishes further the hegemony of

Russia over the Slav Kingdoms, because Russia is made

the arbiter in all questions. I observed to M. Sazonov that

this convention did not correspond in any way to the

definition of it which had been given to me; that it is,

strictly speaking a convention for war, and that it not only

reveals mental reservations on the part of the Serbs and

Bulgarians, but that it is also to be feared lest their hopes

appear to be encouraged by Russia, and that the eventual

partition will prove a bait to their covetousness.141

Nothing better characterizes the Serbo-Bulgarian Treaty

than these words of the French Premier, unless it be what

he himself said a week after the outbreak of the Balkan

War:

It is certain that she [Russia] knew all about [the

Serbo-Bulgarian Treaty], and, far from protesting against

it she saw in this diplomatic document a means of assuring

her hegemony in the Balkans. She perceives today that it is

too late to wipe out the movement which she has called

forth, and, as I said to MM. Sazonov and Izvolski, she is

trying to put on the brakes, but it is she who started the

motor.142

141 Note by Poincare of his conversation with Sazonov in August,

1912; Affaires Balkaniques, I, 38, 111 ff. Poincare, II, 114 ff. For Sazonov's

report to the Tsar of this same conversation see M.F.R., p. 255 ff.; L.N.,

II, 338 ff.; see also Judet, 178-203, and Sazonov's recent account in his

memoirs, Fatejul Years, p. 52 ff.

142 Poincare to P. Cambon, Oct. 15, 1912; Affaires Balkaniques, I, 112.
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THE BALKAN DANGER AND THE POWERS IN 1912

Though M. Poincare, with his characteristic quickness

and accuracy of judgment, was quite correct in his view

of the dangers latent in the Serbo-Bulgarian Treat}', he

and M. Sazonov took no immediate steps to consult with

the Powers to avert an outbreak of war in the Balkans. He
merely told M. Sazonov that public opinion in France would

not allow the French Government to take up arms for

Russia over a purely Balkan question—so long as Germany
did not intervene. In this latter case, Russia "could cer-

tainly count on France for the accomplishment of her exact

and entire obligations" as an ally. He confidentially in-

formed Sazonov of the secret Anglo-French "verbal agree-

ment in virtue of which England has declared herself ready

to aid France with all her naval and military forces in case

Df a German attack." He discussed the new Franco-

Russian Naval Convention, and urged Sazonov to try to

make a similar convention with Sir Edward Grey for the

cooperative action of the Russian and English navies. In

fact, aside from his brief comment of warning on hearing

the terms of the Serbo-Bulgarian Treaty and some discus-

sion of an Austrian peace proposal, virtually all of his con-

versations during his stay in Russia from August 9th to 16th

were devoted to strengthening the bonds of the Triple En-

tente and securing solidarity of action between France,

Russia and England. 143

After returning to France, though now fully aware of

the impending danger of war in the Balkans, M. Poincare

made no proposals to avert it until September 22. Even

then he consulted only with the two other members of the

Triple Entente, being ever anxious to preserve Entente

solidarity and to get concerted agreement to proposals

«3Sazonov's report to the Tsar, Aup. 17, 1912; M.F.R., 255-262;

L.N., II, 33S-315; Affaires Balkaniquet, I, 34-39; Poincare, II, 99-169.
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which could then be notified to the Triple Alliance Powers

for their acceptance or rejection. 144

This tended to sharpen the division of the Great Powers

into two hostile groups, whereas Germany, and also Sir

Edward Grey and Sazonov, for the most part, took the

broader and wiser stand of desiring to have the Powers act

collectively and in concert, in order to prevent a possible

conflict between the Triple Entente and Triple Alliance.

At times, to be sure, M. Poincare asserted his solicitude

for collective European action. Thus, on August 28, he

told the German Charge d'Affaires that "his policy aimed

that the Triple Alliance and Triple Entente should not

seek to range themselves on opposite sides, but should work

for the establishment of the European Concert." 145 This

sounded well. But did his acts correspond to his words?

On this same August 28 he telegraphed to London, "It seems

to me desirable that an Entente should take place between

144 M. Poincare's great insistence on what may be called "Entente
Solidarity" is seen on page after page of his own memoirs, in his innu-

merable public speeches, and in the documents. We give a few examples
taken merely from his memoirs within the eight weeks between his visit

to Russia and the First Balkan War. On leaving Russia, "the last words
spoken to M. Sazonov were to beg him to act with England and with

us" (II, 164). The communique issued to the Press announced that he
and Sazonov "have recognized once more the Entente of the two friendly

and allied countries" (II, 164). His reply of August 22 to Berchtold's pro-

posal for preserving peace makes the reservation, "It goes without saying

that we shall arrive at an agreement in concert with Russia and Eng-
land." . . . (II, 176). On Sept. 1, concerning further communications from
Berchtold, "I shall examine them with England and Russia;" and he
instructed the French Ambassador at Vienna: "Henceforth you can
express as your personal opinion that the French Government, firmly

attached to the Triple Entente, does not aim at any exclusive interests

in the East, and that the cooperation of all the Powers seems to it neces-

sary for the solution of the Balkan Problem" (II, 184). It is seldom that
M. Poincare ventures to put into one sentence, two such essentially con-
tradictory phrases as "firmly attached to the Triple Entente" and the
words which he now italicizes in his apologia, but which he did not
italicize in 1912. M. Poincare then asks a rhetorical question which the
reader may answer for himself: "Was it possible to take at the begin-

ning of the crisis a more clear and a more pacific position?" (II, 184).
145 Q.P., XXXIII, 79; cf. Poincare, II, 181.
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France, England and Russia so that completely harmonious

advice can be given at the Sublime Porte." 140 Two days

later he emphasized both at London and St. Petersburg:

"It remains understood that the concert of the three

[Entente] Powers is necessary for every collective

action." 1,7

In contrast to Poincare s policy of "Entente Solidarity,"

Count Berchtold proposed on August 13 that all the Great

Powers enter collectively into a discussion, with a view to

securing reforms from Turkey and restraining the Balkan

States from disturbing the status quo. 146 Count Berchtold

was thus the first of the European diplomatists to propose

collective European action in view of the increasing tension

between Turkey and the Balkan States, although he had no
such definite knowledge of the explosive material hidden in

the secret Balkan Treaties as had Sazonov and Poincare.

He acted without first consulting his own Ally, and, at first

sight, one is inclined to praise him for taking a statesman-

like stand, in favor of preserving peace by the Concert of

Europe. 1 10 But it appears his proposal was dictated mainly

by a desire to "be important," to offset newspaper criticisms

of his indolent do-nothing methods, and to seem to take the

initiative in the Balkan Problem before Sazonov and Poin-

care should announce something from St. Petersburg. 150

Moreover, Berchtold's proposal was so vague, both in its

wording and in his own mind, that it did not commend itself

14fl Affaires Balkaniques, I, 45.

147 Affaires Balkaniques, I, 50 f. In this case, though not always, Sir

Edward Grey and M. Sazonov agreed with him in placing "Entente Soli-

darity" ahead of the "Concert of Europe."
U& Affaires Balkaniques, I, 34 ff.; G.P.. XXXIII, 47 ff.

140 Fabre-Luce, La Victoire, Paris, 1924, p. 165, takes M. Poincare
severely to task for declining "the first part of these proposals" of
Berchtold. Poincare's reply (II. 160 ff.) to Fabre-Luce is not just; he
talks about a different stage in the Berchtold proposals.

"«GP., XXXIII, 50 f.. 61 f., 89 ff., 99. Kiderlen contemptuously
speaks of Berchtold's Wichtigtuerei as "stirring up much dust," but
as impractical.
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to any of the Powers, and was later pushed aside when M.
Poincare took the initiative out of Count Berchtold's

hands.

During mid-summer Sazonov had been very optimistic,

trusting perhaps too confidently to the power of veto which
he says the Balkan Treaty gave him ; he thought he could

restrain his proteges from a war which he probably wished
at this time to avoid. But by September 17, the news of

Turkish atrocities and Bulgarian war excitement became so

alarming, that he suddenly became frightened. He there-

fore made a suggestion to all the Powers, "not as a rival

but as a supplementary action" to that of Berchtold, that

the Powers should advise Turkey to make immediate re->

forms in Macedonia. 151 As quick action seemed urgent to

prevent the Bulgarians taking things into their own hands
in Macedonia, Sazonov gave his advice to Turkey imme-
diately, without waiting to hear from his Entente friends.

But his proposal had no effective results for several reasons:

Sir Edward Grey did not want to put pressure on the Turks

;

Poincare did not wish to act except in cooperation with

England; and Germany, after past experiences, had little

confidence in the success of any reforms by the Turks in

Macedonia. 152

Finally, on September 22, M. Poincare took the initia-

tive by proposing to England and France a formula for

restraining the Balkan Powers, which the Triple Entente
should agree upon and then present to Germany and Aus-
tria for acceptance. Izvolski told him that he feared that

this procedure would not receive the assent of Sazonov nor

of England, "because it emphasized the division of Europe
into two groups." M. Poincare replied that it could be kept

151M.F.R., p. 276; L.N., II, 547; Stieve, II, 253; G.P., XXXIII,
106 ff.

; Affaires Balkaniques, I, 58.

152 Poincare, II, 208 ff.; Affaires Balkaniques, I, 58 f.; G.P., XXXIII,
106 ff.
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secret, 163 and, after some modifications to please England

and Russia, secured an accord with them: the Entente

Powers were to invite Germany and Austria to agree to join

in advising the Balkan States not to disturb the peace, and

warning them that, even if they broke it, they would not

be allowed to make territorial gains. On September 28,

M. Jules Cambon broached the subject to M. Kiderlen-

Wachtcr at Berlin and found a cordial reception. The only

remaining question seemed to be who should assume the

ungrateful office of making the announcement to the Balkan

States. M. Kiderlen suggested that Russia and Austria

should act in the name of the Great Powers, and his sug-

gestion was adopted. But there were further delays due to

objections raised by Russia and England. On October 7,

the assent of all the Great Powers was finally secured, and

the next day Russia and Austria issued the agreed warning

to the now highly excited Balkan States.154 It was too late.

On this very day, October 8, Montenegro declared war on

Turkey and was speedily joined by the other Balkan Allies.

THE BALKAN WARS OF 1912-1913

In an outline of Balkan Problems from 1907 to 1914 it

is obviously impossible to enter into all the complicated

kaleidoscopic questions which now arose between the Great

Powers and between the Balkan States themselves. Any
adequate treatment of them would fill a book in itself. The

Balkan Wars therefore must be dealt with very briefly here.

When Bulgaria, Serbia, and Greece joined Montenegro

in war upon Turkey in October, 1912, they quickly aston-

ished themselves and the world by the rapidity and com-

i53Poincarc to P. Cambon, Sept. 22, 1912; Affaires Balkamques, I,

61. In his memoirs (II, 214 ff.) M. Poincarc omits to mention his own
advocacy of concealment, but notes that Sazonov urged that the three

Entente Powers should concert measures in secret.

is* Affaires Balkaniqucs, I, 63-104; G.P., XXXIII, 133-181; Poincare,

II, 219-249.
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pleteness of their victories. The Greeks occupied Salonica

;

the Bulgarians marched victoriously to the defensive forts

outside Constantinople; and the Serbians swept over the

whole upper valley of the Vardar, the Sanjak of Novi Bazar,

and the northern part of Albania. This gave them at last

an outlet on the Adriatic. Only the Turkish fortresses of

Adrianople, Janina, and Scutari held out against the vic-

torious allies.

The Serbians were greatly elated by these conquests

which doubled their territory and seemed to foreshadow

the possibility of the early realization of their "Greater

Serbia" ambitions at Austria's expense. They were actively

encouraged by Hartwig, the Russian Minister at Belgrade.

He was said to have declared to his Rumanian colleague

that Serbia could not possibly renounce her outlet on the

Adriatic; Serbia must be the Slavic advance-post in the

Balkans, and must annex Bosnia, Herzegovina, and the

South Slav districts of Hungary; Rumania, he hinted, had

better look out for her interests in the same way and annex

Transylvania. When this was called to Sazonov's attention,

he denied emphatically that Hartwig could have made such

remarks, but a little later admitted that "Hartwig has great

sympathy for the Slav cause, is of a passionate character,

and perhaps lets himself be carried away occasionally by

his Slavophil sympathies." 155 But there was little doubt

155 G.P., XXXIII, 319, 388, 439. Hartwig, in his zeal for the Pan*

Slav cause, very probably made the remarks attributed to him. There

are indications that he often went beyond his instructions and was danger-

ously indiscreet. Cj. Nekliudov, Diplomatic Reminiscences, pp. 47 ff.

Even Izvolski now complained of "the conviction which is enrooted here

[in Paris], as in London, that Hartwig is acting at Belgrade contrary

to the instructions which he receives. ... I cannot conceal from you

that Poincare is firmly convinced that Hartwig, who has known how to

acquire a great influence at Belgrade, is not making any use of it at all

to make the Serbians wise and calm;" Izvolski to Sasonov, Nov. 21,

1912; L.N., I, 351-352. M. Georges Louis had no doubt that Hartwig

was encouraging Serbia against Austria; on Nov. 18 he reported another

remark of Hartwig's on the Balkan victories: "The affair of Turkey
is settled. Now it is the turn of Austria;" Judet, 200-201.
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that Russia was energetically supporting the Serbian claim
to Northern Albania and ports on the Adriatic. Reports
came from St. Petersburg that the Pan-Slav and militarist
party of the Grand Dukes was using pressure upon the
peace-loving Tsar to resort to war, if necessary, on Serbia's
behalf. 150

To Austria and Italy, as well as to the Albanians them-
selves, the extraordinary and unexpected victories of the
Serbians were most unwelcome. Though the Albanians,
numbering less than two million, were still in a relatively
primitive state of civilization, and divided into hostile
quarreling groups of varying religious affiliations-
Roman Catholic, Greek Orthodox, and Mohammedan—they
scouted the idea of coming under the rule of the Serbians.
They had no mind to exchange the Turkish for a Serbian
yoke. 157 Though Albania could not look back to a great
historic past, like Greece under Pericles, or like Serbia and
Bulgaria in the later Middle Ages, the more intelligent
Albanian chieftains now desired an independent, or at
least an autonomous, Albanian State. When the Serbian
and Greek armies overran their territory and threatened
their independence, Ismael Kemal saved the situation by
hastily calling an assembly of representative chieftains from
all parts of Albania. On November 28, 1912, the national
flag, the black double-headed eagle of Scanderbeg on a
blood-red ground, was hoisted over Valona, and Albania's
independence and neutrality was proclaimed. This was
done with the approval of Austria and Italy.

Both Austria and Italy urged the establishment of an
Albanian State, though under different forms and for differ-
ent reasons. Allies, yet rivals, both were in favor of creat-
ing Albania as a means of excluding Serbia from the Adri-

issG.P., XXXIII, 335 f., 3S3ff.
157 Conrad. II, 157 ff., Ill, 56 ff.. 101 ff.; and M. Edith Durham, High

Albania (1909), The Struggle for Scutari (1914), and Twenty Years ofBalkan Tangle (1920).
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atic, which both aspired to dominate. But both were ex-

tremely jealous and suspicious of each other. Both had

sought secret support from Russia for the exclusion of the

other from all influence in Albania—Austria by Goluchow-

ski's exchange of notes with Muraview in 1897, and Italy

by the secret Racconigi Agreement of October, 1909, as has

been indicated above. These two jealous Powers differed,

however, as to the details of the desired Albanian princi-

pality. Austria wanted a completely independent Albania,

either under a native chieftain, or under some other ruler

whom Austria could more or less control and influence.

She hoped to find in a newly created Albania an ally against

Serbia on the east and a check upon Italy on the west.

Austria therefore desired that the new state be as strong

as possible, and that it should include Ipek, Djakovo, Dibra,

and Prizren, as well as Scutari and Janina. "An Albania

without Scutari, Janina, and Prizren, would be a body

without a heart and stomach." 158 An Albania of such size

and strength as Austria desired would deprive Serbia of part

of the fruits of her unexpected victories, and also tend to

check the dangerous "Greater Serbia" movement in the

future.

Italy, on the other hand, did not want too strong an

Albania, where Italy had political, commercial, and military

ambitions. Italy wanted to control the harbor of Valona,

build a railway across the mountains to Salonica, and check

the northern advance of Greek influence. In possession

of Brindisi on one shore of the Adriatic, and in control of

the Albanian coast on the other, Italy aspired virtually to

close up the Adriatic into an Italian lake. Italy was satis-

fied merely to have the Serbians shut out from the coast.

Rather than give Albania wide frontiers and a prince who
might be under Austrian influence, Italy preferred leaving

158 Report of an Austrian expert on Albania in January, 1913; Conrad,

III, 59.
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the region under nominal Turkish suzerainty, with a gov-

ernor appointed by the Great Powers and assisted by a

gendarmerie under Swedish, Spanish, Swiss, or Belgian offi-

cers. Italy foresaw, as proved to be the case, that a weak

Albania under the joint direction of the Great Powers would

be far more favorable to Italian interests, than a strong

independent Albania under Austrian influence; because in

Balkan questions, the grouping of the Great Powers tended

to be 4-2 or even 5-1 against Austria—after the Racconigi

Agreement Italy inclined more and more to the Entente,

and Germany often sided with the Entente when she con-

sidered Austria's Balkan policy to be dangerously aggressive.

By the end of November, this Albanian question, to-

gether with all the other rivalries and suspicions which

had been accentuated by the Balkan War, began seriously

to threaten the peace of Europe. Russia, in spite of some

wavering on Sazonov's part, inclined to back the Serbians

in their actual possession of Northern Albania, and Austria

and Italy wore determined to support the Albanian chief-

tains in their opposition to Serbia. Russia began mobiliz-

ing part of her forces against Austria. Austria had already

made preparations for war against Serbia, and was believed

to have mobilized three army corps in Galicia against

Russia. On December 7, Conrad, the head of the Austrian

militarist group, was reappointed to his old position as

Chief of Staff. Russia, however, drew back when the risk

of war became imminent. Poincare, who had warned

Russia from a too risky support of Serbia on his visit to

Russia, before the Balkan Allies had won their great vic-

tories, now encouraged Russia to take a stiff stand. He saw

that the new Balkan Alliance was virtually equivalent in

strength to a Great Power. With this on the side of Russia,

the prospects were highly favorable for French revanche,

if Austria should attack Russia, and thus involve France

and Germany in a general war. He counted on Italy's
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doubtful loyalty to the Triple Alliance, and he hoped for

England's armed support to the Triple Entente, in view of

the exchange of notes which had just taken place between

Paul Cambon and Sir Edward Grey in London.

Peace between the Great Powers, however, was pre-

served, thanks largely to efforts of the English and German

Governments. Concessions were made on all sides. On

December 16, the London Conference of Ambassadors ac-

cepted Sir Edward Grey's compromise proposal for an inde-

pendent Albania whose boundaries were to be determined

later.

Like most compromises, this satisfied neither of the two

states most directly interested in the fate of the unhappy

little country. Serbia felt very bitterly at being deprived

of the fruits of her victories and her long hoped-for eco-

nomic outlet on the Adriatic. Deprived by the Great

Powers of territory which she had expected to get in this

direction, Serbia quite naturally felt she had a right to ask

Bulgaria to revise the terms of the Serbo-Bulgarian Treaty,

and to give her some of Macedonia south of the line from

Mt. Golem to Lake Ochrida. Bulgaria refused. This

eventually led to the second Balkan War, when Bulgaria

made her sudden treacherous attack upon Serbia at the end

of June, 1913.

Austria also complained bitterly that nearly everything

which occurred in connection with Albania in the months

following the adoption of Sir Edward Grey's proposal was

done in opposition to her wishes and was prejudicial to her

interests. This was either because the majority of the

Conference took sides against her in favor of Serbia, Russia,

and Italy ; or because the Serbians and Montenegrins acted

in defiance of the decisions of the Powers, by placing faits

accomplis before the Conference, which the latter was un-

willing or unable to remedy. The most notorious and gro-

tesque case of the kind was the way in which King Nicho-
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las of Montenegro snapped his fingers in the face of the

Powers and their international fleet and continued the siege

of Scutari, which the Conference had assigned to Albania.

On the other hand, Ipek, Djakova, Dibra, and Prizren were

not included within the boundaries of the new state. This

meant, according to Austria's contention, that something

like half a million Albanians, forming a compact group

within the watershed which constitutes the natural geo-

graphical boundary of Albania, were to be left to the mercy
of Serbian and Montenegrin troops. In the south, Greece

demanded that the boundary be drawn in such a way that

the Greek Orthodox Albanians would be assigned to her.

Conrad, the Austrian Chief of Staff, wanted to compel

Greece to abandon these claims on Southern Albania, either

by diplomatic action, or by a joint Austro-Italian show of

force. But here Austria met with opposition from her own
Ally.

Although the Albanian compromise averted the danger

of an immediate war between the Great Powers, it remained

a highly disturbing factor in Balkan politics until it dis-

appeared into relative insignificance at the outbreak of the

World War. It was indirectly the cause of the fratricidal

Serbo-Bulgarian conflict of June, 1913, and it led to a new
Austro-Serbian crisis in the following November.

When Bulgaria suddenly attacked Serbia in the quarrel

over Macedonia, and started the Second Balkan War (June

30-August 10, 1913), she was speedily crushed. Rumania
and Greece seized the favorable opportunity to settle their

grievances against her by joining forces with Serbia. Even
Turkey returned to the attack to recover the Thracian

territory which she had just lost. Attacked on four sides,

and already exhausted by her efforts during the First Bal-

kan War, Bulgaria was quickly forced to beg for peace and

sign the Treaty of Bucharest. This deprived her of a large

part of her recent conquests from Turkey and some of her



THE BALKAN WARS OF 1912-1913 445

own former territory which was ceded to Rumania. It

increased the power of her Balkan rivals, and left her iso-

lated and embittered. Henceforth she was eager to gain

the support of Austria or Russia—whichever offered her

the best prospect of overthrowing the Bucharest Treaty.

But she had forfeited the confidence of every one. Russia

hesitated to ally with her for fear of antagonizing Serbia,

and Austria hesitated similarly for fear of offending

Rumania.

Serbia came out of the Balkan Wars greatly increased in

power and prestige, and fired with a renewed self-confidence

and determination to realize her ambition of a "Greater

Serbia." She had nearly doubled her territory, and in-

creased her population from three to nearly four and a half

millions. To be sure, the newly acquired districts in Mace-

donia were predominantly Bulgarian in character, and

would therefore present a difficult problem of assimilation

and administration as Serbia's first task of the future. But

her acquisition of part of Novi Bazar and the upper Vardar

valley, and her running frontier with Montenegro, would

enable her effectively to bar the progress of Austria toward

Salonica. Together these two Slav states partially sur-

rounded the Austrian provinces of Bosnia and Herzegovina.

There were soon rumors that Serbia and Montenegro might

merge together, as the first step in the formation of "Greater

Serbia." The next step would be to take Bosnia, Herzego-

vina, Dalmatia, and the other South Slav districts belonging

to Austria-Hungary.

These dangerous and reckless territorial ambitions,

which were taking stronger and stronger hold of all Serbians,

even of their greatest leader and Prime Minister, M.

Pashitch, are reflected in the remark which he made to his

Greek colleague, M. Politis, as they finished dividing up the

spoils of the Second Balkan War at the Bucharest Peace

Conference: "The first round is won; now we must prepare
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the second against Austria." 150 Even more indicative of
his megalomania is the statement lie made to the Serbian
Charge d'Affaires at Berlin, whom he met a few days later
at Marienbad:

Already in the first Balkan War I could have let it come
to an European war, in order to acquire Bosnia and Herze-
govina: but, as I feared that we should then be forced to
make large concessions to Bulgaria in Macedonia, I wanted
first of all to secure the possession of Macedonia for Serbia,
and only then to proceed to the acquisition of Bosnia. 160

'

It would be a mistake, however, to think that M.
Pashitch intended "the second round" against Austria im-
mediately. Cooler reflection told him that before proceed-
ing to this, it was necessary to consolidate the gains in
Macedonia and to make more certain of Russian support.
Hence his visit to Russia in January, 1914, to ask for a
marriage alliance between the Serbian Crown Prince and the
Tsar's daughter, as well as for "120,000 guns and ammu-
nition and some few cannon, especially howitzers." 181

Although M. Pashitch was willing to await the favorable
moment, this was not the feeling of many nationalist Serb
youths and especially of the Serbian military officers of the
secret "Black Hand." Highly elated by their recent vic-
tories, they looked forward with increasing eagerness and
impatience to the day, so often promised by Russia, when
the great Slav Empire of the north would be ready to help
them in the "inevitable" struggle between Slavdom and
Germandom, and the final creation of a "Greater Serbia"
at the expense of the Hapsburg Empire. 162

150 Bogitchevitch, 65. "o Bogitchevitch, 65. iei Bogitchevitch 17.5

; P
D

, ,

May 6
'

1913
'
Sazonov wrote to Hartwig in Belgrade (Dculsch-

land SchuldigT p. 99): "Serbia's Promised Land lies in the territory of
the present Austria-Hungary, and not there where she is now making
efforts and where the Bulgarians stand in her way. Under these cir-
cumstances it is of vital interest to Serbia to maintain her alliance with
Bulgaria on the one hand, and, on the other, to accomplish with steady
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In proportion as Serbia was elated and strengthened,

Austria felt discouraged and weakened in power and pres-

tige by the results of the Balkan Wars. Though she had

taken no part in them, and lost no territory, her position

was seriously undermined. Her subject nationalities grew

more restless and more accessible to subversive propaganda.

Rumania was becoming a less reliable ally, and Serbia a

more certain and active enemy. The ever-present friction

and distrust between Italy and Austria had been increased,

and the danger that Austria might one day have to fight

a war upon four fronts—Italian, Serbian, Rumanian and

Russian—had become more threatening. Realizing these

increased dangers, the militarist party at Vienna again seri-

ously considered whether Austria ought not to deal at once

with the Greater Serbia danger.163

Germany's warning to Austria, july, 1913

When Bulgaria treacherously attacked Serbia at the end

of June, 1913, and began the short but disastrous Second

Balkan War, 164 Berchtold at first adopted a reserved "wait

and patient work the necessary degree of preparedness for the inevitable

struggle of the future. Time works on the side of Serbia and for the

ruin of her enemies, who already show evident signs of decay. Explain

all this to the Serbians! I hear from all sides that if ever any voice can

have a full effect at Belgrade, it is yours." For the Tsar's long encourag-

ing interview with Pashitch on Jan. 20/Feb. 2, 1914, see ibid., 130-136;

and Bogitchevitch, 170-180. For Hartwig's attitude, see above, note 155.

163 Conrad, III, 11 ff., 74 ff., 98 ff., 238 ff., and especially 303 ff. and

329 ff

.

id For the oft-repeated assertion that Austria egged Bulgaria on to

the attack on Serbia we find no clear and definite confirmation in all the

voluminous documents which have now been published. As early as

May 6, from reports from Bulgaria and talks with Bulgarian officers,

Conrad' was convinced that an early war between Serbia and Bulgaria was

inevitable, and urged Berchtold to make up his mind to take advantage of

it; but Berchtold hesitated (Conrad, III, 302-316). On May 26 Conrad

says he heard from the Austrian Military Attache in Sofia that Berch-

told had offered to support Bulgaria, protect her from loss of territory,

and loan her money, if Bulgaria would refrain from following in the

wake of Russia (Conrad, III, 330) ; but Conrad's own correspondence and

frequent interviews with Berchtold at this time and during the following
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and see" attitude, which accorded with his own hesitating

nature and the wishes of Germany and Italy. 105 But he did

not intend to tolerate any further great increase of Serbian

territory, in spite of the moderating counsels of the German
Ambassador in Vienna. According to the latter's despatch

of July 1, 1913:

If Russia, in case of decisive Bulgarian victories, should

intervene in favor of Serbia, they would oppose it here

[Kaiser's marginal comment: "Unbelievable"]. To my
question, how this would be done, Count Berehtold thought

either by direct steps at St. Petersburg, or perhaps by the

occupation of Belgrade [Kaiser: "Totally crazy; that is then

war!"]

.

Interference by Austria-Hungary without Russian provo-

weeks contain nothing which confirms this doubtful report. Neither does

Die Grosse Politik, unless it be Tschirschky's vague phrase on July 2

that Berehtold "seems to begin to fear the Bulgarian spirits which he

called" (G.P., XXXV, 147 note). The editors of the latter declare

(G.P., XXXV, 52 note): "The Russian assumption that the Bulgarian

Government was egged on to its final intransigence by Austria-Hungary

finds no confirmation cither in the German documents nor in the Austrian

sources." To be sure, the argumcntum ex silcntio is negative and not con-

clusive. There is no doubt that Berehtold rejoiced at the prospect of

the collapse of the Balkan League formed under Russian patronage,

though he still suffered from the illusory nightmare that Triple Entente

intrigues and Rumanian demands on Bulgaria for territorial compensa-

tions might cause its rcconstitution (G.P., XXXV, 7, 40, 68 f). There

is also no doubt that Berehtold refused to support the Russian proposal

rally in June, 1913, that the Great Powers invite the Balkan States to

demobilize at once (G.P., XXXV, 26, 41, 240; Affaires Balkaniques, II,

209 ff.) ; that he recognized the "parallelism of Austrian and Bulgarian

interests" in their common opposition to a Greater Serbia (G.P., XXXIV,
822; XXXV, 117 f. 320, 329 f, 346 ff.); and also that he was "Bul-

garophil" to the extent of trying to bring about a peaceful arrangement

between Rumania and Bulgaria without too great territorial concessions

on the latter's part (G.P.. XXXIV, 577 ff.. 843, 873 ff.; XXXV, 17. 56,

01 f, 66IT.. 77, 115 ff.) . But that he positively egged Bulgaria on in her

suicidal attack on Serbia seems not proven. Had he done so, Germany
would have been likely to have known of it, and some allusion would

be found to it in the German documents, especially in the frequent

uncomplimentary remarks which the Kaiser and his German officials

indulged in concerning Berehtold's diplomacy (c/. G.P., XXXV, 40, 54,

116, 147 note, 148 note, 365, 378; XXXVI. 28-30, 32).

1C5G.P, XXXV, 7f, 16 ff., 52 ff., 115.
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cation would only be necessary in case Serbia should win

decisively and a "Great Serbia" threaten to arise. ... I

called the Minister's attention to the fact that, just as Rus-

sian intervention on behalf of Serbia might call forth counter

action by Austria-Hungary, just so Austrian interference

against Serbia would bring Russia to a counter action.

Berchtold observed, "Perhaps." 166

Two days later Berchtold again expressed his anxieties

to the German Ambassador, who reported to Berlin:

Count Berchtold asked me to call on him today. The

Minister said he considered it his duty not to leave the

German Government in the dark as to the gravity of the

position for the Monarchy. The South Slav question, that

is to say, undisturbed possession of the provinces inhabited

by South Slavs, is a vital question for the Monarchy as

well as for the Triple Alliance. The Monarchy's South

Slav provinces could not be held if Serbia became too power-

ful. As to that, all competent opinions here agree. The

Monarchy might accordingly possibly be compelled to in-

tervene, in the event of Serbia inflicting a crushing defeat

on Bulgaria in conjunction with Rumania and Greece, and

annexing tracts of country in excess of the territory of

Old Serbia, or something approximating to that. Serbia

cannot be left in possession of Monastir, in any case.

To my question, when and how he thought of interven-

ing, the Minister replied that it would no doubt be possible

to find the psychological moment. Naturally he could not

say anything now as to the method of procedure; that would

depend on circumstances. He thought they would have to

begin with a diplomatic conversation in Belgrade, which

must be supported by military pressure, if it led to no con-

clusion. Then, if Russia came into the arena, St. Petersburg

would become the scene of action.

The Minister again expressed a hope that the Monarchy's

difficult position would be understood in Berlin. Far from

leeTschirschky to F.O, July 1, 1913; G.P., XXXV, 115 f.
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wishing to pursue an adventurous policy, or being bent
on conquest, her only object was to safeguard her South
Slav possessions, which of course included Trieste. Natur-
ally the most acceptable solution of the question would be
a small Serbia, defeated by the enemy, and he would very
much prefer this to a possible occupation of Serbia by the
Monarchy. But, failing the first alternative, the Monarchy
would be compelled to take action, in order to safeguard
her possessions. There must be no mistake as to the danger
of a Great Serbian "Piedmont," weighing as a military fac-
tor, on the borders of the Monarchy. 107

This telegram arrived at Berlin while Bethmann-
Hollwcg and Jagow, the German Secretary of State, were
absent at Kiel at the Kaiser's annual yachting festival, at
which the Italian King and Queen, accompanied by their
Minister of Foreign Affairs, San Giuliano, were also present,
Zimmcrmann, the Under-Secretary at Berlin, forwarded the
telegram to Kiel, with the moderating ( lerman comment

:

For the moment there hardly seems to be any ground
for special nervousness on Vienna's part, because one can
scarcely talk as yet of the danger of a Great Serbia. Our
business should be to exercise a quieting influence on Vienna,
and see that she keeps us regularly informed of her inten-
tions and takes no decisions before hearing what we have
to say. 108

Meanwhile Berchtold had become increasingly nervous.
He feared that Rumania was about to fall upon Bulgaria
and so weaken her that Serbia would have a complete vic-

tory, and then the Greater Serbia danger would be greater
than ever. He therefore telegraphed to the Austrian Am-

167 Tschirschky to Bothmann, July 3. 1913; G.P.. XXXV. 122 ff.;

previously published by Count Montgelas in the Deutsche AUgcmcine
Zeitung of March 7, 1920 No. 123, and in his Lcitfadcn zur Kricgsschuldfrage
(Berlin, 1923), p. 61 f.

i« s G.P., XXXV, 124; Montjrelas, I.e., p. 62. The Kaiser approved
Ziramcrmanns comment and Tschirschky was so informed (GP., XXXV,
125)

.
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bassadors in Berlin and Rome on July 4, expressing much

the same views as in his conversations with the German

Ambassador quoted above, and particularly urging that

Austria's two allies should "make representations at Bucha-

rest to hold off Rumania from further steps against Bul-

garia."
169 Bethmann refused to do this, and made it clear,

as he had often done before, that the way to prevent

Rumania from falling upon Bulgaria was for Austria to

exert energetic pressure at Sofia to induce King Ferdinand

to satisfy King Carol's justifiable demands for territorial

compensations. For Berchtold's edification Bethmann

added the further sapient observations and effective

warnings

:

Austria-Hungary from the outset declared that in the

present Balkan crisis she is striving after no territorial con-

quests. She has defined her interest as to the outcome of the

Balkan War to the effect that Serbia must not reach the

Adriatic, and that a viable Albania must be delivered. The

first point she has smoothly accomplished. As to the

boundaries of Albania, she has triumphed in the Scutari

question, and along with Italy also in the question of the

southern boundary of Albania along the coast. The ques-

tions still open—the southern boundary on the mainland,

the constitution, and the choice of a ruler, etc., will, it is to

be hoped, be satisfactorily settled. At any rate the hostil-

ities which have now broken out between Bulgaria and

Serbia-Greece in no wise disturb as yet the rule of policy

hitherto traced by Austria-Hungary. On the contrary, these

hostilities are not undesirable for specifically Austro-Hun-

garian interests, aside from the further disturbance they

cause to trade and travel. It can only benefit the Dual

Monarchy, if Bulgaria and Serbia are weak and discordant

at the end of the war. Austria gains time thereby to restore

the modus vivendi with Serbia which under all circumstances

is necessary.

169G.P., XXXV, 128 f.; Pribram, p. 301, note 424.
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Hew the present hostilities between Bulgaria and Serbia

will end, no man knows. But this is certain, that whichever

wins, both will be weakened and filled with hatred against

one another! Austria-Hungary should not interfere with

this result. Even if Serbia should win, it is still a long way
to a Great Serbia. For even then, Serbia will not reach the

Adriatic, and a few strips of land more or less will not put

the fat in the fire. Should Austria-Hungary now try by

diplomatic means to chase Serbia out of her newly won
territories, she would have no luck, but would certainly

rouse deadly hatred in Serbia. Should she try to do this

by force of arms, it would mean a European war. Ger-

many's vital interests would thereby be most seriously af-

fected, and I must therefore assume that before Count

Berchtold makes any such decisions he will inform us.

I can therefore only express the hope that the people, in

Vienna will not let themselves be upset by the nightmare of

a Great Serbia, but will await further developments from the

Scrbo-Bulgarian theatre of war. Only insistently can I

warn against the idea of wanting to gobble up Serbia, for

that would simply weaken Austria. 170

This speedy and decisive warning from Germany on

July 6 effectually deterred Berchtold and Conrad from

rashly entering upon any reckless adventure which would

have endangered the peace of Europe. We have given the

episode in some detail, partly to suggest that Germany
might have done the same in July, 1914; partly to illustrate

Lhe divergence in views between Berlin and Vienna; and

partly to correct false impressions which M. Giolitti has

spread concerning this incident, and which have been gen-

erally accepted by Entente writers.

Speaking in the Italian Parliament on December 5, 1914,

in an attempt to justify Italy's neutrality in the World

War by an historical precedent in 1913, M. Giolitti said:

1T0 Bcthmann to Szogvcnyi, and Zimmcrmann to Tschirschkv, Julv

6, 1913; G.P., XXXV, 129 f.
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During the Balkan War, on the 9th of August, about a

year before the present war broke out, during my absence

from Rome, I received from my hon. colleague, Signor di

San Giuliano, the following telegram:

"Austria has communicated to us and to Germany her

intention of taking action against Serbia, and defines such

action as defensive, hoping to bring into operation the

casus foederis of the Triple Alliance, which, on the contrary,

I believe to be inapplicable. (Sensation.)

"I am endeavoring to arrange for a combined effort with

Germany to prevent such action on the part of Austria,

but it may become necessary to state clearly that we do not

consider such action, if it should be taken, as defensive, and

that, therefore, we do not consider that the casus foederis

arises.

"Please telegraph to me at Rome if you approve."

I replied:

"If Austria intervenes against Serbia it is clear that a

casus foederis cannot be established. It is a step which she

is taking on her own account, since there is no question of

defence, inasmuch as no one is thinking of attacking her.

It is necessary that a declaration to this effect should be

made to Austria in the most formal manner, and we must

hope for action on the part of Germany to dissuade Austria

from this most perilous adventure." {Hear, hear.)

This course was taken, and our interpretation was up-

held and recognised as proper, since our action in no way

disturbed our relations with the two Allied Powers. The

declaration of neutrality made by the present Government

conforms therefore in all respects to the precedents of Ital-

ian policy, and conforms also to an interpretation of the

Treaty of Alliance which has been already accepted by the

Allies.

I wish to recall this, because I think it right that in the

eyes of all Europe it should appear that Italy has remained

completely loyal to the observance of her pledges. (Loud

applause.) 171

171 Collected Diplomatic Correspondence (London, 1915), p. 401.
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M. Giolitti repeats his statement in his memoirs, and it

has been blindly copied by Entente writers generally—even
by such a well informed and cautious writer as M. Poin-

care. 17 - But the statement is incorrect in many respects.

In the first place, Giolitti places the incident on August
9 instead of July 9—that is, at the end instead of at the

beginning of the Second Balkan War; in placing it after

Serbia had made her great gains from Bulgaria and after

Austria was correspondingly dissatisfied with the Bituation,

he gives his account a more plausible character. In reality

what appears to have happened was this. Berchtold's tele-

gram of July 4, asking for pressure on Rumania and saying

that Austria could not allow Serbia to be greatly in-

creased, 173 reached Rome when Giolitti and San Giuliano

were both absent from the city, San Giuliano being at Kiel.

In the absence of the Prime Minister and the Minister of

Foreign Affairs, the subordinate Foreign Office officials, who
received Berchtold's communication, "got a fright such as

they had never had in their lives"; 171 but they were greatly

relieved when they soon learned from the German Ambas-
sador in Rome of the vigorous warning which Berlin had
at once given Vienna. When San Giuliano returned from
Kiel to Rome, he found the Austrian communication which
had terrified his subordinates, consulted Giolitti by tele-

graph on July 9, and then replied to the Austrian Ambas-
sador on July 12 (nearly a week after Bethmann had al-

ready given his warning to Berchtold), protesting against

any Austrian military action against Serbia, and adding,
172 G. Giolitti, Memoirs oj My Life (London, 1923), p. 372; Poin-

care, III, 231. See, however, G.P., XXXV, 122 note; Pribram, p. 301;
Jagow, Ursnchen, p. 71, and article in Deutsche Allgcmeine Zeitung, Feb.
21, 1923; Montgclas, Lcitjadcn, p. 60 ff.; and A. von Wegerer, Krilische
Bemerkungen zu Kajrild XIII aus Yiuianis "Reponse au Kaiser" (Berlin.
1923), p. 2Sff.

1-3G.P., XXXV, 128 0", 164; Pribram, p. 301, note 424. Cf. above,
p. 451.

i"-»Flotow, German Ambassador in Rome, to Bethmann, July 15,

1913; G.P, XXXV, 165.
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"We shall hold you back by the coat-tails, if necessary." 175

Giolitti is also incorrect in implying that it was Italy,

rather than Germany, who deterred Berchtold from taking

rash action; 176
it was not San Giuliano's reply of July 12,

but Bethmann's prompt warning of July 6, which was of

decisive influence at Vienna. Nor is there anything in the

documents hitherto published by Germany and Austria

which confirms M. Giolitti's assertion that the Triple Alli-

ance casus foederis was discussed on this occasion. Nor,

finally, is the righteous attitude of the Italian statesmen

of December, 1914, quite so admirable and convincing if it

be true, as it probably is, that San Giuliano, after his return

from Kiel in 1913, confided to the German Ambassador in

Rome that he himself, in Berchtold's place, would have

followed the path which he feared Berchtold was preparing

to follow—action against Serbia, possibly involving a Euro-

pean war. 177

INTRIGUES OVER KAVALA IN 1913

The Second Balkan War, resulting in the conquest from

the Bulgarians of Kavala by the Greeks and of Adrianople

by the Turks, led to some very interesting diplomatic in-

trigues which illumine the methods of pre-War diplomatists.

They throw a curious light on the support—or rather lack

of support—which allies give one another when their own

selfish interests are involved. In fact, the Kavala question

caused such an internal split within each diplomatic group,

i75Merey, Austrian Ambassador in Rome, to Berchtold, July 12,

1913; Pribram,' p. 301 f., and note 425.

176 Giolitti's statement of Dec. 5, 1914, quoted above, that San Giu-

liano was "endeavoring to arrange for a combined effort with Germany

to prevent such action on the part of Austria" etc. Cf. similarly Pom-

care (III 321)- "A la demande de l'ltalie, l'Allemagne retint, en effet,

le bras de l'Autriche." It is greatly to be wished that Italy should pub-

lish her documents for the pre-War period, as Germany and England are

doin°- but there seems little prospect of this at present.

i77Flotow to Bethmann, July 19, 1913; G.P., XXXV, 192 f.
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that in the resulting Franco-Russian newspaper recrimina-

tions the Novoe Vremia demanded a revision of the Franco-

Russian Alliance; 178 and, similarly, the Vienna Neue Freie

Presse regretted sorrowfully the hitherto incredible "rift

and serious weaknesses'' in the Austro-German Alliance,

"which for more than thirty years had rooted itself in our

consciousness like an oak tree in its soil."
179 While allies

were thus at odds with one another, French and German
ministers were felicitating each other on their successful

cooperation and their hopes of defeating the desires of their

own respective allies, and Sir Edward Grey joyfully ob-

served in this curious inversion of the usual diplomatic

roles a happy augury for the peace of Europe. 180

Kavala was a Macedonian walled town and seaport

situated about half-way between Salonica and the Dar-

danelles. Its tolerably good harbor was the best port avail-

able for the Bulgarians on the Aegean. It was near the

center of a rich agricultural region where millions of dollars

worth of the best Turkish tobacco was produced annually.

Aside from Turks and Spanish Jews, its population was pre-

dominantly Greek, though the hinterland was predomi-

nantly Bulgarian. 181 Greeks and Bulgarians both coveted

it. In the first Balkan War the Bulgarian armies got there

first and occupied it. But in the following war between the

Balkan States. Bulgaria was attacked on all sides and had

to yield it up to the Greeks. On both occasions the usual

unspeakable atrocities were committed.

As to the final fate of Kavala. it soon appeared that the

it«M.F.R., p. 407; L.N., II, 132; Stieve, III, 241; Affaires Balkan-

iques, II, 294 f. ; III, 3-7.

i'» Aug. 11, 1913; on these Press feuds, see G.P.. XXXV, 368-381.

no Affaires Balkaniques, II, 294; G.P., XXXV, 368 f.

181 Cf. ethnographic map in Petermann's MittcUungen, 1915, map 44;

Bulgarian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, La Question Biilgare et les Etals

Balkaniqiies, (Sofia, 1919), pp. 78-87, 200-205. 275; Carnegie Endowment
Report on the Balkan Wars (Washington, 1914), pp. 78-106, 1S6-207, 2S5-

290; CP, XXXV, 319-383, Dassim.
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Great Powers held very divergent views. Austria and

Russia, usually diametrically opposed on Balkan matters,

were both very anxious to give it to Bulgaria. Berchtold

and Sazonov therefore began intrigues in which their

methods were precisely analogous and parallel, but in which

their objectives were altogether different. Germany and

France, on the other hand, were equally insistent that

Kavala should go to Greece. England and Italy, less di<

rectly interested, were at first inclined to give it to Bulgaria,

but both soon acquiesced in letting the Greeks stay in the

coveted seaport, because, as Sir Edward Grey observed,

"it would be difficult to drive the Greeks out." 182

Berchtold, by trying to secure Kavala for Bulgaria,

hoped to set up a stronger counter-weight to Serbia, now

so swollen in size and conceit by her conquests in two

Balkan Wars. He hoped also to win King Ferdinand's

Government over to the side of the Triple Alliance, thereby

frustrate Franco-Russian intrigues at Sofia, and bring about

a reconciliation between Bulgaria and Rumania. He was

encouraged in these hopes by the fact that the Bulgarian

Government, in extremis at the end of July, had made posi-

tive offers to join the Triple Alliance and Rumania, 183 If

this could be brought about, and Bulgaria and Rumania

became reconciled, Rumania would then enjoy greater

liberty of action, in case of a European war, for directing

her main forces against Russia, instead of being compelled

to leave them on her own southern frontier for protection

against Bulgaria. So Berchtold, at the beginning of the

Bucharest negotiations, secretly promised Kavala to the

Bulgarians, without informing Germany as a frank and

loyal Ally should have done. For this concealment he was

182 Lichnowsky to Bethmann, Aug. 8, 1913; G.P., XXXV, 368 f.; on

the English and Italian attitude see also ibid., pp. 328-332, 339-345, 357,

366.

183G.P., XXXV, 329 f., 348.
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very properly and severely reproached by Germany when
the truth came out a little later. 184

Sazonov's conceptions and methods were precisely analo-

gous to those of Berchtold. He calculated, by giving Kavala

to Bulgaria, to win hor definitely to the side of the Triple

Entente, checkmate suspected Austrian intrigues at Sofia,

and bring about a reconciliation between Bulgaria and

Serbia; then, in case of a European war, Serbia need not

worry about Macedonia and the Bulgarian frontier, but

could turn her main attack against Austria—a possibility

of which Berchtold and his Chief of Staff were very much
afraid. Furthermore, Sazonov believed that Kavala in

Bulgarian hands would be a protection against Greek naval

interference with Russia's cherished ambitions in regard

to the Dardanelles, especially as the King of Greece was

the German Kaiser's brother-in-law. So Sazonov used all

his efforts at the Bucharest Peace Conference to get Kavala

restored to the Bulgarians. But he did not at once inform

his French Ally of the importance which he attached to this

policy. lie did, however, secure from the Russian treasury,

at the suggestion of Izvolski and the French Minister of

the Interior, a second sum of 100,000 francs with which

to bribe the French Press, stipulating that the money was

to be used for propaganda in favor of Russia's Balkan inter-

ests as well as in favor of the new law increasing the French

army. But the Turks were reported by the Russian finan-

cial agent in Paris to be spending much more generously for

bribery in the opposite direction—five million francs, with

100,000 to La Libre Parole alone. France did not support

Sazonov's Kavala policy, and the Franco-Russian news-

paper feud, mentioned above, burst forth. Izvolski natu-

rally complained: "This incident is for me personally ex-

tremely painful." He bluntly criticized Sazonov for not

informing the French Government frankly at the beginning

184G.P., XXXV, 320-331, 338 ff., 346 ff., 378.
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that the Kavala question was "of first-class importance"

for Russia, instead of leaving France to learn this from the

Triple Alliance Powers rather than from her own Ally. 185

Why did Germany and France fail to support their re-

spective allies in this Kavala question?

The Kaiser's philhellenism was strengthened by his an-

nual spring visit to Corfu and the building of the Achilleion.

He might also naturally be expected to give political sup-

port to his brother-in-law. King Constantine did not hesi-

tate to capitalize his imperial connection as far as possible.

On July 31, at "Tino's" direction, "Sophy" telegraphed to

"Willy," begging him to put in a good word with King Carol

of Rumania on behalf of the Greek claims to Kavala.

Whereupon the Kaiser telegraphed to King Carol in re-

strained and considerate terms: "Can you do anything

about Kavala? I should regard the question sympatheti-

cally. Hearty congratulations and good wishes on your

successes.—Wilhelm." 186

Much more important than these personal considera-

tions, however, was the German Government's hope that

German support of Greek claims to Kavala would counter-

act Gallophil influences at Athens and draw Greece more

definitely into the wake of the Triple Alliance, thus securing

Greek strategic and diplomatic support in the Eastern

Mediterranean and Asia Minor. This at the moment

seemed quite possible. Threatened with a deadly struggle

with Bulgaria in a Second Balkan War, M. Venizelos had

sought German good-will by assuring her that, "Greece

would never join the Triple Entente so long as Constantine

was King and he was Minister. Greece wants to keep clear

of every complication of the Great Powers, but hopes by

185 Sazonov-Izvolski correspondence, July 12 to Aug. 14, 1913;

M.F.R., pp. 392-411; L.N., II, 120-135; Stieve, III, 203-244. Cf. also

Affaires Balkaniques, II, 279-295; III, 3-13. The phrases quoted in the last

sentence are from Izvolski's letter of Aug. 14.

186 Aug. 1, 1913; G.P., XXXV, 323.
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closer cooperation with Rumania and Turkey to be useful

to the Triple Alliance as a counterweight against the

Slavs." 187 A few days later Theotokis, the Greek Minister

at Berlin, definitely stated that, "Greece was ready to join

the Triple Alliance at any time," in return for support of

her claims to Kavala, certain districts on the South Al-

banian frontier, and the Aegean Islands. 188 But the Ger-

man Foreign Office, correctly suspecting that Theotokis had

exceeded his authority, gave him a dilatory answer. Mean-
while the Berlin officials at once loyally informed their

allies at Vienna and Rome of Theotokis' offer and their

doubts concerning it, and asked at Athens for confirmation

of it.

Venizelos replied that Theotokis had in fact exceeded

his instructions, being authorized only to propose an alli-

ance with Rumania, but not one with the Triple Alliance.

Venizelos added that King Constantine at his recent acces-

sion had expressed a desire to join the Triple Alliance, but

he himself had opposed alliance with either group, and had

so informed the Triple Entente. Therefore he could not

now change his attitude all at once, without seeming to be

guilty of bad faith. He had told Constantine, however, he

said, that if the King wished to carry out his desire of join-

ing the Triple Entente, he (Venizelos) was quite ready to

resign; he added generously that he would then do all he

could in Parliament to support the King's new orientation

of Greek policy in favor of the Triple Alliance. Bethmann

and the Kaiser, instead of urging Constantine to take ad-

vantage of his Prime Minister's generous gesture, advised

is? Quadt, German Minister at Athens, to Bethmann, June 7, 1913;

G.P., XXXV, 19; c/. also p. 105 f. The Greek Minister at Vienna, Zaimis,

expressed the same idea to Berchtold: Greece was very ready to entei

into good relations with the Triple Alliance Powers, but must avoid

becoming mixed in their affairs; "Ce que nous voulons, e'est de ne pas

etre pousse ni par un groupe ni par l'autre" (June 24, ibid., p. 97).

188 Jagow's memorandum June 18; GP., XXXV, 89.
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him that Venizelos' resignation at this critical time might

be disastrous for Greece, but that he might well negotiate

with Rumania. Germany could not endanger her^ own

policy of preserving peace in Europe, as she might do if she

should guarantee Greek boundaries and become involved in

Balkan complications. But she would welcome joyfully a

Greek orientation toward the Triple Alliance, and the ques-

tion might be advantageously taken up after the close of

the present crisis.
189

Meanwhile, to encourage Greece in her new attitude,

Germany decided it was imperative to support the Greek

claims to Kavala, even though Austria insisted on taking

the opposite line of championing the Bulgarian claims. In

the ensuing lively conflict between the Wilhelmstrasse and

the Ballplatz, the Berlin authorities pointed out that they

could not afford to abandon the Greek claims and run the

risk of losing the prospect of Greece joining the Triple Alli-

ance. They feared that otherwise Greece would fall back

into the wake of the Triple Entente. Berchtold rejoined

that he too, having promised Kavala to Bulgaria, could not

stultify himself by reversing his attitude and run the risk

of losing the prospect of Bulgarian adherence to the Triple

Alliance. He feared that if he did so Franco-Russian in-

trigues would triumph at Sofia. Berlin also pointed out

very properly that the Greek offers had come first, were

more dependable and had at once been loyally communi-

cated by Germany to her two allies, while the Bulgarian

offers had come afterwards, were very uncertain in

view of King Ferdinand's treacherous character, and

moreover had been disloyally concealed from Germany by

Berchtold. 190

As to French policy, according to M. Poincare, who

cites the highly selective and relatively meager French

Yellow Book on the Balkan Wars, "The preoccupation of

189 G.P, XXXV, 89-97. »o G.P., XXXV, 344-355.
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France was always the same—to put an end to a war which

might become general; she took the side of Greece against

Bulgaria, that is in this case of Germany against Russia,

solely in the hope of preventing a renewal of hostilities." 101

But in reality, French policy in the Kavala question was
dictated also by the traditional policy of France of friend-

ship for Greece, by the French instructors loaned to drill

the Greek armies who were supplied with French guns, and
by the large investments of French in Greek loans and in

the tobacco monopoly in the Kavala region (which the Bul-

garians had threatened to confiscate if it came into their

possession), all of which tended to make French public

opinion philhellenic. But above all, according to Izvolski,

it was dictated by "the fear that Germany would gain the

upper hand in Athens," that French interests in the Near
East would suffer, and that France must get the strategic

support of the Greek navy against the rival power of Italy

in the Mediterranean. 192

As to the Balkan States themselves, Greece, Serbia, and
Rumania were firm in opposing the Bulgarian claims to

Kavala. It looked as if the Bucharest Peace Conference

might be broken up, if Bulgaria refused to accept the terms

if i Poincare, III. 230. "Rut who opens the Yellow Books?" he
asks (III, 233). The present writer has opened them, and finds that
Pil lion's despatch to Delcasse of Aug. 9 (Affaires Balkaniqucs, II, 294 f.),

which M. Poincare refers to but refrains from quoting, hints also at

quite other motives than the laudable one he mentions. Pichon declares

the French attitude "justiliec par notre politique traditionnelle, par le

eouci de lequilibre mediterranean, par les conditions de la guerre entre

la Bulgarie et la Grece, par les victoires et les sacrifices de cette dcrniere,

par l'attitude de l'Allemagnc, enfin et surtout par la certitude que j'avais

d'une reprise d'hostilites dans l'hypothcsc d'une tentative de rcglcmcnt
different."

1!,-See quotation in preceding note. Izvolski to Sazonov, Aug. 2, 5,

12, and 14, 1913; M.F.R., pp. 399-409; L.N., II, 122-135; Sticve, III, 220-

224. Jules Cambon to Pichon, Aug. 2 (Affaires Balkaniqucs, II, 2S1)

"quelle que soit l'attitude de la Russie, nous ne saurions, sans peril pour
notre influence a Athenes et sans y laisser lc champ libre a l'Allcmagne,

nous departir de 1'appui que nous avons donne jusqu'ici aux revendications

helleniques."
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demanded by the victors. When Austria and Russia real-

ized this, and found that they were not supported by their

respective allies, they each tried indirectly to save the

situation for Bulgaria. They proposed, separately and in

slightly different terms, that the Kavala clauses, or even the

whole Bucharest Treaty, should be subject to revision later

by the Great Powers. But these proposals, highly offensive

to the three Balkan victors, naturally also met with the

same negative from Germany and France as in the direct

discussion of the Kavala question, the motives being much
the same. The revision idea was given the deathblow by

the publication of King Carol's telegram to the Kaiser an-

nouncing the certainty of peace, "which thanks to You
remains a definite one." 193 The Kaiser telegraphed in reply

his hearty congratulations. The cautious and considerate

Bethmann doubted the advisability of making these tele-

grams public, for fear of offending Austrian susceptibilities.

But the Kaiser insisted, and his Foreign Office Under-

Secretary, Zimmermann, thought that their publication,

though "hardly agreeable" to Vienna, would have the ad-

vantage of checking Berchtold's "zeal for revision." They

were therefore published by the Wolff Telegraph Bureau

from Bucharest on August 10, 1913, the day the Peace of

Bucharest was finally signed, and caused no little irritation

in Austria.194

THE AUSTRIAN ULTIMATUM TO SERBIA OF OCTOBER 18, 1913

In the summer of 1913, after the First Balkan War and

the decision to establish an independent Albania, the Lon-

193 Aug. 7, 1913; G.P., XXXV, 359.

194 G.P., XXXV, 359-379. One of the Kaiser's secretaries later tried

to smooth Conrad's ruffled feelings by assuring him that the telegrams

had been published upon the initiative of King Carol and not of the

Kaiser, but this was "not wholly in accord with the historical facts"

(G.P., XXXIX, 442). The text of the Bucharest Treaty is printed in

Affaires Balkaniques, II, 296 ff.
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don Conference of Ambassadors agreed to create three com-

missions which, it was hoped, would help bring into exis-

tence an Albanian state capable of life and survival. One
commission was to delimit the southern frontier between

Albania and Greece, another the northern one toward Serbia

and Montenegro, and the third, the Commission of Inter-

national Control, was to attempt to administer Albania

until the Great Powers could find and agree upon an ac-

ceptable Prince for the country. 105

But there were long delays before the boundary com-

missions were ready to begin work on the spot. Even when
they finally set forth into the rough mountainous country,

with automobiles which continually broke down and had to

be abandoned for horses or even procedure on foot, there

were more delays and difficulties. In the South, local Greek

officials resorted to all sorts of naive and futile efforts to

deceive the Commission into thinking that the majority of

the inhabitants spoke Greek and were wildly enthusiastic

for incorporation into Constantine's kingdom. With sus-

picious regularity processions of peasants came forth from

the villages garbed after the Greek fashion and bellowing

at the top of their lungs, evoxus 7? Oauaros, "Union or Death."

But the Commission was so convinced that they had been

imported for the occasion, and that strong-arm methods

were being used to keep the Albanians and Mohammedans
shut indoors and silent, that an official protest had to be

made at Athens. In the North, the Serbians were less naive

and more circumspect, but the members of the Commission

were often stopped or arrested by the Serbian troops. In

both Boundary Commissions the representatives of the six

Great Powers soon tended to divide into three groups corre-

sponding to the political attitude of their superiors in Lon-

don. The French and Russian delegates took every occasion

to favor the Greeks, Serbians and Montenegrins, while the

105G.P., XXXV, 235-315; Affaires Balkaniques, II, 209-222.
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Austrian and Italian were bent on giving Albania the widest

extent possible. Between these two extreme groups, whose

bickerings over picayune trifles several times threatened to

break up the work of the Commissons altogether, the Eng-

lish and German Commissioners tried to find satisfactory-

compromises, and at the same time conscientiously reach

decisions which accorded with the facts on the spot and the

instructions they received from London. 196

Owing to the delays of the Commissions in fixing the

Albanian boundaries and to the mutual enmity of Serbians

and Albanians, a frontier conflict broke out. Serbian troops

reoccupied Albanian territory. The Albanians, upon this

provocation, took revenge by attacking and routing a

196 For an account, often highly diverting, of these delays and bick-

erings, see the reports of the German Commissioners in G.P., XXXVI,
129-260. In this boundary matter Germany wanted to preserve the soli-

darity of the Triple Alliance by supporting all the reasonable desires of

her allies, but she did not want to oppose too strongly what Constantine

had set his heart upon, for fear of driving him into the arms of the

Entente. Germany therefore tried to persuade both sides to be moderate

and reasonable. To King Constantine, upon his visit to Berlin on Sept.

6, 1913, the Kaiser pointed out persuasively how great were the gains

he had already made: "Janina, Salonica, Kavala, and last not least

Crete, all regular basic hellenic Pelita, which it would have taken cen-

turies to acquire. ... In comparison with all this, a trifling rectification

of the Epirus frontier plays absolutely no role and is worthless." The

Kaiser also pointed to Germany's self-restraint at Nikolsburg in 1866

as an example of the wisdom of moderation after victory, and hinted

that, if Constantine refrained from antagonizing Italy in regard to the

South Albanian frontier, Rome might eventually concede to him the

Aegean Islands, which were of far greater importance (ibid., pp. 144-6).

Similarly, in regard to Austria and Italy, the Kaiser noted: "If Austria

and Italy are unreasonable toward Greece, we are not to blame! We do

not have to join in every folly which they perpetrate. We have already

taken over abundantly much at our expense for love of our allies. If

the latter just go on making their situation worse in relation to the

Triple Entente, we can warn them, but we cannot prevent them. But

we do not need to join with them" (G.P., XXXV, 251). Instructions

to this effect, in more diplomatic but sufficiently clear language, were

sent by Berlin to Vienna and Rome. For Jagow's personal advice to the

German delegate on the South Albanian Frontier Commission, see G.P.,

XXXVI, 160 f. On the general merits of this whole Epirote question,

with a full bibliography, see Edith P. Stickney, South Albania in Euro-

pean Affairs, 1912-1923, Stanford, 1926.
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Serbian detachment. Serbia then mobilized part of her
army. The Serbian Press demanded a punitive expedition

and the occupation of a considerable part of Albania. It

was pointed out that the Scutari and Adrianople incidents

had demonstrated the impotency of the Great Powers, who
were likely to bow before a fait accompli rather than at-

tempt to expel those who were beati possidentes. Some of

the Powers individually warned Serbia to respect the de-

cisions of the London Conference, but the Conference as a
whole could not bring itself to a collective warning, which
alone would be effective. Sir Edward Grey's patience

threatened to become exhausted. From the point of view
of English interests he was indifferent as to whether this

or that Balkan village was Turkish, Greek, Serbian, Bul-
garian, or Albanian. He conceived of his role as that of an
honest broker whose Balkan efforts should be directed

toward serving the one British interest of preserving the

peace of Europe. But he was becoming so wearied with the

almost daily complaints and counter-complaints that

finally, "he wanted to hear the name 'Albania' as seldom
as possible, and one would not be surprised if, yielding to

his feeling of irritation, he laid the Albanian flute down
on the table and recalled Admiral Burney and the English
contingent." 107

Under these circumstances, and in view of the fact that

Serbian troops persisted in remaining in occupation of

Albanian territory, Berchtold and the Austrian Chief of

Staff, Baron Conrad, again considered what more drastic

measures they ought to take.

Conrad again urged that now at last Austria should

197 Kiihlmann, German Charge d'Affaircs in London to Bethmann,
Sept. 24, 1913; G.P., XXXVI, 165; on Grey see also pp. 377, 394. On the
first part of this paragraph, see 'ibid., pp. 131-174, 361-382; Affaires Rnl-
kaniques, III, 46-54; and Oesterrcich-Ungarisches Rotbuch: Diplomatische
Aktcnxtucke betreffend die Ereignisse am Balkan, IS Aug. bis 6 Nov^
1913 (Vienna, 1914), passim.
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have her final reckoning with Serbia. He learned from

Prince Hohenlohe, who had recently returned from St.

Petersburg, that Russia was not likely to interfere, if Aus-

tria acted quickly and energetically against Serbia; now
was better than later, because Russia was trying to win over

Rumania from the side of the Triple Alliance to that of the

Triple Entente. This was also the view of Baron Nopsca,

who had recently been going about in Rumania disguised

as a shepherd. He reported to Conrad that public opinion

there was entirely against Austria-Hungary, and that

Rumania was falling wholly into Russian and French lead-

ing strings. But Berchtold, timid and hesitating, was in-

clined to be content with gestures and half-measures.198

In long Ministerial Councils on October 3 and 13, Aus-

trian officials earnestly discussed what should be done.

Three views were represented respectively by Baron Conrad,

Count Tisza, and Count Berchtold. Conrad, as usual, in-

sisted that Serbia must be dealt with once and for all, be-

fore it was too late, especially as Rumania was falling away
from Austria and coming under Russian and French influ-

ence. Serbia must either be compelled to accept peaceful

incorporation into Austria-Hungary, being given a position

somewhat like that of Bavaria or Saxony in the German
Empire, and involving "trialism"—a reorganization of the

Dual Monarchy into a federal "triple state." Or, if this was
not possible, then Conrad favored an ultimatum to Serbia;

if no satisfactory reply was forthcoming, he would then

urge immediate and energetic war. At its conclusion—he

had no doubt but that Austria would be victorious—Aus-

tria could annex some parts of Serbia, and could gratify

Rumania, Bulgaria and Greece by offering other parts of

Serbia to them—the Timok district to Rumania, and Mace-
donia to Bulgaria and Greece. This would be an effective

revision of the Bucharest Treaty very beneficial to Austria.

198 Conrad, III, 442-447, 453-458.
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But above all, no half-measures should be tried, such as a

mere occupation of a few Serbian towns as a pledge. The

Austrian army, once mobilized, must not be expected to

lay down its arms until Serbian territory had been con-

quered; the morale of the army could not tolerate mobili-

zation without war for a third time [i.e. in addition to 1909

and 1912]. In short, "either the complete incorporation of

Serbia by peaceful means—or the use of force." 190

Count Tisza, the all-powerful Magyar leader, who had

become Hungarian Minister-President on June 6, 1913,

though recognizing the Serbian danger, was inclined to

trust to diplomatic action. He agreed that the London

Conference had brought nothing but disillusionment, and

therefore favored having Austria-Hungary strike out an

independent policy of her own. One could not allow

Serbians, Montenegrins, Greeks, and Italians to go on treat-

ing Albania as res nvllius. He was unalterably opposed to

the incorporation of more Serbs into the Dual Monarchy

either by a peaceful arrangement or by the use of force; it

would be impracticable, disadvantageous to the Monarchy

itself, and certain to meet with the opposition of Europe.

Serbia should be energetically requested to remove her

troops from Albanian soil; if this did not suffice, one might

send an ultimatum, and inflict a diplomatic, and even, if

necessary, a military, defeat. But in no case should Serbian

territory be annexed. Tisza hoped that the anti-Austrian

Balkan group—Serbia, Montenegro, Rumania, and Greece

—could be offset by winning over Turkey and Bulgaria,

who were on the point of coming to terms with one another.

Such a diplomatic regrouping would reestablish a favorable

Balkan Balance of Power, parallel with the European

Balance of Power between the Triple Alliance and Triple

Entente. It would also avoid the financial burden of a large

increase in the Austro-Hungarian army, to which he himself,

loo Conrad, HI, 442 ff., 461, 465 ff., 724-746.
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as Minister-President of Hungary, was opposed. In short,

Tisza's program was: restoration of the waning Austrian

prestige, by the diplomatic humiliation, but not the terri-

torial partition, of Serbia, and the avoidance of war, if

possible. In case Austria had to resort to mobilization, she

must still avoid war, if Serbia yielded at the last minute

and agreed to pay the costs of mobilization.200

In contrast to the clear-cut program of Conrad for mili-

tary action, and that of Count Tisza for diplomatic action,

Count Berchtold, the Minister of Foreign Affairs, had no

definite idea of what ought to be done. He was as helpless

and incompetent a person as was ever called to fill a re-

sponsible position in time of danger. He set forth the

pros and cons, and oscillated timidly and uncertainly be-

tween conflicting influences. He hesitated to decide for

military action against Serbia for fear that Germany and

Italy would not support him. He feared also the danger of

Russian interference. He felt the difficulty of persuading

Francis Joseph to approve war, and he knew Franz Ferdi-

nand's opposition to it. He was finally inclined to think

that some concession to Serbia in regard to the Albanian

boundary might be given for the moment, and that military

preparations should be made for the future, with the hope

that in the meantime the general diplomatic situation might

improve.201

The result of the discussion was that no definite decision

was taken, except the adoption of proposals in regard to

finance and a small army increase to be laid before the

Delegations the following November. In spite of the fact

that the Serbians had burned several villages and massacred

Albanians in the neighborhood of Dibra, so that the popu-

lation was in flight toward the coast,202 Berchtold contented

200 Conrad, III, 461, 464-6, 727-730, 735-741. This foreshadows inter-

estingly Tisza's Memoir of 1914, urging a diplomatic shift in the Balkans,

as well as his initial attitude in the crisis of July, 1914.

201 Conrad, III, 463, 466, 724-729, 735.
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himself on October 14 with an "amicable request" to Serbia

to withdraw her troops from Albania and respect the de-

cisions of the London Conference, within a date which

Serbia herself might fix. Sazonov and Pichon also advised

Pashitch to withdraw his troops at once, as we learn from

Sazonov's report to the Tsar a fortnight later:

My stay in Paris coincided with the new sharpening of

Austro-Scrbian relations in consequence of the occupation

of several strategic points on Albanian soil by the Serbian

troops. In the fear that Austria might give way to the

desire to win an easy diplomatic victory in this matter,

Pichon and I advised the Serbian Minister [in Paris] to

inform his Government that it was preferable to yield to

the friendly advice of Russia and France, rather than await

threats from Austria. Vesnitch agreed completely, and tele-

graphed at once in this sense to Belgrade. . . . Pichon

promised me to use all his influence to have the Serbian

loan admitted to the Paris Bourse.'-03

But the Serbian Prime Minister did not follow this good

advice, possibly because he may not have received it in

time, or more probably because he was being influenced by

the ardent Pan-Slav Russian Minister, Hartwig, and by

subterranean pressure from the secret society of Serbian

202 Report of the French Consul in Scutari, Oct. 9; Affaires Balkan-

iqucs III. 65. A few weeks later the Boundary Commission observed

between Dibra and Prizrcn that "Nearly all the villages have been

wholly or partially burned down by the Serbians. . . . The Serbian out-

posts here have been pushed some ten kilometres beyond the provisional

boundarv" (CP., XXXVI. 241).

203 Sazonov'a report to the Tsar, Oct. 24/Nov. 6, 1913; L.N., II,

360- Stieve III, 32S f . See also Izvolski to Neratov, Oct. 18 (M.F.R., p.

430; L.N., II, 1G1 ; Stieve, III, 313), where Izvolski says that the French

Government's decision not to withhold the loan any longer was "to

make it easier for the Serbian Government to take this step' of with-

drawing hrr troops from Albania. One may doubt, however, whether

the furnishing of French money would tend to make Serbia more yielding

and pacific. According to Poincare (III, 30(3 f ), who says nothing o

the French loan, Vesnitch did not send his telegram to Belgrade until

Oct. 16.
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military officers known as the "Black Hand." 204 On the

contrary, Pashitch replied to Austria that the withdrawal

of Serbian troops would depend on future conditions in

Albania, where the anarchical state of affairs endangered

the safety of his own peace-loving subjects. He even asked

the London Conference to revise its former decisions, and

assign some new strategic positions to Serbia. At the same

time, Montenegro, to whom a new loan had just been au-

thorized by the French Government,205 occupied Albanian

territory, and was reported to be on the point of ordering

a general mobilization against the people whom the Great

Powers were supposed to protect and govern. It was again

rumored that Montenegro was about to merge with Serbia

toward the formation of a "Greater Serbia." It looked to

Vienna as if Serbia, Montenegro, and Greece were seriously

intending to reoccupy the unhappy distracted country and

present the impotent Powers with a new fait accompli.208

Meanwhile Berchtold informed Germany of the situa-

tion, reiterated that Albania's existence was necessary as

a barrier against the Slav advance to the Adriatic, and de-

204 "... Finally it is unmistakable that since M. Hartwig's return,

opposition [to Austria's requests] has been increasing" (Griesinger, Ger-

man Minister in Belgrade, to Bethmann, Oct. 17; G.P., XXXVI, 396).

From the German reports {ibid., pp. 397, 399, 415, 417) it appears that

Neratov, in charge of the Foreign Office at St. Petersburg during Sazonov's

absence, was consulted by Hartwig and endorsed Pashitch's negative reply

to Austria. This was in flat contradiction to Sazonov's alleged attitude at

Paris. One wonders whether Sazonov quite stated the truth in his re-

port to the Tsar, or whether this is another of the many instances in

which Russian ministers pursued divergent policies.

"From conversation with the English Charge d'Affaires here [in Bel-

grade], who is usually well informed and can also get his information

from the Russian Legation, I gather that the Serbian Government . . . has
been forced to attempt to carry through a revision of the frontier, through
the influence of the Military Party—through the subterranean activities

of the group of officers known here as the 'crna ruka! ['Black Hand']"
(Report of the Austrian Military Attache in Belgrade, Oct. 18; Conrad
III, 475).

205 Oct. 8; Affaires Balkaniques, III, 65.

206 Affaires Balkaniques, III, 66; Conrad, III, 462, 472 f.
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clared that further acquiescence would be an abdication on

Austria's part. He therefore expressed "the hope that

Germany, who herself has a great interest in damming back

the Slav flood, would stand morally solid behind Austria

in this matter; because, as far as one could see, it would

only be a question of moral support, since neither Russia

nor France wanted war. One could also therefore hope that

Serbia was only bluffing." 207

The Berlin Foreign Office assured Berchtold of the moral

support desired, and instructed Germany's diplomatic rep-

resentatives to back up Austria's efforts in preserving the

life of Albania. It urged that Sir Edward Grey use his

influence, at Belgrade and in the London Conference, to see

that the decisions of the Powers were respected, adding that,

"if the warnings of the Vienna Cabinet at Belgrade remain

unheeded, it is to be feared from the form and content of

Count Bcrchtold's representations in Berlin that Austria

will go ahead independently." 208 But Sir Edward Grey was

207 Oct. 15; G.P., XXXVI, 3S4ff.

208 Zimmcrmann to Lichnowsky, Oct. 1G; G.P., XXXVI, 3S9; cf.

also pp. 3S-1-396. The Kaiser, who was absent from Berlin, was informed

of the steps taken by his Foreign Office, and approved them heartily. But
his approval, and his remarks to Conrad (III, 470) at the Battle of Leipzig

Centennial celebration, that patience has its limits and that Austria must

soon take the sword, did not influence Berchtold in sending his ultimatum

to Serbia, as they were still unknown to him when he sent it. For Dr.

Hcinrich Kanncr's errors in this connection, see the present writer's com-
ments in the Amcr. Hist. Iicv., XXXII, 317 ff., 941 ff. (Jan. and July, 1927).

Some weeks earlier the Kaiser had approved of Conrad's idea of the

peaceful incorporation of Serbia into the Dual Monarchy, like Bavaria

in the German Empire, rather than forcible Austrian action, because "it

would be much more advantageous for Germany, if Austria-Hungary were

united with Serbia in one structure, than if she ha3 a South Slav state as

a neighbor who will always fall upon her rear" (Conrad, III, 431). But
after the latest events, upon a report from the German representative at

Vienna that "the solid stand of Germany, of which Berchtold never

doubted, strengthens him in the conviction that Serbia will heed the

eight-day time limit and not go to extremes," the Kaiser noted impul-

sively: "That would be very much to be regretted I Now or never!

One must finally have order and quiet down there I" (G.P., XXXVI.
399).



AUSTRIAN ULTIMATUM TO SERBIA OF OCTOBER 18, 1913 473

out of town over the week-end. His Under-Secretary, Sir

Eyre Crowe, would take no step without first getting Sir

Edward's instructions. Nor was the Under-Secretary's re-

sponse encouraging: he thought it was merely a question of

a few strategic positions in Albania which had been occu-

pied simply provisionally ; every inch of Albanian territory

would of course have to be evacuated, and England would

cooperate in this; but he did not think that Grey would

favor an immediate demand on Serbia for evacuation, nor

one to which a time-limit was attached.209

Suddenly, in the middle of the night of October 17-18,

Berchtold, gratified at Germany's moral support but with-

out saying anything further to her, and influenced by the

latest reports concerning Albania, despatched an ultimatum

to Belgrade. It insisted that Serbia respect Albanian terri-

tory and withdraw her troops within eight days; "other-

wise Austria would be forced, with regret, to have recourse

to the proper measures to secure the realization of her

demands." 210

Berchtold's unexpected exhibition of decisive energy

took all Europe aback with surprise. To Sazonov it caused

much chagrin, because, as he claims to have foreseen would

be the case, Austria won an easy diplomatic victory. But

he not unjustly complained of Berchtold's "policy of sur-

prises," which her allies were unable to prevent: "As long

as Austria asks us beforehand, before taking a momentous
decision, he was wholly satisfied, he said. But there is un-

fortunately no assurance of this, as the last incident shows.

Austria is always facing her allies with faits accomplis;

and they are then compelled to honor their treaty signa-

209 Kuhlmann to Bethmann, Oct. 18; G.P., XXXVI, 394.

210 Note to Serbian Government, 12:10 A.M., Oct. 18, 1913; Conrad,

III, 473, 747; G.P., XXXVI, 394-402. By diplomatic euphemism it was
called a "Note with a time-limit" [befristete Note], as in the case

of its fatal successor of July 23, 1914 (as will be indicated below, vol. II,

ch. v), but it was in fact essentially an ultimatum.
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tures." 211 At Belgrade Pashitch and Hartwig learned of

the ultimatum with rage and dismay, especially as it was

soon followed by strong warnings from all the Great Powers,

now suddenly awakened to the possible danger of serious

complications, that Serbia should respect the decisions of

the London Conference. Even Rumania added her warn-

ing. So Serbia decided at once to yield, and gave orders to

her troops to evacuate the occupied Albanian territory.

"I do it," said Pashitch, the Serbian Premier, "not under

pressure of Austria, but out of regard for the friendly ad-

vice of Russia." 212

These events of 1913 in connection with Albania help to

explain Austria's course of action, under much greater prov-

ocation, in July, 1914. The decisions of the London Con-

ference had brought her little or nothing, in her own opin-

ion, except disappointments and illusions. Its delays and

ineffectiveness in protecting Albanian interests, when de-

fied by the Montenegrins at Scutari and the Serbians at

Dibra, explain to some extent why Austria was absolutely

unwilling, after the murder of Archduke Franz Ferdinand

at Sarajevo, to submit her latest grounds of complaint

against Serbia to another Conference of the Powers. "The

course of the London Conference was so horrible to recall

to memory, that all public opinion would reject the repe-

tition of such a spectacle." 213 On the other hand, when
Austria had acted quickly and energetically on her own
account, by sending a peremptory ultimatum, Serbia had

2n Lucius, German Charge d Affaires in St. Petersburg, to Bethmann,
Oct. 28, 1913; CP., XXXVI, 420. For Neratov's "complete surprise" and
irritation, ibid., 399, 409. Cj. also Sazonov's report to the Tsar, Nov. 6,

1913.

2i2Duma'ne to Pichon, Oct. 21, 1913; Affaires Balkaniqites, III, 70

Cf. also Aid., Ill, 67-72; G.P., XXXVT, 401-422; Conrad, III. 474; and
Sazonov's report to the Tsar, Oct. 24/Nov. 6, 1913 (L.N., II, 360 f., and
Stieve, III, 328 f.).

213 Bilinski's remark in the Ministerial Council of July 31, 1914;

A.R.B., III, 79.
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heeded her demands immediately, Russia had not inter-

fered, and the Vienna Foreign Office had accomplished its

immediate purpose.

Another factor in the Balkan situation, which was preg-

nant with danger for Austria-Hungary and became more

evident after the Balkan Wars, was the change which took

place in Rumania.

THE RUMANIAN RIDDLE

The very secret treaty of 1883, by which Rumania
joined the Triple Alliance Powers, had been renewed at

various times, the last occasion being on February 5, 1913.214

During the early years of the treaty, Austria and Germany
had no serious fear that Rumania would ever fail to fulfil

her treaty obligations. King Carol, a Hohenzollern edu-

cated in Germany and sympathetic in his whole being with

the German point of view, was universally regarded as an

honest, upright man, whose personal loyalty was trusted

up to his very death in October, 1914. Self-interest likewise

seemed to assure Rumania's loyal adherence to the Triple

Alliance: it guaranteed the little Balkan State against

domination or transgression by Russia in any advance

toward Constantinople, and against attack by Bulgaria or

Turkey for possession of the Dobrudja.

But by 1914 the situation had greatly altered. King

Carol remained as loyal as ever. Sentiment among the

Rumanian people, however, had changed so greatly that

214 See above, ch. ii, p. 88 ff.; Pribram, I, 29-34, 69-77, 85-90, 107, 209,

245 f.; G.P., III, 261-282; VII, 149-187; XI, 301-307; XXVIII, 649-680;

XXVII, 195-235; XXX, 581-593. Though the renewal of the Austro-

Rumanian Treaty (to which Germany acceded on Feb. 26 and Italy on

March 5) was signed on Feb. 5, 1913, King Carol delayed for a week
his ratification, giving as his excuse that he feared an impending minis-

terial crisis "and did not want it signed by various ministers." His more
real reason was that, by delaying ratification and threatening "a new
orientation of Rumanian policy," i.e., away from the Triple Alliance, he
hoped to frighten Austria into a more energetic support of the Rumanian
claims to Silistria against Bulgaria (G.P., XXXIV, 337, 357 ff., 364).
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Austria, and to some extent Germany, began to be seriously

worried as to whether King Carol's personal prestige would
be strong enough to carry his country with him. He was
after all a constitutional monarch. Anti-Austrian popular

sentiment in a parliamentary democracy might override the

monarch's personal preference.

Three factors had contributed toward the development
among the Rumanians of a hatred toward Austria, which
threatened to undo the alliance: (1) the Magyar policy

toward Transylvania, (2) the Austrian policy toward Bul-

garia, and (3) the Russo-Serb wooing to win Rumania away
from the Triple Alliance to the side of the Triple Entente.

For the first of these factors the Magyar nobility were
chiefly to blame. In order to retain the dominant position

which they had exercised since the Middle Ages, they had
steadily refused, even at the opening of Uie twentieth cen-

tury, to grant any really democratic suffrage to the Ru-
manian and Slav subject peoples in Hungary. The Ruma-
nians in Transylvania were refused a fair number of seats in

the Hungarian Chamber of Deputies, and their nationalistic

desires in regard to school and language questions had been
blindly disregarded. This galling denial of political rights

naturally contributed toward the bitterness and irredentist

longings which were shared by Rumanians on both sides of

the Carpathian Mountains.

The second factor whieh embittered the people of

Rumania, and threatened to transfer Rumania from the

side of the Triple Alliance to that of the Triple Entente,
was Austria's attitude toward the Bulgaro-Rumanian con-

flict which arose out of the First Balkan War. By their

astonishing victories over Turkey in the first weeks of the
war, Bulgaria, Serbia and Greece had occupied wide
stretches of territory, which vastly extended their frontiers

and greatly increased their prestige, power, and population.

Rumania, meanwhile, had maintained a dignified neutrality,
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remaining at peace with Turkey, while her rivals were grow-

ing strong. She alone had gained no new frontiers during

the First Balkan War. She alone had liberated and annexed

no suppressed nationalities crying to be free. Her people

therefore were swept in the spring of 1913 by a new wave of

irredentist nationalism and indignation. There was a strong

popular demand on the Rumanian Cabinet that something

must be done to redress the Balance of Power in the Bal-

kans, which had existed since the Treaty of Berlin in 1878,

but which had now been completely upset to Rumania's

disadvantage.

Rumanian newspapers bitterly complained of the mis-

taken policy of folded hands: King Carol should have

intervened while the Bulgarian armies were tied up in front

of Adrianople and Constantinople and insisted that Bul-

garia cede to him the Silistria-Balchik district south of

the Dobrudja, as "compensation" for Rumania's benevolent

neutrality. Instead of adopting an active selfish policy of

this kind, Rumania had pursued a waiting attitude, trust-

ing in the generosity of Bulgaria and in a favorable pressure

by the Great Powers to secure her adequate "compensa-

tions." But she had been deceived in both hopes. Through-

out the early months of the Balkan War, Bulgaria remained

obdurate and deaf to Take Jonescu's pleas for "just compen-

sations." And when the question was finally left to the de-

cision of the Great Powers at the St. Petersburg Conference,

in March, 1913, Rumania did not get as much as her na-

tionalists thought she had a right to expect. 215

It was in connection with these negotiations about

"compensations" that Rumanian Ministers and public

opinion turned more sharply against Austria-Hungary.

215 Affaires Balkaniques, II, 30-35, 40-42, 56, 60 f., 67, 70 f., 74-81, 83-90,

93-109 130 f 137 154 f., 229 f., 236-248, 253, 256, 263, 280; Conrad, III,

26 33ff 39-56, 74 f, 103 f., 113 f., 129-131, 140 ff., 204 ff, 305 ff., 335-339,

365 f, 381 ff.; G.P., XXXIV, 245 ff., 301 ff., 337 ff., 357 ff., 418 ff., 575 ff.;

XXXV, 115 ff.; XXXIX, 433 ff.



THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

Austria was suspected (and rightly) of giving slight support

to the demands of her ally against Bulgaria for Silistria

and a strip of territory south of the Dobrudja. King Carol's

Ministers not only demanded this territory, but insisted

that Rumania's prestige obligated Austria to show as much
zeal and energy in securing Silistria for Rumania as in

opposing Serbia's access to the Adriatic. With Germany's
attitude they were satisfied. Although Germany gave them
salutary advice—to leave prestige aside, be content with

moderate compensations, and not to listen to the wooing of

Russia, who would not lift a finger for them as soon as she

had achieved her purpose of breaking up her alliances

—

Germany did strongly back up Rumania's claims.- 10 But
with Austria they suspected it was otherwise. "People are

especially irritated against Austria-Hungary, because her

support [to Rumania], in comparison with what Russia

gives Bulgaria, is much too weak to lead to any favorable

result. Feeling already runs so high that the King [Carol]

will be compelled in a very short time to come to a grave

decision. The decision will be either for war with Bul-

garia, or for peace, but with the summoning of a Russophil

ministry, which would mean that the course of Rumanian
policy, hitherto friendly to the Triple Alliance, would give

way to dependence on the Triple Entente." 217 Austria was
suspected of being "more Bulgarian than the Bulgarians."

When Rumania finally threatened to mobilize against Bul-

garia, in order to secure the coveted territory, Austria tried

to hold her back. Prince Fiirstenberg, the Austrian Min-
ister at Bucharest, warned King Carol that a Rumanian
attack on Bulgaria would be totally opposed to Austrian

policy; and that if Rumania persisted, Austria might even-

tually intervene; King Carol should keep on good terms

2" See below, notes 241-241.

217 Pomiankowski to Conrad, quoting the Rumanian Military Attache
in Constantinople, Jan. 2S, 1913; Conrad, III, 39 f.
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with Bulgaria; because, otherwise, he would be playing into

the hands of the Russian Pan-Slavs.218

This restraint which Austria exercised, or rather tried to

exercise, upon King Carol weakened and isolated the King

still more among his own people. "King Carol is follow-

ing Austria's advice for peace in Bulgaria's interests," it

was said. The popular pressure became so strong that the

King finally had to yield to public opinion. He joined

Serbia and Greece in the Second Balkan War against Bul-

garia, and secured her coveted "compensations"—a gener-

ous slice of Bulgarian territory south of the Dobrudja,

stretching from Silistria on the Danube to Constanza on the

Black Sea. Rumanian nationalistic aspirations and irre-

dentist ambitions were strongly stirred by this short suc-

cessful war. As the French proverb says, "L'appetit went

en mangeant." As a result, Austria-Hungary now found

herself seriously menaced by a "Greater Rumania" move-

ment, which aimed at the ultimate detachment of the Ru-
manians in Transylvania, just as the "Greater Serbia"

propaganda aimed at detaching the Serbs in Bosnia and

other parts of the Dual Monarchy. In November, 1913, a

Rumanian Minister gave France to understand that the old

friendship with Austria was "no longer anything but a

shadow; the question of the Rumanians in Transylvania

has become the only important one in public opinion, which

frankly desires a rapprochement with Russia." 219 And in

December King Carol himself finally admitted to the Aus-

trian Minister at Bucharest, that public feeling was such

that, "to his great regret, he was not in a position to be

able to guarantee to fulfil the existing secret treaty between

Rumania and the Dual Monarchy." 220

218 Conrad, III, 335-338; Jonescu, Origins of the War. p. 25; G.P.,

XXXIV, 843, 873 ff. ; XXXIX, 434 ff ., 504 f , 512.

219 Affaires Balkaniques, III, 74.

220 Austrian Military Attache in Bucharest to Conrad, Dec. 12, 1913;

Conrad, III, 496; see also G.P., XXXIX, 464 ff., and Alexander Hoyos,
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By his double-faced and futile policy of pretending to

support the interests of two opposed states like Rumania

and Bulgaria, Bcrchtold had fallen between two stools. He

had lost the confidence and good-will of the one before he

had secured that of the other. This "desertion" on Ru-

mania's part was one of the most important facts in Aus-

trian foreign policy in the spring of 1914. The Serbian

question has received a great deal more attention from

writers, because it ultimately became the occasion of the

World War; but, next to it, nothing bothered the heads of

the men at the Ballplatz more seriously than this Ru-

manian question in the months before the War. This brief

survey of it will also help to clarify a number of other ob-

scure points, such as the conflicting policies at Vienna,

Berchtold's hesitations and mistakes, Austro-German fric-

tion, and the Konopischt interview of Emperor William

and Franz Ferdinand, about which so many mysterious in-

sinuations have been made.

Russia meanwhile was taking advantage of the situation

to win Rumania over to a seat beside the Triple Entente

and form a new Balkan group under Russian patronage to

replace that which had been broken up by Bulgaria in the

Second Balkan War. Though the Tsar ruled over Ru-

manian populations in Bessarabia, Russian ministers at

Bucharest souirht to divert Rumanian irredentist ambitions

away from Bessarabia to Transylvania. Russia had

shrewdly used her influence on the side of Rumania to se-

cure for her the "compensations" in the Treaty of Bucha-

rest.
221 Rumanians noted with gratitude that, in contrast

Der dcutsch-cnglische Gcgcnmtz und setn Einfluss auf die Balkanpolitik

Ocsterrcich-Unganu* (Berlin, 1922), pp. 36 ff.

221 Q.P., XXXIX. 433 ff.. 115 ff.. 461 ff. Cf. also Izvolski to Sazonov.

Aup. 1/14. 1913. congratulating him on his Russian policy at Bucharest:

"Your diplomatic chef d'oeuvre has been the detachment of Rumania
from Austria, which I had always dreamed of. but which I had not been

able or known how to accomplish;" M.F.R., p. 408; L.N., II, 133; Stieve,

III, 243.
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to Austria's "perfidious" effort to bring about a revision of

the Treaty, Russia had finally joined with Germany in pre-

venting a revision.

Russia's purpose in winning Rumania as part of her

preparation for a general European war is well indicated in

Sazonov's secret report to the Tsar in December, 1913:

While repeating my wish for the prolongation as far as

possible of the status quo, it is also necessary to repeat that

the Straits Question can hardly advance a step except by
the favor of European complications. These complica-

tions, to judge by present circumstances, would find us in

alliance with France, and in a possible but not at all as-

sured, alliance with England, or at least with her as a

benevolent neutral. In the Balkans, in case of European
complications, we could count on Serbia, and perhaps on

Rumania. From this there results clearly as the task of

our diplomacy the creation of conditions for as intimate a

rapprochement as possible with Rumania. This policy

ought to be as persistent as it is circumspect and devoid of

rashness. The position of Rumania in the Balkans recalls

in many respects that of Italy in Europe. These two
powers are subject to megalomania, and, not having strength

enough to accomplish their projects openly, are obliged to

content themselves with an opportunist policy, observing

always on which side lies force, in order that they may
range themselves on this side. . . .

Two factors play a great role in the instability of the

present situation in the Balkans. The first is Austria-

Hungary, with the manifest increase of the nationality

movement caused by the success of the Serbs and the Ru-
manians, and the effect of these successes upon their racial

brothers within the frontiers of the Hapsburg Monarchy.
The second factor is that it is imposible for Bulgaria to re-

sign herself to the painful results of the Treaty of

Bucharest.222

222 Secret report of Sazonov to Nicholas II, Nov. 23/Dec. 6, 1913;
Adamov, Konstantinopol i Prolivy, 74 f.; L.N., II, 371-2; Stieve, III, 382.
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Partly as a result of Sazonov's policy, when a new Rus-

sian Minister arrived at Bucharest in January, 1914, ho

found an exceedingly warm welcome in Governmental

circles:

Again and again, sentiments of genuine friendship for

Russia have been expressed to me. I found the same wel-

come in society here. I have spoken to former Ministers,

Senators, Deputies, and various leaders of the Rumanian

army. ... To my mind, all this corroborates the fact al-

ready pointed out by my predecessor, and also emphasized

by my French and English colleagues, that an important

and perhaps decisive change in public opinion has been

brought about here in favor of Russia. The events of last

year which have inspired the Rumanians, and above all their

military leaders, with confidence in their own strength,

have at the same time also encouraged the efforts of the

Irredentists. These are not so much directed against Rus-

sia, as toward Transylvania with its three million Ru-

manians. This latter circumstance also naturally tends to

enhance Rumania's sympathy for Russia.223

Early in 1914 Russia took further steps to win Rumania.

She promoted a Scrb-Greek-Rumanian combination, which,

while ostensibly aiming at peace and the preservation of

the status quo in the Balkans, might be used by Russia to

solve the Straits Question at a time of "European compli-

cations." It also fell in with Russia's policy of supporting

Serbia against Austria. In order to bring about such a

combination, Sazonov had long interviews with the Serbian

and Greek Premiers, M. Pashitch and M. Venizelos, in

February, 1914.224 M. Pashitch also had an encouraging

223 Poklcvski-Kozicl, Russian Minister at Bucharest, to Sazonov,

Jan. 11/24, 1914; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 436.

224 Doulcet, Charge d'Affaires at St. Petersburg, to Doumergue, Feb.

5, 1911; "M. Venizelos has made an excellent impression . . . [Sazonov]

has the impression that a very close accord exists between Greece and
Serbia against every attack of the Turks; with Rumania the ties are less

close, but the visit of M. Venizelos to Bucharest will tend to tighten

them;" Affaires Balkaniqucs, III, 112.
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and significant talk with the Tsar, of which he has left an

interesting account:

The audience lasted a full hour. The Tsar received

me in his cabinet. When I entered, the Tsar was already

there and at my entrance he came to meet me at the door,

stretched out his hand without waiting for my greeting and

invited me to be seated. ... I set forth the Serbian policy

which amounts to this, that she desires the maintenance of

peace in the Balkans, and that new complications be

avoided, since Serbia needs peace in order to recuperate,

and in order that she may arm herself afresh for the defense

of Serbian national interests. I also set forth the difficulties

which Serbia will have to meet in the pursuit of her peace-

ful policy. Bulgaria, Turkey, and Austria are dissatisfied:

Turkey because she lost in the war with the Balkan States;

Bulgaria because she could not retain or acquire all that

she wished; and Austria because she lost the prospect of

an advance to Salonica. . . .

Thereupon the Tsar answered: We have confidence in

the new Rumanian [Bratianu] Government, that it will at-

tach itself as closely as possible to Russia. He did not be-

lieve that matters would be allowed to go so far as to call

in question the Peace of Bucharest. ... I took occasion to

remark that at the time of my stay in Bucharest I had a

conference with Bratianu, and Bratianu was at that time

very enthusiastic over the idea of an alliance with Greece

and Serbia. I also remarked that I intended to return home
by way of Bucharest in order to see whether Bratianu still

retained the same willingness and views which he had re-

vealed to me when I was in Bucharest. The Tsar said that

would be very good, and that Rumania had three and a half

million co-nationals in Austria-Hungary and that these de-

sired union with Rumania. Thereupon, I said to him that

the Transylvanian Rumanians were better nationalists than

the Rumanians in Rumania. . . .

I led the conversation around to a discussion of Austria's

deliveries of arms to Bulgaria, namely that Austria had



THE ORIGINS OF THE WORLD WAR

furnished arms and munitions out of her magazines and

that Bulgaria had received cannon also. And again the

Tsar added that Germany too was supporting Bulgaria. I

begged him that Russia should likewise aid us, and that out

of her magazines she should deliver to us 120,000 rifles and

munitions and some few cannon, particularly howitzers,

if they could spare them, because the Turks had held up

delivery of our heavy guns when they were in transport

immediately before the war. The Tsar asked me if I had

spoken about the matter to any of the Russian Ministers.

I said, to the Minister of War, Sukhomlinov, and to Sazo-

nov; and the Minister of War had said, it would be all right

if Russian policy permitted it. And here I took occasion

to tell the Tsar how pleased we were that Russia had armed

herself so thoroughly; it gave us a feeling of security and

hope for a better future. The Tsar said that they had done

a great deal, and were still doing much. For that reason

their munition establishments could not assume the task of

manufacturing arms for us. This gave me occasion to say

to the Tsar that immediately upon my return from Tsarskoe

Sclo, I would furnish Sazonov with an estimate of what

we needed. He said that was all right, for he would re-

ceive Sazonov on the morrow, and would see what we needed.

They would do all they could to lighten the situation for

us. He asked me what we needed. I told him what I had

noted down on the slip I had prepared for Sazonov. . . .

The Tsar inquired how many Scrbo-Croats lived in

Austria-Hungary, and what they were now believing and

desiring. I replied about six millions, and told him where

they lived. I also told him of the Slovenes, that they, too,

were gravitating to the Serbo-Croats, and would adopt the

Serbo-Croatian language, owing to the fact that their dialect

is bad and that they have long lost their national indepen-

dence. Then I told him that just at this time there was a

Slovene stopping at St. Petersburg who was working for

the establishment of a South-Slav Bank, and was trying to

win over the Russian banks to the project. This was quite

agreeable to the Tsar, and he said it was very necessary
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that the Russian banks should take a greater interest in

the Slavic countries, and that it would be a good thing if

Hribar should succeed with his mission.

I then told the Tsar how great a change in sentiment

had taken place among the Slavs of Austria-Hungary—how

many Starcevitch followers there were who formerly ex-

pected salvation from Austria, but now comprehended that

this salvation could come to them only from Russia or

Serbia, and that they could scarcely await the opportunity

to see their desires fulfilled. Then I told him that for

every rifle we received, we would have a soldier from these

countries to carry it. , . . He asked how many soldiers

Serbia could put into the field. Serbia, said the Tsar, had

astonished the world when she marched out 400,000 men.

I replied: We believe that we can put half a million well

clothed and armed soldiers into the field. "That is enough;

that is no trifle; one can go a great way with that" [said

the Tsar]

.

Thereupon we discussed the need of fostering the al-

liance with Greece, for, aside from other considerations, we

shall thus safeguard our incoming and outgoing commerce.

Furthermore, we must labor to bring about an alliance

upon a broader basis with Rumania, and not alone upon

the basis of safeguarding the Treaty of Bucharest. . . .

[Pashitch then begged the Tsar to permit a marriage

between the Serbian Crown Prince and a Russian Grand

Duchess. The Tsar replied smilingly that he had no objec-

tions, but followed the principle of allowing his children to

choose for themselves.]

Upon my taking leave, the Tsar accompanied me to the

door and asked me especially and repeatedly to present

greetings to the King, not only from himself, but also from

the Tsarina and his family, and wished him good health:

"For Serbia we shall do everything; greet the King for me
and tell him [in Russian] : For Serbia we shall do every-

thing." 225

225 Report of Pashitch of his audience with the Tsar, Feb. 2, 1914;

Bogitchevitch, pp. 170-180; Deutschland Schuldigf, pp. 130-136.
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While thus protesting to the Tsar his desire for peace,

M. Pashitch, it is to be noted, asked for "120,000 rifles and
munitions and some few cannon"; he spoke of the Slavs

in Austria-Hungary "who now comprehend that their sal-

vation can come only from Russia and Serbia, and who can

scarcely wait"; and he urged an alliance with Rumania,
"not alone upon the basis of safeguarding the Treaty of

Bucharest" but with a view to the "three and a half million

Transylvanian Rumanians who were better nationalists

than the Rumanians in Rumania." Having indicated his

real desires to the Tsar, he then set out with Venizelos for

the Rumanian capital. Their visit was at once reported to

Conrad at Vienna by the Austrian military attache at

Bucharest:

Premiers Pashitch and Venizelos have spent two days

together in Bucharest, highly pleased with their visit, as

they both say, and today started together on their return

journey to Belgrade and Athens. Their visit is said to

concern measures to be taken in case any other State

threatens to overthrow by force the terms of the Peace of

Bucharest. Pashitch proceeds from the fixed assumption

that Turkey and Bulgaria have signed a convention directed

against Serbia and Greece, and that its unquestioned ex-

istence demands that these two States and Rumania shall

join together. The result of the conference here, according

to my informant, is a complete agreement of views as to

the future attitude of the three States, though Rumania has

not entered into any binding engagements. . . . Undoubt-
edly Russia wants a new Balkan League, and is working in

this direction at high pressure. 220

22« Hranilovitch to Conrad, Frb. 11, 1914; Conrad, III, 555. That
Hranilovitch was substantially correct is seen from the reports of the
Russian and French Ministers at Belgrade: Hartwig to Sazonov, Feb.
11/24, 1914 (Siebert-Schrcincr, p. 440); and Descos to Doumergue, Feb.
H. [Affaires Balkaniques, III. p. 113): "M. Patchou [Acting Minister of
Foreign Affairs in Serbia] tells me that, according to news from Bucharest,
the Bratianu Cabinet will be much more decided and more hostile to
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As a further link to bind Russia and Rumania together

the Tsar invited the Crown Prince with his wife and son,

Prince Carol, to visit Russia. They started on March 27,

1914, and stayed three weeks. One of the objects in view

was believed to be the possibility of arranging a marriage

between Prince Carol and one of the Tsar's daughters. Such

a marriage would obviously strengthen the increasingly

close relations between Bucharest and St. Petersburg, and

help swing Rumania away from the Triple Alliance into the

current of Sazonov's active Balkan policy. Prince Carol,

who would ultimately be the ruler of Rumania, had none

of King Carol's sympathies for Germany and the Hohen-

zollerns. He had been educated under the influence of

M. Jorga, one of Rumania's strongest nationalist and anti-

Austrian leaders.227 The visit met with such success that

in May, Sazonov told the French and English Ambassadors,

that, though no marriage was definitely settled, the Tsar's

second daughter had declared herself ready for the match.228

On June 14, 1914, the Tsar and Tsarina, accompanied

by M. Sazonov, returned the visit of the Rumanian Princes.

As they stepped ashore from the imperial yacht at Con-

stanza, the sun broke through the clouds after days of heavy

rain and added its warmth and brightness to the welcome

of the cheering Rumanian populace. King Carol, wearing

the uniform of a Russian field marshal, was photographed

with his imperial guests, and an enterprising Rumanian
Press saw to it that even the most remote villages of Tran-

sylvania had full news of the Tsar's visit, with all sorts of

exaggerated hopes as to the cooperation of Russia with

Rumania. M. Sazonov and M. Bratianu even went on a

Austria than the preceding Ministry, and that Serbia is absolutely sure of

Rumania."
227 Conrad, III, 481 ff., 494 ff., 549 ff, 633 ff.; G.P., XXXIX, 456, 474 ff.,

496 501, 566.

228 Adamov, Konstantinopol i Prolivy, I, 357, note 1. The World War
put an end to the projected match.
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walking tour together to Transylvania. "I did not hear of

this tactless excursion until it was over" writes the Aus-

trian Minister, Count Czernin, "but I shared Berchtold's

surprise at such a proceeding." 229 In the private political

conversations which M. Sazonov had with M. Bratianu,

the Russian Minister gave the impression that important

changes were coming in the European political situation,

and that Rumania would not fare badly "if she understood

the signs of the times and listened to counsels of

wisdom." 230

M. Bratianu in return assured Sazonov that "Rumania
was not obligated in any way to take part in any war what-

ever, except where her own individual interests were di-

rectly concerned." Not finding this Delphic utterance suffi-

ciently clear, and wishing to press him to a more definite

statement, Sazonov bluntly asked Bratianu the significant

leading question: "What would be Rumania's attitude in

case of an armed conflict between Russia and Austria-

Hungary, if the former were obliged by circumstances to

resort to military action?" Bratianu replied that "the atti-

tude of Rumania in this case would depend on the circum-

stances which led Russia to resort to military action against

Austria-Hungary, as well as upon what Rumania's interests

demanded at the given moment." From this conversation

Sazonov carried away the comfortable conclusion that,

"Rumania is not bound by any obligation which would force

her to act with Austria and against us under all circum-

stances, but, in reality, in case of war between us and

Austria-Hungary, Rumania will take the side which will be

22» Czernin. In the World War, p. 112.

23<> p. Lindeuberg. Konig Karl von Rumanian, II, 240 fT., 2SS ff.

Lindt nbiTK writes with Harm feeling for King Carol ind with some re-

sentment against Russia. He cites no documents but appears to have
had access to King Carol's papers, as well as the King's own assistance, in

writing the work which was nearly completed when the War broke out.

For accounts of the Constanza meeting as reported to Berlin, see G.P.,

XXXIX, 520-529.
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strongest and which will be in a position to promise her

the greatest gains." 231

Vienna had been viewing with increasing fears and sus-

picions the signs of growing intimacy between Bucharest

and St. Petersburg, as well as the formation of a Serb-

Greek-Rumanian combination, which originated primarily

in common hatred of Bulgaria but which might easily be

directed against the Dual Monarchy. How was Austria to

deal with this danger that Rumania would gravitate to the

side of the Triple Entente?

Baron Conrad, while willing to agree with any meas-

ures which aimed at winning back Rumania, or making her

declare her position more definitely, either for or against

Austria, had his staff work out plans for a campaign against

Rumania. He advised the building of defensive fortifica-

tions on the Rumanian frontier, or better still, a preventive

war against Serbia, which would rid Austria once and for

all of the Greater Serbia danger and clarify the general

political situation.232 But his advice was not followed,

because Emperor Francis Joseph, Archduke Franz Ferdi-

nand, Count Tisza, and the German Emperor were all op-

posed to any steps which might further antagonize

Rumania.233

Count Berchtold, like other weak and undecided persons,

preferred to wait and see ; he hoped Rumania could be won

231 Sazonov's report to the Tsar, June 11/24, 1914; Adamov, pp. 356-

363; L.N., II, 377-384. Sazonov also pointed out to the Tsar how he had
successfully flattered Rumania and increased her prestige among the

other Balkan States by associating her with the Great Powers in the

discussion for keeping the Straits open to commerce during the Tripolitan

War. Similarly on July 24, 1914, upon the news of the Austrian ultimatum
to Serbia, M. Diamandi, the Rumanian Minister in St. Petersburg, was
invited to the important luncheon with M. Sazonov, M. Paleologue and
Sir George Buchanan. Such flattery often counts for much in diplomacy,

as elsewhere. M. Diamandi has related his version of the Constanza

meeting in Revue des Deux Mondes, Jan. 1, 1928, pp. 129-143.

232 Conrad, III, 404 f, 554, 626, 640-648.

233 G.P., XXXIX, 333 ff., 358 ff., 511, 515 f.
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back by concessions. With this in view, Tisza undertook

negotiations to conciliate the Rumanians in Transylvania;

but, owing to the selfish obstinacy of the Magyars on one

side, and the excessive demands and bitterness of the Ru-

manians on the other, these negotiations proved futile, and

were abandoned at the end of March, 1914.- 34 In the hope

of winning back Rumanian sentiment in favor of Austria,

Berchtold also sent Count Czernin as Minister to Bucha-

rest in October, 1913, in place of Prince Fiirstenberg, who
was personally obnoxious to some of the Rumanian Cabinet.

Czernin was expected to be persona gratissima at Bucharest.

He was a protege of Franz Ferdinand, and had written a

pamphlet some years before advocating the rights of the

nationalities oppressed by the Magyars. He had taken

pains to inquire into the wishes of the Transylvanian Ru-

manians. After reaching Bucharest he made it a point to

express publicly his hopes that the Hungarian Government

would make concessions in the negotiations which Tisza

was then carrying on. He earnestly tried to carry out

Berchtold's instructions to secure better relations between

the two countries who were allies in form, but were becom-

ing enemies in fact. But in a few months Czernin realized

that his mission was hopeless. He found that King Carol

stood almost alone in his sympathy with the Triple Alli-

ance. The treaties which attached his country to Germany

and Austria had been kept so secret that they were known

only to the King himself, to the Premier, M. Bratianu, and

to one or two others. No other Ministers knew of them or

felt bound by them, so that it often happened that Ru-

manian diplomats abroad worked on the side of the Triple

Entente. So seriously did King Carol feel his own weakness

in the face of Rumanian popular sentiment, that he ad-

234 Conrad. Ill, 553, 556, 636. For the views of William II and Franz

Ferdinand at Konopischt on this Rumanian problem, see below, Vol. IL

ch. i; and G.P., XXXIX, 36-1-370.
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mitted to Count Czernin in December, 1913, that "under

existing circumstances he would be unable to side with

Austria in a war." 235

So Count Czernin became convinced that Berchtold's

optimistic do-nothing policy was folly. Like Conrad, he

too came around to thinking something more positive must

be done. In March, 1914, he closed one of his pessimistic

despatches with the prophetic warning:

I am in duty bound to call your attention to the fact

that we are slipping down an inclined plane here with

frightful speed, and there is no time to be lost. It would be

an ostrich policy to shut our eyes and let things go on as

they are here. For I must most energetically and emphat-

ically repeat, a hundred times if necessary, the Austro-

Rumanian Treaty [of Alliance] is a worthless scrap of

paper. In case of war, Rumania will not take a stand on the

side of the Dual Monarchy. The present situation is the

most unfavorable imaginable for us, since it binds us with-

out benefiting us. A passive policy of hesitation, of float-

ing with the current, of laissez faire, laissez aller, will not

improve this situation. Nothing but a clear-cut positive

action on Austria's part, nothing but an iron, unbending de-

termination to compel Rumania to show her colors, can avert

at the twelfth hour unfathomable disaster.236

Czernin suggested several alternative plans of action

which the Dual Monarchy might adopt. One was the ces-

sion of Transylvania to Rumania, with the stipulation that

the Rumanian Kingdom, thus enlarged, be incorporated

into the Hapsburg Empire, similar to Bavaria's position in

the German Empire. Czernin thought this plan desirable,

but impracticable of realization. As to a preventive war

against Serbia, urged by Conrad, Czernin was not one of

235 Conrad, III, 634.

23 c Closing paragraph of a long and remarkable report to Berchto!4

on the Rumanian situation, March 11, 1914; Conrad, III, 781-789; o%
also Czernin 's despatch of April 2; ibid., 633-638.
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those who, like Tisza, argued that a war with Serbia was

useless and undesirable because Austria-Hungary was al-

ready oversaturated with Slavs; no one, to be sure, wanted

any more Serbs in the Dual Monarchy, he said; but after a

successful war against Serbia, it would be possible to use

Serbian territory to win the good-will of the other Balkan

states; Greece and Bulgaria could be given what they

wanted in Macedonia; Albania could be rounded out to

the east; and Rumania be given the Timok-Njotin district,

a corner in northeast Serbia partly populated by Ruma-
nians. The point, however, which Czernin particularly

urged, was that the status of the Treaty of Alliance be

cleared up. In the present situation it was not worth a

scrap of paper to Austria, because King Carol no longer

controlled the situation and would be forced by public opin-

ion to repudiate it or to resign, in case a Russian attack on

Austria should give rise to the casus foederis. Austria mean-

while had her hands tied by the treaty, and could not enter

into other diplomatic negotiations which might offend Ru-

mania. To make Rumania take a stand openly, either for

or against Austria, Czernin therefore suggested a newspaper

"indiscretion" by which the existence of the treaty should

be allowed to leak out ; one could then tell by the way the

Rumanian Government denied the accuracy of the news-

paper account, and the way public opinion in Rumania

discussed it, what Austria could count upon. But Berch-

told rejected all these suggestions. He merely gave a half-

hearted authorization to Czernin to sound King Carol tact-

fully as to whether the King would not be willing that the

treaty should be made public. But, as Czernin had fore-

seen, when he broached the subject, King Carol delicately

evaded it. So Berchtold and his associates were left uncer-

tain whether, in a crisis, the secret treaty with Rumania

would hold or not.

Another suggestion by which Austria might offset the
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probable loss of Rumania was that Austria should follow

Russia's example, and build up a Balkan League under her

own patronage to balance the feared Serb-Greek-Rumanian

league under Russian patronage. Bulgaria and Turkey,

smarting from recent defeats and eager for support, might

be brought together by Austria and be eventually drawn

into the Triple Alliance circle to make up for Rumania's

"desertion." In other words, Austria might shift the pivot

of her Balkan policy from Bucharest to Sofia. Such a

Bulgarophil diplomatic program had already been at-

tempted by Berchtold during the Balkan Wars; but it had

met with no success and had caused serious differences of

opinion between Vienna and Berlin. In the spring of 1914,

it was taken up again at Vienna and a long memorandum
for its accomplishment had been worked out at the moment
that Franz Ferdinand was assassinated at Sarajevo. But

there was still the serious difficulty: would Germany con-

sent to this program of her Austrian Ally? Of late Emperor

William had become strongly philhellene, supporting Greek

claims to the Aegean Islands against Turkish interests.237

Would he ever consent to abandon a Hohenzollern like King

Carol, whom he greatly respected and trusted, and take in

his place Ferdinand of Bulgaria, for whom he had a personal

aversion and who was universally regarded with distrust?

This question of shifting the pivot from Bucharest to Sofia

had long been argued without agreement between Berlin

and Vienna during and after the Balkan Wars. It also

formed the larger part of the fateful memoir and royal mis-

sive from Francis Joseph which the Austrian Ambassador

handed to William II after lunch at Potsdam on July 5,

1914, as will be related in the second volume, "After

Sarajevo."

This Rumanian problem was one of the many points on

237 Conrad, III, 644, 655 ff., 662. On the Kaiser's philhellenism see

above, notes 186-190, in connection with intrigues over Kavala.
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which there was a sharp divergence between German and

Austrian policy. Though the relations between Bucharest

and Vienna had become increasingly strained, Bucharest

and Berlin had remained on terms of firm cordiality, and

Germany had done much to keep King Carol and his people

loyal to the Triple Alliance. These ties had been originally

cemented through the kinship of the Hohenzollern rulers.

They had been strengthened by the long residence at Bucha-

rest of Kiderlen-Wiichter, one of Germany's ablest diplo-

mats since Bismarck's day. Even when Kiderlen was called

to Berlin to pilot the Foreign Office in the last months of

Biilow and the first years of Bethmann, he continued the

close friendly relations which ho had established with King

Carol and influential Rumanian politicians.238 Jon Bra-

tianu the Younger, the leader of the so-called Liberal Party,

at heart tended more and more to the side of the Triple

Entente. He had been educated in France, visited Paris

annually, and naturally had Gallic sympathies. These were

strengthened by the political calculation as far back as 1909

that the Entente might prove a stronger combination than

the Triple Alliance in a general European war, and might

therefore be a safer group for Rumania to join.239 In spite

of this, however, he had confidentially assured Kiderlen

that "he had inherited from his father the fundamental

principle that Rumania's path to Vienna lies through Ber^

lin, and that he had the firm conviction that everything

which Berlin advised was for Rumania's genuine best in-

terests."
240 He adhered to this principle and Germany did

nothing to forfeit his well-placed confidence.

During the First Balkan War, when Rumania demanded

territorial "compensations" from Bulgaria, Germany recog-

nized her demands as justified. Berlin privately urged wise

moderation and concessions both at Bucharest and Sofia, in

238 Cj. E. Juckh, Kiderlen-Wdchtcr, I. 179-219; II, 161-237, passim.

239 G P, XXVII, 300. **» G.P., XXVII, p. 223.
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order to prevent a Bulgaro-Rumanian war, which would add

another Balkan complication and still further threaten the

peace of Europe. But at the same time, both before and

during the St. Petersburg Conference, Germany exerted her

influence strongly in favor of Rumania's claims. She re-

fused all Berchtold's Bulgarophil projects for giving Bul-

garia Salonica, Samothrace, or money, as a solace for ceding

Silistria to Rumania; she feared that such gifts would

be frowned upon by Rumania and increase her distrust of

the Triple Alliance—not to mention other objections. 241

When the Second Balkan War broke out, and Rumanian

indignation ran high against Berchtold's suspected Bul-

garophilism, Germany refused to join him in putting pres-

sure on Rumania to keep quiet. Berlin regretted his

ill-judged effort, believing it would not be successful, and

would only deepen Rumanian indignation—as proved to be

the case. On the contrary, Germany recognized that Bul-

garia's attack on Serbia was the psychological moment for

King Carol to make good the claims which Bulgaria had

been refusing; Germany could not assume the responsibility

of advising Rumania to neglect her vital interests for the

sake of Austria's desire to see a strong Bulgaria in Serbia's

rear. Resentment would be so great in Bucharest that

Rumania would certainly swing over from the Triple Alli-

ance to the Triple Entente. It was a poor policy for Austria

to risk losing a faithful ally like King Carol for the hope of

getting a treacherous friend like King Ferdinand of Bul-

garia. Austria made a mistake in letting herself be so

obsessed with the fear of a Greater Serbia and in forgetting

that she ruled over Rumanians as well as Slavs. Germany

accepted the Rumanian point of view: Austria says that

she cannot tolerate a Greater Serbia, but no more can

Rumania tolerate a Greater Bulgaria.242 Berchtold was so

241G.P., XXXIV, 444 ff, 456, 459 ff., 520 f., 660 ff, 674 f., 687 ff, 820 ff.,

873 ff.
242 G.P., XXXV, 46 ft, 61 ff., 66 ff.
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put out with Germany's solicitude for Rumania's feelings,

that he thrice made formal representations in Berlin against

it.
243 But the German Secretary of State, Jagow, while

admitting some of his arguments, noted: "Yes, but we do

not need by a long shot to join in all Vienna's stupidi-

ties." 244 Accordingly, after King Carol mobilized his army
and seized the New Dobrudja by force from Bulgaria, Ger-

many confirmed him in his new territories by helping to

prevent the Austrian and Russian efforts to have the Treaty

of Bucharest subjected to revision by the Great Powers.

This divergence of views between Berlin and Vienna

continued during the months following the Balkan Wars.

Bethmann and the Kaiser still placed their hopes on Ru-

manian loyalty, while Berchtold and his advisers inclined

toward closer relations with Bulgaria, since Rumania
seemed to be lost. In the spring of 1914 Rumania's "deser-

tion" seemed more and more probable. This was partly

owing to the active wooing by Russia, and to the propa-

gandist articles by French journalists and professors, who
visited and lectured at Bucharest. It was also partly owing

to the Magyar oppression of the Rumanians living in Tran-

sylvania and to Austria's suspected Bulgarophilism. The
anti-Austrian demonstrations of the chauvinistic Rumanian
"League of Civilization" became louder, and the attacks of

the Rumanian Press more virulent. An anti-Hapsburg

play, "Mr. Notary," written by a Transylvanian, was being

performed at the National Theatre in Bucharest. It roused

the people to a frenzy. They marched past the royal palace

singing war songs and crying, "Down with Austria" and

"Long live Russia." King Carol genuinely regretted all

this. But he feared to censor "Mr. Notary," lest it serve

only to advertise it and make matters worse. 245 In the

243G.P., XXXIV, 820 ff.; XXXV, 6Gff., 115 ff.

2-n G.P., XXXIV, 821.

2 -»5 Despatches of Waldthausen, German Minister at Bucharest, Jan-

uary-April, 1914; G.P., XXXIX, 471-497. These despatches hardly bear
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winter he had admitted that, if the anti-Austrian feeling

kept up, Rumania would not march with Austria in case of

a European war; a treaty of alliance was not enough by

itself; it must have popular support. In the spring he con-

fessed that his country was "in a complete paroxysm," and

that he was helpless to stem the tide of popular hatred of

Austria.246

This situation disturbed Berlin considerably. It led the

Kaiser to make the Rumanian danger the main subject of

his discussions with Franz Ferdinand and the Austrians on

his visits to Vienna, Miramar, and Konopischt shortly be-

fore the Sarajevo assassination. He hoped that Count Tisza,

the Hungarian Premier, would make concessions to the

Rumanians in Transylvania. Germany urged that nothing

be done like Conrad's plan of fortifying the Carpathian

frontier which would certainly be unfavorably interpreted

in Bucharest, or like Czernin's schemes for getting the

Rumanian treaty made public.247 But on the whole Ger-

many was inclined to take a less tragic view of the Ru-

manian situation than Austria, and tried to calm the latter 's

fears. She hoped that the paroxysm would pass, and that

Rumania would swing back to her traditional loyalty, if

the Triple Alliance Powers did not show too much uneasi-

ness and nervousness. It might be that in case of a Euro-

pean war King Carol might have difficulty in fulfilling his

out Czernin's reports to Berchtold (April 2, 1914; Conrad, III, 634) that

Waldthausen had no real insight into the situation, allowed the wool
to be pulled over his eyes, and was nothing more than "a human phono-
graph," reporting credulously to Berlin whatever he was told by the

Rumanian ministers, "who are a hundred times cleverer than he." Czernin,

who was not lacking in a sufficiently good opinion of his own astuteness,

says of himself: "Bratianu reports to me daily that I am his real friend,

that he has never been able to speak with a diplomatic representative

so frankly as with me, and all such words. He thinks I am more of a

fool than I really am. . . . But I do not trust him around the corner"

(ibid., p. 786).

246 Waldthausen to Bethmann, Dec. 6, 1913, and Mar. 30, 1914; G.P.,

XXXIX, 466, 481.

247 op XXXIX, 506, 511, 515 f.
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treaty obligations. But even so, it was still a long step

from this to his active participation on the enemy's side,

"quite aside from the fact that complications between the

Great Powers are hardly to be expected in the immediate

future." 248 Rumania's future remained a puzzling riddle,

adding still further to Balkan instability, uncertainties, and

intrigues.

THE LIMAN VON SANDERS AFFAIR

Hitherto we have been considering the Balkan Prob-

lems chiefly from the point of view of the rival interests

of Austria and Russia and the nationalist aspirations of the

Balkan States themselves. In the latter part of 1913 the

appointment of the German General Liman von Sanders at

Constantinople caused friction between Russia and Ger-

many, which for several reasons deserves more attention

than it has usually been given. It was the last diplomatic

crisis of importance before July, 1914, and, like the latter,

involved the influence and prestige of these two Great

Powers in the Near East. But it is a good example of how
such a crisis can be settled, if there is sufficient good will

on both sides. Its satisfactory settlement is a proof of the

proposition that war is not "inevitable." We are at last

in fairly full possession of the essential documents relating

to the affair,
249 and are therefore able to follow the inner

248 jagow to Waldthausen, April 24, 1914; G.P., XXXIX, 505 f. Cf.

also the much more pessimistic views of Vienna as to Rumania, ibid.,

pp. 434-515, passim; and Conrad, III, 549-563, 633-648, 781-789.

-'9 From the Russian side, M.F.R., pp. 629-693 contains a satisfactorily

abundant correspondence between Sazonov and his diplomatic agents

—

Giers at Constantinople, Izvolski at Paris, and Bcnckendorff at London;
only part of this is included in L.N., II, 173-279; Stieve, III, 352-439, rV,

1-28; and Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 678-708. The interesting report to the

Tsar of the conversations of the Russian Premier, Kokovtsev, with Em-
peror William and Bethmann-Hollweg on the subject is printed in M.F.R.,

pp. 624 ff
. ; L.N., II. 414 ff.; Stieve, III, 415 ff. For the minutes of the

Secret Ministerial Councils concerning counter-measures to compel Ger-

many and Turkey to abandon the German Military Mission, see Adamov,
Konstanlinopol i Prulivy, I, 61-77 (with Sazonov's reports to the Tsar);
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workings of Sazonov's mind, with its blunt rudeness of

expression, its fickle alternations of pessimism and opti-

mism, its fear of Russian "public opinion," and its danger-

ous inclination to resort to military measures as a "bluff" to

force a diplomatic victory. We are also enabled to get an

insight into the domestic cross currents at St. Petersburg,

the secret workings of the Triple Entente, and the exceed-

ingly moderate and conciliatory attitude of Germany.

M. Sazonov was highly indignant when he heard in

November, 1913, that a German General, Liman von

Sanders, was to command Turkish troops at Constantinople.

In his mind it was a sly, unjustifiable, and not-to-be-per-

mitted move on Germany's part to gain further power and

prestige in the Ottoman Empire and so to thwart Russia

in her "historic mission" of securing control of Constanti-

nople and the Straits—regions which he curiously but sig-

nificantly speaks of as "bordering on our frontier." He
instantly telegraphed from Ialia in the Crimea to the Rus-

sian Ambassador in Berlin:

Learning about the agreement of Germany with Turkey

relating to the military instructors, I am extremely aston-

ished that this serious question was not touched upon by the

[German] Chancellor at the time of my frank and friendly

explanations with him. Of itself, a German Military Mis-

sion in regions bordering on our frontier could not but

I. Zakher, "Konstantinopol i Prolivy" in Krasnyi Arkhiv, VI, 48-76; VII,

32-54, 1924 (with important and significant Russian Admiralty Reports)

;

Pokrovski, Drei Konferenzen, pp. 32-45; Stieve, Iswolski und der Welt-

krieg (Berlin, 1924), pp. 234-266 [English trans., appendix, 11]; Stieve,

however, fails to observe the distinction between Old Style and New
Style in discussing these councils. See also Affaires Balkaniques, III, 81-

107, which evidently omits many important telegrams from the German
side; Deutschland Schuldig? (Berlin, 1919), pp. 159-181; and, most im-
portant of all, G.P., XXXVIII, 193-318.

Good brief accounts of the Liman von Sanders affair may be found
in Liman von Sanders, Funf Jahre Turkei (Berlin, 1920), pp. 9-30; Mont-
gelas, The Case jor the Central Powers, 93-95; Brandenburg, pp. 393-395;

Dickinson, pp. 348-9 ; and more fully, R. J. Kerner, in the Slavonic Review,
VI, 12-27, 344-363, 543-560 (June, Dec, 1927; March, 1928).
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provoke violent irritation in Russian public opinion, and

would certainly be interpreted as an act manifestly hostile

to us. Especially also, the placing of Turkish troops in

Constantinople under a German general must necessarily

arouse suspicion and apprehension among us. Please speak

in this sense to the German Government.250

Sazonov's indignation was shared and whetted by M.
Delcasse—though for somewhat different reasons. The
French Ambassador feared it foreshadowed a German "at-

tempt to bring about a seizure of Turkey by the Triple

Alliance Powers, to which the Triple Entente could not shut

its eyes without prejudice to itself."
251 Germany already

enjoyed tremendous economic and political power in Asia

Minor because of the Bagdad Railway, Delcasse argued;

now she would have a fleet in the Eastern Mediterranean

and be getting a naval base and coaling station for it. Italy,

too, would get concessions—the building of a harbor and

railway at Adalia and the establishment of an Italian sphere

of influence in southern Asia Minor. Austria would like-

wise want something for herself. As far as Italian and

Austrian ambitions in Asia Minor were concerned, Delcasse

was not so far astray; but Germany was opposed to satis-

fying them, even though they were her allies, fearing that

the other Powers would demand similar "compensations,"

and that this would mean the final carving up of Turkey.

To this surgical operation Germany was strongly opposed

250 Sazonov to Sverbeev, Oct. 28/Nov. 10. 1913; sent also to Giers at

Constantinople; M.F.R., p. 633. Cf. G.P., XXXVIII, 206-209.

251 Cf. Delcasse 's Tgs. 700, 701, omitted from the French Yellow Book,

but quoted in part by Adamov, p. 59. The first reference to the Liman
von Sanders affair in the French Affaires Balkaniques (III, 81) is the

apparently mild and laconic telegram from Delcasse of Nov. 17, 1913:

"The sending of the new German military mission, whose head is to have

the command of the Constantinople Army Corps, is preoccupying M.
Sa^onov." For other indications that Delcasse and Pichon at first encour-

aged Sazonov in his attitude of protest, see ibid., pp. 84, 88, 92 f., 96 f.;

G. P., XXXVIII, 211, 224 ff.; and Siebcrt-Schreiner, p. 678 f.; see also

below, note 294.
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at this time, because she feared it might lead to a conflict

between the Great Powers; and also because, being toler-

ably well situated in Asiatic Turkey and enjoying much

influence at Constantinople, she wanted to preserve the

status quo as long as possible, or at least until the Powers

could agree upon an amicable and mutually satisfactory

basis of division.252 A few days later Delcasse sent the

French Government the gloomy warning: "The falling to

pieces of Turkey has already begun, or is about to begin,

and Germany will occupy a position guaranteeing to her

all the advantages of a partition." 253

The Liman von Sanders Mission originated with the

Young Turk desire to westernize and modernize the admin-

istration of the Ottoman Empire. Soon after seizing power

they had invited a number of distinguished foreigners to

help them: two Frenchmen, M. Laurent, as financial ad-

viser, and M. Baumann, to train the Turkish gendarmerie

;

a French trained jurisconsult, M. Leon Ostrorog, to assist

in judicial reforms; Sir Richard Crawford to reorganize the

customs service; Sir William Willcocks to start irrigation

works in Mesopotamia; two other Englishmen, Admiral

Sir Douglas Gamble and Admiral Limpus were to reorganize

and train the navy, while a German General, Von der Goltz,

who had already been in Turkish service, was to spend part

of his time in training the Turkish army.

Von der Goltz, however, had found his position difficult

on account of the lack of unity among the Young Turk of-

ficers, their tendency to mix politics with military matters,

and their unwise system of promotions. He also complained

of the lack of authority in his own hands, and eventually

252 For evidences that Germany was strongly opposed to the partition

of Asiatic Turkev, though of course if the Entente Powers forced it, she

wanted to have her fair share, see G.P., XXXIV, 207, 219 ff„ 229 f., 255 f.;

XXXVII, 474 ff.; XXXVIII, 41-48, 54-66, 93 ff., 129, 196-202; Conrad,

III, 569 ff'.; and Brandenburg, 389 ff. [Eng. trans, p. 456 ff.].

253 Adamov, I, 59.
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abandoned the work.254 The old Turkisli officers and

soldiers, into whom he had tried to infuse Prussian disci-

pline and methods, proved poor material, and made a

lamentable exhibition of themselves when Turkey was at-

tacked by the Balkan Allies in the fall of 1912.

On January 2, 1913, during the armistice in the First

Balkan War and the pending negotiations in London, the

Young Turk Noradunghian confidentially asked Wangen-
heim, (he German Ambassador in Constantinople, to find

out for him as quickly as possible the terms on which the

French General Eydoux had been engaged to reorganize and

train the Greek army.-55 He was evidently contemplating

something of the same kind for Turkey after the overwhelm-

ing defeats she had suffered in the past three months. The
assassination of Nazim Pasha and the Cabinet Revolution

in Constantinople, following the concessions made by the

Turkish delegates in London, delayed whatever plans

Noradunghian may have had in mind, but they brought

into power Mahmud Shevket Pasha. With him were a

group of patriotic and determined Young Turks, who were

bent on energetic reforms in Turkey, with the assistance of

European advisers, as the only hope of saving their country

from an early and complete dissolution. As Yon der Goltz

and his companions had already given the Turks a start in

German military methods, it was obvious that Mahmud
Shevket should turn to Germany rather than to any other

Power for new military instructors. Accordingly he begged

the Kaiser, through the German Military Attache in Con-

stantinople, for the services of some Prussian officers for

the strengthening of Constantinople. The Kaiser favored

the idea, and on April 2 asked his Foreign Office whether

it saw any political objections to the plan, adding that the
254 G.P., V, 1S2, 186; IX. 3 f.. 36(T.. 41, 226; XII, 134, 562. 566 ff.

;

XXIV, 150; XXV, 190, 527, 541, 612-622; XXVII, 243, 275-2S1; XXXVIIL
214 f.

255 G.P., XXXVIII, 193.
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matter was not urgent, as it was not desired that the officers

should go to Turkey until peace had put an end to the

Balkan War. The Foreign Office had no objections.256

Long negotiations then began between the Turkish and

German military authorities, which finally resulted by

November in the signing of a definite contract for a German

Military Mission of some forty-two German officers, headed

by General Liman von Sanders.

Though it is commonly stated by Entente writers that

Germany instigated the Liman von Sanders Mission, there

is no indication of this in the German documents; in fact,

the weight of evidence is against it, and in favor of the view

that it was initiated by the Turks themselves for their

own salvation.257

More important, however, than the origin of the German

256 G.P., XXXVIII, 195 f.

257 On Jan. 28, 1913, the Austrian Military Attache in Constantinople,

after hearing Wangenheim set forth "in his usual lively manner" Tur-

key's need of a general reorganization, reported to Conrad (III, 40) :
"As

I now learn from a sure Turkish source, this reorganization plan does

not originate with Baron Wangenheim, but with the former Turkish Am-

bassador in Paris, Munir Pasha. The latter put his views down in a

memoir which he recommended to his friends and to Mahmud Shevket

Pasha." Hilmi Pasha, the Turkish Ambassador in Vienna, correcting

Dumaine's assertion to the contrary, assured Tschirschky that "the initia-

tive came exclusively from the Turkish side" (G.P., XXXVIII, 228).

Djemal Pasha, who was Minister of Public Works in January, 1913, and

then became Military Governor of Constantinople in charge of the Army

Corps which he later handed over to General Liman, explains in detail

(Memories of a Turkish Statesman, 1913-1919, London, pp. 65-70), quoting

Mahmud Shevket, how the German Military Mission originated with the

latter's determination to strengthen the Turkish army by reorganizing it

along the lines which German instructors for thirty years had been trying

to introduce. His statements on this point deserve all the more credi-

bility as they coincide very closely with Mahmud Shevket's expression of

views to Wangenheim at the time, as now revealed in the German docu-

ments (especially G.P, XXXVIII, 198 ff.). Against this unanimous Turk-

ish evidence is only the casual remark of General Liman himself (Funf

Jahre Turkei, pp. 12, 25) that the Mission was due to Wangenheim's initia-

tive; but General Liman knew nothing of the whole matter until several

months after it had been first broached; he may have gotten this erro-

neous idea from Wangenheim's zeal in furthering the Mission, or from

the German Ambassador's tendency to magnify his own importance.
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Military Mission were its aims and potential effects as

viewed by the Turks, the Germans, and the Russians.

Mahmud Shevket and the Young Turks, in fear of Rus-

sian intrigues south of the Caucasus and in response to

pressure for reforms in Armenia, decided in the spring of

1913 to ask for seventeen English inspectors for the Ana-

tolian gendarmerie and civil administration. Grey at first

assented, but later cut the number down to five out of

regard for Russian and German susceptibilities.258 At the

same time Mahmud Shevket desired that Germany should

send new military instructors to Turkey. He believed that

it was only through Anglo-German cooperation that Turkey

could be regenerated. As he explained to the German

Ambassador on April 26, 1913:

Turkey can only bring about her resurrection if she

can count on Germany and England. That these two coun-

tries have hitherto been in opposition has been the chief

cause of our misfortunes. I must therefore take care that

Turkey becomes the ground on which an Anglo-German

understanding shall take place. [After discussing the in-

ternal reforms needed, he continued.] We have few trained

and reliable officials. Here foreign countries must help.

I shall therefore turn to the various Cabinets with a re-

quest for reformers. For the reorganization of the army I

count definitely upon Germany. This is the most important

point in my program. The army must be reformed from

the bottom up; politics must be driven out of the [Turkish]

officer group. For this the activity of the officers of instruc-

tion, in the way they have been shoved in here and there

into our organization as mere advisers, is not sufficient.

Also for the reform of education I count upon the support

of the German Government. I shall ask Italy for gendarme

officers for Syria, and France for reorganizers for finance

and for the postal and telegraph service. Austria's help I

would rather not have. On the other hand, I need the Eng-

258 G.P., XXXVIII, 32-41, 49-54, 58 f., 98.
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lish for the different administrative branches in the prov-

inces of North and East Anatolia. . . . The navy also will

be further reformed by the English. On the basis of a

proposal by Admiral Limpus the ships will receive as com-

manders English officers not in active service. 259

The German Ambassador listened eagerly to these plans

of the Grand Vizier. He urged Germany to accede to the

request for military instructors. He warmly welcomed

Mahmud Shevket's idea of Anglo-German cooperation for

strengthening Turkey, and let his imagination wander in

happy political vistas of the future : "It opens for us pros-

pects for an understanding with England, or at least the

possibility of cooperation for the maintenance of the

Turkish Empire. On the other hand, if England should

refuse such cooperation with us, she could not ignore the

influence which we should acquire by our controlling posi-

tion in military matters and in the instruction of the youth.

We should always be in a position through a skilful use of

the German military reformers to control or paralyze possi-

ble separate efforts by the British." 260 But Wangenheim
was such an optimistic enthusiast about the future of

Turkey that his friends said he was "turkified," and he was

so much inclined to exceed his functions and meddle in

Turkish politics that he had sometimes to be called to order

by the Kaiser.261 One must therefore take his despatches

with a grain of salt and be on one's guard against accepting

completely his opinions as representing those of his Govern-

ment.

259 Wangenheim to Bethmann, April 26, 1913; G.P., XXXVIII, 198 ff.

These views of Mahmud Shevket, set forth on April 26, are the key-note

and first elaboration of the Military Mission plan, and are echoed a

month later in Wangenheim's despatches of May 21 and 29 (see next

paragraph) which Professor Kerner quotes at length (I.e., pp. 15-18).

2«o Wangenheim to Bethmann, May 29, 1913; ibid., p. 59; cf. also

his despatch of May 22 repeating and endorsing Mahmud Shevket's re-

quest for a German military mission
;

ibid., 201 f

.

261 Cf. GP, XXXIII, 323, 340.
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The Kaiser was much more skeptical, and did not alto-

gether endorse Wangenheim's enthusiasm. Commenting on

Mahmud Shevket's plans quoted above, he wrote: "Many

good intentions, but much that is fantastic! In reality

this employment of various European nations for Turkey's

internal affairs is a grand bridge to intrigues and the parti-

tion of Turkey! It is not so simple to set bounds to the

Powers and restrict them to their duties! Especially not

the British;" and he feared that a reorganized Turkish

army might "also be used against us or the Bagdad Rail-

way." 262 However, in spite of these reflections of the

moment, the Kaiser had already approved the idea of Ger-

man military instructors, and later urged that the slow

arrangements for it be hurried up. On the whole, as he told

the Russians in the fall, he seems to have regarded the

mission as primarily a military, rather than a political,

affair.

The Porte early notified the British Government of the

project,203 and it was discussed in a general way with the

Tsar and King George upon their visit to Berlin on May

24 to attend the wedding of the Kaiser's daughter to the

Guelf Duke of Brunswick. The Kaiser informed them of

the Turkish request for German officers: "The Tsar as

well as King George were wholly agreed. The King said:

'It is quite natural that they should turn to you for officers

to reorganize their Army. We are asked to send people

202 G.P., XXXVIII, 201.

2C3 Wangcnhcim to Berlin Foreign Office, May 26. 1913 bbid., p. 49) :

"In the undeveloped conditions here the administration and gendarmerie

need unconditionally the support of the army. Therefore a basic Anglo-

German understanding concerning the work of reform is imperative. The

Porte has informed London that the reorganization of the army and

instruction is to fall to Germany. The English Embassy counsellor said

to me day before yesterday of his own accord: 'Whether Germany and

England want to or not, they will be led by necessity to uphold Turkey.'

"

Grey told Lichnowsky on May 30 that he agreed with Germany in wish-

ing to preserve and strengthen Turkey, but thought all the Powers ought

to assist in the reform work (ibid., p. 55 note).
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to reorganize their Police and Gendarmerie, which we shall

do.' The Tsar also said that it was necessary to fortify

the Tchataldja Line very strongly, so that the Bulgarians

should not be able to get in [Constantinople]." 264

Later Sazonov repeatedly objected that the German
Government had acted unfairly in concealing everything

from Russia about the matter until the news came out in

November. He even complained of it to the King of Ru-
mania at the Constanza meeting in June, 1914. This caused

the Kaiser to make the pertinent, if not parliamentary, com-

ment: "The old liar! I told it in the spring -personally*

to the Tsar; if he did not inform Sazonov, that is not my
affair. ... If the Tsar did not tell him anything of it,

he regarded the matter as not important enough to men-

tion and as wholly natural." 265

However, aside from the undoubted discussion by

royalty at the wedding festivities in May, secrecy shrouded

the plans for German officers in Turkey while the Balkan

Wars (including Turkey) were still going on, and while

the details of General Liman's contract were being worked

264 Kaiser's marginal note, Dec. 3, 1913; ibid., p. 232; cf. also to the

same effect the Kaiser's statements to Kokovtsev, the Russian Prime

Minister, in November, 1913; ibid., 216, 219 comment 2; M.F.R., p. 638;

Siebert-Schreiner, p. 676 f. Professor Kerner also mentions this marginal

note of Dec. 3 (I.e., p. 18), but later seems to cast doubt upon its trust-

worthiness, for he speaks of "a vague reference in May, 1913," which the

Kaiser "asserts" (p. 25) and "claims" (p. 26) he made to the Tsar and
George V. One might doubt the trustworthiness of the Kaiser's memory
or sincerity in his notes and statements six months after the event, were

it not that this Willy-Nicky-Georgie May conversation is confirmed by
Jagow's contemporary despatch to Lichnowsky (May 27; G.P., XXXVIII,
52), and by the fact that the Tsar himself subsequently "admitted that

the plan to send a German Military mission to Turkey had been told

to him by the Kaiser at the time of the marriage festivities in Berlin"

(Pourtales to Bethmann, Jan. 31, 1914; ibid., 307). What King George
replied, when he was asked by Grey about this May conversation, does

not appear (cf. Siebert-Schreiner, p. 705).

265 G.P., XXXVIII, 318. For the quite different light in which Sazo-

nov represented this Constanza conversation in his report to the Tsar, cf.

Adamov, I, 357 f.; UN., II, 378.
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out. Such secrecy was only natural, because their publica-

tion might bring upon the Germans "the reproach of taking

sides and cause political difficulties." 286 This secrecy was

nevertheless unfortunate, both for M. Sazonov's personal

feelings and consequently for the friendly relations between

Russia and Germany. It was particularly unfortunate that

no mention of the contract was made to him confidentially,

when he passed through Berlin in October and had a frank

and cordial discussion with the German Chancellor on the

general political situation in Europe. Sazonov not un-

naturally felt injured in his feelings by what seemed to him

to be a lack of reciprocal frankness and friendliness on

Bethmann's part. Bcthmann on his part was genuinely

innocent of any deliberate suppressio veri. He apparently

failed to mention it simply because it did not occur to him.

This explanation accords with his character, with his state-

ment to Kokovtsev later, and with the fact that he had

really known little about the Liman von Sanders arrange-

ment?, which had mainly been made through the military

and not the diplomatic channels. 267

General Liman von Sanders himself knew nothing of

the project until it was proposed to him on June 15.268

He was rightly believed to be a much abler man than Von
der Goltz. Never having been to Turkey, he at once began

to read through his predecessor's correspondence to get an

idea of the kind of difficulties he would have to meet. He
had plenty of time for this, as it was still many months

before a contract was signed with Turkey defining his

powers and duties and those of the forty-one subordinate

2«6Jagow to Wangcnheim, Aug. 24, 1913; G.P., XXXVIII, 201.

267 G.P., XXXVIII, 212 ft*. Bethmann and the Foreign Office did not

learn the final terms of General Liman 's contract until they received a copy

of it on Jan. 8, 1914, from the Prussian Ministry of War (ibid., p. 213

note).
26 8 Liman, p. 9 ff. Bethmann was not informed of Liman 's selection

until June 30; G.P., XXXVIII, 202 f.
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officers who eventually accompanied him. These were

details which had to be worked out by the German and

Turkish military authorities. In this connection General

Liman says, and with truth:

The work of the members of the Mission was to be

strictly military. The wording of the contract shows this

clearly. The charge made on many sides, in writings and

newspapers, that it was also to have political activity is

wholly incorrect.269

At the end of November, when the contract was finally

ready and signed, General Liman was commanded to an

audience with Emperor William. The Kaiser said to him

in substance:

You must not care in the least whether the Young Turks

or the Old Turks are in power. You have only to do with

the army. Get politics out of the Turkish corps of officers.

Dabbling in politics is its greatest mistake. In Constan-

tinople you will meet Admiral Limpus who is at the head

of the English Naval Mission. Be on good terms with him.

He works for the navy and you for the army. Each of you

has his own separate field of work. 270

On December 14, 1913, he finally arrived at the Turkish

capital and was received with martial music and an honor-

ary escort from the Constantinople Fire Department. But
already, a month before his arrival, he had become the object

of a diplomatic conflict which threatened to involve Russian

and German prestige, or even the Triple Entente and the

Triple Alliance.

On November 2, 1913, M. Giers, the Russian Ambas-
sador at Constantinople, telegraphed to St. Petersburg an-

nouncing the rumor of a coming German Military Mission.

According to the friendly explanations of his German col-

league, Baron Wangenheim, it was to be like the French
269 Liman, 11. 270 Liman, 11.
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Military Mission to Greece. But three days later Giers

learned that General Liman would also have command of

the Turkish Army Corps stationed at Constantinople. This

was a new feature to which Russia and France at once, and

eventually England, objected. It gave General Liman

quite a different position from that of Von der Goltz before

him, or from that of the French military instructor in

Greece.271

On the day the news of the German Military Mission

reached St. Petersburg, Sazonov was absent in the Crimea

making a report to the Tsar. M. Kokovtsev, the Russian

Premier and Minister of Finance, was in France arranging

for the five-hundred-million-franc loan for the construction

of Russian strategic railways, but he was planning to stop

in Berlin on his way home to thank the Kaiser for decorat-

ing him with the Order of the Black Eagle. It was there-

fore decided that Kokovtsev should take advantage of his

visit in Berlin to set forth Russia's objections to the new

German Military Mission. His report to the Tsar of his

interviews with Bethmann-Hollweg and the Kaiser gives

an excellent statement of the Liman von Sanders affair at

the moment it became a serious diplomatic question. After

mentioning Sazonov's injured feelings at not having been

told of the projected Military Mission, Kokovtsev con-

tinues [his prolix circumlocutions being somewhat abbrevi-

ated] :

Both the Chancellor and the Emperor left me with the

impression that the project was born last Spring, and that

27i Giers to Sazonov, Tgs. 928, 936, Oct. 20/Nov. 2, and Oct. 23/Nov.

5 1913- MFR p 631. Ncratov to Sverbcev. German Ambassador in

Berlin, Tg. 3032,' 25 Oct./7 Nov. (M.F.R., p. 632): "Discuss in a friendly

way .'.
. the very undesirable impression which would be made upon us

by the placing of divisions and corps in Constantinople under German

officers. Acts of this sort, causing unnecessary suspicion, hinder friendly

relations with the Berlin Cabinet which are maintained on our side at

such serious cost. We should not object to a command, not in the capital,

but in other parts of Turkey not in our neighborhood."
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che Chancellor, according to his affirmation during a com-

pletely sincere talk, was scarcely acquainted with it. He
had merely learned that the Turkish Government had in-

vited Germany to undertake the instruction of the Turkish

army, that this question had been touched upon by the

German Emperor in a private talk with Your Majesty in

Berlin last May, and that Your Majesty had made no ob-

jection in principle, in view of the fact German officers have

served as instructors in the Turkish army for more than

twenty years; but that afterwards the ultimate arrange-

ments for the organization of a Model Army Corps, under

German command in the capital of Turkey, had remained

wholly unknown to him and had followed the routine

through military departments of the Empire.

In repeated and entirely sincere talks, the Chancellor did

not hide from me how particularly painful to him was the

possibility of the thought that he had participated in the

preparation of a project disagreeable to Russia, and that

he had not given a timely notification to our Minister of

Foreign Affairs.

"During my four years of office," said Herr von Beth-

mann-Hollweg, "in the relations between the two Empires

which are bound together by traditional ties of friendship

and confidence, I have made every effort to avoid every

occasion for the smallest misunderstanding, and my hon-

esty guarantees that I shall never lend my hand to an

act of disloyalty toward Russia." I have the impression

that he was wholly sincere, and I do not think I am mis-

taken in judgment in saying that the very idea of an army
corps at Constantinople under the command of German
officers was really not known to him until the last few

days just before my arrival, or even in part through my
own explanations.

[After admitting the reasonableness of the Germans
giving military instruction to the Turks and explaining

mildly Russia's objections to Germans exercising command
over troops in Constantinople, Kokovtsev summed up] with

a demand having the character of an alternative: either
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give up completely the command over Turkish troops and

merely exercise a right of inspection as formerly; or, if that

seemed impossible on .account of the promises Germany

had made to Turkey, concentrate the Model Army Corps,

not at Constantinople, but at some other point, e.g.

Adrianoplc or in Asia Minor, but naturally not near

our frontier nor in the sphere of interests belonging to

France.272

The suggestion that General Liman exercise his com-

mand, not at Constantinople where his presence might seem

to overawe the Ambassadors of the Powers, but at some

Turkish provincial town, at first sight seemed a hopeful

way out of the objections raised by Russia. Giers, Sverbeev,

and Ncratov, as well as Kokovtsev, favored this solution.

Smyrna and Adrianople were suggested. But at once dif-

ficulties arose from the selfish interests of France and Russia

themselves. France was strenuously opposed to having

General Liman at Smyrna, "where a German command
would be very dangerous to French interests." 273 Pichon,

however, thought that "at the worst, it might be possible

to agree to Adrianople." 274 But the choice of Adrianople,

as the Russian Ambassador in Berlin shrewdly pointed out,

"would probably cause great excitement in Bulgaria, and

still further estrange this country from us [Russians]." 275

Bethmann, on the other hand, in accordance with his con-

ciliatory attitude in the whole affair and his sincere desire

to find a solution satisfactory to Russia, was quite ready

272 Kokovtsev's report to the Tsar, 19 Nov./2 Dec, 1913; M.F.R.,

621 ft.; L.N., II, 411ft. The accuracy of Kokovtsev's report is confirmed

by G.P., XXXVIII, 212-217.

273 l Z volski to Sazonov, Tp. 550, Nov. 12/25; M.F.R., p. 641, but

omitted from L.N., and Stievc. Cf. also Iavolski's Tp. 555 (M.F.R.,p.642;

L.N., II, 1S9; Sicbert-Schroiner, p. 678): "Pichon has again insisted on

the fact that France cannot consent that Germans shall command at

Smvrna or Beirut; he has suggested Adrianople to the Porte."
" 274 Izvolski's Tg. 550.

275 Sverbeev's confidential letter to Sazonov, Nov. 8/21; M.F.R., p.

639; Sicbert-Schreiner, p. 677.
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to consider this. General Liman, therefore, was to be asked

whether it would be possible to change the arrangements

which had been made.276 But, as Sverbeev was informed

at the same time, the military authorities in Berlin were

of the opinion that unless the Model Corps was established

at Constantinople, the activity of the German instructors

would be reduced to nil, because the Military Academy and

the General Staff were situated in Constantinople and with

these the German officers would have to be in uninterrupted

relations. This eventually proved to be General Liman's

opinion after arriving at Constantinople. But on being

informed of Russia's objections, he "came to the conclusion

that there is no necessity for the General to command the

Army Corps if there are only a sufficient number of troops

to give the military schools an opportunity for practice

exercises. A German general could command the Army
Corps in Adrianople." 277 This solution was favored by the

Russian Ambassador in Constantinople, but it was indig-

nantly rejected by the Turks, who resented what they re-

garded as unwarranted Russian efforts to interfere in

Turkey's internal affairs.278

Without waiting to hear General Liman's answer,

Sazonov had hastened to suggest that France and England

better join him in demanding "compensations." Such a

demand for "some equivalent" was a common enough sec-

ond-line form of attack in diplomacy when a direct effort

at the main objective had failed. So now M. Sazonov,

after protesting "how difficult it would be for us to permit

our Embassy to remain in a city in which, so to speak,

a German garrison was quartered," suggested to France and

276 Sverbeev to Sazonov, Tg. 277, Nov. 13/26; M.F.R., p. 643.

277 Giers to Sazonov, Tg. 1069, Dec. 7/20; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 694.

278 Giers to Sazonov, Tgs. 1072, 1073, 1078, 1086, Dec. 7/20 to Dec.

11/24, M.F.R., 670-672, and in part in Siebert-Schreiner, p. 695. Wangen-
heim's despatches of Dec. 16, 17, 18, 19; G.P., XXXVIII, 259-268; Liman,
p. 14 f.
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England that "if it should appear inexpedient to raise

further objections in Berlin, a joint step could be taken in

Constantinople to point out that the concessions made to

Germany raised the question of equivalent compensations

for the other Powers." 27u France at first agreed instantly.

Pichon "is entirely of your opinion. ... If the Porte does

not renounce the realization of this plan, France will demand

extraordinary compensations of a moral and political

nature." 280

Sir Edward Grey, however, did not at first favor

Sazonov's suggestion. He diplomatically "conceded in

principle" the possibility of compensations, but feared "it

might be difficult actually to find such compensations.

Pichon's first proposal, that officers of other countries should

also receive such posts of command, he deems inpracticable

and not in keeping with our [Russian] interests, because

our main object, the removal of the Germans from Con-

stantinople, would not thereby be attained. Besides this

would mean the first step in the partition of Turkey. . . .

Grey thinks it best to continue friendly negotiations with

Germany, in order to move her to change her original plan.

... Pie believes that Emperor William, as well as the

Imperial Chancellor, are seeking a pretext to extricate them-

selves from this situation." 281 Somewhat ignorant of

Balkan problems, he also had a certain distrust of Russian

diplomacy on account of Persian affairs and he feared that

Sazonov's fickleness of mind might easily lead to some

disaster.282

Unable to force Germany to yield, and abandoning the

27£> Sazonov to Benckendorff and Izvolski, Tg. 3220, Nov. 12/25;

M.F.R., p. 642; Siebert-Schrciner, p. 678. Cf. G.P., XXXVIII, 235 f., 241.

280 Izvolski to Sazonov, Nov. 13/26; M.F.R., p. 642; L.N., II, 189;

Stieve, III, 354.

281 Benckendorff to Sazonov, Nov. 15/28; M.F.R., p. 644; Siebert-

Schrciner, ]). 679.

282 Qf. Sazonov to Benckendorff, Nov. 29/Dec. 12, 1913; Sicbert-

Schreiner, p. 6S7.
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idea of accepting ''compensations," M. Sazonov decided to

try to coerce Turkey into annulling or revising the contract

by presenting her with something like an ultimatum from

the Triple Entente. In order to secure Sir Edward Grey's

cooperation in this line of attack, Paul Cambon was in-

structed to persuade Grey to join "in making the Porte

understand the inadmissible consequences which would

result from placing the Constantinople Army Corps under

a German general. It would, in short, place the Diplomatic

Corps which resides in Constantinople under German
guardianship. It would be virtually handing over to this

Power the key to the Straits. It would make possible mili-

tary interventions by the German general which might

strike directly at the sovereignty of the Sultan. It would

destroy the balance among the Powers which is the guar-

antee for the existence of Turkey. It might eventually

bring these Powers into antagonism toward, or even into

conflict with, the German Military Mission in case they had

to exercise some action or demonstration at Constanti-

nople." If Sir Edward agreed with these views he was to

be flattered by being asked to formulate the note which

the Entente Powers would present to the Porte.283

Cambon's potent argument, that General Liman's con-

tract would put into German hands "the key to the Straits"

—where Admiral Limpus was supposed to assure England's

domination—did not fail to have the calculated effect upon

Sir Edward Grey. It brought him out of the fogs of the

Irish question and galvanized him into an energetic action

(which a little later he regretted and reversed). He fell

in with the French proposal, and speedily formulated a

vigorous "declaration" embodying its arguments and

amounting almost to an ultimatum. It warned the Turkish

Government that if General Liman retained his command
"the other Powers would demand analogous advantages for

283 Pichon to Cambon, Nov. 29; Affaires Balkaniques, III, 91 f.
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themselves." It was approved by the Prime Minister, M.

Asquith, and forwarded to the two other Entente Powers

as a basis for identical warnings to be presented by their

Ambassadors at Constantinople. In transmitting it to the

French Ambassador in Turkey, M. Pichon added, "It is

essential that the Ottoman Government can have no doubt

as to the absolute agreement which has been established

between England, France and Russia on this question." 284

Sazonov was now assured, as he supposed, of "the abso-

lute agreement" of both France and England. He now

suddenly decided to try to use this as a lever at Berlin to

bluff Germany into backing down, before the Entente

Ambassadors should take action at Constantinople. Such

a success at Berlin would be a more signal diplomatic vic-

tory and settlement of the affair than one secured in Con-

stantinople. He accordingly telegraphed to Izvolski at

Paris to have Bompard delay in presenting the note to

Turkey.285

At the same time he instructed Sverbeev in Berlin to

invite the German Government's attention to the proposed

action of the Entente Powers at Constantinople if Germany

did not give a satisfactory reply. Jagow, the German Secre-

tary for Foreign Affairs, answered that he could not yet

give a definite reply; he had written to General Liman to

look into the local conditions in Constantinople; and if he

came to an agreement with the Turkish authorities that no

technical difficulties prevented the removal of the Model

Corps to another center, then the German Government

could easily revise General Liman's contract. Next day,

December 5, Sazonov was told by the German Ambassador

that "notwithstanding the embarrassment of its situation,

the German Government was getting on with a possible

284 Pichon to Bompard at Constantinople, Dec. 3, 1913; ibid., III. 96.

283 Tgs. 3281 and 3282, indicated in Izvolski's reply Tg. 565, Nov. 21/

Dec. 4; M.F.R., p. 618; this telegram is not included in L.N., Stieve, or

Siebert-Schreiner.
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settlement of the difficulty which has arisen, but some time"

would be necessary for this in order not to give the impres-

sion of yielding to pressure." Sazonov replied he "was

ready to receive the proposal if the German Government

did not postpone its decision to a too protracted date."

But at the same time he instructed Sverbeev in Berlin to

point out Pan-Slav Press criticisms of himself and "the

necessity for us [Russians] to be able to remove the plausi-

ble reproaches printed as to the perfidy of German policy,

and the desirability of winding up this whole incident as

quickly as possible. If the German Minister talks about

his Government's being unable to settle with the Porte,

tell him that we should readily adopt the point of view that

the question ought to be deliberated upon, not in Berlin,

but in Constantinople, and that we shall take the agreed-

upon steps immediately." 286

Sazonov in fact was in no mood to wait. He concluded

that it was impossible to pry Germany into giving an

immediate decision, and that his lever had therefore failed.

He also heard that the Sultan had issued on December 4

an irade announcing General Liman's appointment as

Member of the War Council and Commander of the Con-

stantinople Corps. He therefore telegraphed to London
and Paris on December 7: "We consider it desirable that

the three Ambassadors should at once address themselves

to the Turkish Government with the following identical

note which has been drawn up according to the English

proposal." 287

But M. Sazonov was now chagrined to discover that

Sir Edward Grey had meanwhile changed his mind, during

the interval in which Sazonov himself had desired a delay

in the Entente action at Constantinople. Sazonov now
found that the agreement was not so "absolute" as he had

286 Sazonov to Sverbeev, Nov. 22/Dec. 5, 1913; M.F.R., p. 648.
287 Tg. 3309; M.F.R., 650; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 681.
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supposed. His proposed "note" had a sharper tone than
Grey's "declaration."

A misunderstanding also arose as to the form in which
the Entente declaration should be presented to the Grand
Vizier. Sazonov and Pichon wanted a very strong diplo-

matic procedure: the simultaneous presentation by the

Entente Ambassadors of an identical written note. Sir

Edward Grey, however, characteristically desired to treat

the Grand \'izicr more gently: "In the opinion of Grey
the notes ought to be identical, but not presented simul-

taneously." 288

Meanwhile also Grey had begun to hear from the Ger-

man Charge d'Affaires in London an account of the German
Military Mission very different from that which had been

pictured to him by Paul Cambon. He was informed by
Kiihlmann that the arrangement for a German command
over the Constantinople Army Corps was simply intended

to obviate the inherent weakness in the position of General

Liman's predecessor. General Von der Goltz's efforts had

been paralyzed by lack of authority and by Turkish inertia

which blocked the reforms he tried to introduce. The new
plan was to give General Liman a Model Corps over which

he would have command, and in which he would therefore

enjoy sufficient authority to compel real reforms. The
Corps at Constantinople had been chosen as the Model
Corps, because that was the seat of the Military School and

the General Staff, with which the German instructors would

have to be in constant touch. General Liman was simply to

have a position in the army analogous to that of the English

Admiral Limpus in the navy, against whom no Powers had

288 Ettrr to Sazonov, Tp. 799, Nov. 19/Dcc. 2; M.F.R., p. 646; Siebert-

Schroincr, p. 6S1. CJ. Cambon to Pichon, Dec. 2 (Affaires Balkaniques,

III, 93): "The Prime Minister [Asquith] has approved the proposal of

Sir Edward Grey for an action at Constantinople. He thinks this oupht

not to be collective but identical, and that the Ambassadors could express

themselves in about the same terms."



THE LIMAN VON SANDERS AFFAIR 519

protested. The point about Admiral Limpus made a deep

impression on Grey. He began to see that he might be

getting into a very illogical position if he should demand
that General Liman give up the command of a single

Turkish Army Corps in Constantinople while Admiral

Limpus kept the command over the whole Turkish fleet.

He may well have imagined the poor figure he would cut

in the House of Commons if he were questioned and forced

to defend such an illogical attitude. As the Russian Am-
bassador ruefully reported a few days later: "Grey did not

know until now the exact details of the contract of the

British Admiral. . . . The position of the British Admiral

really furnishes Germany with an argument which is caus-

ing difficulties here. Nicolson has spoken to me about it

several times." 289

In addition to Kiihlmann's arguments, Grey was also

put on his guard against Sazonov's maneuvers by the cor-

rect information which he began to get from Sir Louis

Mallet in Constantinople: the importance of continuing

the Anglo-German cooperation in the construction of naval

docks for Turkey at Ismid; Admiral Limpus' declaration

that his powers were really wider than General Liman's;

the fact that he had leased the house in Constantinople

picked out for the German General; and finally Sir Louis

Mallet's warning that out of the Prussian demands for

Liman's withdrawal might easily arise a dangerous situa-

tion like the French demand for the withdrawal of the

Hohenzollern Candidacy in 1S70.290

289 Benckendorff to Sazonov, Tg. Nov. 29/Dec. 12, 1913; M.F.R.,

p. 657; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 688. Cj. also Tg. 813, Dec. 1/14: "I asked

Nicolson, for what reason Grey had changed his original standpoint. He
replied, that meantime details concerning the position of the British Ad-
miral in Constantinople had come to hand from the British Ambassador
in Constantinople, which had deprived Grey of every possibility of agree-

ing to the draft proposed by you."
290 Q.P., XXXVIII, 232 ff., 240 f., 245 f., 249 ff., 270 ff., 282 f.; and

preceding footnote.
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On learning more about the facts of the case, and espe-

cially about Admiral Limpus, Grey in fact virtually re-

versed his attitude. He came to the opinion that Sazonov's

projected "note" to Turkey (though based closely on his

own and Cambon's proposals) was "premature"; there must

not be "any kind of threats at its close" ; instead of warning

the Sultan of the dangerous consequences of General

Liman's appointment, he now suggested a mere "verbal

inquiry," politely asking the Turks for information as to

the contract made by them with the German General, and

the extent of the functions he was to exercise.

M. Sazonov was now much upset in his mind, as may

be seen from his telegram to the Russian Ambassador in

London on December 12:

I hear from a very secret source 291 that Grey has ex-

plained to the French Ambassador, that he did not wish to

go too far in Constantinople, as he is afraid of a change in

my attitude, which might lead to a diplomatic failure. I

should like to remark, that as to the instructors, it is not

a question of a change in our attitude, but of a regrettable

change in England's attitude. For Grey will have nothing

more to do with a note, which had been based on a tele-

gram of Grey's to the British Ambassador [in St. Peters-

burg!.

Should we be finally obliged to change our attitude in

this question, as already in so many others, this is to be

attributed only to the lack of confidence in the effectiveness

of England's support, and, indeed, this confidence will only

be shaken still more by such actions on the part of England.

This lack of homogeneity and solidarity between the three

Powers of the Entente arouses our serious apprehension,

for it constitutes an organic fault of the Triple Entente,

291 This "very secret source" may have been another case of Sazonov's

deciphering telegrams sent by the French Government to the French Am-

bassador in St. Petersburg, similar to the case which contributed to the

famous attempted dismissal of M. Georges Louis in May, 1912; cf. Judet,

Georges Louis, pp. 85-88, 99; Poincare, I, 377 f.



THE LIMAN VON SANDERS AFFAIR 521

which will always place us at a disadvantage in face of

the firm block of the Triple Alliance.

Such a condition of affairs might under certain cir-

cumstances entail grave consequences, and most seriously

endangers vital interests of every Power of the Triple

Entente.292

In spite of his irritation and chagrin at Sir Edward
Grey's disconcerting change of attitude, Sazonov perceived

that there was nothing to be done but accept it. On De-

cember 13, therefore, the three Entente Ambassadors at

Constantinople made, one after another, their mild "verbal

inquiry" as to the nature of General Liman's contract and

position, and whether it threatened Turkey's sovereign

independence and authority over Constantinople and the

Straits. They were given the desired information about

the contract, but were told by the Grand Vizier that their

other question was Turkey's own private affair. He com-

pared General Liman's position to that of Admiral Limpus,

and therefore saw no reason for cancelling or changing the

German contract.293 In view of Sir Edward Grey's attitude

there was nothing more to be gained by M. Sazonov through

negotiations at Constantinople. Though there was some

292 Sazonov to Benckendorff , Nov. 29/Dec. 12, 1913 ;
Siebert-Schreiner,

p. 687. See M.F.R., p. 657 ff. for Benckendorffs replies. Cf. also Buchanan,
My Mission to Russia, I, 149 f ., and the approximately correct surmise

of the situation by Kiihlmann in London, with the Kaiser's comments
(Dec. 12; G.P., XXXVIII, 250): "Apparently an extraordinarily strong

pressure is being exercised from the Russian side [Kaiser: 'Rascals!'].

The Russian Government is said to have gone so far as to say to Sir

Edward Grey that it must regard his attitude in this question as a touch-

stone for his feelings toward Russia in general [Kaiser: 'Aha']. Because
Sir Edward in his policy wants to avoid a break with Russia [Kaiser:

Ass! He betrays his country's own interests'], he is said to have decided

to participate formally in the inquiry in the matter but without showing
a strong interest in it himself [Kaiser: 'Then the Grand Vizier can calmly

be rude']."

293 M.F.R., pp. 658-662; Siebert-Schreiner, pp. 688-692; GP.,
XXXVIII, 250-268.
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talk of altering the status of both General Liman and

Admiral Limpus, it came to nothing.

M. Bompard, the French Ambassador at Constantinople

did not believe that Russia would ever achieve her purpose

by peaceful means; he suggested privately that Russia

"should dispatch a warship to the Bosphorus and declare

that it would not be withdrawn until the contract with

General Liman and his officers had been altered." M.

Paleologue, Political Director in the French Foreign Office,

thought that "the Turkish batteries would scarcely dare

to open fire." And M. Izvolski added that "in the event of

our resolving upon an energetic action of this sort, public

opinion in France would take our part, since it is susceptible

to everything which touches national dignity, and feels

most keenly the inadmissibility of German influence in

Turkey. 204 M. Sazonov, as will be seen in a moment, was

actually contemplating military measures to coerce Turkey.

But France and England both intimated that it would be

better to await the results of the efforts which the German

Government was making to find a solution which would

satisfy Russia without seeming to involve the prestige of

Turkey or of any of the Great Powers. Though impatient

of delay because of the criticisms being levelled against

him in the Pan-Slav Press, Sazonov fortunately heeded the

advice.

Meanwhile the German Ambassador at Constantinople

had been active in trying to find a sensible and peaceful

solution of the whole affair. He had urged Turkey to yield

and modify Liman's contract. He tried to have the German

and Russian military attaches in Constantinople work out

an agreement. He finally hurried back to Berlin and there

arranged the successful solution. General Liman was ad-

294 Izvolski to Sazonov, Dec. 19/Jan. 1; M.F.R.. p. 602; L.N., II, 222;

Sticve, IV, 10; Siebert-Schreincr, p. 701. For pacific assurances by the

French to Germany and Germany's impressions thereof, see GP,
XXXVIH, 241, 247, 255, 272, 274 ff, 286 f., 307.
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vanced a grade in the Prussian army; by the terms of his
contract, this automatically resulted in his advance in the
Turkish army to rank of Field Marshal which relieved him
of the command of the First Army Corps in Constantinople.
He remained Inspector of Turkish troops and Director of
the Military School, but did not exercise command over
troops in the Turkish capital—the point to which Sazonov
had so strenuously objected. This solution, which was
satisfactory to Russia, was publicly announced on January
15, 1914. 295

It brought the affair peacefully to an end,
without involving the danger of a test of strength between
the Triple Entente and the Triple Alliance. As the Russian
Ambassador in Berlin wrote to M. Sazonov: "The Berlin
Cabinet has actually done everything in its power in order
to fulfil our justifiable wishes, and this has not been easy
for it, in view of the newspaper campaign directed against
the Government." 296

The whole affair shows how even a serious Russo-Ger-
man diplomatic crisis could be sensibly and peacefully set-

tled, provided that Germany was willing to make some
concessions, and that Russia was restrained by France and
England from taking too extreme and hasty steps; and
provided also that neither side paid too much attention to
the hounding criticisms of its own jingo newspapers and
military alarmists. Though Germany had had no intention
of suddenly springing a surprise which would embarrass
Sazonov, the unfortunate failure of the Tsar in May, and
of Bethmann in October, to mention the Military Mission
to the Russian Minister of Foreign Affairs gave the latter
a natural feeling of grievance. This was accentuated by
his fears that the Liman Mission might ultimately block
Russia's ambitions in regard to the Straits—a fact which

295 G.P., XXXVIII, 265-302.
296 Sverbeev to Sazonov, Jan. 3/16, 1914; M.F.R., p. 689; Siebert-

Schreiner, p. 707.
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is significant of the great importance he attached to Rus-

sia's "historic mission"—as is further indicated by his mea-

sures of preparedness presently to be described. The effect

of the Liman von Sanders affair in Berlin was to strengthen

the feeling that though Sazonov was inclined to get excited

and even to bluff, it was doubtful whether he would have

I'„,rl :u „rs support for his bluff. This was one reason why

Germany at first believed it probably sate to support Aus-

tria in July, 1914.

M. SAZONOV'S PLANS FOR PREPAREDNESS

M Sazonov is pictured by many "revisionist" writers as

being "converted" m the fall of 1913 to the "Franco-Russian

war°plot" which MM. Poincare and Izvolski had been

weaving since 1912 by "Balkanizing of the Franco-Russian

Vlliance
" 207 But this picture does too little justice to M.

Sazonov's independence of attitude, and gives too much

wlM,rhi to the influence exerted by Izvolski and Poincarf

on Russian foreign policy. M. Sazonov often pursued

Balkan policies which by no means wholly harmonized with

those of Izvolski and still less with those of Poincare. In

the winter and spring of 1914, Russian policy can be more

accurately followed in his reports to the Tsar and in the

minutes of Russian Councils than in the self-important

despatches of the Russian Ambassador in Paris. Izvolski s

influence on Russian policy has been exaggerated by Izvolski

himself and by writers who take him at his own valuation.

M Poincare, to be sure, in his recent self-righteous memoirs,

goes mucH too far to the other extreme in attempting utterly

to discredit Izvolski. But there seems to be little doubt that

in the early months of 1914 Izvolski's influence was some-

what on the wane both in Paris and St. Petersburg. He

297 C/. Stieve, Izvohki and the World War pp. 186 ff.; HJE. Bm*
The GcnlsU of the World War, PP . 110 ff., 138 ff.; and note 299 below.
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was terribly alarmed by the rumor that he might be super-
seded by Kokovtsev.

M. Sazonov's real views are well revealed in a long
report to the Tsar early in December, 1913.298 In this he
summed up the general situation after the Balkan Wars,
and especially the danger to peace caused by the long failure
of Turkey and Greece to come to terms. In view of Turkey's
weakened position, Sazonov concluded that the final dis-

solution of the Ottoman Empire was not far distant, that
all the Powers were calculating the parts which they would
appropriate when the final partition took place, and that
Russia must therefore decide what attitude she would take
in the premises.

An impartial reading of his report, which is too long to
quote in full, shows that he did not desire to bring about
a European war. On the contrary, he repeatedly stated
that he wished to preserve the status quo as long as possible.

But the situation in the Balkans was very unstable. Rus-
sia could never permit the Straits to pass into the hands
of any other Power, as they had been in danger of doing
when the Bulgarians advanced to the outposts of Constan-
tinople in 1912. Therefore he and the other Russian Minis-
ters must concert plans of preparedness to seize the Straits,

in case of European complications which he feared might
occur at any moment. Hence he requested the Tsar to
allow him to consult with the other Ministers on these
measures of preparedness:

It is not at all in our direct interest to strive for any
increases of territory whatever. All the needs of our in-

ternal development make the task of maintaining peace of
first importance. However, while not abandoning this

principal and primary task, we cannot close our eyes to the

298 Sazonov's report of Nov. 23/Dec. 6, 1913; L.N., II, 363-372; Stieve
III, 374-383 (with the date, Nov. 25/Dec. 8); summarized by Adamov'
pp. 70-75; approved by the Tsar at Livadia, Nov. 27/Dec. 10.
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dangers of the international situation, dangers the preven-

tion of which does not depend on us alone. That is why

we cannot neglect, any more than the other Powers, to

raise the question of preserving in advance our rights and

interests, if events should demand that we defend them by

armed force.

Uncertainty as to the stability and longevity of Turkey

raises for us the historic question of the Straits, and a

weighing of their importance for us, both from a political

and an economic point of view. ... In case of a change

in the status quo, Russia cannot permit a solution of the

question counter to her interests; in other words, she can-

not, under certain circumstances, remain a passive spectator

of events. ...

At present the question of safeguarding the Straits is

settled at bottom in a fairly satisfactory manner as regards

our direct interests. Turkey is a State neither too strong

nor too weak—unable to be a danger to us, but at the same

time obliged to give consideration to Russia, which is

stronger than she. The very weakness of the Ottoman

Empire, and its inability to regenerate itself on the basis

of law and civilization, have hitherto been to our advan-

tage, creating among the peoples subjected to the Crescent

that aspiration toward Orthodox Russia, which is one of

the fundamental bases of our international position in the

East and in Europe. . . .

Can we permit the transfer of the Straits into the full

possession of another State? To put the question, is to

answer it in the negative. The Straits in the possession

of a strong State would mean that the economic develop-

ment of all South Russia would be subjected to it. . . .
He

who possesses the Straits will not only hold the keys

of the Black Sea and the Mediterranean; he will have

also the key to the penetration of Asia Minor and the

hegemony of the Balkans; consequently, the State which

replaces Turkey on the shores of the Straits will prob-

ably aspire to follow the paths followed formerly by the

Turks. . . .
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[Rejecting as unsatisfactory all proposals for neutral-

izing and demilitarizing the Straits, Sazonov reiterated the

need of a detailed program of preparedness.] We must

study the measures which can be taken to increase our

military and naval strength in the Black Sea. What ought

the War and Navy Departments to do to accelerate

mobilization, by means of new railways and the develop-

ment of our means of transport? ... Is it possible, or not,

to determine the task of our army and navy in forcing the

Straits and seizing Constantinople, if circumstances should

demand it?

Returning to the political aspect of preparedness, one

must again repeat that an early dissolution of Turkey could

not be desirable for us, and it is necessary to do everything

possible, through diplomacy, to postpone such an outcome.

[M. Sazonov then indicated the principal questions to

be discussed: (1) the accelerated mobilization of an ade-

quate expeditionary force; (2) the preparation of the lines

of communication necessary for this mobilization; (3) the

increase of the Black Sea Fleet so that it will surpass the

Turkish Fleet, and be able to force the Straits and occupy

them temporarily or permanently, if necessary; (4) the in-

crease of naval transports; and (5) the construction of

strategic railways in the Caucasus.]

Renewing the wish expressed above for the prolongation

as far as possible of the status quo,299 it is also necessary

299 Stieve, Izvolski and the World War, p. 189 f±., quoting this para-

graph, suppresses the important clause "Renewing . . . status quo" as well

as other similar phrases, in which Sazonov expresses his desire to preserve

peace and the status quo. Having suppressed the words which do not fit

in with his theories, he says: "this passage is an admission of enormous
import," and proceeds with the misleading and unwarranted conclusions:

"The kernel lies in the first [!] clause, with the declaration that 'the

question of the Straits can hardly be advanced a step except through

European complications' [italics are Stieve's]. . . . The passage establishes

Sazonov's conversion to the idea of world war. Thus at the end of 1913

the Russian Foreign Minister had, as regards the attainment of the

specifically Russian aims, completed that fateful change of course which
Poincare on behalf of France had resolutely made as long ago as the

end of 1912, when he was ready to attack Austria and Germany. ... It

was this that sealed the doom of Europe," etc. Barnes, p. 139, follows
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to repeat that the question of the Straits can hardly be

advanced a step except through European complications.

These complications, to judge from present conditions, would

find us in alliance with France, and in a possible, but not

at all assured, alliance with England, or at least with her

as a benevolent neutral. In the Balkans, in case of Euro-

pean complications, we could count on Serbia, and perhaps

on Rumania. . . .
300

The Tsar approved Sazonov's report, and the discussion

by various Ministers, as proposed, took place cn January

13, 1914. Sazonov also sent a copy of it to M. Grigorovitch,

the Naval Minister, who passed it on to the Admiralty

Staff for examination. The latter naturally endorsed very

heartily Sazonov's proposal for strengthening the Black Sea

Fleet. They urged that only by this means could Russia

make her voice heard in the concert of Europe and in deal-

ings with Turkey, where Russia's influence was already

sadly inadequate. The Admiralty Staff suggested several

measures for the immediate strengthening of the Black

Sea Fleet: speeding up the construction of vessels already

being built; the purchase of Dreadnoughts abroad, and the

prevention of their purchase by Turkey; and the prepara-

tion of plans for the combined action of the Baltic and the

Black Sea Fleets against Turkey.301

On the basis of these suggestions the Naval Minister

made a long report to the Tsar, endorsing Sazonov's ideas:

The systematic and successful preparations of operations

of our fleet for the dominating control on the sea at the

Constantinople channel and in the waters of the Aegean and

Mediterranean adjacent to it demand careful and persistent

Stieve in suppressing passages in which Sazonov expresses his desire to

preserve peace and the status quo.
300 For the continuation of Sazonov's report, concerning Rumania,

Serbia, and Austria, see above at note 222.

301 Report of the Admiralty Staff, Dec. 9/22, 1913; Zakher, "Kon-
stantinopol i Prolivy," in Krasnyi Arkhiv, VII, 33 f.
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work, not only by the Navy Department, but also by the

War Ministry and some others, especially the Ministries

of Foreign Affairs, Commerce, Industry, and Finance. This

preparedness can be completed only in the course of some

years. Therefore the Navy Department wholly agrees with

the proposal of the Minister of Foreign Affairs (after the

termination of certain preparatory studies) about the neces-

sity of holding a Special Council for the working out of

these guiding principles, which result from the idea ap-

proved by Your Majesty that Russia cannot allow any

Power whatever to establish itself on the Straits of the

Bosphorus and the Dardanelles; and that Russia must there-

fore be ready to take possession of the Straits, in case

great European complications should bring up the Eastern

Question for a final settlement.302

Meanwhile, on January 5, 1914, Sazonov drew up a

memorandum for circulation among the other Ministers to

serve as a basis for discussion at the Special Council. It

summarized the Liman von Sanders negotiations, and went

on to declare:

3. Decisions must now be taken to provide for the pos-

sible necessity of supporting our demands by measures of

compulsion.

4. The measures of compulsion on our part might take

the form of the occupation of some point in Asia Minor,

e.g. Trebizond or Bayazid, with a declaration that we
should stay there until our demands were satisfied.

5. After it had been clearly established what measures

of compulsion we should be able to employ, a confidential

exchange of views on the subject must be set on foot with

the British and French Governments, since measures of

compulsion can, necessarily, only be undertaken after we
have ascertained whether we can count on corresponding

steps on the part of these two Powers.

302 Grigorovitch's report, approved by the Tsar Dec. 30, 1913/Jan. 13,

1914; Krasnyi Arkhiv, VII, 35 ff.
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6. In the negotiations with the said Governments, the

necessity for extremely cautious and unanimous action on

the part of the three Powers must be insisted on, in order,

if possible, to prevent the conflict becoming more acute,

as a European war might result. At the same time efforts

must be made on our part to prepare France and Great

Britain for the necessity of pursuing to the end an action

once begun in the common interests.

7. Should this point of view be accepted by all three

Powers and the negotiations in Berlin not lead to the de-

sired result, an understanding must be arrived at as to an

ascending scale in the measures of compulsion:

(a) A rigid financial boycott of Turkey;

(b) Should this method fail to produce the required

effect, as in the case of the Adrianople question, the

three Powers might withdraw their representatives from

Constantinople;

(c) At the same time the Governments of Russia,

France, and Great Britain would acquaint the Porte

with the date fixed for the fulfilment of their demands,

after which the measures of compulsion might begin to

be put into force, with the warning that they would

not be withdrawn until the demands had been complied

with.

8. Should certain preparatory steps of a military nature,

such as reinforcements of troops in the Caucasus, be neces-

sary to enable us promptly to put measures of compulsion

into effect, it would be desirable to keep these steps as

secret as possible. From the political point of view, how-

ever, it is clearly necessary that it shall be possible, after

issuing a threat, should that become necessary, to take

prompt steps to translate the threat into action.303

This memorandum indicates clearly Sazonov's desire, "if

possible, to prevent the conflict becoming more acute, as a

European war might result," but at the same time his

303 Pokrovski, Drci Konfcrcnzcn, 32 f. ;
Stieve, Izvohki and the World

War, 219 f.
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determination to resort to "measures of compulsion" and

a threat of force as a bluff to secure a diplomatic victory,

and his readiness, if necessary, "to take prompt steps to

translate the threat into action"—provided he could feel

sure of British and French support. He told the Tsar on

January 9 that he believed a firm stand on Russia's part

would probably have the desired effect on Germany and

Turkey, "but the risk of serious European complications

must undoubtedly be kept in view." He was determined

that Russia must not accept the Liman von Sanders Mission

as a fait accompli, because "a yielding would be equivalent

to a political defeat and might have altogether ruinous

consequences." It would make Germany and her allies

more arrogant, and "in France and England there would be

strengthened the dangerous conviction that Russia will

accept any conditions whatever for the sake of preserving

peace. Once such convictions were strengthened in our

friend and our ally, the not very close solidarity of the

Triple Entente Powers might be finally broken up, and each

of them would endeavor to seek security for its interests

by making agreements with the Powers of the opposing

camp."

Sazonov feared particularly that England and Germany
might come to some separate solution of the Liman von
Sanders affair by changing the status of Admiral Limpus,

and then Russia would be left alone to face Germany.
"Russia would be finally left in complete political isolation,

because it would hardly be possible to reckon separately

even upon France, who also, even without this [possible

Anglo-German agreement], is inclined to sacrifice great

political interests for the sake of the financial advantages

of a settlement. ... If, however, the replies of France and
England [in regard to the use of measures of compulsion]

should be regarded as satisfactory, then, reserving all neces-

sary strength and caution for the complications necessity
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may demand, it would remain for us to defend firmly our

interests to the end." 304

That Sazonov should suspect England's loyalty to Rus-

sian interests in the Balkans is not altogether surprising.

But that he should also speak thus of France indicates what

a strong element of suspiciousness there was in his character,

especially in view of the fact that Izvolski had informed him

only a few days before that "Poincare, in the most decisive

terms, confirmed Doumergue's declaration . . . that France

is firmly determined to act with us in this connection.

From Poincare's words, I have been able to conclude that

the expressions of the declaration mentioned have been

most carefully weighed by him and his Ministers, and that,

in spite of France's love of peace, these words express, with

full and deliberate intent, a quiet resolution not to with-

draw, under existing circumstances, from those obligations

imposed upon her by her alliance with us." 305 It was this

suspiciousness which led him to intercept and decipher from

time to time the despatches between the French Govern-

ment and the French Ambassador in St. Petersburg. It was

perhaps a realization of this suspiciousness which caused

M. Poincare so frequently to assure Russia that France

would support her; these assurances are probably to be

interpreted as efforts to strengthen the Franco-Russian

alliance and tighten up the Triple Entente, rather than as

incitements to bring about a European war by which France

might recover Alsace-Lorraine.

On January 13, 1914, just as the Liman von Sanders

Affair was about to be given a satisfactory solution, the

304 Sazonov's report to the Tsar, Dec. 27/Jan. 9; Adamov, pp. 62-64.

It is possible that Sazonov used this argument—that Russia was in danger

of being politically isolated—in order to persuade the peace-loving Tsar

to approve the discussion of plans for preparedness.

305 Izvolski to Sazonov, Dec. 23/Jan. 5; M.F.R., p. 6S6; Siebert-

Schreiner, p. 704 ; Sticvc, IV, 17. Cf. also Izvolski to Sazonov, Dec. 17/30,

1913, and Jan. 2/15, 1914; M.F.R., pp. 478-4S1. 674; L.N., II, 218, 229;

Stieve, III, 437; IV, 25-28; Siebert-Schreiner, p. 697.
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Special Conference, which M. Sazonov had proposed several

weeks earlier, finally met under the chairmanship of the

Premier and Minister of Finance, M. Kokovtsev. There

were present only the most important officials : the Ministers

of War (Sukhomlinov), Navy (Grigorovitch), Foreign Af-

fairs (Sazonov), the Chief of Staff (Zhilinski), and a couple

of recording secretaries from the Near East Division of the

Ministry of Foreign Affairs.306 M. Sazonov reported that,

according to the latest news, General Liman was about to

be promoted to the highest rank in the Turkish army and

would therefore give up the command of the Army Corps

in Constantinople; this seemed good news, but the promo-

tion was not yet an accomplished fact, and one should not

therefore be too optimistic.

General Sukhomlinov energetically expressed the opin-

ion that Turkey ought to be persuaded to abandon the

German Military Mission altogether, and that all discussion

about modifying the terms of its activity was a subordinate

matter. Sazonov replied that any advice given in Con-

stantinople would be without result unless accompanied by
measures of compulsion such as he had proposed.

M. Kokovtsev, however, wise, peace-loving, and con-

ciliatory, wished to put the brakes on any hasty aggressive

action. Before proceeding to discuss measures of compul-

sion, he begged to lay stress on two matters of primary

importance

:

1. The German Government is looking for a way out

of the situation created by Russia's demands. In this con-

nection the Berlin Cabinet points to the necessity, in the

interest of a satisfactory solution of the question, of Russia's

avoidance of any categorical declaration, of the character

of an ultimatum to Germany, as this might compel Ger-

306 The Minutes of this Conference of Dec. 31/Jan. 13 were pub-
lished by M. N. Pokrovski in Russian in 1919; in German in 1920 (Drei

Konjerenzen, pp. 32-45) ; and in English by Stieve, Izvolski and the World
War, pp. 219-229.
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many to adhere still more firmly to her standpoint, sinec

regard must be had to the difficult position of the German
Government in the face of public opinion in its own country.

2. The negotiations with the Berlin Cabinet, which have

now been going on for two months, should be continued

until the Russian Government is convinced that it is im-

possible to attain in this manner the object indicated.

M. Kokovtsev also pointed out that even the measures

of compulsion ought to be taken only "in closest association

with the other Powers of the Triple Entente. Before any

decision is come to, the Russian Government must know to

what extent it will receive the support of France, and

whether active participation by Great Britain in the pres-

sure on the Porte can be relied on."

M. Sazonov replied that he contemplated this, and

added: "It seems still to be uncertain how far Great

Britain would be prepared for energetic action. As regards

France, the Russian Government can count on effectual

support to the uttermost limit. M. Delcasse has assured

the Minister, in the name of the French Foreign Minister,

that France would go as far as Russia may wish."

M. Kokovtsev was of the opinion that any measures of

compulsion such as the occupation of Asia Minor territory

"would inevitably be followed by war with Germany, and

put the question: "Is war with Germany desirable, and

can Russia wagr* it?" In reply, Sazonov agreed with

Kokovtsev "that in principle a war with Germany would be

undesirable;'' as to whether Russia could wage it, Sazonov

"did not consider himself called upon to decide this." But

"the Minister of War and the Chief of Staff declared

categorically the complete readiness of Russia for a duel

with Germany, not to mention one with Austria. Such a

duel is, however, hardly likely; those Powers would be much

more likely to have to deal with the Triple Entente." This

categorical statement of the Russian militarists disposes of
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the argument that Russia did not want war in 191"4 because

they did not think her preparations were sufficiently

complete.

M. Kokovtsev, in opposition to all the others, again

insisted that an occupation of Trebizond or Bayazid would

inevitably lead to intervention by Germany. But Sazonov

thought this "would be a very effective measure, and might

deter Germany from intervening." His views were shared

by the Ministers of War and Navy and by the Chief of

Staff. "M. Kokovtsev, who considered that a war at the

present moment would be the greatest misfortune for Rus-

sia, expressed the opinion that it would be most undesirable

to entangle Russia in a European conflict—a view which

was shared by the other members of the Conference."

M. Kokovtsev finally summed up the sense of the meet-

ing to the effect that negotiations were to be continued at

Berlin to secure General Liman's removal from the com-

mand of troops in Constantinople; if it became quite clear

that the negotiations would fail, measures of compulsion

might be applied, if the Entente Powers were in agreement;

but "Should Russia not be assured of the active participa-

tion of France and England in common steps with Russia,

it does not seem possible to adopt measures of compulsion

which might lead to a war with Germany." It was to secure

the closer support of England, which was necessary to en-

able Russia to carry out her ambitions in the Near East,

which made Sazonov redouble his efforts in the spring of

1914 to get more definite and binding obligations from Sir

Edward Grey in the shape of an Anglo-Russian Naval Con-

vention. Negotiations for this were soon begun, but had

to be dropped when news of them leaked out.

From the minutes of this Special Conference one sees

clearly that Sazonov sided fully with the militarists in

being ready to adopt measures of compulsion to oust General

Liman from the command of the Turkish Corps in Constan-
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tinoplc. While not desiring war with Germany and pre-

ferring a diplomatic victory, he was nevertheless quite ready

to adopt measures which would probably lead to war with

Germany, provided he was sure of the support of the En-

tente. He was ready to use a threat of force, and "to

translate the threat into action," if the threat did not prove

to be an effective bluff. This was his attitude in July,

1914, and it led to war. In January, 1914, it did not lead

to war, because Germany made timely conciliatory conces-

sions in the Liman von Sanders Affair, and because M.

Kokovtscv used his influence to prevent any over-hasty

provocative action on Russia's part, like the occupation of

Trebizond or Bayazid. This Conference reveals sharply the

contrast between Kokovtsev's moderate, conciliatory, and

restraining influence on the one hand, and, on the other,

the dangerous policy of military pressure urged by Sazonov

and the military and naval officials. Kokovtsev, as Minister

of Finance, looked at affairs more from a business man's

point of view than from that of a politician. Like Count

Witte, he had an eye for economic, as well as purely politi-

cal, considerations. He was not blinded by the diplo-

matist's shibboleths about Pan-Slav interests, Russia's

"prestige," and her "historic mission." He kept in view the

probable catastrophic effects which a European War would

have upon Russia's commerce, finance, and internal politi-

cal structure. When he put bluntly the question, "Is a war

with Germany desirable?" the other members of the Con-

ference were forced to agree with him that it was not. It

was therefore an incalculable misfortune for Russia and the

world that, a few days after this Conference, M. Kokovtsev

followed Count Witte into political retirement, and left the

field free to M. Sazonov and the Russian Pan-Slavs and

militarists.307

307 For the intense nationalism of influential men like the President

of the Duma, see M. W. Rodzjanko, Erinncrungen (Berlin, 1926; Eng.
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M. Kokovtsev's retirement from the Premiership gave

rise to a rumor that he might be appointed Russian Ambas-

sador at Paris, and that Izvolski would be transferred to

Rome or some other post. This threw Izvolski into a panic.

He abjectly besought Sazonov to prevent it:

A transfer to Rome would involve me in the greatest

financial difficulties, since every moving causes great ex-

penditures, and the salary at Rome is 40,000 francs less than

here. Dismissal through appointment to the Council of the

Empire on the other hand would be for me a direct catas-

trophe. . . . You know my personal means are very limited,

and that I have not yet put my son on his feet nor provided

for my daughter. I am compelled to place especial value

on my office. [If he lost it, he says, he would have to seek

private employment with some bank.] After nearly forty

years of diplomatic service, this would be very hard and

bitter for me.

Izvolski's plea was effective. A few days later he

thanked Sazonov effusively for having "prevented M. N.

Kokovtsev's effort to sit himself in my seat." 308

It is interesting to speculate on how the course of his-

tory might have been changed, if Kokovtsev had replaced

Izvolski at Paris, or if he had still been able as Premier

to exert a restraining influence at St. Petersburg in July,

trans., The Reign of Rasputin, London, 1927), passim. How strongly

Russian diplomacy seems to have been influenced during the Liman von
Sanders Affair and the spring of 1914 by the Grand Duke Nicholas, the

militarists, and the Pan-Slav Press (which Sazonov apparently often en-

couraged yet always feared), is indicated in the shrewd and carefully bal-

anced observations of Pourtales, the German Ambassador in St. Petersburg

(G.P, XXXVIII, 253 ff., 269 f., 293 ff.; XXXIX, 540-589, passim); Pour-

tales, however, was not an alarmist; in fact, after July, 1914, he was
criticized for not having been sufficiently so. On this subject in general,

see also A. Fischel, Der Panslawismus bis zum Weltkrieg (Stuttgart, 1919)

;

E. H. Wilcox, Russia's Ruin (New York, 1919) ; G. Frantz, Russlands
Eintritt in den Weltkrieg (Berlin, 1924), and Russl-and auf dem Wege zur

Katastrophe (Berlin, 1926).

308 Izvolski to Sazonov, Jan. 30/Feb. 12, and Feb. 12/25, 1914; M.F.R.,
488 f.; L.N., II, 238 f.; Stieve, IV, 52, 56.
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1914. With his sweet reasonableness, his firm character,

and his friendly personal relations with the Kaiser and the

Berlin authorities, he might have been able to prevent the

over-hasty steps which helped cause the World War. It

was Russia's misfortune that she discarded real statesmen

like Count Witte and M. Kokovtsev in favor of prestige

diplomats like Izvolski and Sazonov.

Although the Liman von Sanders Affair had been hap-

pily settled in January, 1914, M. Sazonov, freed from M.

Kokovtsev's pacific influence, continued his examination of

preparedness plans, and even took up again the discussion

of the aggressive project for a sudden seizure of the Straits

by an armed landing force, which had been seriously con-

templated in 1896 and 1912, but in both cases postponed

because of lack of preparations.300 At another Special

Conference on February 21, 1914, presided over by himself,

and including military and naval experts and also M. Giers,

the active and aggressive Russian Ambassador at Constan-

tinople, Sazonov called attention to his report of December.

5, approved by the Tsar,

that it was necessary to proceed without delay to the prep-

aration of a program, elaborated in every direction, which

should aim at the assurance in our favor of the historic

question of the Straits. [Though admitting that at the

moment political complications in the Balkans were not

likely, Sazonov] expressed the firm conviction that should

events result in the Straits slipping from Turkey's control,

Russia could not permit any other Power to establish itself

on their shores. Russia might thus be compelled to seize

possession of them, in order then to secure in one shape or

another a state of things along the Bosphorus and the Dar-

danelles corresponding to her interests. The success of this

operation would depend in large degree on the rapidity

with which it was carried out. ... [He therefore asked for

300 On the 1896 project, see above, note 13; and on that of 1912,

Zakher, in Krasnyi Arkhiv, VI, 50-61, with Admiralty Staff reports.
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a technical discussion of measures for expediting the mobil-

ization and transportation of a sufficiently strong landing

force; the strengthening of the Black Sea Fleet, so as to

be able, jointly with the landing force, to occupy the Straits;

and the construction of strategic railways in the Caucasus.]

[With reference to the possibility that Russia's seizure

of the Straits might be opposed by Greece and Bulgaria,

Sazonov remarked that] in view of their historical enmity

and their present conflicting interests, there was a good deal

of reason to suppose that, if one of these States came out

as our enemy, the other would range itself on our side, so

that they would cripple one another. . . . Sazonov said that

it could not be assumed that our operations against the

Straits could take place without a general European war,

and that it was to be assumed that under such circum-

stances Serbia would direct all her forces against Austria-

Hungary. . . . The favorable turn in Rumanian policy

and public opinion, now to be observed, justified a certain

doubt whether, in the event of our being at war with Austria,

Rumania would actually come out against us. . . . In the

event of our coming into collision with the Triple Alliance,

Germany and Austria would send no troops towards the

Straits, and, at the worst, Italy might send landing parties,

though it would be dangerous for Italy to expose her fron-

tiers to attack from France.310

Thus, according to Sazonov, the diplomatic situation

seemed not unfavorable for landing an armed force to seize

the Straits, even though it might lead to a collision with

the Triple Alliance. But General Zhilinski, the Chief of

Staff, "expressed the conviction that the struggle for Con-

stantinople would hardly be possible without a general

European war," in which case the troops which it was pro-

posed to send to seize the Straits would be needed on the

Western Front against Germany; success there would also

310 Minutes of the Special Conference of Feb. 8/21, 1914; Pokrovski,

Drei Konferenzen, p. 46 ff.; Stieve, Isvolsky and the World War, p. 232 ff.
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mean success in the question of the Straits. M. Giers sug-

gested that the troops for the landing expedition might be

taken from the Caucasus Front; but General Zhilinski and

General Danilov declared that this would be impracticable,

both because they would be needed in the Caucasus in case

of war with Turkey, and because, for technical reasons, they

could not be mobilized quickly. Both these military experts

were agreed that, with a battle proceeding or expected on

the Western Front, the diversion of considerable troops to

the Straits must be regarded as indefensible and impossible:

"The only good strategy is strong strategy. The war on our

Western Front would demand the utmost application of

all the forces of the State, and we could not dispense with

a single army corps to be left behind for special tasks. We

mus t dircc'l our energies to ensuring siim«s in the most

important theatre of war. With victory in this theatre,

we should secure favorable decisions in all secondary

questions." 311

In spite of more optimistic arguments by the naval ex-

perts in favor of a landing expedition in the Straits, the

Chief of Staff seemed to express the general sense of the

Conference that such an expedition could only take place

during a crisis which would lead to a general European war

and that the troops for it would be needed on the Western

Front against Germany and Austria. Therefore no separate

landing expedition should be attempted for the present,

Nevertheless, everything should be done to prepare for

one. Accordingly, after a long discussion of the technical

details involved, the Conference decided to recommend to

an Minutes of the Special Conference of Feb. 8/21, 1914; Pokrovski.

Drei Konjcrcnzen, p. 46 ff.; Stieve, Isvohky and the World War, p^ 232 S.

This strategic point of view, always urged on the Russians by the

French (c/ A. Zaiontchkovski, et al, Lcs Alhcs centre la. Russte, Fans,

1926) and embodied in General Danilov's deta.led plan of carnpa.gn

drawn up for the Russian General Staff in March. 1914 (prmted by

Frantr, Russland, Eintritt in den Weltkritg, pp. 112-162), was of course

the one actually put into operation four months later.
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the Tsar a series of preparatory measures. These included

increasing the strength and rapidity of mobilization of the

expeditionary landing army; the gathering and subsidizing

of adequate naval transports provided with sufficient col-

lapsible horse-boxes and small boats for speedy embarka-

tion and disembarkation; the increasing of the Black Sea

Fleet by a second squadron of most modern and powerful

battle cruisers, if possible, by the purchase of ships abroad;

and the building of more strategic railways in the Caucasus,

in order to speed up mobilization there, as a necessary part

of "the measures required in preparation for our offensive

on the Bosphorus." 312 The minutes of this Special Con-

ference were laid before the Tsar on April 5, and received

his entire approval.

The Duma also voted 110 million rubles to carry out

the naval program for strengthening the Black Sea Fleet

during the years 1914-1917.313 As only 25 millions of this

were to be spent in 1914, it would appear that no immediate

expedition against Constantinople was intended unless

something should occur to threaten the status quo and

cause a general European war.

From the minutes of this Special Conference it appears

that Sazonov contemplated the forcible seizure of the

Straits. But the military experts regarded it as impracti-

cable
;
they wished to reserve the troops for use in the main

theatre of war against Germany and Austria. All were

agreed, however, that Russia could not allow the Straits

to fall into the hands of any other Power. Therefore the

fullest preparatory measures must be taken for a landing

expedition at the Straits in case European complications

should afford an opportunity. This was regarded as prob-

able in the future, but not as immediately imminent.

312 Pokrovski, pp. 65-67; Stieve, pp, 244-246.

313 Duma vote of Mar. I?/30, 1914; Zakher, in Krasnyi Arkhiv, VII,
51.
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SUMMARY

Wc may now sum up very briefly the main Balkan

Problems.

The origin of the trouble lay in the progressive decay of

the Ottoman Empire, which was no longer able to maintain

control over the Christian subject nationalities. These had

become filled with a natural desire for political freedom

and national unity. But, owing to the events of past his-

tory, considerable sections of these peoples still lived under

Turkish or Hapsburg rule, and could not fulfil their nation-

alistic aspirations except by the further disintegration of

Turkey and the partial dismemberment of Austria. Hence

the Balkan Wars of 1S76-7S and 1912-13. Hence also the

antagonism between Austria and Serbia, which grew steadily

more acute, because each had a vital interest at stake

—

Austria to preserve her very existence as a State, Serbia

to satisfy twentieth century ideals of political liberty and

national unity.

As Turkey declined in power, Russia and Austria be-

came increasingly jealous of each other's influence in the

Balkans, Russia wishing to achieve her "historic mission,"

and Austria to prevent the danger threatening to her from

too great Slav power on her southern frontier. Bismarck

and the League of the Three Emperors, and later Russia's

venture in the Far East, for many years prevented this

rivalry from disturbing the peace of Europe. But with the

ambitious aims of M. Izvolski and Count Achrenthal the

rivalry became acute through the outcome of the Buchlau

Bargain. Aehrenthal succeeded in annexing Bosnia and

Herzegovina, while Izvolski failed to open the Straits, be-

cause Austria had the support of Germany, but England

was unwilling to accept Izvolski's one-sided proposal to open

the Straits to Russian warships but not to those of the other

Great Powers. Though the Annexation Crisis was settled
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without war, thanks to the solution proposed by Germany,

it increased the antagonism between Austria and Serbia on

the one hand, and between Austria and Russia on the other.

Henceforth Russia encouraged Serbia to prepare for the

future, when, aided by Russia, she could achieve a "Greater

Serbia" at Austria's expense. Until Russia was ready, how-

ever, Serbia was to wait.

Having made the Racconigi Bargain with Italy, and

believing that he could count on the support of the Triple

Entente, Izvolski took advantage of the Tripolitan War
to make a third diplomatic effort to open the Straits by
means of the Charykov negotiations with Turkey. But
again he failed largely on account of lack of support from

France and direct opposition from England. Henceforth

he came to the conclusion that his aim could be achieved

only in connection with a general European war, and used

all his efforts to strengthen and tighten the Triple Entente

for this "inevitable" conflict.

Meanwhile MM. Neratov, Hartwig, and Nekliudov had
used the unrest caused in the Balkans by the Tripolitan

War to help bring about the Balkan League, its nominal

purpose being the preservation of the status quo, but its

practical effect being an encouragement to the Balkan

States to open war on Turkey. Though the Great Powers,

especially England and Germany, managed to prevent

Europe from being involved in a general conflict, the Balkan

Wars resulted in a universal increase of suspicion, hatred,

intrigues, and uncertainty, not only among the Great

Powers who increased their armaments, but among the

Balkan States themselves, and especially in Austria and

Serbia. Serbia, greatly embittered at her exclusion by the

Powers from a political and economic outlet on the Adriatic,

had found some compensation in Macedonia. But this

involved Bulgaria's deadly hatred. Serbia therefore tight-

ened her relations with Greece and Rumania under Russian
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patronage, partly as a protection against Bulgarian revenge

and partly with a view to the future struggle as the "Pied-

mont" of the Balkans, against the hated Hapsburg rule.

Though M. Pashitch and the Serbian civil authorities did

not want or plan war in 1914, they tolerated an agitation

which contributed to a series of assassinations which

culminated in the tragedy of Sarajevo. Austria meanwhile

became more and more alarmed at the dangers threatening

her very existence: the "Greater Serbia" agitation within

and without her frontiers, the "desertion" of Rumania, and

the closer ties which Russia was establishing with these two

countries whose nationalist aspirations could only be satis-

fied through the dismemberment of Austria-Hungary.

Whether Austria could have averted the danger from the

"Greater Serbia" and "Greater Rumania" irredentist agita-

tion, by giving democratic and reasonably liberal rights to

her Slav and Rumanian subjects, or by some form of

"trialism," is a hypothetical question to be touched upon

later; at any rate she did not do so. Instead she chose to

see her salvation in a war in which Serbia would be reduced

in power by having to cede territory to Bulgaria, Rumania,

and Albania. Several times Austria was ready to wage such

a war on Serbia, but was held back either by Germany, as

in July, 1913, or by concessions on the part of Serbia, as

in March, 1909, and October, 1913. But in July, 1914, as

will be seen later, Austria welcomed the opportunity for a

localized war on Serbia afforded by the assassination of the

Austrian Heir to the Throne.

M. Sazonov, though caring little for the Serbs them-

selves, and leaving them in the lurch in crucial moments,

nevertheless encouraged and supported them at other times

as an outpost of Slavdom in the Balkans and as an asset in

a future war with Austria. Desiring peace, but fearing the

power and criticism of the Russian Pan-Slavs and mili-

tarists, M. Sazonov was anxious to fulfil Russia's "historic
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mission." Observing Izvolski's failures to open the Straits

by peaceful diplomatic means and his own failure to coerce

Germany into an instant modification of General Liman's
command at Constantinople, owing in each case chiefly to

Sir Edward Grey's attitude, the Russian Foreign Minister

came to the conclusion that he could succeed in his Balkan
aims only as a result of "European complications." While
Izvolski had attempted the more modest task of merely

opening the Straits to Russian warships, Sazonov wanted to

achieve the wider Pan-Slav "historic mission" of obtaining

possession of the Straits and controlling Constantinople. It

was because the Liman von Sanders Mission seemed to

lessen the likelihood of this that Sazonov was so alarmed by

it. Hence his proposal of "measures of compulsion" to force

Turkey to abandon it; these, however, were not put into

effect, owing to Germany's timely concessions and M.
Kokovtsev's restraining influence. Hence also Sazonov's

contemplation of a landing force to seize the Straits, which

the military experts declared was impracticable at the mo-

ment but should be prepared for in case of European com-

plications in the future. During the spring of 1914, to-

gether with M. Izvolski and President Poincare, he worked

to tighten the bonds with England by negotiations for an

Anglo-Russian Naval Convention, in order that, when the

"inevitable" war broke out, the solidarity of the Triple

Entente should be more perfect than on former occasions.

Consequently, if a new crisis arose, Germany and Austria

would have to yield—or fight a war in which the superior

forces would be on the side of the Triple Entente. In July,

1914, with the restraining hand of Kokovtsev removed,

Sazonov believed that this Entente solidarity was virtually

assured, when the murder of the Archduke and the Austrian

ultimatum caused the "European complications" by means
of which he calculated that Russia could finally achieve her

"historic mission."
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Turkey and the Balkan States were in unstable equilib-

rium. An inherent opposition of interests necessarily caused

persistent enmity between Greece and Turkey, between

Turkey and Russia, and between Austria and Serbia. But

Bulgaria and Rumania were pursuing opportunist policies,

and were ready to side with whichever group of the Great

Powers seemed likely to prove the stronger and offer the

greatest gains. No Power ever wants to yield on a matter

of prestige, but this Balkan situation made an additional

reason why neither France, Russia, Germany nor Austria

was at first willing to yield in the Austro-Serbian conflict

of July, 1914—it might have a determining effect on the

policy of Bulgaria and Rumania. For several years it had

been recognized that a strong Balkan bloc would have an

influence in a general European war almost equal to that of

a Great Power. Hence, in the spring of 1914, Russia was

seeking to win Rumania and build up such a bloc includ-

ing Serbia and Greece, while Austria in turn was preparing

to form a counter-bloc with Bulgaria and Turkey. Such

was the situation when the shots at Sarajevo precipitated

the Austro-Serbian conflict and caused a crisis involving

the prestige and power of the Triple Alliance and Triple

Entente.

The writer of these lines does not believe that the World

War was "inevitable." But he is quite ready to admit that,

of all the major conflicts of interest which have been alleged

as making it "inevitable," the Balkan problems were those

most nearly incapable of a peaceful solution.



APPENDIX

FIFTH TREATY OF THE TRIPLE ALLIANCE

BETWEEN AUSTRIA-HUNGARY, THE GERMAN
EMPIRE, AND ITALY

Vienna, December 5, 1912 *

Their Majesties the Emperor of Austria, King of Bohemia,

etc., and Apostolic King of Hungary, the Emperor of Germany,

King of Prussia, and King of Italy, firmly resolved to assure

to Their States the continuation of the benefits which the main-

tenance of the Triple Alliance guarantees to them, from the

political point of view as well as from the monarchical and social

point of view, and wishing with this object to prolong the dura-

tion of this Alliance, concluded on May 20, 1882, renewed a first

time by the Treaties of February 20, 1887, a second time by

the Treaty of May 6, 1891, and a third time by the Treaty of

June 28, 1902, have agreed upon the following Articles:

Article I. The High Contracting Parties mutually promise

peace and friendship, and will enter into no alliance or engage-

ment directed against any one of their States.

They engage to proceed to an exchange of ideas on political

and economic questions of a general nature which may arise,

and they further promise one another mutual support within

the limits of their own interests.

Article II. In case Italy, without direct provocation on her

part, should be attacked by France for any reason whatsoever,

the two other Contracting Parties shall be bound to lend help

and assistance with all their forces to the Party attacked.

Pribram, I, p. 101 (Amer. ed. I, p. 245).
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This same obligation shall devolve upon Italy in case of

any aggression without direct provocation by France against

Germany.

Article III. If one, or two, of the High Contracting Parties,

without direct provocation on their part, should chance to be

attacked and to be engaged in a war with two or more Great

Powers nonsignatory to the present Treaty, the casus foederis

will arise simultaneously for all the High Contracting Parties.

Article IV. In case a Great Power nonsignatory to the

present Treaty should threaten the security of the states of one

of the High Contracting Parties, and the threatened Party should

find itself forced on that account to make war against it, the

two others bind themselves to observe towards their Ally a

benevolent neutrality. Each of them reserves to itself, in this

case, the right to take part in the war, if it should see fit, to

make common cause with its Ally.

Article V. If the peace of one of the High Contracting

Parties should chance to be threatened under the circumstances

foreseen by the preceding Articles, the High Contracting Parties

shall take counsel together in ample time as to the military

measures to be taken with a view to eventual cooperation.

They engage, henceforth, in all cases of common participa-

tion in a war, to conclude neither armistice, nor peace, nor

treaty, except by common agreement among themselves.

Article VI. Germany and Italy, having in mind only the

maintenance, so far as possible, of the territorial status quo in

the Orient, engage to use their influence to forestall on the Otto-

man coasts and islands in the Adriatic and the Aegean Seas any

territorial modification which might be injurious to one or the

other of the Powers signatory to the present Treaty. To this

end, they will communicate to one another all information of a

nature to enlighten each other mutually concerning their own

dispositions, as well as those of other Powers.

Article VII. Austria-Hungary and Italy, having in mind

only the maintenance, so far as possible, of the territorial status

quo in the Orient, engage to use their influence to forestall any

territorial modification which might be injurious to one or the
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other of the Powers signatory to the present Treaty. To this

end, they shall communicate to one another all information of

a nature to enlighten each other mutually concerning their own
dispositions, as well as those of other Powers. However, if, in

the course of events, the maintenance of the status quo in the

regions of the Balkans or of the Ottoman coasts and islands in

the Adriatic and in the Aegean Sea should become impossible,

and if, whether in consequence of the action of a third Power

or otherwise, Austria-Hungary or Italy should find themselves

under the necessity of modifying it by a temporary or perma-

nent occupation on their part, this occupation shall take place

only after a previous agreement between the two Powers, based

upon the principle of a reciprocal compensation for every advan-

tage, territorial or other, which each of them might obtain be-

yond the present status quo, and giving satisfaction to the

interests and well founded claims of the two Parties.

Article VIII. The stipulations of Articles VI and VII shall

apply in no way to the Egyptian question, with regard to which

the High Contracting Parties preserve respectively their freedom

of action, regard being always paid to the principles upon which

the present Treaty rests.

Article IX. Germany and Italy engage to exert themselves

for the maintenance of the territorial status quo in the North

African regions on the Mediterranean, to wit, Cyrenaica,

Tripolitania, and Tunisia. The Representatives of the two

Powers in these regions shall be instructed to put themselves

into the closest intimacy of mutual communication and assis-

tance.

If unfortunately, as a result of a mature examination of the

situation, Germany and Italy should both recognize that the

maintenance of the status quo has become impossible, Germany
engages, after a formal and previous agreement, to support Italy

in any action in the form of occupation or other taking of

guaranty which the latter should undertake in these same regions

with a view to an interest of equilibrium and of legitimate

compensation.

It is understood that in such an eventuality the two Powers
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would 6cck to place themselves likewise in agreement with

England.

Article X. If it were to happen that France should make
a move to extend her occupation, or even her protectorate or her

sovereignty, under any form whatsoever, in the North African

territories, and that in consequence thereof, Italy, in order to

safeguard her position in the Mediterranean, should feel that she

must herself undertake action in the said North African terri-

tories, or even have recourse to extreme measures in French

territory in Europe, the state of war which would thereby ensue

between Italy and France would constitute ipso facto, on the

demand of Italy, and at the common charge of Germany and

Italy, the casus foederis foreseen by Articles II and V of the

present Treaty, as if such an eventuality were expressly con-

templated therein.

Article XI. If the fortunes of any war undertaken in com-

mon against France by the two Powers should lead Italy to

seek for territorial guaranties with respect to France for the

security of the frontiers of the Kingdom and of her maritime

position, as well as with a view to stability and to peace, Ger-

many will present no obstacle thereto, and, if need be, and in a

measure compatible with circumstances, will apply herself to

facilitating the means of attaining such a purpose.

Article XII. The High Contracting Parties mutually prom-

ise secrecy as to the contents of the present Treaty.

Article XIII. The Signatory Powers reserve the right of

subsequently introducing, in the form of a Protocol and of a

common agreement, the modifications of which the utility should

be demonstrated by circumstances.

Article XIV. The present Treaty shall remain in force for

the space of six years, dating from the expiration of the Treaty

now in force; but if it has not been denounced one year in ad-

vance by one or another of the High Contracting Parties, it

shall remain in force for the same duration of six more years.

Article XV. The ratifications of the present Treaty shall

be exchanged at Vienna within a period of a fortnight, or sooner

if may be.

In witness whereof the respective Plenipotentiaries have
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signed the present Treaty and have affixed thereto the seal of

their arms.

Done at Vienna, in triplicate, the fifth day of the month of

December, one thousand nine hundred and twelve.

L. S.

L. S.

L. S.

Berchtold

von Tschirschky

Avarna


